INTERNATIONAL REVIEW OF NEUROBIOLOGY

VOLUME 108

SERIES EDITORS

R. ADRON HARRIS

Waggoner Center for Alcohol and Drug Addiction Research The University of Texas at Austin Austin, Texas, USA

PETER JENNER

Division of Pharmacology and Therapeutics GKT School of Biomedical Sciences King's College, London, UK

EDITORIAL BOARD

ERIC AAMODT PHILIPPE ASCHER DONARD S. DWYER MARTIN GIURFA PAUL GREENGARD NOBU HATTORI DARCY KELLEY BEAU LOTTO MICAELA MORELLI JUDITH PRATT EVAN SNYDER JOHN WADDINGTON HUDA AKIL MATTHEW J. DURING DAVID FINK BARRY HALLIWELL JON KAAS LEAH KRUBITZER KEVIN MCNAUGHT JOSÉ A. OBESO CATHY J. PRICE SOLOMON H. SNYDER STEPHEN G. WAXMAN Academic Press is an imprint of Elsevier 32 Jamestown Road, London NW1 7BY, UK Radarweg 29, PO Box 211, 1000 AE Amsterdam, The Netherlands The Boulevard, Langford Lane, Kidlington, Oxford, OX5 1GB, UK 225 Wyman Street, Waltham, MA 02451, USA 525 B Street, Suite 1800, San Diego, CA 92101-4495, USA

First edition 2013

Copyright © 2013, Elsevier Inc. All Rights Reserved

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise without the prior written permission of the publisher

Permissions may be sought directly from Elsevier's Science & Technology Rights Department in Oxford, UK: phone (+44) (0) 1865 843830; fax (+44) (0) 1865 853333; email: permissions@elsevier.com. Alternatively you can submit your request online by visiting the Elsevier web site at http://elsevier.com/locate/permissions, and selecting Obtaining permission to use Elsevier material

Notice

No responsibility is assumed by the publisher for any injury and/or damage to persons or property as a matter of products liability, negligence or otherwise, or from any use or operation of any methods, products, instructions or ideas contained in the material herein. Because of rapid advances in the medical sciences, in particular, independent verification of diagnoses and drug dosages should be made

ISBN: 978-0-12-410499-0 ISSN: 0074-7742

For information on all Academic Press publications visit our website at store.elsevier.com

Printed and bound in USA 13 14 15 16 11 10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1



CONTRIBUTORS

Doychin N. Angelov

Department of Anatomy I, University of Cologne, Cologne, Germany

Bruno Battiston

Department of Traumatology, Microsurgery Unit, C.T.O. Hospital, Turin, Italy

Silmara de Lima

Programa de Neurociência Básica e Clínica, Instituto de Ciências Biomédicas, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

Petr Dubový

Central European Institute of Technology (CEITEC), and Department of Anatomy, Division of Neuroanatomy, Medical Faculty, Masaryk University, Brno, Czech Republic

Alessandro Faroni

Faculty of Medical and Human Sciences, The University of Manchester, Blond McIndoe Laboratories, Regenerative Medicine, Institute of Inflammation and Repair, Manchester, United Kingdom

Nicoletta Filigheddu

Department of Translational Medicine, University of Piemonte Orientale "Amedeo Avogadro", Alessandria, Novara, Vercelli, Italy

Federica Fregnan

Nerve Regeneration Group, Department of Clinical and Biological Sciences, University of Torino, Turin, Italy

Giovanna Gambarotta

Nerve Regeneration Group, Department of Clinical and Biological Sciences, University of Torino, Turin, Italy

Andrea Gartner

Instituto de Ciências Biomédicas Abel Salazar (ICBAS), and Centro de Estudos de Ciência Animal (CECA), Instituto de Ciências e Tecnologias Agrárias e Agro-Alimentares (ICETA), Universidade do Porto (UP), Porto, Portugal

Andrea Graziani

Department of Translational Medicine, University of Piemonte Orientale "Amedeo Avogadro", Alessandria, Novara, Vercelli, Italy

Stefano Geuna

Neuroscience Institute of the Cavalieri Ottolenghi Foundation (NICO), and Department of Clinical and Biological Sciences, University of Turin, Orbassano (TO), Italy

Sara Gnavi

Neuroscience Institute of the Cavalieri Ottolenghi Foundation (NICO), and Department of Clinical and Biological Sciences, University of Turin, Orbassano (TO), Italy

Raquel Gomes

Instituto de Ciências Biomédicas Abel Salazar (ICBAS), and Centro de Estudos de Ciência Animal (CECA), Instituto de Ciências e Tecnologias Agrárias e Agro-Alimentares (ICETA), Universidade do Porto (UP), Porto, Portugal

Carolina Gonçalves

CEMUC, Departamento de Engenharia Metalúrgica e Materiais, Faculdade de Engenharia, Universidade do Porto (FEUP), Porto, Portugal

Francisco Gonzalez-Perez

Institute of Neurosciences and Department of Cell Biology, Physiology and Immunology, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, and Centro de Investigación Biomédica en Red sobre Enfermedades Neurodegenerativas (CIBERNED), Bellaterra, Spain

Barbara Hausott

Division of Neuroanatomy, Department of Anatomy and Histology, Innsbruck Medical University, Innsbruck, Austria

Radim Jančálek

Department of Anatomy, Division of Neuroanatomy, Medical Faculty, Masaryk University, Brno, Czech Republic

Lars Klimaschewski

Division of Neuroanatomy, Department of Anatomy and Histology, Innsbruck Medical University, Innsbruck, Austria

Tomas Kubek

Central European Institute of Technology (CEITEC), and Department of Anatomy, Division of Neuroanatomy, Medical Faculty, Masaryk University, Brno, Czech Republic

Maria Ascensão Lopes

CEMUC, Departamento de Engenharia Metalúrgica e Materiais, Faculdade de Engenharia, Universidade do Porto (FEUP), Porto, Portugal

Ana Lúcia Luís

Instituto de Ciências Biomédicas Abel Salazar (ICBAS), and Centro de Estudos de Ciência Animal (CECA), Instituto de Ciências e Tecnologias Agrárias e Agro-Alimentares (ICETA), Universidade do Porto (UP), Porto, Portugal

Ana Maria Blanco Martinez

Programa de Neurociência Básica e Clínica, Instituto de Ciências Biomédicas, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

Albino Martins

ICVS/3Bs, PT Government Associated Laboratory, Braga/Guimarães, and 3B's Research Group—Biomaterials, Biodegradables and Biomimetics, University of Minho, Headquarters of the European Institute of Excellence on Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine, Taipas, Guimarães, Portugal

Ana Colette Maurício

Instituto de Ciências Biomédicas Abel Salazar (ICBAS), and Centro de Estudos de Ciência Animal (CECA), Instituto de Ciências e Tecnologias Agrárias e Agro-Alimentares (ICETA), Universidade do Porto (UP), Porto, Portugal

Klauss Mostacada

Programa de Neurociência Básica e Clínica, Instituto de Ciências Biomédicas, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

Xavier Navarro

Institute of Neurosciences and Department of Cell Biology, Physiology and Immunology, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, and Centro de Investigación Biomédica en Red sobre Enfermedades Neurodegenerativas (CIBERNED), Bellaterra, Spain

Nuno M. Neves

ICVS/3Bs, PT Government Associated Laboratory, Braga/Guimarães, and 3B's Research Group—Biomaterials, Biodegradables and Biomimetics, University of Minho, Headquarters of the European Institute of Excellence on Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine, Taipas, Guimarães, Portugal

Júlia Teixeira Oliveira

Programa de Neurociência Básica e Clínica, Instituto de Ciências Biomédicas, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

Joaquim M. Oliveira

ICVS/3Bs, PT Government Associated Laboratory, Braga/Guimarães, and 3B's Research Group—Biomaterials, Biodegradables and Biomimetics, University of Minho, Headquarters of the European Institute of Excellence on Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine, Taipas, Guimarães, Portugal

Davide Pascal

Department of Clinical and Biological Sciences, University of Turin & Neuroscience Institute Cavalieri Ottolenghi, Turin, Italy

Tiago Pereira

Instituto de Ciências Biomédicas Abel Salazar (ICBAS), and Centro de Estudos de Ciência Animal (CECA), Instituto de Ciências e Tecnologias Agrárias e Agro-Alimentares (ICETA), Universidade do Porto (UP), Porto, Portugal

Isabelle Perroteau

Neuroscience Institute of the Cavalieri Ottolenghi Foundation (NICO), and Department of Clinical and Biological Sciences, University of Turin, Orbassano (TO), Italy

Stefania Raimondo

Department of Clinical and Biological Sciences, University of Turin & Neuroscience Institute Cavalieri Ottolenghi, Turin, Italy

Simone Reano

Department of Translational Medicine, University of Piemonte Orientale "Amedeo Avogadro", Alessandria, Novara, Vercelli, Italy

Adam J. Reid

Faculty of Medical and Human Sciences, The University of Manchester, Blond McIndoe Laboratories, Regenerative Medicine, Institute of Inflammation and Repair, Manchester, United Kingdom

Rui L. Reis

ICVS/3Bs, PT Government Associated Laboratory, Braga/Guimarães, and 3B's Research Group—Biomaterials, Biodegradables and Biomimetics, University of Minho, Headquarters of the European Institute of Excellence on Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine, Taipas, Guimarães, Portugal

Jorge Ribeiro

Instituto de Ciências Biomédicas Abel Salazar (ICBAS), and Centro de Estudos de Ciência Animal (CECA), Instituto de Ciências e Tecnologias Agrárias e Agro-Alimentares (ICETA), Universidade do Porto (UP), Porto, Portugal

Giulia Ronchi

Department of Clinical and Biological Sciences, University of Turin & Neuroscience Institute Cavalieri Ottolenghi, Turin, Italy

António J. Salgado

Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), School of Health Sciences, University of Minho, Braga, and ICVS/3Bs, PT Government Associated Laboratory, Braga/Guimarães, Portugal

Nuno A. Silva

Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), School of Health Sciences, University of Minho, Braga, and ICVS/3Bs, PT Government Associated Laboratory, Braga/Guimarães, Portugal

Nuno Sousa

Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), School of Health Sciences, University of Minho, Braga, and ICVS/3Bs, PT Government Associated Laboratory, Braga/Guimarães, Portugal

Fábio G. Teixeira

Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), School of Health Sciences, University of Minho, Braga, and ICVS/3Bs, PT Government Associated Laboratory, Braga/Guimarães, Portugal

Giorgio Terenghi

Faculty of Medical and Human Sciences, The University of Manchester, Blond McIndoe Laboratories, Regenerative Medicine, Institute of Inflammation and Repair, Manchester, United Kingdom

Pierluigi Tos

Department of Traumatology, Microsurgery Unit, C.T.O. Hospital, Turin, Italy

Esther Udina

Institute of Neurosciences and Department of Cell Biology, Physiology and Immunology, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, and Centro de Investigación Biomédica en Red sobre Enfermedades Neurodegenerativas (CIBERNED), Bellaterra, Spain

Artur Varejão

Centro de Estudos de Ciência Animal (CECA), Instituto de Ciências e Tecnologias Agrárias e Agro-Alimentares (ICETA), Universidade do Porto (UP), Porto, Portugal

PREFACE

Consensus exists among both basic and clinical scientists that peripheral nerve repair is no longer a matter of only surgical reconstruction, but rather a matter of tissue engineering which brings together several interdisciplinary and integrated treatment strategies.

In 2009, we edited a first thematic issue of the *International Review of Neurobiology* entitled "Essays on Peripheral Nerve Repair and Regeneration" (Volume 87) that collected a number of reviews on various and broad aspects of peripheral nerve regeneration research (including also several methodological papers). Following the interest raised by that book, and considering the growing scientific interest on nerve repair and regeneration, we have edited this new thematic issue of the *International Review of Neurobiology* which is intended to address more specifically some of today's hot topics on peripheral nerve's tissue engineering, namely stem cells and regeneration promoting factors.

Tissue engineering is an emerging science that finds its roots in various and complimentary disciplines (from molecular biology and biomaterials to transplantation and reconstructive microsurgery) and, in order to reflect its interdisciplinary and multitranslational spirit, this thematic issue of the *International Review of Neurobiology* brings together 10 reviews which aim to cover some of the most promising innovative strategies for promoting peripheral nerve repair and regeneration that emerge from basic research in the different relevant scientific areas.

After a couple of introductory reviews that set up the stage, three papers address the issue of cell transplantation for nerve reconstruction, with special emphasis on the potential use of stem cells from mesenchymal origin.

The book continues with four reviews that address the perspectives of growth factor-mediated therapies for improving peripheral nerve repair, and is concluded by two other papers on the role of the local environment (extracellular matrix) in nerve regeneration.

Although the papers included in this book address topics that are more specific in comparison to those addressed in the *International Review of Neurobiology* thematic issue published in 2009, all reviews have been written avoiding excessive technical details and in order to be accessible to a broad and interdisciplinary audience. It is thus expected that this collection of papers will stimulate the interest of many interdisciplinary researchers (both with basic and clinical background) and will eventually contribute to the scientific progress in tissue engineering of the peripheral nerve as well as to its successful future applications with patients suffering from nerve injury.

> Stefano Geuna Isabelle Perroteau Pierluigi Tos Bruno Battiston

CHAPTER ONE

Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine: Past, Present, and Future

António J. Salgado^{*,†,1,2}, Joaquim M. Oliveira^{†,‡,1,2}, Albino Martins^{†,‡}, Fábio G. Teixeira^{*,†}, Nuno A. Silva^{*,†}, Nuno M. Neves^{†,‡}, Nuno Sousa^{*,†}, Rui L. Reis^{†,‡}

*Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), School of Health Sciences, University of Minho, Braga, Portugal

[†]ICVS/3Bs, PT Government Associated Laboratory, Braga/Guimarães, Portugal

^{*}3B's Research Group—Biomaterials, Biodegradables and Biomimetics, University of Minho, Headquarters of the European Institute of Excellence on Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine, Taipas, Guimarães, Portugal

¹These authors contributed equally to the work.

²Corresponding authors: e-mail address: asalgado@ecsaude.uminho.pt; miguel.oliveira@dep.uminho.pt

Contents

1.	Introduction	2
2.	TERM: Basic Research	2
	2.1 Bone TE	3
	2.2 Cartilage TE	4
	2.3 Osteochondral (OCD) TE	5
	2.4 Meniscus TE	6
	2.5 Intervertebral disc (IVD) TE	7
	2.6 Neural TE	8
3.	New Trends in Scaffolding Technologies	11
	3.1 Fiber bonding	12
	3.2 Wet-spinning	14
	3.3 Rapid prototyping	14
	3.4 Electrospinning	15
4.	Stem Cells: Looking Beyond Differentiation	17
5.	Conclusions	21
Acknowledgments		21
References		22

Abstract

Tissue and organ repair still represents a clinical challenge. Tissue engineering and regenerative medicine (TERM) is an emerging field focused on the development of alternative therapies for tissue/organ repair. This highly multidisciplinary field, in which

1

bioengineering and medicine merge, is based on integrative approaches using scaffolds, cell populations from different sources, growth factors, nanomedicine, gene therapy, and other techniques to overcome the limitations that currently exist in the clinics. Indeed, its overall objective is to induce the formation of new functional tissues, rather than just implanting spare parts. This chapter aims at introducing the reader to the concepts and techniques of TERM. It begins by explaining how TERM have evolved and merged into TERM, followed by a short overview of some of its key aspects such as the combinations of scaffolds with cells and nanomedicine, scaffold processing, and new paradigms of the use of stem cells for tissue repair/regeneration, which ultimately could represent the future of new therapeutic approaches specifically aimed at clinical applications.

1. INTRODUCTION

In 1993, Langer and Vacanti defined tissue engineering (TE) as "an interdisciplinary field that applies the principles of engineering and life sciences toward the development of biological substitutes that restore, maintain, or improve tissue function or a whole organ" (Langer & Vacanti, 1993). On the other hand, regenerative medicine has been defined as "the process of replacing or regenerating human cells, tissues or organs to restore or establish normal function" (Mason & Dunnill, 2008).

Since its start, TE has been relying on three pillars (Salgado, Coutinho, & Reis, 2004a): scaffolds, cells, and growth factors. On the other hand, regenerative medicine uses other strategies to induce organ regeneration including cell-based therapies, immunomodulation, gene therapy, nanomedicine, and TE itself. In fact, because of their similar objectives, these two fields have been merging in recent years, originating the broad field of tissue engineering and regenerative medicine (TERM).

This chapter focusses on deciphering some of the essential elements and hot topics on TERM, and the ways in which they can be applied to the development of regenerative therapies.

2. TERM: BASIC RESEARCH

Within the human body there are tissues with a limited capability of repair/regeneration, posing a challenge that is often difficult for clinicians to overcome. Therefore, in order to achieve its proposed objectives, TERM has been relying on different strategies, among which the triad referred to in Section 1 (scaffolds, cells, and growth factors) stands out. Scaffolds are biodegradable templates that act as temporary matrices for cell and tissue

growth/differentiation (Salgado, Coutinho, & Reis, 2004b). On the other hand, cells are also extremely important as they will act (in most cases), along with their extracellular matrix (ECM) molecules, wherever applicable, as the biological trigger that will stimulate the endogenous regeneration. The purpose is to culture cells on the scaffolds over a period of time after which the scaffold/cell tissue construct will be implanted *in vivo*. Initially, differentiated cells from the tissues to be regenerated were used; however, with the expansion of the stem cell field, most of the strategies used nowadays are based on stem cells. Finally, growth factors are also of extreme importance, as they trigger crucial processes such as cell differentiation, vascularization, and others, which are relevant for the process of tissue regeneration.

The culturing conditions are another important topic to be considered. As tissues are typically 3D constructs, it is important to use appropriate culture conditions that mimic those found *in vivo*. Bioreactors play an important role for this purpose, and a wide variety of systems, including spinner flasks (Ruottinen, Vasala, Pospiech, & Neubauer, 2007; Sucosky, Osorio, Brown, & Neitzel, 2003), recirculation bioreactors (Jun, Yongsheng, Henry, & Mei, 2007; Mahmoudifar & Doran, 2005), rotating wall vessels (e.g., uni- and bi-axial bioreactor rotation) (Ayyaswamy & Mukundakrishnan, 2007; Manley & Lelkes, 2006; Singh, Teoh, Low, & Hutmacher, 2005), have been developed.

In the following sections, different examples of how TE can be used for tissue repair are presented and discussed.

2.1. Bone TE

Bone is a vascular and highly specialized form of connective tissue composed of 50–70% mineral, 20–40% organic components, and 5–10% water. The organic matrix is mainly composed of collagen type I (~95%), while nanohydroxyapatite is a constituent of the inorganic mineral portion. Bone has a limited ability to heal, and to circumvent this problem, autografts (Merkx, Maltha, Freihofer, & Kuijpers-Jagtman, 1999; Saint-Cyr, Miranda, Gonzalez, & Gupta, 2006), allografts, or xenografts (Merkx et al., 1999; Su-Gwan, Hak-Kyun, & Sung-Chul, 2001) have been used for treating extensive bone lesions. As a viable alternative, hydroxyapatite (Hap, Ca₁₀ (PO₄)₆(OH)₂) ceramic scaffolds with controlled architecture have been developed (Oliveira, Silva, et al., 2009). Despite their interesting properties and biological performance, the HAp implants lack osteoinductive capacity (Boyde, Corsi, Quarto, Cancedda, & Bianco, 1999; Woodard et al., 2007). Therefore, the combination of bone marrow stromal cells (BMSCs) with



Figure 1.1 Optical microscopy images of the HAp scaffold (A) and HAp scaffold seeded with rat bone marrow stromal cells (1×10^6 cells scaffold⁻¹), which were stained with Alizarin red (mineralization) after culturing (14 days) in MEM medium with 0.01 mg ml⁻¹ Dex-loaded CMCht/PAMAM dendrimer nanoparticles, 0.28 mM ascorbic acid, and 10 mM β -glycerophosphate (B).

HAp scaffolds (Kruyt et al., 2007; Nishikawa et al., 2004; Uemura et al., 2003) is promising, as it affords a superior *de novo* bone formation. Composite materials have also been proposed for applications in bone regeneration as they can combine the best of two worlds, polymers and ceramics, while making it possible to best mimic the bone composition (Oliveira, Costa, et al., 2009). One of the main problems in the use of stem cells in bone TE is the need to control stem cell differentiation in vivo and avoid de-differentiation. Oliveira, Sousa, et al. (2009) and Oliveira, Sousa, et al. (2011) have been making advances with novel nanotechnology-based strategies to enhance osteogenesis in vitro and in vivo. The studies have demonstrated the efficacy of intracellular delivery of dexamethasone by using dendrimer-based nanoparticles in order to induce the osteogenic differentiation of BMSCs and enhance de novo bone formation (Fig. 1.1). However, a major challenge in the field of bone TE remains to be met, that is, promoting vascularization in order to allow nutrients access into large TE constructs, thereby maintaining their viablility at the implantation site.

2.2. Cartilage TE

Hyaline cartilage has a high water content (75 wt%) but has no nerves or blood vessels (Aigner & Stove, 2003; Temenoff & Mikos, 2000). The cartilage ECM is rich in collagen type II and includes a low number of chondrocytes (<10 wt%) with a low proliferation rate. For these reasons, it has a limited capacity to regenerate when cartilage lesions occur at a critical size (Hunziker & Rosenberg, 1996). Although a fibrocartilage tissue can be produced at the lesion site during the process of repair (Apprich et al., 2010; Erhart-Hledik et al., 2012; Zbýň et al., 2012), this newly formed tissue has different biomechanical and biological performance in comparison to native cartilage, which can lead to progression of cartilage degeneration, reinnervation, and appearance of pain after a few years. Gellan gum hydrogels (Oliveira, Santos, et al., 2009), chondroitin sulfate, chitosan, and hyaluronic acid (Kikuchi, Yamada, & Shimmei, 1996; Muzzarelli, Greco, Busilacchi, Sollazzo, & Gigante, 2012) have shown great potential in cartilage TE. Further details on the potential use of polysaccharides in cartilage TE can be found elsewhere (Oliveira & Reis, 2011).

2.3. Osteochondral (OCD) TE

Thinning of cartilage or progression of cartilage lesions into the subchondral bone can lead to the appearing of OCD defects (Grade IV Outerbridge classification, Fig. 1.2A) (Sanders & Crim, 2001). OCD treatment possibilities are mainly based on clinical assessment and pain, but management comprises patient age and extension of the lesion requirements (Menetrey et al., 2012). Autograft transplantation (Espregueira-Mendes et al., 2012), microfracture (Kuo et al., 2006), subchondral drilling (Bouwmeester, Kuijer, Homminga, Bulstra, & Geesink, 2002), autologous chondrocyte implantation (ACI) (Ellender, Gomoll, & Minas, 2008), and matrix-associated autologous chondrocyte transplantation (Domayer et al., 2012) are examples of clinical approaches that have been exploited as primary/secondary treatments.



Figure 1.2 Illustration of an osteochondral defect (Grade IV) (A), and photograph of the gellan gum/gellan gum-hydroxyapatite (GG/GG-HAp) bilayered scaffold (B).

OCD reconstruction is particularly challenging as it requires addressing simultaneously, the regeneration of two different tissues. Thus, OCD treatment options should be able to preserve the OCD tissue. In this sense, strategies involving the use of cartilage- and bone-like (bilayered) scaffolds are advantageous (Fig. 1.2B). Oliveira et al. (2006) have pioneered the development of bilayered scaffolds for treating OCD lesions.

2.4. Meniscus TE

Meniscus TE has been attracting a great deal of attention in the last few years because of the increasing interest in preserving this tissue. Meniscus is a fibrocartilaginous tissue mainly composed of collagen type I, and it plays an important role in knee-joint stability and homeostasis. It is a complex tissue since it has a grading of vascularization, that is, it has vascularized (red-red), poorly vascularized (red-white), and avascular (white-white) regions, and it is known that the lesion site within the meniscus is cr for its repair (Pereira, Frias, Oliveira, Espregueira-Mendes, & Reis, 2011). Treatment possibilities include total and partial replacement (Monllau, González-Lucena, Gelber, & Pelfort, 2010), and application of biological factors (Pereira, Frias, et al., 2011). Acellular scaffolds have been used in a clinical setting for partial replacement of meniscus (Pereira, Frias, et al., 2011; Verdonk et al., 2012). Collagen-based (Menaflex[®], ReGen Biologics, USA) (Hirschmann et al., 2013; Linke, Ulmer, & Imhoff, 2006; Zaffagnini et al., 2011) and polyurethane-based implants (Actifit[®], Orteq Ltd, UK) have been used in a clinical setting, but the final repaired tissue is not an ideal one (Pereira, Frias, et al., 2011). In this sense, other biomaterials have been proposed for use in meniscus TE. Interestingly, silk scaffolds derived from high-concentration silk fibroin solutions (10-16 wt%) have been developed by Leping et al. (Yan et al., 2012). Their study revealed that the mechanical properties of the silk scaffolds are concentration dependent, and suggested that the 10-12 wt% scaffolds may be applied for meniscus regeneration, while 16 wt% silk scaffolds may find application in cartilage TE. A systematic review of the preclinical and clinical studies related to meniscus TE has been reported by Pereira, Frias, et al. (2011). Scientists are still facing many challenges in meniscus TE, but future research directions should be targeted for controlling segmental vascularization and reinnervation of the meniscus TE scaffolds.

2.5. Intervertebral disc (IVD) TE

IVD degeneration is another important topic that has been addressed in TE. The IVD is a cartilaginous structure located between two vertebral bodies. The IVD is composed of the nucleus pulposus (NP), annulus fibrosus (AF), and cartilaginous endplates (Coventry, Ghormley, & Kernohan, 1945). During progression of IVD degeneration, the avascular NP, located in the central region and containing type II collagen (mainly) and minor quantities of other types of collagens (e.g., IX, VI, and III) (Urban, Roberts, & Ralphs, 2000), starts to lose its properties, which leads to an increased risk for disc herniation. Management of IVD degeneration in the long term requires new treatments based on regenerative approaches. Preclinical studies include the use of stem cells (Vadalà, Denaro, Sobajima, Kang, & Gilbertson, 2005) and chondrocyte transplantation (Meisel et al., 2007), gene therapy (Cassinelli, Hall, & Kang, 2001), and TE-based strategies (Richardson, Mobasheri, Freemont, & Hoyland, 2007). Injectable biomaterials such as hydrogel systems are also attractive since it is possible to administer them through minimally invasive techniques. Enzyme-, ionic- and photocrosslinked hydrogels have been tested to repair NP (Baer, Wang, Kraus, & Setton, 2001; Bron, Vonk, Smit, & Koenderink, 2011; Jeon, Bouhadir, Mansour, & Alsberg, 2009; Pereira, Silva-Correia, Oliveira & Reis, 2013; Reza & Nicoll, 2010; Roughley et al., 2006; Silva-Correia et al., 2011; Silva-Correia, Oliveira, Oliveira, Sousa, & Reis, 2010; Su, Chen, & Lin, 2010; Thomas, Fussell, Sarkar, Lowman, & Marcolongo, 2010). Hyaluronic acid (Su et al., 2010), carboxymethylcellulose (Reza & Nicoll, 2010), and poly (N-isopropyl acrylamide) (Thomas et al., 2010) are some of the biomaterials that have been reported for IVD regeneration. Recently, gellan gum-based hydrogels have also been proposed as NP substitutes (Silva-Correia et al., 2010, 2012, 2011). Similar to other ionic-crosslinked polymerized hydrogels (e.g., alginate), gellan gum may not present the required stability in vivo, with possible misplacement of structural integrity (Oliveira, Santos, et al., 2009; Oliveira et al., 2010). Chemical modification and photo-polymerization strategies can improve the stability of hydrogels. Silva-Correia et al. demonstrated that methacrylated gellan gum hydrogel possesses improved mechanical properties in comparison to gellan gum hydrogel (Silva-Correia et al., 2012). For prevention of angiogenesis and the symptoms associated to progression of IVD degeneration, the development of advanced materials such as anti-angiogenic scaffolds seems to be an alternative. Complementarily, other advanced strategies that make use of drugs, peptides, or growth factors with the ability to control innervation and blood vessel infiltration during tissue repair should also be addressed. But besides the need to control angiogenesis, the biomechanical performance of NP substitutes is the major challenge when treating IVD (Reitmaier et al., 2012), and therefore new biomaterials that can promote the interaction with AF are also in demand. Closure of AF is another important challenge that remains to be tackled, namely when considering only NP replacement, but the focus is still on finding the best procedure to avoid NP extrusion.

2.6. Neural TE

2.6.1 Spinal cord injury

Spinal cord injury (SCI) usually results in dramatic neurological deficits and disabilities. A traumatic injury in the spinal cord leads to the interruption of the neural connections between the brain and the rest of the body, resulting in paralysis and loss of sensation below the injury level, as well as frequent infections in bladder, kidneys, bowel problems, and cardiac and respiratory dysfunctions. Currently, there is no clinical solution to treat SCI patients; therefore, it is very essential to find novel strategies that can lead to the regeneration of SCI-affected individuals. Because of the complexity of the SCI pathophysiology (Donnelly & Popovich, 2008), only regenerative strategies based on multidisciplinary and integrative approaches such as those presented by TE concepts will most likely help in solving the problem. In view of the irregular geometries of the cavity formed after an SCI and the mechanical properties of the neuronal tissue, injectable hydrogels are the biomaterials that better fill the prerequisites to successfully repair the spinal cord. In fact, the use of more than 35 different hydrogels has already been described with the aim of treating the spinal cord (Perale et al., 2011). For instance, Lee et al. (2009) demonstrated that the delivery of human neural stem cells (NSCs) encapsulated into the hydrogel Matrigel promotes sensory axonal regeneration and functional improvements of animals with SCI. However, although hydrogels are the most promising biomaterials to treat the spinal cord, there are also some challenges: most hydrogels are poor substrates for supporting the growth and migration of axons. In order to overcome this drawback, researches are "functionalizing" the hydrogels with active peptides. For instance, Silva and colleagues demonstrated that the addition of a fibronectin-derived peptide to the backbone of the gellan gum hydrogel drastically improved the cell behavior of encapsulated NSCs (Silva, Cooke, et al., 2012). It is important to note that hydrogels are not the

only construct engineered with the aim to treat the SCI; for example, the use of rigid tubes or channels loaded with cells are also often used to fill large gaps created by partial or complete transections (Reynolds et al., 2007; Silva et al., 2010; Silva, Sousa, Pires, et al., 2012). Moreover, many researchers have also engineered nanoparticles in order to deliver therapeutic agents that can protect/repair the injured spinal cord (Cerqueira et al., 2013; Shi et al., 2010). Finally, recent evidence has demonstrated that a rapid prototyped scaffold (Fig. 1.3A) can be used to promote spine stabilization of SCI rats and, at the same time, vertebral bone repair (Oliveira et al., 2012; Silva, Sousa,



Figure 1.3 Mesenchymal stem cells growing on a rapid protoyped scaffold aimed at spine stabilization (A), and in the brain parenchyma 7 days after transplantation (B).

Fraga, et al., 2012). Though mostly ignored by researchers, spine stabilization after an SCI seems to be imperative, not just in humans but also in rodents (Silva et al., 2013).

2.6.2 Peripheral nerve injury

Following an injury, the axons of the peripheral nervous system (PNS) and the central nervous system (CNS) respond differently. While the CNS regeneration is very limited, severed PNS axons are able to re-extend and re-innervate their targets. However, a complete recovery of nerve function is very unusual and the clinical results are still unsatisfactory, especially for large gaps. In fact, injuries to the PNS are one of the major sources of disability in the United States (Noble, Munro, Prasad, & Midha, 1998), impairing the ability to move muscle and/or resulting in painful neuropathies. The standard clinical procedure after a nerve trauma is the simple suture, without generating tension, of the nerve ends; however, the absence of tension is impossible when suturing large gaps. In these cases, a nerve autograph is typically employed (Mukhatyar, Karumbaiah, Yeh, & Bellamkonda, 2009). Although the use of autographs is currently the best clinical treatment available, this procedure has many drawbacks, including the need for a second surgery, the loss of donor site function, limited availability, and the presence of inhibitory molecules in autographs, which may reduce its efficacy (Groves et al., 2005; Mukhatyar et al., 2009). Therefore, the pursuit of alternative therapies that can successfully repair peripheral nerves is still essential. Neural TE is one of the most promising alternative therapies being studied, mainly because with the use of 3D constructs, it will be possible to combine several key elements to successfully promote neuronal repair. They include the protection of the nerve stumps from the entrance of external scars, specific topographic administration of trophic and tropic elements, guiding of growth cues, and the addition of exogenous pro-regenerative mediators such as drugs and cells (Hart, Terenghi, & Wiberg, 2011). A wide range of biomaterials have been assessed experimentally (Chiono, Tonda-Turo, & Ciardelli, 2009), poly-glycolic acid (PGA) being the one with the most success. PGA tubes were shown to support successfully nerve regeneration both experimentally (Dellon & Mackinnon, 1988) and clinically (Mackinnon & Dellon, 1990). Collagen tubes have also been widely tested for bridging nerve defects. For instance, Karup and colleagues have shown that collagen scaffolds are able to successfully bridge a 5-cm nerve gap in nonhuman primates (Krarup, Archibald, & Madison, 2002). Moreover, Rodríguez, Verdú, Ceballos, and Navarro (2000) found that the combination of Schwann cells, matrigel, and polylactate caprolactone (PLC) appears to be a promising alternative to traditional therapies. Despite some encouraging results, researchers working in this area have still to respond to several critical questions: (i) what the ideal combination of polymer/cell/drug to successfully repair the PNS axons is; (ii) whether there is the need for mechanical tension to promote axon proliferation and if this can be provided by a TE construct; and (iii) which experimental model will best reflect the clinical behavior.

In summary, basic studies dealing with the preclinical validation of TERM strategies have been growing considerably in the last few years; however, the clinical translation of TE products has been very scarce and mainly limited to repair/regeneration of bone, cartilage, OCD, and meniscus lesions.

3. NEW TRENDS IN SCAFFOLDING TECHNOLOGIES

Scaffolds are considered an essential element in the common TE strategy, as substitutes for ECM. Several biomaterials, in the form of 3D scaffolds (natural-based and synthetic), have been investigated including polymers, ceramics, and composites. It is widely accepted that in order to be used for TE-based purposes a scaffold must: (1) be biocompatible; (2) possess a controlled degradation rate; (3) have mechanical properties similar to those of the tissue to be replaced; (4) be porous, with an open network of pores easily processed into 3D shapes and adaptable to the clinical problem under treatment; and (5) allow the growth and differentiation of cells from the tissue to be replaced (Salgado et al., 2004a). Moreover, they can also be used as a vehicle for the delivery of drugs/growth factors, while being simultaneously used as a matrix for cells and tissue ingrowth.

Several methods have been used to produce such interconnected porous structures, such as fiber extrusion and bonding, 3D printing, emulsion freeze-drying, porogen leaching, particle aggregation, electrospinning, and supercritical fluids technology, among others. These methods enabling the fabrication of biodegradable porous scaffolds may be classified as solvent-based or melt-based (Liu Tsang & Bhatia, 2004). Both methods have strengths and limitations in developing devices for biomedical applications, in particular for porous scaffolds. Solvent-based methods require very careful processes and verifications to ensure that no harmful residual solvents are retained in the scaffolds after processing. Conversely, melt-based processing, although not involving the use of solvents, requires the use of mild

temperatures to ensure that no thermal degradation is involved during the processing of sensitive biomaterials.

The fibrous nature of the natural ECM has led many researchers to focus on the development of fiber-based scaffolds. Consequently, fiberbasedscaffolds were among the first templates proposed for TE (Freed et al., 1993; Mikos et al., 1993). The fibers can be produced by wet (Pashkuleva, Azevedo, Lopez-Perez, & Reis, 2008) or dry-wet (Lazzeri, Cascone, Quiriconi, Morabito, & Giusti, 2005) spinning from polymeric solutions or by melt spinning (Pavlov, Mano, Neves, & Reis, 2004). The fiber mesh scaffolds can be further obtained by a great variety of processing methods involving knitting (Chen, Qi, et al., 2008), physical bonding (by the combined application of pressure and temperature) (Gomes et al., 2008), and electrospinning (Martins, Araujo, Reis, & Neves, 2007).

3.1. Fiber bonding

The production of microfibrous scaffolds can be achieved by the fiber bonding technique. Basically, a predefined quantity of microfibers produced by the extrusion process is randomly arrayed in a customized Teflon mold and heated at a predefined temperature and time period, under compression. This method helps to retain the spatial random arrangement of the fibers so that the fiber structure does not collapse (Mikos & Temenoff, 2000). By controlling the compression of the bundles and the amount and size of fibers, it is possible to obtain scaffolds with different morphologies regarding porosity and pore size (Chung et al., 2008). The most important advantage of this processing method is the production of scaffolds with high surface area and high porous interconnectivity for cell attachment and rapid diffusion of cells and nutrients. Several studies reported in the literature have shown that scaffolds produced from fibers have adequate porous interconnectivity and mechanical properties for various TE applications (Gomes, Holtorf, Reis, & Mikos, 2006; Gomes, Sikavitsas, Behravesh, Reis, & Mikos, 2003).

Oliveira et al. (2007) tested fiber mesh starch-polycaprolactone (SPCL) scaffolds and PGA non-woven scaffolds with bovine articular chondrocytes. The results have shown that SPCL scaffolds can support bovine articular chondrocyte adhesion and proliferation, contrary to PGA scaffolds that presented a central area of cell depletion. It has also been demonstrated that the use of starch-based scaffolds, in conjunction with fluid flow bioreactor

culture, enhanced the differentiation of marrow stromal cells, leading to the development of bone-like mineralized tissue (Gomes et al., 2006). Aiming at the development of functional vasculature in bone TE applications, Santos et al. (2007) demonstrated that starch-based fiber mesh scaffolds are an excellent substrate for the growth of human endothelial cells (ECs) required for the vascularization process. Several other studies have shown that chitosan-based fiber mesh scaffolds obtained by fiber bonding processes have an adequate structure for bone (Costa-Pinto et al., 2009; Martins, Pinho, et al., 2010) (Fig. 1.4A) and cartilage (da Silva et al., 2011; Oliveira, Crawford, et al., 2011) applications.



Figure 1.4 Human Wharton's Jelly-derived mesenchymal stem cells cultured on rapid prototyped scaffolds (A); Human bone marrow–derived mesenchymal stem cells cultured on microfiber mesh scaffolds (B); Human articular chondrocytes cultured on electrospun polycaprolactone nanofibers functionalized with chondroitin sulfate (C).

3.2. Wet-spinning

Wet-spinning is a non-solvent-induced phase inversion technique allowing for polymer fiber production through an immersion-precipitation process. In detail, a continuous polymer fiber is produced by precipitation of a polymer solution filament in a coagulation bath composed of a poor solvent (non-solvent) or a non-solvent-solvent mixture with respect to the processed polymer. A homogeneous solution filament, composed of polymer, solvent, and possible additives, solidifies because of polymer desolvation, caused by solvent-non-solvent exchange (Puppi et al., 2011).

A number of studies have reported the development of wet-spun fibers made of natural polymers, such as chitosan (Tuzlakoglu, Alves, Mano, & Reis, 2004) and regenerated silk fibroin (Yao, Masuda, Zhao, & Asakura, 2002). In recent years, some research has proposed wet-spun fibers as carriers for drug release, such as either chitosan (Denkbas, Seyyal, & Piskin, 2000) or PLLA fibers (Gao, Gu, & Ping, 2007) loaded with 5-fluorouracil, and PCL loaded with clodronate (a bisphosphonate that has demonstrated efficacy in the treatment of various bone diseases and as an anti-inflammatory drug) (Puppi et al., 2011). This technique was also proposed to develop scaffolds for TE applications, based on PCL fibers (Williamson & Coombes, 2004), braided PLLA or chitosan fibers (Zhang, Hua, Shen, & Yang, 2007), and starch-based fibers (Tuzlakoglu et al., 2010).

3.3. Rapid prototyping

Conventional processing methods to produce scaffolds have some limitations: reduced control of size and geometry of the pores, with eventual reduced control of the interconnectivity of the porosity and spatial distribution of pores within the scaffold. However, the advent of rapid prototyping or solid free form fabrication enabled obtaining a sufficiently higher degree of control in the scaffold morphology and of the final shape of an implantable device (Yeong, Chua, Leong, & Chandrasekaran, 2004).

Rapid prototyping has emerged as a powerful polymer processing technique for the production of scaffolds in the TE area (Peltola, Melchels, Grijpma, & Kellomaki, 2008; Yeong et al., 2004). The biggest strength of these techniques is that a defined structure can be built with customized shapes linked with computer-aided design (CAD) that provides more flexibility, versatility, and reproducibility in creating scaffolds with precise control (Landers et al., 2002; Peltola et al., 2008). Models can be derived from computed tomography scans, magnetic resonance imaging scans, or model data created from 3D object digitizing systems. Among the several rapid prototyping systems, based on laser, printing, and extrusion technologies (i.e., selective laser sintering, stereolithography, 3D printing, fused deposition modeling, and 3D plotting), 3D printers and plotters are generally faster, more affordable, and easier to use than the others (Pfister et al., 2004).

Nevertheless, a limitation of the rapid prototyped scaffolds is the cellseeding efficiency, because pore size is relatively large in comparison to cell dimensions (Fig. 1.4B). This drawback of rapid prototyped scaffolds could be overcome by the integration of electrospun nanofibers (Martins et al., 2009) or by the creation of pore size gradients (Sobral, Caridade, Sousa, Mano, & Reis, 2011). Recently, SPCL SEMI-tubular structures (Fig. 1.3A) produced by 3D Bioplotting have also been used to ensure mechanical stability of TE strategies for recovery from spinal cord injuries (Silva et al., 2010, 2011).

3.4. Electrospinning

Electrospinning has emerged as a straightforward, efficient, inexpensive, and versatile polymer process technology enabling the production of ultrafine fibers. Electrospun fibers present remarkable properties, namely a high specific surface area due to the sub-micrometer range of the fibers' diameter (i.e., frequently below 1 μ m). Typically, the electrospun nanofibers are randomly organized in a mesh-like structure characterized by a high interconnectivity and porosity, with pore sizes in the micrometer range (Martins, Reis, & Neves, 2008).

Conventional electrospinning consists of drawing a polymer solution droplet, produced by a syringe pump, from a capillary. The solution undergoes extensional flow and deposits into a collector by the application of an external electrostatic field. Basically, when a pendant droplet of the polymer solution in the tip of the capillary is subjected to an electric field strong enough to overcome its surface tension, a tiny jet is ejected in the direction of the collector. Before reaching the collector, the solvent evaporates partially leading to the deposition of long and thin fibers, sometimes at the nanoscale. In the electrospinning process, the solvent performs two crucial roles: solvating the polymer molecules ready to form the electrified jet, and carrying the solvated polymer molecules toward the collector and then leaving the polymer fibers by rapid vaporization of the solvent molecules. Therefore, the appropriate selection of a solvent system is a prerequisite for successful electrospinning. The most typical morphology corresponds to a randomly aligned porous non-woven mesh. Indeed, this nanofibrous structure physically resembles the collagen fiber network existing in the natural ECM of most organs of the human body. Therefore, electrospun biodegradable nanofiber mesh (NFM) provides an appropriate environment for cell attachment, proliferation, and, when using progenitor/stem cells, their differentiation (Martins et al., 2007). Moreover, the previously referred properties render electrospun nanofiber meshes useful for many applications, particularly those related to the field of biomedical engineering such as bone and cartilage tissue scaffolding (Alves da Silva et al., 2010; Araujo et al., 2008; da Silva et al., 2009; Martins et al., 2011) (Fig. 1.4C), and drug delivery systems (Martins, Duarte, et al., 2010; Puppi et al., 2011).

3.4.1 Compression molding combined with particulate leaching

Methods based on the leaching of soluble particulates are amongst the most commonly used in the fabrication of 3D porous scaffolds. Compression molding combined with particulate leaching is one of those methods and consists on mixing a polymer or a polymeric blend with leachable particles. This mixture is further loaded into a mold and heated above the glass transition temperature of the polymer and pressure is applied, for a certain period of time, aiming to maximize packaging. After cooling, the molded polymer–porogen composite is immersed in a solvent for the selective dissolution of the porogen. The porosity and pore size of the scaffold is controlled, respectively, by the amount and particle size of the porogen used (Correlo et al., 2009).

This methodology was applied by Gomes, Godinho, Tchalamov, Cunha, and Reis (2002) to develop starch-based scaffolds exhibiting pore sizes between 10 and 500 µm and porosity of about 50%. In a different study, Correlo et al. (2009) produced scaffolds from chitosan/polyester blends and composites using for the first time melt-based compression molding followed by salt leaching. Studies conducted with these scaffolds and bovine articular chondrocytes demonstrated that pore size and geometry of the pore had an effect on cell proliferation and ECM production (da Silva et al., 2010). Other *in vitro* studies confirmed that the developed chitosan/ polyester-based scaffolds support adhesion, viability/proliferation, and osteogenic or chondrogenic differentiation of a mouse mesenchymal stem cell line (BMC-9) (Costa-Pinto et al., 2008; Oliveira et al., 2008). More recent studies have shown that chitosan-based scaffolds prepared by compression molding combined with particulate leaching, besides supporting *in vitro* proliferation and osteogenic differentiation of hBMSCs, induced bone formation *in vivo* (Costa-Pinto et al., 2012). Therefore, these results indicate that these scaffolds can be used for cell-based approaches in the bone TE field.

3.4.2 Supercritical-assisted phase inversion

For the last nearly two decades, there has been considerable progress in supercritical fluid processing, leading to the discovery of new processes that offer various possibilities to prepare materials in different forms or formulations. Supercritical fluid technology offers a clean and environmentally friendly, single-step operation, which provides an attractive platform to meet the demands of the industry. Supercritical-fluid phase inversion offers an attractive and alternative process to obtain solvent-free structures. This method involves casting of a polymer solution onto an inert support followed by immersion of the support with the cast film into a bath filled with a non-solvent for the polymer. The contact between the solvent and the non-solvent causes the solution to be phase-separated. Supercritical carbon dioxide can be used as a non-solvent and this presents several advantages, namely because carbon dioxide can dry the structure rapidly without causing its collapse; cell morphology and shape can thus be tuned by changing the operating conditions (Duarte, Caridade, Mano, & Reis, 2009; Duarte, Mano, & Reis, 2009d).

Several studies report different polymers processed using this technique, both synthetic (e.g., P_LLA, PMMA, Nylon 6, PS, cellulose acetate, polysulfone, poly(ethylene-*co*-vinyl acetate), poly(vinylidene fluoride), polycarbonate, polycarbonate/PEG, and poly-vinyl-alcohol) and natural polymers (i.e., starch and chitosan) (Duarte, Mano, & Reis, 2009b, 2009c, 2010). The possibility to prepare drug delivery systems in a single step operation has also been reported in the literature (Duarte, Mano, & Reis, 2009a).

4. STEM CELLS: LOOKING BEYOND DIFFERENTIATION

One of the key elements in most of TERM approaches is the use of a cell population that will induce new tissue formation through the interaction of the resident cells of the tissue to be regenerated. The nature as well as the differentiation stage of these cells may vary according to the TERM strategies to be used and the total number of cells needed for transplantation, as well as the available tissue for biopsy and posterior cell isolation. The initial

rationale for the use of cells in TERM approaches was based on the premise that they would replace the cells lost during the injury/degenerative process, and at the same time contribute to the formation of new tissue. An example of this was the initial use of fully differentiated osteoblasts for the regeneration of bone and cartilage tissue (Salgado, Oliveira, Pedro, & Reis, 2006). Another typical example of the use of fully differentiated cells in repair/ regeneration strategies is the use of Schwann cells for peripheral nerve applications (Hall, 2005; Hu et al., 2013; Kingham et al., 2007). The great potential of these cells has been associated with their capacity to form Bünger bands and to release neurotrophic factors, leading in this way to the regeneration of the damaged nerves (Hall, 2005). Nevertheless, the use of cells from fully differentiated tissue, although logical and often functional, has always faced a problem, which in most cases is the limited amount of tissue available for cell isolation.

In this sense, stem cells of either pluripotent or multipotent origin have been proposed for the regeneration of tissues. Among the different stem cell populations, one stands out in particular-the mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) (Chen, Shao, Xiang, Dong, & Zhang, 2008). According to the definition introduced by the International Society for Cell Therapy (ISCT), there are some minimal criteria for the identification of MSC populations, such as the adherence to plastic in standard culture conditions; positive expression of specific markers such as CD73, CD90, and CD105, and negative expression of hematopoietic markers such as CD34, CD45, HLA-DR, CD14 or CD11B, and CD79 α or CD19; and *in vitro* differentiation into, at least, osteoblasts, adipocytes, and chondroblasts (Dominici et al., 2006). Most of the time, cells with this phenotype can be isolated from the bone marrow (BM-MSCs), adipose tissue (adipose tissue stem cells—ASCs), or the Wharton Jelly of the umbilical cord (WJ-MSCs/HUCPVCs) (Salgado et al., 2006; Silva, Gimble, Sousa, Reis, & Salgado, 2013; Teixeira, Carvalho, Sousa, & Salgado, 2013). The great potential of MSCs has been associated with their widespread availability throughout the human body, along with the fact that, when isolated, they display great proliferative potential with minimal senescence through multiple passages (Uccelli, Benvenuto, Laroni, & Giunti, 2011).

In terms of action, the multi-differentiation of MSCs is still considered a possible explanation to some authors. For instance, Tohill, Mantovani, Wiberg, and Terenghi (2004) showed that bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells (BM-MSCs) are able to express glial markers (GFAP, S100) *in vitro* and that after transplantation, they were also able to maintain the expression of

these markers, enriching the surrounding environment and enhancing the nerve regeneration. In a recent study, Ladak, Olson, Tredget, and Gordon (2011) demonstrated that BM-MSCs are also able to differentiate into Schwann-like cells, and able to support the peripheral nerve regeneration. These authors also verified that Schwann-like cells derived from MSCs were able to exert similar neurotrophic effects like normal SC, leading to the neurite/axon outgrowth (Ladak et al., 2011). Other authors have also shown that stem cells with a mesenchymal-like phenotype isolated from the adipose tissue, known as adipose tissue stem cells, yielded promising results in the regeneration of damaged nerves (Kingham et al., 2007; Liu, Yang, & Shen, 2012; Liu, Cheng, Guo, et al., 2011). Kingham and colleagues demonstrated that using a specific protocol of differentiation through the use of a mixture of glial growth factors such as GGF-2, bFGF, platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), and forskolin, ASCs were also able to acquire a phenotype similar to SC that expressed glial cell markers such as Stro-1, S100, p75, and Nestin (Kingham et al., 2007).

In recent years, there has been a paradigm shift in the rationale for the use of MSCs in tissue repair and regeneration (Baglio, Pegtel, & Baldini, 2012; Lai et al., 2010), as these cells are able to survive for different periods of time upon transplantation (Fig. 1.3B). In fact, the regenerative and immunomodulatory properties of MSC secretome have already been demonstrated in different tissues and disease contexts of PNS or CNS, both in vitro and in vivo (Ankrum & Karp, 2010; Azari et al., 2010; Bonfield, Nolan Koloze, Lennon, & Caplan, 2010; Caplan & Dennis, 2006; Joyce et al., 2010; Meyerrose et al., 2010). Concerning the effects of MSC secretome in some disorders of the CNS (e.g., Parkinson's disease), studies have already shown that after transplantation of MSCs, they are able to induce improvements in the motor function of the animals (Blandini et al., 2010; Chao, He, & Tay, 2009). With BM-MSCs, Cova and colleagues demonstrated that after transplantation the cells were able to interact with the surroundings of the lesion site of Parkinson's Disease (PD), while maintaining their phenotype even under non-physiological conditions (Cova et al., 2010). At the same time, they also showed that BM-MSCs were able to secrete a broad panel of trophic factors such as EGF, Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), NT-3, FGF-2, and Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), proving that BM-MSCs did not need to differentiate into a neuronal phenotype to exert a neuroprotective action in the dopaminergic populations (Cova et al., 2010). Also with ASCs and WJ-MSCs, studies have shown that similarly to BM-MSCs, these two populations were also

able to exert neuroprotection in PD through the secretion of trophic factors, leading to the recovery of TH-positive cells and behavioral amelioration (McCoy et al., 2008; Weiss et al., 2006). Additional evidence of the therapeutic relevance MSC secretome derives from animal models of, and patients with, SCI (Arboleda et al., 2011; Karamouzian, Nematollahi-Mahani, Nakhaee, & Eskandary, 2012; Shang et al., 2011). Indeed, it was demonstrated that besides the fact that MSCs are modulators of the immunoresponse, they are able to modify the SCI milieu as a result of the secretion of a different panel of trophic factors such as BDNF, Nerve growth factor (NGF), and VEGF, promoting axonal regeneration, glial scar reduction, and neurite outgrowth (Neuhuber, Timothy Himes, Shumsky, Gallo, & Fischer, 2005; Park et al., 2010). For instance, with BM-MSCs, Lu, Jones, and Tuszynski (2005) demonstrated that these cells were able to secrete NGF, NT-3, and high levels of BDNF, which was correlated with the extent of host axonal growth. With ASCs and WJ-MSCs, Lopatina et al. (2011) and Zhang et al. (2009) demonstrated that both populations were able to potentiate the levels of regeneration through the secretion of trophic factors, thus providing neuroprotection and trophic support for preventing cell death and axonal degeneration.

Regarding peripheral nerve repair/regeneration, Liu, Cheng, Guo, et al. (2011) showed that after implantation of ASCs into a rat model, there was an improvement in the walking performance measured by a footprinting test, as well as an increased conservation of muscle-mass and nerve conduction velocity associated with the increased number of myelinated and re-myelinated fibers after ASC graft. In line with this, another study showed that associating the transplantation of ASCs with acellular nerve allografts also improves the regeneration of peripheral nerves (Liu, Cheng, Guo, et al., 2011). In addition to this, they found that ASCs were able to increase the expression of BDNF, NGF, NT-3, and GDNF, relating the secretion of neurotrophic factors as a stimulus to the repair of the nerve damage (Liu, Cheng, Feng, et al., 2011). As in the case of ASCs and BM-MSCs, the use of umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells (UC-MSCs) has also been suggested as another source of MSCs with promising results in the regeneration of damaged peripheral nerves (Lee et al., 2011; Peng et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2012). Using an approach similar to that of Kingham and colleagues, Peng et al. (2011) demonstrated that Wharton jelly MSCs (WJ-MSCs) were also able to acquire the phenotype of an SC cell, exhibiting a high expression of glial markers (GFAP, p75, S100, and MBP). At the same time, they also verified that WJ-MSCs

were able to secrete bioactive neurotrophins, and they associated this phenomenon to robust *in vitro* neurite outgrowth (Peng et al., 2011). Similar outcomes were also shown by Lee et al. (2011), demonstrating that UC-MSCs are, in fact, able to reestablish the conduction velocity of the nerves; however, in addition to this fact, the same authors found that a combinatory approach (UC-MSCs + SC) achieved better outcomes than with the UC-MSCs alone.

Today, the use of induced pluripotent stem cells (iPS cells) constitutes a new potential tool to be used as therapy in the regeneration of damaged nerves (Wang et al., 2011). The purpose of iPS cells is based on their unlimited potential of expansion and differentiation (Lee et al., 2007). Wang and colleagues (Wang et al., 2011) demonstrated that it is possible to differentiate iPS cells into neural crest stem cells (NCSCs) and, after transplantation of these NCSCs, they were able to accelerate axonal myelination and differentiate into SC cells without any teratoma formation (Wang et al., 2011). Although the application of iPS cells has yielded promising results so far and shown a tremendous potential for the regenerative medicine applications in different kinds of disorders such as nerve injuries, more studies are needed to precisely define the best protocol of differentiation and the best method for their application (Miura et al., 2009).

5. CONCLUSIONS

Recent advances in different areas such as materials engineering, scaffold processing, bioreactor technology, gene therapy, and stem cell basic and applied biology have allowed TERM to be placed on the forefront of new therapies for tissue/organ repair and regeneration. In this sense, the upcoming years will be decisive for the affirmation of TERM and for recognition from both the general public and the medical community. For this purpose, it is of utmost importance that the multidisciplinary profile of this exciting field is reinforced in the near future.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to acknowledge the funding by the Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology (FCT) (Grant No. PTDC/SAU-BMA/114059/2009; pre- and post-doctoral fellowships to F.G. Teixeira, J.M. Oliveira, and A. Martins—SFRH/BD/69637/2010, SFRH/BPD/63175/2009, and SFRH/BPD/70669/2010); and EU-FP7-Health-2011-collaborative project 278612, Biohybrid—Templates for peripheral nerve regeneration.

REFERENCES

- Aigner, T., & Stove, J. (2003). Collagens—Major component of the physiological cartilage matrix, major target of cartilage degeneration, major tool in the cartilage repair. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 55, 1569–1593.
- Alves da Silva, M. L., Martins, A., Costa-Pinto, A. R., Costa, P., Faria, S., Gomes, M., et al. (2010). Cartilage tissue engineering using electrospun PCL nanofiber meshes and MSCs. *Biomacromolecules*, 11(12), 3228–3236.
- Ankrum, J., & Karp, J. M. (2010). Mesenchymal stem cell therapy: Two steps forward, one step back. [Research Support, N.I.H., Extramural Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. *Trends in Molecular Medicine*, 16(5), 203–209.
- Apprich, S., Welsch, G. H., Mamisch, T. C., Szomolanyi, P., Mayerhoefer, M., Pinker, K., et al. (2010). Detection of degenerative cartilage disease: Comparison of high-resolution morphological MR and quantitative T2 mapping at 3.0 Tesla. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 18(9), 1211–1217.
- Araujo, J. V., Martins, A., Leonor, I. B., Pinho, E. D., Reis, R. L., & Neves, N. M. (2008). Surface controlled biomimetic coating of polycaprolactone nanofiber meshes to be used as bone extracellular matrix analogues. *Journal of Biomaterials Science. Polymer Edition*, 19(10), 1261–1278.
- Arboleda, D., Forostyak, S., Jendelova, P., Marekova, D., Amemori, T., Pivonkova, H., et al. (2011). Transplantation of predifferentiated adipose-derived stromal cells for the treatment of spinal cord injury. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. *Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology*, 31(7), 1113–1122.
- Ayyaswamy, P. S., & Mukundakrishnan, K. (2007). Optimal conditions for simulating microgravity employing NASA designed rotating wall vessels. *Acta Astronautica*, 60(4–7), 397–405.
- Azari, M. F., Mathias, L., Ozturk, E., Cram, D. S., Boyd, R. L., & Petratos, S. (2010). Mesenchymal stem cells for treatment of CNS injury. *Current Neuropharmacology*, 8(4), 316–323.
- Baer, A. E., Wang, J. Y., Kraus, V. B., & Setton, L. A. (2001). Collagen gene expression and mechanical properties of intervertebral disc cell-alginate cultures. *Journal of Orthopaedic Research*, 19, 2–10.
- Baglio, S. R., Pegtel, D. M., & Baldini, N. (2012). Mesenchymal stem cell secreted vesicles provide novel opportunities in (stem) cell-free therapy. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 3, 359.
- Blandini, F., Cova, L., Armentero, M. T., Zennaro, E., Levandis, G., Bossolasco, P., et al. (2010). Transplantation of undifferentiated human mesenchymal stem cells protects against 6-hydroxydopamine neurotoxicity in the rat. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. Cell Transplantation, 19(2), 203–217.
- Bonfield, T. L., Nolan Koloze, M. T., Lennon, D. P., & Caplan, A. I. (2010). Defining human mesenchymal stem cell efficacy in vivo. *Journal of Inflammation (London)*, 7(51), 1–12.
- Bouwmeester, P. S. J. M., Kuijer, R., Homminga, G. N., Bulstra, S. K., & Geesink, R. G. T. (2002). A retrospective analysis of two independent prospective cartilage repair studies: Autogenous perichondrial grafting versus subchondral drilling 10 years post-surgery. *Journal of Orthopaedic Research*, 20(2), 267–273.
- Boyde, A., Corsi, A., Quarto, R., Cancedda, R., & Bianco, P. (1999). Osteoconduction in large macroporous hydroxyapatite ceramic implants: Evidence for a complementary integration and disintegration mechanism. *Bone*, 24(6), 579–589.
- Bron, J. L., Vonk, L. A., Smit, T. H., & Koenderink, G. H. (2011). Engineering alginate for intervertebral disc repair. *Journal of the Mechanical Behavior of Biomedical Materials*, 4(7), 1196–1205.
- Caplan, A. I., & Dennis, J. E. (2006). Mesenchymal stem cells as trophic mediators. [Research Support, N.I.H., Extramural Review]. Journal of Cellular Biochemistry, 98(5), 1076–1084.

- Cassinelli, E. H., Hall, R. A., & Kang, J. D. (2001). Biochemistry of intervertebral disc degeneration and the potential for gene therapy applications. *Spine Journal*, 1(3), 205–214.
- Cerqueira, S. R., Oliveira, J. M., Silva, N. A., Leite-Almeida, H., Ribeiro-Samy, S., Almeida, A., et al. (2013). Microglia response and in vivo therapeutic potential of methylprednisolone-loaded dendrimer nanoparticles in spinal cord injury. *Small*, 9(5), 738–749.
- Chao, Y. X., He, B. P., & Tay, S. S. (2009). Mesenchymal stem cell transplantation attenuates blood brain barrier damage and neuroinflammation and protects dopaminergic neurons against MPTP toxicity in the substantia nigra in a model of Parkinson's disease. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, 216(1–2), 39–50.
- Chen, X., Qi, Y. Y., Wang, L. L., Yin, Z., Yin, G. L., Zou, X. H., et al. (2008). Ligament regeneration using a knitted silk scaffold combined with collagen matrix. *Biomaterials*, 29(27), 3683–3692.
- Chen, Y., Shao, J. Z., Xiang, L. X., Dong, X. J., & Zhang, G. R. (2008). Mesenchymal stem cells: A promising candidate in regenerative medicine. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't Review]. *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology*, 40(5), 815–820.
- Chiono, V., Tonda-Turo, C., & Ciardelli, G. (2009). Artificial scaffolds for peripheral nerve reconstruction. In S. Geuna, P. Tos, & B. Battiston (Eds.), *Essays on peripheral nerve repair* and regeneration, Vol. 87, (pp. 173–198). Waltham, Massachusetts: Academic Press.
- Chung, S., Martins, A., Correlo, V. M., Oliveira, J. T., Marques, A. P., Neves, N. M., et al. (2008). Dependence of cell proliferation on the morphology of starch based scaffolds for tissue engineering. *Tissue Engineering. Part A*, 14(5), 718.
- Correlo, V. M., Boesel, L. F., Pinho, E., Costa-Pinto, A. R., da Silva, M. L. A., Bhattacharya, M., et al. (2009). Melt-based compression-molded scaffolds from chitosan-polyester blends and composites: Morphology and mechanical properties. *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research, Part A*, 91A(2), 489–504.
- Costa-Pinto, A. R., Correlo, V. M., Sol, P. C., Bhattacharya, M., Charbord, P., Delorme, B., et al. (2009). Osteogenic differentiation of human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells seeded on melt based chitosan scaffolds for bone tissue engineering applications. *Biomacromolecules*, 10(8), 2067–2073.
- Costa-Pinto, A. R., Correlo, V. M., Sol, P. C., Bhattacharya, M., Srouji, S., Livne, E., et al. (2012). Chitosan-poly(butylene succinate) scaffolds and human bone marrow stromal cells induce bone repair in a mouse calvaria model. *Journal of Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine*, 6(1), 21–28.
- Costa-Pinto, A. R., Salgado, A. J., Correlo, V. M., Sol, P., Bhattacharya, M., Charbord, P., et al. (2008). Adhesion, proliferation, and osteogenic differentiation of a mouse mesenchymal stem cell line (BMC9) seeded on novel melt-based chitosan/polyester 3D porous scaffolds. *Tissue Engineering. Part A*, 14(6), 1049–1057.
- Cova, L., Armentero, M. T., Zennaro, E., Calzarossa, C., Bossolasco, P., Busca, G., et al. (2010). Multiple neurogenic and neurorescue effects of human mesenchymal stem cell after transplantation in an experimental model of Parkinson's disease. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. *Brain Research*, 1311, 12–27.
- Coventry, M. B., Ghormley, R. K., & Kernohan, J. W. (1945). The intervertebral disc: Its microscopic anatomy and pathology. Part I. Anatomy, development, and physiology. *The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery. American Volume*, 27(1), 105–112.
- da Silva, M. L. A., Crawford, A., Mundy, J. M., Correlo, V. M., Sol, P., Bhattacharya, M., et al. (2010). Chitosan/polyester-based scaffolds for cartilage tissue engineering: Assessment of extracellular matrix formation. *Acta Biomaterialia*, 6(3), 1149–1157.
- da Silva, M. A., Crawford, A., Mundy, J., Martins, A., Araujo, J. V., Hatton, P. V., et al. (2009). Evaluation of extracellular matrix formation in polycaprolactone and

starch-compounded polycaprolactone nanofiber meshes when seeded with bovine articular chondrocytes. *Tissue Engineering. Part A*, 15(2), 377–385.

- da Silva, M. L. A., Martins, A., Costa-Pinto, A. R., Correlo, V. M., Sol, P., Bhattacharya, M., et al. (2011). Chondrogenic differentiation of human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells in chitosan-based scaffolds using a flow-perfusion bioreactor. *Journal of Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine*, 5(9), 722–732.
- Dellon, A. L., & Mackinnon, S. E. (1988). An alternative to the classical nerve graft for the management of the short nerve gap. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery*, 82(5), 849–856.
- Denkbas, E. B., Seyyal, M., & Piskin, E. (2000). Implantable 5-fluorouracil loaded chitosan scaffolds prepared by wet spinning. *Journal of Membrane Science*, 172(1–2), 33–38.
- Domayer, S. E., Apprich, S., Stelzeneder, D., Hirschfeld, C., Sokolowski, M., Kronnerwetter, C., et al. (2012). Cartilage repair of the ankle: First results of T2 mapping at 7.0Å T after microfracture and matrix associated autologous cartilage transplantation. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, 20(8), 829–836.
- Dominici, M., Le Blanc, K., Mueller, I., Slaper-Cortenbach, I., Marini, F., Krause, D., et al. (2006). Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. *Cytotherapy*, 8(4), 315–317.
- Donnelly, D. J., & Popovich, P. G. (2008). Inflammation and its role in neuroprotection, axonal regeneration and functional recovery after spinal cord injury. *Experimental Neurology*, 209(2), 378–388.
- Duarte, A. R. C., Caridade, S. G., Mano, J. F., & Reis, R. L. (2009). Processing of novel bioactive polymeric matrixes for tissue engineering using supercritical fluid technology. *Materials Science & Engineering C: Materials for Biological Applications*, 29(7), 2110–2115.
- Duarte, A. R. C., Mano, J. F., & Reis, R. L. (2009a). Dexamethasone-loaded scaffolds prepared by supercritical-assisted phase inversion. Acta Biomaterialia, 5(6), 2054–2062.
- Duarte, A. R. C., Mano, J. F., & Reis, R. L. (2009b). Preparation of chitosan scaffolds loaded with dexamethasone for tissue engineering applications using supercritical fluid technology. *European Polymer Journal*, 45(1), 141–148.
- Duarte, A. R. C., Mano, J. F., & Reis, R. L. (2009c). Preparation of starch-based scaffolds for tissue engineering by supercritical immersion precipitation. *Journal of Supercritical Fluids*, 49(2), 279–285.
- Duarte, A. R. C., Mano, J. F., & Reis, R. L. (2009d). Supercritical fluids in biomedical and tissue engineering applications: A review. *International Materials Reviews*, 54(4), 214–222.
- Duarte, A. R. C., Mano, J. F., & Reis, R. L. (2010). Novel 3D scaffolds of chitosan-PLLA blends for tissue engineering applications: Preparation and characterization. *Journal of Supercritical Fluids*, 54(3), 282–289.
- Ellender, P., Gomoll, A., & Minas, T. (2008). Autologous chondrocyte implantation for osteochondritis dissecans in the knee. Operative Techniques in Sports Medicine, 16(2), 89–96.
- Erhart-Hledik, J. C., Favre, J., Asay, J. L., Smith, R. L., Giori, N. J., Mündermann, A., et al. (2012). A relationship between mechanically-induced changes in serum cartilage oligomeric matrix protein (COMP) and changes in cartilage thickness after 5 years. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 20(11), 1309–1315.
- Espregueira-Mendes, J., Pereira, H., Sevivas, N., Varanda, P., Silva, M. V., Monteiro, A., et al. (2012). Osteochondral transplantation using autografts from the upper tibio-fibular joint for the treatment of knee cartilage lesions. *Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy*, 20(6), 1136–1142.
- Freed, L. E., Marquis, J. C., Nohria, A., Emmanual, J., Mikos, A. G., & Langer, R. (1993). Neocartilage formation in vitro and in vivo using cells cultured on synthetic biodegradable polymers. *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research*, 27(1), 11–23.

- Gao, H., Gu, Y. Q., & Ping, Q. E. (2007). The implantable 5-fluorouracil-loaded poly(Llactic acid) fibers prepared by wet-spinning from suspension. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 118(3), 325–332.
- Gomes, M. E., Azevedo, H. S., Moreira, A. R., Ella, V., Kellomaki, M., & Reis, R. L. (2008). Starch-poly(epsilon-caprolactone) and starch-poly(lactic acid) fibre-mesh scaffolds for bone tissue engineering applications: Structure, mechanical properties and degradation behaviour. *Journal of Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine*, 2(5), 243–252.
- Gomes, M. E., Godinho, J. S., Tchalamov, D., Cunha, A. M., & Reis, R. L. (2002). Alternative tissue engineering scaffolds based on starch: Processing methodologies, morphology, degradation and mechanical properties. *Materials Science and Engineering: C*, 20(1–2), 19–26.
- Gomes, M. E., Holtorf, H. L., Reis, R. L., & Mikos, A. G. (2006). Influence of the porosity of starch-based fiber mesh scaffolds on the proliferation and osteogenic differentiation of bone marrow stromal cells cultured in a flow perfusion bioreactor. *Tissue Engineering*, 12(4), 801–809.
- Gomes, M. E., Sikavitsas, V. I., Behravesh, E., Reis, R. L., & Mikos, A. G. (2003). Effect of flow perfusion on the osteogenic differentiation of bone marrow stromal cells cultured on starch-based three-dimensional scaffolds. *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research, Part* A, 67A(1), 87–95.
- Groves, M. L., McKeon, R., Werner, E., Nagarsheth, M., Meador, W., & English, A. W. (2005). Axon regeneration in peripheral nerves is enhanced by proteoglycan degradation. *Experimental Neurology*, 195(2), 278–292.
- Hall, S. (2005). The response to injury in the peripheral nervous system. [review]. *The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery. British Volume*, 87(10), 1309–1319.
- Hart, A., Terenghi, G., & Wiberg, M. (2011). Tissue engineering for peripheral nerve regeneration. In N. Pallua & C. V. Suscheck (Eds.), *Tissue engineering* (pp. 245–262). Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer.
- Hirschmann, M. T., Keller, L., Hirschmann, A., Schenk, L., Berbig, R., Lüthi, U., et al. (2013). One-year clinical and MR imaging outcome after partial meniscal replacement in stabilized knees using a collagen meniscus implant. *Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy*, 21(3), 740–747.
- Hu, N., Wu, H., Xue, C., Gong, Y., Wu, J., Xiao, Z., et al. (2013). Long-term outcome of the repair of 50 mm long median nerve defects in rhesus monkeys with marrow mesenchymal stem cells-containing, chitosan-based tissue engineered nerve grafts. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. *Biomaterials*, 34(1), 100–111.
- Hunziker, E. B., & Rosenberg, L. C. (1996). Repair of partial-thickness defects in articular cartilage: Cell recruitment from the synovial membrane. *The Journal of Bone and Joint Sur*gery, 78-A(5), 721–733.
- Jeon, O., Bouhadir, K. H., Mansour, J. M., & Alsberg, E. (2009). Photocrosslinked alginate hydrogels with tunable biodegradation rates and mechanical properties. *Biomaterials*, 30(14), 2724–2734.
- Joyce, N., Annett, G., Wirthlin, L., Olson, S., Bauer, G., & Nolta, J. A. (2010). Mesenchymal stem cells for the treatment of neurodegenerative disease. [Research Support, N.I.H., Extramural Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't Review]. *Regenerative Medicine*, 5(6), 933–946.
- Jun, D., Yongsheng, Z., Henry, R. K., & Mei, H. (2007). Impacts of aeration and active sludge addition on leachate recirculation bioreactor. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 147(1-2), 240-248.
- Karamouzian, S., Nematollahi-Mahani, S. N., Nakhaee, N., & Eskandary, H. (2012). Clinical safety and primary efficacy of bone marrow mesenchymal cell transplantation in subacute

spinal cord injured patients. [Clinical Trial, Phase IClinical Trial, Phase II Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. *Clinical Neurology and Neurosurgery*, 114(7), 935–939.

- Kikuchi, T., Yamada, H., & Shimmei, M. (1996). Effect of high molecular weight hyaluronan on cartilage degeneration in a rabbit model of osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 4(2), 99–110.
- Kingham, P. J., Kalbermatten, D. F., Mahay, D., Armstrong, S. J., Wiberg, M., & Terenghi, G. (2007). Adipose-derived stem cells differentiate into a Schwann cell phenotype and promote neurite outgrowth in vitro. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. *Experimental Neurology*, 207(2), 267–274.
- Krarup, C., Archibald, S. J., & Madison, R. D. (2002). Factors that influence peripheral nerve regeneration: An electrophysiological study of the monkey median nerve. *Annals of Neurology*, 51(1), 69–81.
- Kruyt, M. C., Dhert, W. J. A., Oner, F. C., van Blitterswijk, C. A., Verbout, A. J., & de Bruijn, J. D. (2007). Analysis of ectopic and orthotopic bone formation in cell-based tissue-engineered constructs in goats. *Biomaterials*, 28(10), 1798–1805.
- Kuo, A. C., Rodrigo, J. J., Reddi, A. H., Curtiss, S., Grotkopp, E., & Chiu, M. (2006). Microfracture and bone morphogenetic protein 7 (BMP-7) synergistically stimulate articular cartilage repair. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 14(11), 1126–1135.
- Ladak, A., Olson, J., Tredget, E. E., & Gordon, T. (2011). Differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells to support peripheral nerve regeneration in a rat model. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. *Experimental Neurology*, 228(2), 242–252.
- Lai, R. C., Arslan, F., Lee, M. M., Sze, N. S., Choo, A., Chen, T. S., et al. (2010). Exosome secreted by MSC reduces myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury. *Stem Cell Research*, 4(3), 214–222.
- Landers, R., Pfister, A., Hubner, U., John, H., Schmelzeisen, R., & Mulhaupt, R. (2002). Fabrication of soft tissue engineering scaffolds by means of rapid prototyping techniques. *Journal of Materials Science*, 37(15), 3107–3116.
- Langer, R., & Vacanti, J. P. (1993). Tissue engineering. Science, 260(5110), 920-926.
- Lazzeri, L., Cascone, M. G., Quiriconi, S., Morabito, L., & Giusti, P. (2005). Biodegradable hollow microfibres to produce bioactive scaffolds. *Polymer International*, 54(1), 101–107.
- Lee, S.-H., Chung, Y.-N., Kim, Y.-H., Kim, Y.-J., Park, J.-P., Kwon, D.-K., et al. (2009). Effects of human neural stem cell transplantation in canine spinal cord hemisection. *Neurological Research*, 31(9), 996–1002.
- Lee, J. Y., Jung, H. J., Alrashdan, M. S., Li, B. H., Sung, M. A., Yoo, S. B., et al. (2011). Peripheral nerve regeneration with cotransplantation of umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells and Schwann cells in rat sciatic nerve defect. *Neural Regeneration Research*, 6(7), 485–493.
- Lee, G., Kim, H., Elkabetz, Y., Al Shamy, G., Panagiotakos, G., Barberi, T., et al. (2007). Isolation and directed differentiation of neural crest stem cells derived from human embryonic stem cells. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. *Nature Biotechnology*, 25(12), 1468–1475.
- Linke, R. D., Ulmer, M., & Imhoff, A. B. (2006). Replacement of the meniscus with a collagen implant (CMI). Operative Orthopädie und Traumatologie, 18(5–6), 453–462.
- Liu Tsang, V., & Bhatia, S. N. (2004). Three-dimensional tissue fabrication. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 56(11), 1635–1647.
- Liu, G. B., Cheng, Y. X., Feng, Y. K., Pang, C. J., Li, Q., Wang, Y., et al. (2011). Adiposederived stem cells promote peripheral nerve repair. *Archives of Medical Science*, 7(4), 592–596.
- Liu, G., Cheng, Y., Guo, S., Feng, Y., Li, Q., Jia, H., et al. (2011). Transplantation of adipose-derived stem cells for peripheral nerve repair. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. International Journal of Molecular Medicine, 28(4), 565–572.

- Liu, B. S., Yang, Y. C., & Shen, C. C. (2012). Regenerative effect of adipose tissue-derived stem cells transplantation using nerve conduit therapy on sciatic nerve injury in rats. *Journal of Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine*, http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/term.1523.
- Lopatina, T., Kalinina, N., Karagyaur, M., Stambolsky, D., Rubina, K., Revischin, A., et al. (2011). Adipose-derived stem cells stimulate regeneration of peripheral nerves: BDNF secreted by these cells promotes nerve healing and axon growth de novo. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. *PLoS One*, 6(3), e17899.
- Lu, P., Jones, L. L., & Tuszynski, M. H. (2005). BDNF-expressing marrow stromal cells support extensive axonal growth at sites of spinal cord injury. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't Research Support, U.S. Gov't, Non-P.H.S. Research Support, U.S. Gov't, P.H.S.]. Experimental Neurology, 191(2), 344–360.
- Mackinnon, S. E., & Dellon, A. L. (1990). Clinical nerve reconstruction with a bioabsorbable polyglycolic acid tube. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery*, 85(3), 419–424.
- Mahmoudifar, N., & Doran, P. M. (2005). Tissue engineering of human cartilage and osteochondral composites using recirculation bioreactors. *Biomaterials*, 26(34), 7012–7024.
- Manley, P., & Lelkes, P. I. (2006). A novel real-time system to monitor cell aggregation and trajectories in rotating wall vessel bioreactors. *Journal of Biotechnology*, 125(3), 416–424.
- Martins, A., Alves da Silva, M. L., Faria, S., Marques, A. P., Reis, R. L., & Neves, N. M. (2011). The influence of patterned nanofiber meshes on human mesenchymal stem cell osteogenesis. *Macromolecular Bioscience*, 11(7), 978–987.
- Martins, A., Araujo, J. V., Reis, R. L., & Neves, N. M. (2007). Electrospun nanostructured scaffolds for tissue engineering applications. *Nanomedicine*, 2(6), 929–942.
- Martins, A., Chung, S., Pedro, A. J., Sousa, R. A., Marques, A. P., Reis, R. L., et al. (2009). Hierarchical starch-based fibrous scaffold for bone tissue engineering applications. *Journal* of Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine, 3(1), 37–42.
- Martins, A., Duarte, A. R. C., Faria, S., Marques, A. P., Reis, R. L., & Neves, N. M. (2010). Osteogenic induction of hBMSCs by electrospun scaffolds with dexamethasone release functionality. *Biomaterials*, 31(22), 5875–5885.
- Martins, A., Pinho, E. D., Correlo, V. M., Faria, S., Marques, A. P., Reis, R. L., et al. (2010). Biodegradable nanofibers-reinforced microfibrous composite scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. *Tissue Engineering - Part A*, 16(12), 3599–3609.
- Martins, A., Reis, R. L., & Neves, N. M. (2008). Electrospinning: Processing technique for tissue engineering scaffolding. *International Materials Reviews*, 53(5), 257–274.
- Mason, C., & Dunnill, P. (2008). A brief definition of regenerative medicine. [Editorial]. Regenerative Medicine, 3(1), 1–5.
- McCoy, M. K., Martinez, T. N., Ruhn, K. A., Wrage, P. C., Keefer, E. W., Botterman, B. R., et al. (2008). Autologous transplants of adipose-derived adult stromal (ADAS) cells afford dopaminergic neuroprotection in a model of Parkinson's disease. [In Vitro Research Support, N.I.H., Extramural Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. *Experimental Neurology*, 210(1), 14–29.
- Meisel, H. J., Siodla, V., Ganey, T., Minkus, Y., Hutton, W. C., & Alasevic, O. J. (2007). Clinical experience in cell-based therapeutics: Disc chondrocyte transplantation: A treatment for degenerated or damaged intervertebral disc. *Biomolecular Engineering*, 24(1), 5–21.
- Menetrey, J., Zaffagnini, S., Fritschy, D., Dijk, N., Brittberg, M., Gobbi, A., et al. (2012). Cartilage committee seminar: Algorithms and flowcharts for the treatment of cartilage pathology. ESSKA instructional course lecture book. (pp. 215–234). Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer.
- Merkx, M. A. W., Maltha, J. C., Freihofer, H.-P. M., & Kuijpers-Jagtman, A. M. (1999). Incorporation of three types of bone block implants in the facial skeleton. *Biomaterials*, 20(7), 639–645.

- Meyerrose, T., Olson, S., Pontow, S., Kalomoiris, S., Jung, Y., Annett, G., et al. (2010). Mesenchymal stem cells for the sustained in vivo delivery of bioactive factors. [Research Support, N.I.H., Extramural Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't Review]. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 62(12), 1167–1174.
- Mikos, A. G., Bao, Y., Cima, L. G., Ingber, D. E., Vacanti, J. P., & Langer, R. (1993). Preparation of poly(glycolic acid) bonded fiber structures for cell attachment and transplantation. *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research*, 27(2), 183–189.
- Mikos, A. G., & Temenoff, J. S. (2000). Formation of highly porous biodegradable scaffolds for tissue engineering. *Electronic Journal of Biotechnology*, 3(2), 114–119.
- Miura, K., Okada, Y., Aoi, T., Okada, A., Takahashi, K., Okita, K., et al. (2009). Variation in the safety of induced pluripotent stem cell lines. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. *Nature Biotechnology*, 27(8), 743–745.
- Monllau, J. C., González-Lucena, G., Gelber, P. E., & Pelfort, X. (2010). Allograft meniscus transplantation: A current review. *Techniques in Knee Surgery*, 9(2), 107–113.
- Mukhatyar, V., Karumbaiah, L., Yeh, J., & Bellamkonda, R. (2009). Tissue engineering strategies designed to realize the endogenous regenerative potential of peripheral nerves. *Advanced Materials*, 21(46), 4670–4679.
- Muzzarelli, R. A. A., Greco, F., Busilacchi, A., Sollazzo, V., & Gigante, A. (2012). Chitosan, hyaluronan and chondroitin sulfate in tissue engineering for cartilage regeneration: A review. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 89(3), 723–739.
- Neuhuber, B., Timothy Himes, B., Shumsky, J. S., Gallo, G., & Fischer, I. (2005). Axon growth and recovery of function supported by human bone marrow stromal cells in the injured spinal cord exhibit donor variations. [Comparative Study]. *Brain Research*, 1035(1), 73–85.
- Nishikawa, M., Myoui, A., Ohgushi, H., Ikeuchi, M., Tamai, N., & Yoshikawa, H. (2004). Bone tissue engineering using novel interconnected porous hydroxyapaptite ceramics combined with marrow mesenchymal cells: Quantitative and three-dimensional image analysis. *Cell Transplantation*, 13, 367–376.
- Noble, J., Munro, C. A., Prasad, V., & Midha, R. (1998). Analysis of upper and lower extremity peripheral nerve injuries in a population of patients with multiple injuries. *Journal of Trauma-Injury Infection and Critical Care*, 45(1), 116–122.
- Oliveira, J. T., Correlo, V. M., Sol, P. C., Costa-Pinto, A. R., Malafaya, P. B., Salgado, A. J., et al. (2008). Assessment of the suitability of chitosan/polyButylene succinate scaffolds seeded with mouse mesenchymal progenitor cells for a cartilage tissue engineering approach. *Tissue Engineering. Part A*, 14(10), 1651–1661.
- Oliveira, J. M., Costa, S. A., Leonor, I. B., Malafaya, P. B., Mano, J. F., & Reis, R. L. (2009). Novel hydroxyapatite/carboxymethylchitosan composite scaffolds prepared through an innovative "autocatalytic" electroless coprecipitation route. *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research, Part A*, 88A(2), 470–480.
- Oliveira, J. T., Crawford, A., Mundy, J. M., Moreira, A. R., Gomes, M. E., Hatton, P. V., et al. (2007). A cartilage tissue engineering approach combining starch-polycaprolactone fibre mesh scaffolds with bovine articular chondrocytes. *Journal of Materials Science: Materials in Medicine*, 18(2), 295–302.
- Oliveira, J. T., Crawford, A., Mundy, J. L., Sol, P. C., Correlo, V. M., Bhattacharya, M., et al. (2011). Novel melt-processable chitosan-polybutylene succinate fibre scaffolds for cartilage tissue engineering. [Evaluation Studies Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. Journal of Biomaterials Science. Polymer Edition, 22(4–6), 773–788.
- Oliveira, J. T., & Reis, R. L. (2011). Polysaccharide-based materials for cartilage tissue engineering applications. *Journal of Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine*, 5(6), 421–436.
- Oliveira, J. M., Rodrigues, M. T., Silva, S. S., Malafaya, P. B., Gomes, M. E., Viegas, C. A., et al. (2006). Novel hydroxyapatite/chitosan bilayered scaffold for osteochondral
tissue-engineering applications: Scaffold design and its performance when seeded with goat bone marrow stromal cells. *Biomaterials*, 27(36), 6123–6137.

- Oliveira, J. T., Santos, T. C., Martins, L., Picciochi, R., Marques, A. P., Castro, A. G., et al. (2010). Gellan gum injectable hydrogels for cartilage tissue engineering applications: *In vitro* studies and preliminary *in vivo* evaluation. *Tissue Engineering. Part A*, 16(1), 343–353.
- Oliveira, J. T., Santos, T. C., Martins, L., Silva, M. A., Marques, A. P., Castro, A. G., et al. (2009). Performance of new gellan gum hydrogels combined with human articular chondrocytes for cartilage regeneration when subcutaneously implanted in nude mice. *Journal of Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine*, 3(7), 493–500.
- Oliveira, J. M., Silva, S. S., Malafaya, P. B., Rodrigues, M. T., Kotobuki, N., Hirose, M., et al. (2009). Macroporous hydroxyapatite scaffolds for bone tissue engineering applications: Physicochemical characterization and assessment of rat bone marrow stromal cell viability. *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research, Part A*, 91A(1), 175–186.
- Oliveira, J. M., Sousa, R. A., Kotobuki, N., Tadokoro, M., Hirose, M., Mano, J. F., et al. (2009). The osteogenic differentiation of rat bone marrow stromal cells cultured with dexamethasoneloaded carboxymethylchitosan/poly(amidoamine) dendrimer nanoparticles. *Biomaterials*, 30(5), 804–813.
- Oliveira, J. M., Sousa, R. A., Malafaya, P. B., Silva, S. S., Kotobuki, N., Hirose, M., et al. (2011). In vivo study of dendronlike nanoparticles for stem cells "tune-up": From nano to tissues. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology and Medicine*, 7(6), 914–924.
- Oliveira, A. L., Sousa, E. C., Silva, N. A., Sousa, N., Salgado, A. J., & Reis, R. L. (2012). Peripheral mineralization of a 3D biodegradable tubular construct as a way to enhance guidance stabilization in spinal cord injury regeneration. *Journal of Materials Science: Materials in Medicine*, 23(11), 2821–2830.
- Park, H. W., Lim, M. J., Jung, H., Lee, S. P., Paik, K. S., & Chang, M. S. (2010). Human mesenchymal stem cell-derived Schwann cell-like cells exhibit neurotrophic effects, via distinct growth factor production, in a model of spinal cord injury. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. *Glia*, 58(9), 1118–1132.
- Pashkuleva, I., Azevedo, H. S., Lopez-Perez, P. M., & Reis, R. L. (2008). Starch/ethyleneco-vinyl alcohol fiber mesh scaffolds: Production, characterization and surface modification. *Tissue Engineering. Part A*, 14(5), OP260.
- Pavlov, M. P., Mano, J. F., Neves, N. M., & Reis, R. L. (2004). Fibers and 3D mesh scaffolds from biodegradable starch-based blends: Production and characterization. *Macromolecular Bioscience*, 4(8), 776–784.
- Peltola, S. M., Melchels, F. P., Grijpma, D. W., & Kellomaki, M. (2008). A review of rapid prototyping techniques for tissue engineering purposes. *Annals of Medicine*, 40(4), 268–280.
- Peng, J., Wang, Y., Zhang, L., Zhao, B., Zhao, Z., Chen, J., et al. (2011). Human umbilical cord Wharton's jelly-derived mesenchymal stem cells differentiate into a Schwann-cell phenotype and promote neurite outgrowth in vitro. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. Brain Research Bulletin, 84(3), 235–243.
- Perale, G., Rossi, F., Sundstrom, E., Bacchiega, S., Masi, M., Forloni, G., et al. (2011). Hydrogels in spinal cord injury repair strategies. ACS Chemical Neuroscience, 2(7), 336–345.
- Pereira, H., Frias, A. M., Oliveira, J. M., Espregueira-Mendes, J., & Reis, R. L. (2011). Tissue engineering and regenerative medicine strategies in meniscus lesions. *Arthroscopy: The Journal of Arthroscopic & Related Surgery*, 27(12), 1706–1719.
- Pereira, D. R., Silva-Correia, J., Oliveira, J. M., & Reis, R. L. (2013). Hydrogels in acellular and cellular strategies for intervertebral disc regeneration. *Journal of Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine*, 7(2), 85–98.

- Pfister, A., Landers, R., Laib, A., Hubner, U., Schmelzeisen, R., & Mulhaupt, R. (2004). Biofunctional rapid prototyping for tissue-engineering applications: 3D bioplotting versus 3D printing. *Journal of Polymer Science Part A: Polymer Chemistry*, 42(3), 624–638.
- Puppi, D., Piras, A. M., Chiellini, F., Chiellini, E., Martins, A., Leonor, I. B., et al. (2011). Optimized electro- and wet-spinning techniques for the production of polymeric fibrous scaffolds loaded with bisphosphonate and hydroxyapatite. *Journal of Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine*, 5(4), 253–263.
- Reitmaier, S., Wolfram, U., Ignatius, A., Wilke, H.-J., Gloria, A., Martín-Martínez, J. M., et al. (2012). Hydrogels for nucleus replacement: Facing the biomechanical challenge. *Journal of the Mechanical Behavior of Biomedical Materials*, 14, 67–77.
- Reynolds, L. F., Bren, M. C., Wilson, B. C., Gibson, G. D., Shoichet, M. S., & Murphy, R. J. L. (2007). Transplantation of porous tubes following spinal cord transection improves hindlimb function in the rat. *Spinal Cord*, 46(1), 58–64.
- Reza, A. T., & Nicoll, S. B. (2010). Characterization of novel photocrosslinked carboxymethylcellulose hydrogels for encapsulation of nucleus pulposus cells. *Acta Biomaterialia*, 6(1), 179–186.
- Richardson, S. M., Mobasheri, A., Freemont, A. J., & Hoyland, J. A. (2007). Intervertebral disc biology, degeneration and novel tissue engineering and regenerative medicine therapies. *Histology and Histopathology*, 22(9), 1033–1041.
- Rodríguez, F. J., Verdú, E., Ceballos, D., & Navarro, X. (2000). Nerve guides seeded with autologous schwann cells improve nerve regeneration. *Experimental Neurology*, 161(2), 571–584.
- Roughley, P., Hoemann, C., DesRosiers, E., Mwale, F., Antoniou, J., & Alini, M. (2006). The potential of chitosan-based gels containing intervertebral disc cells for nucleus pulposus supplementation. *Biomaterials*, 27(3), 388–396.
- Ruottinen, M., Vasala, A., Pospiech, H., & Neubauer, P. (2007). On-line monitoring of HeLa cell growth and cell cycle in spinner flask cultures. *Journal of Biotechnology*, 131(2, Suppl. 1), S70.
- Saint-Cyr, M., Miranda, D., Gonzalez, R., & Gupta, A. (2006). Immediate corticocancellous bone autografting in segmental bone defects of the hand. *The Journal of Hand Surgery: Journal of the British Society for Surgery of the Hand*, 31(2), 168.
- Salgado, A. J., Coutinho, O. P., & Reis, R. L. (2004a). Bone tissue engineering: State of the art and future trends. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't Review]. *Macromolecular Bioscience*, 4(8), 743–765.
- Salgado, A. J., Coutinho, O. P., & Reis, R. L. (2004b). Novel starch-based scaffolds for bone tissue engineering: Cytotoxicity, cell culture, and protein expression. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. *Tissue Engineering*, 10(3–4), 465–474.
- Salgado, A. J., Oliveira, J. T., Pedro, A. J., & Reis, R. L. (2006). Adult stem cells in bone and cartilage tissue engineering. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't Review]. *Current Stem Cell Research & Therapy*, 1(3), 345–364.
- Sanders, R. K., & Crim, J. R. (2001). Osteochondral injuries. Seminars in Ultrasound, CT and MRI, 22(4), 352–370.
- Santos, M. I., Fuchs, S., Gomes, M. E., Unger, R. E., Reis, R. L., & Kirkpatrick, C. J. (2007). Response of micro- and macrovascular endothelial cells to starch-based fiber meshes for bone tissue engineering. *Biomaterials*, 28(2), 240–248.
- Shang, A. J., Hong, S. Q., Xu, Q., Wang, H. Y., Yang, Y., Wang, Z. F., et al. (2011). NT-3secreting human umbilical cord mesenchymal stromal cell transplantation for the treatment of acute spinal cord injury in rats. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. Brain Research, 1391, 102–113.
- Shi, Y., Kim, S., Huff, T. B., Borgens, R. B., Park, K., Shi, R., et al. (2010). Effective repair of traumatically injured spinal cord by nanoscale block copolymer micelles. *Nature Nanotechnology*, 5(1), 80–87.

- Silva, N. A., Cooke, M. J., Tam, R. Y., Sousa, N., Salgado, A. J., Reis, R. L., et al. (2012). The effects of peptide modified gellan gum and olfactory ensheathing glia cells on neural stem/progenitor cell fate. *Biomaterials*, 33(27), 6345–6354.
- Silva, N. A., Gimble, J. M., Sousa, N., Reis, R. L., & Salgado, A. J. (2013). Combining adult stem cells and olfactory ensheathing cells: The secretome effect. *Stem Cells and Development*, 22, 1232–1240.
- Silva, N. A., Salgado, A. J., Sousa, R. A., Oliveira, J. T., Pedro, A. J., Leite-Almeida, H., et al. (2010). Development and characterization of a novel hybrid tissue engineering-based scaffold for spinal cord injury repair. *Tissue Engineering. Part A*, 16(1), 45–54.
- Silva, N. A., Sousa, R. A., Fraga, J. S., Fontes, M., Leite-Almeida, H., Cerqueira, R., et al. (2012). Benefits of spine stabilization with biodegradable scaffolds in spinal cord injured rats. *Tissue Engineering Part C: Methods*, 19, 101–108.
- Silva, N. A., Sousa, R. A., Pires, A. O., Sousa, N., Salgado, A. J., & Reis, R. L. (2012). Interactions between Schwann and olfactory ensheathing cells with a starch/polycaprolactone scaffold aimed at spinal cord injury repair. *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research, Part A*, 100A(2), 470–476.
- Silva-Correia, J., Miranda-Gonçalves, V., Salgado, A. J., Sousa, N., Oliveira, J. M., Reis, R. M., et al. (2012). Angiogenic potential of gellan-gum-based hydrogels for application in nucleus pulposus regeneration: In vivo study. *Tissue Engineering. Part A*, 18(11–12), 1203–1212.
- Silva-Correia, J., Oliveira, J. M., Caridade, S. G., Oliveira, J. T., Sousa, R. A., Mano, J. F., et al. (2011). Gellan gum-based hydrogels for intervertebral disc tissue-engineering applications. *Journal of Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine*, 5(6), e97–e107.
- Silva-Correia, J., Oliveira, J. M., Oliveira, J. T., Sousa, R. A., & Reis, R. L. (2010). Photocrosslinked Gellan gum-based hydrogels: Methods and uses thereof. WO2011/119059, priority date: 105030 26.03.2010 PT.
- Singh, H., Teoh, S. H., Low, H. T., & Hutmacher, D. W. (2005). Flow modelling within a scaffold under the influence of uni-axial and bi-axial bioreactor rotation. *Journal of Biotechnology*, 119, 181–196.
- Sobral, J. M., Caridade, S. G., Sousa, R. A., Mano, J. F., & Reis, R. L. (2011). Threedimensional plotted scaffolds with controlled pore size gradients: Effect of scaffold geometry on mechanical performance and cell seeding efficiency. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. Acta Biomaterialia, 7(3), 1009–1018.
- Su, W.-Y., Chen, Y.-C., & Lin, F.-H. (2010). Injectable oxidized hyaluronic acid/adipic acid dihydrazide hydrogel for nucleus pulposus regeneration. Acta Biomaterialia, 6(8), 3044–3055.
- Sucosky, P., Osorio, D. F., Brown, J. B., & Neitzel, G. P. (2003). Fluid mechanics of a spinner-flask bioreactor. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 85(1), 34–46.
- Su-Gwan, K., Hak-Kyun, K., & Sung-Chul, L. (2001). Combined implantation of particulate dentine, plaster of Paris, and a bone xenograft (Bio-Oss(R)) for bone regeneration in rats. *Journal of Cranio-Maxillofacial Surgery*, 29(5), 282–288.
- Teixeira, F., Carvalho, M., Sousa, N., & Salgado, A. (2013). Mesenchymal stem cells secretome: a new paradigm for central nervous system regeneration?. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 1–12.
- Temenoff, J. S., & Mikos, A. G. (2000). Review: Tissue engineering for regeneration of articular cartilage. *Biomaterials*, 21, 431–440.
- Thomas, J. D., Fussell, G., Sarkar, S., Lowman, A. M., & Marcolongo, M. (2010). Synthesis and recovery characteristics of branched and grafted PNIPAAm-PEG hydrogels for the development of an injectable load-bearing nucleus pulposus replacement. *Acta Biomaterialia*, 6(4), 1319–1328.
- Tohill, M., Mantovani, C., Wiberg, M., & Terenghi, G. (2004). Rat bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells express glial markers and stimulate nerve regeneration. [Comparative Study Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. *Neuroscience Letters*, 362(3), 200–203.

- Tuzlakoglu, K., Alves, C. M., Mano, J. F., & Reis, R. L. (2004). Production and characterization of chitosan fibers and 3-D fiber mesh scaffolds for tissue engineering applications. *Macromolecular Bioscience*, 4(8), 811–819.
- Tuzlakoglu, K., Pashkuleva, I., Rodrigues, M. T., Gomes, M. E., van Lenthe, G. H., Muller, R., et al. (2010). A new route to produce starch-based fiber mesh scaffolds by wet spinning and subsequent surface modification as a way to improve cell attachment and proliferation. *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research, Part A*, 92A(1), 369–377.
- Uccelli, A., Benvenuto, F., Laroni, A., & Giunti, D. (2011). Neuroprotective features of mesenchymal stem cells. [Review]. Best Practice & Research. Clinical Haematology, 24(1), 59–64.
- Uemura, T., Dong, J., Wang, Y., Kojima, H., Saito, T., Iejima, D., et al. (2003). Transplantation of cultured bone cells using combinations of scaffolds and culture techniques. *Biomaterials*, 24(13), 2277–2286.
- Urban, J. P. G., Roberts, S., & Ralphs, J. R. (2000). The nucleus of the intervertebral disc from development to degeneration. *American Zoologist*, 40(1), 53–61.
- Vadalà, G., Denaro, E., Sobajima, S., Kang, J. D., & Gilbertson, L. G. (2005). Stem cell therapy for intervertebral disc degeneration: *In vitro* study. *The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery*. *British Volume*, 87-B(Suppl. II), 204–205.
- Verdonk, P., Beaufils, P., Bellemans, J., Djian, P., Heinrichs, E. L., Huysse, W., et al. (2012). Successful treatment of painful irreparable partial meniscal defects with a polyurethane scaffold: Two-year safety and clinical outcomes. [Multicenter Study Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 40(4), 844–853.
- Wang, A., Tang, Z., Park, I. H., Zhu, Y., Patel, S., Daley, G. Q., et al. (2011). Induced pluripotent stem cells for neural tissue engineering. [Evaluation Studies Research Support, N.I.H., Extramural Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. *Biomaterials*, 32(22), 5023–5032.
- Wang, Y., Zhao, Z., Ren, Z., Zhao, B., Zhang, L., Chen, J., et al. (2012). Recellularized nerve allografts with differentiated mesenchymal stem cells promote peripheral nerve regeneration. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. *Neuroscience Letters*, 514(1), 96–101.
- Weiss, M. L., Medicetty, S., Bledsoe, A. R., Rachakatla, R. S., Choi, M., Merchav, S., et al. (2006). Human umbilical cord matrix stem cells: Preliminary characterization and effect of transplantation in a rodent model of Parkinson's disease. [Research Support, N.I.H., Extramural Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. Stem Cells, 24(3), 781–792.
- Williamson, M. R., & Coombes, A. G. (2004). Gravity spinning of polycaprolactone fibres for applications in tissue engineering. *Biomaterials*, 25(3), 459–465.
- Woodard, J. R., Hilldore, A. J., Lan, S. K., Park, C. J., Morgan, A. W., Eurell, J. A. C., et al. (2007). The mechanical properties and osteoconductivity of hydroxyapatite bone scaffolds with multi-scale porosity. *Biomaterials*, 28(1), 45–54.
- Yan, L.-P., Oliveira, J. M., Oliveira, A. L., Caridade, S. G., Mano, J. F., & Reis, R. L. (2012). Macro/microporous silk fibroin scaffolds with potential for articular cartilage and meniscus tissue engineering applications. *Acta Biomaterialia*, 8(1), 289–301.
- Yao, J. M., Masuda, H., Zhao, C. H., & Asakura, T. (2002). Artificial spinning and characterization of silk fiber from Bombyx mori silk fibroin in hexafluoroacetone hydrate. *Macromolecules*, 35(1), 6–9.
- Yeong, W. Y., Chua, C. K., Leong, K. F., & Chandrasekaran, M. (2004). Rapid prototyping in tissue engineering: Challenges and potential. *Trends in Biotechnology*, 22(12), 643–652.
- Zaffagnini, S., Marcheggiani Muccioli, G. M., Lopomo, N., Bruni, D., Giordano, G., Ravazzolo, G., et al. (2011). Prospective long-term outcomes of the medial collagen meniscus implant versus partial medial meniscectomy: A minimum 10-year follow-up study. *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 39(5), 977–985.

- Zbýň, Š., Stelzeneder, D., Welsch, G. H., Negrin, L. L., Juras, V., Mayerhoefer, M. E., et al. (2012). Evaluation of native hyaline cartilage and repair tissue after two cartilage repair surgery techniques with 23Na MR imaging at 7 T: Initial experience. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 20(8), 837–845.
- Zhang, X. F., Hua, H., Shen, X. Y., & Yang, Q. (2007). In vitro degradation and biocompatibility of poly(L-lactic acid)/chitosan fiber composites. *Polymer*, *48*(4), 1005–1011.
- Zhang, L., Zhang, H. T., Hong, S. Q., Ma, X., Jiang, X. D., & Xu, R. X. (2009). Cografted Wharton's jelly cells-derived neurospheres and BDNF promote functional recovery after rat spinal cord transection. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. Neurochemical Research, 34(11), 2030–2039.

CHAPTER TWO

Tissue Engineering and Peripheral Nerve Reconstruction: An Overview

Stefano Geuna^{*,†,1}, Sara Gnavi^{*,†}, Isabelle Perroteau^{*,†}, Pierluigi Tos[‡], Bruno Battiston[‡]

*Neuroscience Institute of the Cavalieri Ottolenghi Foundation (NICO), University of Turin, Orbassano (TO), Italy

[†]Department of Clinical and Biological Sciences, University of Turin, Orbassano (TO), Italy

^{*}Department of Traumatology, Microsurgery Unit, C.T.O. Hospital, Turin, Italy

¹Corresponding author: e-mail address: stefano.geuna@unito.it

Contents

1.	Reconstructive Microsurgery	36
2.	Transplantation	37
	2.1 Organ/tissue transplantation	38
	2.2 Cell transplantation	39
	2.3 Gene transfer	41
3.	Biomaterial Science	41
4.	Physical Therapy	44
5.	Pharmacotherapy	45
6.	Concluding Remarks: Combining the Different Tissue Engineering Approaches,	
	the Main Challenge for Improving Nerve Repair Outcome	46
Ac	Acknowledgment	
Re	References	

Abstract

Nerve repair is no more regarded as merely a matter of microsurgical reconstruction. To define this evolving reconstructive/regenerative approach, the term tissue engineering is being increasingly used since it reflects the search for interdisciplinary and integrated treatment strategies. However, the drawback of this new approach is its intrinsic complexity, which is the result of the variety of scientific disciplines involved. This chapter presents a synthetic overview of the state of the art in peripheral nerve tissue engineering with a look forward at the most promising innovations emerging from basic science investigation. This review is intended to set the stage for the collection of papers in the thematic issue of the *International Review of Neurobiology* that is focused on the various interdisciplinary approaches in peripheral nerve tissue engineering.

35

The higher regeneration potential of the peripheral nervous system is at the basis of the usually higher degree of recovery after peripheral nerve trauma provided that the continuity of the nerve is maintained or, if lost, adequately reconstructed (Geuna, Fornaro, Raimondo, & Giacobini-Robecchi, 2010; Geuna et al., 2009; Raimondo et al., 2011). However, complete recovery is only occasionally achieved after a nerve lesion and, in many cases, the clinical outcome is rather unsatisfactory (Battiston, Raimondo, et al., 2009; Siemionow & Brzezicki, 2009). Today, there is a growing consensus that further improvements in peripheral nerve repair and regeneration are no more a matter of developing new microsurgical tools and techniques, but rather one of a multitranslational regenerative medicine approach aimed at reaching a new level of innovation that brings together different scientific disciplines. The aim of this chapter is not to carry out an extensive review of the enormous number of papers published on nerve repair and regeneration, but rather to provide an overview of the state of the art in peripheral nerve tissue engineering with a look forward at the most promising innovations emerging from the recent advancements originating from basic and clinical research in the main scientific disciplines involved: reconstructive microsurgery, transplantation, biomaterial science, physical therapy, and pharmacotherapy.

1. RECONSTRUCTIVE MICROSURGERY

Reconstructive microsurgery is the key discipline among the various ones that have enriched the world of peripheral nerve tissue engineering over the recent years. In fact, the surgeon is the key ring of the chain that brings scientific and technological innovation to the patient's bed. Yet, the surgeon should participate in the design of the basic science experiments in order to optimize the whole process of research and development (Battiston, Papalia, Tos, & Geuna, 2009).

Although surgical nerve reconstruction has been attempted since the ancient times (Battiston, Papalia, et al., 2009), its main improvements have been made over the last few decades (Siemionow & Brzezicki, 2009). Techniques for microsurgical nerve reconstruction include direct suture (end-to-end neurorrhaphy), neurolysis, nerve autografts, and nerve transfers (Siemionow & Brzezicki, 2009). Particularly noteworthy is the latter surgical approach, which has seen widespread application over the very recent years (Teboul, Kakkar, Ameur, Beaulieu, & Oberlin, 2004; Tung &

Mackinnon, 2010; Zhang & Gu, 2011) and has widened the surgical options in the repair of very severe nerve traumas, including brachial plexus lesions.

Microsurgical techniques for nerve repair have improved very much, making it possible to foresee that further improvement in peripheral nerve tissue engineering would not depend mainly on a further implementation of the single surgical techniques; nonetheless, improvement might still be achieved from technological innovation and the development of new reconstructive procedures.

For instance, the use of glue instead of nerve suturing is very promising since experimental studies in animal models have indicated that its performance might be equal, or even superior, to epi/peri-neurial microsuturing (Sameem, Wood, & Bain, 2011; Whitlock et al., 2010).

Another area of potential technological advancement is represented by robot-assisted surgical reconstruction (Liverneaux, Nectoux, & Taleb, 2009; Nectoux, Taleb, & Liverneaux, 2009; Zorn et al., 2008) although the use of robots in peripheral nerve reconstruction is still low in comparison to other surgical fields. Results from experimental studies on robotic nerve reconstruction are very encouraging (Latif et al., 2008) and it can be foreseen that robot-assisted technologies will be favored more and more by peripheral nerve surgeons over the next years.

Finally, development of innovative microsurgical acts and techniques can also be foreseen and the history of the last decades teaches us that progress can be derived from revisiting and/or modifying an old surgical technique, rather than by a complete innovation. The history of end-to-side neurorrhaphy is an example since this surgical technique had already been described in the eighteenth century (Papalia et al., 2007) and was rediscovered by Viterbo, Trindade, Hoshino, and Mazzoni Neto (1994); today, it represents an interesting innovation in peripheral nerve repair (Geuna, Papalia, & Tos, 2006; Papalia et al., 2003).

2. TRANSPLANTATION

Among the different pillars of tissue engineering, transplantation is definitely the approach that is drawing the most interest in regenerative medicine. While at the beginning transplantation strategies were based on whole organ transplantation, today they are evolving to more sophisticated approaches based on the employment of only parts of an organ (tissue transplantation), or even single-cellular (cell transplantation) or sub-cellular constituents (gene transfer).

2.1. Organ/tissue transplantation

Organ/tissue transplantation for peripheral nerve gap repair is represented by autografts, that is, the transplantation of an autologous nerve segment harvested from the sacrifice of another "less precious nerve." Nerve autografts were introduced by Millesi (1981) and Millesi, Meissl, and Berger (1972), on the basis of the evidence that suturing the nerve stumps under tension hinders nerve regeneration and represents the "gold standard" for nerve gap bridging (Siemionow & Brzezicki, 2009). However, the harvesting of a healthy nerve represents a clear limitation of this technique, and therefore alternative nerve conduits have been sought over the last decades.

Veins are the most commonly used biological alternative to nerve autografts, in clinical practice as well (Terzis & Karypidis, 2009). This type of tissue autotransplantation had been introduced as early as 1909 by Wrede (1909), who reported functional recovery after reparation of the median nerve by means of a 45-mm-long vein tube. The interest in this surgical technique revived with the clinical studies by Chiu and Strauch (1990) and Walton, Brown, Matory, Borah, and Dolph (1989) who showed that sensory nerve repair by vein autografts may lead to satisfactory return of sensibility comparable to the nerve grafting technique and, since then, vein conduits have seen a discrete spread among nerve surgeons (Chiu, 1999).

Another alternative to nerve autografts that has received attention among surgeons is the use of skeletal muscle guides (Fawcett & Keynes, 1986; Keynes, Hopkins, & Huang, 1984; Kong, Zhong, Bo, & Zhu, 1986). This technique, which was first reported in 1940 (Kraus and Reisner, 1940), finds its rationale in the similarities between the muscle basal lamina and the endoneurial tubes of degenerating nerves that guide Schwann cell (SC) migration and axonal regrowth (Fawcett & Keynes, 1986). Various experimental studies showed that both fresh and denatured muscle conduits have the potential for bridging peripheral nerve defects (Meek & Coert, 2002; Mligiliche, Tabata, Endoh, & Ide, 2001), and clinical studies showed that muscle grafts are effective in obtaining some degree of functional recovery in most patients (Fawcett & Keynes, 1986; Norris, Glasby, Gattuso, & Bowden, 1988; Pereira, Bowden, Gattuso, & Norris, 1991; Pereira, Bowden, Narayanakumar, & Gschmeissner, 1996; Pereira, Palande, et al., 1991; Rath, 2002).

Since the effectiveness of both vein and muscle grafts is limited to short nerve gap repair, because long vein segments tend to collapse while regenerated axons tend to grow outside long muscle grafts without reaching the distal nerve stump (Battiston, Tos, Cushway, & Geuna, 2000; Battiston, Tos, Geuna, Giacobini-Robecchi, & Guglielmone, 2000), the possibility of combining the two approaches, that is, filling up vein tubes with muscle fibers, has been explored (Brunelli & Brunelli, 1993). This muscle-veincombined technique for nerve reconstruction has been extensively investigated in experimental models (Fornaro, Tos, Geuna, Giacobini-Robecchi, & Battiston, 2001; Geuna, Tos, Battiston, & Giacobini-Robecchi, 2004; Raimondo et al., 2005; Tos et al., 2007) over the last two decades and papers reporting its successful clinical employment in both sensory and mixed nerves (also in the case of gaps longer than 30 mm) have already been published (Battiston, Geuna, Ferrero, & Tos, 2005; Battiston, Tos, Cushway, et al., 2000; Battiston, Tos, Geuna, et al., 2000; Marcoccio & Vigasio, 2010; Tos, Battiston, Ciclamini, Geuna, & Artiaco, 2012). It can thus be expected that its use with patients will increase over the next years.

Finally, the use of acellularized nerve allografts is receiving much attention because of the ability of these conduits to bridge large nerve defects (Glaus, Johnson, & Mackinnon, 2011; Rivlin, Sheikh, Isaac, & Beredjiklian, 2010; Stefanescu, Jecan, Badoiu, Enescu, & Lascar, 2012). Very recently (Brooks et al., 2012), the results of a large clinical trial were published showing an excellent functional outcome similar to that of traditional autografts and although the high costs of commercially available processed nerve allografts is a concern, this approach to nerve gap reconstruction holds promise as a successful alternative to traditional nerve autografts.

2.2. Cell transplantation

While enrichment of nerve guides with different cell types has been explored, the most reasonable approach seems to be the use of glial cells because of their key role in axonal regeneration (Geuna et al., 2009).

During the regeneration process, glial cells support axonal regrowth not only mechanically, by forming the Büngner bands that guide axons to the distal innervation targets, but also by secreting a number of growth factors and, together with macrophages, removing necrotic tissue and myelin debris (Geuna et al., 2009; Hall, 2001). For these reasons, their absence inside an artificial conduit is likely to be a limiting factor that can be overcome by enriching the conduit with these types of cells or their precursors.

It has been shown that SC transplantation inside different types of nerve scaffolds leads to the improvement of both quality and rate of axon regeneration (Goto, Mukozawa, Mori, & Hara, 2010; Hadlock, Sundback,

Hunter, Cheney, & Vacanti, 2000; Mosahebi, Woodward, Wiberg, Martin, & Terenghi, 2001). Significantly, this tissue engineering approach has also proved to be effective in bridging long nerve gaps where the use of the vein conduit alone is known to be ineffective (Strauch et al., 2001; Zhang et al., 2002).

As an alternative to SCs, several studies have explored the possibility to enrich nerve guides with olfactory ensheathing cells (OECs). Results showed that these glial cells provide trophic/tropic support to regenerating axons (Dombrowski, Sasaki, Lankford, Kocsis, & Radtke, 2006; Guntinas-Lichius et al., 2001; Radtke et al., 2005; Verdu et al., 1999). It has also been shown that OECs can integrate into the host repaired nerve and contribute to the myelination of the regenerated axons (Dombrowski et al., 2006; Radtke & Vogt, 2009).

In spite of the promising experimental results, the employment of autologous glial raises some concerns in the perspective of clinical application, especially in case of acute nerve injuries, because of the time required for expanding autologous glial cells in culture and the risk of fibroblast contamination (Moreno-Flores et al., 2006; Mosahebi et al., 2001). Therefore, the use of neuro-glial precursors, which have the potential to differentiate into both neurons and glia (Bithell & Williams, 2005), has been proposed as an alternative to primary glial cell autotransplantation. However, experimental studies carried out so far have led to conflicting results: while some studies have shown that artificial nerve guides enriched with neuro-glial stem cells promote axonal regeneration (Heine, Conant, Griffin, & Hoke, 2004; Murakami et al., 2003), other studies have reported no effects, not even a negative one (Amado et al., 2010, 2008).

Another option for cell transplantation in peripheral nerves is the use of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) as they can be easily obtained, purified, and expanded in culture, offering a potentially unlimited source of cells for tissue engineering (Caplan & Dennis, 2006; Geuna, 2001; Tohill & Terenghi, 2004). Another advantage of MSCs is that they can be obtained from various adult stem cell niches, such as bone marrow, adipose tissue, tooth pulp, and umbilical cord blood (Alhadlaq & Mao, 2004). MSCs are thought to be able to differentiate into multiple cell lineages including neuron-like and glial-like cells (Alhadlaq & Mao, 2004; Kingham et al., 2007; Mantovani et al., 2010; Raimondo, Penna, Pagliaro, & Geuna, 2006) and it has been shown that human MSCs can be differentiated into neural cells *in vitro* and transplanted in the injured facial nerve of the guinea pig for improving nerve regeneration (Cho et al., 2010).

2.3. Gene transfer

Gene transfer represents one of the pillars of tissue engineering in various biomedical fields including peripheral nerve regeneration (Haastert & Grothe, 2007; Hoyng, Tannemaat, De Winter, Verhaagen, & Malessy, 2011; Mason, Tannemaat, Malessy, & Verhaagen, 2011; Zacchigna & Giacca, 2009). Gene therapy has been used to promote nerve regeneration through the local supplying of neurotrophic factors since their systemic administration might lead to side effects that are almost avoided by local delivery. Yet the development of nontoxic, nonimmunogenic viral vectors driving long-term transgene expression makes their use much safer today (Zacchigna & Giacca, 2009).

In particular, viral vectors based on the adeno-associated virus (AAV), a nonpathogenic and widespread parvovirus, are attracting much interest because they are incapable of autonomous replication and are able to transduce both dividing and non-dividing cells, showing a specific tropism for post-mitotic cells including neurons. Because these vectors do not contain any viral genes—which are transiently transfected in trans for the packaging process—they elicit virtually no inflammatory or immune response. As a consequence, transgene expression from these vectors persists for several months in a variety of animal tissues *in vivo* (Monahan & Samulski, 2000). The high effectiveness of skeletal muscle infection by AAVs makes it possible to use them for transferring genes for nerve regeneration either through the infection of the muscles surrounding nerve lesion site, or even by fashioning muscle-vein-combined scaffolds previously potentiated by AAV gene transfer (Fornaro et al., 2001; Geuna et al., 2003; Zacchigna & Giacca, 2009).

3. **BIOMATERIAL SCIENCE**

Definitely, the search for new peripheral nerve substitutes is one of the issues that has received the most attention in the context of peripheral nerve repair and regeneration research. The considerable progress in material science in recent years (Williams, 2009) has stimulated the design and experimental testing of a considerable number of new nerve guides and it is far beyond the aim of this chapter to review that enormous body of literature in detail (Cunha, Panseri, & Antonini, 2011; Daly, Yao, Zeugolis, Windebank, & Pandit, 2012; de Ruiter, Malessy, Yaszemski, Windebank, & Spinner, 2009; Deumens et al., 2010; Jiang, Lim, Mao, & Chew, 2010; Nectow, Marra, & Kaplan, 2012; Pfister et al., 2011; Siemionow, Bozkurt, & Zor, 2010; Steed, Mukhatyar, Valmikinathan, & Bellamkonda, 2011).

Biomaterials for tissue engineering can be classified using various approaches (Pfister et al., 2011; Williams, 2009) and, regarding nerve repair applications, a simple three-category classification can be adopted according to the three generations of biomaterials that have been developed in this area (Geuna, Tos, & Battiston, 2012).

The first generation is represented by nonabsorbable materials. The first attempts, which led to rather poor results, were based on the employment of polyethylene, polyvinyl, and rubber tantalum metal cuffs (Campbell, 1970; Ducker & Hayes, 1968; Fields, Le Beau, Longo, & Ellisman, 1989). Other nonabsorbable nerve guides that have been used, also in clinical practice, albeit with contrasting results, are polytetrafluoroethylene (Stanec & Stanec, 1998) and Gore-Tex (Pitta, Wolford, Mehra, & Hopkin, 2001). In more recent years, the use of silicon conduits led to the first clinically positive results (Dahlin, Anagnostaki, & Lundborg, 2001), especially for repairing short nerve gaps (< 5 mm), leading to the concept that intentionally leaving a short gap between the two nerve stumps can enhance nerve regeneration by allowing the accumulation of cells and extracellular matrix, which can stimulate correct axonal regrowth (Dahlin & Lundborg, 2001). However, the main concern regarding the clinical employment of nonabsorbable synthetic material in humans is the occurrence of complications caused by local fibrosis, triggered by the implanted material (Dahlin et al., 2001; Merle, Dellon, Campbell, & Chang, 1989).

Therefore, the *second generation* of nerve guides has been focused on bioabsorbable tubes that have been tested both experimentally and in clinical practice (Dellon & Mackinnon, 1988; Luis et al., 2007; Mackinnon & Dellon, 1990a, 1990b; Meek et al., 1999; Navarro et al., 1996; Nicoli Aldini et al., 1996; Robinson et al., 1991; Tountas et al., 1993; Valero-Cabre et al., 2001; Yannas & Hill, 2004; Young, Wiberg, & Terenghi, 2002). Nerve conduits made of polyglycolic acid were shown to be effective for restoring nerve defects (Mackinnon & Dellon, 1990a) and approved by the FDA for use in humans. In a multicentric randomized prospective study on digital nerve reconstruction with this type of nerve guides (Weber, Breidenbach, Brown, Jabaley, & Mass, 2000), it was shown that it provides superior results both for short gaps (<4 mm), in comparison to end-to-end repair, and for longer defects (up to 30 mm), compared to nerve autografts. Finally, the *third generation* of nerve guides has been developed, within the absorbable material category, a represented by biomimetic biomaterials, that is, components of the extracellular matrix. Among the most promising biomimetic biomaterials for nerve regeneration, collagen proved to lead to functional recovery similar to nerve autografts in the rat and the primate (Archibald, Shefner, Krarup, & Madison, 1995; Li, Archibald, Krarup, & Madison, 1992). More recently, particular attention has been directed toward chitosan, a derivative of chitin, which has shown notable effectiveness in promoting nerve regeneration in experimental animal models (Amado et al., 2008; Lauto et al., 2008; Matsumoto, Kaneko, Oda, & Watanabe, 2010; Simoes et al., 2010; Yamaguchi, Itoh, Suzuki, Osaka, & Tanaka, 2003).

Since living tissues are complex structures, in tissue engineering not only is the type of material important but also its 3D structure and thus the design of the artificial tissue/organ (Cui, Boland, D'Lima, & Lotz, 2012; Yang, Leong, Du, & Chua, 2001). Yet it appears that future progress in nerve tissue engineering will develop from a combination of different approaches rather than the optimization of a single approach (Battiston, Raimondo, et al., 2009). For these reasons, it is expected that their implementation in nerve prosthesis will not emerge only from the introduction of new materials or improvement of the existing ones, but rather from the combined use of other complementary tissue engineering tools.

So far, various peripheral nerve prostheses have been translated to the clinical employment. In all cases, artificial nerves are represented by hollow tubes. The first nerve guide that has been introduced to the clinical employment is made of polyglycolic acid (Neurotube[®]). Other materials that have been used so far include poly-DL-lactide caprolactone (Neurolac[®]), polyvinyl alcohol hydrogel, in the form of tube (SaluTunnelTM) and wrap (SalubridgeTM), resorbable porcine small intestinal submucosa (AxoGuardTM), and resorbable collagen (Neuragen[®], NeuroMatrixTM, NeuroFlexTM, RevolNerv[®]) (de Ruiter et al., 2009; Kehoe, Zhang, & Boyd, 2012; Meek & Coert, 2008).

Although the application of artificial hollow tubes for nerve reconstruction has proven to lead to successful functional recovery in several clinical trials (Lundborg, Rosen, Dahlin, Danielsen, & Holmberg, 1997; Rinker & Liau, 2011; Weber et al., 2000), it appears that surgeons are still waiting for a new generation of nerve guides that may guarantee similar (or even better) results in comparison to traditional nerve autografts.

4. PHYSICAL THERAPY

The usefulness of physical therapy for functional rehabilitation to prevent muscle atrophy and drive cortical remodeling after nerve injury and repair is widely acknowledged (Lundborg, 2003). Much less consensus exists about the possibility to use physical therapy to directly improve the effectiveness of nerve tissue engineering. Actually, clinical application of physical therapy approaches for improving nerve regeneration is anecdotal and much of the research is still at the experimental/preclinical level.

Electrical stimulation has been widely experimentally investigated as a therapeutic strategy in addition to microsurgery to improve functional recovery (Gordon, Brushart, & Chan, 2008; Haastert-Talini, 2014; Wang et al., 2009). Electrical stimulation has been shown to speed up axonal growth, increase the number of regrowing axons through the graft (Gordon et al., 2008), and enhance SC proliferation (Huang et al., 2010) and neurotrophic factor levels (Wang et al., 2009). Different electrical stimulation techniques have been successfully used to stimulate denervated muscles or proximal nerve stumps such as transcutaneous electrical stimulation (Gigo-Benato et al., 2010), percutaneous stimulation (Chen et al., 2001), direct low-frequency electrical stimulation (Gordon, Sulaiman, & Ladak, 2009), and electrical stimulation via synthetic nerve guidance channels (Ghasemi-Mobarakeh et al., 2011). Also, in clinical trials, electrical stimulation resulted in an improvement in functional recovery (Gordon et al., 2000).

Another physical therapy approach that is receiving increasing attention is phototherapy. The first experimental data showing that light can exert a positive effect on axonal regrowth and nerve regeneration are old, and it is only over the last few years that an increasing number of papers have begun providing a body of evidence in support of the effectiveness of phototherapy in improving peripheral nerve regeneration (Anders, Geuna, & Rochkind, 2004; Gigo-Benato, Geuna, & Rochkind, 2005; Rochkind, Geuna, & Shainberg, 2009). The possibility of combining phototherapy with other nerve tissue engineering strategies is very promising (Hsieh et al., 2012; Jin, Prabhakaran, Liao, & Ramakrishna, 2011) and, although clinical studies are still limited (Chow, Johnson, Lopes-Martins, & Bjordal, 2009), it appears that the time has come for larger clinical trials.

Another promising approach for improving the outcome of nerve tissue engineering is physical exercise. Various studies have shown that active exercise improves nerve regeneration and enhances functional recovery (Armada da Silva, Pereira, Amado, & Veloso, 2014; Asensio-Pinilla, Udina, Jaramillo, & Navarro, 2009; English, Cucoranu, Mulligan, & Sabatier, 2009; Malysz et al., 2010; Marqueste, Alliez, Alluin, Jammes, & Decherchi, 2004; Sabatier, Redmon, Schwartz, & English, 2008; van Meeteren, Brakkee, Helders, & Gispen, 1998). The motorized walking or running treadmill test, a technique used to exercise rodents following injury, demonstrates that active exercise enhances axonal elongation (Sabatier et al., 2008), increases the number of regeneration axons (English et al., 2009), and improves the functional outcome (Ilha et al., 2008; van Meeteren et al., 1998). Passive exercise, commonly used in rehabilitation, has been reported to stimulate nerve regeneration and functional recovery (Ilha et al., 2008; Udina, Puigdemasa, & Navarro, 2011).

Other interesting approaches include stimulation by magnetic fields (Wang & Zhao, 2010), shock waves (Hausner & Nógrádi, 2014), manual stimulation (Bischoff et al., 2009), and neural interfaces (del Valle & Navarro, 2014; Herrera-Rincon, Torets, Sanchez-Jimenez, Avendano, & Panetsos, 2012).

5. PHARMACOTHERAPY

In spite of the great progresses of pharmacology in many other fields of medicine and surgery, there is still not any established drug treatment protocol for specifically improving nerve regeneration after trauma and reconstruction. Although, of course, these patients may be given various medicaments along with the postoperative, with the aim of treating concurrent conditions (e.g., antibiotics for infections) and sometimes as alimentary integrators (such as acetil-carnitine), no dedicated drug is usually administered after nerve surgery with the goal of improving the degree of nerve regeneration and maturation.

While no specific nerve regeneration—promoting drug has still entered the clinics, on the experimental side, many studies have suggested that various pharmacological approaches may have a positive effect on this complex healing process.

It is far beyond the goal of this chapter to revisit all the drugs that can have a potential effect on nerve regeneration. Just to mention some of the most promising molecules, particular interest is being given to immunosuppressants (Yan, Sun, Hunter, Mackinnon, & Johnson, 2012) and various hormones, such as melatonin (Odaci & Kaplan, 2009) and erythropoietin (Yin, Zhang, Bo, & Gao, 2010). Evidence has also been provided recently that corticosteroids exert a positive effect on nerve regeneration (Mohammadi, Amini, & Eskafian, 2013).

Other drugs that have shown positive effects on peripheral nerve regeneration are etifoxine, a ligand of the translocator protein (18 kDa), which modulates inflammatory responses (Girard et al., 2008); flunarizine, a calcium channel antagonist and vasodilatator (Patro, Chattopadhyay, & Patro, 1999); cilostan, an antiplatelet and vasodilatation agent (Yamamoto, Yasuda, Kimura, & Komiya, 1998); and GM1 gangliosides (Lopez et al., 2010; Silva-Neto, Vasconcelos, Silva-Junior, & Beder-Ribeiro, 2009).

It appears thus that the time is also ripe for clinical trials with candidate nerve regeneration-promoting drugs.

6. CONCLUDING REMARKS: COMBINING THE DIFFERENT TISSUE ENGINEERING APPROACHES, THE MAIN CHALLENGE FOR IMPROVING NERVE REPAIR OUTCOME

An emerging consensus among basic and clinical scientists is that in order to optimize the strategy for tissue engineering of the peripheral nerve, a new level of innovation is needed that brings together in a multitranslational approach the different pillars of tissue engineering. Figure 2.1 illustrates this concept.

Reconstructive microsurgery is definitely the key element in this web, not only because it represents the link between innovative research and the patient but also because surgeons must interact with all scientists from other cultural backgrounds. In particular, interaction with biologists and biotechnologists is very important especially when transplantation approaches are concerned since transplantation is progressively evolving from whole organ transplantation to more sophisticated forms of tissue engineering based on the employment of only parts (tissue transplantation), or even single-cellular (cell transplantation), or sub-cellular constituents (gene transfer), of an organ.

Moreover, surgeons must interact with engineers and material scientists in the light of the recent enormous advances in nanotechnology that makes it possible to develop and design very complex synthetic scaffolds to repair neural defects. Finally, surgeons must interact with pharmacologists and physical therapists in order to define combined therapeutic strategies that are more and more effective in improving the outcome of nerve tissue engineering.



Figure 2.1 Schematic drawing depicting the various disciplines involved in tissue engineering of the peripheral nerve.

In conclusion, it clearly appears that future progress in regenerative medicine will not develop from the improvement of a single strategy, but rather from the optimized combination of many different approaches. The multilevel and interdisciplinary approach thus appears to be the main challenge for peripheral nerve tissue engineering since different competences and expertise need to be brought together. Though challenging, this approach represents an exciting opportunity for researchers to explore new scientific fields with the hope that it will allow us to make significant clinical advances in the forthcoming years.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

The research leading to this chapter has received funding from the European Community's Seventh Framework Programme (FP7-HEALTH-2011) under grant agreement no. 278612 (BIOHYBRID).

REFERENCES

Alhadlaq, A., & Mao, J. J. (2004). Mesenchymal stem cells: Isolation and therapeutics. *Stem Cells and Development*, 13(4), 436–448. http://dx.doi.org/10.1089/1547328041797552.
Amado, S., Rodrigues, J. M., Luis, A. L., Armada-da-Silva, P. A., Vieira, M., Gartner, A., et al. (2010). Effects of collagen membranes enriched with in vitro-differentiated N1E-115 cells on rat sciatic nerve regeneration after end-to-end repair. *Journal of*

Neuroengineering and Rehabilitation, 7, 7. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1743-0003-7-7.

- Amado, S., Simoes, M. J., Armada da Silva, P. A., Luis, A. L., Shirosaki, Y., Lopes, M. A., et al. (2008). Use of hybrid chitosan membranes and N1E-115 cells for promoting nerve regeneration in an axonotmesis rat model. *Biomaterials*, 29(33), 4409–4419. http://dx. doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2008.07.043.
- Anders, J. J., Geuna, S., & Rochkind, S. (2004). Phototherapy promotes regeneration and functional recovery of injured peripheral nerve. *Neurological Research*, 26(2), 233–239. http://dx.doi.org/10.1179/016164104225013914.
- Archibald, S. J., Shefner, J., Krarup, C., & Madison, R. D. (1995). Monkey median nerve repaired by nerve graft or collagen nerve guide tube. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 15(5 Pt 2), 4109–4123.
- Armada-da-Silva, P. A. S., Pereira, C., Amado, S., & Veloso, A. P. (2014). Role of physical exercise for improving posttraumatic nerve regeneration. *International Review of Neurobiology*, 109, 125–149.
- Asensio-Pinilla, E., Udina, E., Jaramillo, J., & Navarro, X. (2009). Electrical stimulation combined with exercise increase axonal regeneration after peripheral nerve injury. *Experimen*tal Neurology, 219(1), 258–265. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2009.05.034.
- Battiston, B., Geuna, S., Ferrero, M., & Tos, P. (2005). Nerve repair by means of tubulization: Literature review and personal clinical experience comparing biological and synthetic conduits for sensory nerve repair. *Microsurgery*, 25(4), 258–267. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1002/micr.20127.
- Battiston, B., Papalia, I., Tos, P., & Geuna, S. (2009). Chapter 1: Peripheral nerve repair and regeneration research: A historical note. *International Review of Neurobiology*, 87, 1–7. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0074-7742(09)87001-3.
- Battiston, B., Raimondo, S., Tos, P., Gaidano, V., Audisio, C., Scevola, A., et al. (2009). Chapter 11: Tissue engineering of peripheral nerves. *International Review of Neurobiology*, 87, 227–249. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0074-7742(09)87011-6.
- Battiston, B., Tos, P., Cushway, T. R., & Geuna, S. (2000). Nerve repair by means of vein filled with muscle grafts I. Clinical results. *Microsurgery*, 20(1), 32–36.
- Battiston, B., Tos, P., Geuna, S., Giacobini-Robecchi, M. G., & Guglielmone, R. (2000). Nerve repair by means of vein filled with muscle grafts. II. Morphological analysis of regeneration. *Microsurgery*, 20(1), 37–41.
- Bischoff, A., Grosheva, M., Irintchev, A., Skouras, E., Kaidoglou, K., Michael, J., et al. (2009). Manual stimulation of the orbicularis oculi muscle improves eyelid closure after facial nerve injury in adult rats. *Muscle & Nerve*, 39(2), 197–205. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1002/mus.21126.
- Bithell, A., & Williams, B. P. (2005). Neural stem cells and cell replacement therapy: Making the right cells. *Clinical Science (London)*, 108(1), 13–22. http://dx.doi.org/10.1042/ CS20040276.
- Brooks, D. N., Weber, R. V., Chao, J. D., Rinker, B. D., Zoldos, J., Robichaux, M. R., et al. (2012). Processed nerve allografts for peripheral nerve reconstruction: A multicenter study of utilization and outcomes in sensory, mixed, and motor nerve reconstructions. *Microsurgery*, 32(1), 1–14. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/micr.20975.
- Brunelli, G. A., & Brunelli, G. R. (1993). Direct muscle neurotization. Journal of Reconstructive Microsurgery, 9(2), 81–90. http://dx.doi.org/10.1055/s-2007-1006656, discussion 89–90. Campbell, J. B. (1970). Peripheral nerve repair. Clinical Neurosurgery, 17, 77–98.
- Caplan, A. I., & Dennis, J. E. (2006). Mesenchymal stem cells as trophic mediators. Journal of Cellular Biochemistry, 98(5), 1076–1084. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jcb.20886.
- Chen, Y. S., Hu, C. L., Hsieh, C. L., Lin, J. G., Tsai, C. C., Chen, T. H., et al. (2001). Effects of percutaneous electrical stimulation on peripheral nerve regeneration using silicone rubber chambers. *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research*, 57(4), 541–549.
- Chiu, D. T. (1999). Autogenous venous nerve conduits. A review. Hand Clinics, 15(4), 667–671, ix.

- Chiu, D. T., & Strauch, B. (1990). A prospective clinical evaluation of autogenous vein grafts used as a nerve conduit for distal sensory nerve defects of 3 cm or less. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery*, 86(5), 928–934.
- Cho, H. H., Jang, S., Lee, S. C., Jeong, H. S., Park, J. S., Han, J. Y., et al. (2010). Effect of neural-induced mesenchymal stem cells and platelet-rich plasma on facial nerve regeneration in an acute nerve injury model. *Laryngoscope*, 120(5), 907–913. http://dx.doi. org/10.1002/lary.20860.
- Chow, R. T., Johnson, M. I., Lopes-Martins, R. A., & Bjordal, J. M. (2009). Efficacy of lowlevel laser therapy in the management of neck pain: A systematic review and metaanalysis of randomised placebo or active-treatment controlled trials. *Lancet*, 374(9705), 1897–1908. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(09)61522-1.
- Cui, X., Boland, T., D'Lima, D. D., & Lotz, M. K. (2012). Thermal inkjet printing in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. *Recent Patents on Drug Delivery & Formulation*, 6(2), 149–155.
- Cunha, C., Panseri, S., & Antonini, S. (2011). Emerging nanotechnology approaches in tissue engineering for peripheral nerve regeneration. *Nanomedicine*, 7(1), 50–59. http://dx. doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2010.07.004.
- Dahlin, L. B., Anagnostaki, L., & Lundborg, G. (2001). Tissue response to silicone tubes used to repair human median and ulnar nerves. *Scandinavian Journal of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery and Hand Surgery*, 35(1), 29–34.
- Dahlin, L. B., & Lundborg, G. (2001). Use of tubes in peripheral nerve repair. Neurosurgery Clinics of North America, 12(2), 341–352.
- Daly, W., Yao, L., Zeugolis, D., Windebank, A., & Pandit, A. (2012). A biomaterials approach to peripheral nerve regeneration: Bridging the peripheral nerve gap and enhancing functional recovery. *Journal of the Royal Society, Interface*, 9(67), 202–221. http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/rsif.2011.0438.
- de Ruiter, G. C., Malessy, M. J., Yaszemski, M. J., Windebank, A. J., & Spinner, R. J. (2009). Designing ideal conduits for peripheral nerve repair. *Neurosurgical Focus*, 26(2), E5. http://dx.doi.org/10.3171/FOC.2009.26.2.E5.
- del Valle, J., & Navarro, X. (2014). Interfaces with the peripheral nerve for the control of neuroprostheses. *International Review of Neurobiology*, 109, 63–83.
- Dellon, A. L., & Mackinnon, S. E. (1988). An alternative to the classical nerve graft for the management of the short nerve gap. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery*, 82(5), 849–856.
- Deumens, R., Bozkurt, A., Meek, M. F., Marcus, M. A., Joosten, E. A., Weis, J., et al. (2010). Repairing injured peripheral nerves: Bridging the gap. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 92(3), 245–276. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2010.10.002.
- Dombrowski, M. A., Sasaki, M., Lankford, K. L., Kocsis, J. D., & Radtke, C. (2006). Myelination and nodal formation of regenerated peripheral nerve fibers following transplantation of acutely prepared olfactory ensheathing cells. *Brain Research*, 1125(1), 1–8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2006.09.089.
- Ducker, T. B., & Hayes, G. J. (1968). Experimental improvements in the use of Silastic cuff for peripheral nerve repair. *Journal of Neurosurgery*, 28(6), 582–587. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.3171/jns.1968.28.6.0582.
- English, A. W., Cucoranu, D., Mulligan, A., & Sabatier, M. (2009). Treadmill training enhances axon regeneration in injured mouse peripheral nerves without increased loss of topographic specificity. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 517(2), 245–255. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1002/cne.22149.
- Fawcett, J. W., & Keynes, R. J. (1986). Muscle basal lamina: A new graft material for peripheral nerve repair. *Journal of Neurosurgery*, 65(3), 354–363. http://dx.doi.org/10.3171/jns.1986.65.3.0354.
- Fields, R. D., Le Beau, J. M., Longo, F. M., & Ellisman, M. H. (1989). Nerve regeneration through artificial tubular implants. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 33(2), 87–134.

- Fornaro, M., Tos, P., Geuna, S., Giacobini-Robecchi, M. G., & Battiston, B. (2001). Confocal imaging of Schwann-cell migration along muscle-vein combined grafts used to bridge nerve defects in the rat. *Microsurgery*, 21(4), 153–155.
- Geuna, S. (2001). Embryonic cell grafting for the treatment of peripheral nervous system diseases. *Neuroreport*, *12*(17), A101–A102.
- Geuna, S., Fornaro, M., Raimondo, S., & Giacobini-Robecchi, M. G. (2010). Plasticity and regeneration in the peripheral nervous system. *Italian Journal of Anatomy and Embryology*, 115(1–2), 91–94.
- Geuna, S., Papalia, I., & Tos, P. (2006). End-to-side (terminolateral) nerve regeneration: A challenge for neuroscientists coming from an intriguing nerve repair concept. *Brain Research Reviews*, 52(2), 381–388. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresrev.2006.05.002.
- Geuna, S., Raimondo, S., Nicolino, S., Boux, E., Fornaro, M., Tos, P., et al. (2003). Schwann-cell proliferation in muscle-vein combined conduits for bridging rat sciatic nerve defects. *Journal of Reconstructive Microsurgery*, 19(2), 119–123. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1055/s-2003-37818, discussion 124.
- Geuna, S., Raimondo, S., Ronchi, G., Di Scipio, F., Tos, P., Czaja, K., et al. (2009). Chapter 3: Histology of the peripheral nerve and changes occurring during nerve regeneration. *International Review of Neurobiology*, 87, 27–46. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ S0074-7742(09)87003-7.
- Geuna, S., Tos, P., & Battiston, B. (2012). Emerging issues in peripheral nerve repair. Neural Regeneration Research, 7(29), 2267–2272.
- Geuna, S., Tos, P., Battiston, B., & Giacobini-Robecchi, M. G. (2004). Bridging peripheral nerve defects with muscle-vein combined guides. *Neurological Research*, 26(2), 139–144. http://dx.doi.org/10.1179/016164104225013752.
- Ghasemi-Mobarakeh, L., Prabhakaran, M. P., Morshed, M., Nasr-Esfahani, M. H., Baharvand, H., Kiani, S., et al. (2011). Application of conductive polymers, scaffolds and electrical stimulation for nerve tissue engineering. *Journal of Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine*, 5(4), e17–e35. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/term.383.
- Gigo-Benato, D., Geuna, S., & Rochkind, S. (2005). Phototherapy for enhancing peripheral nerve repair: A review of the literature. *Muscle & Nerve*, 31(6), 694–701. http://dx.doi. org/10.1002/mus.20305.
- Gigo-Benato, D., Russo, T. L., Geuna, S., Domingues, N. R., Salvini, T. F., & Parizotto, N. A. (2010). Electrical stimulation impairs early functional recovery and accentuates skeletal muscle atrophy after sciatic nerve crush injury in rats. *Muscle & Nerve*, 41(5), 685–693. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/mus.21549.
- Girard, C., Liu, S., Cadepond, F., Adams, D., Lacroix, C., Verleye, M., et al. (2008). Etifoxine improves peripheral nerve regeneration and functional recovery. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 105(51), 20505–20510. http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0811201106.
- Glaus, S. W., Johnson, P. J., & Mackinnon, S. E. (2011). Clinical strategies to enhance nerve regeneration in composite tissue allotransplantation. *Hand Clinics*, 27(4), 495–509. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.hcl.2011.07.002ix.
- Gordon, T., Brushart, T. M., & Chan, K. M. (2008). Augmenting nerve regeneration with electrical stimulation. *Neurological Research*, 30(10), 1012–1022. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1179/174313208X362488.
- Gordon, T., Sulaiman, O. A., & Ladak, A. (2009). Chapter 24: Electrical stimulation for improving nerve regeneration: Where do we stand? *International Review of Neurobiology*, 87, 433–444. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0074-7742(09)87024-4.
- Goto, E., Mukozawa, M., Mori, H., & Hara, M. (2010). A rolled sheet of collagen gel with cultured Schwann cells: Model of nerve conduit to enhance neurite growth. *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering*, 109(5), 512–518. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.jbiosc.2009.11.002.

- Guntinas-Lichius, O., Angelov, D. N., Tomov, T. L., Dramiga, J., Neiss, W. F., & Wewetzer, K. (2001). Transplantation of olfactory ensheathing cells stimulates the collateral sprouting from axotomized adult rat facial motoneurons. *Experimental Neurology*, 172(1), 70–80. http://dx.doi.org/10.1006/exnr.2001.7774.
- Haastert, K., & Grothe, C. (2007). Gene therapy in peripheral nerve reconstruction approaches. *Current Gene Therapy*, 7(3), 221–228.
- Haastert-Talini, K., & Grothe, C. (2014). Electrical stimulation for promoting peripheral nerve regeneration. *International Review of Neurobiology*, 109, 111–124.
- Hadlock, T., Sundback, C., Hunter, D., Cheney, M., & Vacanti, J. P. (2000). A polymer foam conduit seeded with Schwann cells promotes guided peripheral nerve regeneration. *Tissue Engineering*, 6(2), 119–127. http://dx.doi.org/10.1089/107632700320748.
- Hall, S. (2001). Nerve repair: A neurobiologist's view. Journal of Hand Surgery (Edinburgh, Scotland), 26(2), 129–136. http://dx.doi.org/10.1054/jhsb.2000.0497.
- Hausner, T., & Nógrádi, A. (2014). The use of shock waves in peripheral nerve regeneration: New perspectives? *International Review of Neurobiology*, 109, 85–98.
- Heine, W., Conant, K., Griffin, J. W., & Hoke, A. (2004). Transplanted neural stem cells promote axonal regeneration through chronically denervated peripheral nerves. *Experimental Neurology*, 189(2), 231–240. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2004.06.014.
- Herrera-Rincon, C., Torets, C., Sanchez-Jimenez, A., Avendano, C., & Panetsos, F. (2012). Chronic electrical stimulation of transected peripheral nerves preserves anatomy and function in the primary somatosensory cortex. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 36(12), 3679–3690. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/ejn.12000.
- Hoyng, S. A., Tannemaat, M. R., De Winter, F., Verhaagen, J., & Malessy, M. J. (2011). Nerve surgery and gene therapy: A neurobiological and clinical perspective. *Journal of Hand Surgery (European Volume)*, 36(9), 735–746. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/ 1753193411420348.
- Hsieh, Y. L., Chou, L. W., Chang, P. L., Yang, C. C., Kao, M. J., & Hong, C. Z. (2012). Low-level laser therapy alleviates neuropathic pain and promotes function recovery in rats with chronic constriction injury: Possible involvements in hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha (HIF-1alpha). *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 520(13), 2903–2916. http://dx. doi.org/10.1002/cne.23072.
- Huang, J., Hu, X., Lu, L., Ye, Z., Zhang, Q., & Luo, Z. (2010). Electrical regulation of Schwann cells using conductive polypyrrole/chitosan polymers. *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part A*, 93(1), 164–174. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.32511.
- Ilha, J., Araujo, R. T., Malysz, T., Hermel, E. E., Rigon, P., Xavier, L. L., et al. (2008). Endurance and resistance exercise training programs elicit specific effects on sciatic nerve regeneration after experimental traumatic lesion in rats. *Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair*, 22(4), 355–366. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1545968307313502.
- Jiang, X., Lim, S. H., Mao, H. Q., & Chew, S. Y. (2010). Current applications and future perspectives of artificial nerve conduits. *Experimental Neurology*, 223(1), 86–101. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2009.09.009.
- Jin, G., Prabhakaran, M. P., Liao, S., & Ramakrishna, S. (2011). Photosensitive materials and potential of photocurrent mediated tissue regeneration. *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology. B*, 102(2), 93–101. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jphotobiol.2010.09.010.
- Kehoe, S., Zhang, X. F., & Boyd, D. (2012). FDA approved guidance conduits and wraps for peripheral nerve injury: A review of materials and efficacy. *Injury*, 43(5), 553–572. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.injury.2010.12.030.
- Keynes, R. J., Hopkins, W. G., & Huang, L. H. (1984). Regeneration of mouse peripheral nerves in degenerating skeletal muscle: Guidance by residual muscle fibre basement membrane. *Brain Research*, 295(2), 275–281.
- Kingham, P. J., Kalbermatten, D. F., Mahay, D., Armstrong, S. J., Wiberg, M., & Terenghi, G. (2007). Adipose-derived stem cells differentiate into a Schwann cell

phenotype and promote neurite outgrowth in vitro. *Experimental Neurology*, 207(2), 267–274. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2007.06.029.

- Kong, J. M., Zhong, S. Z., Bo, S., & Zhu, S. X. (1986). Experimental study of bridging the peripheral nerve gap with skeletal muscle. *Microsurgery*, 7(4), 183–189.
- Kraus, H., & Reisner, H. (1940). Behandlungsergenisse von Verletungen pripherer Nerven mit besonderer Berucksichtigung der Schussverletzungen del Jahre 1919, 1927, und 1934. Arch Klin Chir, 199, 318–336.
- Latif, M. J., Afthinos, J. N., Connery, C. P., Perin, N., Bhora, F. Y., Chwajol, M., et al. (2008). Robotic intercostal nerve graft for reversal of thoracic sympathectomy: A large animal feasibility model. *International Journal of Medical Robotics and Computer* Assisted Surgery, 4(3), 258–262. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/rcs.205.
- Lauto, A., Foster, L. J., Avolio, A., Sampson, D., Raston, C., Sarris, M., et al. (2008). Sutureless nerve repair with laser-activated chitosan adhesive: A pilot in vivo study. *Photomedicine and Laser Surgery*, 26(3), 227–234. http://dx.doi.org/10.1089/ pho.2007.2131.
- Li, S. T., Archibald, S. J., Krarup, C., & Madison, R. D. (1992). Peripheral nerve repair with collagen conduits. *Clinical Materials*, 9(3–4), 195–200.
- Liverneaux, P., Nectoux, E., & Taleb, C. (2009). The future of robotics in hand surgery. Chirurgie de la Main, 28(5), 278–285. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.main.2009.08.002.
- Lopez, P. H., Zhang, G., Zhang, J., Lehmann, H. C., Griffin, J. W., Schnaar, R. L., et al. (2010). Passive transfer of IgG anti-GM1 antibodies impairs peripheral nerve repair. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 30(28), 9533–9541. http://dx.doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2281-10.2010.
- Luis, A. L., Rodrigues, J. M., Amado, S., Veloso, A. P., Armada-Da-Silva, P. A., Raimondo, S., et al. (2007). PLGA 90/10 and caprolactone biodegradable nerve guides for the reconstruction of the rat sciatic nerve. *Microsurgery*, 27(2), 125–137. http://dx.doi. org/10.1002/micr.20317.
- Lundborg, G. (2003). Richard P. Bunge memorial lecture. Nerve injury and repair—A challenge to the plastic brain. *Journal of the Peripheral Nervous System*, 8(4), 209–226.
- Lundborg, G., Rosen, B., Dahlin, L., Danielsen, N., & Holmberg, J. (1997). Tubular versus conventional repair of median and ulnar nerves in the human forearm: Early results from a prospective, randomized, clinical study. *The Journal of Hand Surgery*, 22(1), 99–106. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0363-5023(05)80188-1.
- Mackinnon, S. E., & Dellon, A. L. (1990a). Clinical nerve reconstruction with a bioabsorbable polyglycolic acid tube. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery*, 85(3), 419–424.
- Mackinnon, S. E., & Dellon, A. L. (1990b). A study of nerve regeneration across synthetic (Maxon) and biologic (collagen) nerve conduits for nerve gaps up to 5 cm in the primate. *Journal of Reconstructive Microsurgery*, 6(2), 117–121. http://dx.doi.org/10.1055/s-2007-1006810.
- Malysz, T., Ilha, J., Nascimento, P. S., De Angelis, K., Schaan, B. D., & Achaval, M. (2010). Beneficial effects of treadmill training in experimental diabetic nerve regeneration. *Clinics (São Paulo, Brazil)*, 65(12), 1329–1337.
- Mantovani, C., Mahay, D., Kingham, M., Terenghi, G., Shawcross, S. G., & Wiberg, M. (2010). Bone marrow- and adipose-derived stem cells show expression of myelin mRNAs and proteins. *Regenerative Medicine*, 5(3), 403–410. http://dx.doi.org/10.2217/rme.10.15.
- Marcoccio, I., & Vigasio, A. (2010). Muscle-in-vein nerve guide for secondary reconstruction in digital nerve lesions. *The Journal of Hand Surgery*, 35(9), 1418–1426. http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.jhsa.2010.05.019.
- Marqueste, T., Alliez, J. R., Alluin, O., Jammes, Y., & Decherchi, P. (2004). Neuromuscular rehabilitation by treadmill running or electrical stimulation after peripheral nerve injury and repair. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 96(5), 1988–1995. http://dx.doi.org/10.1152/ japplphysiol.00775.2003.

- Mason, M. R., Tannemaat, M. R., Malessy, M. J., & Verhaagen, J. (2011). Gene therapy for the peripheral nervous system: A strategy to repair the injured nerve? *Current Gene Therapy*, 11(2), 75–89.
- Matsumoto, I., Kaneko, M., Oda, M., & Watanabe, G. (2010). Repair of intra-thoracic autonomic nerves using chitosan tubes. *Interactive Cardiovascular and Thoracic Surgery*, 10(4), 498–501. http://dx.doi.org/10.1510/icvts.2009.227744.
- Meek, M. F., & Coert, J. H. (2002). Clinical use of nerve conduits in peripheral-nerve repair: Review of the literature. *Journal of Reconstructive Microsurgery*, 18(2), 97–109. http://dx. doi.org/10.1055/s-2002-19889.
- Meek, M. F., & Coert, J. H. (2008). US Food and Drug Administration/Conformit Europeapproved absorbable nerve conduits for clinical repair of peripheral and cranial nerves. *Annals of Plastic Surgery*, 60(4), 466–472.
- Meek, M. F., Dijkstra, J. R., Den Dunnen, W. F., Ijkema-Paassen, J., Schakenraad, J. M., Gramsbergen, A., et al. (1999). Functional assessment of sciatic nerve reconstruction: Biodegradable poly (DLLA-epsilon-CL) nerve guides versus autologous nerve grafts. *Microsurgery*, 19(8), 381–388.
- Merle, M., Dellon, A. L., Campbell, J. N., & Chang, P. S. (1989). Complications from silicon-polymer intubulation of nerves. *Microsurgery*, 10(2), 130–133.
- Millesi, H. (1981). Interfascicular nerve grafting. Orthopedic Clinics of North America, 12(2), 287–301.
- Millesi, H., Meissl, G., & Berger, A. (1972). The interfascicular nerve-grafting of the median and ulnar nerves. The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery. American Volume, 54(4), 727–750.
- Mligiliche, N., Tabata, Y., Endoh, K., & Ide, C. (2001). Peripheral nerve regeneration through a long detergent-denatured muscle autografts in rabbits. *Neuroreport*, 12(8), 1719–1722.
- Mohammadi, R., Amini, K., & Eskafian, H. (2013). Betamethasone-enhanced vein graft conduit accelerates functional recovery in the rat sciatic nerve gap. *Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery*, 71(4), 786–792. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.joms.2012.08.009.
- Monahan, P. E., & Samulski, R. J. (2000). Adeno-associated virus vectors for gene therapy: More pros than cons? *Molecular Medicine Today*, 6(11), 433–440.
- Moreno-Flores, M. T., Bradbury, E. J., Martin-Bermejo, M. J., Agudo, M., Lim, F., Pastrana, E., et al. (2006). A clonal cell line from immortalized olfactory ensheathing glia promotes functional recovery in the injured spinal cord. *Molecular Therapy*, 13(3), 598–608. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ymthe.2005.11.014.
- Mosahebi, A., Woodward, B., Wiberg, M., Martin, R., & Terenghi, G. (2001). Retroviral labeling of Schwann cells: In vitro characterization and in vivo transplantation to improve peripheral nerve regeneration. *Glia*, 34(1), 8–17.
- Murakami, T., Fujimoto, Y., Yasunaga, Y., Ishida, O., Tanaka, N., Ikuta, Y., et al. (2003). Transplanted neuronal progenitor cells in a peripheral nerve gap promote nerve repair. *Brain Research*, 974(1–2), 17–24.
- Navarro, X., Rodriguez, F. J., Labrador, R. O., Buti, M., Ceballos, D., Gomez, N., et al. (1996). Peripheral nerve regeneration through bioresorbable and durable nerve guides. *Journal of the Peripheral Nervous System*, 1(1), 53–64.
- Nectoux, E., Taleb, C., & Liverneaux, P. (2009). Nerve repair in telemicrosurgery: An experimental study. *Journal of Reconstructive Microsurgery*, 25(4), 261–265. http://dx.doi. org/10.1055/s-0028-1104562.
- Nectow, A. R., Marra, K. G., & Kaplan, D. L. (2012). Biomaterials for the development of peripheral nerve guidance conduits. *Tissue Engineering. Part B, Reviews*, 18(1), 40–50. http://dx.doi.org/10.1089/ten.TEB.2011.0240.
- Nicoli Aldini, N., Perego, G., Cella, G. D., Maltarello, M. C., Fini, M., Rocca, M., et al. (1996). Effectiveness of a bioabsorbable conduit in the repair of peripheral nerves. *Biomaterials*, 17(10), 959–962.

- Norris, R. W., Glasby, M. A., Gattuso, J. M., & Bowden, R. E. (1988). Peripheral nerve repair in humans using muscle autografts. A new technique. *The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery. British Volume*, 70(4), 530–533.
- Odaci, E., & Kaplan, S. (2009). Chapter 16: Melatonin and nerve regeneration. International Review of Neurobiology, 87, 317–335. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0074-7742(09) 87016-5.
- Papalia, I., Cardaci, A., d'Alcontres, F. S., Lee, J. M., Tos, P., & Geuna, S. (2007). Selection of the donor nerve for end-to-side neurorrhaphy. *Journal of Neurosurgery*, 107(2), 378–382. http://dx.doi.org/10.3171/JNS-07/08/0378.
- Papalia, I., Geuna, S., Tos, P. L., Boux, E., Battiston, B., & Stagno D'Alcontres, F. (2003). Morphologic and functional study of rat median nerve repair by terminolateral neurorrhaphy of the ulnar nerve. *Journal of Reconstructive Microsurgery*, 19(4), 257–264. http://dx.doi.org/10.1055/s-2003-40582.
- Patro, I. K., Chattopadhyay, M., & Patro, N. (1999). Flunarizine enhances functional recovery following sciatic nerve crush lesion in rats. *Neuroscience Letters*, 263(2–3), 97–100.
- Pereira, J. H., Bowden, R. E., Gattuso, J. M., & Norris, R. W. (1991). Comparison of results of repair of digital nerves by denatured muscle grafts and end-to-end sutures. *Journal of Hand Surgery (Edinburgh, Scotland)*, 16(5), 519–523.
- Pereira, J. H., Bowden, R. E., Narayanakumar, T. S., & Gschmeissner, S. E. (1996). Peripheral nerve reconstruction using denatured muscle autografts for restoring protective sensation in hands and feet of leprosy patients. *Indian Journal of Leprosy*, 68(1), 83–91.
- Pereira, J. H., Palande, D. D., Subramanian, A., Narayanakumar, T. S., Curtis, J., & Turk, J. L. (1991). Denatured autologous muscle graft in leprosy. *Lancet*, 338(8777), 1239–1240.
- Pfister, B. J., Gordon, T., Loverde, J. R., Kochar, A. S., Mackinnon, S. E., & Cullen, D. K. (2011). Biomedical engineering strategies for peripheral nerve repair: Surgical applications, state of the art, and future challenges. *Critical Reviews in Biomedical Engineering*, 39(2), 81–124.
- Pitta, M. C., Wolford, L. M., Mehra, P., & Hopkin, J. (2001). Use of Gore-Tex tubing as a conduit for inferior alveolar and lingual nerve repair: Experience with 6 cases. *Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery*, 59(5), 493–496. http://dx.doi.org/10.1053/ joms.2001.22671, discussion 497.
- Radtke, C., Akiyama, Y., Lankford, K. L., Vogt, P. M., Krause, D. S., & Kocsis, J. D. (2005). Integration of engrafted Schwann cells into injured peripheral nerve: Axonal association and nodal formation on regenerated axons. *Neuroscience Letters*, 387(2), 85–89. http://dx. doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2005.06.073.
- Radtke, C., & Vogt, P. M. (2009). Peripheral nerve regeneration: A current perspective. *Eplasty*, *9*, e47.
- Raimondo, S., Fornaro, M., Tos, P., Battiston, B., Giacobini-Robecchi, M. G., & Geuna, S. (2011). Perspectives in regeneration and tissue engineering of peripheral nerves. *Annals of Anatomy*, 193(4), 334–340. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aanat.2011.03.001.
- Raimondo, S., Nicolino, S., Tos, P., Battiston, B., Giacobini-Robecchi, M. G., Perroteau, I., et al. (2005). Schwann cell behavior after nerve repair by means of tissue-engineered muscle-vein combined guides. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 489(2), 249–259. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/cne.20625.
- Raimondo, S., Penna, C., Pagliaro, P., & Geuna, S. (2006). Morphological characterization of GFP stably transfected adult mesenchymal bone marrow stem cells. *Journal of Anatomy*, 208(1), 3–12. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7580.2006.00511.x.
- Rath, E. M. (2002). Skeletal muscle autograft for repair of the human inferior alveolar nerve: A case report. *Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery*, 60(3), 330–334.
- Rinker, B., & Liau, J. Y. (2011). A prospective randomized study comparing woven polyglycolic acid and autogenous vein conduits for reconstruction of digital nerve

gaps. The Journal of Hand Surgery, 36(5), 775–781. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. jhsa.2011.01.030.

- Rivlin, M., Sheikh, E., Isaac, R., & Beredjiklian, P. K. (2010). The role of nerve allografts and conduits for nerve injuries. *Hand Clinics*, 26(3), 435–446. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.hcl.2010.04.010, viii.
- Robinson, P. H., van der Lei, B., Hoppen, H. J., Leenslag, J. W., Pennings, A. J., & Nieuwenhuis, P. (1991). Nerve regeneration through a two-ply biodegradable nerve guide in the rat and the influence of ACTH4-9 nerve growth factor. *Microsurgery*, 12(6), 412–419.
- Rochkind, S., Geuna, S., & Shainberg, A. (2009). Chapter 25: Phototherapy in peripheral nerve injury: Effects on muscle preservation and nerve regeneration. *International Review* of Neurobiology, 87, 445–464. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0074-7742(09)87025-6.
- Sabatier, M. J., Redmon, N., Schwartz, G., & English, A. W. (2008). Treadmill training promotes axon regeneration in injured peripheral nerves. *Experimental Neurology*, 211(2), 489–493. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2008.02.013.
- Sameem, M., Wood, T. J., & Bain, J. R. (2011). A systematic review on the use of fibrin glue for peripheral nerve repair. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery*, 127(6), 2381–2390. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1097/PRS.0b013e3182131cf5.
- Siemionow, M., Bozkurt, M., & Zor, F. (2010). Regeneration and repair of peripheral nerves with different biomaterials: Review. *Microsurgery*, 30(7), 574–588. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1002/micr.20799.
- Siemionow, M., & Brzezicki, G. (2009). Chapter 8: Current techniques and concepts in peripheral nerve repair. *International Review of Neurobiology*, 87, 141–172. http://dx. doi.org/10.1016/S0074-7742(09)87008-6.
- Silva-Neto, J. C., Vasconcelos, B. C., Silva-Junior, V. A., & Beder-Ribeiro, C. M. (2009). Functional histopathological and morphometric study of the use of gangliosides in nerve regeneration in rats after axonotmesis. *International Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery*, 38(6), 682–688. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijom.2009.03.723.
- Simoes, M. J., Amado, S., Gartner, A., Armada-Da-Silva, P. A., Raimondo, S., Vieira, M., et al. (2010). Use of chitosan scaffolds for repairing rat sciatic nerve defects. *Italian Journal* of Anatomy and Embryology, 115(3), 190–210.
- Stanec, S., & Stanec, Z. (1998). Reconstruction of upper-extremity peripheral-nerve injuries with ePTFE conduits. *Journal of Reconstructive Microsurgery*, 14(4), 227–232. http://dx.doi. org/10.1055/s-2007-1000173.
- Steed, M. B., Mukhatyar, V., Valmikinathan, C., & Bellamkonda, R. V. (2011). Advances in bioengineered conduits for peripheral nerve regeneration. *Atlas of the Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery Clinics of North America*, 19(1), 119–130. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.cxom.2010.11.007.
- Stefanescu, O., Jecan, R., Badoiu, S., Enescu, D. M., & Lascar, I. (2012). Peripheral nerve allograft, a reconstructive solution: Outcomes and benefits. *Chirurgia (Bucur)*, 107(4), 438–441.
- Strauch, B., Rodriguez, D. M., Diaz, J., Yu, H. L., Kaplan, G., & Weinstein, D. E. (2001). Autologous Schwann cells drive regeneration through a 6-cm autogenous venous nerve conduit. *Journal of Reconstructive Microsurgery*, 17(8), 589–595. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1055/s-2001-18812, discussion 596–587.
- Teboul, F., Kakkar, R., Ameur, N., Beaulieu, J. Y., & Oberlin, C. (2004). Transfer of fascicles from the ulnar nerve to the nerve to the biceps in the treatment of upper brachial plexus palsy. *The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery. American Volume*, 86-A(7), 1485–1490.
- Terzis, J. K., & Karypidis, D. (2009). Outcomes of direct muscle neurotization in pediatric patients with facial paralysis. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery*, 124(5), 1486–1498. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1097/PRS.0b013e3181b98924.

- Tohill, M., & Terenghi, G. (2004). Stem-cell plasticity and therapy for injuries of the peripheral nervous system. *Biotechnology and Applied Biochemistry*, 40(Pt 1), 17–24. http://dx.doi.org/10.1042/BA20030173.
- Tos, P., Battiston, B., Ciclamini, D., Geuna, S., & Artiaco, S. (2012). Primary repair of crush nerve injuries by means of biological tubulization with muscle-vein-combined grafts. *Microsurgery*, 32(5), 358–363. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/micr.21957.
- Tos, P., Battiston, B., Nicolino, S., Raimondo, S., Fornaro, M., Lee, J. M., et al. (2007). Comparison of fresh and predegenerated muscle-vein-combined guides for the repair of rat median nerve. *Microsurgery*, 27(1), 48–55. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/micr.20306.
- Tountas, C. P., Bergman, R. A., Lewis, T. W., Stone, H. E., Pyrek, J. D., & Mendenhall, H. V. (1993). A comparison of peripheral nerve repair using an absorbable tubulization device and conventional suture in primates. *Journal of Applied Biomaterials*, 4(3), 261–268. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jab.770040308.
- Tung, T. H., & Mackinnon, S. E. (2010). Nerve transfers: Indications, techniques, and outcomes. *The Journal of Hand Surgery*, 35(2), 332–341. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.jhsa.2009.12.002.
- Udina, E., Puigdemasa, A., & Navarro, X. (2011). Passive and active exercise improve regeneration and muscle reinnervation after peripheral nerve injury in the rat. *Muscle & Nerve*, 43(4), 500–509. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/mus.21912.
- Valero-Cabre, A., Tsironis, K., Skouras, E., Perego, G., Navarro, X., & Neiss, W. F. (2001). Superior muscle reinnervation after autologous nerve graft or poly-L-lactide-epsiloncaprolactone (PLC) tube implantation in comparison to silicone tube repair. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 63(2), 214–223.
- van Meeteren, N. L., Brakkee, J. H., Hamers, F. P., Helders, P. J., & Gispen, W. H. (1997). Exercise training improves functional recovery and motor nerve conduction velocity after sciatic nerve crush lesion in the rat. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 78(1), 70–77.
- van Meeteren, N. L., Brakkee, J. H., Helders, P. J., & Gispen, W. H. (1998). The effect of exercise training on functional recovery after sciatic nerve crush in the rat. *Journal of the Peripheral Nervous System*, 3(4), 277–282.
- Verdu, E., Navarro, X., Gudino-Cabrera, G., Rodriguez, F. J., Ceballos, D., Valero, A., et al. (1999). Olfactory bulb ensheathing cells enhance peripheral nerve regeneration. *Neuroreport*, 10(5), 1097–1101.
- Viterbo, F., Trindade, J. C., Hoshino, K., & Mazzoni Neto, A. (1994). End-to-side neurorrhaphy with removal of the epineurial sheath: An experimental study in rats. *Plastic* and Reconstructive Surgery, 94(7), 1038–1047.
- Walton, R. L., Brown, R. E., Matory, W. E., Jr., Borah, G. L., & Dolph, J. L. (1989). Autogenous vein graft repair of digital nerve defects in the finger: A retrospective clinical study. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery*, 84(6), 944–949, discussion 950–942.
- Wang, E. T., & Zhao, M. (2010). Regulation of tissue repair and regeneration by electric fields. *Chinese Journal of Traumatology*, 13(1), 55–61.
- Wang, W. J., Zhu, H., Li, F., Wan, L. D., Li, H. C., & Ding, W. L. (2009). Electrical stimulation promotes motor nerve regeneration selectivity regardless of end-organ connection. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 26(4), 641–649. http://dx.doi.org/10.1089/ neu.2008.0758.
- Weber, R. A., Breidenbach, W. C., Brown, R. E., Jabaley, M. E., & Mass, D. P. (2000). A randomized prospective study of polyglycolic acid conduits for digital nerve reconstruction in humans. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery*, 106(5), 1036–1045, discussion 1046–1038.
- Whitlock, E. L., Kasukurthi, R., Yan, Y., Tung, T. H., Hunter, D. A., & Mackinnon, S. E. (2010). Fibrin glue mitigates the learning curve of microneurosurgical repair. *Microsurgery*, 30(3), 218–222. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/micr.20754.

- Williams, D. F. (2009). On the nature of biomaterials. *Biomaterials*, 30(30), 5897–5909. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2009.07.027.
- Wrede, L. (1909). Uberbrueckung eines nervendefektes mittels seidennaht und leben venenstueckes. Deutsches Medizin Wochenschrift, 35, 1125–1160.
- Yamaguchi, I., Itoh, S., Suzuki, M., Osaka, A., & Tanaka, J. (2003). The chitosan prepared from crab tendons: II. The chitosan/apatite composites and their application to nerve regeneration. *Biomaterials*, 24(19), 3285–3292.
- Yamamoto, Y., Yasuda, Y., Kimura, Y., & Komiya, Y. (1998). Effects of cilostazol, an antiplatelet agent, on axonal regeneration following nerve injury in diabetic rats. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 352(2–3), 171–178.
- Yan, Y., Sun, H. H., Hunter, D. A., Mackinnon, S. E., & Johnson, P. J. (2012). Efficacy of short-term FK506 administration on accelerating nerve regeneration. *Neurorehabilitation* and Neural Repair, 26(6), 570–580. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1545968311431965.
- Yang, S., Leong, K. F., Du, Z., & Chua, C. K. (2001). The design of scaffolds for use in tissue engineering. Part I. Traditional factors. *Tissue Engineering*, 7(6), 679–689. http://dx.doi. org/10.1089/107632701753337645.
- Yannas, I. V., & Hill, B. J. (2004). Selection of biomaterials for peripheral nerve regeneration using data from the nerve chamber model. *Biomaterials*, 25(9), 1593–1600.
- Yin, Z. S., Zhang, H., Bo, W., & Gao, W. (2010). Erythropoietin promotes functional recovery and enhances nerve regeneration after peripheral nerve injury in rats. *American Journal of Neuroradiology*, 31(3), 509–515. http://dx.doi.org/10.3174/ajnr.A1820.
- Young, R. C., Wiberg, M., & Terenghi, G. (2002). Poly-3-hydroxybutyrate (PHB): A resorbable conduit for long-gap repair in peripheral nerves. *British Journal of Plastic Sur*gery, 55(3), 235–240. http://dx.doi.org/10.1054/bjps.2002.3798.
- Zacchigna, S., & Giacca, M. (2009). Chapter 20: Gene therapy perspectives for nerve repair. International Review of Neurobiology, 87, 381–392. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0074-7742(09)87020-7.
- Zhang, F., Blain, B., Beck, J., Zhang, J., Chen, Z., Chen, Z. W., et al. (2002). Autogenous venous graft with one-stage prepared Schwann cells as a conduit for repair of long segmental nerve defects. *Journal of Reconstructive Microsurgery*, 18(4), 295–300. http://dx.doi. org/10.1055/s-2002-30186.
- Zhang, C. G., & Gu, Y. D. (2011). Contralateral C7 nerve transfer Our experiences over past 25 years. *Journal of Brachial Plexus and Peripheral Nerve Injury*, 6(1), 10. http://dx.doi. org/10.1186/1749-7221-6-10.
- Zorn, K. C., Bernstein, A. J., Gofrit, O. N., Shikanov, S. A., Mikhail, A. A., Song, D. H., et al. (2008). Long-term functional and oncological outcomes of patients undergoing sural nerve interposition grafting during robot-assisted laparoscopic radical prostatectomy. *Journal of Endourology*, 22(5), 1005–1012. http://dx.doi.org/10.1089/end.2007.0381.

CHAPTER THREE

Bone Marrow Mesenchymal Stem Cell Transplantation for Improving Nerve Regeneration

Júlia Teixeira Oliveira¹, Klauss Mostacada, Silmara de Lima, Ana Maria Blanco Martinez

Programa de Neurociência Básica e Clínica, Instituto de Ciências Biomédicas, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil ¹Corresponding author: e-mail address: juliatoliveira@gmail.com

Contents

1.	Introduction	60
2.	Cellular and Molecular Bases of Nerve Degeneration and Regeneration	61
3.	Cell-Based Therapy for Improving Nerve Regeneration	62
4.	BM-MSC-Based Therapy	62
5.	Putative Mechanisms Behind the Nerve Regeneration–Promotion Potential	
	of BM-MSCs	65
6.	BM-MSCs and Clinical Trials	73
7.	Conclusion and Future Perspectives	74
Ac	knowledgment	75
References		75

Abstract

Although the peripheral nervous system has an inherent capacity for regeneration, injuries to nerves still result in considerable disabilities. The persistence of these disabilities along with the underlying problem of nerve reconstruction has motivated neuroscientists worldwide to seek additional therapeutic strategies. In recent years, cell-based therapy has emerged as a promising therapeutic tool. Schwann cells (SCs) are the main supportive cells for peripheral nerve regeneration; however, there are several technical limitations regarding its application for cell-based therapy. In this context, bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells (BM-MSCs) have been used as alternatives to SCs for treating peripheral neuropathies, showing great promise. Several studies have been trying to shed light on the mechanisms behind the nerve regeneration–promotion potential of BM-MSCs. Although not completely clarified, understanding how BM-MSCs exert tissue repair effects will facilitate their development as therapeutic agents before they become a clinically viable tool for encouraging peripheral nerve regeneration.

1. INTRODUCTION

Although significant advances have been achieved in the peripheral nerve repair field, nerve trauma is still one of the most challenging microsurgery reconstructive problems, leading to disabilities and pain and representing a devastating impact on patients' quality of life. The peripheral nervous system is provided with an intrinsic growth capacity and a favorable microenvironment that guides and facilitates axonal outgrowth after a minor lesion. However, after a complete lesion, functional recovery is poor and seldom achieved. In recent years, nerve trauma has attracted great interest from clinicians, microsurgeons, and neuroscientists worldwide.

Great efforts have been devoted to the development and improvement of therapies that could potentially lead to nerve tissue regeneration and satisfactory retrieval of function. Among the therapeutic strategies developed so far, there is direct nerve repair, implemented when there is no or minor tissue loss; nerve grafting, which is the gold standard microsurgical technique applied in small to moderate-sized gaps, but this often leads to donor site morbidity for autologous transplants or graft rejection for heterologous transplants; and the use of conduits to bridge large nerve gaps, which can also serve as vehicles for delivery of growth-promoting molecules or cells, but which still represents a challenge to the peripheral nerve repair field. Electrical stimulation is another investigated modality seeking the optimal goal of nerve regeneration; however, the appropriate biophysical parameters are not well defined and its effectiveness falls short of achieving adequate reinnervation and complete functional recovery.

More recently, gene and cell therapy have emerged as promising therapeutic approaches for promoting nerve reconstruction. In particular, cellbased therapy as a source of graft replacement and/or growth-promoting molecules delivery has been greatly studied, showing significant nerve regeneration outcomes and, therefore, translational potential.

This review discusses the problems associated with nerve trauma with the overall aspect of achieving neuroplasticity. In addition, cell therapy for improving nerve regeneration, focusing on the promising potential of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells (BM–MSCs) and mechanisms of how they might exert beneficial effects and aid in the process of nerve tissue repair. It also addresses the implementation of this cell-based therapy in basic, preclinical, and clinical trials to date.

2. CELLULAR AND MOLECULAR BASES OF NERVE DEGENERATION AND REGENERATION

After damage to the peripheral nervous system, complex and orchestrated cellular and molecular events take place in an attempt to support nerve regeneration. These events that were first described by August Waller in 1850 are well known as Wallerian degeneration, which comprise the degeneration of the distal nerve stump while the proximal nerve stump is capable of elongating and regenerating (Geuna et al., 2009; Stoll, Jander, & Myers, 2002). The onset of this process is marked by calcium influx, and consequent activation of proteases, such as calpains, which trigger the disintegration of axon cytoskeleton. Schwann cells (SCs) become active cells in charge of axonal and myelin debris clearance, and macrophages are recruited to the injury site, cooperating and playing a major role in this phagocytic process, which is pivotal for allowing nerve tissue regeneration. SCs dedifferentiate, reverting to a proliferative progenitor-like phenotype, and align within the basal lamina tubes, called bands of Bügner, providing a guidance substrate for growing axons. Once the SCs attach to axons, the remyelination process takes place to form the compact myelin sheath. Upon injury, the delicate balance between growth-promoting and inhibitory factors, serving as molecular cues and acting to activate signaling pathways, plays a key role in the fate of the regeneration process.

Despite the permissive growth environment of the peripheral nervous system and its intrinsic growth capacity, functional recovery after nerve surgical reconstruction is often suboptimal. As already well described, following a nerve injury, the peripheral nerve will try to repair itself by outgrowing and/or by making collateral sprouts in an attempt to reinnervate the muscle or skin. However, the rate of nerve growth is critical for the functional outcome, because the regeneration potential tends to decrease in the course of time. In addition, mismatching of sensory and motor fibers and the nerve trapping in inappropriate tissues along the way can potentially contribute to neuroma formation and atrophy of target organs, thus impairing full functional recovery. Several other factors can influence the success of the regeneration process, such as age, the nerve trunk affected, the surgical repair approach employed, the interval between the trauma and nerve repair, and above all, the type and extent of the injury (Navarro, Vivó, & Valero-Cabré, 2007).

Despite several therapeutic approaches developed so far seeking for the optimal nerve reconstruction and functional recovery (Oliveira, Almeida, & Martinez, 2012), in the following paragraphs we will consider cell-based therapy focusing on the promising BM-MSCs, which have been proven to possess great translational clinical potential.

3. CELL-BASED THERAPY FOR IMPROVING NERVE REGENERATION

Following a peripheral nerve injury, the SCs play the main supportive role in promoting tissue regeneration, either by secreting growthpromoting molecules or by axonal remyelination. Evidence demonstrates that transplantation of SCs is able to support axonal outgrowth, thus promoting regeneration, both in vitro (Schlosshauer, Müller, Schröder, Planck, & Müller, 2003) and in vivo (Keilhoff, Goihl, Langnäse, Fansa, & Wolf, 2006). This evidence in addition to the inherent properties of SCs, would make these cells the ideal source as cell therapy in the peripheral nerve regenerative medicine if there were not technical limitations hampering their clinical implementation. SCs have restricted mitotic activity, expanding poorly under culture conditions, which make them an insufficient source for treatments. In addition, donor site morbidity is an important issue concerning this cell system, as another nerve has to be sacrificed for harvesting material for transplantation. All these technical limitations have motivated efforts to seek for alternatives to SCs for cell-based therapy and stem cells have been considered a potential candidate in their place.

4. BM-MSC-BASED THERAPY

Stem cells are undifferentiated cells found in all multicellular organisms having two unique and indispensable features: the ability of selfrenewal, going through numerous rounds of mitosis while maintaining an undifferentiated state; and potency, the capability of differentiating into a diverse range of specialized cell types. The main types of stem cells are embryonic, fetal, and adult stem cells.

The primary role of adult stem cells in humans is to repair or replace damaged tissues in which they are found. Although considered to have limited potency, giving rise only to cells related to their tissue of origin, there is a growing body of evidence demonstrating their versatility, indicating that they are able to differentiate into a diverse range of cell types, beyond their tissue of origin. Unlike the controversial embryonic stem cells, the use of adult stem cells should reduce ethical concern as they do not require human embryo destruction for their procurement. Other advantages of their application in the tissue regenerative medicine field are the possibility of autotransplantation, avoiding the risk of tissue rejection, and also the remote possibility of teratoma formation that embryonic stem cells treatments face (Bjorklund et al., 2002).

Umbilical cord, hematopoietic, and mesenchymal cells are the most well-studied adult stem cell source in stem cell therapy-based research. Similar to hematopoietic stem cells, there is a bone marrow-derived nonhematopoietic stem cell subpopulation, called mesenchymal stem cells. These cells have the ability to differentiate into mesodermal lineages, such as myocyte, chondrocyte, osteocyte, adipocyte, tenocyte, and stromal fibroblast (Muraglia, Cacedda, & Quarto, 2000). In addition to their natural differentiation pathway, there is evidence of their capability to transdifferentiate into endodermal and ectodermal lineages such as hepatocyte, and neuron and glia, respectively (Bossolasco et al., 2005; Dezawa, Takahashi, Esaki, Takano, & Sawada, 2001; Kim, Seo, Bubien, & Oh, 2002; Krampera et al., 2006; Woodbury, Schwarz, Prockop, & Black, 2000) (Fig. 3.1).

Within the scope of cell therapy, the BM-MSCs represent a feasible and promising system for improving nerve regeneration, as has been demonstrated by several studies (Dezawa et al., 2001; Oliveira et al., 2010; Pereira Lopes et al., 2006). In addition to being endowed with great plasticity, owing to their capability of turning into nonmesenchymal lineages, BM-MSCs can meet many of the needs and requirements of a cell system delivery for nervous tissue transplantation and repair. Besides their easy accessibility, the BM-MSCs have the ability to rapidly and extensively expand in vitro under culture conditions. Thus a small amount of aspirate can yield sufficient cells for transplantation. Moreover, the BM-MSCs are immune privileged cells, which make them so far the best choice for allogeneic transplantation, avoiding tissue-rejection effects and the use of immune suppressive drugs. There are several other advantages, such as their capability of releasing paracrine factors, acting as a cellular protein factory; the ability of homing to injury sites, as well as integrating and surviving within the host tissue; suitability for stable transfection by exogenous genes; the lack of important ethical issues impeding their use compared to embryonic stem cells; and their safety and efficacy (Keilhoff & Fansa, 2011).



Figure 3.1 The transdifferentiation potential of BM-MSCs. An illustration of plasticity of BM-MSCs and their capacity to transdifferentiate into several lineages in addition to the mesengenic lineage.

The BM-MSCs possess broad features, which make them multifunctional cells. Thus, several studies have been trying to shed light on the possible mechanisms that give these cells a nerve regeneration—promotion potential (Wang, Ding, Gu, Liu, & Gu, 2009). Such mechanisms may occur by paracrine, neuro/axonoprotective, or immunomodulatory means; transdifferentiation into SCs; genetic manipulation; cell-to-cell contact; resident cellular fusion; mitochondrial DNA or mitochondrial transfer; or even a combination of the above (Fig. 3.2).



Figure 3.2 Mechanisms of BM-MSC action. A schematic diagram showing the possible mechanisms behind the nerve regeneration–promotion potential of BM-MSCs.

5. PUTATIVE MECHANISMS BEHIND THE NERVE REGENERATION-PROMOTION POTENTIAL OF BM-MSCs

Following a peripheral nerve lesion, bioactive factors are credited to play a critical role in the nerve regeneration process. In particular, a wide range of growth factors and cytokines can be secreted by cells present in the nerve injury site in response to stress and inflammation signals (Gu et al., 2010; Kassis et al., 2008). The growth factors that promote neuronal survival are called neurotrophic factors, and they are of clinical significance since they are also capable of supporting axonal outgrowth, remyelination, and endogenous cell proliferation and differentiation. As previously mentioned, there is a growing body of evidence that BM-MSCs exert beneficial effects on nerve tissue regeneration (Ribeiro-Resende et al., 2009; Oliveira et al., 2010) and these effects are strongly correlated with the production of neurotrophic substances.

Recently, Gu et al. (2010) demonstrated that dorsal root ganglion (DRG) explants and neurons cocultured with BM-MSCs showed enhanced neurite outgrowth and neuronal cell survival via production of an array of soluble factors. The proteomic analysis revealed a wide list of secretory proteins, including four proteins belonging to the family of neurotrophic factors: basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), nerve growth factor (NGF), ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF), and brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF). Interestingly, the influence of BM-MSCs on the behavior of DRG explants/neurons was likely induced by the release of soluble factors into the culture, since no direct contact between DRG explants/neurons and BM-MSCs was present in the coculture system. In another similar in vitro assay, DRG explants treated with BM-MSC-conditioned medium presented increased neurite outgrowth and when anti-NGF neutralizing antibody was added the effect was blocked, suggesting that the NGF trophic activity was mediated by the BM-MSCs (Ribeiro-Resende et al., 2009). The in vivo assay also achieved this effect when BM-MSCs were implanted at the injury site immediately after a rat sciatic nerve lesion. The results were encouraging, since the BM-MSC-based therapy also improved the regeneration of motor and sensory axons. However, the implanted cells presented low potential to differentiate into SCs. These data reinforce that the substantial beneficial effects exerted by the implanted cells is mainly dependent on their trophic activity rather than their plasticity or stemness potential (Ribeiro-Resende et al., 2009). In agreement with these findings, our group also demonstrated that, following a transection lesion, the mouse sciatic nerve repair by means of a collagen conduit filled with BM-MSCs is capable of enhancing axon regeneration and remyelination, which might have contributed to the return of motor function observed. In addition, high levels of NGF- β were detectable in the regenerated nerve tissue, suggesting that the BM-MSCs are also able to express this potent neurotrophic factor in vivo. Interestingly, BDNF expression could not be observed, at least at 6 week post injury (Pereira Lopes et al., 2006). Our group obtained similar results when we investigated BM-MSC-based therapy combined with a polycaprolactone conduit approach on the mouse median nerve transection model. We observed a significant increase in the number of both myelinated
and unmyelinated nerve fibers. Moreover, muscle atrophy was prevented in the BM-MSC-treated animals and functional analysis revealed an improved performance. Thus, it is possible that the positive effects of nerve regeneration were mainly due to the paracrine potential of the BM-MSCs rather than to the transdifferentiation potential, since few implanted cells expressed the S-100 SC marker (Oliveira et al., 2010). In addition to the expression of NGF, it has been demonstrated that the BM-MSCs are also capable of expressing several other important neurotrophic factors in vivo, such as glial-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF), CNTF, FGF, and even BDNF (Chen et al., 2007; Yang et al., 2011). An experiment of DRG explants from mice cocultured with human BM-MSCs demonstrated that the human cells expressed β-NGF and BDNF in different donor populations. In addition, the human BM-MSCs were capable of promoting neurite outgrowth in these primary neurons under culture conditions and this effect was attributed not only to the NGF and BDNF, but also to other neuro-regulatory factors (Crigler, Robey, Asawachaicharn, Gaupp, & Phinney, 2006). It is likely that the lack of standardized BM-MSC-based therapy experiments regarding the animal model, length of nerve gap, time points of analysis, and the vehicles of cell delivery, account for the differences in the BDNF expression pattern of BM-MSCs observed in the literature.

Another relevant issue concerning cellular behaviors related to the paracrine effects is that the BM-MSCs can be direct neurotrophic mediators, as discussed above, as well as indirect mediators, by inducing the SCs to produce them. An investigation involving a coculture of rat SCs and BM-MSCs demonstrated cell-cell interaction despite no direct contact between them. The BM-MSCs not only favored the survival and proliferation of the SCs but also modulated cellular behaviors, revealed by the high expression of mRNA and protein levels of NGF, BDNF, and high- and low-affinity NGF receptors for the SCs in the BM-MSC-conditioned media (Wang et al., 2009). The proliferative effects of the BM-MSCs on the glia cell line are not restricted to the SCs, but also to DRG satellite cells following a rat sciatic nerve injury and tubulization, demonstrating that these effects extended far beyond the site of cell implantation (Ribeiro-Resende et al., 2009). These results provide evidence that BM-MSC-based therapy improves peripheral nerve regeneration possibly through relay and magnification of neurotrophic function from stem cells to glia cells in addition to direct secretion of neurotrophic factors by BM-MSCs.

The paracrine effects exerted by the BM-MSCs do not seem to be the unique mechanism that accounts for their nerve regeneration-promotion potential. Among other positive features, BM-MSCs are endowed with a great plasticity, which make them more versatile and prone to turn into different phenotypes in response to specific culture conditions, genetic manipulations, or microenvironmental signals *in vivo*. Scientists are currently working on methods to effectively transdifferentiate adult stem cells into functional specialized cells. As already pointed out, after a peripheral nerve injury, the SCs play a pivotal role in the process of tissue regeneration. If the BM-MSCs are capable of significantly exerting beneficial effects on nerve regeneration, either by direct and/or indirect paracrine signals, turning into the SC-like phenotype would make them a powerful tool in the regenerative medicine field.

The growth factors and cytokines released in the injured microenvironment are of great importance for determining cell traits since they act as epigenetic regulators of cellular differentiation. Although controversial, these environmental signals, in response to injury or inflammation, could also play a crucial role on the mechanism of transdifferentiation of adult stem cells into other specialized cells types, beyond their germ layer of origin. BM-MSCs injected at the distal stump of the rat sciatic nerve after a transection lesion were capable of surviving and migrating in addition to differentiating into an SC-like phenotype, even in low percentages (Cuevas et al., 2002). In this work, there was no manipulation in the BM-MSC medium for induction toward an SC phenotype, suggesting that the transdifferentiation took place in a "physiological" manner, likely due to the environmental signals in response to the nerve injury. It is possible that the great plasticity of the BM-MSCs, in addition to the need for recovery of the nerve tissue contributed to the system's adaptation. Although not quantified, our group also showed that very few transplanted BM-MSCs into the injury site were capable of transdifferentiating into an SC-like phenotype (Oliveira et al., 2010).

The transdifferentiation of the BM-MSCs into a SC-like phenotype without induction does not seem to be as efficient as the addition of cell type-specific small molecules to the culture medium, which can trigger cell-signaling pathways and consequently induce the cell towards a different status or phenotype. In 2001, Dezawa and collaborators described a cellular culture protocol for the induction of BM-MSCs toward a SC-like pheno-type. The induced cells expressed several SC markers and also morpholog-ically resembled SCs. The next step was to test the influence of the transdifferentiated BM-MSCs on axonal regrowth and remyelination by transplanting the cells into the cut end of the rat sciatic nerve. The results suggested that the BM-MSCs were not only able to acquire an SC-like

phenotype and morphology but also to differentiate into myelinating cells, capable of supporting nerve fiber regrowth. Since then, several other neuroscientists have tried to induce BM-MSCs into an SC-like phenotype based on this protocol for investigating the nerve regeneration process. Recently, Ladak, Olson, Tredget, and Gordon (2011) investigated the purity of the induced cells using a modified protocol from Dezawa et al. (2001). They found that \sim 50% of the induced BM-MSCs acquired an SC phenotype and they attributed the higher SC marker expression compared to previous works to the use of glial growth factor-2 rather than heregulin, as a neuregulin source. Mahay, Terenghi, and Shawcross (2008) performing a DRG coculture, without direct contact, demonstrated that BM-MSCs transdifferentiated into an SC-like phenotype upregulated BDNF and NGF, thus displaying trophic influences like those of SCs. Moreover, they observed neurite outgrowth, even when the BDNF and NGF responses by DRG neurons were inhibited, suggesting that the functional characteristics of BM-MSCs similar to SCs were not restricted to the releasing of NGF and BDNF alone, but also to other bioactive neurotrophins. This leads to the question, in addition to the biological function of efficient growth-factor releasing cells, would BM-MSCs converted into glia have myelinating capacity as well? Indeed, Dezawa et al. (2001) showed that transdifferentiated BM-MSCs transplanted to the cut end of rat sciatic nerve, colocalized with the myelin-associated glycoprotein antibody signal, potentially suggesting that BM-MSCs are able to differentiate into myelinating cells. In agreement with these findings, Keilhoff et al. (2006) also demonstrated the myelinating capacity of BM-MSCs transdifferentiated into an SC-like phenotype, but interestingly, in some cases, the cells were able to wrap more than one axon, a phenomenon characteristic of myelination by oligodendrocytes in the central nervous system.

Intriguingly, a two-step medium based on transdifferentiation protocol for inducing BM-MSCs into neurotrophic secreting cells was accomplished successfully, resulting in the production and release of high amounts of neurotrophic factors, such as BDNF and GDNF. By using the novel protocol, the transdifferentiated cells demonstrated an astrocyte-like morphology and also expressed characteristic astrocyte markers. The transplanted cells were capable of preserving the number of myelinated fibers, as well as improving muscle reinnervation and consequently restoring motor function in the rat sciatic crush injury model (Dadon-Nachum, Sadan, Srugo, Melamed, & Offen, 2011). Independent of the glial cell fate through the transdifferentiation induction protocol, it is important to notice that the converted BM-MSCs are capable of rescuing neurons in addition to acting as pathfinders for the outgrowing fibers, displaying a myelinating function, which is pivotal to the nerve regeneration process. Based on the protocol described by Dezawa et al. (2001), human BM-MSCs are also capable of acquiring morphological characteristics of SCs *in vitro* and *in vivo*, consequently supporting regenerating axons (Shimizu et al., 2007).

The cell transdifferentiation mechanism is still a subject of controversy, even though several scientists believe that it might be a potential tool for adult stem cell transplants. As mentioned previously, cell induction by means of adding specific growth factors and small molecules in the culture medium can lead to the direct conversion of a somatic cell type into other lineages. In addition, there could be other less complex mechanisms of inducing direct cell conversion into another cell lineage fate, for example, by intercellular interactions.

Coculture of DRG neurons in contact with BM-MSCs leads to transdifferentiation of the stem cells to present morphological and phenotypic characteristics of SCs. Thus, it was suggested that the intercellular interaction between DRG neurons and BM-MSCs might have played a role in the transdifferentiation process, likely through the release of cytokines and molecules by neurons on the axonal surface. However, the converted cells failed to form compact myelin, probably because the transdifferentiation process was incomplete, or a local host environment or specific extracellular environment is required for BM-MSCs to transdifferentiate into compact myelin-forming cells (Yang, Lou, Huang, Shen, & Chen, 2008).

It has been well described in the literature that undifferentiated BM-MSCs have the ability to release growth-promoting molecules *in vitro* and *in vivo*, and that this BM-MSCs feature can be enhanced by their transdifferentiation into SCs. In a novel paradigm, the insertion of specific functional genes into a BM-MSC genomic location could make the transduced cell continuously express the proteins of interest. The combination of both cell and gene-based therapies is a novel tool that has attracted attention owing to the potential of this great complementary strategy. Among several features, BM-MSCs are suitable for stable transfection and expression of exogenous genes, which make them a good candidate for delivery of therapeutic factors by genetic engineering. Recently, BM-MSCs were transduced to express NGF using an adenoviral vector. The genetically modified BM-MSCs were capable of expressing physiologically relevant levels of these growth factors for a period of greater than 1 week (Rooney et al., 2008). Despite great advances in the use of vector

biotechnology systems for genetic engineering, some important biosafety issues, including the risk of insertional mutagenesis and disruption of tumor suppression remain to be clarified and refined.

One of the most interesting features of the BM-MSCs for tissue transplants, besides their great plasticity and capability of acting as growth-factor releasing cells, is the unique ability to modulate the immune system. BM-MSCs can induce immunosuppressive effects and markedly decrease tissue inflammation, acting directly or indirectly on almost all immune cell populations. The BM-MSCs present low expression of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I and are negative for MHC class II markers (Uccelli, Moretta, & Pistoia, 2006). By cell-to-cell contact and release of soluble factors, the BM-MSCs exert their complex immunomodulatory effects and also play a role in migratory behavior. The interplay between BM-MSCs and the cells of the immune system is broad and complex and not yet completely clarified. BM-MSCs can suppress T-cell proliferation (Di Nicola et al., 2002) and also reactivity, by inhibiting the development of proinflammatory T helper cell 1 and natural killer cell signaling, and by promoting anti-inflammatory T helper cell 2 and/or suppressive regulatory T-cell signaling (Aggarwal & Pittenger, 2005). BM-MSCs can also indirectly reduce T-cell activation by suppressing the differentiation of monocytes into dendritic cells, which are the most potent antigenpresenting cells (Jiang et al., 2005). BM-MSCs administered intraventricularly or intravenously in the mouse model of chronic progressive experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, exhibit substantial immunomodulatory activity, by strongly reducing tissue inflammation and suppressing the proliferation of myelin-sensitized lymphocytes in vitro and in vivo (Kassis et al., 2008). Following a traumatic spinal cord injury (SCI) in rats, BM-MSCs transplantation favored the development of a population of alternatively activated macrophages (M2 phenotype), which have anti-inflammatory activity and enhanced phagocytic capacity, while preventing the development of a population of classically activated macrophages (M1 phenotype), which possess deleterious effects on injured tissues (Nakajima et al., 2012). Despite no direct evidence demonstrating the immunoregulatory mechanisms exerted by the BM-MSCs following a peripheral nerve injury, there is a body of literature showing that this adult stem cell auto/allotransplantation approach decreases the risk of tissue rejection (Frattini et al., 2012; Oliveira et al., 2010). The underlying mechanisms of BM-MSC immunomodulatory properties are complex and are still under investigation, but the immunosuppressive effects exerted by these cells have been widely described, potentially contributing to the understanding of the therapeutic merits of a BM-MSC-based approach for safely treating disorders of the nervous system.

Besides the properties already mentioned, the BM-MSCs also have direct or indirect neuroprotective activity. Researchers have paid attention to this feature of these cells and the results are encouraging, supporting that BM-MSCs have the ability to improve neuronal survival following tissue damage (Frattini et al., 2012).

It is true that most peripheral neuropathies result in distal axonal degeneration rather than significant loss of neuronal cell bodies, thus protective therapeutic strategies should be directed at the axon, seeking to prevent axonal degeneration. Hoke and Keswani (2005) showed that SC-derived erythropoietin (EPO) in response to axonal injury acts as an effective endogenous neuroprotectant, preventing distal axonal degeneration. They hypothesized that following axonal injury, nitric oxide (NO) produced within neurons can stimulate the SCs to produce EPO, which in turn mediates an intrinsic axon-protective pathway. It has been demonstrated that the BM-MSCs are able to produce the potent survival cytokine EPO (Mo et al., 2012), as well as NO (Sato et al., 2007). Thus, it is possible that BM-MSCs can also possess direct or even indirect axon-protective properties.

In addition to the models previously discussed as putative mechanisms responsible for the BM-MSC-mediated nerve regeneration, there is the proposed alternative model of spontaneous cellular fusion. It is likely that the great plasticity of the BM-MSCs is not restricted to their ability to transdifferentiate, but also to their putative cellular fusion capacity. It has been demonstrated that the BM-MSCs can fuse spontaneously with other cells, adopting the phenotype of recipient cells. In addition to embryonic stem cells (Terada et al., 2002), it has been demonstrated that the BM-MSCs are able to fuse with neuronal cell types, including Purkinje neurons (Weimann, Charlton, Brazelton, Hackman, & Blau, 2003). However, it is important to notice that the BM-MSC cellular fusion envisioned mechanism took place with a very low frequency and since it was reported, there has not been much progress on its understanding and efficacy. Even more intriguingly, it has been demonstrated that not only can DNA be "transferred" from BM-MSCs to another cell type, but also the mitochondria and the mitochondrial DNA. It was suggested that this BM-MSC active transfer property might rescue aerobic respiration in somatic cells with nonfunctional mitochondria (Spees, Olson, Whitney, & Prockop, 2006). To date, there is no evidence of BM-MSCs fused with SCs or mitochondrial

DNA or mitochondria transfer, but these could possibly represent, even with low frequency, alternative underlying mechanisms by which these cells exert neuroregenerative or axon-protective activities following peripheral nerve injury.

6. BM-MSCs AND CLINICAL TRIALS

A great number of studies have reported the use of BM-MSCs in different types of neurological diseases and trauma (Harrop et al., 2012). SCI affects millions of people around the world causing functional impairment and the spontaneous neurological recovery is very limited. Cell-mediated therapy is one of the therapeutic strategies that has been used on patients with SCI and some studies report the use of cell therapy combined with other strategies, such as physical therapy (Cristante et al., 2009; Yoon et al., 2007) and pharmacological treatment (Kishk et al., 2010). BM-MSCs can improve motor and sensory outcomes after SCI, and the best results come when it is applied in the acute and subacute temporal window after injury (Harrop et al., 2012). Although results from different studies have shown that there is an improvement in neurological responses, the level of functional recovery is insignificant to cause any impact on the individuals' quality of life. Very few side effects related to cell therapy are reported, but possible complications include headache (Mehta et al., 2008) and neuropathic pain (Kishk et al., 2010) after parenchymal injection of BM-MSCs. Also, one of the limitations of this therapy is that the number of cells reaching the injury site is very low. The most commonly used route of cell delivery is intrathecal, intravenous, or direct parenchymal injection, with intrathecal injection being the most frequently used. Complications tend to be related to the application route chosen (Harrop et al., 2012). With respect to peripheral nerve injuries, the most common methods by which cells are delivered in basic and preclinical trials include microinjection direct to the injury site, cell suspension inside conduits (Chen et al., 2007; Oliveira et al., 2010), and seeding within acellular muscle and nerve grafts (Keilhoff et al., 2006). Despite important advances regarding the combined cellular and tubulization approaches, they still need to be optimized by providing transplanted cells with a favorable environment for survival and integration in host tissue, allowing appropriate nerve regeneration and full functional recovery, thus encouraging the implementation of BM-MSC-based clinical multitranslational studies for treating peripheral nerve injuries.

Finally, it is difficult to make conclusions on the use of BM-MSCs in the clinic because clinical trials usually have different variables, for instance, the methods of isolation and expansion, the approaches used to characterize BM-MSCs, the type of injury (partial or complete), time window (acute, subacute, or chronic) and the route of cell delivery (intrathecal, intravenous, or parenchymal), making it hard to compare the studies outcomes. To establish uniformity on these variables, it is necessary to control them in preclinical studies. In an attempt to address the cellular issue (characterization, methods of expansion, and isolation) the Mesenchymal and Tissue Stem Cell Committee of the International Society for Cellular Therapy have suggested specific criteria to define human BM-MSCs (Fernández Vallone et al., 2013). Decreasing the number of variables and developing specific protocols to be used in multicenter studies may be an important step toward the discovery of the optimal use of BM-MSCs in clinical trials.

7. CONCLUSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Despite continuous advancements in the knowledge and development of techniques for treating peripheral nerve disorders to date, the highly expected outcome of full functional recovery has never been achieved. Among several therapeutic strategies for improving nerve regeneration, cell-based therapies are considered feasible candidates as they represent a source of tissue replacement or growth-promoting proteins delivery to the damaged tissue. In this review, we focused on the promising BM-MSC-based therapy since it owns great potential for translation into the clinical setting of nerve repair. In addition to having several advantages over embryonic stem cells, BM-MSCs have unique features, such as great plasticity, and pleiotropic and multifunctional actions, which make them the subject of study of many neuroscientists worldwide.

The majority of studies credit the neuroregenerative positive effects exerted by BM-MSCs to their great paracrine properties. However, the underlying mechanisms of the BM-MSC nerve regeneration-promotion potential, described so far in the literature are very broad, sometimes controversial, and not completely clarified.

In summary, more efforts should seek for advancement in our understanding of how BM-MSCs exert their tissue repair effects, which will facilitate their development as therapeutic agents and a clinically viable tool for encouraging peripheral nerve regeneration.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

The authors would like to thank Jodie Hall from Ohio State University for kindly agreeing to proofread the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Aggarwal, S., & Pittenger, M. F. (2005). Human mesenchymal stem cells modulate allogeneic immune cell responses. *Blood*, 105(4), 1815–1822.
- Bjorklund, L. M., Sánchez-Pernaute, R., Chung, S., Andersson, T., Chen, I. Y., McNaught, K. S., et al. (2002). Embryonic stem cells develop into functional dopaminergic neurons after transplantation in a Parkinson rat model. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 99(4), 2344–2349.
- Bossolasco, P., Cova, L., Calzarossa, C., Rimoldi, S. G., Borsotti, C., Deliliers, G. L., et al. (2005). Neuro-glial differentiation of human bone marrow stem cells *in vitro*. *Experimental Neurology*, 193(2), 312–325.
- Chen, C. J., Ou, Y. C., Liao, S. L., Chen, W. Y., Chen, S. Y., Wu, C. W., et al. (2007). Transplantation of bone marrow stromal cells for peripheral nerve repair. *Experimental Neurology*, 204(1), 443–453.
- Crigler, L., Robey, R. C., Asawachaicharn, A., Gaupp, D., & Phinney, D. G. (2006). Human mesenchymal stem cell subpopulations express a variety of neuro-regulatory molecules and promote neuronal cell survival and neuritogenesis. *Experimental Neurology*, 198(1), 54–64.
- Cristante, A. F., Barros-Filho, T. E., Tatsui, N., Mendrone, A., Caldas, J. G., Camargo, A., et al. (2009). Stem cells in the treatment of chronic spinal cord injury: Evaluation of somatosensitive evoked potentials in 39 patients. *Spinal Cord*, 47, 733–738.
- Cuevas, P., Carceller, F., Dujovny, M., Garcia-Gómez, I., Cuevas, B., González-Corrochano, R., et al. (2002). Peripheral nerve regeneration by bone marrow stromal cells. *Neurological Research*, 24(7), 634–638.
- Dadon-Nachum, M., Sadan, O., Srugo, I., Melamed, E., & Offen, D. (2011). Differentiated mesenchymal stem cells for sciatic nerve injury. *Stem Cells Reviews*, 7(3), 664–671.
- Dezawa, M., Takahashi, I., Esaki, M., Takano, M., & Sawada, H. (2001). Sciatic nerve regeneration in rats induced by transplantation of in vitro differentiated bone-marrow stromal cells. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 4(11), 1771–1776.
- Di Nicola, M., Carlo-Stella, C., Magni, M., Milanesi, M., Longoni, P. D., Matteucci, P., et al. (2002). Human bone marrow stromal cells suppress T-lymphocyte proliferation induced by cellular or nonspecific mitogenic stimuli. *Blood*, 99(10), 3838–3843.
- Fernández Vallone, V. B., Romaniuk, M. A., Choi, H., Labovsky, V., Otaegui, J., & Chasseing, N. A. (2013). Mesenchymal stem cells and their use in therapy: What has been achieved? *Differentiation*, 85(1–2), 1–10.
- Frattini, F., Lopes, F. R., Almeida, F. M., Rodrigues, R. F., Boldrini, L. C., Tomaz, M. A., et al. (2012). Mesenchymal stem cells in a polycaprolactone conduit promote sciatic nerve regeneration and sensory neuron survival after nerve injury. *Tissue Engineering. Part A*, 18(19–20), 2030–2039.
- Geuna, S., Raimondo, S., Ronchi, G., Di Scipio, F., Tos, P., Czaja, K., et al. (2009). Chapter 3: Histology of the peripheral nerve and changes occurring during nerve regeneration. *International Review of Neurobiology*, 87, 27–46.
- Gu, Y., Wang, J., Ding, F., Hu, N., Wang, Y., & Gu, X. (2010). Neurotrophic actions of bone marrow stromal cells on primary culture of dorsal root ganglion tissues and neurons. *Journal of Molecular Neuroscience*, 40(3), 332–341.

- Harrop, J. S., Hashimoto, R., Norvell, D., Raich, A., Aarabi, B., Grossman, R. G., et al. (2012). Evaluation of clinical experience using cell-based therapies in patients with spinal cord injury: A systematic review. *Journal of Neurosurgery: Spine*, 17(1 Suppl.), 230–246.
- Hoke, A., & Keswani, S. C. (2005). Neuroprotection in the PNS: Erythropoietin and immunophilin ligands. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1053, 491–501.
- Jiang, X. X., Zhang, Y., Liu, B., Zhang, S. X., Wu, Y., Yu, X. D., et al. (2005). Human mesenchymal stem cells inhibit differentiation and function of monocyte-derived dendritic cells. *Blood*, 105(10), 4120–4126.
- Kassis, I., Grigoriadis, N., Gowda-Kurkalli, B., Mizrachi-Kol, R., Ben-Hur, T., Slavin, S., et al. (2008). Neuroprotection and immunomodulation with mesenchymal stem cells in chronic experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Current Stem Cell Research & Therapy*, 65(6), 753–761.
- Keilhoff, G., & Fansa, H. (2011). Mesenchymal stem cells for peripheral nerve regeneration— A real hope or just an empty promise? *Experimental Neurology*, 232(2), 110–113.
- Keilhoff, G., Goihl, A., Langnäse, K., Fansa, H., & Wolf, G. (2006). Transdifferentiation of mesenchymal stem cells into Schwann cell-like myelinating cells. *European Journal of Cell Biology*, 85(1), 11–24.
- Kim, B. J., Seo, J. H., Bubien, J. K., & Oh, Y. S. (2002). Differentiation of adult bone marrow stem cells into neuroprogenitor cells in vitro. Neuroreport, 13, 1185–1188.
- Kishk, N. A., Gabr, H., Hamdy, S., Afifi, L., Abokresha, N., Mahmoud, H., et al. (2010). Case control series of intrathecal autologous bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell therapy for chronic spinal cord injury. *Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair*, 24, 702–708.
- Krampera, M., Marconi, S., Pasini, A., Gali, M., Rigotti, G., Mosna, F., et al. (2006). Induction of neural-like differentiation in human mesenchymal stem cells derived from bone marrow, fat, spleen and thymus. *Bone*, 40, 382–390.
- Ladak, A., Olson, J., Tredget, E. E., & Gordon, T. (2011). Differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells to support peripheral nerve regeneration in a rat model. *Experimental Neurology*, 228(2), 242–252.
- Mahay, D., Terenghi, G., & Shawcross, S. G. (2008). Schwann cell mediated trophic effects by differentiated mesenchymal stem cells. *Experimental Cell Research*, 314(14), 2692–2701.
- Mehta, T., Feroz, A., Thakkar, U., Vanikar, A., Shah, V., & Trivedi, H. (2008). Subarachnoid placement of stem cells in neurological disorders. *Transplantation Proceedings*, 40, 1145–1147.
- Mo, S. J., Zhong, Q., Zhou, Y. F., Deng, D. B., & Zhang, X. Q. (2012). Bone marrowderived mesenchymal stem cells prevent the apoptosis of neuron-like PC12 cells via erythropoietin expression. *Neuroscience Letters*, 522(2), 92–97.
- Muraglia, A., Cacedda, R., & Quarto, R. (2000). Clonal mesenchymal progenitors from human bone marrow differentiate *in vitro* according to a hierarchical model. *Journal of Cell Science*, 113, 1161–1166.
- Nakajima, H., Uchida, K., Guerrero, A. R., Watanabe, S., Sugita, D., Takeura, N., et al. (2012). Transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells promotes an alternative pathway of macrophage activation and functional recovery after spinal cord injury. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 29(8), 1614–1625.
- Navarro, X., Vivó, M., & Valero-Cabré, A. (2007). Neural plasticity after peripheral nerve injury and regeneration. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 82, 163–201.
- Oliveira, J. T., Almeida, F. M., Biancalana, A., Baptista, A. F., Tomaz, M. A., Melo, P. A., et al. (2010). Mesenchymal stem cells in a polycaprolactone conduit enhance mediannerve regeneration, prevent decrease of creatine phosphokinase levels in muscle, and improve functional recovery in mice. *Neuroscience*, 170(4), 1295–1303.
- Oliveira, J. T., Almeida, F. M., & Martinez, A. M. (2012). Peripheral nerve regeneration after traumatic injury and stem-cell therapy. In M. A. Hayat (Ed.), *Stem-cells and cancer stem cells* (pp. 47–58). The Netherlands: Springer.

- Pereira Lopes, F. R., Camargo de Moura Campos, L., Dias Corrêa, J., Jr., Balduino, A., Lora, S., et al. (2006). Bone marrow stromal cells and resorbable collagen guidance tubes enhance sciatic nerve regeneration in mice. *Experimental Neurology*, 198(2), 457–468.
- Ribeiro-Resende, V. T., Pimentel-Coelho, P. M., Mesentier-Louro, L. A., Mendez, R. M., Mello-Silva, J. P., Cabral-da-Silva, M. C., et al. (2009). Trophic activity derived from bone marrow mononuclear cells increases peripheral nerve regeneration by acting on both neuronal and glial cell populations. *Neuroscience*, 159(2), 540–549.
- Rooney, G. E., Moran, C., McMahon, S. S., Ritter, T., Maenz, M., Flügel, A., et al. (2008). Gene-modified mesenchymal stem cells express functionally active nerve growth factor on an engineered polylactic glycolic acid (PLGA) substrate. *Tissue Engineering. Part A*, 14(5), 681–690.
- Sato, K., Ozaki, K., Oh, I., Meguro, A., Hatanaka, K., Nagai, T., et al. (2007). Nitric oxide plays a critical role in suppression of T-cell proliferation by mesenchymal stem cells. *Blood*, 109(1), 228–234.
- Schlosshauer, B., Müller, E., Schröder, B., Planck, H., & Müller, H. W. (2003). Rat Schwann cells in bioresorbable nerve guides to promote and accelerate axonal regeneration. *Brain Research*, 963(1–2), 321–326.
- Shimizu, S., Kitada, M., Ishikawa, H., Itokazu, Y., Wakao, S., & Dezawa, M. (2007). Peripheral nerve regeneration by the in vitro differentiated-human bone marrow stromal cells with Schwann cell property. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 359(4), 915–920.
- Spees, J. L., Olson, S. D., Whitney, M. J., & Prockop, D. J. (2006). Mitochondrial transfer between cells can rescue aerobic respiration. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the United States of America, 103(5), 1283–1288.
- Stoll, G., Jander, S., & Myers, R. R. (2002). Degeneration and regeneration of the peripheral nervous system: From Augustus Waller's observations to neuroinflammation. *Journal of the Peripheral Nervous System*, 7(1), 13–27.
- Terada, N., Hamazaki, T., Oka, M., Hoki, M., Mastalerz, D. M., Nakano, Y., et al. (2002). Bone marrow cells adopt the phenotype of other cells by spontaneous cell fusion. *Nature*, 416(6880), 542–545.
- Uccelli, A., Moretta, L., & Pistoia, V. (2006). Immunoregulatory function of mesenchymal stem cells. *European Journal of Immunology*, 36(10), 2566–2573.
- Wang, J., Ding, F., Gu, Y., Liu, J., & Gu, X. (2009). Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells promote cell proliferation and neurotrophic function of Schwann cells in vitro and in vivo. *Brain Research*, 1262, 7–15.
- Weimann, J. M., Charlton, C. A., Brazelton, T. R., Hackman, R. C., & Blau, H. M. (2003). Contribution of transplanted bone marrow cells to Purkinje neurons in human adult brains. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 100(4), 2088–2093.
- Woodbury, D., Schwarz, E. J., Prockop, D. J., & Black, I. B. (2000). Adult rat and human bone marrow stromal cells differentiate into neurons. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 61, 364–370.
- Yang, J., Lou, Q., Huang, R., Shen, L., & Chen, Z. (2008). Dorsal root ganglion neurons induce transdifferentiation of mesenchymal stem cells along a Schwann cell lineage. *Neuroscience Letters*, 445(3), 246–251.
- Yang, Y., Yuan, X., Ding, F., Yao, D., Gu, Y., Liu, J., et al. (2011). Repair of rat sciatic nerve gap by a silk fibroin-based scaffold added with bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. *Tissue Engineering. Part A*, 17(17–18), 2231–2244.
- Yoon, S. H., Shim, Y. S., Park, Y. H., Chung, J. K., Nam, J. H., Kim, M. O., et al. (2007). Complete spinal cord injury treatment using autologous bone marrow cell transplantation and bone marrow stimulation with granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor: Phase I/II clinical trial. *Stem Cells*, 25, 2066–2073.

CHAPTER FOUR

Perspectives of Employing Mesenchymal Stem Cells from the Wharton's Jelly of the Umbilical Cord for Peripheral Nerve Repair

Jorge Ribeiro^{*,†,2}, Andrea Gartner^{*,†,2}, Tiago Pereira^{*,†,2}, Raquel Gomes^{*,†}, Maria Ascensão Lopes[‡], Carolina Gonçalves[‡], Artur Varejão[§], Ana Lúcia Luís^{*,†}, Ana Colette Maurício^{*,†,1}

*Instituto de Ciências Biomédicas Abel Salazar (ICBAS), Universidade do Porto (UP), Porto, Portugal

[†]Centro de Estudos de Ciência Animal (CECA), Instituto de Ciências e Tecnologias Agrárias

e Agro-Alimentares (ICETA), Universidade do Porto (UP), Porto, Portugal

^{*}CEMUC, Departamento de Engenharia Metalúrgica e Materiais, Faculdade de Engenharia, Universidade do orto (FEUP), Porto, Portugal

[§]Centro de Estudos de Ciência Animal (CECA), Instituto de Ciências e Tecnologias Agrárias e

Agro-Alimentares (ICETA), Universidade do Porto (UP), Porto, Portugal

¹Corresponding author: e-mail address: ana.colette@hotmail.com

²These authors contributed equally

Contents

1.	Introduction	80
2.	Regenerative Medicine and Peripheral Nerve Injuries	82
	2.1 Nerve reconstruction	82
	2.2 MSCs from the Wharton jelly of the UC	93
3.	In Vivo Testing in the Rat Sciatic Nerve Model	102
	3.1 Surgery technique and the importance of a standardized injury	102
	3.2 Functional assessment	105
	3.3 Morphologic assessment	109
4.	Discussion and Final Remarks	110
Acknowledgments		114
References		114

Abstract

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) from Wharton's jelly present high plasticity and low immunogenicity, turning them into a desirable form of cell therapy for the injured nervous system. Their isolation, expansion, and characterization have been performed from cryopreserved umbilical cord tissue. Great concern has been dedicated to the collection, preservation, and transport protocols of the umbilical cord after the parturition to the laboratory in order to obtain samples with higher number of viable MSCs without microbiological contamination. Different biomaterials like chitosan-silicate hybrid,

collagen, PLGA90:10, poly(DL-lactide-E-caprolactone), and poly(vinyl alcohol) loaded with electrical conductive materials, associated to MSCs have also been tested in the rat sciatic nerve in axonotmesis and neurotmesis lesions. The *in vitro* studies of the scaffolds included citocompatibility evaluation of the biomaterials used and cell characterization by imunocytochemistry, karyotype analysis, differentiation capacity into neuroglial-like cells, and flow cytometry. The regeneration process follow-up has been performed by functional analysis and the repaired nerves processed for stereological studies permitted the morphologic regeneration evaluation. The MSCs from Wharton's jelly delivered through tested biomaterials should be regarded a potentially valuable tool to improve clinical outcome especially after trauma to sensory nerves. In addition, these cells represent a noncontroversial source of primitive mesenchymal progenitor cells, which can be harvested after birth, cryogenically stored, thawed, and expanded for therapeutic uses. The importance of a longitudinal study concerning tissue engineering of the peripheral nerve, which includes a multidisciplinary team able to develop biomaterials associated to cell therapies, to perform preclinical trials concerning animal welfare and the appropriate animal model is here enhanced.

1. INTRODUCTION

Tissue engineering focusing on the *in vitro* fabrication of autologous, living tissues with the potential of regeneration is a promising scientific and clinical field. Peripheral nerve regeneration should include a multidisciplinary team able to develop biomaterials, to develop cell therapies, and to elaborate in vitro analysis and preclinical trials concerning animal welfare and the most appropriate animal model before the clinical trials and clinical application approval (Hermann et al., 2004). A full understanding of nerve regeneration, especially complete functional achievement and organ reinnervation after nerve injury, still remains the principal goal of regenerative medicine. The reliability of animal models is crucial for peripheral nerve research. Because of its peripheral nerve size, the rat sciatic nerve has been the most commonly used experimental model in studies concerning the peripheral nerve regeneration and possible therapeutic approaches (Kerns, Braverman, Mathew, Lucchinetti, & Ivankovich, 1991). Although sciatic nerve injuries themselves are rare in humans, this experimental model provides a very realistic testing bench for lesions involving plurifascicular mixed nerves with axons of different size and type competing to reach and reinnervate distal targets (Amado et al., 2008; Sporel-Ozakat, Edwards, Hepgul, Savas, & Gispen, 1991). Focal crush causes axonal interruption but preserves the connective sheaths (axonotmesis). After this injury,

regeneration is usually successful since axons regenerate at a steady rate along the distal nerve supported by the reactive Schwann cells (SCs) and by the preserved endoneural tubules, which enhance axonal elongation and facilitate adequate reinnervation (Nichols et al., 2005). Crush injuries are appropriate to investigate the cellular and molecular mechanisms of peripheral nerve regeneration and to assess the role of different factors in the regeneration process (Mackinnon, Hudson, & Hunter, 1985). Nerve crush injury is also a well-established model in experimental regeneration studies to investigate the impact of various pharmacological treatments (Amado et al., 2008; Chang, Auyang, Scholz, & Nichols, 2009; Pereira et al., 2006). This injury does not imply surgical reconstruction but due to the regeneration period needed, the neurogenic atrophy of the innervated muscles may occur, so, therapeutic approaches to successfully decrease this recovery time are also important. Among various types of peripheral nerve injuries, transection injuries where the nerve trunk is completely interrupted, especially those resulting in large neural gaps, may have a devastating impact on patients' quality of life, and in these cases reconstructive surgery is required as a therapeutic management to achieve nerve regeneration and function restoration (Gu, Ding, Yang, & Liu, 2011). Unlike the adult central nervous system that fails to spontaneously regenerate after injury, the peripheral nervous system (PNS) has an intrinsic regenerative ability to a certain extent. In response to small injuries, peripheral nerves can regenerate on their own over relatively short distances under appropriate conditions. After peripheral nerves are transected, a series of molecular and cellular events, collectively called Wallerian degeneration, are triggered throughout the distal stump of transected nerves and within a small zone distal to the proximal stump, resulting in the disintegration of axoplasmic microtubules and neurofilaments (Sabatier, To, Nicolini, & English, 2011). Within 24 h most axons along the distal stump of transected nerves are reduced to granular and amorphous debris; by 48 h the myelin sheath begins to get transformed toward the short segment (Joao, Amado, Veloso, Armada-da-Silva, & Mauricio, 2010). Then macrophages and monocytes migrate into the degenerating nerve stumps to remove myelin and axon debris, while SCs proliferate to form longitudinal cell columns, known as Bands of Büngner (Luís, 2008). Under the influences of neurotrophic factors and extracellular matrix (ECM) molecules produced by SCs, the proximal portion of transected nerves sprouts new daughter axons to generate a "regenerating unit" that is surrounded by a common basal lamina (Dahlin, Johansson, Lindwall, & Kanje, 2009; Evans, 2001). New axonal sprouts usually emanate from the nodes of Ranvier, and undergo remyelination by SCs. Functional reinnervation requires that the regenerating axons elongate under the mediation of growth cones until they reach their synaptic target, and in humans, axon regeneration occurs at a rate of about 2–5 mm/day; thus significant injuries may take many months to heal, so this delay is the cause of neurogenic muscular atrophy conducting to a poor functional recovery (Jiang, Lim, Mao, & Chew, 2010).

Tissue engineering of peripheral nerves associates biomaterials, like chitosan, poly(DL-lactide-E-caprolactone) (PLC) copolyester, collagen, and other biomaterials, some of them, previously studied by our group (Amado et al., 2008; Luis, Rodrigues, Geuna, Amado, Shirosaki, et al., 2008; Luis, Rodrigues, Geuna, Amado, Simoes, et al., 2008; Luria, Panasyuk, & Friedenstein, 1971) to cellular systems, able to differentiate into neurogliallike cells or even by modulating the inflammatory process, which might improve nerve regeneration, in terms of motor and sensory recovery, and also, by shortening the healing period avoiding regional muscular atrophy. Cell transplantation has been proposed as a method of improving peripheral nerve regeneration (Chen et al., 2007). SCs, mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), embryonic stem cells, and bone marrow stromal cells are the most studied support cell candidates. To implant cultured cells into defective nerves (with axonotmesis and neurotmesis injuries), there are two main techniques. The cellular system may be directly injected into the neural scaffold, which has been interposed between the proximal and distal nerve stumps or around the crush injury (in neurotmesis and axonotmesis injuries, respectively). It can also be performed by preadding the cells to the neural scaffold via injection or co-culture (in most of the cellular systems, it is allowed to form a monolayer) and then the biomaterial with the cellular system is implanted in the injured nerve (Luria et al., 1971).

2. REGENERATIVE MEDICINE AND PERIPHERAL NERVE INJURIES

2.1. Nerve reconstruction

Despite continuous refinement of microsurgery techniques, peripheral nerve repair still stands as one of the most challenging tasks in neurosurgery. Direct repair with end-to-end suture, should be the procedure of choice whenever tension-free suturing is possible; however, patients with loss of nerve tissue, resulting in a nerve gap, are considered for a nerve graft procedure (Luis et al., 2007). In these cases, the donor nerves used for grafting

83

are commonly expendable sensory nerves (Matsuyama, Mackay, & Midha, 2000). This technique, however, has some disadvantages, with the most prominent being donor site morbidity, which may lead to a secondary sensory deficit and occasionally neuroma and intensive pain. In addition, the donor and the recipient nerve diameters often do not match, which might be the basis for poor functional recovery (Matsuyama et al., 2000). Alternatives to peripheral nerve grafts include cadaver nerve segments allografts, end-to-side neurorrhaphy, and entubulation by means of autologous non-nervous tissues, such as vein and muscles (Walsh & Midha, 2009a, 2009b; Zheng & Cui, 2012) or natural and synthetic biomaterials recently revised by Gu et al. (2011). Just like most of tissue-engineered products, tissue-engineered nerve grafts are typically composed of a physical scaffold with the introduction of support cells and/or growth factors or other biomolecular components, which might improve the functional recovery after axonotmesis and neurotmesis injuries (Cheng et al., 2011; Luria et al., 1971; Shen et al., 2010; Zheng & Cui, 2010). So, entubulation for peripheral nerve repair is used for nerve defects that cannot be bridged without tension (Battiston, Geuna, Ferrero, & Tos, 2005). Nerves will regenerate from the proximal nerve stump toward the distal one, whereas neuroma formation and ingrowth of fibrous tissue into the nerve gap are prevented. Consequently, guidance of regenerating axons is not only achieved by a mechanical effect but also by a chemical effect (such as accumulation of neurotrophic factors) (Maurício et al., 2011). Nerve guides can be made of biological or synthetic materials and, among the latter, both nonabsorbable and biodegradable tubes have been developed and preclinically tested. Some of them are nowadays used in patients and are available in the national and international market (Schmidt & Leach, 2003). The aim of our research group for the past 10 years has been exploring the therapeutic value of human umbilical cord (UC) Wharton's jelly derived from MSCs both in vitro and in vivo, associated to several tube-guides of natural or absorbable synthetic biomaterials on a rat sciatic nerve axonotmesis experimental model.

2.1.1 Biomaterials

Biomaterials used in biomedical sciences are developing continuously, bringing indisputable benefits to the clinical and research field of knowledge. The use of three-dimensional materials in tissue regeneration is now an increasingly used approach that takes the name of guided tissue regeneration, in which the regeneration of peripheral nerve is a strong candidate. The biomaterials can be biological and synthetic and, among the latter, both nonabsorbable and biodegradable have been used (Schmidt & Leach, 2003). The concept behind the use of biodegradable biomaterials is that no foreign body material will be left in the host after the device has accomplished its task. For nerve lesion applications, these biomaterials may be used in the form of membranes or tubes, which function not only as a vehicle for the cellular system and/or therapeutic molecules, but also promotes a mechanical protection at the site of the injury. These scaffolds can be mounted in the nerve injury site as tube-guides by the surgeon, facilitating the microsurgical technique in case of neurotmesis injuries (Maurício et al., 2011). An ideal scaffold for peripheral nerve reconstruction has to satisfy many biological and physicochemical requirements, among which biocompatibility, biodegradability, permeability, biochemical properties, and surface properties are the most important concerns during the development of these scaffolds (Gu et al., 2011). On the other hand, the perfect biomaterial used for the construction of these membranes and tube-guides should follow the production requirements in terms of length and wall width concerning the nerve defect, be capable of supporting the suture, and if possible, be transparent. These properties are not mandatory, but can substantially improve the material handling during the surgical procedure and the microsurgery technique (Seckel, 1990). Sufficient mechanical strength must be considered when designing the tube-guides, in order to avoid the collapse during implantation and the healing period. The tube-guide at the same time should also be flexible to allow bending without breaking, so, the balance between flexibility and hardness is an important issue to be considered during its fabrication (Harley, Hastings, Yannas, & Sannino, 2006). Another important factor is the biomaterial resorption process and its degradation rate. The resorption of a biomaterial should be adjusted to the regeneration process, which depends on its molecular weight, composition, crystal structure, and thermal history. When associating a biomaterial to a cellular system it is also important to determine properties such as hydrophobicity, surface charge, and surface rugosity to establish its ability to support adhesion and cell growth (Harley et al., 2006). Among several biomaterials, our research group focused its attention on some biodegradable ones like those made of poly(lactic-co-glycolic) acid (PLGA), made of a novel proportion (90:10) of the two polymers, poly(L-lactide): poly(glycolide) (PLGA90:10), of PLC copolyester (Vivosorb[®] and Neurolac[®]), hybrid chitosan, collagen type III (Amado et al., 2010, 2008; Luis, Rodrigues, Geuna, Amado, Shirosaki, et al., 2008; Luis, Rodrigues, Geuna, Amado, Simoes, et al., 2008; Maurício et al., 2011; Simoes et al., 2010; Zheng & Cui, 2010) and more recently, the poly(vinyl alcohol)

(PVA) loaded with electrical conductive materials, such as carbon nanotubes (CNTs) and polypyrrole (PPy) to produce a conductive biomaterial with higher electrical conductivity than the polymer matrix (data unpublished, under analysis).

2.1.1.1 Natural biomaterials

The natural biomaterials are characterized by their biocompatibility, biodegradability, low toxicity, and low cost. In peripheral nerve lesions, our research group has been testing mainly two natural biomaterials for the past 5 years-the collagen and the chitosan (Amado et al., 2010, 2008; Maurício et al., 2011; Simoes et al., 2010; Zheng & Cui, 2010). Collagen is an integral component of the ECM of the nerve and several studies have used the collagen in peripheral nerve reconstruction (Gartner et al., 2012). In our studies, the equine collagen type III (GentaFleece[®], Baxter, Nuremberg, Germany) was used with positive results, in axonotmesis and in directly sutured neurotmesis lesions (Amado et al., 2010; Luis, Rodrigues, Geuna, Amado, Shirosaki, et al., 2008; Luis, Rodrigues, Geuna, Amado, Simoes, et al., 2008). The equine type III collagen membranes wrapped around the nerve lesion (crush injury) were used in order to support an experimental cellular system (N1E-115 cells in vitro differentiated for 48 h in the presence of dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO). These cells were able to secrete neurotrophic factors in the injury site without being in direct contact with regenerating axons (Amado et al., 2010, 2008; Luis, Rodrigues, Geuna, Amado, Shirosaki, et al., 2008; Luis, Rodrigues, Geuna, Amado, Simoes, et al., 2008). There are many studies published where collagen has been used for manufacturing tube-guides for nerve regeneration. Some of them, such as Neuragen[®], are commercially available for clinical application in patients (Tyner et al., 2007).

Chitin is a biopolymer of *N*-acetyl-D-glucosamine monomeric units and it has been used in a wide range of biomedical devices. It is the second most abundant polysaccharide found in nature, right after cellulose. Chitosan is a copolymer of D-glucosamine and *N*-acetyl-D-glucosamine and its molecular structure is very similar to laminin, fibronectin, and collagen. Therefore, like collagen, chitosan has favorable biological properties for the nerve regeneration and it is easier to process than chitin. Chitosan is quite fragile in its dry form, so it has to undergo chemical cross-linking or has to be used with other biomaterials before scaffold fabrication. The chitosan (high molecular weight, Aldrich[®], USA) tested by our research group was dissolved in 0.25 M acetic acid aqueous solution to a concentration of 2% (w/v). To obtain chitosan-silicate hybrid type III membranes, GPTMS (Aldrich[®], USA) was added to the chitosan solution and stirred at room temperature (RT) for 1 h. The drying process for type III chitosan membrane was as follows: (i) the solutions were frozen for 24 h at -20 °C and then transferred to the freeze-dryer, where they were left for 12 h to become complete dry; (ii) the chitosan type III membranes were soaked in 0.25 N sodium hydroxide aqueous solution to neutralize the remaining acetic acid, washed well with distilled water, and freeze dried (Amado et al., 2008; Simoes et al., 2010). All membranes used for *in vivo* testing were sterilized with ethylene oxide gas, considered by some authors the most suitable method of sterilization for chitosan membranes (Gärtner et al., 2012). Prior to their use in vivo, membranes were kept for 1 week at RT to clear any ethylene oxide gas remnants (Amado et al., 2008; Simoes et al., 2010). Results of the in vivo study showed that type III chitosan improved both nerve fiber regeneration and functional recovery in axonotmesis and neurotmesis injuries. In fact, the main morphological predictors of nerve fiber regeneration (number of fibers, axon and fiber size, and myelin thickness) were significantly improved in the experimental group of rats where the sciatic nerve was reconstructed with chitosan III in both types of lesions (Amado et al., 2008; Simoes et al., 2010). The same positive results with chitosan III were also obtained with respect to the main predictors of functional recovery, namely withdrawal reflex latency (WRL), extensor postural thrust (EPT), sciatic functional index (SFI) and static evaluation (SSI) tests, and motion analysis of ankle joint (Amado et al., 2008; Simoes et al., 2010). Chitosan III was developed as a hybrid of chitosan by the addition of GPTMS. The addition of GPTMS improves the wettability of chitosan surfaces (Amado et al., 2008; Shirosaki et al., 2005), and therefore chitosan type III is expected to be more hydrophilic than the original chitosan (Amado et al., 2008; Shirosaki et al., 2005). Chitosan type III was developed to be more porous, with a larger surfaceto-volume ratio but preserving mechanical strength and the ability to adapt to different shapes. Significant differences in water uptake between commonly used chitosan and our hybrid chitosan type III were previously reported as a consequence of the difference in the ability of the matrix to hold water (Amado et al., 2008). In fact, hybrid chitosan-based membranes may retain about two times as much biological fluid as chitosan (Amado et al., 2008). A synergistic effect of a more favorable porous microstructure and physicochemical properties (more wettable and higher water uptake level) of chitosan type III and the presence of silicon ions may be responsible for the good results in promoting posttraumatic nerve regeneration (Amado et al., 2008). The significant improvement of axonal regeneration obtained

in crushed sciatic nerves surrounded by chitosan type III membranes suggests that this material may not just work as a simple mechanical scaffold but may work instead as an inducer of nerve regeneration. The neuroregenerative property of chitosan type III might be explained by the action on SC proliferation, axon elongation, and myelination (Shirosaki et al., 2005; Yuan, Zhang, Yang, Wang, & Gu, 2004). We have also tested both in vitro and in vivo, two types of hybrid chitosan membranes with the addition of an experimental cellular system of N1E-115 cells in vitro differentiated (Amado et al., 2008; Simoes et al., 2010). The N1E-115 cells derived from mouse neuroblastomas (Amado et al., 2008; Simoes et al., 2010) can in vitro differentiate into neuroglial-like cells (Amano, Richelson, & Nirenberg, 1972; Meek & Coert, 2002) and were used as a cellular model for MSCs. Previous results obtained by our research group using these N1E-115 cells in vitro differentiated showed that there was no significant effect in promoting axon regeneration, and they can even exert negative effects on nerve fiber regeneration specially in the case of neurotmesis injuries (Maurício et al., 2011; Simoes et al., 2010). The presence of transplanted N1E-115 cells in nerve scaffolds competing for the local blood supply of nutrients and oxygen and by their space-occupying effect could have hindered the positive effect of local neurotrophic factor release leading to a negative outcome on nerve regeneration, even in the presence of hybrid chitosan membranes, with previously proved positive effect in promoting the nerve regeneration (Amado et al., 2008; Maurício et al., 2011; Simoes et al., 2010).

2.1.1.2 Synthetic biomaterials

They are already available in the market tube-guides (Neurolac[®]) constituted by poly(DL-lactide- ε -caprolactone) for clinical application. They are 16 mm long, with an internal diameter of 2 mm and a 1.5-mm thick wall (purchased from Polyganics BV, Groningen, The Netherlands) (Luis et al., 2007; Luis, Rodrigues, Geuna, Amado, Shirosaki, et al., 2008; Luis, Rodrigues, Geuna, Amado, Simoes, et al., 2008). Neurolac[®] is stiffer than other biomaterials like PLGA, PVA, and hybrid chitosan (type II and type III) (Amado et al., 2008; Simoes et al., 2010) due to the structural reinforcement of the ester bonds. Neurolac[®] is the only transparent device approved by FDA, which is an important characteristic for the surgeon as it facilitates the insertion of the nerve stumps across the nerve gap. However, on the other hand, it is not flexible, which might make the microsurgery technique difficult during its implantation (Luis, Rodrigues, Geuna, Amado, Shirosaki, et al., 2008; Luis, Rodrigues, Geuna, Amado, Simoes, et al., 2008). The biodegradation rate of PLGA, which is controlled by the monomer ratio, molecular weight, and crystallinity, can range from weeks to months (Battiston et al., 2005; Luis et al., 2007). PLGA 90:10 was developed by our research group and intensively studied; it was obtained from their cyclic dimers, DL-lactide, and glycolide. Nonwoven constructs were used to prepare 16 mm long tube-guides, with an internal diameter of 2.0 and 1.5 mm thick wall, in order to be applied in a 10-mm sciatic nerve gap. These fully synthetic nonwoven materials are extremely flexible and biologically safe, and after implantation, they are able to sustain the compressive forces related to body movement. They have also some degree of porosity to allow the influx of low molecular nutrients required for nerve regeneration. The nonwoven structure allowed the tube-guide to hold the suture without difficulties; however, greater care had to be taken in order to ensure its integrity. These tube-guides of PLGA are expected to degrade to lactic and glycolic acids through hydrolysis of the ester bonds (Luis et al., 2007; Luis, Rodrigues, Geuna, Amado, Shirosaki, et al., 2008; Luis, Rodrigues, Geuna, Amado, Simoes, et al., 2008).

It was tested in vivo in the PLC polymer (Vivosorb[®]) membranes (purchased from Polyganics BV, Groningen, Netherlands), in rat sciatic nerve axonotmesis and neurotmesis injuries (Gartner et al., 2012; Rodrigues et al., 2005) PLC membranes are hydrophilic, thereby allowing the water uptake; this is essential for the nutrient control and other metabolite transportation to the surrounding healing tissue. A few weeks after implantation, the mechanical strength gradually decreases and there is a loss of molecular weight as a result of the hydrolysis process. Approximately in 24 months, PLC degrades into lactic acid and hydroxyl-caproic acid, both safely metabolized into water and carbon dioxide and/or excreted through the urinary tract. In contrast to other biodegradable polymers, PLC has the advantage over PLGA of not creating an acidic and potentially disturbing microenvironment, which is favorable to the surrounding tissue (Luis et al., 2007). Our PLC studies (Gartner et al., 2012) demonstrated that this biomaterial does not interfere negatively with the nerve regeneration process. In fact, the information on the effectiveness of PLC membranes and tubeguides for allowing nerve regeneration was already attested in previous published clinical trials (Jones & McGonagle, 2008).

The functional unit of the nervous system, the neuron, is an electrically excitable cell that processes and transmits information by electrical and chemical signaling, so electrical conductivity is one of the crucial characteristics for an ideal nerve guidance channel (Guillot, Gotherstrom, Chan, Kurata, & Fisk, 2007). One of the biomaterials that has been recently tested by our research team is a polymer named poly(vinyl alcohol) (PVA), loaded with electrical conductive materials, such as CNTs and PPy to produce a conductive biomaterial with higher electrical conductivity than the polymer matrix. The PVA is a water-soluble synthetic polymer and is prepared via the hydrolysis (alcoholysis) of poly(vinyl acetate) (PVAc), in which the acetate groups are replaced by hydroxyls (Gotherstrom, Ringden, Westgren, Tammik, & Le Blanc, 2003). The catalyst is sodium hydroxide, the nature of the distribution of the residual acetyl groups in the partially hydrolysed PVA is determined by the choice of catalyst and, where solvents are used, by the nature of those solvents (Gotherstrom et al., 2003). PVA has many applications due to its resistance against organic solvents and aqueous solubility. It is used in textile industries, in the food packaging industry, and in medical devices. US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved PVA to be in close contact with food products. In medical devices, PVA is used as a biomaterial due to its biocompatibility, swelling properties, bioadhesive characteristics, and for being nontoxic and noncarcinogenic (Secco et al., 2008; Soland et al., 2012). It is used in contact lenses, in the coating of artificial hearts and drug administration devices. For instance, it is used in drug delivery vehicles due to the permeability and hydrophilic interface fostering (Soland et al., 2012). This material is also suitable for the production of catheters, haemodialysis, membranes, artificial skin, vascular prostheses, and wound dressing (Porada & Almeida-Porada, 2012). PVA may mimic the regulatory characteristics of natural ECMs and ECM-bound growth factors, both in clinical applications and in basic biology studies. For nerve guides, the polymers with electrical conductivity have attracted interest because they simultaneously display the physical and chemical properties of organic polymers and the electrical characteristics of metals. Conductive polymers show great promise in biomedicine, namely for regenerative medicine of peripheral nerve. The importance of those polymers is based on the hypothesis that such biomaterials can be used to host the growth of cells, and electrical stimulation can be applied directly to the cells, which proved to be beneficial in many regenerative strategies (Wood et al., 2012). PPy and CNTs are two of the most used agents to produce electrical conductive polymers for tissue engineering. Besides, the introduction of metal ions into a polymer, particularly when the metal is linked chemically into a polymer chain, often imparts new or improved properties to the polymer (Porada et al., 2011).

Our research group has been testing the application of PVA in producing a tube-guide for peripheral nerve reconstruction associated to PPy and



Figure 4.1 Tube-guides used to reconstruct the rat sciatic nerve after axonotmesis and neurotmesis injuries. From the left to the right panel: PVA tube-guide loaded with CNTs, PVA tube-guide loaded with PPy and PVA tube-guide.

CNTs (Fig. 4.1). These tube-guides were already fabricated and implanted in the rat sciatic nerve after axonotmesis and neurotmesis injuries, and the nerve regeneration has been evaluated through functional tests described further ahead.

Synthetic biodegradable tubes of PVA (Aldrich, Mowiol 10-98) and PVA loaded with COOH-functionalized CNTs (Nanothinx, NTX5, MWCNTs 97% –COOH), and with PPy (Aldrich, 10⁻⁴⁰ S/cm of conductivity), were prepared using a casting technique to a silicone mold. A 15% (%w/v) aqueous solution of PVA was prepared. Then the solution of PVA was mixed with 0.05% (%w/v) of COOH⁻ functionalized and 0.05% (%w/v) of PPy. The tube-guides were produced with the following dimensions: length = 16 mm, diameter_{in} = 2 mm, diameter_{out} = 5 mm. The tubeguides were produced by a freezing/thawing process consisting in three cycles of freezer (-30 °C)/incubator (25 °C), and an annealing treatment started with a stage of 14 h on an incubator (25 °C) followed by a ramp rate of 0.1 °C/min until 80 °C, and then a stage of 20 h at 80 °C. Afterwards, the tube-guides were hydrated during 2 h before use. The electrical conductivity analysis of these prepared tube-guides showed a value of 1.5×10^{-6} S/m for simple PVA tubes, which is according to bibliography (Park et al., 2001). The tubes with 0.05% (%w/v) of COOH⁻-functionalized CNTs showed a value of 5.79×10^{-4} S/m, whereas for PVA loaded with PPy they presented a value of 1.8375×10^{-3} S/m. It is important to have in mind that PPy by itself has some conductivity (Fig. 4.1).

After obtaining these promising electrical conductivity values, the above two PVA nerve tube-guide compositions were chosen for further characterizations and were applied in six groups of adult male Sasco Sprague– Dawley rats (Charles River Laboratories, Barcelona, Spain) with a standardized crush injury (axonotmesis) or a neurotmesis injury with a 10-mm gap. During the healing period, the regenerative process was evaluated by functional tests including kinematic analysis described further in this chapter. After the sacrifice of the experimental animals, 12 or 20 weeks postsurgery, with axonotmesis and neurotmesis injuries, respectively, the harvested regenerated nerves will be analyzed by histomorphometry (unpublished data).

Simultaneously, the biocompatibility of the PVA membranes was tested in subcutaneous implants in ovine (18 adult female white Merino sheep weighing approximately 60 kg) that were randomly divided in three groups of six animals each (one with PVA discs, one with PVA discs with a surface adsorbed with human MSCs derived from Wharton's jelly, and one control group). These PVA discs with 15.5 mm diameter were implanted subcutaneously. At 1, 2, 4, 8, 16, and 32 weeks postsurgery, the implants and the surrounding tissue were collected after a peripheral infiltration of 2% lidocaine and fixed with 10% formalin. Paraffin-embedded cuts of 2 µm were stained with hematoxylin and eosin (HE) for histological evaluation. The biological response parameters were assessed in the implant/tissue interface with three high power fields ($\times 400$) by at least two different pathologists for each sample and recorded in an appropriated formulary. Among the biological response parameters, all were evaluated according to the ISO standard 10993-6 (annex E) and included: the extent of fibrosis/fibrous capsule (layer in µm) and inflammation; the degeneration as determined by changes in tissue morphology; the number and distribution from the material/tissue interface of the inflammatory cell types, namely polymorphonuclear neutrophilic leucocytes (PMN), lymphocytes, plasma cells, eosinophils, macrophages, and multinucleated cells; the presence, extent, and type of necrosis; other tissue alterations such as vascularization, fatty infiltration, and granuloma formation; the material parameters such as fragmentation and/or debris presence, form, and location of remnants of degraded material and classified as nonirritant, slight irritant, moderate irritant, and severe irritant. According to this analysis, the PVA membranes alone or associated to the cellular system were considered slightly irritant (N=24 samples analyzed) (unpublished data).

2.1.2 Fetal-derived cells for tissue engineering

Perinatal-derived cells are an ideal setting for tissue-engineering constructs as they can be harvested without harming intact donor structures and causing high risks for the child. The advantages for using these cellular systems are the following: autologous cells source, processing with high quality standards and cryopreservation are possible, easy obtainable at various stages (pre and perinatal), present low immunogenic properties, these cell source often provides different types of cells including progenitor cells, the isolated cells have excellent cell growth capacities and they present a tumorogenic potential much lower when compared to omnipotent cells (Almeida-Porada, 2010; Cheng et al., 2011; Gartner et al., 2012; Hatlapatka et al., 2011; Maurício et al., 2011). In contrast to the highly standardized and industrially fabricated scaffolds, the quality of cells varies from patient to patient, depending on the individual tissue characteristics, on the transport conditions and time of the samples from the hospital/clinic to the laboratory, on the processing and cryopreservation techniques. These aspects are focused more ahead of this chapter concerning the collection of umbilical cord tissue (UCT) in order for isolation of MSCs from Wharton's jelly (Cheng et al., 2011).

The MSCs isolated from extra-fetal tissues like the Wharton's jelly, the adipose tissue, and the bone marrow have a common morphologic description that includes a spindle shape, resembling fibroblasts, which are plastic adherent (Porada et al., 2010). The International Society of Cellular Therapy (ISCT) recognized the need to define the MSCs. This effort was made in order to distinguish between mesenchymal stromal cells and MSCs. The ISCT provides a clear and resumed definition: MSCs are progenitor cells for the mesenchymal lineages. These MSCs are adherent to tissue culture plastic (adherent cells), have a particular surface marker phenotype (express SH2, SH3, SH4, CD44, and HLA-class I, and do not express markers of the hematopoietic lineages CD34 and CD45 or HLA-class II), and have the capacity to differentiate into three mesenchymal lineages in vitro (bone, cartilage, adipocytes) (Dominici et al., 2006). The MSCs derived from the bone marrow and from the adipose tissue are able of self-renew and differentiate into specialized cells in vitro, there are reports of differentiation into neural cells (neurons, glial cells) (Cheng et al., 2011; da Silva et al., 2009; Gartner et al., 2012; Maurício et al., 2011).

UC-derived stem cells can be used for differentiation into all three layers, such as ekto-, endo-, and mesoderm (Cheng et al., 2011; Guillot et al., 2007; Hatlapatka et al., 2011). Concerning the nervous system, the UC-derived stem cells have been used for induction of neurons and glial cells (Cheng et al., 2011; da Silva et al., 2009; Gartner et al., 2012; Maurício et al., 2011). There are clear advantages of UC MSCs over the bone marrow MSCs. Obtaining bone marrow MSCs involves a painful bone marrow

aspirate, whereas the UC constitutes a waste product and a relatively high number of cells can be obtained by simple preparation of the cord. Extraembryonic tissues are a good alternative to adult donor. These tissues, such as, amnion, microvillus, Wharton's jelly, and UC perivascular cells, are routinely discarded at childbirth, so slight ethical controversy attends the harvesting of the resident stem cell populations. The UC MSCs also represent "early" MSCs, which are considered superior cells obtained from more mature tissue like bone marrow, as they can undergo a significantly higher number of cell division before senescence (Cheng et al., 2011; Maurício et al., 2011). The reason for this higher proliferative capacity of fetal MSCs is because these cells have longer telomeres than adult MSCs (Galotto et al., 1999; Guillot et al., 2007). The fetal MSCs appear to lack some of the immune suppression properties observed in adult MSCs (Almeida-Porada, Zanjani, & Porada, 2010) and lack the human leukocyte antigen (HLA) class II, in contrast to adult MSCs and synthesize HLA-G, which is not present in the adult ones (Gotherstrom et al., 2003). Also, the cytokine profile of the fetal MSCs is different from that of the adult MSCs. So, the fetal MSCs like the ones isolated from the Wharton's jelly and from the UC blood, are primitive MSCs with greater ability to expand in culture due to their youth and naive status. MSCs have been isolated from several compartments of the UC, but our research group has been focused in the MSCs isolated from the Wharton's jelly and in preclinical studies regarding animal models of the application of this cellular system to the regeneration of the PNS after axonotmesis and neurotmesis injuries. Other important experimental work has been performed concerning the regeneration of bone, muscle, and vascular system concerning these MSCs but not referred since it is not included in the scope of this chapter (Shen et al., 2010).

2.2. MSCs from the Wharton jelly of the UC

2.2.1 Validation of transport of the UC from the hospital to the laboratory

The comparatively large volume of extra-embryonic tissues increases the chance of isolating suitable amounts of MSCs, despite the complex and expensive procedures needed for their isolation. Some protocols use enzymatic digestion while others use enzyme-free tissue explant methods that require longer culture time (Gartner et al., 2013). Wharton's jelly is a mature mucous tissue and the main component of the UC, connecting the umbilical vessels to the amniotic epithelium. UC derives from extra-embryonic or embryonic mesoderm; at birth it weighs about 40 g and measures

approximately 30–65 cm in length and 1.5 cm in width (Gartner et al., 2013). Cord blood (CB) and more recently, UCT have been stored cryopreserved in private and public CB and tissue banks worldwide in order to obtain hematopoietic and MSCs and, although guidelines exist (Netcord—Foundation for the Accreditation of Cellular Therapy), standardized procedures for CB and UCT transport from the hospital/clinic to the laboratory, storage, processing, cryopreservation, and thawing are still awaited. These may be critical in order to obtain higher viable stem cells number after thawing and limit microbiological contamination (Cheng et al., 2011).

Our research group focused on determining whether UCT storage and transport from the hospital/clinic to the laboratory at RT or refrigerated (0.5-20 °C) and immersed in several sterile saline solutions affects the UCT integrity in order to be cryopreserved. Twelve UCs (N=12) were collected from healthy donors after written informed consent and following validated procedures according to the clinical and technical guidelines of the Portuguese Private Bank, Biosckin, Molecular and Cell Therapies, SA (authorized for processing and cryopreservation CB and UCT units by the Portuguese Authority Instituto Português de Sangue e Transplantação-IPST, IP). After collection in the hospital/clinic, these UCs were transported to the laboratory during 96 h at refrigerated temperature controlled by a datalloger. From each donor UC (N=12), eight fragments of 1 cm were cut, and each fragment from each different donor was immersed for 168 h in four different sterile saline solutions at RT (22-24 °C) and refrigerated (0.5–20 °C): NaCl 0.9% (Labesfal, Portugal), AOSEPT[®]-PLUS (Ciba Vision, Portugal), Dulbecco's phosphate-buffered saline without calcium, magnesium, and phenol red (DPBS, Gibco, Invitrogen, Portugal) and Hank's balanced salt solution (HBSS, Gibco, Invitrogen, Portugal). Two UCs (N=2) were immersed in 4% of paraformaldehyde and processed for light microscopy, one immediately after birth and other after 96 h at transport refrigerated temperature without being immersed in any of the tested sterile saline solutions. These two UCs served as control. After 168 h, the immersed fragments were collected in 4% of paraformaldehyde and processed for light microscopy. The samples were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 4 h and then washed and conserved in phosphate buffer saline (PBS) until embedding. The specimens were dehydrated and embedded in paraffin and cut at 10 μ m perpendicular to the main UC axis. For light microscope analysis, sections were stained with HE and observed with a Leica DM400 microscope equipped with a Leica DFC320 digital camera. The UCT

integrity was evaluated through the following parameters: (i) detachment of vessels and retraction of vascular structures; (ii) loss of detail and integrity of the endothelium; (iii) connective tissue degradation; and (iv) loss of detail and integrity of the mesothelium. It was concluded that the best transport solutions were HBSS or DPBS at refrigerated temperature, since those solutions maintained the histological structure of UC evaluated through those five parameters previously referred (Fig. 4.2). As a matter of fact, the UC immersed for 168 h in DPBS and HBSS at refrigerated temperature presented integrity of the histological structure comparable to UCs collected and processed for histological analysis immediately after birth and transported for 96 h after collection at refrigerated temperatures of transport. With DPBS, a slight retraction of the vessels was noted, which is advantageous since the vessels are stripped and discarded before cryopreservation of the UCT. It was concluded that the transport of the UC from the hospital/clinic to the cryopreservation laboratory when performed with the UC immersed in DPBS or HBSS at refrigerated temperatures, permits to extend the time of transport more than 96 h, which is the maximal time allowed according to the technical protocols of the Private Cord Blood Bank.

2.2.2 Validation of the isolation protocol of MSCs from the Wharton's jelly

Various methods of isolation have been described to obtain and isolate MSCs from the UC (Can & Karahuseyinoglu, 2007). Frequently, the



Figure 4.2 Cross section of an umbilical cord transported immersed in DPBS at the refrigerated temperature 2 of 4–6 °C. Samples were stained with hematoxylin and eosin (HE). Magnification: $10 \times$.

isolated MSCs although showing the properties and characteristics of MSCs, are probably different cell types. Most of the recently described methods share a common step, which is the manual separation of the tissue of interest within the UC, followed or not by enzymatic digestion of the ECM to release viable individual cells that are able to expand in culture.

Whether obtained through cesarean section or vaginal delivery, it is important to remove contaminating blood from the UC. As it was previously reported; CB itself can be a source of MSCs, but the rate of recovery is generally too low (Almeida-Porada et al., 2007). The blood vessels of the UC are another important source of MSCs (Romanov, Svintsitskaya, & Smirnov, 2003). It has been described in the isolation of MSCs from UC stripped vessels (Sarugaser, Lickorish, Baksh, Hosseini, & Davies, 2005) that these perivascular cells are isolated with collagenase incubation and present the MSCs characteristics like plastic adherence, surface markers expression, and ability to trans-differentiate in the presence of appropriate culture medium components. On the other hand, these perivascular cells express 3G5 (Sarugaser et al., 2005) and CD146 (Baksh, Yao, & Tuan, 2007), these two markers are not present in the MSCs from the Wharton's jelly. Wang and collaborators described the isolation of MSCs from the Wharton's jelly, after removing the UC vessels, by an enzymatic sequence of collagenase and trypsin (Wang et al., 2004). Weiss and collaborators also described an enzymatic method for the isolation of MSCs from the Wharton's jelly. After removing the UC vessels, the cord is cut in segments that are incubated with a cocktail of hyaluronidase, collagenase, and trypsin (Weiss et al., 2006). Other laboratories have been trying with success the isolation of MSCs from the Wharton's jelly without enzymatic treatment like the published work by Mitchell et al. (2003). In this protocol, the cord tissue, after removal of the cord vessels, is cut in small segments that are placed directly in the culture dish (Mitchell et al., 2003).

The isolation and culture of MSCs from the Wharton's jelly was performed by our research group in order to obtain undifferentiated MSCs and *in vitro* differentiated neuroglial-like cells. Both cellular systems were tested *in vivo*, in axonotmesis and neurotmesis injuries of the rat sciatic nerve. The isolation was performed by enzyme-free tissue explant and by enzymatic isolation procedure. Despite our standard approaches, we are aware that there are still significant variations that exist between laboratories' protocols, which must be taken into account when comparing results using other methodologies. There is a wide range of individual differences among donor tissues also and our protocols usually use 15–20 cm of UC. While most UC samples will provide a reasonable number of MSCs using the provided protocols, some samples may result in suboptimal cell isolation and expansion. The reasons behind this phenomenon still remain to be clarified, but as we have previously mentioned, the temperature and the time of transport from the hospital/clinic to the cryopreservation laboratory is crucial. Anyway, there is an important difference, described by Weiss et al., in 2006, between UC blood MSCs and Wharton's jelly MSCs: the latter can be isolated from close to 100% of the samples, even UCs that are delayed in their processing up to 48 hours (Weiss et al., 2006). These results were confirmed by our research group as it is described and discussed above.

Irrespective of the specific protocol, the washing procedure of the UC fragments is crucial in order to avoid microbiological contamination of the cultures. After obtaining the written informed consent from the parents, fresh human UCs are obtained after birth and transported from the hospital/ clinic to the laboratory at refrigerated temperatures, as it was previously described. After washing the UC unit four times in rising sterile DPBS solution, disinfection is performed in 70% ethanol for 30 s. Finally, and before the dissection step, the UC unit is washed once again in sterile DPBS solution. The vessels are usually stripped with UC unit still immersed in DPBS. Once the washing step of the UC was considered essential to achieve good UCT units for cryopreservation and for MSCs isolation and culture, the washing protocol was validated. DPBS from the first washing step (used immediately after the transport of the unit to the laboratory—washing solution 1) and DPBS used in washing step after disinfection in 70% ethanol (washing solution 2) from 14 UC units (N=14) collected from healthy donors and transported from the hospital/clinical at refrigerated temperatures in <96 h, were tested for microbiological contamination using BacT/ALERT® (bio-Mérieux). Each unit was tested for aerobic and anaerobic microorganisms and fungi using 10 ml of the solution 1 and 10 ml of the solution 2, which were aseptically introduced into the BacT/ALERT® testing flasks. All procedures were performed in a laminar flow tissue culture hood under sterile conditions. All the units that presented microbial contamination in DPBS obtained from the first washing step (solution 1) presented no contamination in the analysis performed to DPBS from the last washing step immediately performed before MSCs isolation or UCT cryopreservation (solution 2). The following microorganisms were identified in the DPBS solution from solution 1: Staphylococcus lugdunensis (N=2); Staphylococcus epidermidis (N=1); Staphylococcus coagulase (N=2); Escherichia coli (N=4); Enterococcus faecalis (N=1); and Streptococcus sanguinis (N=1). The DPBS solution from

the first washing step (solution 1) from three UC units was negative for microbial contamination (N=3). These results permitted us to conclude that the washing protocol was 100% efficient in what concerns microbiological elimination (including aerobic and anaerobic bacteria, yeast and fungi) and appropriate for cryopreservation of UCT or for isolation and culture of MSCs obtained from the collected UCs (Cheng et al., 2011).

Once the transport and washing protocols were validated, it was important to isolate and expand *in vitro* the MSCs from the UCT units for future preclinical trials.

In the "enzymatic protocol," collagenase type I (Sigma-Aldrich) and trypsin-EDTA solution (Sigma-Aldrich) were used. With the written informed consent from the mother, fresh human UCs were obtained after birth and transported to the laboratory at refrigerated temperatures (Gibco, Invitrogen, Portugal) for 1-96 h before tissue processing to obtain MSCs. After removal of blood vessels, the Wharton's jelly is scraped off with a scalpel and centrifuged at 250 g for 5 min at RT and the pellet is washed with serum-free Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM, Gibco, Invitrogen, Portugal). Next, the cells are centrifuged at $250 \times g$ for 5 min at RT and then treated with collagenase (2 mg/ml) for 16 h at 37 °C, washed and treated with 2.5% trypsin-EDTA solution (Sigma-Aldrich) for 30 min at 37 °C with gentle agitation. Finally, the cells are washed and cultured in DMEM (Gibco, Invitrogen, Portugal) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS), glucose (4.5 g/l), 1% (w/v) penicillin and streptomycin (Sigma-Aldrich), and 2.5 mg/ml amphotericin B (Sigma-Aldrich) in 5% CO_2 in a 37 °C incubator (Nuaire). Around 2×10^5 cells are plated into each T75 flask in 10 ml culture medium. Cells are allowed to attach and grow for 3 days. To remove the nonadherent cells or fragments, the flasks are gently washed using prewarmed DPBS after which 10 ml of prewarmed culture medium is added. The culture medium is changed every third day (or twice per week). Confluence (80-90%) is normally reached at day 12–16, and the cells are removed with prewarmed trypsin-EDTA solution (4 ml per flask), for 10 min at 37 °C. The cells are plated onto poly-L-lysine-coated glass coverslips (in 6- or 24-well tissue culture plates) (Sigma-Aldrich) or on biomaterials membranes used in the nerve reconstruction. Normally, 5000 cells/cm² are plated on the coverslips or on the membranes (Cheng et al., 2011) (Fig. 4.3).

In our "enzyme-free tissue explant protocol" for isolation of MSCs from the Wharton's jelly, enzymatic digestion is not employed. The mesenchymal tissue (Wharton's jelly) is diced into cubes of about 0.5 cm³ and the



Figure 4.3 MSCs isolated from Wharton's jelly using the "enzymatic protocol" exhibiting a mesenchymal-like shape with a flat polygonal morphology. Magnification: $100 \times$.

remaining vessels are removed by dissection. Using a sterile scalp, the cubes are diced in 1–2 mm fragments and transferred to a Petri dish precoated with poly-L-lysine (Sigma-Aldrich) with mesenchymal stem cell medium (PromoCell, C-28010) supplemented with 1% (w/v) penicillin and strepto-mycin (Sigma-Aldrich), and 2.5 mg/ml amphotericin B (Sigma-Aldrich) and cultured in 5% CO₂ in a 37 °C incubator (Nuaire). Some tissue fragments will allow cell migration from the explants in 3–4 days incubation. Confluence is normally obtained 15–21 days after (Cheng et al., 2011) (Fig. 4.4).

The laboratory's processing and cryopreservation protocols of the UCT units following the technical procedures of Biosckin, Molecular and Cell Therapies S.A. (BSK.LCV.PT.7) were validated for the ability of isolating and expanding *in vitro* MSCs after cryopreserved UCT thawing. The protocols of processing and cryopreservation of the UCT are protected by a Confidentiality Agreement between Biosckin, Molecular and Cell Therapies S.A. and all the involved researchers. Briefly, the UCT collected from healthy donors (N=60), and according to Netcord guidelines and following the Portuguese law 12/2009 (Diário da República, lei 12/2009 de 26 de Março de 2009), was diced into cubes of about 0.5 cm³ and the remaining vessels were removed by dissection. In order to ensure the viability of the UCT after parturition and limit the microbiological contamination of the samples, the UCs were transported from the hospital/clinic to the laboratory at refrigerated temperatures monitored by a datalloger in less than 96 hours. The UCT units from 15 to 20 cm long UCs and after the blood vessels



Figure 4.4 MSCs isolated from Wharton's jelly using the "enzyme-free tissue explant protocol" exhibiting a mesenchymal-like shape with a flat polygonal morphology. The mesenchymal tissue (Wharton's jelly) 1–2 mm fragments transferred to a Petri dish precoated with poly-L-lysine allowed cell migration from the explants in 3–4 days incubation.

dissection were treated and processed for cryopreservation using a cryoprotective solution (freezing medium). The UCT units were transferred to a computer-controlled slow rate freezer (Sylab, Consensus, Portugal) and a nine-step freezing program was used to set up the time, temperature, and rates specifically optimized for the human UC-MSCs cooling. To thaw frozen cells, the cryovials were transferred directly to a 37 °C water bath. Upon thawing in less than a minute, the cell suspension was centrifuged at $250 \times g$ for 10 min, and the supernatant was gently removed and the cell pellet was resuspended in culture medium (Cheng et al., 2011). It was possible to obtain MSCs in culture from 52 out of 60 thawed UCT units. In some UCT cryopreserved units (N=8), it was not possible to isolate MSCs due to increased number of erythrocytes' lysis and/or microbiological contamination during the initial cell culture period. The MSCs morphology was observed in an inverted microscope (Zeiss, Germany) at different points of expansion. The MSCs exhibited a mesenchymal-like shape with a flat and polygonal morphology. The MSCs obtained (N=52) were characterized by flow cytometry (FACSCalibur[®], BD Biosciences) analysis for a comprehensive panel of markers, such as PECAM (CD31), HCAM (CD44), CD45, and Endoglin (CD105). The karyotype of undifferentiated MSCs was determined and no structural alterations were found demonstrating absence of neoplasic characteristics in these cells, as well as chromosomal stability to

the cell culture procedures. In the presence of neurogenic medium, the MSCs were able to become exceedingly long and there was a formation of typical neuroglial-like cells with multibranches and secondary branches. These results permitted to conclude that the processing and cooling protocols used for UCT units' cryopreservation were adequate to preserve the UCT viability since it was possible to isolate and expand MSCs after appropriate thaw and in presence of adequate cell culture conditions (Cheng et al., 2011).

2.2.3 MSCs cells from a cell line and differentiation into neuroglial-like cells

An established and ready-to-use human MSC cell line from the UC matrix (Wharton's jelly) was employed for promoting axonotmesis and neurotmesis lesions regeneration in the rat sciatic nerve model. Human MSCs from Wharton's jelly UC were purchased from PromoCell GmbH (C-12971, lot-number: 8082606.7). Cryopreserved cells were cultured and maintained in a humidified atmosphere with 5% CO₂ at 37 °C. Mesenchymal Stem Cell Medium (PromoCell, C-28010) was replaced every 48 h. At 80-90% confluence, cells were harvested with 0.25% trypsin with EDTA (Gibco) and passed into a new flask for further expansion. MSCs at a concentration of 2500 cells/ml were cultured on poly-D-lysine coverslips (Sigma-Aldrich) or on biomaterials membranes and after 24 h cells exhibited 30-40% confluence. Differentiation into neuroglial-like cells was induced with MSC neurogenic medium (PromoCell, C-28015). Medium was normally replaced every 24 h during 3 days. The formation of neuroglial-like cells was observed after 24 h in an inverted microscope (Zeiss, Germany) (Cheng et al., 2011; Gartner et al., 2012; Gärtner et al., 2012; Shen et al., 2010).

This established human MSC cell line was preferred for *in vivo* testing in rats, since the number of MSCs obtained was higher in a shorter culture time, it was not dependent on donors' availability and ethic committee authorization, and the protocol was much less time-consuming, which was advantageous for preclinical trials with a large number of experimental animals. As a matter of fact, there was no need of administrating immuno-suppressive treatment to the experimental animals during the entire healing period after the surgical procedure. The phenotype of MSCs was assessed by PromoCell. Rigid quality control tests are normally performed for each lot of PromoCell MSCs isolated from Wharton's jelly of UC. MSCs are tested for cell morphology, adherence rate, and viability. Furthermore, each cell lot is characterized by flow cytometry analysis for a comprehensive panel of markers (Gartner et al., 2012).

The MSCs established PromoCell cell line exhibited a mesenchymallike shape with a flat and polygonal morphology. During expansion, the cells became long spindle shaped and colonized the whole culturing surface. After 96 h of culture in neurogenic medium, cells changed in morphology. The cells became exceedingly long and there was a formation of typical neuroglial-like cells with multibranches and secondary branches (Cheng et al., 2011; Gartner et al., 2012; Gärtner et al., 2012). Giemsa-stained cells of in vitro differentiated MSC cell line at passage 5 were analyzed for cytogenetic characterization. The karyotype of undifferentiated MSCs obtained from the UCT cryopreserved and isolated by the enzyme-free tissue explants (N=52) (described in Section 2.2) and from PromoCell was determined and no structural alterations were found demonstrating absence of neoplasic characteristics in the MSCs cells, as well as chromosomal stability to the cell culture procedures (Gartner et al., 2013). The in vitro differentiated MSCs karyotype could not be established, since no dividing cells were obtained at passage 5, which can be in agreement with the degree of differentiation. The karyotype analysis of undifferentiated MSCs previously determined, supported the suitability of our cell culture and differentiation protocols. This concern resulted from previous negative in vivo results obtained with in vitro differentiated N1E-115 cells in axonotmesis and neurotmesis injuries of the rat sciatic nerve (Gartner et al., 2013). The differentiation into neuroglial-like cells of the MSCs from Wharton's jelly was tested based on the expression of typical neuronal markers such as growth-associated protein-43 (GAP-43), glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), and neuronal nuclei (NeuN). Undifferentiated MSCs were negatively labeled GFAP, GAP-43, and NeuN. After 96 hours of differentiation, the attained cells were positively stained for glial protein GFAP and for the growth-associated protein GAP-43. All nuclei of neuroglial-like cells were also labeled with the neuron-specific nuclear protein called NeuN showing that differentiation of MSCs into neuroglial-like cells was successfully achieved for MSCs obtained from UCT cryopreserved (N=52) and for the PromoCell MSC cell line (Gartner et al., 2013).

3. IN VIVO TESTING IN THE RAT SCIATIC NERVE MODEL

3.1. Surgery technique and the importance of a standardized injury

The most frequently used animal model for studying the peripheral nerve regeneration is the rat because of the widespread availability of these animals as well as the distribution of their nerve trunks, which is similar to humans (Mackinnon et al., 1985). The rat sciatic nerve is still by far the most employed experimental model as it also provides a nerve trunk with adequate length and space at the mid-thigh for surgical manipulation and/or introduction of grafts or tube-guides (van Neerven et al., 2012) (Fig. 4.5). And at same time, this experimental model provides a very realistic testing bench for lesions involving plurifascicular mixed nerves with axons of different size and type competing to reach and reinnervate distal targets (Mackinnon et al., 1985). Peripheral nerve injuries are classified in two major groups, which are the crushing injuries (axonotmesis) and the complete nerve section (neurotmesis) with or without loss of nerve tissue (Almeida-Porada et al., 2005; Chaudhry, Glass, & Griffin, 1992; Stoll, Griffin, Li, & Trapp, 1989). The axonotmesis injury is less severe and is often used for studies concerning the physiology mechanisms of regeneration, while the neurotmesis injury is mostly used in surgical strategy and implementation of biomaterials associated with cellular systems studies (Luís, 2008). The choice of an appropriate animal model is fundamental for preclinical experiments and should be performed before the clinical trials and compassive treatments in humans (Maurício et al., 2011). Nowadays, animal welfare is crucial and not negotiable in terms of *in vivo* experiments. Some alternatives to animal experimentation exist, but what concerns cell therapies and regenerative medicine using stem cells and different biomaterials is always the last step of the research line before the clinical application in humans. Our research group has been using the rat sciatic nerve for in vivo experiments of peripheral nerve regeneration (Amado et al., 2010, 2008;



Figure 4.5 Rat sciatic nerve.
Cheng et al., 2011; Gartner et al., 2012; Gärtner et al., 2012; Luis, Rodrigues, Geuna, Amado, Shirosaki, et al., 2008; Luis, Rodrigues, Geuna, Amado, Simoes, et al., 2008; Maurício et al., 2011; Simoes et al., 2010), concerning different therapeutic strategies in axonotmesis (Brohlin et al., 2009) and neurotmesis (Luis et al., 2007) injuries. So, for these *in vivo* testing, Sasco Sprague adult male rats (Charles River Laboratories, Barcelona, Spain) have been used and divided in groups of 6–7 animals each. All procedures had been performed with the approval of the Veterinary Authorities of Portugal, and in accordance with the European Communities Council Directive of 24 November 1986 (86/609/EEC).

The animals placed prone under sterile conditions and the skin from the clipped lateral right thigh scrubbed in a routine fashion with antiseptic solution. Under deep anesthesia (ketamine 9 mg/100 g; xylazine 1.25 mg/100 g, atropine 0.025 mg/100 g body weight, intramuscular), the sciatic nerve is exposed unilaterally through a skin incision extending from the greater trochanter to the mid-thigh followed by a muscle-splitting incision. The standard crush injury (axonotmesis lesion) is performed by a nonserrated clamp (Institute of Industrial Electronic and Material Sciences, University of Technology, Vienna, Austria), exerting a constant force of 54 N for a period of 30 s, 10 mm above the bifurcation into tibial and common peroneal nerves inducing a 3-mm axonotmesis lesion, since the published experimental work from Luis and collaborators in 2007 (Luís et al., 2007) (Fig 4.6A). To test the scaffold (biomaterial associated or not to the cellular system) therapeutic effect in the nerve regeneration after crush, the axonotmesis lesion of 3 mm performed was enwrapped. Figure 4.6B shows the crush injury enwrapped with a PVA tube-guide loaded with CNTs. For the neurotmesis lesion, a transaction injury is usually performed using straight microsurgical scissors and the surgical procedure is performed with the aid of an M-650 operating microscope (Leica Microsystems, Wetzlar, Germany). In both models, the nerve injury is performed at a level as low as possible, in general, immediately above the terminal nerve ramification, considering always individual anatomical differences. The reconstruction of the injured nerve after neurotmesis by an end-to-end suture, implies cooptation with 7/0 monofilament nylon sutures of the two injured nerve endings performed under magnification. In the rats in which tube-guides were used for the neurotmesis injured sciatic nerve, the proximal and distal nerve stumps were inserted 3 mm into the tube-guide and held in place, maintaining a nerve gap of 10 mm, with two epineurial sutures using 7/0 monofilament nylon, respectively (Fig. 4.7A-C). For the



Figure 4.6 The standard crush injury (axonotmesis lesion) is performed by a nonserrated clamp exerting a constant force of 54 N for a period of 30 s, inducing a 3-mm axonotmesis lesion (panel A). Crush injury enwrapped with a PVA tube-guide loaded with CNTs (panel B).



Figure 4.7 In the rats in which a PVA tube-guide was used for the neurotmesis injured sciatic nerve, the proximal (panel A) and distal nerve stumps (panel B) were inserted 3 mm into the tube-guide and held in place, maintaining a nerve gap of 10 mm, with two epineurial sutures using 7/0 monofilament nylon (panel C).

group of animals in which an autologous graft procedure was tested, the sciatic nerve was transected immediately above the terminal nerve ramification and at a 10 mm distal point. The nerve graft obtained, with a length of 10 mm, was inverted at 180° and sutured with 7/0 monofilament nylon. Normally the muscle and skin are closed with 4/0 resorbable sutures. An antibiotic (enrofloxacin, Alsir[®] 2.5%, 5 mg/kg b.w., subcutaneously) is always administered to prevent any infections. To prevent autotomy, a deterrent substance must be applied to the rats' right foot (Sanada et al., 2012; Wood et al., 2012). There was no need of administrating immunosuppressive treatment to the experimental animals during the entire healing period after the surgical procedure.

3.2. Functional assessment

Experiments on peripheral nerve regeneration are often performed on the rat sciatic nerve model (Dellon & Mackinnon, 1989). Research on

peripheral nerve injury needs to combine both functional and morphological assessment. It is not generally agreed which type of evaluation tool is the most useful descriptor of functional recovery; for this reason, the use of different methods for an overall assessment of nerve function has been recommended by several investigators (Morris, Hudson, & Weddell, 1972). In our lab, we perform a variety of independent evaluation tools in order to understand and estimate the potential therapeutic benefit of a nerve repair strategy.

After injury and treatment of animals, follow-up results are very important for analysis of functional recovery. Animals have been tested preoperatively (week 0), and every week during 12 and 20 weeks, for axonotmesis and neurotmesis of the rat sciatic nerve, respectively.

For SFI, animals are usually tested in a confined walkway that they cross, measuring 42 cm long and 8.2 cm wide, with a dark shelter at the end. Several measurements must be taken from the footprints: (i) distance from the heel to the third toe, the print length (PL); (ii) distance from the first to the fifth toe, the toe spread (TS); and (iii) distance from the second to the fourth toe, the intermediary toe spread (ITS). In the SSI, only the parameters TS and ITS, are measured. For SFI and SSI, all measurements are taken from the experimental (E) and normal (N) sides. Prints for measurements are chosen at the time of walking based on preciseness, clarity, and completeness of footprints. The mean distances of three measurements are used to calculate the following factors (dynamic and static):

Toe spread factor (TSF) =
$$\frac{(ETS - NTS)}{NTS}$$
 (4.1)

Intermediate toe spread factor (ITSF) =
$$\frac{(EITS - NITS)}{NITS}$$
 (4.2)

Print length factor (PLF) =
$$\frac{(EPL - NPL)}{NPL}$$
 (4.3)

SFI is calculated as described by Bain et al. (1989) according to the following equation:

$$SFI = \frac{-38.3}{NPL} + \frac{109.5(ETS - NTS)}{NTS} + \frac{13.3(EIT - NIT)}{NIT} - 8.8$$

= (-38.3 × PLF) + (109.5 × TSF) + (13.3 × ITSF) - 8.8 (4.4)

For SFI and SSI, an index score of 0 is considered normal and an index of -100 indicates total impairment. When no footprints are measurable,

the index score of -100 is given. In each walking track, three footprints should be analyzed by a single observer, and the average of the measurements is used in SFI calculations.

Among the large variety of available motor and nociceptive tests, the EPT and the WRL, respectively, have been proven to be reliable, valid and highly efficient methods to determine functional recovery following sciatic nerve injury (Gartner et al., 2013). For EPT test, the affected and normal limbs should be tested at least three times, with an interval of 2 min between consecutive tests, and the three values are averaged to obtain a final result. The normal (unaffected limb) EPT (NEPT) and experimental EPT (EEPT) values are incorporated into an equation (Eq. 4.5) to derive the percentage of functional deficit, as described in the literature (Koka & Hadlock, 2001):

% Motor deficit =
$$\left[\frac{(\text{NEPT} - \text{EEPT})}{\text{NEPT}}\right] \times 100$$
 (4.5)

The nociceptive WRL was adapted from the hotplate test developed by Masters et al. (1993). Normal rats withdraw their paws from the hotplate within 4 s or less. The cutoff time for heat stimulation is set at 12 s to avoid skin damage to the foot.

The restoration of locomotor activity following damage of the nervous system has emerged as one of the most pressing and challenging problem in clinical neuroscience. Many patients with neurological injuries, like peripheral nerve or spinal cord injuries suffer from muscle weakness and loss of independent joint control, often resulting in gait disorders. During the past 10-15 years, exciting work is being carried out on rat gait analysis that may significantly alter the future of peripheral nerve research (Costa, Simoes, Mauricio, & Varejao, 2009). Indeed, the use of biomechanical parameters has given valuable insight into the effects of the sciatic denervation/ reinnervation, and thus represents an integration of the neural control acting on the ankle and foot muscles, which is very useful and accurate to evaluate different therapeutic approaches (Varejao, Cabrita, Geuna, et al., 2003; Varejao, Cabrita, Meek, et al., 2003; Varejao, Melo-Pinto, Meek, Filipe, & Bulas-Cruz, 2004). It is important to realize that the number of kinematic variables (positions, velocities, and accelerations) required to describe one-step cycle is very high. Therefore, it is only through high-speed digital cameras that we can achieve a full kinematic description during gait (Costa et al., 2009).

Ankle kinematics analysis has been carried out prior nerve injury, at week 2 and every 4 weeks during the 12 or the 20-week follow-up time,

for axonotmesis and neurotmesis lesions, respectively. The motion capture is performed with two digital high speed cameras (Oqus, Qualysis[®]) at a rate of 200 images per second, and Qualysis Track Manager software (QTM, Qualysis[®]). The cameras operate on an infra-red light frequency ensuring a high level of accuracy on the determination of reflective marker position and a position residual of less than 2.7 mm was obtained. Cameras are usually positioned to not recorder significant signal deflection during the test and three reflective markers are placed at the skin of the rat right hindlimb at the proximal edge of the tibia, the lateral malleolus and the fifth metatarsal head. Advanced analysis of the 2D movement (sagittal plan) data is usually performed with Visual3D software (C-Motion[®], Inc.). The rats' ankle angle is determined using the scalar product between a vector representing the foot and a vector representing the lower leg. With this model, positive and negative values of position of the ankle joint (Θ°) indicate dorsiflexion and plantarflexion, respectively. For each step cycle, the following time points are identified: midswing, midstance, initial contact (IC) and toe-off (TO) (Gartner et al., 2013) and are time normalized for 100% of step cycle. The normalized temporal parameters are averaged over all recorded trials. Angular velocity of the ankle joint (Ω° /s) is also determined where negative values correspond to dorsiflexion. A total of at least six walking trials for each animal with stance phases lasting between 150 and 400 ms are considered for analysis, since this corresponds to the normal walking velocity of the rat (20-60 cm/s) (Gartner et al., 2013). The motion capture is performed when the animals walk on a Perspex track with length, width, and height of respectively 120, 12, and 15 cm. In order to ensure locomotion in a straight direction, the width of the apparatus is adjusted to the size of the rats during the experiments and the rats are daily trained for 2 weeks before the surgery, in order to walk on the Perspex corridor.

Individual joint kinematics either in control or nerve-injured animals is characterized by high variability, with notable differences between different animals and even from step to step (Jacobson & Guth, 1965). Such high level of variability, which seems to be an intrinsic property of normal quadruped walking, seriously affects the precision of joint kinematic measures of functional recovery after nerve injury. Reducing this variability is a challenge for efficient use of walking analysis to assess functional recovery. Attempts to overcome this limitation include constraining walking velocity by using treadmill walking instead of self-paced locomotion (Gartner et al., 2013). This, of course, is likely to reduce step-by-step variability in joint kinematics but has the disadvantage of requiring expensive equipment and limits the possibility of combining kinematic analysis with other data, such as ground reaction forces. Other possibilities look at a global, limb-level movement analysis as an alternative to individual joints kinematics (Jacobson & Guth, 1965; Pereira et al., 2013). To better assess hindlimb joint kinematics during walking, we recently analyzed hip, knee, and ankle joint kinematics during recovery of less severe sciatic nerve crush injury, using a more sophisticated motion capture system to track the motion of reflective markers attached to the rat hindlimb (unpublished data). Recently a segmental kinematic analysis using both planar angles computation and a tridimensional (3D) reconstruction of the rat hindlimb was also performed, regarding the morphology and the movement of each segment. Seven rats without any peripheral injury were evaluated for natural overground walking, and motion capture of the right hindlimb was collected with an optoelectronic system while the animals walked in the track. 3D biomechanical analyses were carried out and hip, knee, ankle, and metatarsophalangeal joint angular displacements were calculated. A comparison between planar and 3D segmental kinematic analysis using a tridimensional reconstruction of the rat hindlimb demonstrated that different joints have different motion patterns within motion planes, probably related with physiological constraints and muscle actions. A major indication of the need for an anatomical reference frame kinematic analysis is supported by the knowledge that neuromuscular diseases are related to important clinical signs or motor deficits that should be observed, qualified, and quantified (Harley et al., 2006). On the other hand, systematic changes in the biomechanical and movement control constraints of the locomotor task, such as using up- and down-slope walking might also increase the accuracy of walking analysis within the context of peripheral nerve research (Pereira et al., 2013). Walking analysis is a promising method to assess functional recovery after hindlimb nerve injury. However, in order to provide accurate measures of functional recovery, walking analysis after hindlimb peripheral nerve injury will have to evolve from simply analyzing ankle kinematics to reach a full biomechanical description of hindlimb motion including analysis of hip, knee, and ankle joints. Further refinements of walking analysis in the field of peripheral nerve research using the rat model will probably include the combined use of joint kinematics, ground reaction forces, and electromyographical data of muscle activity (Harley et al., 2006; Maurício et al., 2011).

3.3. Morphologic assessment

It has been recently pointed out that morphological analysis is the far most common method for the study of peripheral nerve regeneration (Raimondo et al., 2009). Actually, the investigation of nerve morphology can give us important information on various aspects of the regeneration processes which relates with nerve function (Geuna et al., 2009). Although different types of fixatives can be used for peripheral nerve histology, the nerve samples are fixed in a solution of 2.5% purified glutaraldehyde (Histo-line Laboratories S.R.L., Milano, Italy) and 0.5% saccarose (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany) in 0.1 M Sörensen phosphate buffer, pH 7.4, for 6-8 h. Nerves are then washed and stored in 0.1 M Sörensen phosphate buffer added with 1.5% saccarose at 4-6 °C prior to embedding. Sörensen phosphate buffer is made with 56 g di-potassium hydrogen phosphate 3-hydrate (K₂HPO₄-3H₂O) (Fluka, Buchs, Switzerland) and 10.6 g sodium di-hydrogen phosphate 1-hydrate (NaH₂PO₄-H₂O) (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany) in 1 liter of doubly-distilled water. Just before the embedding, nerves are washed for few minutes in the storage solution and then immersed for 2 h in 2% osmium tetroxide (Sigma, St. Louis, MO) in the same buffer solution. The specimens are then carefully dehydrated in passages in ethanol and embedded in Glauerts' mixture of resins, which is made of equal parts of Araldite M and the Araldite Härter, HY 964 (Merck, Darmstad, Germany). At the resin mixture, 2% of accelerator 964, DY 064 is added (Merck, Darmstad, Germany). Finally, the plasticizer (0.5% of dibutylphthalate) is added to the resin. In Stefano Geuna laboratory (Department of Clinical and Biological Sciences, University of Turin, Italy), histomorphometry (stereology) is carried out on toludine-blue-stained semi-thin sections (2.5 micronthick) of nerve samples using a DM4000B microscope equipped with a DFC320 digital camera and an IM50 image manager system (Leica Microsystems, Wetzlar, Germany). We adopt a final magnification of $6600 \times$ in order to enable accurate identification of myelinated nerve fibers. A 2D-disector method, (Raimondo et al., 2009) is finally used for estimating the total number of myelinated fibers (N), the mean diameter of fiber (D)and axon (d) as well as mean [(D-d)/2] and g-ratio (D/d).

4. DISCUSSION AND FINAL REMARKS

Despite great progress in the fields of tissue engineering and stem cell therapy, translational and preclinical studies are required to accelerate the clinical application of scaffolds as an alternative to autologous nerve grafts for peripheral nerve repair. The PNS is able to regenerate after traumatic injury, but most frequently, the functional outcomes following damage are limited and poor. Nowadays, most tissue-engineered nerve grafts are composed of a neural scaffold prepared with a variety of synthetic or natural biomaterials through well-defined fabrication techniques. Introduction of support cells, an important biochemical cue, represents an optimal way for constructing tissue-engineered nerve grafts with enhanced ability to repair extended peripheral nerve defects. MSCs are multipotent cells that have been used in studies of peripheral nerve regeneration and have yielded promising results. The aim of our research group for the past 10 years has been exploring the therapeutic value of human UC Wharton's jelly-derived MSCs both in vitro and in vivo, associated to several tube-guides of natural or absorbable synthetic biomaterials on a rat sciatic nerve axonotmesis experimental model. Undifferentiated MSCs from human UC Wharton's jelly have been expanded and have exhibited a normal star-like shape with a flat morphology in culture. To prevent the possibility of eventual mutations due to expansion artifacts, Giemsa-stained metaphases of these cells were analyzed for numerical aberrations. The karyotype was determined in a completely analyzed G-banding metaphase and no structural alterations were found. The karyotype analysis to the MSCs cell line derived from human Wharton jelly demonstrated that this cell line has not neoplasic characteristics and was stable during the cell culture procedures in terms of number and structure of the somatic and sexual chromosomes (Gartner et al., 2012). The MSCs from Wharton's Jelly were differentiated into neuroglial-like cells in the presence of neurogenic culture medium during 96 h. The MSCs became exceedingly long and there was a formation of typical neuroglial-like cells with multibranches and secondary branches. The differentiation was also tested based on the expression of typical neuronal markers such as GFAP, GAP-43, and NeuN by neural-like cells attained from HwMSCs. Undifferentiated MSCs were negatively labeled to GFAP, GAP-43, and NeuN and after 96 h of differentiation the attained cells were positively stained for glial protein GFAP and for the growthassociated protein GAP-43. All nucleus of neuroglial-like cells were also labeled with the neuron-specific nuclear protein called NeuN showing that differentiation was successfully achieved (Gartner et al., 2012). The in vitro expansion and differentiation of MSCs for clinical cell-based therapy is a very expensive and long process that needs standardization. Although preclinical and clinical data demonstrated the safety and effectiveness of MSCs therapy in some pathologies such as neurological, there are still questions surrounding the mechanism of action. MSCs' maintenance and differentiation to neuroglial-like cells depends on metabolic modulation. In vitro, glucose is the most widely used substrate for the generation of ATP, which is

essential for cell growth and maintenance. It has been proposed that cells undergoing high proliferation rates depend on glycolysis to generate ATP, known as the Warburg effect (Gartner et al., 2012, 2013). Our results showed that during expansion, the undifferentiated MSCs consume glucose and produce high concentration of lactate as a metabolic sub product, which is consistent with the Warburg effect and glycolysis stimulation. MSCs do not require oxidative phosphorylation to survive as alternative, hypoxia extends the lifespan, increases their proliferative ability, and reduces differentiation (Gartner et al., 2012, 2013). We recently in vivo tested using the rat model, the efficacy of several natural and synthetic biomaterials associated with cellular systems including the MSCs isolated from the UC Wharton's jelly in the treatment of sciatic nerve axonotmesis and neurotmesis injuries (Amado et al., 2008; Gartner et al., 2012; Maurício et al., 2011). Following transection, axons show staggered regeneration and may take substantial time to cross the injured site and enter the distal nerve stump (Gartner et al., 2012, 2013). However, delayed axonal elongation might be caused by growth inhibition originated from the distal nerve itself, growthstimulating influences may overcome axons stagger. As a potential source of growth-promoting signals, MSCs transplantation is expected to give a positive outcome. Our results showed that the use of either undifferentiated or differentiated MSCs in axonotmesis and neurotmesis lesions boosted the recovery of sensory and motor function. In both cell-enriched experimental groups, we observed that the myelin sheath was thicker; this suggests that MSCs might apply their positive effects on SCs, the key element in Wallerian degeneration and the following axonal regeneration (Gartner et al., 2012, 2013). Also results from *in vivo* testing previously performed showed that infiltration of MSCs from the Wharton's jelly or the combination of chitosan type III membrane enwrapment and MSCs enrichment after nerve crush injury provide an advantage to post-traumatic nerve regeneration (Amado et al., 2008; Costa et al., 2009; Gartner et al., 2012; Maurício et al., 2011). Chitosan type III was developed as a hybrid of chitosan by adding GPTMS. A synergistic effect of an extra permeability and physicochemical properties of chitosan type III and the presence of silica ions may be responsible for the good results in post-traumatic nerve regeneration promotion observed in the sciatic nerve after axonotmesis and neurotmesis suggesting that this biomaterial may not just work as a simple mechanical device but instead may induce nerve regeneration (Amado et al., 2008; Simoes et al., 2010). The neuroregenerative properties of chitosan type III may be explained by the effect on SCs proliferation, axon elongation,

and myelinization (Amado et al., 2008; Gärtner et al., 2012; Simoes et al., 2010). Our data also showed that PLC does not deleteriously interfere with the nerve regeneration process, as a matter of fact, the information on the effectiveness of PLC membranes and tube-guides for allowing nerve regeneration was already provided experimentally and with patients (Maurício et al., 2011). The MSCs from the Wharton's jelly may be a valuable source in the repair of the PNS with capacity to differentiate into neuroglial-like cells. The transplanted MSCs are also able to promote local blood vessel formation and release the neurotrophic factors brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) (Gartner et al., 2012; Gärtner et al., 2012). Previous results obtained by our research group using N1E-115 cells in vitro differentiated into neuroglial-like cells to promote regeneration of axonotmesis and neurotmesis lesions in the rat model showed that there was no significant effect in promoting axon regeneration and, when N1E-115 cells were cultured inside a PLGA scaffold used to bridge a nerve defect, they can even exert negative effects on nerve fiber regeneration. The presence of transplanted N1E-115 cells in nerve scaffolds competing for the local blood supply of nutrients and oxygen and by space-occupying effect could have hindered the positive effect of local neurotrophic factor release leading a negative outcome on nerve regeneration. Thus, N1E-115 cells did not prove to be a suitable candidate cellular system for treatment of nerve injury after axonotmesis and neurotmesis and their application is limited only to research purposes as a basic scientific step for the development of other cell delivery systems, due to its neoplasic origin (Amado et al., 2010, 2008; Luis, Rodrigues, Geuna, Amado, Shirosaki, et al., 2008; Luis, Rodrigues, Geuna, Amado, Simoes, et al., 2008; Simoes et al., 2010). The MSCs isolated from the Wharton's jelly and delivered through PLC and chitosan type III membranes might be a potentially valuable tool to improve clinical outcome especially after trauma to sensory nerves, such as digital nerves. Results demonstrated that the use of either undifferentiated or neuroglial-like differentiated MSCs enhanced the recovery of sensory and motor function of the rat sciatic nerve in axonotmesis and neurotmesis injuries (Gartner et al., 2012; Gärtner et al., 2012). The myelin sheath was thicker in the regenerated nerves, suggesting that MSCs might exert their positive effects on SCs, the key element in Wallerian degeneration and the following axonal regeneration (Gartner et al., 2013). Many researchers believe that the implanted MSCs exert neurotrophic functions by producing an array of soluble factors or via a direct cell-to-cell contact rather than replacement of damaged nerve

tissues and cells. We have been using undifferentiated MSCs with positive results concerning the functional and morphologic recovery of the nerve after axonotmesis and neurotmesis injuries, in an attempt to diminish the possible adverse effects related to an in vitro induced differentiation of the MSCs. Moreover, direct use of MSCs without additional treatments is more favorable to clinical applications owing to simplify the treatments, which implies a less financial burden. In addition, the MSCs isolate from the Wharton's jelly represent a noncontroversial source of primitive mesenchymal progenitor cells that can be harvested after birth, cryogenically stored, thawed, and expanded for therapeutic uses, including nerve injuries like axonotmesis and neurotmesis. The time and temperature of the transport (and the saline solution used for that transport) of the UC units from the hospital/clinic to the laboratory is crucial for a successful outcome considering MSCs isolation and proliferation from fresh and cryopreserved tissue. It is highly recommended that the transport from the clinic to the hospital should be refrigerated, and the UC units should be immediately immersed in a sterile saline solution like HBSS or DPBS.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to acknowledge the financial support from FEDER funds through the program COMPETE—Programa Operacional Factores de Competitividade—under the project PEst-C/EME/UI0285/2011, as well as to the project I&DT BIOMAT&CELL n. 1372.

REFERENCES

- Almeida-Porada, G. D. (2010). Stem cell gene manipulation and delivery as systemic therapeutics. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 62(12), 1139–1140. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.addr.2010.10.005.
- Almeida-Porada, G., Crapnell, K., Porada, C., Benoit, B., Nakauchi, H., Quesenberry, P., et al. (2005). In vivo haematopoietic potential of human neural stem cells. *British Journal* of Haematology, 130(2), 276–283. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2141.2005.05588.x.
- Almeida-Porada, G., Porada, C., Gupta, N., Torabi, A., Thain, D., & Zanjani, E. D. (2007). The human–sheep chimeras as a model for human stem cell mobilization and evaluation of hematopoietic grafts' potential. *Experimental Hematology*, 35(10), 1594–1600. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.exphem.2007.07.009.
- Almeida-Porada, G., Zanjani, E. D., & Porada, C. D. (2010). Bone marrow stem cells and liver regeneration. *Experimental Hematology*, 38(7), 574–580. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.exphem.2010.04.007.
- Amado, S., Rodrigues, J. M., Luis, A. L., Armada-da-Silva, P. A., Vieira, M., Gartner, A., et al. (2010). Effects of collagen membranes enriched with in vitro-differentiated N1E-115 cells on rat sciatic nerve regeneration after end-to-end repair. *Journal of Neuroengineering and Rehabilitation*, 7, 7. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1743-0003-7-7.
- Amado, S., Simoes, M. J., Armada da Silva, P. A., Luis, A. L., Shirosaki, Y., Lopes, M. A., et al. (2008). Use of hybrid chitosan membranes and N1E-115 cells for promoting nerve

regeneration in an axonotmesis rat model. *Biomaterials*, 29(33), 4409–4419. http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2008.07.043.

- Amano, T., Richelson, E., & Nirenberg, M. (1972). Neurotransmitter synthesis by neuroblastoma clones (neuroblast differentiation-cell culture-choline acetyltransferaseacetylcholinesterase-tyrosine hydroxylase-axons-dendrites). Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 69(1), 258–263.
- Bain, J. R., Mackinnon, S. E., & Hunter, D. A. (1989). Functional evaluation of complete sciatic, peroneal, and posterior tibial nerve lesions in the rat. *Plast Reconstr Surg*, 83(1), 129–138. Epub 1989/01/01.
- Baksh, D., Yao, R., & Tuan, R. S. (2007). Comparison of proliferative and multilineage differentiation potential of human mesenchymal stem cells derived from umbilical cord and bone marrow. *Stem Cells*, 25(6), 1384–1392. http://dx.doi.org/10.1634/ stemcells.2006-0709.
- Battiston, B., Geuna, S., Ferrero, M., & Tos, P. (2005). Nerve repair by means of tubulization: literature review and personal clinical experience comparing biological and synthetic conduits for sensory nerve repair. *Microsurgery*, 25(4), 258–267. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1002/micr.20127.
- Brohlin, M., Mahay, D., Novikov, L. N., Terenghi, G., Wiberg, M., Shawcross, S. G., et al. (2009). Characterisation of human mesenchymal stem cells following differentiation into Schwann cell-like cells. *Neuroscience Research*, 64(1), 41–49. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.neures.2009.01.010.
- Can, A., & Karahuseyinoglu, S. (2007). Concise review: Human umbilical cord stroma with regard to the source of fetus-derived stem cells. *Stem Cells*, 25(11), 2886–2895. http://dx. doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2007-0417.
- Chang, Y. H., Auyang, A. G., Scholz, J. P., & Nichols, T. R. (2009). Whole limb kinematics are preferentially conserved over individual joint kinematics after peripheral nerve injury. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 212(Pt 21), 3511–3521. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1242/jeb.033886.
- Chaudhry, V., Glass, J. D., & Griffin, J. W. (1992). Wallerian degeneration in peripheral nerve disease. *Neurologic Clinics*, 10(3), 613–627.
- Chen, C.-J., Ou, Y.-C., Liao, S.-L., Chen, W.-Y., Chen, S.-Y., Wu, C.-W., et al. (2007). Transplantation of bone marrow stromal cells for peripheral nerve repair. *Experimental Neurology*, 204(1), 443–453. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2006.12.004.
- Cheng, L. N., Duan, X. H., Zhong, X. M., Guo, R. M., Zhang, F., Zhou, C. P., et al. (2011). Transplanted neural stem cells promote nerve regeneration in acute peripheral nerve traction injury: assessment using MRI. AJR. American Journal of Roentgenology, 196(6), 1381–1387. http://dx.doi.org/10.2214/ajr.10.5495.
- Costa, L. M., Simoes, M. J., Mauricio, A. C., & Varejao, A. S. (2009). Methods and protocols in peripheral nerve regeneration experimental research: Part IV. Kinematic gait analysis to quantify peripheral nerve regeneration in the rat. *International Review of Neurobiology*, 87, 127–139. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/s0074-7742(09)87007-4, Chapter 7.
- da Silva, C. L., Goncalves, R., Porada, C. D., Ascensao, J. L., Zanjani, E. D., Cabral, J. M., et al. (2009). Differences amid bone marrow and cord blood hematopoietic stem/progenitor cell division kinetics. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 220(1), 102–111. http://dx. doi.org/10.1002/jcp.21736.
- Dahlin, L., Johansson, F., Lindwall, C., & Kanje, M. (2009). Future perspective in peripheral nerve reconstruction. *International Review of Neurobiology*, 87, 507–530. http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/s0074-7742(09)87028-1, Chapter 28.
- Dellon, A. L., & Mackinnon, S. E. (1989). Selection of the appropriate parameter to measure neural regeneration. *Annals of Plastic Surgery*, 23(3), 197–202.
- Dominici, M., Le Blanc, K., Mueller, I., Slaper-Cortenbach, I., Marini, F., Krause, D., et al. (2006). Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The

International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. *Cytotherapy*, 8(4), 315–317. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/14653240600855905.

- Evans, G. R. (2001). Peripheral nerve injury: A review and approach to tissue engineered constructs. Anatomical Record, 263(4), 396–404.
- Galotto, M., Berisso, G., Delfino, L., Podesta, M., Ottaggio, L., Dallorso, S., et al. (1999). Stromal damage as consequence of high-dose chemo/radiotherapy in bone marrow transplant recipients. *Experimental Hematology*, 27(9), 1460–1466.
- Gartner, A., Pereira, T., Armada-da-Silva, P. A., Amorim, I., Gomes, R., Ribeiro, J., et al. (2012). Use of poly(DL-lactide–epislon-caprolactone) membranes and mesenchymal stem cells from the Wharton's jelly of the umbilical cord for promoting nerve regeneration in axonotmesis: In vitro and in vivo analysis. *Differentiation*, 84(5), 355–365. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.diff.2012.10.001.
- Gartner, A., Pereira, T., Gomes, R., Armada-Da-Silva, P., França, M., Geuna, S., et al. (2013). Mesenchymal stem cells from extra-embryonic tissues for tissue engineering – Regeneration of the peripheral nerve. In R. Pignatello (Ed.), Advances in biomaterials science and applications in biomedicine. InTech.
- Gärtner, A., Pereira, T., Simões, M. J., Armada-da-Silva, P. A. S., Franja, M. L., Sousa, R., et al. (2012). Use of hybrid chitosan membranes and human mesenchymal stem cells from the Wharton jelly of umbilical cord for promoting nerve regeneration in an axonotmesis rat model. *Neural Regeneration Research7*. http://dx.doi.org/10.3969/j.
- Geuna, S., Raimondo, S., Ronchi, G., Di Scipio, F., Tos, P., Czaja, K., et al. (2009). Histology of the peripheral nerve and changes occurring during nerve regeneration. *International Review of Neurobiology*, 87, 27–46. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/s0074-7742(09) 87003-7, Chapter 3.
- Gotherstrom, C., Ringden, O., Westgren, M., Tammik, C., & Le Blanc, K. (2003). Immunomodulatory effects of human foetal liver-derived mesenchymal stem cells. *Bone Marrow Transplantation*, 32(3), 265–272. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/sj.bmt.1704111.
- Gu, X., Ding, F., Yang, Y., & Liu, J. (2011). Construction of tissue engineered nerve grafts and their application in peripheral nerve regeneration. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 93(2), 204–230. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2010.11.002.
- Guillot, P. V., Gotherstrom, C., Chan, J., Kurata, H., & Fisk, N. M. (2007). Human first-trimester fetal MSC express pluripotency markers and grow faster and have longer telomeres than adult MSC. *Stem Cells*, 25(3), 646–654. http://dx.doi.org/10.1634/ stemcells.2006-0208.
- Harley, B. A., Hastings, A. Z., Yannas, I. V., & Sannino, A. (2006). Fabricating tubular scaffolds with a radial pore size gradient by a spinning technique. *Biomaterials*, 27(6), 866–874. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2005.07.012.
- Hatlapatka, T., Moretti, P., Lavrentieva, A., Hass, R., Marquardt, N., Jacobs, R., et al. (2011). Optimization of culture conditions for the expansion of umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem or stromal cell-like cells using xeno-free culture conditions. *Tissue Engineering. Part C, Methods*, 17(4), 485–493. http://dx.doi.org/10.1089/ten. tec.2010.0406.
- Hermann, A., Gastl, R., Liebau, S., Popa, M. O., Fiedler, J., Boehm, B. O., et al. (2004). Efficient generation of neural stem cell-like cells from adult human bone marrow stromal cells. *Journal of Cell Science*, 117(Pt 19), 4411–4422. http://dx.doi.org/10.1242/ jcs.01307.
- Jacobson, S., & Guth, L. (1965). An electrophysiological study of the early stages of peripheral nerve regeneration. *Experimental Neurology*, 11, 48–60.
- Jiang, X., Lim, S. H., Mao, H. Q., & Chew, S. Y. (2010). Current applications and future perspectives of artificial nerve conduits. *Experimental Neurology*, 223(1), 86–101. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2009.09.009.

- Joao, F., Amado, S., Veloso, A., Armada-da-Silva, P., & Mauricio, A. C. (2010). Anatomical reference frame versus planar analysis: Implications for the kinematics of the rat hindlimb during locomotion. *Reviews in the Neurosciences*, 21(6), 469–485.
- Jones, E., & McGonagle, D. (2008). Human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells in vivo. *Rheumatology (Oxford, England)*, 47(2), 126–131. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/rheumatology/kem206.
- Kerns, J. M., Braverman, B., Mathew, A., Lucchinetti, C., & Ivankovich, A. D. (1991). A comparison of cryoprobe and crush lesions in the rat sciatic nerve. *Pain*, 47(1), 31–39.
- Koka, R., & Hadlock, T. A. (2001). Quantification of functional recovery following rat sciatic nerve transection. *Experimental Neurology*, 168(1), 192–195.
- Luís, A. L. (2008). Reparação de lesões do nervo periférico num modelo animal. Ph.D. thesis, Univercidade do Porto, Porto.
- Luís, A. L., Amado, S., Geuna, S., Rodrigues, J. M., Simões, M. J., Santos, J. D., et al. (2007). Long-term functional and morphological assessment of a standardized rat sciatic nerve crush injury with a non-serrated clamp. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, 163(1), 92–104. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2007.02.017.
- Luis, A. L., Rodrigues, J. M., Amado, S., Veloso, A. P., Armada-Da-Silva, P. A., Raimondo, S., et al. (2007). PLGA 90/10 and caprolactone biodegradable nerve guides for the reconstruction of the rat sciatic nerve. *Microsurgery*, 27(2), 125–137. http://dx.doi. org/10.1002/micr.20317.
- Luis, A. L., Rodrigues, J. M., Geuna, S., Amado, S., Shirosaki, Y., Lee, J. M., et al. (2008). Use of PLGA 90:10 scaffolds enriched with in vitro-differentiated neural cells for repairing rat sciatic nerve defects. *Tissue Engineering. Part A*, 14(6), 979–993. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1089/ten.tea.2007.0273.
- Luis, A. L., Rodrigues, J. M., Geuna, S., Amado, S., Simoes, M. J., Fregnan, F., et al. (2008). Neural cell transplantation effects on sciatic nerve regeneration after a standardized crush injury in the rat. *Microsurgery*, 28(6), 458–470. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/micr.20524.
- Luria, E. A., Panasyuk, A. F., & Friedenstein, A. Y. (1971). Fibroblast colony formation from monolayer cultures of blood cells. *Transfusion*, 11(6), 345–349.
- Mackinnon, S. E., Hudson, A. R., & Hunter, D. A. (1985). Histologic assessment of nerve regeneration in the rat. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery*, 75(3), 384–388.
- Masters, D. B., Berde, C. B., Dutta, S. K., Griggs, C. T., Hu, D., Kupsky, W., et al. (1993). Prolonged regional nerve blockade by controlled release of local anesthetic from a biodegradable polymer matrix. *Anesthesiology*, 79(2), 340–346. Epub 1993/08/01.
- Matsuyama, T., Mackay, M., & Midha, R. (2000). Peripheral nerve repair and grafting techniques: A review. *Neurologia Medico-Chirurgica*, 40(4), 187–199. (Review).
- Maurício, A. C., Gärtner, A., Armada-da-Silva, P., Amado, S., Pereira, T., Veloso, A. P., et al. (2011). *Cellular Systems and Biomaterials for Nerve Regeneration in Neurotmesis Injuries*. InTech.
- Meek, M. F., & Coert, J. H. (2002). Clinical use of nerve conduits in peripheral-nerve repair: Review of the literature. *Journal of Reconstructive Microsurgery*, 18(2), 97–109. http://dx. doi.org/10.1055/s-2002-19889.
- Mitchell, K. E., Weiss, M. L., Mitchell, B. M., Martin, P., Davis, D., Morales, L., et al. (2003). Matrix cells from Wharton's jelly form neurons and glia. *Stem Cells*, 21(1), 50–60. http://dx.doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.21–1-50.
- Morris, J. H., Hudson, A. R., & Weddell, G. (1972). A study of degeneration and regeneration in the divided rat sciatic nerve based on electron microscopy. IV. Changes in fascicular microtopography, perineurium and endoneurial fibroblasts. Zeitschrift für Zellforschung und Mikroskopische Anatomie, 124(2), 165–203.
- Nichols, C. M., Myckatyn, T. M., Rickman, S. R., Fox, I. K., Hadlock, T., & Mackinnon, S. E. (2005). Choosing the correct functional assay: A comprehensive

assessment of functional tests in the rat. Behavioural Brain Research, 163(2), 143–158. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2005.05.003.

- Park, J., Ruckenstein, E. (2001). On the viscoelastic properties of poly(vinyl alcohol) and chemically crosslinked poly(vinyl alcohol). *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, 82(7).
- Pereira, J. E., Cabrita, A. M., Filipe, V. M., Bulas-Cruz, J., Couto, P. A., Melo-Pinto, P., et al. (2006). A comparison analysis of hindlimb kinematics during overground and treadmill locomotion in rats. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 172(2), 212–218. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.bbr.2006.04.027.
- Pereira, T., Gartner, A., Amorim, I., Armada-Da-Silva, P., Gomes, R., Pereira, C., et al. (2013). Biomaterials and stem cells therapies for injuries associated to skeletal muscular tissues. In R. Pignatello (Ed.), Advances in biomaterials science and applications in biomedicine. InTech.
- Porada, C. D., & Almeida-Porada, G. (2012). Treatment of hemophilia a in utero and postnatally using sheep as a model for cell and gene delivery. *Journal of Genetic Syndromes & Gene Therapy*, S1. http://dx.doi.org/10.4172/2157-7412.s1-011.
- Porada, C. D., Sanada, C., Kuo, C. J., Colletti, E., Mandeville, W., Hasenau, J., et al. (2011). Phenotypic correction of hemophilia A in sheep by postnatal intraperitoneal transplantation of FVIII-expressing MSC. *Experimental Hematology*, 39(12), 1124–1135. http://dx. doi.org/10.1016/j.exphem.2011.09.001, e1125.
- Porada, C. D., Sanada, C., Long, C. R., Wood, J. A., Desai, J., Frederick, N., et al. (2010). Clinical and molecular characterization of a re-established line of sheep exhibiting hemophilia A. *Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, 8(2), 276–285. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2009.03697.x.
- Raimondo, S., Fornaro, M., Di Scipio, F., Ronchi, G., Giacobini-Robecchi, M. G., & Geuna, S. (2009). Methods and protocols in peripheral nerve regeneration experimental research: Part II. Morphological techniques. *International Review of Neurobiology*, 87, 81–103. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/s0074-7742(09)87005-0, Chapter 5.
- Rodrigues, J. M., Luis, A. L., Lobato, J. V., Pinto, M. V., Faustino, A., Hussain, N. S., et al. (2005). Intracellular Ca2+ concentration in the N1E-115 neuronal cell line and its use for peripheric nerve regeneration. *Acta Médica Portuguesa*, 18(5), 323–328.
- Romanov, Y. A., Svintsitskaya, V. A., & Smirnov, V. N. (2003). Searching for alternative sources of postnatal human mesenchymal stem cells: Candidate MSC-like cells from umbilical cord. *Stem Cells*, 21(1), 105–110. http://dx.doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.21-1-105.
- Sabatier, M. J., To, B. N., Nicolini, J., & English, A. W. (2011). Effect of axon misdirection on recovery of electromyographic activity and kinematics after peripheral nerve injury. *Cells, Tissues, Organs, 193*(5), 298–309. http://dx.doi.org/10.1159/000323677.
- Sanada, C., Kuo, C.-J., Colletti, E. J., Soland, M., Mokhatari, S., Knovich, M. A., et al. (2012). Mesenchymal stem cells contribute to endogenous FVIIIc production. *Journal* of Cellular Physiology, http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jcp.24247.
- Sarugaser, R., Lickorish, D., Baksh, D., Hosseini, M. M., & Davies, J. E. (2005). Human umbilical cord perivascular (HUCPV) cells: A source of mesenchymal progenitors. *Stem Cells*, 23(2), 220–229. http://dx.doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2004-0166.
- Schmidt, C. E., & Leach, J. B. (2003). Neural tissue engineering: Strategies for repair and regeneration. Annual Review of Biomedical Engineering, 5, 293–347. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1146/annurev.bioeng.5.011303.120731.
- Secco, M., Zucconi, E., Vieira, N. M., Fogaca, L. L., Cerqueira, A., Carvalho, M. D., et al. (2008). Mesenchymal stem cells from umbilical cord: Do not discard the cord!. *Neuromuscular Disorders*, 18(1), 17–18. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nmd.2007.11.003.
- Seckel, B. R. (1990). Enhancement of peripheral nerve regeneration. Muscle & Nerve, 13(9), 785–800. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/mus.880130904.
- Shen, J., Duan, X. H., Cheng, L. N., Zhong, X. M., Guo, R. M., Zhang, F., et al. (2010). In vivo MR imaging tracking of transplanted mesenchymal stem cells in a rabbit model of

acute peripheral nerve traction injury. Journal of Magnetic Resonance Imaging, 32(5), 1076–1085. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jmri.22353.

- Shirosaki, Y., Tsuru, K., Hayakawa, S., Osaka, A., Lopes, M. A., Santos, J. D., et al. (2005). In vitro cytocompatibility of MG63 cells on chitosan–organosiloxane hybrid membranes. *Biomaterials*, 26(5), 485–493.
- Simoes, M. J., Amado, S., Gartner, A., Armada-Da-Silva, P. A., Raimondo, S., Vieira, M., et al. (2010). Use of chitosan scaffolds for repairing rat sciatic nerve defects. *Italian Journal* of Anatomy and Embryology, 115(3), 190–210.
- Soland, M. A., Bego, M. G., Colletti, E., Porada, C. D., Zanjani, E. D., St Jeor, S., et al. (2012). Modulation of human mesenchymal stem cell immunogenicity through forced expression of human cytomegalovirus us proteins. *PLoS One*, 7(5), e36163. http://dx. doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0036163.
- Sporel-Ozakat, R. E., Edwards, P. M., Hepgul, K. T., Savas, A., & Gispen, W. H. (1991). A simple method for reducing autotomy in rats after peripheral nerve lesions. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, 36(2–3), 263–265.
- Stoll, G., Griffin, J. W., Li, C. Y., & Trapp, B. D. (1989). Wallerian degeneration in the peripheral nervous system: Participation of both Schwann cells and macrophages in myelin degradation. *Journal of Neurocytology*, 18(5), 671–683.
- Tyner, T. R., Parks, N., Faria, S., Simons, M., Stapp, B., Curtis, B., et al. (2007). Effects of collagen nerve guide on neuroma formation and neuropathic pain in a rat model. *American Journal of Surgery*, 193(1), e1–e6. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.amjsurg.2006.08.026.
- van Neerven, S. G., Bozkurt, A., O'Dey, D. M., Scheffel, J., Boecker, A. H., Stromps, J. P., et al. (2012). Retrograde tracing and toe spreading after experimental autologous nerve transplantation and crush injury of the sciatic nerve: A descriptive methodological study. *Journal of Brachial Plexus and Peripheral Nerve Injury*, 7(1), 5. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/ 1749-7221-7-5.
- Varejao, A. S., Cabrita, A. M., Geuna, S., Patricio, J. A., Azevedo, H. R., Ferreira, A. J., et al. (2003). Functional assessment of sciatic nerve recovery: Biodegradable poly (DLLAepsilon-CL) nerve guide filled with fresh skeletal muscle. *Microsurgery*, 23(4), 346–353. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/micr.10148.
- Varejao, A. S., Cabrita, A. M., Meek, M. F., Bulas-Cruz, J., Filipe, V. M., Gabriel, R. C., et al. (2003). Ankle kinematics to evaluate functional recovery in crushed rat sciatic nerve. *Muscle & Nerve*, 27(6), 706–714. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/mus.10374.
- Varejao, A. S., Melo-Pinto, P., Meek, M. F., Filipe, V. M., & Bulas-Cruz, J. (2004). Methods for the experimental functional assessment of rat sciatic nerve regeneration. *Neurological Research*, 26(2), 186–194. http://dx.doi.org/10.1179/016164104225013833.
- Walsh, S., & Midha, R. (2009a). Practical considerations concerning the use of stem cells for peripheral nerve repair. *Neurosurgical Focus*, 26(2), E2. http://dx.doi.org/10.3171/ FOC.2009.26.2.E2.
- Walsh, S., & Midha, R. (2009b). Use of stem cells to augment nerve injury repair. Neurosurgery, 65(4 Suppl.), A80–A86. http://dx.doi.org/10.1227/01.neu.0000335651.93926.2f.
- Wang, H.-S., Hung, S.-C., Peng, S.-T., Huang, C.-C., Wei, H.-M., Guo, Y.-J., et al. (2004). Mesenchymal stem cells in the Wharton's jelly of the human umbilical cord. *Stem Cells*, 22(7), 1330–1337. http://dx.doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2004-0013.
- Weiss, M. L., Medicetty, S., Bledsoe, A. R., Rachakatla, R. S., Choi, M., Merchav, S., et al. (2006). Human umbilical cord matrix stem cells: Preliminary characterization and effect of transplantation in a rodent model of Parkinson's disease. *Stem Cells*, 24(3), 781–792. http://dx.doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2005-0330.
- Wood, J. A., Colletti, E., Mead, L. E., Ingram, D., Porada, C. D., Zanjani, E. D., et al. (2012). Distinct contribution of human cord blood-derived endothelial colony forming cells to liver and gut in a fetal sheep model. *Hepatology*, 56(3), 1086–1096. http://dx.doi. org/10.1002/hep.25753.

- Yuan, Y., Zhang, P., Yang, Y., Wang, X., & Gu, X. (2004). The interaction of Schwann cells with chitosan membranes and fibers in vitro. *Biomaterials*, 25(18), 4273–4278.
- Zheng, L., & Cui, H. F. (2010). Use of chitosan conduit combined with bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells for promoting peripheral nerve regeneration. *Journal of Materials Science. Materials in Medicine*, 21(5), 1713–1720. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10856-010-4003-y.
- Zheng, L., & Cui, H. F. (2012). Enhancement of nerve regeneration along a chitosan conduit combined with bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. *Journal of Materials Science. Materials in Medicine*, 23(9), 2291–2302. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10856-012-4694-3.

CHAPTER FIVE

Adipose-Derived Stem Cells and Nerve Regeneration: Promises and Pitfalls

Alessandro Faroni¹, Giorgio Terenghi, Adam J. Reid

Faculty of Medical and Human Sciences, The University of Manchester, Blond McIndoe Laboratories, Regenerative Medicine, Institute of Inflammation and Repair, Manchester, United Kingdom ¹Corresponding author: e-mail address: alessandro.faroni@manchester.ac.uk

Contents

1.	Introduction	121
2.	Stem Cells for Peripheral Nerve Repair	124
3.	Undifferentiated Adipose-Derived Stem Cell (uASC)	126
4.	Differentiated Adipose-Derived Stem Cell (SC-Like ASC)	128
5.	Conclusions	130
Acknowledgments		131
References		131

Abstract

In order to improve the outcome of nerve regeneration following peripheral trauma injuries, the development of bioengineered nerve grafts has attracted great attention in the field of tissue engineering. Adult stem cells constitute the ideal alternative to Schwann cells (SCs) as transplantable cells in bioartificial nerve grafts. Among the various sources of stem cells with potential applications for regenerative medicine, the adipose tissue has been proven to be one of the most promising. Adipose-derived stem cells (ASCs) are easily obtained, rapidly expanded, show low immunogenicity, and can be differentiated into SCs *in vitro*. This chapter will focus on recent advances in the use of differentiated and undifferentiated ASCs for peripheral nerve regeneration, with a critical attention for the clinical exploitability of ASC in nerve repair strategies.

1. INTRODUCTION

Injuries to peripheral nerves constitute a substantial clinical problem, which affects 1:1000 people, constituting up to 5% of total trauma patients and representing a major economical burden for society (Adams, Arruda, & Larkin, 2012; Zochodne, 2012). The peripheral nervous system (PNS)

possesses an intrinsic regeneration capability, which allows the nerve to spontaneously regenerate when there is nerve continuity after the damage (Chen, Yu, & Strickland, 2007). Nevertheless, the functional outcome of this spontaneous regeneration is often not satisfactory, leaving patients with physical morbidity that decreases their quality of life (Terenghi, 1999). Moreover, the delay occurring between injury and repair causes peripheral atrophy in the tissues that are lacking innervation, together with neuronal cell death of a portion of the motor and sensory neurons that have lost contact with the periphery (Reid et al., 2011; Terenghi, Hart, & Wiberg, 2011). This is of particular relevance especially for severe transection injuries, in which the regenerating nerves need to grow across large gaps (Sulaiman & Gordon, 2009).

Current techniques for the treatment of peripheral nerve injuries consist in surgical intervention to join the proximal and distal stumps of the damaged nerves. However, when the gap is not repairable without creating tension on the nerve fibers, a nerve autograft is performed (Wiberg & Terenghi, 2003). This requires the discomfort of a second surgery to source the donor nerve tissue, which is limited in quantity and can cause neuroma formation and donor site morbidity (Bell & Haycock, 2012; Keilhoff & Fansa, 2011). Allografts and xenografts represent a viable alternative to autografts; nevertheless, they require systemic immunosuppression to avoid rejection (Bell & Haycock, 2012; Wiberg & Terenghi, 2003). More recently, great efforts in the field of tissue engineering have been focused on the development of bioengineered nerve grafts (Fig. 5.1). This approach consists in the creation of a construct composed of a nerve guide, or conduit, enriched with elements aimed to improve the outcome of the regeneration, such as transplanted supporting cells, extracellular matrix (ECM) molecules, and growth factors (Chalfoun, Wirth, & Evans, 2006).

The obvious choice of transplantable cells to be used in engineered nerve grafts would be Schwann cells (SCs), the glial cells of the PNS (Tohill & Terenghi, 2004). SCs play extensive key roles in the response of the PNS to axonal injury. They participate in the immune response that recruits macrophages and they actively help in removing myelin debris in the distal stump, a process known as Wallerian degeneration (Bhatheja & Field, 2006; Chen et al., 2007). They also form structures called bands of Büngner, which are essential to guide the sprouting axons toward the target organs (Ide, 1996). Finally, they produce several cytokines and growth factors that are known to help and facilitate nerve regrowth, such as nerve growth



Figure 5.1 Schematic model of a bioengineered nerve graft. As alternative for the autologous graft, which remains the "gold standard" for nerve repair, several alternatives are under investigation. The development of ideal bioengineered nerve conduits requires the optimization of critical components: (i) scaffold biomaterials, (ii) transplanted cells supporting axonal regeneration, (iii) neurotrophic factors (opportunely delivered or released by transplanted cells), and (iv) extracellular matrix (ECM) molecules.

factor (NGF), brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), glial-derived neurotrophic factor as well as basic fibroblast growth factor and neurotrophin-3 (Chen et al., 2007; Ide, 1996; Jessen & Mirsky, 2008). As a proof of these neurotrophic effects, cultured SCs have been successfully transplanted in animal models in order to promote regeneration following peripheral nerve injuries (Guenard, Kleitman, Morrissey, Bunge, & Aebischer, 1992; Kalbermatten et al., 2008; Mosahebi, Fuller, Wiberg, & Terenghi, 2002; Mosahebi, Woodward, Wiberg, Martin, & Terenghi, 2001). Nevertheless, SCs lack some of the features that characterize the ideal transplantable cells for tissue engineering, such as the ease of harvest, the rapid expansion in culture, and a low immunogenicity (Tohill & Terenghi, 2004). For this reason, the attention of the researchers has moved toward the use of stem cells, which present all the advantages of an ideal candidate cell for regenerative medicine.

2. STEM CELLS FOR PERIPHERAL NERVE REPAIR

Stem cells are undifferentiated precursors that can divide into daughter cells with identical potential in a process called self-renewal, or that can commit to a pathway leading to differentiation along a variety of cell lineages (Bajada, Mazakova, Richardson, & Ashammakhi, 2008; Raff, 2003). Stem cells are defined *pluripotent* if they can generate all the three classical germ layers of the embryo (i.e., ectoderm, mesoderm, and endoderm); this is the case of embryonic stem cells (ESCs), which are derived from the inner cell mass of the blastocyst (Bajada et al., 2008). Although they have shown huge potential, ESCs have not yet been clinically used in regenerative medicine because of moral and ethical issues as well as for the known risks of solid tumor formation (teratomas) and possible differentiation into undesirable cell types (Bajada et al., 2008; Choumerianou, Dimitriou, & Kalmanti, 2008). Most, if not all, adult organs contain small subpopulations of adult stem cells, or at least can produce stem cells in culture (Raff, 2003). Adult stem cells are considered unipotent or multipotent if they can generate only one cell type or all the lineage of a specific germ layer, respectively. The primary role of this pool of undifferentiated cells is to maintain and repair the functional specialized cells of the tissue to which they belong (Tohill & Terenghi, 2004). In the past decades, increasing interest in the field of regenerative medicine has focused on adult stem cell plasticity, which is the ability of somatic stem cells to transdifferentiate into cells of another lineage under proper stimulation (Bhatheja & Field, 2006; Forbes, Vig, Poulsom, Wright, & Alison, 2002; Raff, 2003; Tohill & Terenghi, 2004). More recently, many studies have been focused on the genetic reprogramming of somatic cell in order to produce the so-called induced pluripotent stem cells (Chambers & Studer, 2011). These new findings on plasticity overturn the dogma of organ-specific differentiation of adult stem cells and move the interest of regenerative medicine toward adult stem cells as a potential ESC alternative for therapeutic use, due to fewer moral and ethical implications related to the use of adult tissues (Tohill & Terenghi, 2004).

Adult stem cell niches are distributed throughout the body including the brain, bone marrow, fat, skeletal muscle, liver, retina, and skin (Raff, 2003). Hematopoietic stem cells and mesenchymal stem cells derived from the bone marrow (BM-MSC) were the first stem cell populations to be extensively characterized and to be used in clinical applications (Raff, 2003; Tropel et al., 2004). BM-MSC can differentiate both *in vitro* (under the

influence of appropriate signals) and *in vivo* (after transplantation) into mesenchymal cell types, which lead to formation of bone, cartilage, and fat (Bajada et al., 2008; Barry & Murphy, 2004; Garcia-Castro et al., 2008). Moreover, cultured BM-MSCs have also been reported to transdifferentiate into nonmesodermal lineages—such as myocyte, endothelial, and hepatic cells as well as smooth muscle, neurons, and notably glial cells (Caddick, Kingham, Gardiner, Wiberg, & Terenghi, 2006; Garcia-Castro et al., 2008; Tohill & Terenghi, 2004). In particular, under appropriate stimuli, BM-MSC can originate SC-like cells with similar molecular markers, morphology, and secretion of growth factors (Caddick et al., 2006; Dezawa, Takahashi, Esaki, Takano, & Sawada, 2001; Mahay, Terenghi, & Shawcross, 2008), which were shown to promote nerve regeneration after injury (Tohill, Mantovani, Wiberg, & Terenghi, 2004).

The adipose tissue contains, besides adipocytes and pre-adipocytes, a heterogeneous stromal population of cells called stromal vascular fraction (SVF), which consists of microvascular endothelial cells, blood cells, fibroblasts, smooth muscle cells, and stem cells (Gimble, Katz, & Bunnell, 2007; Strem et al., 2005). Like BM-MSC, adipose-derived stem cells (ASCs) present important characteristics typical of stem cells such as extensive selfrenewal capacity and ability to differentiate into multiple lineages (bone, fat, cartilage, and muscle) (Zuk et al., 2002). Furthermore, ASC and BM-MSC share more than 90% of phenotype markers; however, differences in surface protein expression have been reported (Gimble et al., 2007). ASCs express general mesenchymal stem cell markers (i.e., CD29, CD44, CD54, CD90, CD105, and stro-1) and lack expression of the hematopoietic antigens CD14 and CD45 (Faroni, Terenghi, & Magnaghi, 2012; Kalbermatten, Schaakxs, Kingham, & Wiberg, 2011; Kingham et al., 2007; Locke, Windsor, & Dunbar, 2009; Reid et al., 2011). The harvest of BM-MSC from bone marrow is a highly invasive procedure that presents practical constraints such as pain at the harvest site and limited volume of harvested fluid (Locke et al., 2009). By contrast, humans have abundant subcutaneous fat deposits and ASCs can easily be isolated by conventional liposuction procedures under local anesthesia, thus overcoming the problems related to painful bone marrow harvesting procedures (Kingham et al., 2007). Furthermore, the reported number of MSCs among the whole bone marrow cell population is between 1 in 25,000 and 1 in 100,000, whereas the average frequency of ASCs in processed lipoaspirate cells is $\sim 2\%$ (Strem et al., 2005). In addition, compared to BM-MSC, ASCs are also easier to culture for longer periods and show faster growth rates (Locke et al.,

2009). Regarding their immunological properties, it is important to note that less than 1% of ASCs expresses HLA-DR proteins, whereas the majority of ASC population expresses MHC class I molecules, making them optimal candidates for allogeneic transplantation (Strem et al., 2005). Furthermore, it also appears that ASCs may provide angiogeneic (Miranville et al., 2004; Rehman et al., 2004) and, possibly, hematopoietic support (Gimble & Guilak, 2003a, 2003b).

Besides the ability to differentiate into classical mesenchymal lineages, ASCs have also shown the capacity of commitment to differentiation following nonmesenchymal pathways, generating cells expressing markers of cardiac myocytes, hepatocytes, pancreatic cells, skeletal muscle, blood vessels, and neurons (Gimble & Guilak, 2003b; Gimble et al., 2007; Locke et al., 2009; Strem et al., 2005). Recently, different groups have also demonstrated that ASC can be differentiated in vitro into an SC-like phenotype using a protocol analogous to BM-MSC glial differentiation (Jiang et al., 2008; Kingham et al., 2007; Xu et al., 2008). Nevertheless, other groups have used different protocols to achieve similar results (Radtke, Schmitz, Spies, Kocsis, & Vogt, 2009; Razavi, Ahmadi, Kazemi, Mardani, & Esfandiari, 2012). In the following sections of this chapter, we will summarize recent progress in the study of ASC for the treatment of peripheral nerve injuries. In particular, *in vitro* experiments as well as *in vivo* animal models employing undifferentiated and differentiated stem cells will be discussed with a view to future clinical application of ASC for nerve repair.

3. UNDIFFERENTIATED ADIPOSE-DERIVED STEM CELL (UASC)

Many *in vitro* studies have been addressed to the regenerative potential of undifferentiated ASC (uASC). One of the main concerns related to the use of uASC in cell-based therapies is arguably the potential differentiation into nondesirable phenotypes, such as adipocytes (Santiago, Clavijo-Alvarez, Brayfield, Rubin, & Marra, 2009), or the risk of tumor formation. Nevertheless, the lack of an *in vitro* differentiation step may constitute an advantage when there is a time-urgency in treating peripheral nerve injuries to avoid chronic denervation of peripheral targets.

Depending on the anatomical site of harvesting, uASCs have shown different properties in cell culture models. Human uASCs obtained from superficial fat deposits are obtained with higher yields; they proliferate faster and promote increased neurite outgrowth when compared with ASCs obtained from deep layers (Kalbermatten et al., 2011). Moreover, the harvest site and the age of the donor influence the growth rate and the neurotrophic potential of mouse and rat uASC (Engels et al., 2013; Sowa, Imura, Numajiri, Nishino, & Fushiki, 2012). If lipoaspirates are directly used for nerve repair, without the isolation of ASC from the SVF, nerve regeneration is hindered, probably due to the fat occluding the nerve conduits (Papalia et al., 2012). Interestingly, uASC conditioned media were shown to promote neurite growth (Sowa et al., 2012) and prevent neuronal death (Zhao et al., 2009), effects that have been associated with the release of neurotrophic factors such as NGF and BDNF.

Several in vivo models have been employed to demonstrate the neurotrophic potential of uASC for the treatment of peripheral nerve damage. Santiago et al. reported that human uASCs enhanced peripheral nerve regeneration and decreased muscular atrophy when transplanted into poly-caprolactone nerve guides to repair a 6-mm nerve gap in athymic rats; cells survived up to 12 weeks after transplantation but did not differentiate into SCs (Santiago et al., 2009). Similarly, uncultured and fluorescent-labeled ASCs were found 2 weeks after surgery in repaired nerve gaps, where they improved regeneration, although they did not colocalize with endogenous SCs nor differentiated (Suganuma et al., 2013). Nonetheless, another study reported a significant loss of cell number only 2 weeks after transplantation, although the initial trophic boost due to uASC, together with the purported recruitment of endogenous SCs, was still able to improve nerve regeneration (Erba et al., 2010). A similar trophic support was shown following transplantation of ASC in laminin-deficient mice; ASCs were able to rescue the neuropathic phenotype and induce endogenous SCs to facilitate axon sorting, myelination, and functional recovery (Carlson et al., 2011). The uASCs were used to populate acellular nerve allografts which improved nerve regeneration across a 15 mm nerve gap; walking behavior, muscle mass, nerve conduction velocity, and number of myelinated axons were all improved in the ASC-populated allografts (Liu et al., 2011). Similarly, porcine de-cellularized nerves enriched with uASC successfully improved nerve regeneration across 10-mm rat sciatic nerve gaps, through a mechanism involving a transforming growth factor β -dependent release of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (Luo, Zhang, Zhang, & Jin, 2012). VEGF is known to be produced by ASC and might be responsible to neo-angiogenesis and improved regeneration in the injury site (Luo et al., 2012; Marconi et al., 2012; Sowa et al., 2012). Interestingly, a restricted number of human uASCs were able to migrate to the site of a sciatic nerve crush injury following systemic injection;

this was associated with increased expression of neurotrophic factors in the injured milieu, with reduced inflammation and with improved regeneration (Marconi et al., 2012). This could represent an alternative approach for stem cell delivery in cell-based therapies.

4. DIFFERENTIATED ADIPOSE-DERIVED STEM CELL (SC-LIKE ASC)

Although uASCs have been proved to be beneficial for nerve repair, most likely through trophic support rather than direct transdifferentiation into SCs, many studies have attempted to predifferentiate ASC *in vitro*, prior to transplantation, into SC-like differentiated ASC (dASC). This approach brings two important benefits: (i) Since the transplanted cells are already committed, there is a reduced risk of precursor differentiation into undesired cell phenotypes or teratoma formation; (ii) Besides providing trophic support, dASC could actively participate, together with endogenous SCs, in the processes related to regeneration and myelination.

Different approaches have been employed to obtain glial differentiation of ASC. Kingham et al. obtained dASC from rat uASC using a 2-week protocol involving the combination of several growth factors aimed to mimic the developmental environment of native SCs (Kingham et al., 2007). dASC obtained by this means expresses SC markers (such as glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), S100, and the low affinity receptor for NGF p75), and they were shown to promote neurite outgrowth in vitro (Kingham et al., 2007). The mechanism of this differentiation is poorly understood, nevertheless it has been shown that it is independent from notch signaling pathways (Kingham, Mantovani, & Terenghi, 2009). Shortly after the first report, other groups used the same protocol to obtain and further characterize dASC with in vitro and in vivo models. Moreover, dASCs with similar phenotypes were also obtained with different protocols involving the formation of neurospheres (Radtke et al., 2009; Razavi et al., 2012, 2013) or by indirect cocultures with native SCs (Wei et al., 2010). Kaewkhaw et al. showed that the anatomical origin of the fat from which ASCs are derived can influence the glial differentiation and suggested subcutaneous and perinephrium fat as the optimal source for deriving dASCs (Kaewkhaw, Scutt, & Haycock, 2011). The age of the donor did not seem to affect the neurotrophic potential of dASC, however, markers of senescence were detected in dASC from old rat, but not in cells obtained from young or new-born animals (Mantovani et al., 2012). Using *in vitro* coculture models with dorsal root ganglia (DRG) neurons or PC12 cells, dASCs have been shown to express myelin protein (Mantovani et al., 2010) and form myelin structures (Xu et al., 2008).

Different strategies have been attempted to improve further the neurotrophic potential of dASC. Experiments using direct and indirect cocultures of dASC and DRG neurons showed that ECM molecules influence cell viability, adhesion, and neurotrophic behavior of dASCs (di Summa, Kalbermatten, Raffoul, Terenghi, & Kingham, 2013). This is of particular relevance for the engineering of bioartificial construct in which the cells will be delivered; coating nerve conduits with ECM molecules could enhance the regeneration rate and improve the final outcome. Another approach consists in the treatment of the cells with growth factor and other drugs able to improve the regenerative potential. Treatment of dASCs with leukemia inhibitory factor increased the expression levels of the glial markers \$100, GFAP, and of the myelin basic protein, proving that the myelinating potential can be improved with the treatment with cytokines (Razavi et al., 2013). Interestingly, dASCs have been shown to express GABA_A and GABA_B receptors, which can be targeted with specific agonists to modulate important physiological parameters such as cell proliferation and neurotrophin expression and release (Faroni, Calabrese, Riva, Terenghi, & Magnaghi, 2013; Faroni et al., 2011, 2012). This opens new opportunities for a pharmacological modulation of the regenerative potential of dASC for the treatment of nerve damage.

Many in vivo studies have confirmed the increased ability of dASC to promote nerve regeneration. Fibrin conduits seeded with dASC were shown to promote regeneration toward a 1-cm nerve gap after 2 weeks (di Summa et al., 2010), and to reduce muscle atrophy while increasing the size and the number of myelinated fibers after 16 weeks (di Summa et al., 2011). A similar increase in myelinated axons and improvements in sciatic function index and nerve conduction velocity were also observed 6 months after surgery in nerve repaired with silicon tubes seeded with dASC in a collagen gel (Orbay, Uysal, Hyakusoku, & Mizuno, 2011). In addition, a novel synthetic nerve guide made of poly &-caprolactone seeded with dASC was effective in preventing DRG neuronal loss after axotomy (Reid et al., 2011). Nerve regeneration and remyelination were shown to improve after repair with allogeneic grafts from de-cellularized nerves (Wang et al., 2012) and arteries conduits (Sun, Zhou, Mi, & Qiu, 2011) repopulated with rat dASCs. Recently, human ASCs were also successfully differentiated into dASCs and transplanted into crushed tibial nerves of athymic rats where they remyelinated regenerated axons with a higher extent compared to human uASC (Tomita et al., 2013). This suggests that human ASC might be a clinically viable option for the cell-based therapies for peripheral nerve disorders, and that dASC might be a preferable option rather than the undifferentiated counterparts.

5. CONCLUSIONS

There is an increasing body of literature supporting the evidence that ASC could constitute a potential tool for the treatment of injuries to the peripheral nerves. We envisage a clinical scenario in which fat could be harvested from patients suffering from nerve injuries to derive and expand quickly adipose stem cells *in vitro*. ASC could then be directly transplanted into bioengineered nerve guides for the repair of the nerve damage, or transdifferentiated into dASC prior to reimplantation (Fig. 5.2). Great debate is



Figure 5.2 Clinical scenario for adipose stem cell-based therapy for peripheral nerve injuries. Adipose stem cells could be derived from patients suffering from peripheral nerve trauma and transplanted into nerve conduits with or without prior differentiation in SC-like cells.

focused on whether undifferentiated or differentiated ASCs represent the most clinically viable option. Whereas, uASCs have the advantage of being readily available without requiring an *in vitro* predifferentiation step, their use could be associated with differentiation in unwanted cell types or risks of teratoma formation. Moreover, uASCs only provide trophic support without in vivo commitment to SC phenotype or myelin formation. By contrast, dASCs are generally believed to provide a better regeneration outcome and, in combination with endogenous SCs, they actively participate in the remyelination of the regenerated axons. For this reason, they seem to be the best option for cell-based therapies for peripheral nerve regeneration. However, a better understanding of the differentiation mechanisms and a deeper characterization of the final phenotype are key requirements before dASC could be employed in a clinical setup. Finally, other factors such as the engineering of the graft microenvironment with ECM molecules or the pharmacological modulation of dASC should be considered in order to improve cell survival, neurotrophic potential and, by consequence, the final outcome of nerve regeneration.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are grateful to the Hargreaves and Ball Trust for financial support.

REFERENCES

- Adams, A. M., Arruda, E. M., & Larkin, L. M. (2012). Use of adipose-derived stem cells to fabricate scaffoldless tissue-engineered neural conduits in vitro. *Neuroscience*, 201, 349–356. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011.11.004.
- Bajada, S., Mazakova, I., Richardson, J. B., & Ashammakhi, N. (2008). Updates on stem cells and their applications in regenerative medicine. *Journal of Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine*, 2(4), 169–183. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/term.83.
- Barry, F. P., & Murphy, J. M. (2004). Mesenchymal stem cells: Clinical applications and biological characterization. *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology*, 36(4), 568–584. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biocel.2003.11.001.
- Bell, J. H., & Haycock, J. W. (2012). Next generation nerve guides: Materials, fabrication, growth factors, and cell delivery. *Tissue Engineering. Part B, Reviews*, 18(2), 116–128. http://dx.doi.org/10.1089/ten.TEB.2011.0498.
- Bhatheja, K., & Field, J. (2006). Schwann cells: Origins and role in axonal maintenance and regeneration. *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology*, 38(12), 1995–1999. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biocel.2006.05.007.
- Caddick, J., Kingham, P. J., Gardiner, N. J., Wiberg, M., & Terenghi, G. (2006). Phenotypic and functional characteristics of mesenchymal stem cells differentiated along a Schwann cell lineage. *Glia*, 54(8), 840–849. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/glia.20421.
- Carlson, K. B., Singh, P., Feaster, M. M., Ramnarain, A., Pavlides, C., Chen, Z. L., et al. (2011). Mesenchymal stem cells facilitate axon sorting, myelination, and functional recovery in paralyzed mice deficient in Schwann cell-derived laminin. *Glia*, 59(2), 267–277. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/glia.21099.

- Chalfoun, C. T., Wirth, G. A., & Evans, G. R. (2006). Tissue engineered nerve constructs: Where do we stand? *Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine*, 10(2), 309–317, pii: 10.002.05.
- Chambers, S. M., & Studer, L. (2011). Cell fate plug and play: Direct reprogramming and induced pluripotency. *Cell*, 145(6), 827–830. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.cell.2011.05.036.
- Chen, Z. L., Yu, W. M., & Strickland, S. (2007). Peripheral regeneration. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 30, 209–233. http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.30.051606.094337.
- Choumerianou, D. M., Dimitriou, H., & Kalmanti, M. (2008). Stem cells: Promises versus limitations. *Tissue Engineering. Part B, Reviews*, 14(1), 53–60. http://dx.doi.org/10.1089/ teb.2007.0216.
- Dezawa, M., Takahashi, I., Esaki, M., Takano, M., & Sawada, H. (2001). Sciatic nerve regeneration in rats induced by transplantation of in vitro differentiated bone-marrow stromal cells. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, 14(11), 1771–1776, pii: 1814.
- di Summa, P. G., Kalbermatten, D. F., Pralong, E., Raffoul, W., Kingham, P. J., & Terenghi, G. (2011). Long-term in vivo regeneration of peripheral nerves through bioengineered nerve grafts. *Neuroscience*, 181, 278–291. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.neuroscience.2011.02.052.
- di Summa, P. G., Kalbermatten, D. F., Raffoul, W., Terenghi, G., & Kingham, P. J. (2013). Extracellular matrix molecules enhance the neurotrophic effect of Schwann cell-like differentiated adipose-derived stem cells and increase cell survival under stress conditions. *Tissue Engineering. Part A*, 19(3–4), 368–379. http://dx.doi.org/10.1089/ten. TEA.2012.0124.
- di Summa, P. G., Kingham, P. J., Raffoul, W., Wiberg, M., Terenghi, G., & Kalbermatten, D. F. (2010). Adipose-derived stem cells enhance peripheral nerve regeneration. *Journal of Plastic, Reconstructive & Aesthetic Surgery*, 63(9), 1544–1552. http://dx. doi.org/10.1016/j.bjps.2009.09.012.
- Engels, P. E., Tremp, M., Kingham, P. J., di Summa, P. G., Largo, R. D., Schaefer, D. J., et al. (2013). Harvest site influences the growth properties of adipose derived stem cells. *Cytotechnology*, 65(3), 437–445. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10616-012-9498-2.
- Erba, P., Mantovani, C., Kalbermatten, D. F., Pierer, G., Terenghi, G., & Kingham, P. J. (2010). Regeneration potential and survival of transplanted undifferentiated adipose tissue-derived stem cells in peripheral nerve conduits. *Journal of Plastic, Reconstructive & Aesthetic Surgery*, 63(12), e811–e817. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bjps.2010.08.013.
- Faroni, A., Calabrese, F., Riva, M. A., Terenghi, G., & Magnaghi, V. (2013). Baclofen modulates the expression and release of neurotrophins in schwann-like adipose stem cells. *Journal of Molecular Neuroscience*, 49(2), 233–243. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12031-012-9813-6.
- Faroni, A., Mantovani, C., Shawcross, S. G., Motta, M., Terenghi, G., & Magnaghi, V. (2011). Schwann-like adult stem cells derived from bone marrow and adipose tissue express gamma-aminobutyric acid type B receptors. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 89(9), 1351–1362. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jnr.22652.
- Faroni, A., Terenghi, G., & Magnaghi, V. (2012). Expression of functional gammaaminobutyric acid type a receptors in Schwann-like adult stem cells. *Journal of Molecular Neuroscience*, 47(3), 619–630. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12031-011-9698-9.
- Forbes, S. J., Vig, P., Poulsom, R., Wright, N. A., & Alison, M. R. (2002). Adult stem cell plasticity: New pathways of tissue regeneration become visible. *Clinical Science (London, England)*, 103(4), 355–369. PMID: 12241534.
- Garcia-Castro, J., Trigueros, C., Madrenas, J., Perez-Simon, J. A., Rodriguez, R., & Menendez, P. (2008). Mesenchymal stem cells and their use as cell replacement therapy and disease modelling tool. *Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine*, 12(6B), 2552–2565. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1582-4934.2008.00516.x.

- Gimble, J., & Guilak, F. (2003a). Adipose-derived adult stem cells: Isolation, characterization, and differentiation potential. *Cytotherapy*, 5(5), 362–369. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1080/14653240310003026.
- Gimble, J. M., & Guilak, F. (2003b). Differentiation potential of adipose derived adult stem (ADAS) cells. Current Topics in Developmental Biology, 58, 137–160.
- Gimble, J. M., Katz, A. J., & Bunnell, B. A. (2007). Adipose-derived stem cells for regenerative medicine. *Circulation Research*, 100(9), 1249–1260. http://dx.doi.org/10.1161/ 01.RES.0000265074.83288.09.
- Guenard, V., Kleitman, N., Morrissey, T. K., Bunge, R. P., & Aebischer, P. (1992). Syngeneic Schwann cells derived from adult nerves seeded in semipermeable guidance channels enhance peripheral nerve regeneration. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 12(9), 3310–3320.
- Ide, C. (1996). Peripheral nerve regeneration. *Neuroscience Research*, 25(2), 101–121, pii: 0168-0102(96)01042-5.
- Jessen, K. R., & Mirsky, R. (2008). Negative regulation of myelination: Relevance for development, injury, and demyelinating disease. *Glia*, 56(14), 1552–1565. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1002/glia.20761.
- Jiang, L., Zhu, J. K., Liu, X. L., Xiang, P., Hu, J., & Yu, W. H. (2008). Differentiation of rat adipose tissue-derived stem cells into Schwann-like cells in vitro. *Neuroreport*, 19(10), 1015–1019. http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/WNR.0b013e3283040efc.
- Kaewkhaw, R., Scutt, A. M., & Haycock, J. W. (2011). Anatomical site influences the differentiation of adipose-derived stem cells for Schwann-cell phenotype and function. *Glia*, 59(5), 734–749. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/glia.21145.
- Kalbermatten, D. F., Erba, P., Mahay, D., Wiberg, M., Pierer, G., & Terenghi, G. (2008). Schwann cell strip for peripheral nerve repair. *Journal of Hand Surgery (European Volume)*, 33(5), 587–594. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1753193408090755.
- Kalbermatten, D. F., Schaakxs, D., Kingham, P. J., & Wiberg, M. (2011). Neurotrophic activity of human adipose stem cells isolated from deep and superficial layers of abdominal fat. *Cell and Tissue Research*, 344(2), 251–260. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00441-011-1142-5.
- Keilhoff, G., & Fansa, H. (2011). Mesenchymal stem cells for peripheral nerve regeneration—A real hope or just an empty promise? *Experimental Neurology*, 232(2), 110–113. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2011.09.007.
- Kingham, P. J., Kalbermatten, D. F., Mahay, D., Armstrong, S. J., Wiberg, M., & Terenghi, G. (2007). Adipose-derived stem cells differentiate into a Schwann cell phenotype and promote neurite outgrowth in vitro. *Experimental Neurology*, 207(2), 267–274. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2007.06.029.
- Kingham, P. J., Mantovani, C., & Terenghi, G. (2009). Notch independent signalling mediates Schwann cell-like differentiation of adipose derived stem cells. *Neuroscience Letters*, 467(2), 164–168. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2009.10.030.
- Liu, G. B., Cheng, Y. X., Feng, Y. K., Pang, C. J., Li, Q., Wang, Y., et al. (2011). Adiposederived stem cells promote peripheral nerve repair. Archives of Medical Science, 7(4), 592–596. http://dx.doi.org/10.5114/aoms.2011.24127.
- Locke, M., Windsor, J., & Dunbar, P. R. (2009). Human adipose-derived stem cells: Isolation, characterization and applications in surgery. ANZ Journal of Surgery, 79(4), 235–244. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1445-2197.2009.04852.x.
- Luo, H., Zhang, Y., Zhang, Z., & Jin, Y. (2012). The protection of MSCs from apoptosis in nerve regeneration by TGFbeta1 through reducing inflammation and promoting VEGFdependent angiogenesis. *Biomaterials*, 33(17), 4277–4287. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.biomaterials.2012.02.042.
- Mahay, D., Terenghi, G., & Shawcross, S. G. (2008). Growth factors in mesenchymal stem cells following glial-cell differentiation. *Biotechnology and Applied Biochemistry*, 51(Pt. 4), 167–176. http://dx.doi.org/10.1042/BA20070212.

- Mantovani, C., Mahay, D., Kingham, M., Terenghi, G., Shawcross, S. G., & Wiberg, M. (2010). Bone marrow- and adipose-derived stem cells show expression of myelin mRNAs and proteins. *Regenerative Medicine*, 5(3), 403–410. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.2217/rme.10.15.
- Mantovani, C., Raimondo, S., Haneef, M. S., Geuna, S., Terenghi, G., Shawcross, S. G., et al. (2012). Morphological, molecular and functional differences of adult bone marrow- and adipose-derived stem cells isolated from rats of different ages. *Experimental Cell Research*, 318(16), 2034–2048. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2012.05.008.
- Marconi, S., Castiglione, G., Turano, E., Bissolotti, G., Angiari, S., Farinazzo, A., et al. (2012). Human adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells systemically injected promote peripheral nerve regeneration in the mouse model of sciatic crush. *Tissue Engineering. Part* A, 18(11–12), 1264–1272. http://dx.doi.org/10.1089/ten.TEA.2011.0491.
- Miranville, A., Heeschen, C., Sengenes, C., Curat, C. A., Busse, R., & Bouloumie, A. (2004). Improvement of postnatal neovascularization by human adipose tissue-derived stem cells. *Circulation*, 110(3), 349–355. http://dx.doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.0000135466.16823.D0.
- Mosahebi, A., Fuller, P., Wiberg, M., & Terenghi, G. (2002). Effect of allogeneic Schwann cell transplantation on peripheral nerve regeneration. *Experimental Neurology*, 173(2), 213–223. http://dx.doi.org/10.1006/exnr.2001.7846.
- Mosahebi, A., Woodward, B., Wiberg, M., Martin, R., & Terenghi, G. (2001). Retroviral labeling of Schwann cells: In vitro characterization and in vivo transplantation to improve peripheral nerve regeneration. *Glia*, 34(1), 8–17. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ glia.1035.
- Orbay, H., Uysal, A. C., Hyakusoku, H., & Mizuno, H. (2011). Differentiated and undifferentiated adipose-derived stem cells improve function in rats with peripheral nerve gaps. *Journal of Plastic, Reconstructive & Aesthetic Surgery*, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.bjps.2011.11.035.
- Papalia, I., Raimondo, S., Ronchi, G., Magaudda, L., Giacobini-Robecchi, M. G., & Geuna, S. (2012). Repairing nerve gaps by vein conduits filled with lipoaspirate-derived entire adipose tissue hinders nerve regeneration. *Annals of Anatomy*, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.aanat.2012.10.012.
- Radtke, C., Schmitz, B., Spies, M., Kocsis, J. D., & Vogt, P. M. (2009). Peripheral glial cell differentiation from neurospheres derived from adipose mesenchymal stem cells. *International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience*, 27(8), 817–823. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.ijdevneu.2009.08.006.
- Raff, M. (2003). Adult stem cell plasticity: Fact or artifact? Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology, 19, 1–22. http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev.cellbio.19.111301.143037.
- Razavi, S., Ahmadi, N., Kazemi, M., Mardani, M., & Esfandiari, E. (2012). Efficient transdifferentiation of human adipose-derived stem cells into Schwann-like cells: A promise for treatment of demyelinating diseases. *Advanced Biomedical Research*, 1, 12. http://dx. doi.org/10.4103/2277-9175.96067.
- Razavi, S., Mardani, M., Kazemi, M., Esfandiari, E., Narimani, M., Esmaeili, A., et al. (2013). Effect of leukemia inhibitory factor on the myelinogenic ability of Schwann-like cells induced from human adipose-derived stem cells. *Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology*, 33(2), 283–289. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10571-012-9895-2.
- Rehman, J., Traktuev, D., Li, J., Merfeld-Clauss, S., Temm-Grove, C. J., Bovenkerk, J. E., et al. (2004). Secretion of angiogenic and antiapoptotic factors by human adipose stromal cells. *Circulation*, 109(10), 1292–1298. http://dx.doi.org/10.1161/01. CIR.0000121425.42966.F1.
- Reid, A. J., Sun, M., Wiberg, M., Downes, S., Terenghi, G., & Kingham, P. J. (2011). Nerve repair with adipose-derived stem cells protects dorsal root ganglia neurons from apoptosis. *Neuroscience*, 199, 515–522. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011.09.064.

- Santiago, L. Y., Clavijo-Alvarez, J., Brayfield, C., Rubin, J. P., & Marra, K. G. (2009). Delivery of adipose-derived precursor cells for peripheral nerve repair. *Cell Transplantation*, 18(2), 145–158.
- Sowa, Y., Imura, T., Numajiri, T., Nishino, K., & Fushiki, S. (2012). Adipose-derived stem cells produce factors enhancing peripheral nerve regeneration: Influence of age and anatomic site of origin. *Stem Cells and Development*, 21(11), 1852–1862. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1089/scd.2011.0403.
- Strem, B. M., Hicok, K. C., Zhu, M., Wulur, I., Alfonso, Z., Schreiber, R. E., et al. (2005). Multipotential differentiation of adipose tissue-derived stem cells. *The Keio Journal of Medicine*, 54(3), 132–141.
- Suganuma, S., Tada, K., Hayashi, K., Takeuchi, A., Sugimoto, N., Ikeda, K., et al. (2013). Uncultured adipose-derived regenerative cells promote peripheral nerve regeneration. *Journal of Orthopaedic Science*, 18(1), 145–151. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00776-012-0306-9.
- Sulaiman, O. A., & Gordon, T. (2009). Role of chronic Schwann cell denervation in poor functional recovery after nerve injuries and experimental strategies to combat it. *Neurosurgery*, 65(Suppl. 4), A105–A114. http://dx.doi.org/10.1227/01. NEU.0000358537.30354.63.
- Sun, F., Zhou, K., Mi, W. J., & Qiu, J. H. (2011). Combined use of decellularized allogenetic artery conduits with autologous transdifferentiated adipose-derived stem cells for facial nerve regeneration in rats. *Biomaterials*, 32(32), 8118–8128. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.07.031.
- Terenghi, G. (1999). Peripheral nerve regeneration and neurotrophic factors. Journal of Anatomy, 194(Pt. 1), 1–14.
- Terenghi, G., Hart, A., & Wiberg, M. (2011). The nerve injury and the dying neurons: Diagnosis and prevention. *Journal of Hand Surgery (European Volume)*, 36(9), 730–734. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1177/1753193411422202.
- Tohill, M., Mantovani, C., Wiberg, M., & Terenghi, G. (2004). Rat bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells express glial markers and stimulate nerve regeneration. *Neuroscience Letters*, 362(3), 200–203. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2004.03.077.
- Tohill, M., & Terenghi, G. (2004). Stem-cell plasticity and therapy for injuries of the peripheral nervous system. *Biotechnology and Applied Biochemistry*, 40(Pt. 1), 17–24. http://dx. doi.org/10.1042/BA20030173.
- Tomita, K., Madura, T., Sakai, Y., Yano, K., Terenghi, G., & Hosokawa, K. (2013). Glial differentiation of human adipose-derived stem cells: Implications for cell-based transplantation therapy. *Neuroscience*, 236, 55–65. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.neuroscience.2012.12.066.
- Tropel, P., Noel, D., Platet, N., Legrand, P., Benabid, A. L., & Berger, F. (2004). Isolation and characterisation of mesenchymal stem cells from adult mouse bone marrow. *Experimental Cell Research*, 295(2), 395–406. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.yexcr.2003.12.030.
- Wang, Y., Zhao, Z., Ren, Z., Zhao, B., Zhang, L., Chen, J., et al. (2012). Recellularized nerve allografts with differentiated mesenchymal stem cells promote peripheral nerve regeneration. *Neuroscience Letters*, 514(1), 96–101. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.neulet.2012.02.066.
- Wei, Y., Gong, K., Zheng, Z., Liu, L., Wang, A., Zhang, L., et al. (2010). Schwann-like cell differentiation of rat adipose-derived stem cells by indirect co-culture with Schwann cells in vitro. *Cell Proliferation*, 43(6), 606–616. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2184.2010.00710.x.
- Wiberg, M., & Terenghi, G. (2003). Will it be possible to produce peripheral nerves? Surgical Technology International, 11, 303–310.

- Xu, Y., Liu, L., Li, Y., Zhou, C., Xiong, F., Liu, Z., et al. (2008). Myelin-forming ability of Schwann cell-like cells induced from rat adipose-derived stem cells in vitro. *Brain Research*, 1239, 49–55. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2008.088.
- Zhao, L., Wei, X., Ma, Z., Feng, D., Tu, P., Johnstone, B. H., et al. (2009). Adipose stromal cells-conditional medium protected glutamate-induced CGNs neuronal death by BDNF. *Neuroscience Letters*, 452(3), 238–240. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.neulet.2009.01.025.
- Zochodne, D. W. (2012). The challenges and beauty of peripheral nerve regrowth. Journal of the Peripheral Nervous System, 17(1), 1–18. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1529-8027.2012.00378.x.
- Zuk, P. A., Zhu, M., Ashjian, P., De Ugarte, D. A., Huang, J. I., Mizuno, H., et al. (2002). Human adipose tissue is a source of multipotent stem cells. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, 13(12), 4279–4295. http://dx.doi.org/10.1091/mbc.E02-02-0105.



The Pros and Cons of Growth Factors and Cytokines in Peripheral Axon Regeneration

Lars Klimaschewski^{*}, Barbara Hausott^{*}, Doychin N. Angelov[†]

^{*}Division of Neuroanatomy, Department of Anatomy and Histology, Innsbruck Medical University, Innsbruck, Austria

[†]Department of Anatomy I, University of Cologne, Cologne, Germany

Contents

1.	. Key Problems in Peripheral Nerve Regeneration: Sprouting and Misguida	nce
	of Regrowing Axons	139
	1.1 Sprouting of axons at the lesion site	139
	1.2 Cellular mechanisms of axonal regeneration and sprouting	141
	1.3 Terminal sprouting of axons in denervated muscles	142
2.	. Induction of Neuronal Growth Factors and Neuropoietic Cytokines Following	9
	Nerve Injury	142
	2.1 Polypeptide families involved in peripheral axon regeneration	142
	2.2 Requirement of growth factors for neuronal survival after lesion in adult	s 143
	2.3 Induction of growth factors and cytokines after nerve lesion is cell-type	
	dependent	144
3.	. Exogenous Modulation of Growth Factors and Cytokines at the Lesion Site	146
	3.1 Functional significance of neuronal growth factors as putative	
	treatments for PNS lesions	146
	3.2 Reduction of axonal sprouting by application of neutralizing antiboo	dies
	to trophic factors	149
	3.3 Effects of exogenous neuropeptides and cytokines on axon regeneratio	n 149
4.	. Intraneuronal Mechanisms Underlying Axon Elongation Versus Sprouting	150
	4.1 Neuronal signaling pathways activated by growth factors and cytokines	151
	4.2 Sprouty negative feedback inhibitors of RTK signaling	157
5.	. Conclusions	159
Ac	Acknowledgments	
Re	References	

Abstract

Injury to a peripheral nerve induces a complex cellular and molecular response required for successful axon regeneration. Proliferating Schwann cells organize into chains of cells bridging the lesion site, which is invaded by macrophages. Approximately half of the injured neuron population sends out axons that enter the glial guidance channels in response to secreted neurotrophic factors and neuropoietic cytokines. These lesionassociated polypeptides create an environment that is highly supportive for axon regrowth, particularly after acute injury, and ensure that the vast majority of regenerating axons are directed toward the distal nerve stump. Unfortunately, most neurotrophic factors and neuropoietic cytokines are also strong stimulators of axonal sprouting. Although some of the axonal branches will withdraw at later stages, the sprouting effect contributes to the misdirection of reinnervation that results in the lack of functional recovery observed in many patients with peripheral nerve injuries. Here, we critically review the role of neuronal growth factors and cytokines during axon regeneration in the peripheral nervous system. Their differential effects on axon elongation and sprouting were elucidated in various studies on intraneuronal signaling mechanisms following nerve lesion. The present data define a goal for future therapeutic strategies, namely, to selectively stimulate a Ras/ Raf/ERK-mediated axon elongation program over an intrinsic PI3K-dependent axonal sprouting program in lesioned motor and sensory neurons. Instead of modulating growth factor or cytokine levels at the lesion site, targeting specific intraneuronal molecules, such as the negative feedback inhibitors of ERK signaling, has been shown to promote longdistance regeneration while avoiding sprouting of regenerating axons until they have reached their target areas.

ABBREVIATIONS

ART artemin BDNF brain-derived neurotrophic factor Cdc42 cell division control protein 42 homolog **CNS** central nervous system **CNTF** ciliary neurotrophic factor CT-1 cardiotrophin 1 DRG dorsal root ganglion ERK extracellular signal-regulated kinase ESCRT endosomal sorting complex required for transport FGF fibroblast growth factor FGFR fibroblast growth factor receptor GDNF glial cell-derived neurotrophic factor GFR GDNF receptor gp130 glycoprotein 130 Grb2 growth factor receptor-bound protein 2 **GSK-3** β glykogen synthase kinase 3 beta IGF insulin-like growth factor IL interleukin LIF leukemia inhibitory factor **MVB** multivesicular body **NGF** nerve growth factor NT-3/4/5 neurotrophin-3/4/5 **NTN** neurturin **OSM** oncostatin-M

PACAP pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating peptide
PI3K phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase
PKC protein kinase C
PLC phospholipase C
PNS peripheral nervous system
PNT-1 pan-neurotrophin-1
PSP persephin
RET "rearranged during transfection" (tyrosine kinase receptor)
RTK receptor tyrosine kinase
SCG superior cervical ganglion
siRNA small interfering RNA
STAT signal transducer and activator of transcription
Trk tropomyosin receptor kinase
TSC terminal Schwann cells
VIP vasoactive intestinal peptide

1. KEY PROBLEMS IN PERIPHERAL NERVE REGENERATION: SPROUTING AND MISGUIDANCE OF REGROWING AXONS

1.1. Sprouting of axons at the lesion site

Restoration of function after transection of peripheral nerves is poor (Lundborg, 2003), and the occurrence of a postparalytic syndrome, such as paresis, synkinesis, and dysreflexia, is inevitable (Kerrebijn & Freeman, 1998). As demonstrated in the facial nerve lesion model (Fig. 6.1), insufficient recovery is due to the misdirected reinnervation of muscles (Moran & Graeber, 2004). Thousands of regrowing axons are misguided and fail to rejoin their original nerve fascicles (Baker et al., 1994). Each transected axon can sprout up to 25 branches (Mackinnon, Dellon, & O'Brien, 1991). Excessive sprouting leads to reinnervation of several muscle groups by a single motoneuron, often with antagonizing action. Such axonal misdirection during regeneration causes abnormally associated movements (Ito & Kudo, 1994). Furthermore, upon reaching a target, axons can undergo additional intramuscular sprouting and reinnervate several muscle fibers (Son & Thompson, 1995).

Axonal sprouting has been regarded as an adaptive mechanism to compensate for reduced functional capacity after injury. However, it will inevitably result in the enlargement of motor units (Gordon, Hegedus, & Tam, 2004) and reinnervation of motor endplates by more than one axon, a state known as "polyinnervation" (Rich & Lichtman, 1989; Vleggeert-Lankamp


Figure 6.1 After peripheral nerve injuries, only ~60% of patients regain useful function. Three main problems have been identified. First, axons stop elongating and form local sprouts, resulting in neuroma formation. Second, axons elongate but form sprouts that innervate more than one peripheral nerve branch. Third, false regeneration into the wrong nerve can occur, leading to unsuccessful regeneration, for example, if motor axons grow into sensory nerves or vice versa. Current research efforts attempt to identify the relevant neuronal signaling mechanisms and specifically enhance axon elongation without promoting axonal sprouting at the lesion site.

et al., 2005), with muscle fibers being controlled by two or more asynchronously firing motoneurons. Attempts to inhibit the first step of aberrant reinnervation, that is, achieving a "fascicular specificity" (Evans, Bain, Mackinnon, Makino, & Hunter, 1991; Mackinnon, Dellon, Lundborg, Hudson, & Hunter, 1986), have failed to date. Though claimed to be transient (Hennig & Dietrichs, 1994), misguided axons may persist for extended periods of time with deleterious effects on synchronized function (Mackinnon et al., 1991; Madison, Archibald, Lacin, & Krarup, 1999). Thus, postlesional axonal sprouting results in failure to solely reinnervate the original muscle (Angelov et al., 1999).

Significant problems arise in the sensory system as well. For example, injury-induced sprouting of A-, C- or sympathetic fibers is likely to be involved in the generation of intractable pain at the level of the peripheral nociceptor or within affected dorsal root ganglia (for a review see Ramer, Thompson, & McMahon, 1999). Since neuropathic pain is often exacerbated by increased activity of the sympathetic nervous system, coupling of sympathetic and sensory axons may be involved in the development of neuropathic pain.

1.2. Cellular mechanisms of axonal regeneration and sprouting

Injury to peripheral nerves initiates a complex series of changes distal to the site of injury, collectively known as Wallerian degeneration. Within 24 h after lesion, the axonal content begins to necrotize and axonal debris is phagocytosed by blood-borne macrophages and proliferating Schwann cells (Hirata, Mitoma, Ueno, He, & Kawabuchi, 1999; Perry & Brown, 1992). The process of Wallerian degeneration creates an environment that is highly supportive for axonal growth. When resorption is complete, the Schwann cells form long chains (called bands of Buengner) that bridge the interfragmentary gap and form guidance channels for the regenerating axons on their way to target organs. The preference for axonal growth into a degenerating nerve ensures that the vast majority of axons will regrow into the distal stump if it remains in continuity with the proximal stump (Bisby, Tetzlaff, & Brown, 1995). As stated above, the regenerating axons do not merely elongate toward the distal stump, but respond with axonal sprouting by lateral budding mainly at the nodes of Ranvier up to 6 mm proximal to the injury site. As regeneration proceeds, some of these supernumerary branches are pruned off over a period of up to 12 months (Bray & Aguayo, 1974).

Axonal sprouting begins from the end bulb within 3 h after injury (Sjoberg & Kanje, 1990). The regenerating branches initially lie on the surface of the Schwann cells. Later, these branches increase in diameter and become surrounded by Schwann cell processes. The guidance of these immature axons to their final destination can be considered as a series of short-range projections to intermediate targets under the influence of local guidance cues. Neurons respond to these cues by means of a motile sensory apparatus at the tip of the advancing growth cone, which often does not emerge from the axon at the precise site of injury, but proximal to it (Ziv & Spira, 1997). The initial formation of growth cones occurs before newly synthesized axonal proteins arrive at the site of axon injury, which is too rapid to be dependent on metabolic changes in the cell body (Smith & Skene, 1997). Actin-rich filopodia are responsible for the recognition of specific guidance cues by detecting gradients of trophic or adhesive factors (Lin & Forscher, 1993). Individual filopodia respond to alterations in the environment by changing internal calcium concentration, and filopodia on different parts of the growth cone respond independently via local changes in actin metabolism (Bixby & Harris, 1991; Letourneau, 2009).

1.3. Terminal sprouting of axons in denervated muscles

Regarding the cellular correlates of muscle polyinnervation, it is well known that following nerve injury, denervated terminal Schwann cells (TSCs) enlarge and sprout processes that reach adjacent innervated motor endplates (O'Malley, Waran, & Balice-Gordon, 1999; Reynolds & Woolf, 1992). Using these bridges, TSCs reach, attract, and direct intramuscular axonal sprouts toward denervated endplates (Love & Thompson, 1999; Reddy, Koirala, Sugiura, Herrera, & Ko, 2003). Interestingly, it has been shown that the outgrowth of TSC processes precedes the outgrowth of sprouts from intact intramuscular axons. In other words, TSC are able to initiate intramuscular axonal sprouting (Son & Thompson, 1995). Thus, the beneficial effect of stimulation on muscle reinnervation may be mediated by interfering with the extension of TSC processes and their ability to bridge between the endplates. TSC bridges may be modulated by running exercises (Tam & Gordon, 2003) or electrical stimulation (Love, Son, & Thompson, 2003). Hence, any form of artificially excited muscular activity may inhibit the bridge formation by TSC and reduce postlesional intramuscular sprouting. Considering the molecular correlates of muscle polyinnervation, it should be noted that denervated muscles have been shown to produce short-range diffusible sprouting stimuli (Slack & Pockett, 1982; Zhao, Veltri, Li, Bain, & Fahnestock, 2004). Various neurotrophic factors have been identified as possible candidate stimuli (Raivich & Makwana, 2007; Sendtner, 1998).

2. INDUCTION OF NEURONAL GROWTH FACTORS AND NEUROPOIETIC CYTOKINES FOLLOWING NERVE INJURY

2.1. Polypeptide families involved in peripheral axon regeneration

Neuronal growth factors were originally advocated to be novel treatments to overcome growth arrest by enhancing axon outgrowth during long-distance regeneration, presumably leading to faster recovery of function. They were initially described as target-derived polypeptides synthesized in limited amounts then retrogradely transported along the axon to, ultimately, induce transcriptional events that promote survival and maintenance of neuronal subpopulations required for correct organ innervation (Purves, Snider, & Voyvodic, 1988; Reichardt, 2006). In response to a peripheral nerve injury, a number of neurotrophic factors are upregulated, mainly in glial cells and also in resident or invading macrophages and affected neurons. These

molecules fall into two major classes: the neurotrophic factors (primary roles in neuronal development and adult plasticity) and the neuropoietic cytokines (key functions in various pathological situations, such as trauma, immune responses, and inflammation) (Hopkins & Rothwell, 1995; Lewin & Barde, 1996). They are subgrouped into peptide families according to sequence similarity and homology of receptors to which they bind.

Several comprehensive reviews have described the localization, regulation, and function of neurotrophins (NGF, BDNF, NT-3/4/5), glial cellderived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) family members (GDNF, NTN, PSP, ART), fibroblast growth factors (FGF-1, FGF-2), insulin-like growth factors (IGF-I, IGF-II), neuregulins (GGF), neuropeptides (galanin, VIP, PACAP), and neuropoietic cytokines belonging to the gp130 family (CNTF, LIF, CT-1, OSM, IL-6, IL-11) in the lesioned peripheral nervous system (PNS) (Boyd & Gordon, 2003; Fawcett & Keynes, 1990; Fu & Gordon, 1997; Gordon, 2009; Grothe, Haastert, & Jungnickel, 2006; Hökfelt, Zhang, & Wiesenfeld-Hallin, 1994; Klimaschewski, Kummer, & Heym, 1996; Terenghi, 1999; Zigmond, 2012). Here, we focus our discussion on the ability of these molecules to promote neuronal survival and regeneration in the lesioned PNS, with particular emphasis on their role in axonal sprouting.

2.2. Requirement of growth factors for neuronal survival after lesion in adults

Neurotrophic factors are important for neuronal survival and neurite outgrowth during development. However, during the perinatal and early postnatal period, neurons gradually lose their dependence on trophic support. In fact, the vast majority of axotomized sensory and motor neurons can survive a peripheral nerve injury in adults, provided that the lesion is not located too close to the neuronal cell body (Vanden Noven, Wallace, Muccio, Turtz, & Pinter, 1993; Xu, Forden, Walsh, Gordon, & Midha, 2010). This is confirmed by earlier observations that adult sensory neurons do not depend on trophic factors if dissociated (axotomized) and placed into culture in defined medium (Lindsay, 1996). It should be noted that significant neuron death (up to 30%) following peripheral nerve injury has been described in sensory ganglia of adult animals (Schmalbruch, 1987). Obviously, this cell death occurs in the presence of endogenous upregulation of growth factors and cytokines. It is possible that growth factors themselves actively participate in the induction of neuronal apoptosis in dorsal root ganglia (DRG). For example, increased FGF levels may lead to DRG neuron death via

activation of FGFR3 (Jungnickel, Gransalke, Timmer, & Grothe, 2004). Alternatively, BDNF has been proposed to negatively influence survival and regeneration via activation of p75 (Boyd & Gordon, 2001). On the other hand, there is evidence that exogenous treatment with FGF-2 (via FGFR1), BDNF (via TrkB), GDNF (via RET), or CNTF (via gp130) protects some of the lesioned motor or sensory neurons after axotomy in adult animal models (Boyd & Gordon, 2003; Terenghi, 1999; Verge, Gratto, Karchewski, & Richardson, 1996).

The true significance of lesion-associated growth factors and cytokines for neuronal survival or axon regeneration requires investigation of the appropriate conditional knockout mice lacking these molecules (or their receptors) in Schwann cells and/or axotomized neurons at postnatal age. Unfortunately, these studies are yet to be performed. Until now, the involvement of growth factors and cytokines in peripheral axon regeneration has been demonstrated mainly by classical pharmacologic approaches. As described below, studies applying neutralizing antibodies rule out an absolute requirement for any of the discussed polypeptides during regeneration in the adult PNS.

2.3. Induction of growth factors and cytokines after nerve lesion is cell-type dependent

The neurotrophins NGF, BDNF, NT-4/5, but not NT-3, are induced in Schwann cells in the distal nerve stump after transection (Funakoshi et al., 1993; Heumann, Korsching, Bandtlow, & Thoenen, 1987; Meyer, Matsuoka, Wetmore, Olson, & Thoenen, 1992). The primary neuronal receptor for nerve growth factor (NGF), TrkA, is neither present nor upregulated in axotomized motoneurons, but decreases in a small neuron population of lesioned DRG (Krekoski, Parhad, & Clark, 1996). In contrast, the pan-neurotrophin receptor p75 is upregulated in denervated Schwann cells and motoneurons (Ernfors, Henschen, Olson, & Persson, 1989; Raivich & Kreutzberg, 1993), but diminished in DRG neurons after sciatic nerve lesion (Verge et al., 1996). Furthermore, BDNF, but not NGF, is rapidly upregulated in motoneurons for a few days after lesion (Kobayashi, Bedard, Hincke, & Tetzlaff, 1996). Synthesis of the BDNF receptor, TrkB, is elevated, too. NT-3 is downregulated in axotomized motoneurons (Funakoshi et al., 1993). Following transection of the buccal branch of a rat facial nerve, rapid upregulation of NGF and BDNF is observed during the first few days postlesion (Streppel et al., 2002). GDNF receptors, GFR-α1 and Ret, are upregulated in motoneurons (Burazin & Gundlach,

1998b; Trupp, Belluardo, Funakoshi, & Ibanez, 1997), and synthesis of GFR- α 1 as well as GDNF is increased in the distal nerve following nerve lesion (Naveilhan, Elshamy, & Ernfors, 1997).

FGF-2 isoforms are strongly and rapidly upregulated in response to peripheral nerve lesions. In sympathetic ganglia, expression of low and high molecular weight FGF-2 isoforms is induced at the mRNA and protein level within 24 h after axotomy (Klimaschewski, Meisinger, & Grothe, 1999). In lesioned sciatic nerves, FGF-2 isoforms and FGF receptors (type-1, -2, and -3) are induced in Schwann cells 1 week after lesion. Moreover, FGF-2 is detected in DRG neurons (Grothe et al., 2006; Grothe, Meisinger, Hertenstein, Kurz, & Wewetzer, 1997; Meisinger & Grothe, 1997). Following transection of the facial nerve, upregulation of FGF-2 and IGF-I is observed in Schwann cells of the distal nerve stump, invading macrophages and target muscles of the whisker pad (Glazner, Morrison, & Ishii, 1994; Streppel et al., 2002).

Among neuropeptides with growth factor-like activity (Tatemoto, Rökaeus, Jörnvall, McDonald, & Mutt, 1983), galanin is dramatically upregulated in response to axotomy of sympathetic (Klimaschewski, Grohmann, & Heym, 1996; Klimaschewski, Tran, Nobiling, & Heym, 1994; Mohney, Siegel, & Zigmond, 1994; Schreiber, Hyatt-Sachs, Bennett, & Zigmond, 1994), sensory (Dahlin, Stenberg, & Kanje, 2003; Holmes et al., 2000; Ma & Bisby, 1997; Villar et al., 1989), and motor neurons (Burazin & Gundlach, 1998a; Rutherfurd, Widdop, Louis, & Gundlach, 1992; Saika et al., 1991). Previous studies showed elevated galanin peptide and mRNA in lesioned peripheral ganglia in a majority of axotomized neurons for at least 1 month after nerve injury. Similarly, the proportion of galanin mRNA-expressing neurons in human sensory ganglia increases from approximately 13% of cervicothoracic neurons to \sim 33% after brachial plexus lesion (Landry et al., 2003). Nerve transection also influences the level of another neuropeptide, pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating peptide (PACAP), that belongs to the secretin/vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP) family (Arimura et al., 1994). PACAP is upregulated within 24 h after nerve lesion in sensory ganglia (Pettersson, Dahlin, & Danielsen, 2004; Zhang et al., 1996), the sympathetic superior cervical ganglion (Klimaschewski, Hauser, & Heym, 1996; Moller et al., 1997), and the adult rat facial motor nucleus (Zhou et al., 1999). VIP is a 28-amino acid peptide (Said & Mutt, 1970) that is also upregulated after axotomy. VIP expression increases in a subpopulation of mainly intermediate to large-sized neurons of the axotomized rat superior cervical ganglion (Klimaschewski

et al., 1994; Mohney et al., 1994), which is partially due to the release of LIF after axotomy (Sun & Zigmond, 1996).

LIF is an important neuropoietic cytokine rapidly induced at the site of injury, along with CNTFR α , IL6-R, and gp130 (Ito et al., 1998). IL-6 is transiently upregulated in axotomized motoneurons (Kiefer, Lindholm, & Kreutzberg, 1993) and Schwann cells after sciatic nerve injury (Ito et al., 1998). Expression of the signal transduction subunit for all of these cytokines, gp130, is unchanged in axotomized sympathetic (Banner & Patterson, 1994), sensory (Brazda, Klusakova, Svizenska, Veselkova, & Dubovy, 2009), and facial motor neurons (Haas, Hofmann, & Kirsch, 1999), but downregulated in motoneurons after sciatic nerve lesion, whereas specific LIF receptors are induced (Hammarberg, Piehl, Risling, & Cullheim, 2000). CNTF is strongly expressed in Schwann cells of the intact nerve, but its expression decreases in response to injury (Friedman et al., 1992; Sendtner, Stöckli, & Thoenen, 1992). Recently, IL-1 β was shown to be increased in Schwann cells within 1 day after sciatic nerve lesion (Temporin et al., 2008).

3. EXOGENOUS MODULATION OF GROWTH FACTORS AND CYTOKINES AT THE LESION SITE

3.1. Functional significance of neuronal growth factors as putative treatments for PNS lesions

Over the years, the possibility of enhancing the regenerative potential of lesioned neurons by exogenous application of growth-promoting molecules has been addressed in a number of studies. Local application of growth factors to the lesioned nerve resulted in enhanced axon outgrowth, which was often accompanied by stimulation of axon sprouting. Neurotrophins act as potent promoters of axon outgrowth *in vitro*, even in the presence of CNS inhibitors (Cai, Shen, De Bellard, Tang, & Filbin, 1999). NGF, BDNF, and NT-3 have all been shown to reverse various changes induced by axotomy of neonatal and adult sensory neurons (Eriksson, Lindsay, & Aldskogius, 1994; Verge et al., 1992; Verge, Richardson, Wiesenfeld-Hallin, & Hökfelt, 1995). On the other hand, the decreased availability of NGF after axotomy may be the appropriate stimulus to induce the conditioning lesion effect (Shoemaker, Sachs, Vaccariello, & Zigmond, 2006), that is, enhanced axon outgrowth following axotomy if neurons have been injured some days before (preconditioned). Peripheral axon regeneration in vivo is enhanced by administration of NGF to the lesion site (Terenghi, 1999). However,

antibody-mediated neutralization of NGF does not interfere with regeneration (Diamond, Foerster, Holmes, & Coughlin, 1992; Lankford et al., 2013; Rich, Yip, Osborne, Schmidt, & Johnson, 1984). Rather, it reduces the maladaptive axonal sprouting (Krenz, Meakin, Krassioukov, & Weaver, 1999). NGF and BDNF also play a major role in facial nerve (Streppel et al., 2002) and sympathetic sprouting (Ramer et al., 1999) since treatment with neutralizing antibodies significantly reduce sprouting of facial axons and basket formation in DRGs.

BDNF promotes local axon regeneration of motoneurons after ventral root avulsion (Kishino, Ishige, Tatsuno, Nakayama, & Noguchi, 1997; Novikov, Novikova, & Kellerth, 1997a, 1997b) and increases size and myelin thickness of regenerating sciatic nerve axons, particularly in combination with CNTF (Lewin, Utley, Cheng, Verity, & Terris, 1997). Exogenous BDNF or GDNF, however, do not increase the proportion of regenerating neurons or functional recovery, but contribute significantly to axonal sprouting (Gordon, 2009). Antibodies against BDNF interfere with axon regeneration, reduce the density of myelinated axons, and impair sensory reinnervation (Zhang, Luo, Xian, Liu, & Zhou, 2000). When applied continuously to the lesion site, BDNF and GDNF both increase the number of regenerating neurons in a chronic lesion model, where nerve transection is followed by delayed nerve repair after 1 month (for a review see Gordon, 2009). BDNF and TrkB are induced by brief electrical stimulation (20 Hz) and, thereby, promote axon regeneration across the surgical lesion site at which axons grow in a much slower and staggered fashion (in contrast to the more continuous growth rate of 1–3 mm/day observed during distal stump regeneration). Sustained delivery of NGF, GDNF, or NT-3 to the injury site via synthetic nerve guidance channels promotes regeneration of both sensory and motor axons over long gaps (Barras, Pasche, Bouche, Aebischer, & Zurn, 2002; Fine, Decosterd, Papaloizos, Zurn, & Aebischer, 2002).

Neurotrophin (NT)-3 and NT-4/5 also contribute to regeneration in the PNS. Lesioned nerves treated with NT-4 have more regenerated axons with increased diameter and myelin (Yin, Kemp, Yu, Wagstaff, & Frostick, 2001). This is supported by studies in mice with deletion of NT-4/5 that exhibit a decreased axon regeneration rate and reduced response to electrical stimulation (English, Meador, & Carrasco, 2005; English, Schwartz, Meador, Sabatier, & Mulligan, 2007). NT-3 has been shown to support functional regeneration of large diameter afferent axons into the spinal cord after rhizotomy (Ramer et al., 2002) and improve muscle mass and reinnervation of fast muscle fibers (Sterne, Coulton, Brown, Green, & Terenghi, 1997). Furthermore, delivery of NT-3 restores motor and sensory conduction velocities similar to GDNF treatment (Munson, Shelton, & McMahon, 1997). Nerve lesion in transgenic mice expressing a chimeric neurotrophin, pan-neurotrophin-1 (PNT-1), increases axonal sprouting, but apparently improves motor and sensory innervation of the paw following sciatic nerve crush (Funakoshi et al., 1998).

Insulin-like growth factors (IGFs) control Schwann cell viability (Meier, Parmantier, Brennan, Mirsky, & Jessen, 1999), promote neurite outgrowth of motoneurons (Neff et al., 1993), increase regeneration rate *in vivo* after lesions of the sciatic nerve (Pu, Zhuang, Marsh, & Ishii, 1999), and enhance axonal regeneration in chronically injured neurons (Houle, Ye, & Kane, 1996). The neutralization of IGF causes a sustained reduction in regeneration rate (Glazner, Lupien, Miller, & Ishii, 1993; Near, Whalen, Miller, & Ishii, 1992).

FGFs promote axonal regeneration across a collagen-filled nerve conduit (Aebischer, Salessiotis, & Winn, 1989) and related regeneration models (Danielsen, Pettmann, Vahlsing, Manthorpe, & Varon, 1988; Fujimoto, Mizoguchi, Hanada, Yajima, & Ide, 1997). Conversely, neutralization of FGF-2 causes a significant decrease in the number of regenerating axons (Chen et al., 1999). Channels containing Schwann cells overexpressing the high molecular weight isoform of FGF-2 are particularly useful for promoting regeneration, since axon sprouting appears to be reduced and recovery of thermoception is faster (Haastert, Lipokatic, Fischer, Timmer, & Grothe, 2006; Timmer, Robben, Muller-Ostermeyer, Nikkhah, & Grothe, 2003). This is consistent with our own observations that adult sensory neurons taken from prelesioned animals exhibit longer axons with a reduced number of branches if treated with FGF-2 versus NGF (Klimaschewski, Nindl, Feurle, Kavakebi, & Kostron, 2004). Due to their effects on mitogenesis of mesoderm- and neuroectoderm-derived cells, it is assumed that FGFs not only directly support axonal regeneration but also increase proliferation of Schwann cells and enhance angiogenesis (Aebischer et al., 1989). However, conflicting data come from knockout studies. FGF-2-deficient mice were found to have five times more regenerated myelinated axons with increased myelin and axon diameters compared to wild type if analyzed close to the injury site (Jungnickel, Claus, Gransalke, Timmer, & Grothe, 2004). In FGF-2-overexpressing mice, the number of regenerated axons doubled, but myelin thickness was significantly less 1 week after sciatic nerve crush (Jungnickel, Haase,

Konitzer, Timmer, & Grothe, 2006). Morphometric analysis and functional tests revealed no differences in recovery of sensory and motor nerve fibers in these animals. The number of proliferating cells was significantly increased distal to the crush site compared to wild type, suggesting that endogenously synthesized FGF-2 influences early peripheral nerve regeneration mainly by regulating Schwann cell proliferation and remyelination (reviewed in Grothe et al., 2006).

3.2. Reduction of axonal sprouting by application of neutralizing antibodies to trophic factors

The excessive axonal sprouting could, at least in part, be due to increased expression of trophic molecules at the lesion site. Accordingly, inhibition or blockade of these factors would reduce sprouting and improve the accuracy of reinnervation. Therefore, neutralizing antibodies to several neurotrophic agents were tested in the facial nerve lesion model. Following analysis of local protein expression, the facial nerve trunk of adult rats was transected and both ends were inserted into a silicon tube containing collagen gel with neutralizing concentrations of antibodies to NGF, BDNF, FGF-2, IGF-I, CNTF, and GDNF alone or in combination. Two months later, retrograde labeling was used to estimate the proportion of motoneurons with axons present in all of the three major branches of the facial nerve. Anti-NGF, anti-BDNF, and anti-IGF-I significantly reduced axon sprouting. The most pronounced effect was achieved after application of anti-BDNF, which reduced the portion of branched neurons to 18%. All effects after single application of antibodies were concentration-dependent and superior to those observed after combined treatment. Thus, treatment with antibodies against NGF, BDNF, FGF-2, IGF-I, CNTF, or GDNF nearly doubles the precision of reinnervation, as evaluated by multiple retrograde labeling of motoneurons, compared to control animals (Streppel et al., 2002).

3.3. Effects of exogenous neuropeptides and cytokines on axon regeneration

Galanin and PACAP38 are utilized as modulators of synaptic transmission under normal conditions (Klimaschewski, Kummer, et al., 1996), but act as potent inducers of peripheral axon sprouting in motor and sensory neurons after axotomy. Treatment of DRG neurons with either peptide stimulates axonal branching *in vitro*, and application of galanin or PACAP38 to transected facial nerve dramatically increases the number of facial neurons with axon collaterals in different branches (Suarez et al., 2006). Functional analysis of these animals revealed that the peptides negatively affect the reinnervation of the whisker pad. Endogenous galanin or PACAP38 may be released to directly activate intracellular signaling pathways involved in axon sprouting after nerve lesion. This hypothesis is confirmed by nerve lesion studies in mice lacking PACAP (Armstrong et al., 2008), galanin (Holmes et al., 2000), or galanin receptors (Hobson, Holmes, Kerr, Pope, & Wynick, 2006).

Cytokines involved in neuropeptide regulation, such as LIF and IL-6, enhance axonal growth in lesioned DRGs (Thompson & Majithia, 1998). Based on partial denervation studies in knockout mice, CNTF also contributes to axonal sprouting (Siegel, Patton, & English, 2000). IL-6 improves axon regeneration in the lesioned hypoglossal (Hirota, Kiyama, Kishimoto, & Taga, 1996) and sciatic nerve (Zhong, Dietzel, Wahle, Kopf, & Heumann, 1999), and IL-6 knockout mice show impairment in sensory, but not motor, reinnervation after sciatic nerve crush (Yao, Moir, Wang, To, & Terris, 1999). These mice exhibit a prominent decrease in inflammatory response around facial neurons after axotomy, accompanied by a moderate reduction in peripheral axon regeneration (Galiano et al., 2001). Interestingly, IL-6 appears to act as a key mediator for the conditioning of lesion-induced enhanced regeneration in injured dorsal column afferents (Cafferty et al., 2004).

4. INTRANEURONAL MECHANISMS UNDERLYING AXON ELONGATION VERSUS SPROUTING

To understand the cellular and molecular biology of the different modes of axon regeneration (axon elongation, axon sprouting/branching, and axon collateralization), it is important to first consider the growth cone forming at the tip of lesioned axons in more detail. Flattened processes (lamellipodia) and numerous stiff fine processes (filopodia) extend from a central core, giving the growth cone a shape similar to a webbed foot. Three major intracellular cytoskeletal components are responsible for the cytomechanical forces at the leading edge of elongating axons: actin microfilaments, myosin, and microtubules (Challacombe, Snow, & Letourneau, 1996). Growth cone formation begins with restructuring of neurofilaments and microtubules to form a region proximal to the tip of the transected axon in which vesicles accumulate. This rearrangement of the cytoskeleton forms a transient cellular compartment that traps the transported vesicles and serves as a locus for microtubule polymerization. Microtubuli, in turn, facilitate the fusion of vesicles with the plasma membrane, promoting the extension of growth cone lamellipodia (Spira, Oren, Dormann, & Gitler, 2003).

Axonal branching can occur via two mechanisms. During terminal branching, the bifurcation of the growth cone gives rise to two or more axon branches. In contrast, interstitial branching results in de novo initiation of axon branches from previously quiescent regions of the axon (Bastmeyer & O'Leary, 1996; Schmidt & Rathjen, 2010). Terminal branching is believed to occur only during early axonal outgrowth, whereas interstitial branching is observed during development and regeneration. During transition from a dynamic filopodium to a stable branch, microtubule bundles splay apart and form loops. Microtubules are then fragmented into shorter pieces, which invade actin-rich structures in the newly formed branch (Gallo, 1998; Kalil, Szebenyi, & Dent, 2000). Subsequently, microtubules become bundled again, thereby stabilizing the new branch (Fig. 6.2). Collateral axon branches are formed by neighboring uninjured axons, a process which is distinct from sprouting of lesioned axons. Axons often stop elongating before they start to develop branches (Dent & Gertler, 2003). Sprouting and elongation are regulated by different signaling mechanisms, and inhibitors of axon elongation have almost no effect on collateral branch formation (Gallo & Letourneau, 1998). Similarly, inhibition of branching rarely affects axonal elongation (Szebenyi et al., 2001).

4.1. Neuronal signaling pathways activated by growth factors and cytokines

As outlined above, the growth of axons is strongly influenced by neurotrophic factors and cytokines during development and regeneration of the nervous system (Boyd & Gordon, 2003; Chen, Yu, & Strickland, 2007). While neuropeptides act via specific G-protein-coupled receptors, cytokines utilize the gp130 transmembrane receptor, which leads to activation of JAK/Tyk tyrosine kinases and STAT transcription factors. Growth factors elicit a response via receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs) at the plasma membrane of neurons. Ligand-induced activation and autophosphorylation of RTKs result in the recruitment of adapter molecules, followed by activation of several intracellular signaling pathways (Zhou & Snider, 2006). The main signaling cascades required for axon growth are the Ras/extracellular signalregulated kinase (ERK) and the phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase (PI3K)/Akt pathways (Fig. 6.3). Although signaling pathways overlap for receptors of neuropeptides, cytokines, and growth factors, the duration and strength



Figure 6.2 Immunocytochemical staining of axons for neuronal class III β -tubulin in the rat buccal branch of the facial nerve. Representative longitudinal sections of an intact nerve with no axonal branching (A), of the proximal stump of the transected nerve inserted into an empty silicon tube displaying vigorous axonal branching (B), and of the proximal fragment, which had been inserted into a silicon tube filled with 10 µg/ml taxol in collagen (C). Please note the reduced amount of axonal branches by taxol which acts via stabilizing microtubules.



Figure 6.3 The PI3K/Akt- and Ras/Raf/ERK-signaling pathways are activated by receptor tyrosine kinases upon growth factor binding which is here exemplified by FGF-dependent activation of the FGF receptor (FGFR1). Both pathways are crucial for axon outgrowth during development and regeneration. The activation of the ERK machinery is implicated in neuronal survival and elongative axon growth following injury. PI3K/Akt signaling is central to the regulation of cytoskeletal proteins and is linked to neuronal survival and axonal branching. Controlled by PI3K signaling, small GTPases are key regulators of the growth factor-dependent effects on microtubule dynamics and actin polymerization.

of their activation differ with respect to receptor isoforms between families and even within the same family. Here, we will focus our discussion on growth factor-dependent RTKs.

Upon ligand-induced activation of RTKs, the ligand-receptor complex is internalized by endocytosis and transported through the cytoplasm in early and late endosomes/multivesicular bodies (MVBs) and finally lysosomes (Fig. 6.4; Romanelli & Wood, 2008). The signaling endosomes are transported to considerable distances by retrograde axonal transport (Grimes et al., 1996). The whole complex, including the transport vesicle, ligand, receptor, and eventually downstream signaling molecules, is carried by the motor protein dynein along microtubules. Upon arrival at the cell body, some of the signaling molecules are released, pass through the nuclear pore, and regulate neuronal gene expression (Wu et al., 2007). Unlike RTKs



Figure 6.4 Intraneuronal transport of growth factors and their receptors. Receptors (green) are synthesized at the rough endoplasmic reticulum (gray), shuttled to the Golgi apparatus (blue) for posttranslational modification and incorporated into the plasma membrane via vesicle exocytosis. Upon stimulation with the appropriate ligand (red) various signaling cascades are activated. The receptors are internalized by endocytosis at the injury site (growth cones) and at the plasma membrane of the perikaryon, since growth factors and cytokines are also released from glial cells located around neuronal cell bodies. At the level of the early endosome, it is then decided whether the receptor is shuttled back to the cell surface via recycling endosomes or whether the early endosomes fuse with multivesicular bodies targeting the receptors for degradation inside lysosomes (yellow).

located at the plasma membrane, receptors within endosomal membranes can continue to stimulate activation of distinct signaling pathways (Sorkin & Von, 2002; Zhang, Moheban, Conway, Bhattacharyya, & Segal, 2000). Signaling of the receptor stops upon transfer to the lysosome as a consequence of endosomal sorting complex required for transport (ESCRT)-mediated endocytosis into the inner membranes of the MVB. Alternatively, receptors located in early endosomes may be recycled back to the plasma membrane either directly or via the endocytic recycling compartment (Platta & Stenmark, 2011). The decision of whether a receptor signals from the outer plasma membrane or from recycling endosomes is critical for axon regeneration (Fig. 6.5). Enhanced recycling of RTKs has recently been demonstrated to promote elongative axon growth *in vitro* (Ascano,



Figure 6.5 Plasma membrane-bound RTKs (e.g., FGFR1) primarily stimulate PI3K to promote axonal branching, whereas endocytosis of FGFR1 into early endosomes is strongly activating the ERK pathway to induce axon elongation. The balance of activation of ERK over PI3K appears to be the decisive parameter for long-distance regeneration of adult peripheral neurons.

Richmond, Borden, & Kuruvilla, 2009; Hausott, Schlick, Vallant, Dorn, & Klimaschewski, 2008; Hausott, Vallant, Hochfilzer, Mangger, Irschick, Haugsten et al., 2012).

Both the Ras/ERK and the PI3K/Akt pathways are required for growth factor-dependent axon regeneration, and each pathway induces distinct axonal morphologies (Atwal, Massie, Miller, & Kaplan, 2000; Markus, Zhong, & Snider, 2002). Furthermore, activation of PI3K/Akt and downstream targets represents the primary survival pathway in neurons (Crowder & Freeman, 1998; Dudek et al., 1997). The Ras/ERK pathway plays a role in neuronal survival following cell injury as well (Hetman, Kanning, Cavanaugh, & Xia, 1999).

4.1.1 The ERK pathway

The Ras/ERK pathway includes the kinases Raf and MEK, which activate the serine/threonine kinase ERK (Fig. 6.3). This intracellular cascade is mainly responsible for the regulation of gene expression required for axon growth (Zhou & Snider, 2006). Furthermore, ERK is required for local axon assembly and polymerization of microtubules and actin filaments

(Goold & Gordon-Weeks, 2005). Accordingly, inhibition of ERK induces actin depolymerization and growth cone collapse (Atwal, Singh, Tessier-Lavigne, Miller, & Kaplan, 2003). Phosphorylation of ERK is enhanced in regenerating nerves in response to sciatic nerve crush (Agthong, Kaewsema, Tanomsridejchai, & Chentanez, 2006; Yamazaki et al., 2009) or transection (Sheu, Kulhanek, & Eckenstein, 2000). In addition, ERK is necessary for retrograde signaling (Perlson et al., 2005). Cell culture studies with embryonic DRG and SCG neurons revealed that ERK is mainly involved in elongative axon growth (Atwal et al., 2000; Markus et al., 2002). The duration and/or strength of the ERK signal influence the rate of neurite outgrowth. Different tyrosine kinase receptors vary in their ability to generate long-lived signaling endosomes, which elicit long-term ERK activation (Wiley & Burke, 2001). Sustained ERK activation is required for neurite outgrowth in PC12 pheochromocytoma cells, whereas transient ERK activation leads to proliferation in this cell line (Traverse, Gomez, Paterson, Marshall, & Cohen, 1992).

Inhibition of ERK has no effect on spontaneous axon outgrowth of adult DRG explants, while growth factor-induced outgrowth is significantly impaired (Sjogreen, Wiklund, & Ekstrom, 2000; Sondell, Lundborg, & Kanje, 1999). Furthermore, ERK is required for axotomy-induced growth cone formation after in vitro axon lesions (Chierzi, Ratto, Verma, & Fawcett, 2005) and axon growth of preaxotomized DRG explants, which model in vivo conditions controlled by growth factors (Wiklund, Ekstrom, & Edstrom, 2002). In dissociated adult DRG neuron cultures, conflicting reports on inhibition of ERK have demonstrated both no effect on intrinsic axon outgrowth (Kimpinski & Mearow, 2001; Tucker, Rahimtula, & Mearow, 2008) and possible stimulation of outgrowth (Jones, Tucker, Rahimtula, & Mearow, 2003). Furthermore, regenerative axon growth in response to a preconditioning lesion is not affected by ERK inhibition in dissociated DRG cultures (Liu & Snider, 2001). Although some studies are controversial, probably due to different culture conditions, ERK appears to have an important role in growth factor-induced axon elongation and axon maintenance.

4.1.2 The PI3K pathway

The PI3K pathway is involved in the reorganization of actin filaments of the axonal cytoskeleton through Rac and Cdc42, as well as microtubules via inhibition of GSK-3 β (Fig. 6.3; Zhou & Snider, 2006). Thus, inactivation of GSK-3 β leads to enhanced axon growth in adult DRG neurons (Jones

et al., 2003). PI3K is activated at the leading edge of the growth cone (Zhou, Zhou, Dedhar, Wu, & Snider, 2004). Phosphorylation of Akt downstream of PI3K is enhanced in regenerating nerves after sciatic nerve crush (Yamazaki et al., 2009). It is clear that PI3K activity induces branching and turning of axons (Gallo & Letourneau, 1998; Ming et al., 1999). Consistent with these results, enhanced phosphorylation of Akt increases axonal branching in both developing and adult DRG neurons (Jones et al., 2003; Markus et al., 2002). PI3K also mediates branching of sensory axons induced by NGF (Gallo & Letourneau, 1998). NT-3 is a stronger activator of Akt than NGF in embryonic DRG cultures (Markus et al., 2002). Accordingly, NT-3 induces more highly branched axon morphologies than NGF (Lentz, Snider, Knudson, Korsmeyer, & 1999; Ulupinar, Jacquin, & Erzurumlu, 2000).

Inhibition of PI3K decreases spontaneous and growth factor-induced axon outgrowth in adult DRG explants (Edström & Ekström, 2003) and in dissociated adult DRG neuron cultures (Jones et al., 2003; Kimpinski & Mearow, 2001). In contrast, as with ERK inhibition, regenerative axon growth in response to a preconditioning lesion is not affected by PI3K inhibition in dissociated DRG cultures (Liu & Snider, 2001). Furthermore, PI3K inhibition has no effect on growth cone initiation after axotomy of adult DRG explants (Chierzi et al., 2005). Thus, in contrast to the ERK pathway, PI3K signaling is involved in spontaneous and growth factor-induced axon outgrowth and branching.

4.2. Sprouty negative feedback inhibitors of RTK signaling

RTK signaling is tightly regulated by negative and positive feedback mechanisms (Lemmon & Schlessinger, 2010). As discussed above, activation of the ERK pathway promotes axonal elongation. Sprouty proteins belong to a group of intracellular negative feedback inhibitors of the ERK pathway (Hanafusa, Torii, Yasunaga, & Nishida, 2002; Tefft et al., 2002; Yusoff et al., 2002). Four functionally conserved Sprouty proteins (Sprouty1–4) exist in mammals, of which Sprouty-1, -2, and -4 represent the major isoforms (Minowada et al., 1999; Ozaki, Miyazaki, Tanimura, & Kohno, 2005). In response to growth factor stimulation, Sprouty-1 and -2 bind Grb2, thereby preventing downstream Ras/ERK activation (Fig. 6.3). Furthermore, Sprouty-2 and -4 bind Raf to interfere with ERK activation downstream of Ras (Sasaki et al., 2003). Additional inhibition of the PLC/PKC pathway (Akbulut et al., 2010; Ayada et al., 2009) and Rac1 GTPase has been described (Alsina et al., 2012; Poppleton et al., 2004). In contrast, activation of Akt or p38 is not inhibited by Sprouty-2 (Hausott et al., 2009).

Sprouty proteins were analyzed in great detail over the last few years. Knockdown of Sprouty-2 or -4 strongly promotes axonal elongation of hippocampal pyramidal neurons, and this effect is enhanced by FGF-2 (Hausott, Vallant, Hochfilzer, et al., 2012; Hausott, Vallant, Schlick, et al., 2012). In the PNS, Sprouty-2 is highly expressed in the adult DRG. Downregulation of Sprouty-2 induces elongative axon growth of adult DRG neurons without stimulating additional branching (Fig. 6.6). Conversely, overexpression of Sprouty-2 inhibits axon growth of adult DRG neurons. Enhanced activation of ERK was observed in sensory neuron cultures in response to inhibition of Sprouty-2 (Hausott et al., 2009). Although Sprouty-2 mRNA is not regulated in vivo in response to a sciatic nerve lesion (Hausott et al., 2009), Sprouty-2 protein levels are reduced posttranscriptionally by micro-RNA miR-21 (Strickland et al., 2011). Interestingly, upregulation of miRNA-21 is observed in the DRG 2 days after axotomy. This increase is sustained up to 28 days after injury, indicating an important role for Sprouty-2 during peripheral axon regeneration. Recent results from our laboratory suggest that a 50% reduction of Sprouty-2 in vivo in heterozygous Sprouty-2 knockout mice is sufficient to significantly enhance axon elongation and accelerate functional recovery (Marvaldi et al., unpublished). Thus, accumulating evidence suggests that targeting endogenous inhibitors of ERK signaling promotes rapid and specific axon regeneration via promotion of axon elongation without stimulation of axon sprouting.



Figure 6.6 Sensory neurons extend axons over 24 h in culture. Neurons dissociated from heterozygous Sprouty2 knockout DRG exhibit longer axons (longest axon indicated in red) as compared to neurons obtained from wild-type littermates (Marvaldi et al., unpublished). The extent of axonal branching is not affected (examples of axonal branch points indicated by circles). Sprouty2 acts as a negative feedback inhibitor of the ERK, but not of the PI3K-signaling pathway. Bar = 100 μ m.

5. CONCLUSIONS

Considering recent technical advances in the life sciences, it is now feasible to apply drugs intrathecally or via mini osmotic pumps and bioresorbable substances in patients with severe nerve lesions. As discussed in this review, polypeptidergic growth factors and neuropoietic cytokines can improve the extent, but not the specificity, of peripheral axon regeneration due to their stimulation of axon branching. Results from spinal cord injury models reveal that combinatorial treatment strategies may be required, including cAMP-elevating agents, electrical stimulation, and inhibitors of axonal sprouting, such as Sprouty siRNAs. Interfering with intraneuronal RTK degradation and increasing ERK signaling from early endosomes represent novel strategies to promote long-distance axon regeneration. Guidance factors (adhesion molecules or gradients of extracellular factors) may also be necessary to ensure that axons find their way to their original target. Recovery of specific motor patterns in patients with proximal lesions of the facial nerve, for example, will be particularly difficult to achieve. Correct reinnervation of the facial muscles may also require extensive training after axon regeneration is completed. The complexities of growth factors and cytokines in CNS lesions, such as development of spasticity in response to BDNF treatment (Lu et al., 2012), appear to be reduced in the PNS. Hence, the PNS will remain the primary research field to study neurotrophic factors and cytokines, their receptors and signaling pathways with the aim to ultimately develop new therapeutic approaches that promote fast and specific axon regeneration, leading to fully functional recovery following peripheral nerve injury.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to acknowledge COST B-30 Action on Neural Regeneration and Plasticity and working groups therein for valuable discussion. B. H. received funding from the Swarovski Funds.

REFERENCES

Aebischer, P., Salessiotis, A. N., & Winn, S. R. (1989). Basic fibroblast growth factor released from synthetic guidance channels facilitates peripheral nerve regeneration across long nerve gaps. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 23, 282–289.

Agthong, S., Kaewsema, A., Tanomsridejchai, N., & Chentanez, V. (2006). Activation of MAPK ERK in peripheral nerve after injury. *BMC Neuroscience*, 7, 45.

- Akbulut, S., Reddi, A. L., Aggarwal, P., Ambardekar, C., Canciani, B., Kim, M. K., et al. (2010). Sprouty proteins inhibit receptor-mediated activation of phosphatidylinositolspecific phospholipase C. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, 21, 3487–3496.
- Alsina, F. C., Irala, D., Fontanet, P. A., Hita, F. J., Ledda, F., & Paratcha, G. (2012). Sprouty4 Is an endogenous negative modulator of TrkA signaling and neuronal differentiation induced by NGF. *PLoS One*, 7, e32087.
- Angelov, D. N., Skouras, E., Guntinas-Lichius, O., Streppel, M., Popratiloff, A., Walther, M., et al. (1999). Contralateral trigeminal nerve lesion reduces polyneuronal muscle innervation after facial nerve repair in rats. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, 11, 1369–1378.
- Arimura, A., Somogyvari-Vigh, A., Weill, C., Fiore, R. C., Tatsuno, I., Bay, V., et al. (1994). PACAP functions as a neurotrophic factor. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 739, 228–243.
- Armstrong, B. D., Abad, C., Chhith, S., Cheung-Lau, G., Hajji, O. E., Nobuta, H., et al. (2008). Impaired nerve regeneration and enhanced neuroinflammatory response in mice lacking pituitary adenylyl cyclase activating peptide. *Neuroscience*, 151, 63–73.
- Ascano, M., Richmond, A., Borden, P., & Kuruvilla, R. (2009). Axonal targeting of Trk receptors via transcytosis regulates sensitivity to neurotrophin responses. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 29, 11674–11685.
- Atwal, J. K., Massie, B., Miller, F. D., & Kaplan, D. R. (2000). The TrkB-Shc site signals neuronal survival and local axon growth via MEK and PI3-kinase. *Neuron*, 27, 265–277.
- Atwal, J. K., Singh, K. K., Tessier-Lavigne, M., Miller, F. D., & Kaplan, D. R. (2003). Semaphorin 3F antagonizes neurotrophin-induced phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase signaling: A mechanism for growth cone collapse. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 23, 7602–7609.
- Ayada, T., Taniguchi, K., Okamoto, F., Kato, R., Komune, S., Takaesu, G., et al. (2009). Sprouty4 negatively regulates protein kinase C activation by inhibiting phosphatidylinositol 4,5-biphosphate hydrolysis. *Oncogene*, 28, 1076–1088.
- Baker, R. S., Stava, M. W., Nelson, K. R., May, P. J., Huffman, M. D., & Porter, J. D. (1994). Aberrant reinnervation of facial musculature in a subhuman primate: A correlative analysis of eyelid kinematics, muscle synkinesis, and motoneuron localization. *Neurology*, 44, 2165–2173.
- Banner, L. R., & Patterson, P. H. (1994). Major changes in the expression of the mRNAs for cholinergic differentiation factor/leukemia inhibitory factor and its receptor after injury to adult peripheral nerves and ganglia. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 91, 7109–7113.
- Barras, F. M., Pasche, P., Bouche, N., Aebischer, P., & Zurn, A. D. (2002). Glial cell linederived neurotrophic factor released by synthetic guidance channels promotes facial nerve regeneration in the rat. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 70, 746–755.
- Bastmeyer, M., & O'Leary, D. D. (1996). Dynamics of target recognition by interstitial axon branching along developing cortical axons. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 16, 1450–1459.
- Bisby, M. A., Tetzlaff, W., & Brown, M. C. (1995). Cell body response to injury in motoneurons and primary sensory neurons of a mutant mouse, Ola (Wld), in which Wallerian degeneration is delayed. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 359, 653–662.
- Bixby, J. L., & Harris, W. A. (1991). Molecular mechanisms of axon growth and guidance. Annual Review of Cell Biology, 7, 117–159.
- Boyd, J. G., & Gordon, T. (2001). The neurotrophin receptors, trkB and p75, differentially regulate motor axonal regeneration. *Journal of Neurobiology*, *49*, 314–325.
- Boyd, J. G., & Gordon, T. (2003). Neurotrophic factors and their receptors in axonal regeneration and functional recovery after peripheral nerve injury. *Molecular Neurobiology*, 27, 277–324.

- Bray, G. M., & Aguayo, A. J. (1974). Regeneration of peripheral unmyelinated nerves. Fate of the axonal sprouts which develop after injury. *Journal of Anatomy*, 117, 517–529.
- Brazda, V., Klusakova, I., Svizenska, I., Veselkova, Z., & Dubovy, P. (2009). Bilateral changes in IL-6 protein, but not in its receptor gp130, in rat dorsal root ganglia following sciatic nerve ligature. *Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology*, 29, 1053–1062.
- Burazin, T. C., & Gundlach, A. L. (1998a). Inducible galanin and GalR2 receptor system in motor neuron injury and regeneration. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 71, 879–882.
- Burazin, T. C., & Gundlach, A. L. (1998b). Up-regulation of GDNFR-α and c-ret mRNA in facial motor neurons following facial nerve injury in the rat. *Brain Research. Molecular Brain Research*, 55, 331–336.
- Cafferty, W. B., Gardiner, N. J., Das, P., Qiu, J., McMahon, S. B., & Thompson, S. W. (2004). Conditioning injury-induced spinal axon regeneration fails in interleukin-6 knock-out mice. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 24, 4432–4443.
- Cai, D., Shen, Y., De Bellard, M., Tang, S., & Filbin, M. T. (1999). Prior exposure to neurotrophins blocks inhibition of axonal regeneration by MAG and myelin via a cAMPdependent mechanism. *Neuron*, 22, 89–101.
- Challacombe, J. F., Snow, D. M., & Letourneau, P. C. (1996). Actin filament bundles are required for microtubule reorientation during growth cone turning to avoid an inhibitory guidance cue. *Journal of Cell Science*, 109, 2031–2040.
- Chen, Y. S., Murakami, S., Gyo, K., Wakisaka, H., Matsuda, S., & Sakanaka, M. (1999). Effects of basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF)-neutralizing antibody and platelet factor 4 on facial nerve regeneration. *Experimental Neurology*, 155, 274–283.
- Chen, Z. L., Yu, W. M., & Strickland, S. (2007). Peripheral regeneration. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 30, 209–233.
- Chierzi, S., Ratto, G. M., Verma, P., & Fawcett, J. W. (2005). The ability of axons to regenerate their growth cones depends on axonal type and age, and is regulated by calcium, cAMP and ERK. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, 21, 2051–2062.
- Crowder, R. J., & Freeman, R. S. (1998). Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and Akt protein kinase are necessary and sufficient for the survival of nerve growth factor-dependent sympathetic neurons. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 18, 2933–2943.
- Dahlin, L. B., Stenberg, L., & Kanje, M. (2003). Galanin expression in sensory neurons after nerve compression or transection. *Neuroreport*, 14, 359–362.
- Danielsen, N., Pettmann, B., Vahlsing, H. L., Manthorpe, M., & Varon, S. (1988). Fibroblast growth factor effects on peripheral nerve regeneration in a silicone chamber model. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 20, 320–330.
- Dent, E. W., & Gertler, F. B. (2003). Cytoskeletal dynamics and transport in growth cone motility and axon guidance. *Neuron*, 40, 209–227.
- Diamond, J., Foerster, A., Holmes, M., & Coughlin, M. (1992). Sensory nerves in adult rats regenerate and restore sensory function to the skin independently of endogenous NGF. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 12, 1467–1476.
- Dudek, H., Datta, S. R., Franke, T. F., Birnbaum, M. J., Yao, R. J., Cooper, G. M., et al. (1997). Regulation of neuronal survival by the serine-threonine protein kinase Akt. *Science*, 275, 661–665.
- Edström, A., & Ekström, P. A. R. (2003). Role of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase in neuronal survival and axonal outgrowth of adult mouse dorsal root ganglia explants. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 74, 726–735.
- English, A. W., Meador, W., & Carrasco, D. I. (2005). Neurotrophin-4/5 is required for the early growth of regenerating axons in peripheral nerves. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, 21, 2624–2634.
- English, A. W., Schwartz, G., Meador, W., Sabatier, M. J., & Mulligan, A. (2007). Electrical stimulation promotes peripheral axon regeneration by enhanced neuronal neurotrophin signaling. *Developmental Neurobiology*, 67, 158–172.

- Eriksson, N. P., Lindsay, R. M., & Aldskogius, H. (1994). BDNF and NT-3 rescue sensory but not motoneurons following axotomy in the neonate. *Neuroreport*, *5*, 1445–1448.
- Ernfors, P., Henschen, A., Olson, L., & Persson, H. (1989). Expression of nerve growth factor receptor mRNA is developmentally regulated and increased after axotomy in rat spinal cord motoneurons. *Neuron*, 2, 1605–1613.
- Evans, P. J., Bain, J. R., Mackinnon, S. E., Makino, A. P., & Hunter, D. A. (1991). Selective reinnervation: A comparison of recovery following microsuture and conduit nerve repair. *Brain Research*, 559, 315–321.
- Fawcett, J. W., & Keynes, R. J. (1990). Peripheral nerve regeneration. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 13, 43–60.
- Fine, E. G., Decosterd, I., Papaloizos, M., Zurn, A. D., & Aebischer, P. (2002). GDNF and NGF released by synthetic guidance channels support sciatic nerve regeneration across a long gap. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, 15, 589–601.
- Friedman, B., Scherer, S. S., Rudge, J. S., Helgren, M., Morrisey, D., McClain, J., et al. (1992). Regulation of ciliary neurotrophic factor expression in myelin-related Schwann cells in vivo. *Neuron*, 9, 295–305.
- Fu, S. Y., & Gordon, T. (1997). The cellular and molecular basis of peripheral nerve regeneration. *Molecular Neurobiology*, 14, 67–116.
- Fujimoto, E., Mizoguchi, A., Hanada, K., Yajima, M., & Ide, C. (1997). Basic fibroblast growth factor promotes extension of regenerating axons of peripheral nerve. In vivo experiments using a Schwann cell basal lamina tube model. *Journal of Neurocytology*, 26, 511–528.
- Funakoshi, H., Frisén, J., Barbany, G., Timmusk, T., Zachrisson, O., Verge, V. M. K., et al. (1993). Differential expression of mRNAs for neurotrophins and their receptors after axotomy of the sciatic nerve. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 123, 455–465.
- Funakoshi, H., Risling, M., Carlstedt, T., Lendahl, U., Timmusk, T., Metsis, M., et al. (1998). Targeted expression of a multifunctional chimeric neurotrophin in the lesioned sciatic nerve accelerates regeneration of sensory and motor axons. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 95, 5269–5274.
- Galiano, M., Liu, Z. Q., Kalla, R., Bohatschek, M., Koppius, A., Gschwendtner, A., et al. (2001). Interleukin-6 (IL6) and cellular response to facial nerve injury: Effects on lymphocyte recruitment, early microglial activation and axonal outgrowth in IL6-deficient mice. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, 14, 327–341.
- Gallo, G. (1998). Involvement of microtubules in the regulation of neuronal growth cone morphologic remodeling. *Journal of Neurobiology*, *35*, 121–140.
- Gallo, G., & Letourneau, P. C. (1998). Localized sources of neurotrophins initiate axon collateral sprouting. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 18, 5403–5414.
- Glazner, G. W., Lupien, S., Miller, J. A., & Ishii, D. N. (1993). Insulin-like growth factor II increases the rate of sciatic nerve regeneration in rats. *Neuroscience*, 54, 791–797.
- Glazner, G. W., Morrison, A. E., & Ishii, D. N. (1994). Elevated insulin-like growth factor (IGF) gene expression in sciatic nerves during IGF-supported nerve regeneration. *Brain Research. Molecular Brain Research*, 25, 265–272.
- Goold, R. G., & Gordon-Weeks, P. R. (2005). The MAP kinase pathway is upstream of the activation of GSK3 beta that enables it to phosphorylate MAP1B and contributes to the stimulation of axon growth. *Molecular and Cellular Neurosciences*, 28, 524–534.
- Gordon, T. (2009). The role of neurotrophic factors in nerve regeneration. *Neurosurgical Focus*, 26, E3.
- Gordon, T., Hegedus, J., & Tam, S. L. (2004). Adaptive and maladaptive motor axonal sprouting in aging and motoneuron disease. *Neurological Research*, *26*, 174–185.
- Grimes, M. L., Zhou, J., Beattie, E. C., Yuen, E. C., Hall, D. E., Valletta, J. S., et al. (1996). Endocytosis of activated trkA: Evidence that nerve growth factor induces formation of signaling endosomes. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 16, 7950–7964.

- Grothe, C., Haastert, K., & Jungnickel, J. (2006). Physiological function and putative therapeutic impact of the FGF-2 system in peripheral nerve regeneration—Lessons from in vivo studies in mice and rats. *Brain Research. Brain Research Reviews*, 51, 293–299.
- Grothe, C., Meisinger, C., Hertenstein, A., Kurz, H., & Wewetzer, K. (1997). Expression of fibroblast growth factor 2 and fibroblast growth factor receptor 1 messenger RNAs in spinal ganglia and sciatic nerve: Regulation after peripheral nerve lesion. *Neuroscience*, 76, 123–135.
- Haas, C. A., Hofmann, H. D., & Kirsch, M. (1999). Expression of CNTF/LIF-receptor components and activation of STAT3 signaling in axotomized facial motoneurons: Evidence for a sequential postlesional function of the cytokines. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 41, 559–571.
- Haastert, K., Lipokatic, E., Fischer, M., Timmer, M., & Grothe, C. (2006). Differentially promoted peripheral nerve regeneration by grafted Schwann cells over-expressing different FGF-2 isoforms. *Neurobiology of Disease*, 21, 138–153.
- Hammarberg, H., Piehl, F., Risling, M., & Cullheim, S. (2000). Differential regulation of trophic factor receptor mRNAs in spinal motoneurons after sciatic nerve transection and ventral root avulsion in the rat. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 426, 587–601.
- Hanafusa, H., Torii, S., Yasunaga, T., & Nishida, E. (2002). Sprouty1 and Sprouty2 provide a control mechanism for the Ras/MAPK signalling pathway. *Nature Cell Biology*, 4, 850–858.
- Hausott, B., Schlick, B., Vallant, N., Dorn, R., & Klimaschewski, L. (2008). Promotion of neurite outgrowth by fibroblast growth factor receptor 1 overexpression and lysosomal inhibition of receptor degradation in pheochromocytoma cells and adult sensory neurons. *Neuroscience*, 153, 461–473.
- Hausott, B., Vallant, N., Auer, M., Yang, L., Dai, F., Brand-Saberi, B., et al. (2009). Sprouty2 down-regulation promotes axon growth by adult sensory neurons. *Molecular and Cellular Neurosciences*, 42, 328–340.
- Hausott, B., Vallant, N., Hochfilzer, M., Mangger, S., Irschick, R., Haugsten, E. M., et al. (2012). Leupeptin enhances cell surface localization of fibroblast growth factor receptor 1 in adult sensory neurons by increased recycling. *European Journal of Cell Biology*, 91, 129–138.
- Hausott, B., Vallant, N., Schlick, B., Auer, M., Nimmervoll, B., Obermair, G. J., et al. (2012). Sprouty2 and -4 regulate axon outgrowth by hippocampal neurons. *Hippocampus*, 22, 434–441.
- Hennig, R., & Dietrichs, E. (1994). Transient reinnervation of antagonistic muscles by the same motoneuron. *Experimental Neurology*, 130, 331–336.
- Hetman, M., Kanning, K., Cavanaugh, J. E., & Xia, Z. G. (1999). Neuroprotection by brainderived neurotrophic factor is mediated by extracellular signal-regulated kinase and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274, 22569–22580.
- Heumann, R., Korsching, S., Bandtlow, C., & Thoenen, H. (1987). Changes of nerve growth factor synthesis in nonneuronal cells in response to sciatic nerve transection. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 104, 1623–1631.
- Hirata, K., Mitoma, H., Ueno, N., He, J. W., & Kawabuchi, M. (1999). Differential response of macrophage subpopulations to myelin degradation in the injured rat sciatic nerve. *Journal of Neurocytology*, 28, 685–695.
- Hirota, H., Kiyama, H., Kishimoto, T., & Taga, T. (1996). Accelerated nerve regeneration in mice by upregulated expression of interleukin (IL) 6 and IL-6 receptor after trauma. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 183, 2627–2634.
- Hobson, S. A., Holmes, F. E., Kerr, N. C., Pope, R. J., & Wynick, D. (2006). Mice deficient for galanin receptor 2 have decreased neurite outgrowth from adult sensory neurons and impaired pain-like behaviour. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 99, 1000–1010.

- Hökfelt, T., Zhang, X., & Wiesenfeld-Hallin, Z. (1994). Messenger plasticity in primary sensory neurons following axotomy and its functional implications. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 17, 22–30.
- Holmes, F. E., Mahoney, S., King, V. R., Bacon, A., Kerr, N. C., Pachnis, V., et al. (2000). Targeted disruption of the galanin gene reduces the number of sensory neurons and their regenerative capacity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 97, 11563–11568.
- Hopkins, S. J., & Rothwell, N. J. (1995). Cytokines and the nervous system I: Expression and recognition. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 18, 83–88.
- Houle, J. D., Ye, J. H., & Kane, C. J. M. (1996). Axonal regeneration by chronically injured supraspinal neurons can be enhanced by exposure to insulin like growth factor, basic fibroblast growth factor or transforming growth factor beta. *Restorative Neurology and Neuroscience*, 10, 205–215.
- Ito, M., & Kudo, M. (1994). Reinnervation by axon collaterals from single facial motoneurons to multiple muscle targets following axotomy in the adult guinea pig. Acta Anatomica, 151, 124–130.
- Ito, Y., Yamamoto, M., Li, M., Doyu, M., Tanaka, F., Mutch, T., et al. (1998). Differential temporal expression of mRNAs for ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF), leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF), interleukin-6 (IL-6), and their receptors (CNTFR alpha, LIFR beta, IL-6R alpha and gp130) in injured peripheral nerves. *Brain Research*, 793, 321–327.
- Jones, D. M., Tucker, B. A., Rahimtula, M., & Mearow, K. M. (2003). The synergistic effects of NGF and IGF-1 on neurite growth in adult sensory neurons: Convergence on the PI 3-kinase signaling pathway. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 86, 1116–1128.
- Jungnickel, J., Claus, P., Gransalke, K., Timmer, M., & Grothe, C. (2004). Targeted disruption of the FGF-2 gene affects the response to peripheral nerve injury. *Molecular and Cellular Neurosciences*, 25, 444–452.
- Jungnickel, J., Gransalke, K., Timmer, M., & Grothe, C. (2004). Fibroblast growth factor receptor 3 signaling regulates injury-related effects in the peripheral nervous system. *Molecular and Cellular Neurosciences*, 25, 21–29.
- Jungnickel, J., Haase, K., Konitzer, J., Timmer, M., & Grothe, C. (2006). Faster nerve regeneration after sciatic nerve injury in mice over-expressing basic fibroblast growth factor. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 66, 940–948.
- Kalil, K., Szebenyi, G., & Dent, E. W. (2000). Common mechanisms underlying growth cone guidance and axon branching. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 44, 145–158.
- Kerrebijn, J. D., & Freeman, J. L. (1998). Facial nerve reconstruction: Outcome and failures. *The Journal of Otolaryngology*, 27, 183–186.
- Kiefer, R., Lindholm, D., & Kreutzberg, G. W. (1993). Interleukin-6 and transforming growth factor-beta 1 mRNAs are induced in rat facial nucleus following motoneuron axotomy. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, 5, 775–781.
- Kimpinski, K., & Mearow, K. (2001). Neurite growth promotion by nerve growth factor and insulin-like growth factor-1 in cultured adult sensory neurons: Role of phosphoinositide 3-kinase and mitogen activated protein kinase. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 63, 486–499.
- Kishino, A., Ishige, Y., Tatsuno, T., Nakayama, C., & Noguchi, H. (1997). BDNF prevents and reverses adult rat motor neuron degeneration and induces axonal outgrowth. *Experimental Neurology*, 144, 273–286.
- Klimaschewski, L., Grohmann, I., & Heym, C. (1996). Target-dependent plasticity of galanin and vasoactive intestinal peptide in the rat superior cervical ganglion after nerve lesion and re-innervation. *Neuroscience*, 72, 265–272.
- Klimaschewski, L., Hauser, C., & Heym, C. (1996). PACAP immunoreactivity in the rat superior cervical ganglion in comparison to VIP. *Neuroreport*, 7, 2797–2801.

- Klimaschewski, L., Kummer, W., & Heym, C. (1996). Localization, regulation and functions of neurotransmitters and neuromodulators in cervical sympathetic ganglia. *Microscopy Research and Technique*, 35, 44–68.
- Klimaschewski, L., Meisinger, C., & Grothe, C. (1999). Localization and regulation of basic fibroblast growth factor (FGF-2) and FGF receptor-1 in rat superior cervical ganglion after axotomy. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 38, 499–506.
- Klimaschewski, L., Nindl, W., Feurle, J., Kavakebi, P., & Kostron, H. (2004). Basic fibroblast growth factor isoforms promote axonal elongation and branching of adult sensory neurons in vitro. *Neuroscience*, 126, 347–353.
- Klimaschewski, L., Tran, T. D., Nobiling, R., & Heym, C. (1994). Plasticity of postganglionic sympathetic neurons in the rat superior cervical ganglion after axotomy. *Microscopy Research and Technique*, 29, 120–130.
- Kobayashi, N. R., Bedard, A. M., Hincke, M. T., & Tetzlaff, W. (1996). Increased expression of BDNF and trkB mRNA in rat facial motoneurons after axotomy. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, 8, 1018–1029.
- Krekoski, C. A., Parhad, I. M., & Clark, A. W. (1996). Attenuation and recovery of nerve growth factor receptor mRNA in dorsal root ganglion neurons following axotomy. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 43, 1–11.
- Krenz, N. R., Meakin, S. O., Krassioukov, A. V., & Weaver, L. C. (1999). Neutralizing intraspinal nerve growth factor blocks autonomic dysreflexia caused by spinal cord injury. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 19, 7405–7414.
- Landry, M., Aman, K., Dostrovsky, J., Lozano, A. M., Carlstedt, T., Spenger, C., et al. (2003). Galanin expression in adult human dorsal root ganglion neurons: Initial observations. *Neuroscience*, 117, 795–809.
- Lankford, K. L., Arroyo, E. J., Liu, C. N., Somps, C. J., Zorbas, M. A., Shelton, D. L., et al. (2013). Sciatic nerve regeneration is not inhibited by anti-NGF antibody treatment in the adult rat. *Neuroscience*, 241, 157–169.
- Lemmon, M. A., & Schlessinger, J. (2010). Cell signaling by receptor tyrosine kinases. *Cell*, 141, 1117–1134.
- Lentz, S. I., Knudson, C. M., Korsmeyer, S. J., & Snider, W. D. (1999). Neurotrophins support the development of diverse sensory axon morphologies. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 19, 1038–1048.
- Letourneau, P. C. (2009). Actin in axons: Stable scaffolds and dynamic filaments. *Results and Problems in Cell Differentiation*, 48, 65–90.
- Lewin, G. R., & Barde, Y.-A. (1996). Physiology of the neurotrophins. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 19, 289–317.
- Lewin, S. L., Utley, D. S., Cheng, E. T., Verity, A. N., & Terris, D. J. (1997). Simultaneous treatment with BDNF and CNTF after peripheral nerve transection and repair enhances rate of functional recovery compared with BDNF treatment alone. *Laryngoscope*, 107, 992–999.
- Lin, C. H., & Forscher, P. (1993). Cytoskeletal remodeling during growth cone-target interactions. The Journal of Cell Biology, 121, 1369–1383.
- Lindsay, R. M. (1996). Role of neurotrophins and trk receptors in the development and maintenance of sensory neurons: An overview. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Soci*ety of London, 351, 365–373.
- Liu, R. Y., & Snider, W. D. (2001). Different signaling pathways mediate regenerative versus developmental sensory axon growth. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 21, RC164.
- Love, F. M., Son, Y. J., & Thompson, W. J. (2003). Activity alters muscle reinnervation and terminal sprouting by reducing the number of Schwann cell pathways that grow to link synaptic sites. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 54, 566–576.
- Love, F. M., & Thompson, W. J. (1999). Glial cells promote muscle reinnervation by responding to activity-dependent postsynaptic signals. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 19, 10390–10396.

- Lu, P., Blesch, A., Graham, L., Wang, Y., Samara, R., Banos, K., et al. (2012). Motor axonal regeneration after partial and complete spinal cord transection. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 32, 8208–8218.
- Lundborg, G. (2003). Richard P. Bunge memorial lecture. Nerve injury and repair—A challenge to the plastic brain. *Journal of the Peripheral Nervous System*, 8, 209–226.
- Ma, W., & Bisby, M. A. (1997). Differential expression of galanin immunoreactivities in the primary sensory neurons following partial and complete sciatic nerve injuries. *Neurosci*ence, 79, 1183–1195.
- Mackinnon, S. E., Dellon, A. L., Lundborg, G., Hudson, A. R., & Hunter, D. A. (1986). A study of neurotrophism in a primate model. *Journal of Hand Surgery*, 11, 888–894.
- Mackinnon, S. E., Dellon, A. L., & O'Brien, J. P. (1991). Changes in nerve fiber numbers distal to a nerve repair in the rat sciatic nerve model. *Muscle & Nerve*, 14, 1116–1122.
- Madison, R. D., Archibald, S. J., Lacin, R., & Krarup, C. (1999). Factors contributing to preferential motor reinnervation in the primate peripheral nervous system. *The Journal* of *Neuroscience*, 19, 11007–11016.
- Markus, A., Zhong, J., & Snider, W. D. (2002). Raf and Akt mediate distinct aspects of sensory axon growth. *Neuron*, 35, 65–76.
- Meier, C., Parmantier, E., Brennan, A., Mirsky, R., & Jessen, K. R. (1999). Developing Schwann cells acquire the ability to survive without axons by establishing an autocrine circuit involving insulin-like growth factor, neurotrophin-3, and platelet-derived growth factor-BB. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 19, 3847–3859.
- Meisinger, C., & Grothe, C. (1997). Differential regulation of fibroblast growth factor (FGF)-2 and FGF receptor 1 mRNAs and FGF-2 isoforms in spinal ganglia and sciatic nerve after peripheral nerve lesion. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 68, 1150–1158.
- Meyer, M., Matsuoka, I., Wetmore, C., Olson, L., & Thoenen, H. (1992). Enhanced synthesis of brain-derived neurotrophic factor in the lesioned peripheral nerve: Different mechanisms are responsible for the regulation of BDNF and NGF mRNA. *The Journal* of Cell Biology, 119, 45–54.
- Ming, G. I., Song, H. J., Berninger, B., Inagaki, N., Tessier-Lavigne, M., & Poo, M. M. (1999). Phospholipase C-gamma and phosphoinositide 3-kinase mediate cytoplasmic signaling in nerve growth cone guidance. *Neuron*, 23, 139–148.
- Minowada, G., Jarvis, L. A., Chi, C. L., Neubuser, A., Sun, X., Hacohen, N., et al. (1999). Vertebrate Sprouty genes are induced by FGF signaling and can cause chondrodysplasia when overexpressed. *Development*, 126, 4465–4475.
- Mohney, R. P., Siegel, R. E., & Zigmond, R. E. (1994). Galanin and vasoactive intestinal peptide messenger RNAs increase following axotomy of adult sympathetic neurons. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 25, 108–118.
- Moller, K., Reimer, M., Ekblad, E., Hannibal, J., Fahrenkrug, J., Kanje, M., et al. (1997). The effects of axotomy and preganglionic denervation on the expression of pituitary adenylate cyclase activating peptide (PACAP), galanin and PACAP type 1 receptors in the rat superior cervical ganglion. *Brain Research*, 775, 166–182.
- Moran, L. B., & Graeber, M. B. (2004). The facial nerve axotomy model. *Brain Research*. *Brain Research Reviews*, 44, 154–178.
- Munson, J. B., Shelton, D. L., & McMahon, T. (1997). Adult mammalian sensory and motor neurons: Roles of endogenous neurotrophins and rescue by exogenous neurotrophins after axotomy. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 17, 470–476.
- Naveilhan, P., Elshamy, W. M., & Ernfors, P. (1997). Differential regulation of mRNAs for GDNF and its receptors Ret and GDNFRα after sciatic nerve lesion in the mouse. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, *9*, 1450–1460.
- Near, S. L., Whalen, L. R., Miller, J. A., & Ishii, D. N. (1992). Insulin-like growth factor II stimulates motor nerve regeneration. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 89, 11716–11720.

- Neff, N. T., Prevette, D., Houenou, L. J., Lewis, M. E., Glicksman, M. A., Yin, Q.-W., et al. (1993). Insulin-like growth factors: Putative muscle-derived trophic agents that promote motoneuron survival. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 24, 1578–1588.
- Novikov, L., Novikova, L., & Kellerth, J. O. (1997). Brain-derived neurotrophic factor promotes axonal regeneration and long-term survival of adult rat spinal motoneurons in vivo. *Neuroscience*, 79, 765–774.
- Novikova, L., Novikov, L., & Kellerth, J. O. (1997). Effects of neurotransplants and BDNF on the survival and regeneration of injured adult spinal motoneurons. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, 9, 2774–2777.
- O'Malley, J. P., Waran, M. T., & Balice-Gordon, R. J. (1999). In vivo observations of terminal Schwann cells at normal, denervated, and reinnervated mouse neuromuscular junctions. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 38, 270–286.
- Ozaki, K., Miyazaki, S., Tanimura, S., & Kohno, M. (2005). Efficient suppression of FGF-2induced ERK activation by the cooperative interaction among mammalian Sprouty isoforms. *Journal of Cell Science*, 118, 5861–5871.
- Perlson, E., Hanz, S., Ben, Yaakov K., Segal-Ruder, Y., Seger, R., & Fainzilber, M. (2005). Vimentin-dependent spatial translocation of an activated MAP kinase in injured nerve. *Neuron*, 45, 715–726.
- Perry, V. H., & Brown, M. C. (1992). Role of macrophages in peripheral nerve degeneration and repair. *Bioessays*, 14, 401–406.
- Pettersson, L. M., Dahlin, L. B., & Danielsen, N. (2004). Changes in expression of PACAP in rat sensory neurons in response to sciatic nerve compression. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, 20, 1838–1848.
- Platta, H. W., & Stenmark, H. (2011). Endocytosis and signaling. Current Opinion in Cell Biology, 23, 393–403.
- Poppleton, H. M., Edwin, F., Jaggar, L., Ray, R., Johnson, L. R., & Patel, T. B. (2004). Sprouty regulates cell migration by inhibiting the activation of Rac1 GTPase. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communication*, 323, 98–103.
- Pu, S. F., Zhuang, H. X., Marsh, D. J., & Ishii, D. N. (1999). Insulin-like growth factor-II increases and IGF is required for postnatal rat spinal motoneuron survival following sciatic nerve axotomy. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 55, 9–16.
- Purves, D., Snider, W. D., & Voyvodic, J. T. (1988). Trophic regulation of nerve cell morphology and innervation in the autonomic nervous system. *Nature*, 336, 123–128.
- Raivich, G., & Kreutzberg, G. W. (1993). Peripheral nerve regeneration: Role of growth factors and their receptors. *International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience*, 11, 311–324.
- Raivich, G., & Makwana, M. (2007). The making of successful axonal regeneration: Genes, molecules and signal transduction pathways. *Brain Research Reviews*, 53, 287–311.
- Ramer, M. S., Bishop, T., Dockery, P., Mobarak, M. S., O'Leary, D., Fraher, J. P., et al. (2002). Neurotrophin-3-mediated regeneration and recovery of proprioception following dorsal rhizotomy. *Molecular and Cellular Neurosciences*, 19, 239–249.
- Ramer, M. S., Thompson, S. W., & McMahon, S. B. (1999). Causes and consequences of sympathetic basket formation in dorsal root ganglia. *Pain, Suppl. 6*, S111–S120.
- Reddy, L. V., Koirala, S., Sugiura, Y., Herrera, A. A., & Ko, C. P. (2003). Glial cells maintain synaptic structure and function and promote development of the neuromuscular junction in vivo. *Neuron*, 40, 563–580.
- Reichardt, L. F. (2006). Neurotrophin-regulated signalling pathways. *Philosophical Transac*tions. Royal Society, 361, 1545–1564.
- Reynolds, M. L., & Woolf, C. J. (1992). Terminal Schwann cells elaborate extensive processes following denervation of the motor endplate. *Journal of Neurocytology*, 21, 50–66.
- Rich, M. M., & Lichtman, J. W. (1989). In vivo visualization of pre- and postsynaptic changes during synapse elimination in reinnervated mouse muscle. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 9, 1781–1805.

- Rich, K. M., Yip, H. K., Osborne, P. A., Schmidt, R. E., & Johnson, E. M., Jr. (1984). Role of nerve growth factor in the adult dorsal root ganglia neuron and its response to injury. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 230, 110–118.
- Romanelli, R. J., & Wood, T. L. (2008). Directing traffic in neural cells: Determinants of receptor tyrosine kinase localization and cellular responses. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 105, 2055–2068.
- Rutherfurd, S. D., Widdop, R. E., Louis, W. J., & Gundlach, A. L. (1992). Preprogalanin mRNA is increased in vagal motor neurons following axotomy. *Molecular Brain Research*, 14, 261–266.
- Said, S. I., & Mutt, V. (1970). Polypeptide with broad biological activity. Isolation from small intestine. *Science*, 169, 1217–1218.
- Saika, T., Senba, E., Noguchi, K., Sato, M., Kubo, T., Matsunaga, T., et al. (1991). Changes in expression of peptides in rat facial motoneurons after facial nerve crushing and resection. *Molecular Brain Research*, 11, 187–196.
- Sasaki, A., Taketomi, T., Kato, R., Saeki, K., Nonami, A., Sasaki, M., et al. (2003). Mammalian Sprouty4 suppresses Ras-independent ERK activation by binding to Raf1. *Cell Cycle*, 2, 281–282.
- Schmalbruch, H. (1987). Loss of sensory neurons after sciatic nerve section in the rat. *The Anatomical Record*, 219, 323–329.
- Schmidt, H., & Rathjen, F. G. (2010). Signalling mechanisms regulating axonal branching in vivo. *Bioessays*, 32, 977–985.
- Schreiber, R. C., Hyatt-Sachs, H., Bennett, T. A., & Zigmond, R. E. (1994). Galanin expression increases in adult rat sympathetic neurons after axotomy. *Neuroscience*, 60, 17–27.
- Sendtner, M. (1998). Neurotrophic factors: Effects in modulating properties of the neuromuscular endplate. Cytokine & Growth Factor Reviews, 9, 1–7.
- Sendtner, M., Stöckli, K. A., & Thoenen, H. (1992). Synthesis and localization of ciliary neurotrophic factor in the sciatic nerve of the adult rat after lesion and during regeneration. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 118, 139–148.
- Sheu, J. Y., Kulhanek, D. J., & Eckenstein, F. P. (2000). Differential patterns of ERK and STAT3 phosphorylation after sciatic nerve transection in the rat. *Experimental Neurology*, 166, 392–402.
- Shoemaker, S. E., Sachs, H. H., Vaccariello, S. A., & Zigmond, R. E. (2006). Reduction in nerve growth factor availability leads to a conditioning lesion-like effect in sympathetic neurons. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 66, 1322–1337.
- Siegel, S. G., Patton, B., & English, A. W. (2000). Ciliary neurotrophic factor is required for motoneuron sprouting. *Experimental Neurology*, 166, 205–212.
- Sjoberg, J., & Kanje, M. (1990). The initial period of peripheral nerve regeneration and the importance of the local environment for the conditioning lesion effect. *Brain Research*, 529, 79–84.
- Sjogreen, B., Wiklund, P., & Ekstrom, P. A. (2000). Mitogen activated protein kinase inhibition by PD98059 blocks nerve growth factor stimulated axonal outgrowth from adult mouse dorsal root ganglia in vitro. *Neuroscience*, 100, 407–416.
- Slack, J. R., & Pockett, S. (1982). Motor neurotrophic factor in denervated adult skeletal muscle. *Brain Research*, 247, 138–140.
- Smith, D. S., & Skene, J. H. (1997). A transcription-dependent switch controls competence of adult neurons for distinct modes of axon growth. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 17, 646–658.
- Son, Y.-J., & Thompson, W. J. (1995). Schwann cell processes guide regeneration of peripheral axons. *Neuron*, 14, 125–132.
- Sondell, M., Lundborg, G., & Kanje, M. (1999). Vascular endothelial growth factor has neurotrophic activity and stimulates axonal outgrowth, enhancing cell survival and Schwann cell proliferation in the peripheral nervous system. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 19, 5731–5740.

- Sorkin, A., & Von, Z. M. (2002). Signal transduction and endocytosis: Close encounters of many kinds. *Nature Reviews. Molecular Cell Biology*, 3, 600–614.
- Spira, M. E., Oren, R., Dormann, A., & Gitler, D. (2003). Critical calpain-dependent ultrastructural alterations underlie the transformation of an axonal segment into a growth cone after axotomy of cultured Aplysia neurons. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 457, 293–312.
- Sterne, G. D., Coulton, G. R., Brown, R. A., Green, C. J., & Terenghi, G. (1997). Neurotrophin-3-enhanced nerve regeneration selectively improves recovery of muscle fibers expressing myosin heavy chains 2b. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 139, 709–715.
- Streppel, M., Azzolin, N., Dohm, S., Guntinas-Lichius, O., Haas, C., Grothe, C., et al. (2002). Focal application of neutralizing antibodies to soluble neurotrophic factors reduces collateral axonal branching after peripheral nerve lesion. *The European Journal* of *Neuroscience*, 15, 1327–1342.
- Strickland, I. T., Richards, L., Holmes, F. E., Wynick, D., Uney, J. B., & Wong, L. F. (2011). Axotomy-induced miR-21 promotes axon growth in adult dorsal root ganglion neurons. *PLoS One*, 6, e23423.
- Suarez, V., Guntinas-Lichius, O., Streppel, M., Ingorokva, S., Grosheva, M., Neiss, W. F., et al. (2006). The axotomy-induced neuropeptides galanin and pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating peptide promote axonal sprouting of primary afferent and cranial motor neurones. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, 24, 1555–1564.
- Sun, Y., & Zigmond, R. E. (1996). Involvement of leukemia inhibitory factor in the increases in galanin and vasoactive intestinal peptide mRNA and the decreases in neuropeptide Y and tyrosine hydroxylase mRNA in sympathetic neurons after axotomy. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 67, 1751–1760.
- Szebenyi, G., Dent, E. W., Callaway, J. L., Seys, C., Lueth, H., & Kalil, K. (2001). Fibroblast growth factor-2 promotes axon branching of cortical neurons by influencing morphology and behavior of the primary growth cone. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 21, 3932–3941.
- Tam, S. L., & Gordon, T. (2003). Neuromuscular activity impairs axonal sprouting in partially denervated muscles by inhibiting bridge formation of perisynaptic Schwann cells. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 57, 221–234.
- Tatemoto, K., Rökaeus, Å., Jörnvall, H., McDonald, T. J., & Mutt, V. (1983). Galanin—A novel biologically active peptide from porcine intestine. *FEBS Letters*, 164, 124–128.
- Tefft, D., Lee, M., Smith, S., Crowe, D. L., Bellusci, S., & Warburton, D. (2002). mSprouty2 inhibits FGF10-activated MAP kinase by differentially binding to upstream target proteins. *American Journal of Physiology. Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology*, 283, L700–L706.
- Temporin, K., Tanaka, H., Kuroda, Y., Okada, K., Yachi, K., Moritomo, H., et al. (2008). IL-1β promotes neurite outgrowth by deactivating RhoA via p38 MAPK pathway. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communication, 365*, 375–380.
- Terenghi, G. (1999). Peripheral nerve regeneration and neurotrophic factors. Journal of Anatomy, 194(Pt. 1), 1–14.
- Thompson, S. W., & Majithia, A. A. (1998). Leukemia inhibitory factor induces sympathetic sprouting in intact dorsal root ganglia in the adult rat in vivo. *The Journal of Physiology*, 506, 809–816.
- Timmer, M., Robben, S., Muller-Ostermeyer, F., Nikkhah, G., & Grothe, C. (2003). Axonal regeneration across long gaps in silicone chambers filled with Schwann cells overexpressing high molecular weight FGF-2. *Cell Transplantation*, 12, 265–277.
- Traverse, S., Gomez, N., Paterson, H., Marshall, C., & Cohen, P. (1992). Sustained activation of the mitogen-activated protein (MAP) Kinase cascade may be required for differentiation of PC12 Cells—Comparison of the effects of nerve growth-factor and epidermal growth-factor. *The Biochemical Journal*, 288, 351–355.

- Trupp, M., Belluardo, N., Funakoshi, H., & Ibanez, C. F. (1997). Complementary and overlapping expression of glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF), c-ret protooncogene, and GDNF receptor-alpha indicates multiple mechanisms of trophic actions in the adult rat CNS. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 17, 3554–3567.
- Tucker, B. A., Rahimtula, M., & Mearow, K. M. (2008). Src and FAK are key early signalling intermediates required for neurite growth in NGF-responsive adult DRG neurons. *Cellular Signalling*, 20, 241–257.
- Ulupinar, E., Jacquin, M. F., & Erzurumlu, R. S. (2000). Differential effects of NGF and NT-3 on embryonic trigeminal axon growth patterns. *The Journal of Comparative Neurol*ogy, 425, 202–218.
- Vanden Noven, S., Wallace, N., Muccio, D., Turtz, A., & Pinter, M. J. (1993). Adult spinal motoneurons remain viable despite prolonged absence of functional synaptic contact with muscle. *Experimental Neurology*, 123, 147–156.
- Verge, V. M., Merlio, J. P., Grondin, J., Ernfors, P., Persson, H., Riopelle, R. J., et al. (1992). Colocalization of NGF binding sites, trk mRNA, and low-affinity NGF receptor mRNA in primary sensory neurons: responses to injury and infusion of NGF. *The Journal* of Neuroscience, 12, 4011–4022.
- Verge, V. M. K., Gratto, K. A., Karchewski, L. A., & Richardson, P. M. (1996). Neurotrophins and nerve injury in the adult. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London*, 351, 423–430.
- Verge, V. M. K., Richardson, P. M., Wiesenfeld-Hallin, Z., & Hökfelt, T. (1995). Differential influence of nerve growth factor on neuropeptide expression in vivo: A novel role in peptide suppression in adult sensory neurons. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 15, 2081–2096.
- Villar, M. J., Cortes, R., Theodorsson, E., Wiesenfeld-Hallin, Z., Schalling, M., Fahrenkrug, J., et al. (1989). Neuropeptide expression in rat dorsal root ganglion cells and spinal cord after peripheral nerve injury with special reference to galanin. *Neuroscience*, 33, 587–604.
- Vleggeert-Lankamp, C. L., de Ruiter, G. C., Wolfs, J. F., Pego, A. P., Feirabend, H. K., Lakke, E. A., et al. (2005). Type grouping in skeletal muscles after experimental reinnervation: Another explanation. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, 21, 1249–1256.
- Wiklund, P., Ekstrom, P. A., & Edstrom, A. (2002). Mitogen-activated protein kinase inhibition reveals differences in signalling pathways activated by neurotrophin-3 and other growth-stimulating conditions of adult mouse dorsal root ganglia neurons. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 67, 62–68.
- Wiley, H. S., & Burke, P. M. (2001). Regulation of receptor tyrosine kinase signaling by endocytic trafficking. *Traffic*, 2, 12–18.
- Wu, C., Ramirez, A., Cui, B., Ding, J., Delcroix, J. D., Valletta, J. S., et al. (2007). A functional dynein-microtubule network is required for NGF signaling through the Rap1/MAPK pathway. *Traffic*, 8, 1503–1520.
- Xu, Q. G., Forden, J., Walsh, S. K., Gordon, T., & Midha, R. (2010). Motoneuron survival after chronic and sequential peripheral nerve injuries in the rat. *Journal of Neurosurgery*, 112, 890–899.
- Yamazaki, T., Sabit, H., Oya, T., Ishii, Y., Hamashima, T., Tokunaga, A., et al. (2009). Activation of MAP kinases, Akt and PDGF receptors in injured peripheral nerves. *Journal of* the Peripheral Nervous System, 14, 165–176.
- Yao, M., Moir, M. S., Wang, M. Z., To, M. P., & Terris, D. J. (1999). Peripheral nerve regeneration in CNTF knockout mice. *Laryngoscope*, 109, 1263–1268.
- Yin, Q., Kemp, G. J., Yu, L. G., Wagstaff, S. C., & Frostick, S. P. (2001). Neurotrophin-4 delivered by fibrin glue promotes peripheral nerve regeneration. *Muscle & Nerve*, 24, 345–351.
- Yusoff, P., Lao, D. H., Ong, S. H., Wong, E. S. M., Lim, J., Lo, T. L., et al. (2002). Sprouty2 inhibits the Ras/MAP kinase pathway by inhibiting the activation of raf. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277, 3195–3201.

- Zhang, Y.-Z., Hannibal, J., Zhao, Q., Moller, K., Danielsen, N., Fahrenkrug, J., et al. (1996). Pituitary adenylate cyclase activating peptide expression in the rat dorsal root ganglia: Up-regulation after peripheral nerve injury. *Neuroscience*, 74, 1099–1110.
- Zhang, J. Y., Luo, X. G., Xian, C. J., Liu, Z. H., & Zhou, X. F. (2000). Endogenous BDNF is required for myelination and regeneration of injured sciatic nerve in rodents. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, 12, 4171–4180.
- Zhang, Y., Moheban, D. B., Conway, B. R., Bhattacharyya, A., & Segal, R. A. (2000). Cell surface Trk receptors mediate NGF-induced survival while internalized receptors regulate NGF-induced differentiation. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 20, 5671–5678.
- Zhao, C., Veltri, K., Li, S., Bain, J. R., & Fahnestock, M. (2004). NGF, BDNF, NT-3, and GDNF mRNA expression in rat skeletal muscle following denervation and sensory protection. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 21, 1468–1478.
- Zhong, J., Dietzel, I. D., Wahle, P., Kopf, M., & Heumann, R. (1999). Sensory impairments and delayed regeneration of sensory axons in interleukin-6-deficient mice. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 19, 4305–4313.
- Zhou, X., Rodriguez, W. I., Casillas, R. A., Ma, V., Tam, J., Hu, Z., et al. (1999). Axotomyinduced changes in pituitary adenylate cyclase activating polypeptide (PACAP) and PACAP receptor gene expression in the adult rat facial motor nucleus. *Journal of Neuro*science Research, 57, 953–961.
- Zhou, F. Q., & Snider, W. D. (2006). Intracellular control of developmental and regenerative axon growth. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London*, 361, 1575–1592.
- Zhou, F. Q., Zhou, J., Dedhar, S., Wu, Y. H., & Snider, W. D. (2004). NGF-induced axon growth is mediated by localized inactivation of GSK-3 and functions of the microtubule plus end binding protein APC. *Neuron*, 42, 897–912.
- Zigmond, R. (2012). gp130 cytokines are positive signals triggering changes in gene expression and axon outgrowth in peripheral neurons following injury. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience*, 4, 62.
- Ziv, N. E., & Spira, M. E. (1997). Localized and transient elevations of intracellular Ca²⁺ induce the dedifferentiation of axonal segments into growth cones. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 17, 3568–3579.

Role of Inflammation and Cytokines in Peripheral Nerve Regeneration

Petr Dubový^{*,†,1}, Radim Jančálek[†], Tomas Kubek^{*,†}

*Central European Institute of Technology (CEITEC), Masaryk University, Brno, Czech Republic [†]Department of Anatomy, Division of Neuroanatomy, Medical Faculty, Masaryk University, Brno, Czech Republic

¹Corresponding author: e-mail address: pdubovy@med.muni.cz

Contents

1.	Introduction—An Overview of Immune Reaction Functions in Normal	
	and Injured Nervous Systems	174
2.	Wallerian Degeneration After Traumatic Nerve Injury as Aseptic Inflammation	175
	2.1 Early phase of WD and consequent axon regeneration	175
3.	Cytokines and Peripheral Nerve Regeneration	180
	3.1 Interleukin-1β	181
	3.2 Tumor necrosis factor α	182
	3.3 Neuropoietic cytokine family	183
	3.4 Prostanoids	185
4.	Immune Reactions of Neuronal Bodies and Their Glial Cells, and Nerve	
	Regeneration	186
	4.1 Interleukin-1β	186
	4.2 Tumor necrosis factor α	187
	4.3 Neuropoietic cytokine family	188
5.	Inflammatory Reactions in Nerve Grafting	191
	5.1 Biological and synthetic nerve conduits	192
	5.2 Immunobiology of non-autologous nerve grafts	193
	5.3 Strategies for attenuation of host immune response	194
6.	Conclusion	196
Ac	Acknowledgments	
Re	References	

Abstract

This chapter provides a review of immune reactions involved in classic as well as alternative methods of peripheral nerve regeneration, and mainly with a view to understanding their beneficial effects. Axonal degeneration distal to nerve damage triggers a cascade of inflammatory events alongside injured nerve fibers known as Wallerian degeneration (WD). The early inflammatory reactions of WD comprise the complement system, arachidonic acid metabolites, and inflammatory mediators that are related to myelin fragmentation and activation of Schwann cells. Fine-tuned upregulation of the cytokine/chemokine network by Schwann cells activates resident and hematogenous macrophages to complete the clearance of axonal and myelin debris and stimulate regrowth of axonal sprouts. In addition to local effects, immune reactions of neuronal bodies and glial cells are also implicated in the survival and conditioning of neurons to regenerate severed nerves. Understanding of the cellular and molecular interactions between the immune system and peripheral nerve injury opens new possibilities for targeting inflammatory mediators to improve functional reinnervation.



1. INTRODUCTION—AN OVERVIEW OF IMMUNE REACTION FUNCTIONS IN NORMAL AND INJURED NERVOUS SYSTEMS

The integrity of animal tissues is maintained by the nervous and endocrine systems as well as by mechanisms that involve immune cells and production of a variety of cellular mediators, such as cytokines.

Traumatic injury to peripheral nerve results in a loss of axons' functional connection to peripheral tissue. Renewed functional connection is achieved through regeneration of severed axons and their correct navigation to target tissues. Peripheral nerve trauma generally triggers an inflammatory response, which is required for nerve repair and functional reinnervation. The innate and adaptive immune systems are activated by endogenous signals that originate from injured or necrotic cells distal to the damaged nerve without septic or exogenous stimuli (i.e., aseptic inflammation). As in other tissues, inflammatory reaction after nerve lesion is a dynamic process driven by numerous inflammatory mediators. However, the role of inflammation in the peripheral nervous system is more controversial. On the one hand, inflammatory reaction and its mediators in damaged nerve participate significantly in the processes of nerve regeneration (Camara-Lemarroy, Guzmande la Garza, & Fernandez-Garza, 2010). On the other hand, these also develop conditions for neuropathic pain (NPP) induction (Austin & Moalem-Taylor, 2010). Therefore, detailed knowledge of inflammation after traumatic nerve injury and during nerve regeneration is important for improving functional recovery after peripheral nerve reconnection/ reconstruction as well as while pursuing tissue engineering. Moreover, early suppression of inflammatory reactions after nerve injury in an attempt to reduce NPP induction may result in decelerating or halting axon regeneration.

2. WALLERIAN DEGENERATION AFTER TRAUMATIC NERVE INJURY AS ASEPTIC INFLAMMATION

Although Wallerian degeneration (WD) was originally described after complete disconnection of peripheral nerve, more recently the term is used also to depict similar cellular and molecular processes that occur after various types of nerve injury (Zochodne, 2012). As used in this review, the term "Wallerian degeneration" refers only to WD induced by traumatic (mechanical) peripheral nerve injury. WD is a cascade of stereotypical cellular and molecular events distal to injury of nerve fibers and considered to be a sort of innate immune reaction or neuroinflammation (Gaudet, Popovich, & Ramer, 2011). The cellular and molecular events develop throughout nerve fibers distal from lesion sites in the direction of denervated target tissues.

The cellular events comprise degeneration of the distal parts of severed axons (Coleman, 2005), activation of Schwann cells, breakdown of the blood–nerve barrier (Mizisin & Weerasuriya, 2011), and recruitment of hematogenous macrophages and other types of immune cells that produce cytokines and chemokines (Rotshenker, 2011; Taskinen & Roytta, 1997). In addition, axon injury triggers molecular changes mostly related to inflammation and includes modulation of the endoneurial extracellular matrix (ECM) by metalloproteinases (Gantus, Nasciutti, Cruz, Persechini, & Martinez, 2006; Tona, Perides, Rahemtulla, & Dahl, 1993) and elevation of neurotrophin and cytokine production (Camara-Lemarroy et al., 2010; Fu & Gordon, 1997; Terenghi, 1999). Both cellular and molecular events distal to nerve injury create conditions to induce axon regrowth from proximal stumps (Fu & Gordon, 1997; Raivich & Makwana, 2007; Webber & Zochodne, 2010).

2.1. Early phase of WD and consequent axon regeneration

The early phase of WD (to 48 h) begins with prompt degradation of such axon components as axoplasm, axolemma, and axonal mitochondria distal to the site of nerve fiber lesion. Axonal degeneration is an active, intrinsic process of self-destruction that proceeds independently of non-neuronal cells surrounding the axon (Saxena & Caroni, 2007). Calcium influx and activation of calpains are early events implicated in a proteolytic degradation of axonal cytoskeletal elements and axonal fragmentation (Beirowski et al., 2005; Glass, Culver, Levey, & Nash, 2002). Activation of calpains also causes

an early peak of cytokine upregulation in Schwann cells (Uceyler, Tscharke, & Sommer, 2007).

The inflammatory response initiated by axonal disintegration of injured nerve concerns both humoral (e.g., involving the complement system, cyclooxygenase–lipoxygenase pathways, and cytokines/chemokines) and cellular (blood–nerve barrier permeabilization, activation of Schwann cells and resident macrophages and recruitment of hematogenous macrophages) components. These early reactions of WD are probably triggered via receptors sensitive to tissue damage, such as toll-like receptors (TLRs).

2.1.1 Toll-like receptor signaling, activation of complement system, and their critical roles for early phase of WD and consequent axon regeneration

2.1.1.1 Toll-like receptors

Endogenous danger signals released from necrotic or stressed cells triggering the inflammatory response after tissue trauma have been termed alarmins or danger-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) (Hirsiger, Simmen, Werner, Wanner, & Rittirsch, 2012).

Disintegration of axons in distal nerve stump results in the production of such various DAMPs as galectins, adenosine, HMBG-1, hyaluronan, heparan sulfate proteoglycan, fibrin, and fibronectin. Some DAMPs are endogenous ligands for TLRs, the signaling of which plays a critical role in WD and axon regeneration after peripheral nerve injury (Boivin et al., 2007). For example, disintegrated axolemma and degraded endoneurial ECM in the distal nerve stump triggers TLR signaling of Schwann cell activation (Brunn, Bungum, Johnson, & Platt, 2005). Early activation of TLR4 distal to nerve injury is shown in Fig. 7.1A and B.

2.1.1.2 Complement system

Activation of complement components constitutes another important regulatory system in the early phase of WD. The complement (C) system is a part of the innate immune response consisting of about 30 soluble as well as membrane-embedded complement proteins. The distribution of the various complement components differs considerably among axon, Schwann cells, endoneurium, and perineurium, and this might play a role in the regeneration of peripheral nerve (Ramaglia, Daha, & Baas, 2008). It has been demonstrated that activated complement components are already present in the myelin sheath 4 h after nerve injury (De Jonge, van Schaik, Vreijling, Troost, & Baas, 2004) and that these are involved in myelin breakdown


Figure 7.1 Cross sections through rat intact sciatic nerve (Intact) and distal (Distal) to ligature after 1 day (A, B) and 7 days (D, E, G, H). Immunofluorescence staining illustrates upregulation of TLR4 (A, B), TNF α (C, D), and IL-6 (F, G). Regrowing axons decorated by GAP43 immunostaining (arrows) are in close contact with Schwann cells that display high intensity of immunofluorescence for TNF α (E) or IL-6 (H). Nuclei of cells are stained with Hoechst. Scale bars for A–D, F, G=50 µm, for E, H=12 µm.

and myelin phagocytosis by macrophages during WD (Ramaglia et al., 2008). These processes are based on myelin opsonization by complement components, because deficiency of C3 blocks myelin phagocytosis and delays WD (Bruck & Friede, 1991; Dailey, Avellino, Benthem, Silver, & Kliot, 1998). Moreover, macrophage recruitment and activation after nerve injury is inhibited in C5- and C6-deficient rats (Bruck & Friede, 1991; Liu et al., 1999; Ramaglia, King, et al., 2007; Ramaglia, Wolterman, de Kok, et al., 2007; Ramaglia, Wolterman, Vigar, et al., 2007).

Mechanical nerve injury induces binding of C1q to axonal and myelin epitopes, the damaged nerve structures are then opsonized by C4b, C3b, and C5b, and these are selectively phagocytized by macrophages (Ramaglia, King, et al., 2007; Ramaglia, Wolterman, de Kok, et al., 2007; Ramaglia, Wolterman, Vigar, et al., 2007). Activation of the C system during WD thus leads to rapid and efficient clearance of the axons and their myelin sheaths without damage to other cellular components of the distal nerve stump (De Jonge et al., 2004; Ramaglia, King, et al., 2007; Ramaglia, Wolterman, de Kok, et al., 2007; Ramaglia, Wolterman, Vigar, et al., 2007).

2.1.1.3 Roles of TLRs and complement components in axon regeneration

TLRs and complement activation drive the early phase of WD in relation to the disintegration and clearance of damaged axons and myelin sheaths. During this early period of WD, however, axonal sprouts also begin immediately to grow from proximal axon segments (Stoll, Jander, & Schroeter, 2000). Therefore, most of the early processes influence the final results of nerve regeneration and functional recovery after nerve reconstruction.

The implication of TLRs in nerve regeneration is illustrated by delayed WD and axonal regeneration after sciatic nerve injury of TLR2- and TLR4deficient mice compared to wild-type mice. The slowing of nerve regeneration in TLR2- and TLR4-deficient mice probably is due to reduced upregulation of IL-1 β and MCP-1 by Schwann cells; both IL-1 β and MCP-1 proteins are important for recruitment of macrophages. On the other hand, activation of TLR2 and TLR4 by injection of their agonists into the sciatic nerve has been shown to accelerate myelin debris clearance and axon regeneration while improving recovery of peripheral nerve function (Boivin et al., 2007).

In contrast to the positive effect of C during WD, it has been found that recovery of sensory and motor functions is accelerated in C6-deficient and sCR1-treated rats. This accelerated nerve regeneration might be explained by a decreased quantity of recruited macrophages and reduced production of matrix metalloproteinases with subsequent rescue of the endoneurial basal lamina tubes from degradation. In addition, it was surprising to find that delayed clearance of myelin debris in C6-deficient nerve or following sCR1 treatment does not appear to hamper axon regeneration (Ramaglia et al., 2009).

2.1.2 Cytokines, clearance of myelin debris from the distal nerve stump, and consequent axon regeneration

Clearing of the myelin debris is essential for nerve reinnervation because it contains myelin associated glycoprotein (MAG) and other molecules that inhibit axon growth (Barrette, Calvo, Vallieres, & Lacroix, 2010; Schafer, Fruttiger, Montag, Schachner, & Martini, 1996; Shen, DeBellard, Salzer, Roder, & Filbin, 1998). Schwann cells of the distal stump first respond to the nerve injury by their detachment from axons, dedifferentiation, and activation. The activated Schwann cells acquire a phagocytic capacity and begin to remove myelin and degenerating axons. Then, the degraded myelin is phagocytized by resident endoneurial and recruited hematogenous macrophages to effect full myelin clearance (Mueller et al., 2003; Stoll, Jander, & Myers, 2002).

Recruitment of macrophages is regulated by immune activation of Schwann cells that had lost contact with their axons. The activated Schwann cells upregulate a cascade of cytokines and chemokines that are stimuli for invasion of macrophages and other immune cells. Predominantly, monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1), tumor necrosis factor α (TNF α), interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β), and neuropoietic cytokines like interleukin-6 (IL-6) and leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) are produced by Schwann cells during the early phase of WD and contribute to a selective accumulation of macrophages in the distal stump of the injured peripheral nerve (Liefner et al., 2000; Perrin, Lacroix, Aviles-Trigueros, & David, 2005; Shamash, Reichert, & Rotshenker, 2002; Tofaris, Patterson, Jessen, & Mirsky, 2002).

The molecular mechanisms of myelin phagocytosis by Schwann cells and macrophages are thought to be different. The first step of myelin phagocytosis by Schwann cells is lectin mediated (i.e., opsonin independent), whereas that of macrophages is mainly opsonin dependent (Hirata & Kawabuchi, 2002).

Cytokine relationships, delayed removal of axon and myelin debris, and axon regeneration are well studied in injured sciatic nerves of C57/BL/ 6NHSD (C57/BL) and C57/BL/6-WLD/OLA/NHSD (Wld) mice. Such cellular and molecular events of WD as myelin removal, Schwann cell activation, and NGF production are efficient and rapid in C57/BL mice (rapid WD) but deficient and slow in Wld mice (slow WD) (Be'eri, Reichert, Saada, & Rotshenker, 1998; Reichert, Saada, & Rotshenker, 1994; Stoll & Muller, 1999).

Cytokine mRNAs and proteins are constitutively expressed and synthesized at no or low levels in Schwann cells of intact sciatic nerve and they are significantly induced after nerve injury in C57/BL mice. However, no protein upregulation of cytokines (TNF α , IL-1 α , and IL-1 β , GM-CSF, IL-6, and IL-10) has been found during slow WD in the injured sciatic nerve of Wld mice (Be'eri et al., 1998; Reichert, Levitzky, & Rotshenker, 1996; Saada, Reichert, & Rotshenker, 1996; Shamash et al., 2002).

These results of experiments achieved from Wld mice illustrate the relevance of a fine-tuned spatiotemporal expression of cytokines/chemokines for myelin clearance in the context of peripheral nerve regeneration (Brown, Booth, Lunn, & Perry, 1991; Carroll & Frohnert, 1998; Schafer et al., 1996).

3. CYTOKINES AND PERIPHERAL NERVE REGENERATION

Cytokines comprise a heterogeneous group of polypeptide mediators that have been associated classically with activation of the immune system and inflammatory responses. Recently, there is a growing body of evidence that cytokines and their group of chemokines have important roles in maintaining normal physiological conditions in the nervous system and their expression is upregulated rapidly following various types of stress to restore nervous tissue homeostasis. General features of cytokines are the extremely broad range of their activities, which may overlap or act synergistically, and the wide range of cells that are able to produce several cytokines. Furthermore, cytokines are frequently regulated in cascades where induction of the early cytokines serves to influence the synthesis of later ones (Fregnan, Muratori, Simoes, Giacobini-Robecchi, & Raimondo, 2012). Cytokines of the peripheral nervous system are produced by peripheral neurons and their glial cells (e.g., Schwann cells, satellite glial cells (SGCs) of the sensory ganglia), as well as by resident and recruited immune cells.

Published results regarding cytokine effects upon axon regeneration are frequently controversial, because cytokines, like inflammation itself, constitute a "double-edged sword" with respect to nerve regeneration. These opposing effects are related to the degree and timing of inflammatory reactions in severed nerves. A beneficial effect of local inflammation upon axon regeneration probably depends on orchestrated production of cytokines and its very precise control to keep cytokines at optimal levels during critical periods. It is known that chronic overproduction of cytokines after a traumatic nerve injury or other nerve diseases is implicated in conditions inducing NPP (Austin & Moalem-Taylor, 2010). However, optimal levels of cytokines and the mechanisms of balancing these to achieve their beneficial effects in lesioned peripheral nerve are still unknown.

Most cytokines are upregulated in the distal stump of the injured nerve in two or three waves. The upregulation of cytokines/chemokines by activated Schwann cells during the early phase of WD is implicated predominantly in myelin destruction and recruitment of hematogenous macrophages. This early peak is followed by a second, later phase in cytokine/chemokine expression that includes termination of inflammatory response (Shamash et al., 2002; Taskinen & Roytta, 2000).

Schwann cells proliferate and dedifferentiate to immature stage distal to nerve injury. The immature Schwann cells aligned in bands of Büngner of the distal nerve stump comprise the main source of cytokines (Dubovy, 2011; Taskinen & Roytta, 2000), neurotrophic factors (Gordon, 2010; Terenghi, 1999), and cell adhesion molecules (Gardiner, 2011; Kirsch, Friz, Vougioukas, & Hofmann, 2009) that stimulate and guide axonal regeneration. After the early phase of WD, an inflammatory reaction of Schwann cells relates mainly to their multiplication, survival, and axon growth promotion. It has been proven under in vitro conditions that low levels of proinflammatory cytokines (e.g., TNFa and IL-6) can stimulate neurotrophin-dependent neurite outgrowth of dorsal root ganglion (DRG) neurons. The cytokine-neurotrophin interaction can be suggested as one of the mechanisms by which inflammatory response modulates axonal regeneration (Golz et al., 2006; Marz, Heese, Dimitriades-Schmutz, Rose-John, & Otten, 1999).

It has been demonstrated over the past two decades that cytokines/ chemokines produced by Schwann cells of the distal nerve stump have direct or indirect effects on axonal growth. In addition to this local effect, cytokines/chemokines and their signaling molecules contribute significantly to axotomy-induced events in the neuronal bodies and surrounding glial cells and may affect neuron survival and axon regeneration. In the present review, we select only representative cytokines that are frequently studied in relation to nerve regeneration.

3.1. Interleukin-1 β

IL-1 β is a proinflammatory cytokine, the expression of which is increased only to a limited extent in the immature Schwann cells of the distal nerve stump in the early stage of WD and which disappears thereafter when Schwann cells begin their remyelination (Shamash et al., 2002).

It is well known that this proinflammatory cytokine promotes inflammation and cell death, including neurodegeneration (Basu, Krady, & Levison, 2004). On the other hand, IL-1 β regulates synthesis of nerve growth factor (NGF) by Schwann cells and fibroblasts (Lindholm, Heumann, & Thoenen, 1987; Rotshenker, Aamar, & Barak, 1992), and, together with neurotrophin-3, it synergistically promotes neurite growth (Boato et al., 2011). Moreover, this cytokine is able to overcome MAG-induced RhoA activation and axon growth inhibition to promote sensory axon outgrowth under *in vitro* and *in vivo* conditions (Temporin et al., 2008a, 2008b). In summary, a locally regulated elevation of IL-1 β during the early phase of WD contributes to macrophage recruitment (Perrin et al., 2005; Shamash et al., 2002), Schwann cell proliferation (Conti et al., 2002), and initial axonal elongation (Temporin et al., 2008a, 2008b).

3.2. Tumor necrosis factor α

TNF α expression is highly upregulated in the peripheral nerves early (within hours) after injury (George, Buehl, & Sommer, 2004; Shamash et al., 2002; Temporin et al., 2008a). Thereafter, two distinct peaks of TNF α mRNA have been seen in the endoneurium after 5 days and, in the more distal segments of transacted nerve, also after 2 weeks (Taskinen et al., 2000). Later upregulation of TNF α distal to nerve ligature predominantly in Schwann cells and their close contact with growing axons are illustrated in Fig. 7.1C–E. During the early phase of WD, TNF α has beneficial effects on myelin degradation and phagocytosis, Schwann cell activation, and macrophage recruitment, as demonstrated in experiments under *in vitro* and *in vivo* conditions (Liefner, Maruschak, & Bruck, 1998; Schafers, Schmidt, Vogel, Toyka, & Sommer, 2002; Shubayev et al., 2006).

Published findings as to TNFa's direct effects on peripheral nerve regeneration are controversial. While $TNF\alpha$ may promote motor functional recovery after crushing of peripheral nerve (Chen, Seaber, Wong, & Urbaniak, 1996), it has also been found that TNF α stimulates fibroblast proliferation to induce neuroma formation that results in impairment of functional nerve regeneration (Lu et al., 1997). There is further evidence of $TNF\alpha$'s having a detrimental effect upon nerve regeneration from experiments with systemic and local administration of the TNF α antagonist etanercept that enhanced the rate of axonal regeneration (Kato, Liu, Kikuchi, Myers, & Shubayev, 2010). Even in vitro experiments do not provide unequivocal findings. While there are results showing that $TNF\alpha$ reduces neurite sprouting (Lu et al., 1997), a recent paper by Saleh et al. (2011) proved an increased branching of DRG neurons after application of TNF α through an NF- κ B-dependent pathway. These controversial results illustrate that the effects of $TNF\alpha$ upon peripheral nerve regeneration are complicated and call for further experiments.

3.3. Neuropoietic cytokine family

The neuropoietic cytokine family includes ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF), LIF, oncostatin M, cardiotrophin-1, cardiotrophin-like cytokine (CLC), neuropoietin (NPN), IL-27, and IL-31 (Bauer, Kerr, & Patterson, 2007). All of these cytokines cause homo- or hetero-dimerization of the gly-coprotein 130 (gp130) receptor in target cells and subsequent tyrosine phosphorylation of Janus kinases (JAKs) and of signal transducers and activators of transcription (STATs). For example, phosphorylated STAT3 is then dimerized and translocated to the neuron nucleus, where it activates transcription of many genes (Heinrich et al., 2003). Several lines of evidence implicate mainly CNTF, LIF, and IL-6 in the regenerative conditioning of peripheral nerves and their neurons (Murphy et al., 2000).

Myelinating Schwann cells of intact peripheral nerve display high levels of CNTF protein and mRNA, but these are dramatically reduced in the distal segment of the injured sciatic nerve (Rabinovsky, Smith, Browder, Shine, & McManaman, 1992; Sendtner, Stockli, & Thoenen, 1992). It has been demonstrated that administration of recombinant CNTF promotes axonal regeneration and sprouting of motor axons (Dubovy et al., 2011; Sendtner et al., 1992; Siegel, Patton, & English, 2000). For example, intrathecal CNTF administration results in improved functional motor reinnervation in the model of end-to-side neurorrhaphy by promoting direct reinnervation and collateral sprouting and those sprouts' final maturation (Dubovy et al., 2011).

When the sciatic nerve is transected, LIF mRNA is increased significantly in those regions immediately proximal and distal to the lesion site while LIF receptor mRNA somewhat decreases (Banner & Patterson, 1994; Curtis et al., 1994). Peripheral nerve injury initiates increased retrograde transport of LIF to both primary sensory and motor neurons in order to induce their regeneration program (Curtis et al., 1994). Moreover, LIF promotes elongating but not arborizing axon outgrowth *in vitro* and is required for normal regeneration of injured adult primary sensory neurons *in vivo* (Cafferty et al., 2001).

Of special interest regarding nerve regeneration is IL-6, which exerts pleiotropic effects and is considered to be a key component in the neuronal and immune responses to nerve injury. IL-6 first binds to a membranebound, specific IL-6 receptor (IL-6R), which is then associated with the ubiquitously distributed gp130. This receptor complex activates a signal transduction cascade through transcription factors JAKs and STAT3. Phosphorylated STAT3 dimers then translocate to the nucleus and initiate transcription of target genes (for review, see Eulenfeld et al., 2012).

Proteins and mRNAs of IL-6, IL-6R, and IL-6's signaling molecules are constitutively expressed at low levels in the structures of intact peripheral nerve but at higher levels in non-myelinating Schwann cells (Bolin, Verity, Silver, Shooter, & Abrams, 1995; Grothe et al., 2000; Kurek, Austin, Cheema, Bartlett, & Murphy, 1996; Lara-Ramirez, Segura-Anaya, Martinez-Gomez, & Dent, 2008). Schwann cells of the distal nerve stump constitute the main source of increased levels of IL-6 (Fig. 7.1F and G), its receptors, and signaling molecules. While IL-6 is increased distal to a sciatic nerve lesion (Bolin et al., 1995), retrograde transport of this cytokine to the neuronal bodies does not seem to occur (Kurek et al., 1996). Double immunostaining revealed regrowing axons in close contact with activated Schwann cells that expressed high level of IL-6 protein (Fig. 7.1H).

During the early phase of WD, IL-6 is involved in an autocrine-signaling inflammatory cascade also involving LIF and MCP-1, which gradually amplifies the Schwann cell-derived chemotactic signals for macrophage recruitment (Tofaris et al., 2002). In addition, IL-6 in DRG neurons overcomes axon outgrowth inhibition by MAG (Cao et al., 2006). Implication of IL-6 biological activity in nerve regeneration has been studied in various nerve injury models applied in genetically modified animals. The increase of GAP-43 normally observed in DRG neurons of wild type mice after axotomy is abolished in IL-6^{-/-} mice (Cafferty et al., 2004). Other experiments with genetic deletion of IL-6 have also revealed retardation of regeneration speed in sciatic (Cafferty et al., 2004; Zhong, Dietzel, Wahle, Kopf, & Heumann, 1999) and facial nerves (Galiano et al., 2001).

However, no significant differences were found in functional recovery between wild-type and IL-6 knockout mice after sciatic nerve transection with epineurial suture repair (Inserra, Yao, Murray, & Terris, 2000), while sensory impairments were observed after crush lesion of that nerve (Zhong et al., 1999). In addition, the regeneration of axotomized hypoglossal nerve was delayed when IL6-R was inhibited with specific antibodies while accelerated nerve regeneration was achieved in transgenic mice with upregulated expression of IL-6 and IL-6R (Hirota, Kiyama, Kishimoto, & Taga, 1996). It was also demonstrated that IL-6, by activating STAT3, can enhance synthesis of myelin proteins in Schwann cells (Haggiag et al., 2001; Ito, Ikeda, Tomita, & Yokoyama, 2010).

Gp130-deficient mice die in early embryonic stages, and conditional gp130 gene deletion after birth has been shown to cause Schwann cell

degradation and degeneration of both myelinated and non-myelinated peripheral nerves (Betz et al., 1998).

The actions of neuropoietic cytokines are mediated by the gp130 receptor, which activates the phosphorylation and dimerization of STAT3. Local STAT3 activation after sciatic nerve injury occurs in axons within 15 min of lesioning, leading to retrograde signaling to the nucleus (Lee, Neitzel, Devlin, & MacLennan, 2004), where it is involved in the program promoting axon growth. Activation of STAT3 is subject to feedback inhibition by suppressor of cytokine signaling 3 (SOCS3) (Croker et al., 2003). It has been found that SOCS3 protein is restricted mainly to Schwann cells distal to nerve injury and is negatively correlated with the expression of IL-6. This suggests that the increased expression of SOCS3 may reduce expression of IL-6 in order to eliminate its detrimental inflammatory effects. In addition, a higher level of SOCS3 was detected in cut/ligated nerves as compared to crushed nerves (Girolami, Bouhy, Haber, Johnson, & David, 2010), but any relationship between these findings and differences of axon regrowth following various types of nerve injury are not yet clear. More important, STAT3/SOCS3 regulation linked with nerve regeneration occurs in injured neurons. Further information on this subject is provided in the next subchapter.

3.4. Prostanoids

Arachidonic acid is a polyunsaturated fatty acid that is found in the cell membrane. Once it has been freed from the cell membrane by phospholipase A2, it is metabolized by cyclooxygenase enzymes in the arachidonate cascade to compounds that include prostaglandins, thromboxanes, and leukotrienes. Cyclooxygenase-1 (COX-1) is expressed constitutively in most tissues and has a homeostatic or housekeeping role, while cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) expression is usually low but can be induced by proinflammatory and downregulated by anti-inflammatory cytokines (Flower, 2003). Prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) is a well-known mediator of inflammation, and COX2-dependent PGE2 (COX2/PGE2) is one of the important mediators abundantly produced in injured nerves (Ma & Quirion, 2008). A biphasic increase of COX-2 expression was found in Schwann cells at day 1, while in ED1 + macrophages within 7–14 days, after nerve injury (Takahashi et al., 2004), and this upregulation can last for months to years (Durrenberger et al., 2006). Application of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs or inhibition of COX-2 by the selective inhibitor celecoxib promotes axon regeneration (Camara-Lemarroy et al., 2008; Fu, Hue, & Li, 2007) and indicates a direct implication of COX2/PGE2 in nerve regeneration.



4. IMMUNE REACTIONS OF NEURONAL BODIES AND THEIR GLIAL CELLS, AND NERVE REGENERATION

Rescue of neurons from their deaths and promotion of their axon regeneration program are important prerequisites for successful functional reinnervation after nerve injury. Molecular changes during WD constitute a source of both positive and negative signaling molecules for inflammatory reactions in the neuronal somata and their surrounding glial cells. This retrograde signaling-induced inflammation may lead to death and/or protection of the neurons as well as switching off of the neurons for regeneration of their damaged axons. The balance of nerve injury-induced inflammatory responses of the neurons may promote axon regeneration on the one hand but also induce development and maintenance of NPP on the other hand (Dubovy, 2011).

4.1. Interleukin-1 β

The cytokine IL-1 β binds to specific cell surface receptors IL-1RI and IL-1RII that are members of the TLR superfamily (Martin & Wesche, 2002). Whereas IL-1RI transduces the biological signal of IL-1 β , and IL-1RII serves as a "decoy" receptor restricting the effect of the cytokine on its target cells. It has been shown that only IL-1RI but not IL-1RII is expressed in the DRG and motor neurons (Copray et al., 2001; Obreja, Rathee, Lips, Distler, & Kress, 2002; Sasaki, Seo-Kiryu, Kato, Kita, & Kiyama, 2001). The highly selective IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1ra) is a naturally occurring inhibitor of IL-1 β and competes with IL-1 β for binding to IL-1R1 (Arend, Palmer, & Gabay, 2008).

Nerve injury-induced elevation of IL-1 β in the neurons has opposing outcomes as to neurotoxic and neuroprotective effects related to the degree and timing of inflammation (Basu et al., 2004). Moreover, it seems that IL-1 β is not neurotoxic per se, but it induces activation of surrounding glial cells and their excitotoxic effect (Hailer, Vogt, Korf, & Dehghani, 2005). Although there is evidence that administration of IL-1R antagonist or IL-1 β blocking antibodies reduces neuronal death (Allan, Tyrrell, & Rothwell, 2005; Touzani, Boutin, Chuquet, & Rothwell, 1999), other experiments under *in vitro* and *in vivo* conditions have yielded controversial results about direct IL-1 β neurotoxic or neuroprotective effects. Therefore, IL-1ra has been used extensively in experiments to clarify the role of IL-1 in neuronal injury. Exogenous administration of IL-1ra or overexpression of endogenous IL-1ra markedly inhibits neuronal injury in experimental animals (Allan et al., 2005).

The cytokine IL-1 β is synthesized as a 35-kDa precursor that is proteolytically processed to the 17 kDa mature form by the IL-1 β -converting enzyme (ICE) (Thornberry & Molineaux, 1995). ICE's deletion does not alter neuron death induced by a facial nerve injury in the neonatal periods, but adult ICE knockout mice exhibit greater facial motoneuron loss following axotomy. These data suggest that ICE may contribute to an environment for neuronal survival after nerve injury (De Bilbao, Giannakopoulos, Srinivasan, & Dubois-Dauphin, 2000) and provide indirect evidence that natural regulation of IL-1 β levels may protect neurons from their death after nerve injury.

4.2. Tumor necrosis factor α

The pleiotropic activities of TNF α are mediated via two distinct receptor subtypes, constitutively expressed receptor-1 (TNF-R1, p55) and inducible receptor-2 (TNF-R2, p75). Several studies now point to an important contribution of TNF-R2 to immune cell activation based on a cooperative action with TNF-R1 (Chadwick et al., 2008).

As its local effects in nerve, TNF α provides diverse bioactivities in neurons suffering from axon injury. At present, it is not entirely clear under which conditions TNF α promotes beneficial or deleterious effects on injured neurons.

The TNF α produced at nerve lesion sites is retrogradely transported to DRG neurons and the spinal cord dorsal horn, where it correlates with the expression of TNF-R1 and TNF-R2 (Shubayev & Myers, 2001, 2002). In addition to this retrogradely transported TNF α , the DRG neurons and their SGCs synthesize TNF α after sciatic nerve injury (Dubovy, Jancalek, Klusakova, Svizenska, & Pejchalova, 2006).

Several lines of evidence demonstrate that neurotoxic effects of TNF α are mediated through TNF-R1 (Chadwick et al., 2008). The endogenous TNF α does not exhibit neurotoxic effects in the presence of NGF. When NGF is withdrawn, the endogenous TNF α has neurotoxic effects on neurons through TNF-R1. Contrary to these neurotoxic effects, there is evidence that TNF α can promote neuron survival through TNF-R2. However, TNF α is upregulated in both dying and surviving neurons

(Barker, Middleton, Davey, & Davies, 2001) and definite involvement of TNF α in both processes has not yet been clarified.

According to findings as to the immunohistochemical distribution of TNF α and its receptors in DRG after nerve injury, we can speculate about autocrine and paracrine action of TNF α . As shown in Fig. 7.2, after nerve injury, TNF-R1 was upregulated only in the neuronal bodies while TNF-R2 was enhanced in their SGCs. TNF α produced by both neurons and their SGCs binds to TNFR1 present only in the neurons and produces a destructive effect by means of autocrine and paracrine mechanisms. However, TNF α binding to TNFR2 of SGCs and some small-sized DRG neurons—again by autocrine and paracrine fashions—protect these glial and neuronal cells from the destructive effect of TNF α (Fig. 7.3).

Combined deletion of both TNF α receptors (TNF-R1 and -R2^{-/-} mice) led to almost complete disappearance of motoneuron loss in the first 29 days after facial nerve axotomy. However, there is a second phase of motoneuron loss independent as to the presence of TNF α receptors that begins in the 4th week after injury. This suggests that the destructive effect of TNF α on neurons is probably limited to the early periods after nerve injury (Raivich et al., 2002).

4.3. Neuropoietic cytokine family

Several lines of evidence indicate that neuropoietic cytokines and their signaling pathways are activated in the primary sensory neurons by nerve injury and are necessary for regenerative responses of these neurons. Axotomy of adult peripheral neurons stimulates synthesis of IL-6 in the DRG neurons and their SGCs (Dubovy, Klusakova, Svizenska, & Brazda, 2010; Murphy, Grondin, Altares, & Richardson, 1995), as well as LIF synthesis in the DRG neurons (Banner & Patterson, 1994). The nerve injury upregulation of IL-6 in the neurons is linked with increased expression of growth-associated genes and reactivation of their intrinsic growth program to promote axonal regrowth (Cafferty et al., 2004; Pieraut et al., 2011; Yang, Wen, Ou, Cui, & Fan, 2012). Injured DRG neurons also display increased IL-6R levels, which is important for an autocrine effect of IL-6 on DRG neuron survival (Dubovy, Klusakova, Svizenska, & Brazda, 2010; Thier, Marz, Otten, Weis, & Rose-John, 1999).

It has been demonstrated that the presence of LIF is critical for motoneuron survival (Holtmann et al., 2005). In addition, LIF is retrogradely transported to injured neuronal bodies, where it is involved in processes that regulate their intrinsic growth status (Cafferty et al., 2001).



Figure 7.2 Sections through L4-DRG ipsilateral to sciatic nerve ligature after 7 days. Increased immunofluorescence staining of TNF α protein is seen in neuronal bodies (arrowheads) and satellite glial cells (arrows), with simultaneously stained glutamine synthetase (GS) used as a marker (A). Nuclei of cells are stained with Hoechst. Immunostaining for TNFR1 is elevated only in the neuronal bodies, while satellite glial cells are free of the signals (arrowheads, B). By contrast, TNFR2 immunostaining is increased mainly in satellite glial cells that were simultaneously stained for GS (arrows, C). Scale bar for A, B = 30 μ m; for C = 20 μ m.



Figure 7.3 Schematic presentation of TNF α and its receptors (TNFR1, TNFR2) distribution in DRG according to the results of immunohistochemical staining after nerve injury. TNF α is upregulated in the neurons and their satellite glial cells while TNFR1 is upregulated only in the neuronal bodies. Immunostaining for TNFR2 was observed in satellite glial cells and small- and medium-sized neuronal bodies (Fig. 7.2, Dubovy, Jancalek, Klusakova, Svizenska, & Pejchalova, 2006). Based on published conclusions (Chadwick et al., 2008), we can speculate on autocrine and paracrine actions of TNF α upon neuronal bodies via TNFR1 to induce a destructive effect. In contrast, autocrine and paracrine actions of TNF α via TNF-R2 probably have protective effects upon satellite glial cells and a subpopulation of the DRG neurons.

As members of the neuropoietic cytokine family, LIF and CNTF utilize common signaling pathways and have overlapping effects on neurons. Although CNTF is dramatically reduced in the distal segment of injured sciatic nerve (Rabinovsky et al., 1992), experiments with CNTF-deficient mice point to CNTF as an early retrograde signal in axotomized motoneurons to support their survival (Kirsch, Terheggen, & Hofmann, 2003; Sendtner, Gotz, Holtmann, & Thoenen, 1997). However, the later conclusions based on experiments with CNTF knockout mice do not take into account the effects of other neuropoietic cytokines that are also able to activate STAT3 and mediate neuron survival.

The gp130/JAK/STAT3 signaling pathway is activated by neuropoietic cytokines in axotomized DRG neurons, as demonstrated by immunohistochemical evidence of STAT3 phosphorylation (Dubovy, Klusakova, Svizenska, & Brazda, 2010; Qiu, Cafferty, McMahon, & Thompson, 2005). STAT3 is locally translated and activated at the nerve injury site, then transported retrogradely to modulate survival of peripheral sensory neurons, and stimulate axon outgrowth by modifying the transcription of genes (Ben-Yaakov et al., 2012). Moreover, local origin STAT3 is activated by neuropoietic cytokines directly in the DRG neurons, as has been demon-strated immunohistochemically in DRG neurons contralateral to nerve injury (Dubovy, Klusakova, Svizenska, & Brazda, 2010). This neuronal activation of STAT3 after axotomy may prevent the neurons from excitotoxic death (Park, Nozell, & Benveniste, 2012) as the most important prerequisite for successful nerve reinnervation.

5. INFLAMMATORY REACTIONS IN NERVE GRAFTING

✓ To overcome more extensive defects of peripheral nerves, autologous grafts prepared from cutaneous nerves are usually used (Millesi, 1984). Although autologous grafts (autografts) are considered as the gold standard for peripheral nerve grafting, they have several limitations that include limited donor source and secondary site morbidity (loss of function in the distribution of the donor peripheral nerve, scarring, or painful neuroma formation) (Colen, Choi, & Chiu, 2009). Despite the autologous antigenic content, an autograft from donor peripheral nerve undergoes a neuroinflammatory reaction during WD that includes activation of Schwann cells, recruitment of macrophages, and clearance of axon and myelin debris (see Section 2). It has been found that the prevention of macrophage invasion impairs reinnervation of autografts (Dahlin, 1995).

The tissue for a nerve graft can also be taken from another individual of the same species (allogeneic grafts, allografts) and/or from another species (xenogeneic grafts or xenografts).

5.1. Biological and synthetic nerve conduits

Generally, any tissue containing the basal lamina tubes—such as freeze-dried muscle or vein packed with muscle fibers—can be used as a possible alternative biological conduit to bridge the peripheral nerve gap. Allogeneic and xenogeneic grafts are alternatives only for peripheral nerve repair, because immunological rejection due to foreign antigens poses a major obstacle to their common clinical use.

Concerns as to the need for an amount of graft material sufficient to bridge a long defect, ensuring only an acceptable neurological deficit after harvesting of a nerve autologous graft, and the side effects of immunosuppressive medication in the case of allo- and xenotransplantation have prompted the development of nerve conduits. The conduits can be divided into biological conduits of autologous or non-autologous origin and nonbiological (synthetic) conduits. Experimental and clinical studies have verified axonal regeneration through the autologous venous and arterial conduits for a short distance with restoration of appropriate nerve function (Chiu, 1999). Skeletal muscle can also be used as a nerve conduit because of its suitable ECM components and similarities between the longitudinally oriented basal lamina of muscles and the endoneurial tubes of degenerating nerves (Meek, Varejao, & Geuna, 2004). Because collagen is a major component of the nerve ECM, conduits with collagen type I/III tubes are also generally useful for nerve repair (Keilhoff, Stang, Wolf, & Fansa, 2003).

Also available are various synthetic conduits, but most of these remain experimental (Wang & Cai, 2010). Although the main features of synthetic materials are their inertness and biocompatibility, some of them use immune reaction with invasion of macrophages for biodegradation (Hong et al., 2011). Currently, tissue engineering procedures are used to form conduits enriched with Schwann cells that release many bioactive factors-such as growth factors—promoting axonal regeneration (e.g., NGF, BDNF, IGF-1, IGF-2, PDGF, FGF, and CNTF), permissive ECM molecules (laminin and fibronectin), and some forms of collagen that promote axonal extension (Daly, Yao, Zeugolis, Windebank, & Pandit, 2012). Moreover, other sorts of synthetic conduits and scaffolds are prepared to fix or continuously release neurotrophic factors or neuropoietic cytokines (Cao et al., 2011; Uebersax et al., 2007). These engineered conduits could represent the future of peripheral nerve repair, because they can lead to better functional results than do autologous nerve grafts (Jiang, Lim, Mao, & Chew, 2010).

5.2. Immunobiology of non-autologous nerve grafts

While non-autologous nerve grafts provide unlimited material for use in peripheral nerve reconstruction, the presence of foreign antigens triggers an immune reaction leading to rejection of the graft. Although recipient Schwann cells migrate into the graft and support axon regeneration, donor Schwann cells in the graft are required for regeneration through a long nerve graft and the loss of regenerated host axons contributes to an immune reaction against these non-autologous Schwann cells (Hall, 2002). Schwann cells and fibroblasts of the peripheral nerve express major histocompatibility complex class I (MHC-I) molecules, which play an important role in eliciting immunological rejection after non-autologous nerve transplantation (Rovak et al., 2005). These cell surface molecules present intracellular proteins to cytotoxic CD8+T cells, resulting in their specific activation and destruction of recognized foreign cells (Barry & Bleackley, 2002). The time course of MHC-I expression in neurons correlates with axonal regeneration after peripheral nerve lesion and proves that this cell surface molecule plays a role in nerve regeneration (Zanon et al., 2010).

MHC class II molecules (MHC-II) present antigens from genetically different individuals to helper CD4 + T cells, resulting in the late rejection of non-autologous tissue transplants. MHC-II is expressed on professional antigen-presenting cells (APCs), such as macrophages. Although Schwann cells express low levels of MHC-I and not MHC-II, significant elevation of MHC-II molecules has been detected on their surface in the presence of activated T cells upon stimulation by interferon- γ (IFN- γ) with synergistic effect of TNF α (Meyer zu Hörste, Hu, Hartung, Lehmann, & Kieseier, 2008). Thus, Schwann cells have the ability to process and present antigens in some specific conditions to be facultative APCs.

Due to MHC incompatibility of recipient and nerve allografts or xenografts, regenerative success of nerve transplantation depends upon immune reaction by immunocompetent cells of hematopoietic origin and/or neural resident cells. Although humoral and cellular immunities participate in the general creation of an obstacle to non-autologous transplantation, the main critical role in nerve graft rejection is played by the cellular immune response (Lu et al., 2009). Neovascularization with restoration of blood flow in avascular nerve grafts is an important condition for successful regeneration, because the Schwann cells survive only 7 days while depending purely on diffusion (Prpa, Huddleston, An, & Wood, 2002). Thus, the use of vascularized nerve for long nerve defects or those within a hypovascular and scarred recipient bed results in outcomes superior to those achieved using conventional nerve grafts (Vargel et al., 2009). On the other hand, the restoration of blood supply allows donor nerve invasion by macrophages and T cells with predominance of the helper subtype that initiates the rejection response via donor-specific antigen recognition (Caballero et al., 2006).

The direct pathway of allorecognition is based on donor APCs that present donor antigens to the host T cells in the context of MHC-II molecules. In addition to donor professional APCs, like endoneurial resident macrophages, Schwann cells act as facultative APCs that are primary targets of the immune response to the nerve allograft (Lilje, 2002). This immune response to donor MHC molecules is directed toward a variety of antigens and plays a critical role during the early phase of acute graft rejection by sensitizing the host to graft antigens.

T cells become activated when coming into contact with APCs. In addition to direct killing activity by cytotoxic T cells that recognize their targets by binding to antigens associated with MHC-I, graft rejection can also occur through T-cell-mediated mechanisms based on cytokine production (e.g., of IFN-γ, TNFα, IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, IL-12, and IL-17), as well as recruitment and activation of other cytotoxic cells (Yang & Sykes, 2007). For example, graft rejection is significantly suppressed after application of IL-17 and IFN- γ neutralizing antibodies (Yu et al., 2012). TNF α is involved in the rejection process by its capacity to kill cells as well as its ability to activate macrophages (Gulati, 1998). IFN- γ , produced mainly by helper CD4 + T cells, contributes significantly to the acute rejection process by driving macrophages and endothelial cells into a proinflammatory status with T-cell sensitization and rapid development of graft rejection. However, the limiting of IFN- γ in IFN- γ -deficient mice leads to the development of a CD8-mediated mechanism of allograft rejection, which is resistant to experimental immunosuppression (Bishop, Wood, Eichwald, & Orosz, 2001).

5.3. Strategies for attenuation of host immune response *5.3.1 Graft pretreatment*

Graft pretreatment is a method for reducing the host immune response to nerve allografts, including both its cellular and structural elements. The pretreatment methods include freeze-drying techniques, cryopreservation, lyophilization, freeze thawing, predegeneration, irradiation, and cold storage (Siemionow & Sonmez, 2007). Promising results were obtained with cold storage in the University of Wisconsin Storage Solution because the technique does not decrease the number of viable donor Schwann cells but reduces the expression of MHC-II molecules that trigger activation of T cells (Evans et al., 1998, 1999). Another method that is suitable not only for graft pretreatment but also for tissue banking is cryopreservation, which does not alter the cell's viability. However, cryopreserved nerve grafts have been seen to display significantly reduced axon counts and less myelination compared to fresh conventional autografts (Fansa, Lassner, Kook, Keilhoff, & Schneider, 2000). Treatment with the cryoprotectant 10% dimethyl sulfoxide before using liquid nitrogen does not improve morphometric parameters of regenerated nerve fibers in the nerve graft (Fansa, Lassner, et al., 2000).

Other methods keep the basal lamina intact but destroy cellular elements of the graft in an attempt to decrease antigenicity. Although the nerve grafts are gradually repopulated by migrating recipient Schwann cells, the reinnervation of initial acellular graft is delayed and is poorer in comparison with cellular graft (Haninec, Dubový, Houšťava, & Stejskal, 2000). Local delivery of soluble neurotrophic factors is a method for reducing the disadvantage of acellular nerve grafts. Grafts pretreated with vascular endothelial growth factor have been shown to stimulate the migration of Schwann cells and outgrowth of blood vessels but not of axons. Neither pretreatment with laminin nor NGF affected the migration of Schwann cells, but NGF treatment increased the number of axons in the graft (Sondell, Lundborg, & Kanje, 1999).

5.3.2 Host immunosuppression

Successful suppression of the immune response and regeneration across nonautologous peripheral nerve grafts using cyclosporine A have been demonstrated in some experimental models, but long-term immunosuppression for non-vital organ transplantation is controversial because of the potential risks. Although withdrawal of immunosuppression after successful reinnervation through nerve grafts results in graft rejection, the rejection is only short term in nature, and the recovery of graft histological and functional parameters is comparable with that of continuous immunosuppression (Midha et al., 1993). Although T cells are the primary target of cyclosporine A's effect, the reduced number of recruited macrophages during WD results in retarded axonal degeneration and subsequent reinnervation (Taskinen & Roytta, 2000). Therefore, cyclosporine A has been replaced by tacrolimus (FK-506) in several nerve grafting protocols because its application resulted in accelerated WD and increased axon sprouting into the graft (Mackinnon, Doolabh, Novak, & Trulock, 2001). The neurotrophic effect of FK-506 is mediated through binding to FKBP-12 that increases the level of intracellular calcium via calmodulin and thus induces Schwann cell proliferation (Fansa, Keilhoff, et al., 2000; Toll, Seifalian, & Birchall, 2011). Although neurotoxic complications have been noted after clinical application of FK-506, these side effects are reversible and usually occur in association with an underlying predisposing condition (Eidelman et al., 1991). Some new strategies in peripheral nerve bioengineering combined with cyclosporine A have been published that are shown to induce tolerance while enhancing the viability of transplanted cells (Scharpf, Strome, & Siemionow, 2006).

6. CONCLUSION

Endogenous signals from injured or necrotic cells distal to nerve lesion or nerve graft activate inflammatory reaction without septic or exogenous stimuli. The so-called aseptic inflammatory reaction and its mediators under physiological control participate significantly in the process of nerve regeneration, but chronic overproduction of inflammatory mediators develops into NPP induction. Activation of the complement system during WD leads to rapid clearance of injured axons and their myelin sheaths without attack to the other cellular components of the distal nerve stump. Cytokines upregulated in the distal nerve stump are involved in clearance of axon and myelin debris as well as axon regeneration. Similarly to the distal nerve stump, inflammatory responses in and around damaged neurons are implicated not only in their conditioning to regenerate severed axons, but also in NPP induction. Precise understanding of inflammatory reactions during nerve regeneration is needed for correct application of anti-inflammatory treatment of NPP without prevention of axon growth.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by the project "CEITEC—Central European Institute of Technology" (CZ.1.05/1.1.00/02.0068) from the European Regional Development Fund and the EU 7th FP under the "Capacities" specific programme (Contract No. 286154—SYLICA).

REFERENCES

Allan, S. M., Tyrrell, P. J., & Rothwell, N. J. (2005). Interleukin-1 and neuronal injury. *Nature Reviews. Immunology*, 5, 629–640.

Arend, W. P., Palmer, G., & Gabay, C. (2008). IL-1, IL-18, and IL-33 families of cytokines. *Immunology Review*, 223, 20–38.

- Austin, P. J., & Moalem-Taylor, G. (2010). The neuro-immune balance in neuropathic pain: Involvement of inflammatory immune cells, immune-like glial cells and cytokines. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, 229, 26–50.
- Banner, L. R., & Patterson, P. H. (1994). Major changes in the expression of the messenger-RNAs for cholinergic differentiation factor leukemia inhibitory factor and its receptor after injury to adult peripheral-nerves and ganglia. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America, 91, 7109–7113.
- Barker, V., Middleton, G., Davey, F., & Davies, A. M. (2001). TNF alpha contributes to the death of NGF-dependent neurons during development. *Nature Neuroscience*, 4, 1194–1198.
- Barrette, B., Calvo, E., Vallieres, N., & Lacroix, S. (2010). Transcriptional profiling of the injured sciatic nerve of mice carrying the Wld(S) mutant gene: Identification of genes involved in neuroprotection, neuroinflammation, and nerve regeneration. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 24, 1254–1267.
- Barry, M., & Bleackley, R. C. (2002). Cytotoxic T lymphocytes: all roads lead to death. *Nature Reviews. Immunology*, 2, 401–409.
- Basu, A., Krady, J. K., & Levison, S. W. (2004). Interleukin-1: A master regulator of neuroinflammation. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 78, 151–156.
- Bauer, S., Kerr, B. J., & Patterson, P. H. (2007). The neuropoietic cytokine family in development, plasticity, disease and injury. *Nature Review Neuroscience*, 8, 221–232.
- Be'eri, M., Reichert, F., Saada, A., & Rotshenker, S. (1998). The cytokine network of wallerian degeneration: IL-10 and GM-CSF. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 10, 2707–2713.
- Beirowski, B., Adalbert, R., Wagner, D., Grumme, D. S., Addicks, K., Ribchester, R. R., et al. (2005). The progressive nature of Wallerian degeneration in wild-type and slow Wallerian degeneration (Wld(S)) nerves. *BMC Neuroscience*, 6, 6. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1186/1471-2202-6-6.
- Ben-Yaakov, K., Dagan, S. Y., Segal-Ruder, Y., Shalem, O., Vuppalanchi, D., Willis, D. E., et al. (2012). Axonal transcription factors signal retrogradely in lesioned peripheral nerve. *EMBO Journal*, 31, 1350–1363.
- Betz, U. A. K., Bloch, W., van den Broek, M., Yoshida, K., Taga, T., Kishimoto, T., et al. (1998). Postnatally induced inactivation of gp130 in mice results in neurological, cardiac, hematopoietic, immunological, hepatic, and pulmonary defects. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 188, 1955–1965.
- Bishop, D. K., Wood, S. C., Eichwald, E. J., & Orosz, C. G. (2001). Immunobiology of allograft rejection in the absence of IFN-γ: CD8+ effector cells develop independently of CD4+ cells and CD40–CD40 ligand interactions. *Journal of Immunology*, 166, 3248–3255.
- Boato, F., Hechler, D., Rosenberger, K., Ludecke, D., Peters, E. M., Nitsch, R., et al. (2011). Interleukin-1 beta and neurotrophin-3 synergistically promote neurite growth in vitro. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 8, 183. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/ 1742-2094-8-183.
- Boivin, A., Pineau, I., Barrette, B., Filali, M., Vallieres, N., Rivest, S., et al. (2007). Toll-like receptor signaling is critical for Wallerian degeneration and functional recovery after peripheral nerve injury. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 27, 12565–12576.
- Bolin, L. M., Verity, A. N., Silver, J. E., Shooter, E. M., & Abrams, J. S. (1995). Interleukin-6 production by Schwann-cells and induction in sciatic-nerve injury. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 64, 850–858.
- Brown, M. C., Booth, C. M., Lunn, E. R., & Perry, P. H. (1991). Delayed-response to denervation in muscles of C57BL/OLA mice. *Neuroscience*, 43, 279–283.
- Bruck, W., & Friede, R. L. (1991). The role of complement in myelin phagocytosis during PNS Wallerian degeneration. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 103, 182–187.

- Brunn, G. J., Bungum, M. K., Johnson, G. B., & Platt, J. L. (2005). Conditional signaling by Toll-like receptor 4. *FASEB Journal*, 19, 872–874.
- Caballero, A., Fernandez, N., Lavado, R., Bravo, M. J., Miranda, J. M., & Alonso, A. (2006). Tolerogenic response: Allorecognition pathways. *Transplant Immunology*, 17, 3–6.
- Cafferty, W. B. J., Gardiner, N. J., Das, P., Qiu, J., McMahon, S. B., & Thompson, S. W. N. (2004). Conditioning injury-induced spinal axon regeneration fails in interleukin-6 knock-out mice. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 24, 4432–4443.
- Cafferty, W. B. J., Gardiner, N. J., Gavazzi, I., Powell, J., McMahon, S. B., Heath, J. K., et al. (2001). Leukemia inhibitory factor determines the growth status of injured adult sensory neurons. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 21, 7161–7170.
- Camara-Lemarroy, C. R., Guzman-de la Garza, F. J., Barrera-Oranday, E. A., Cabello-Garcia, A. J., Garcia-Tamez, A., & Fernandez-Garza, N. E. (2008). Celecoxib accelerates functional recovery after sciatic nerve crush in the rat. *Journal of Brachial Plexus and Peripheral Nerve Injury*, *3*, 25. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1749-7221-3-25.
- Camara-Lemarroy, C. R., Guzman-de la Garza, F. J., & Fernandez-Garza, N. E. (2010). Molecular inflammatory mediators in peripheral nerve degeneration and regeneration. *Neuroimmunomodulation*, 17, 314–324.
- Cao, Z. X., Gao, Y., Bryson, J. B., Hou, J. W., Chaudhry, N., Siddiq, M., et al. (2006). The cytokine interleukin-6 is sufficient but not necessary to mimic the peripheral conditioning lesion effect on axonal growth. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 26, 5565–5573.
- Cao, J. I., Sun, C. K., Zhao, H., Xiao, Z. F., Chen, B., Gao, J., et al. (2011). The use of laminin modified linear ordered collagen scaffolds loaded with laminin-binding ciliary neurotrophic factor for sciatic nerve regeneration in rats. *Biomaterials*, 32, 3939–3948.
- Carroll, S. L., & Frohnert, P. W. (1998). Expression of JE (Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1) is induced by sciatic axotomy in wild type rodents but not in C57BL/Wld(s) mice. Journal of Neuropathology and Experimental Neurology, 57, 915–930.
- Chadwick, W., Magnus, T., Martin, B., Keselman, A., Mattson, M. P., & Maudsley, S. (2008). Targeting TNF-alpha receptors for neurotherapeutics. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 31, 504–511.
- Chen, L. E., Seaber, A. V., Wong, G. H. W., & Urbaniak, J. R. (1996). Tumor necrosis factor promotes motor functional recovery in crushed peripheral nerve. *Neurochemistry International*, 29, 197–203.
- Chiu, D. T. (1999). Autogenous venous nerve conduits. A review. Hand Clinics, 15, 667–671.
- Coleman, M. (2005). Axon degeneration mechanisms: Commonality amid diversity. Nature Review Neuroscience, 6, 889–898.
- Colen, K. L., Choi, M., & Chiu, D. T. (2009). Nerve grafts and conduits. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery*, 124, 386–394.
- Conti, G., De Pol, A., Scarpini, E., Vaccina, F., De Riz, M., Baron, P., et al. (2002). Interleukin-1beta and interferon-gamma induce proliferation and apoptosis in cultured Schwann cells. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, 124, 29–35.
- Copray, J., Mantingh, I., Brouwer, N., Biber, K., Kust, B. M., Liem, R. S. B., et al. (2001). Expression of interleukin-1 beta in rat dorsal root ganglia. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, 118, 203–211.
- Croker, B. A., Krebs, D. L., Zhang, J. G., Wormald, S., Willson, T. A., Stanley, E. G., et al. (2003). SOCS3 negatively regulates IL-6 signaling in vivo. *Nature Immunology*, 4, 540–545.
- Curtis, R., Scherer, S. S., Somogyi, R., Adryan, K. M., Ip, N. Y., Zhu, Y., et al. (1994). Retrograde axonal-transport of LIF is increased by peripheral-nerve injury—Correlation with increased LIF expression in distal nerve. *Neuron*, 12, 191–204.
- Dahlin, L. B. (1995). Prevention of macrophage invasion impairs regeneration in nerve grafts. Brain Research, 679, 274–280.

- Dailey, A. T., Avellino, A. M., Benthem, L., Silver, J., & Kliot, M. (1998). Complement depletion reduces macrophage infiltration and activation during Wallerian degeneration and axonal regeneration. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 18, 6713–6722.
- Daly, W., Yao, L., Zeugolis, D., Windebank, A., & Pandit, A. (2012). A biomaterials approach to peripheral nerve regeneration: Bridging the peripheral nerve gap and enhancing functional recovery. *Journal of the Royal Society, Interface*, 9, 202–221.
- De Bilbao, F., Giannakopoulos, P., Srinivasan, A., & Dubois-Dauphin, M. (2000). In vivo study of motoneuron death induced by nerve injury in mice deficient in the caspase 1/interleuktn-1 beta-converting enzyme. *Neuroscience*, 98, 573–583.
- De Jonge, R. R., van Schaik, I. N., Vreijling, J. P., Troost, D., & Baas, F. (2004). Expression of complement components in the peripheral nervous system. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 13, 295–302.
- Dubovy, P. (2011). Wallerian degeneration and peripheral nerve conditions for both axonal regeneration and neuropathic pain induction. *Annals of Anatomy*, *194*, 267–275.
- Dubovy, P., Jancalek, R., Klusakova, I., Svizenska, I., & Pejchalova, K. (2006). Intra- and extraneuronal changes of immunofluorescence staining for TNF-alpha and TNFR1 in the dorsal root ganglia of rat peripheral neuropathic pain models. *Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology*, 26, 1205–1217.
- Dubovy, P., Klusakova, I., Svizenska, I., & Brazda, V. (2010). Satellite glial cells express IL-6 and corresponding signal-transducing receptors in the dorsal root ganglia of rat neuropathic pain model. *Neuron Glia Biology*, *6*, 73–83.
- Dubovy, P., Raska, O., Klusakova, I., Stejskal, L., Celakovsky, P., & Haninec, P. (2011). Ciliary neurotrophic factor promotes motor reinnervation of the musculocutaneous nerve in an experimental model of end-to-side neurorrhaphy. *BMC Neuroscience*, 12, 58. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2202-12-58.
- Durrenberger, P. F., Facer, P., Casula, M. A., Yiangou, Y., Gray, R. A., Chessell, I. P., et al. (2006). Prostanoid receptor EP1 and Cox-2 in injured human nerves and a rat model of nerve injury: A time-course study. *BMC Neurology*, *6*, 1. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/ 1471-2377-6-1.
- Eidelman, B. H., Abu-Elmagd, K., Wilson, J., Fung, J. J., Alessiani, M., Jain, A., et al. (1991). Neurologic complications of FK 506. *Transplantation Proceedings*, 23, 3175–3178.
- Eulenfeld, R., Dittrich, A., Khouri, C., Muller, P. J., Mutze, B., Wolf, A., et al. (2012). Interleukin-6 signalling: More than Jaks and STATs. *European Journal of Cell Biology*, 91, 486–495.
- Evans, P. J., Mackinnon, S. E., Levi, A., Wade, J. A., Hunter, D. A., Nakao, Y., et al. (1998). Cold preserved nerve allografts: Changes in basement membrane, viability, immunogenicity, and regeneration. *Muscle & Nerve*, 21, 1507–1522.
- Evans, P. J., Mackinnon, S. E., Midha, R., Wade, J. A., Hunter, D. A., Nakao, Y., et al. (1999). Regeneration across cold preserved peripheral nerve allografts. *Microsurgery*, 19, 115–127.
- Fansa, H., Keilhoff, G., Horn, T., Altmann, S., Wolf, G., & Schneider, W. (2000). Stimulation of Schwann cell proliferation and axonal regeneration by FK506. *Restorative Neurology and Neuroscience*, 16, 77–86.
- Fansa, H., Lassner, F., Kook, P. H., Keilhoff, G., & Schneider, W. (2000). Cryopreservation of peripheral nerve grafts. *Muscle & Nerve*, 23, 1227–1233.
- Flower, R. J. (2003). The development of COX2 inhibitors. *Nature Reviews. Drug Discovery*, 2, 179–191.
- Fregnan, F., Muratori, L., Simoes, A. R., Giacobini-Robecchi, M. G., & Raimondo, S. (2012). Role of inflammatory cytokines in peripheral nerve injury. *Neural Regeneration Research*, 7, 2259–2266.
- Fu, S. Y., & Gordon, T. (1997). The cellular and molecular basis of peripheral nerve regeneration. *Molecular Neurobiology*, 14, 67–116.

- Fu, Q., Hue, J., & Li, S. X. (2007). Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs promote axon regeneration via RhoA inhibition. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 27, 4154–4164.
- Galiano, M., Liu, Z. Q., Kalla, R., Bohatschek, M., Koppius, A., Gschwendtner, A., et al. (2001). Interleukin-6 (IL-6) and cellular response to facial nerve injury: Effects on lymphocyte recruitment, early microglial activation and axonal outgrowth in IL6-deficient mice. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 14, 327–341.
- Gantus, M. A. V., Nasciutti, L. E., Cruz, C. M., Persechini, P. M., & Martinez, A. M. B. (2006). Modulation of extracellular matrix components by metalloproteinases and their tissue inhibitors during degeneration and regeneration of rat sural nerve. *Brain Research*, 1122, 36–46.
- Gardiner, N. J. (2011). Integrins and the extracellular matrix: Key mediators of development and regeneration of the sensory nervous system. *Development of Neurobiology*, 71, 1054–1072.
- Gaudet, A. D., Popovich, P. G., & Ramer, M. S. (2011). Wallerian degeneration: Gaining perspective on inflammatory events after peripheral nerve injury. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 8, 110. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1742-2094-8-110.
- George, A., Buehl, A., & Sommer, C. (2004). Wallerian degeneration after crush injury of rat sciatic nerve increases endo- and epineurial tumor necrosis factor-alpha protein. *Neuro-science Letters*, 372, 215–219.
- Girolami, E. I., Bouhy, D., Haber, M., Johnson, H., & David, S. (2010). Differential expression and potential role of SOCS1 and SOCS3 in Wallerian degeneration in injured peripheral nerve. *Experimental Neurology*, 223, 173–182.
- Glass, J. D., Culver, D. G., Levey, A. I., & Nash, N. R. (2002). Very early activation of m-calpain in peripheral nerve during Wallerian degeneration. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 196, 9–20.
- Golz, G., Uhlmann, L., Ludecke, D., Markgraf, N., Nitsch, R., & Hendrix, S. (2006). The cytokine/neurotrophin axis in peripheral axon outgrowth. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 24, 2721–2730.
- Gordon, T. (2010). The physiology of neural injury and regeneration: The role of neurotrophic factors. *Journal of Communication Disorders*, 43, 265–273.
- Grothe, C., Heese, K., Meisinger, C., Wewetzer, K., Kunz, D., Cattini, P., et al. (2000). Expression of interleukin-6 and its receptor in the sciatic nerve and cultured Schwann cells: Relation to 18-kD fibroblast growth factor-2. *Brain Research*, 885, 172–181.
- Gulati, A. K. (1998). Immune response and neurotrophic factor interactions in peripheral nerve transplants. *Acta Haematologica*, *99*, 171–174.
- Haggiag, S., Zhang, P. L., Slutzky, G., Shinder, V., Kumar, A., Chebath, J., et al. (2001). Stimulation of myelin gene expression in vitro and of sciatic nerve remyelination by interleukin-6 receptor-interleukin-6 chimera. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 64, 564–574.
- Hailer, N. P., Vogt, C., Korf, H. W., & Dehghani, F. (2005). Interleukin-1 beta exacerbates and interleukin-1 receptor antagonist attenuates neuronal injury and microglial activation after excitotoxic damage in organotypic hippocampal slice cultures. *European Journal* of Neuroscience, 21, 2347–2360.
- Hall, S. (2002). Axonal regeneration through acellular muscle grafts. *Journal of Anatomy*, 190, 57–71.
- Haninec, P., Dubový, P., Houšťava, L., & Stejskal, L. (2000). Acellular nerve graft re-seeded by Schwann cells migrating from the nerve stump can stimulate spinal motoneurons for functional reinnervation of the rat muscle. *Annals of Anatomy – Anatomischer Anzeiger*, 182, 123–131.
- Heinrich, P. C., Behrmann, I., Haan, S., Hermanns, H. M., Muller-Newen, G., & Schaper, F. (2003). Principles of interleukin (IL)-6-type cytokine signalling and its regulation. *Biochemical Journal*, 374, 1–20.

- Hirata, K., & Kawabuchi, M. (2002). Myelin phagocytosis by macrophages and nonmacrophages during Wallerian degeneration. *Microscopy Research and Technique*, 57, 541–547.
- Hirota, H., Kiyama, H., Kishimoto, T., & Taga, T. (1996). Accelerated nerve regeneration in mice by upregulated expression of interleukin (IL) 6 and IL-6 receptor after trauma. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 183, 2627–2634.
- Hirsiger, S., Simmen, H. P., Werner, C. M., Wanner, G. A., & Rittirsch, D. (2012). Danger signals activating the immune response after trauma. *Mediators of Inflammation*, 2012, 1–10.
- Holtmann, B., Wiese, S., Samsam, M., Grohmann, K., Pennica, D., Martini, R., et al. (2005). Triple knock-out of CNTF, LIF, and CT-1 defines cooperative and distinct roles of these neurotrophic factors for motoneuron maintenance and function. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 25, 1778–1787.
- Hong, Y., Huber, A., Takanari, K., Amoroso, N. J., Hashizume, R., Badylak, S. F., et al. (2011). Mechanical properties and in vivo behavior of a biodegradable synthetic polymer microfiber-extracellular matrix hydrogel biohybrid scaffold. *Biomaterials*, 32, 3387–3394.
- Inserra, M. M., Yao, M., Murray, R., & Terris, D. J. (2000). Peripheral nerve regeneration in interleukin 6-deficient mice. Archives of Otolaryngology – Head and Neck Surgery, 126, 1112–1116.
- Ito, T., Ikeda, K., Tomita, K., & Yokoyama, S. (2010). Interleukin-6 upregulates the expression of PMP22 in cultured rat Schwann cells via a JAK2-dependent pathway. *Neuroscience Letters*, 472, 104–108.
- Jiang, X., Lim, S. H., Mao, H. Q., & Chew, S. Y. (2010). Current applications and future perspectives of artificial nerve conduits. *Experimental Neurology*, 223, 86–101.
- Kato, K., Liu, H. Q., Kikuchi, S., Myers, R. R., & Shubayev, V. I. (2010). Immediate antitumor necrosis factor-alpha (Etanercept) therapy enhances axonal regeneration after sciatic nerve crush. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 88, 360–368.
- Keilhoff, G., Stang, F., Wolf, G., & Fansa, H. (2003). Bio-compatibility of type I/III collagen matrix for peripheral nerve reconstruction. *Biomaterials*, 24, 2779–2787.
- Kirsch, M., Friz, M. C., Vougioukas, V. I., & Hofmann, H. D. (2009). Wallerian degeneration and axonal regeneration after sciatic nerve crush are altered in ICAM-1-deficient mice. *Cell and Tissue Research*, 338, 19–28.
- Kirsch, M., Terheggen, U., & Hofmann, H. D. (2003). Ciliary neurotrophic factor is an early lesion-induced retrograde signal for axotomized facial motoneurons. *Molecular and Cellular Neurosciences*, 24, 130–138.
- Kurek, J. B., Austin, L., Cheema, S. S., Bartlett, P. F., & Murphy, M. (1996). Up-regulation of leukaemia inhibitory factor and interleukin-6 in transected sciatic nerve and muscle following denervation. *Neuromuscular Disorders*, 6, 105–114.
- Lara-Ramirez, R., Segura-Anaya, E., Martinez-Gomez, A., & Dent, M. A. R. (2008). Expression of interleukin-6 receptor alpha in normal and injured rat sciatic nerve. *Neuroscience*, 152, 601–608.
- Lee, N., Neitzel, K. L., Devlin, B. K., & MacLennan, A. J. (2004). STAT3 phosphorylation in injured axons before sensory and motor neuron nuclei: Potential role for STAT3 as a retrograde signaling transcription factor. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 474, 535–545.
- Liefner, M., Maruschak, B., & Bruck, W. (1998). Concentration-dependent effects of pentoxifylline on migration and myelin phagocytosis by macrophages. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, 89, 97–103.
- Liefner, M., Siebert, H., Sachse, T., Michel, U., Kollias, G., & Bruck, W. (2000). The role of TNF-alpha during Wallerian degeneration. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, 108, 147–152.
- Lilje, O. (2002). The processing and presentation of endogenous and exogenous antigen by Schwann cells in vitro. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 59, 2191–2198.

- Lindholm, D., Heumann, R., & Thoenen, H. (1987). Products of macrophages stimulate nervegrowth-factor messenger-RNA synthesis in the injured peripheral-nerve. *Journal* of *Neuroimmunology*, 16, 107.
- Liu, L., Lioudyno, M., Tao, R., Eriksson, P., Svensson, M., & Aldskogius, H. (1999). Hereditary absence of complement C5 in adult mice influences wallerian degeneration, but not retrograde responses, following injury to peripheral nerve. *Journal of the Peripheral Nervous System*, 4, 123–133.
- Lu, G., Beuerman, R. W., Zhao, S. R., Sun, G., Nguyen, D. H., Ma, S., et al. (1997). Tumor necrosis factor-alpha and interleukin-1 induce activation of map kinase and sap kinase in human neuroma fibroblasts. *Neurochemistry International*, 30, 401–410.
- Lu, L. J., Sun, J. B., Liu, Z. G., Gong, X., Cui, J. L., & Sun, X. G. (2009). Immune responses following mouse peripheral nerve xenotransplantation in rats. *Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology*, 2012, 4. http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2009/412598.
- Ma, W. Y., & Quirion, R. (2008). Does COX2-dependent PGE2 play a role in neuropathic pain? *Neuroscience Letters*, 437, 165–169.
- Mackinnon, S. E., Doolabh, V. B., Novak, C. B., & Trulock, E. P. (2001). Clinical outcome following nerve allograft transplantation. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery*, 107, 1419–1429.
- Martin, M. U., & Wesche, H. (2002). Summary and comparison of the signaling mechanisms of the Toll/interleukin-1 receptor family. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta – Molecular Cell Research*, 1592, 265–280.
- Marz, P., Heese, K., Dimitriades-Schmutz, B., Rose-John, S., & Otten, U. (1999). Role of interleukin-6 and soluble IL-6 receptor in region-specific induction of astrocytic differentiation and neurotrophin expression. *Glia*, 26, 191–200.
- Meek, M. F., Varejao, A. S., & Geuna, S. (2004). Use of skeletal muscle tissue in peripheral nerve repair: review of the literature. *Tissue Engineering*, 10, 1027–1036.
- Meyer zu Hörste, G., Hu, W., Hartung, H. P., Lehmann, H. C., & Kieseier, B. C. (2008). The immunocompetence of Schwann cells. *Muscle and Nerve*, *37*, 3–13.
- Midha, R., Mackinnon, S. E., Evans, P. J., Best, T. J., Hare, G. M., Hunter, D. A., et al. (1993). Comparison of regeneration across nerve allografts with temporary or continuous cyclosporin A immunosuppression. *Journal of Neurosurgery*, 78, 90–100.
- Millesi, H. (1984). Nerve grafting. Clinics in Plastic Surgery, 11, 105–113.
- Mizisin, A. P., & Weerasuriya, A. (2011). Homeostatic regulation of the endoneurial microenvironment during development, aging and in response to trauma, disease and toxic insult. Acta Neuropathologica, 121, 291–312.
- Mueller, M., Leonhard, C., Wacker, K., Ringelstein, E. B., Okabe, M., Hickey, W. F., et al. (2003). Macrophage response to peripheral nerve injury: The quantitative contribution of resident and hematogenous macrophages. *Laboratory Investigation*, 83, 175–185.
- Murphy, P. G., Borthwick, L. A., Altares, M., Gauldie, J., Kaplan, D., & Richardson, P. M. (2000). Reciprocal actions of interleukin-6 and brain-derived neurotrophic factor on rat and mouse primary sensory neurons. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 12, 1891–1899.
- Murphy, P. G., Grondin, J., Altares, M., & Richardson, P. M. (1995). Induction of interleukin-6 in axotomized sensory neurons. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 15, 5130–5138.
- Obreja, O., Rathee, P. K., Lips, K. S., Distler, C., & Kress, M. (2002). IL-10 potentiates heatactivated currents in rat sensory neurons: Involvement of IL-1RI, tyrosine kinase, and protein kinase C. FASEB Journal, 16, 1497–1503.
- Park, K. W., Nozell, S. E., & Benveniste, E. N. (2012). Protective role of STAT3 in NMDA and glutamate-induced neuronal death: Negative regulatory effect of SOCS3. *PLoS One*, 7, 11. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0050874.
- Perrin, F. E., Lacroix, S., Aviles-Trigueros, M., & David, S. (2005). Involvement of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1, macrophage inflammatory protein-1 alpha and interleukin-1 beta in Wallerian degeneration. *Brain*, 128, 854–866.

- Pieraut, S., Lucas, O., Sangari, S., Sar, C., Boudes, M., Bouffi, C., et al. (2011). An autocrine neuronal interleukin-6 loop mediates chloride accumulation and NKCC1 phosphorylation in axotomized sensory neurons. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 31, 13516–13526.
- Prpa, B., Huddleston, P. M., An, K. N., & Wood, M. B. (2002). Revascularization of nerve grafts: A qualitative and quantitative study of the soft-tissue bed contributions to blood flow in canine nerve grafts. *Journal of Hand Surgery*, 27, 1041–1047.
- Qiu, J., Cafferty, W. B. J., McMahon, S. B., & Thompson, S. W. N. (2005). Conditioning injury-induced spinal axon regeneration requires signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 activation. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 25, 1645–1653.
- Rabinovsky, E. D., Smith, G. M., Browder, D. P., Shine, H. D., & McManaman, J. L. (1992). Peripheral-nerve injury down-regulates cntf expression in adult-rat sciaticnerves. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 31, 188–192.
- Raivich, G., Liu, Z. Q., Kloss, C. U. A., Labow, M., Bluethmann, H., & Bohatschek, M. (2002). Cytotoxic potential of proinflammatory cytokines: Combined deletion of TNF receptors TNFR1 and TNFR2 prevents motoneuron cell death after facial axotomy in adult mouse. *Experimental Neurology*, 178, 186–193.
- Raivich, G., & Makwana, M. (2007). The making of successful axonal regeneration: Genes, molecules and signal transduction pathways. *Brain Research Reviews*, 53, 287–311.
- Ramaglia, V., Daha, M. R., & Baas, F. (2008). The complement system in the peripheral nerve: Friend or foe? *Molecular Immunology*, 45, 3865–3877.
- Ramaglia, V., King, R. H. M., Nourallah, M., Wolterman, R., de Jonge, R., Ramkema, M., et al. (2007). The membrane attack complex of the complement system is essential for rapid wallerian degeneration. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 27, 7663–7672.
- Ramaglia, V., Tannemaat, M. R., de Kok, M., Wolterman, R., Vigar, M. A., King, R. H. M., et al. (2009). Complement inhibition accelerates regeneration in a model of peripheral nerve injury. *Molecular Immunology*, 47, 302–309.
- Ramaglia, V., Wolterman, R., de Kok, M., Vigar, M. A., King, R. H. M., Morgan, B. P., et al. (2007). Soluble complement receptor 1 (sCR1) protects the peripheral nerve from early axon loss after injury and facilitates regeneration. *Molecular Immunology*, 44, 3949.
- Ramaglia, V., Wolterman, R., Vigar, M. A., Morgan, B. P., King, R. H. M., & Baas, F. (2007). Complement C6 deficiency delays degeneration and facilitates axonal regeneration and recovery in a model of peripheral nerve injury. *Molecular Immunology*, 44, 3942.
- Reichert, F., Levitzky, R., & Rotshenker, S. (1996). Interleukin 6 in intact and injured mouse peripheral nerves. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 8, 530–535.
- Reichert, F., Saada, A., & Rotshenker, S. (1994). Peripheral-nerve injury induces Schwanncells to express 2 macrophage phenotypes—Phagocytosis and the galactose-specific lectin MAC-2. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 14, 3231–3245.
- Rotshenker, S. (2011). Wallerian degeneration: The innate-immune response to traumatic nerve injury. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 8, 109. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1742-2094-8-109.
- Rotshenker, S., Aamar, S., & Barak, V. (1992). Interleukin-1 activity in lesioned peripheralnerve. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, 39, 75–80.
- Rovak, J. M., Bishop, D. K., Boxer, L. K., Wood, S. C., Mungara, A. K., & Cederna, P. S. (2005). Peripheral nerve transplantation: The role of chemical acellularization in eliminating allograft antigenicity. *Journal of Reconstructive Microsurgery*, 21, 207–213.
- Saada, A., Reichert, F., & Rotshenker, S. (1996). Granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor produced in lesioned peripheral nerves induces the up-regulation of cell surface expression of MAC-2 by macrophages and Schwann cells. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 133, 159–167.
- Saleh, A., Smith, D. R., Balakrishnan, S., Dunn, L., Martens, C., Tweed, C. W., et al. (2011). Tumor necrosis factor-alpha elevates neurite outgrowth through an NF-kappa B-dependent pathway in cultured adult sensory neurons: Diminished expression in diabetes may contribute to sensory neuropathy. *Brain Research*, 1423, 87–95.

- Sasaki, M., Seo-Kiryu, S., Kato, R., Kita, S., & Kiyama, H. (2001). A disintegrin and metalloprotease with thrombospondin type1 motifs (ADAMTS-1) and IL-1 receptor type 1 mRNAs are simultaneously induced in nerve injured motor neurons. *Molecular Brain Research*, 89, 158–163.
- Saxena, S., & Caroni, P. (2007). Mechanisms of axon degeneration: From development to disease. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 83, 174–191.
- Schafer, M., Fruttiger, M., Montag, D., Schachner, M., & Martini, R. (1996). Disruption of the gene for the myelin-associated glycoprotein improves axonal regrowth along myelin in C57BL/Wld(s) mice. *Neuron*, *16*, 1107–1113.
- Schafers, M., Schmidt, C., Vogel, C., Toyka, K. V., & Sommer, C. (2002). Tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF) regulates the expression of ICAM-1 predominantly through TNF receptor 1 after chronic constriction injury of mouse sciatic nerve. *Acta Neuropathology*, 104, 197–205.
- Scharpf, J., Strome, M., & Siemionow, M. (2006). Immunomodulation with anti-alphabeta T-cell receptor monoclonal antibodies in combination with cyclosporine A improves regeneration in nerve allografts. *Microsurgery*, 26, 599–607.
- Sendtner, M., Gotz, R., Holtmann, B., & Thoenen, H. (1997). Endogenous ciliary neurotrophic factor is a lesion factor for axotomized motoneurons in adult mice. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 17, 6999–7006.
- Sendtner, M., Stockli, K. A., & Thoenen, H. (1992). Synthesis and localization of ciliary neurotrophic factor in the sciatic-nerve of the adult-rat after lesion and during regeneration. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 118, 139–148.
- Shamash, S., Reichert, F., & Rotshenker, S. (2002). The cytokine network of Wallerian degeneration: Tumor necrosis factor-alpha, interleukin-1 alpha, and interleukin-1 beta. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 22, 3052–3060.
- Shen, Y. J., DeBellard, M. E., Salzer, J. L., Roder, J., & Filbin, M. T. (1998). Myelinassociated glycoprotein in myelin and expressed by Schwann cells inhibits axonal regeneration and branching. *Molecular and Cellular Neurosciences*, 12, 79–91.
- Shubayev, V. I., Angert, M., Dolkas, J., Campana, W. M., Palenscar, K., & Myers, R. R. (2006). TNF alpha-induced MMP-9 promotes macrophage recruitment into injured peripheral nerve. *Molecular and Cellular Neurosciences*, 31, 407–415.
- Shubayev, V. I., & Myers, R. R. (2001). Axonal transport of TNF-alpha in painful neuropathy: distribution of ligand tracer and TNF receptors. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, 114, 48–56.
- Shubayev, V. I., & Myers, R. R. (2002). Anterograde TNF alpha transport from rat dorsal root ganglion to spinal cord and injured sciatic nerve. *Neuroscience Letters*, 320, 99–101.
- Siegel, S. G., Patton, B., & English, A. W. (2000). Ciliary neurotrophic factor is required for motoneuron sprouting. *Experimental Neurology*, 166, 205–212.
- Siemionow, M., & Sonmez, E. (2007). Nerve allograft transplantation: A review. Journal of Reconstructive Microsurgery, 23, 511–520.
- Sondell, M., Lundborg, G., & Kanje, M. (1999). Vascular endothelial growth factor stimulates Schwann cell invasion and neovascularization of acellular nerve grafts. *Brain Research*, 846, 219–228.
- Stoll, G., Jander, S., & Myers, R. R. (2002). Degeneration and regeneration of the peripheral nervous system: From Augustus Waller's observations to neuroinflammation. *Journal of* the Peripheral Nervous System, 7, 13–27.
- Stoll, G., Jander, S., & Schroeter, M. (2000). Cytokines in CNS disorders: Neurotoxicity versus neuroprotection. Journal of Neural Transmission. Supplementa, 59, 81–89.
- Stoll, G., & Muller, H. W. (1999). Nerve injury, axonal degeneration and neural regeneration: Basic insights. *Brain Pathology*, 9, 313–325.
- Takahashi, M., Kawaguchi, M., Shimada, K., Konishi, N., Furuya, H., & Nakashima, T. (2004). Cyclooxygenase-2 expression in Schwann cells and macrophages in the sciatic nerve after single spinal nerve injury in rats. *Neuroscience Letters*, 363, 203–206.

- Taskinen, H. S., Olsson, T., Bucht, A., Khademi, M., Svelander, L., & Roytta, M. (2000). Peripheral nerve injury induces endoneurial expression of IFN-gamma, IL-10 and TNFalpha mRNA. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, 102, 17–25.
- Taskinen, H. S., & Roytta, M. (1997). The dynamics of macrophage recruitment after nerve transection. Acta Neuropathology, 93, 252–259.
- Taskinen, H. S., & Roytta, M. (2000). Increased expression of chemokines (MCP-1, MIP-1 alpha, RANTES) after peripheral nerve transection. *Journal of the Peripheral Nervous* System, 5, 75–81.
- Temporin, K., Tanaka, H., Kuroda, Y., Okada, K., Yachi, K., Moritomo, H., et al. (2008a). IL-1 beta promotes neurite outgrowth by deactivating RhoA via p38 MAPK pathway. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 365, 375–380.
- Temporin, K., Tanaka, H., Kuroda, Y., Okada, K., Yachi, K., Moritomo, H., et al. (2008b). Interleukin-1 beta promotes sensory nerve regeneration after sciatic nerve injury. *Neuroscience Letters*, 440, 130–133.
- Terenghi, G. (1999). Peripheral nerve regeneration and neurotrophic factors. *Journal of Anatomy*, 194, 1–14.
- Thier, M., Marz, P., Otten, U., Weis, J., & Rose-John, S. (1999). Interleukin-6 (IL-6) and its soluble receptor support survival of sensory neurons. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 55, 411–422.
- Thornberry, N. A., & Molineaux, S. M. (1995). Interleukin-1-beta converting-enzyme—A novel cysteine protease required for IL-1-beta production and implicated in programmed cell-death. *Protein Science*, *4*, 3–12.
- Tofaris, G. K., Patterson, P. H., Jessen, K. R., & Mirsky, R. (2002). Denervated Schwann cells attract macrophages by secretion of leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 in a process regulated by interleukin-6 and LIF. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 22, 6696–6703.
- Toll, E. C., Seifalian, A. M., & Birchall, M. A. (2011). The role of immunophilin ligands in nerve regeneration. *Regenerative Medicine*, *6*, 635–652.
- Tona, A., Perides, G., Rahemtulla, F., & Dahl, D. (1993). Extracellular-matrix in regenerating rat sciatic-nerve—A comparative-study on the localization of laminin, hyaluronic-acid, and chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans, including versican. *Journal of Histochemistry and Cytochemistry*, 41, 593–599.
- Touzani, O., Boutin, H., Chuquet, J., & Rothwell, N. (1999). Potential mechanisms of interleukin-1 involvement in cerebral ischaemia. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, 100, 203–215.
- Uceyler, N., Tscharke, A., & Sommer, C. (2007). Early cytokine expression in mouse sciatic nerve after chronic constriction nerve injury depends on calpain. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 21, 553–560.
- Uebersax, L., Mattotti, M., Papaloizos, M., Merkle, H. P., Gander, B., & Meinel, L. (2007). Silk fibroin matrices for the controlled release of nerve growth factor (NGF). *Biomaterials*, 28, 4449–4460.
- Vargel, I., Demirci, M., Erdem, S., Fırat, P., Sürücü, H. S., Tan, E., et al. (2009). A comparison of various vascularization-perfusion venous nerve grafts with conventional nerve grafts in rats. *Journal of Reconstructive Microsurgery*, 25, 425–437.
- Wang, S., & Cai, L. (2010). Polymers for fabricating nerve conduits. International Journal of Polymer Science, 2010, 1–20.
- Webber, C., & Zochodne, D. (2010). The nerve regenerative microenvironment: Early behavior and partnership of axons and Schwann cells. *Experimental Neurology*, 223, 51–59.
- Yang, Y. G., & Sykes, M. (2007). Xenotransplantation: Current status and a perspective on the future. *Nature Reviews. Immunology*, 7, 519–531.
- Yang, P., Wen, H. Z., Ou, S., Cui, J., & Fan, D. H. (2012). IL-6 promotes regeneration and functional recovery after cortical spinal tract injury by reactivating intrinsic growth program of neurons and enhancing synapse formation. *Experimental Neurology*, 236, 19–27.

- Yu, X., Jiang, Y. F., Lu, L., Gong, X., Sun, X. G., Xuan, Z. P., et al. (2012). A crucial role of IL-17 and IFN-gamma during acute rejection of peripheral nerve xenotransplantation in mice. *PLoS One*, 7, 3. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0034419.
- Zanon, R. G., Cartarozzi, L. P., Victório, S. C. S., Moraes, J. C., Morari, J., Velloso, L. A., et al. (2010). Interferon (IFN) beta treatment induces major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I expression in the spinal cord and enhances axonal growth and motor function recovery following sciatic nerve crush in mice. *Neuropathology and Applied Neurobiology*, 36, 515–534.
- Zhong, J., Dietzel, I. D., Wahle, P., Kopf, M., & Heumann, R. (1999). Sensory impairments and delayed regeneration of sensory axons in interleukin-6-deficient mice. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 19, 4305–4313.
- Zochodne, D. W. (2012). The challenges and beauty of peripheral nerve regrowth. *Journal of the Peripheral Nervous System*, 17, 1–18.

CHAPTER EIGHT

Ghrelin: A Novel Neuromuscular Recovery Promoting Factor?

Stefania Raimondo^{*}, Giulia Ronchi^{*}, Stefano Geuna^{*}, Davide Pascal^{*}, Simone Reano[†], Nicoletta Filigheddu[†], Andrea Graziani^{†,1}

*Department of Clinical and Biological Sciences, University of Turin & Neuroscience Institute Cavalieri Ottolenghi, Turin, Italy

[†]Department of Translational Medicine, University of Piemonte Orientale "Amedeo Avogadro", Alessandria, Novara, Vercelli, Italy

¹Corresponding author: e-mail address: andrea.graziani@med.unipmn.it

Contents

1.	Introduction	208
2.	Ghrelin: An Overview of Its Role in Physiological and Pathological Conditions	209
3.	Ghrelin and the Nervous System	211
4.	Overexpression of Ghrelin Promotes Motor Nerve Function Recovery After	
	Traumatic Injury	214
5.	Conclusions	216
References		216

Abstract

Promoting neuromuscular recovery after neural injury is a major clinical issue. While techniques for nerve reconstruction are continuously improving and most peripheral nerve lesions can be repaired today, recovery of the lost function is usually unsatisfactory. This evidence claims for innovative nonsurgical therapeutic strategies that can implement the outcome after neural repair.

Although no pharmacological approach for improving posttraumatic neuromuscular recovery has still entered clinical practice, various molecules are explored in experimental models of neural repair. One of such molecules is the circulating peptide hormone ghrelin. This hormone has proved to have a positive effect on neural repair after central nervous system lesion, and very recently its effectiveness has also been demonstrated in preventing posttraumatic skeletal muscle atrophy. By contrast, no information is still available about its effectiveness on peripheral nerve regeneration although preliminary data from our laboratory suggest that this molecule can have an effect also in promoting axonal regeneration after nerve injury and repair.

Should this be confirmed, ghrelin might represent an ideal candidate as a therapeutic agent for improving posttraumatic neuromuscular recovery because of its putative effects at all the various structural levels involved in this regeneration process, namely, the central nervous system, the peripheral nerve, and the target skeletal muscle.

207

1. INTRODUCTION

One of the most frequent causes of movement impairment are lesions of peripheral nerves that induce dramatic muscle atrophy and can occur as a consequence of a variety of traumas (e.g., work accidents) and diseases (e.g., diabetes) with high social costs (de Putter et al., 2012).

The consequences of nerve injuries may be disastrous and can result in substantial functional loss. The increasing number of patients undergoing nerve surgery represents an enormous stimulus for more research in peripheral nerve regeneration and, most of all, for defining innovative strategies for improving functional recovery of repaired nerves.

Peripheral nerve regeneration is usually far from satisfactory (Navarro, Vivo, & Valero-Cabre, 2007; Sun et al., 2009) and there is no technique to guarantee total recovery and normalization of functional sensibility following repair of an injured nerve.

The significant improvements made in understanding the basic biological and molecular mechanisms underlying the progression of nerve regeneration have resulted in the identification of a number of key molecules involved in the process. Among these molecules, there are environmental factors (laminin, integrin, dystroglycan, L-periaxin, and fibrin), neurotrophic factors (such as glial cell-derived neurotrophic factor, nerve growth factor, brain-derived neurotrophic factor, neurogrowth factor, brain-derived neurotrophic factor, neurotrophin-3, Neuregulin1, transforming growth factor- β), cytokines (interleukin-6 (IL-6), leukemia inhibitory factor), transcription factors (signal transducer and activator of transcription 3), plasmalemma-associated PKC substrates (GAP-43, myristoylated alaninerich c kinase substrate, and cytoskeleton-associated protein 23) (Chen, Yu, & Strickland, 2007).

A number of hormones have also been shown to play a regenerativepromoting role after a peripheral nerve injury. Progesterone has been demonstrated to be involved in remyelination since blockage of its action leads to the decrease of myelin sheath after injury and regeneration. In contrast, administration of either exogenous progesterone or its precursor pregnenolone to the injured site promotes myelin sheath formation (Koenig et al., 1995). Also, thyroid hormone (T3) plays an important role in neuronal maturation and myelination. Administration of T3 to an injured rat sciatic nerve results in an increased number of remyelinated fibers, along with the increment of their diameter and myelin thickness compared with control nerves (Mercier, Turque, & Schumacher, 2001). Parathyroid hormone-related peptide (PTHrP) is widely expressed in the PNS and is upregulated in Schwann cells following sciatic nerve crush (Macica, Liang, Lankford, & Broadus, 2006). Addition of PTHrP to dorsal root ganglion explants stimulates Schwann cell migration, but does not affect their proliferation and survival (Macica et al., 2006). After sciatic nerve crush, the expressions of erythropoietin (Epo) and Epo receptors are increased in Schwann cells. Addition of exogenous Epo to injured sciatic nerves stimulates Schwann cell proliferation (Li, Gonias, & Campana, 2005) and reduces the expression of tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) in Schwann cells at the injured site, improving peripheral nerve regeneration (Campana et al., 2006). Growth hormone (GH)-treated rats showed improved functional recovery and axonal remyelination after rat sciatic nerve injury (Devesa et al., 2012).

Alpha-melanocyte stimulating hormone (alphaMSH) and corticotropin (ACTH) are known to improve the postlesion repair of injured peripheral nerves by accelerating and enhancing nerve regeneration and muscle reinnervation (Strand et al., 1993). Moreover, alphaMSH has been shown to stimulate the sprouting and neuritogenesis from spinal and sensory neurons *in vitro* (van der Neut, Hol, Gispen, & Bar, 1992). In addition, stimulation with alphaMSH of spinal cord trauma showed a profound and significant stimulation of neurite outgrowth (Joosten, Majewska, Houweling, Bar, & Gispen, 1999).

The ability of gonadal steroids to enhance functional recovery and outgrowth rates after nerve injury was also demonstrated. Indeed, rats subjected to crush injury of the sciatic nerve and treated with testosterone propionate showed a faster regeneration of axonal regrowth. Accelerating regeneration rate was also obtained after exposure with the nonaromatizable androgen, dihydrotestosterone, and E2 (Jones, Alexander, Brown, & Tanzer, 2000).

2. GHRELIN: AN OVERVIEW OF ITS ROLE IN PHYSIOLOGICAL AND PATHOLOGICAL CONDITIONS

Ghrelin is a circulating peptide hormone, acylated on Ser 3, that, through binding and activation of its receptor GHSR-1a in hypothalamus and pituitary, promotes a potent release of GH (Kojima et al., 1999). Ghrelin is now widely acknowledged as the "hunger hormone" because, alongside the GH-releasing effect, its secretion, regulated by fasting, stimulates food intake, promotes adiposity, and controls energy homeostasis (Tschop, Smiley, & Heiman, 2000; Wren et al., 2001).

Plasma ghrelin levels, normally high during fasting and falling to basal values after the assumption of food, are altered in pathological conditions affecting body mass and/or body energy metabolism. Circulating ghrelin concentrations negatively correlate with body mass index and are lower in overweight or obese subjects compared with normal subject (Tschop et al., 2001). On the other hand, plasma ghrelin levels increase in conditions characterized by energy deficiency such as anorexia nervosa (Ariyasu et al., 2001) or anorexia/cachexia associated to cancer (Garcia et al., 2005; Shimizu et al., 2003), chronic heart failure (Nagaya et al., 2001), chronic kidney disease (Yoshimoto et al., 2002), and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (Itoh et al., 2004).

Besides the regulation of feeding, ghrelin also exhibits a broad array of other biological activities on the cardiovascular systems, where it decreases blood pressure (Lambert et al., 2011) and improves cardiac function after heart damage (Nagaya et al., 2004, 2001). Moreover, it inhibits the apoptosis of cardiomyocytes and endothelial cells by activating PI3K/Akt and ERK-1/2 pathways *in vitro* (Baldanzi et al., 2002). Ghrelin has also an anti-inflammatory action, inhibiting the activity of the transcription factor NF-kB and suppressing the production of proinflammatory cytokines (Balasubramaniam et al., 2009; Dixit et al., 2004; Lee, Kim, Li, & Park, 2012; Li et al., 2004).

Acylation is essential for ghrelin activity through GHSR-1a: the most abundant unacylated circulating form of ghrelin does not bind to and activate GHSR-1a (Porporato et al., 2013). Far from being the inactive by-product of acylated ghrelin metabolism, a constantly increasing number of evidences proves that unacylated ghrelin is a biologically active peptide, sharing most of acylated ghrelin peripheral activities and participating in the regulation of food intake and adipogenesis through mechanisms not fully elucidated, but very likely independent from GHSR-1a (Asakawa et al., 2005; Toshinai et al., 2006).

Among the wide range of common biological functions, acylated and unacylated ghrelin exert a protective activity on several cell lines including cardiac and endothelial cells, β -pancreatic cells, human pancreatic islets, and cortical neurons (Baldanzi et al., 2002; Chung, Seo, Moon, & Park, 2008; Granata et al., 2007). Moreover, both peptides promote differentiation of skeletal myoblasts, Leydig cells, preadipocytes, and human cardiac embryonic stem cells (Barreiro et al., 2004; Filigheddu et al., 2007; Gao et al., 2012; Liu, Chen, Xu, Vicaut, & Sercombe, 2009).

The findings that unacylated ghrelin shares with ghrelin common binding sites in cell lines, including cells lacking GHSR-1a (Baldanzi et al., 2002; Cassoni et al., 2001; Filigheddu et al., 2007; Granata et al., 2007; Jeffery, Herington, & Chopin, 2002), and that both peptides have common biological activities *in vivo*, also in *Ghsr* null mice (Porporato et al., 2013), strongly suggest that both peptides act through a common, although yet unidentified, receptor.

In both human patients and experimental models, ghrelin administration ameliorates the cachectic state associated with several pathological conditions such as chronic heart failure (Nagaya et al., 2004), chronic kidney disease (Deboer et al., 2008), arthritis, cancer (Argiles & Stemmler, 2013; DeBoer et al., 2007; Neary et al., 2004), burn injuries (Balasubramaniam et al., 2006), and COPD (Nagaya et al., 2005).

Ghrelin treatment for cancer cachexia is a good candidate for muscle wasting treatment because ghrelin levels are elevated in cancer cachexia—suggesting a compensatory effect—and it controls mediators involved in the cachectic process (Argiles & Stemmler, 2013).

Since ghrelin induces GH release—and therefore the activation of GH/ IGF-1 axis—promotes food intake, exhibits anti-inflammatory activities, and stimulates positive energy balance, it has been obviously assumed that the beneficial effect of ghrelin on the cachectic state was a consequence of its activity mediated by GHSR-1a. Although ghrelin may undeniably inhibit cachexia through these GHSR-1a-mediated activities, several evidences prove that both acylated and unacylated ghrelin have a direct antiatrophic activity in skeletal muscles: unacylated ghrelin, which does not bind GHSR-1a and does not activate the GH/IGF-1 axis, reduces burninduced skeletal muscle proteolysis and local TNF- α upregulation in rats (Sheriff et al., 2012); the cardiac overexpression of the ghrelin gene, resulting in the upregulation of circulating unacylated ghrelin, counteracts muscle atrophy induced by either fasting or denervation; and, finally, both acylated and unacylated peptides impair fasting-induced atrophy in *Ghsr* null mice (Porporato et al., 2013).

Ghrelin antiatrophy effect in muscle was also demonstrated using a mouse model of hindlimb suspension, where ghrelin administration was shown to diminish the reduction of hindlimb muscle mass, thus facilitating the recovery from muscle atrophy (Koshinaka et al., 2011).

3. GHRELIN AND THE NERVOUS SYSTEM

Ghrelin receptor GHSR-1a is detected in various hypothalamic nuclei (anteroventral preoptic nucleus, anterior hypothalamic area, suprachiasmatic

nucleus, lateroanterior hypothalamic nucleus, supraoptic nucleus, ventromedial hypothalamic nucleus, arcuate nucleus, paraventricular nucleus, and tuberomammillary nucleus) and in other areas of the rat brain such as the dentate gyrus, CA2 and CA3 regions of the hippocampal formation, thalamic regions, and several nuclei within the brain stem. Moreover, the finding that GHSR-1a is also observed in the anterior lobe of the pituitary gland is consistent with its role in regulating GH-releasing activity (Guan et al., 1997).

Since circulating ghrelin deriving from the stomach may bind to brain target neurons, it has been demonstrated that it is able to cross the blood-brain barrier in the brain-to-blood direction (Banks, Tschop, Robinson, & Heiman, 2002). Recent findings also reveal that vagotomy prevents peripheral ghrelin's effect on the hypothalamus (Date et al., 2002), suggesting ghrelin's direct effect on the brain (Nakazato et al., 2001; Tschop et al., 2000) may be of intrinsic origin.

The localization of ghrelin in specific brain area, in particular in hypothalamic nuclei, suggests an interaction between this hormone and the pain modulation system. In fact, it was found that ghrelin directly induces neuropeptide Y (NPY) neurons to release NPY (Cowley et al., 2003; Korbonits, Goldstone, Gueorguiev, & Grossman, 2004), a neuropeptide highly expressed throughout the central and peripheral nervous systems that mediates several physiologic activities including the nociceptive process at the level of the spinal cord (Gibbs, Flores, & Hargreaves, 2004). It has also been observed that ghrelin hypothalamic neurons innervate other peptidergic systems such as proopiomelanocortin (POMC) neurons (Cowley et al., 2003). β-Endorphin resulting from POMC gene plays an important role in the descending antinociceptive pathway (Sibilia et al., 2006; Sun, Lundeberg, & Yu, 2003). Moreover, ghrelin increases the levels of hypothalamic nitric oxide (NO) synthase (Gaskin, Farr, Banks, Kumar, & Morley, 2003). It is well known that neuronal NO modulates the antinociceptive effect of endogenous opioids by activating μ -opioid receptors; it is therefore possible that ghrelin enhances the antinociceptive effects of endogenous opioids via NO pathway. In addition, it has been observed that ghrelin decreases serotonin release, a modulator of pain and analgesia (Andersen & Dafny, 1983) in hypothalamus (Brunetti et al., 2002) and raphe nucleus (Carlini et al., 2004).

Several studies showed that ghrelin has an anti-inflammatory activity by decreasing the expression level of the proinflammatory cytokines IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α (Dixit et al., 2004) by lymphocytes and monocytes. It is known that these cytokines contribute to central and peripheral inflammatory pain hypersensitivity (Samad et al., 2001). The antihyperalgesic
and neuroprotective effects of ghrelin may therefore be due to the prevention of the production of these proinflammatory cytokines (Dixit et al., 2004; Guneli, Kazikdas, & Kolatan, 2007; Moon, Kim, Hwang, & Park, 2009; Theil et al., 2009; Wang, Bansal, Falk, Ljubanovic, & Schrier, 2009). Finally, ghrelin may exert antinociceptive effects also by directly increasing inhibitory (GABAergic/glycinergic) neurotransmission in a subset of deep dorsal horn neurons, mainly localized in the medial aspect of laminae IV–VI (Vergnano et al., 2008). All these observations suggest the role of ghrelin as a peptide participating in the inhibitory control of pain in pathological states.

Ghrelin has also been shown to promote neurogenesis in several areas of the brain. Indeed, it has been demonstrated that ghrelin increases neural cell proliferation in cultured neuronal precursor cells from the fetal spinal cord (Sato et al., 2006), but this effect is greater when the cells are taken from E17 embryos instead of P2 pups (Inoue, Nakahara, Kangawa, & Murakami, 2010). This effect is promoted by both acylated and unacylated ghrelin, suggesting that ghrelin acts through both the GHSR-dependent and GHSR-independent mechanisms to mediate neurogenesis of the embryonic spinal cord.

Moreover, systemic administration of ghrelin increases neurogenesis in the dorsal motor nucleus of the vagus (DMNV) and in the nucleus of the solitary tract (NTS) following vagotomy: ghrelin produced a significant increase in BrdU incorporation both *in vivo* (increases vagotomy-induced BrdU incorporation in the DMNV and NTS in adult rats) and *in vitro* (cultured DMNV and NTS neurons respond to ghrelin with increased BrdU incorporation), suggesting its potential to promote neuronal development and regeneration (Zhang, Hu, Lin, Fan, & Mulholland, 2005; Zhang et al., 2004).

Finally, recent studies demonstrate that ghrelin is also involved in hippocampal neurogenesis. Indeed, mice treated with ghrelin showed increased BrdU incorporation and doublecortin-positive neuroblasts in the subgranular zone (SGZ) of the dentate gyrus, and this number was significantly reduced after anti-ghrelin antibody treatment (Moon, Kim, Hwang, & Park, 2009). Moreover, ghrelin knockout mice resulted in reduced numbers of BrdU-positive cells, immature neurons, and newly generated neurons in the SGZ, while ghrelin treatment restored these cell numbers to those of wild type (Li et al., 2013). Finally, ghrelin stimulates increased incorporation of ³H-thymidine in adult rat hippocampal progenitor cells, indicating an increased cell proliferation (Johansson et al., 2008).

Intracerebroventricular (icv) administration of ghrelin in the central nervous system induces anxiogenic effects (elevated plus maze test) and increases memory retention in rats (step down test) (Carlini et al., 2002, 2004), suggesting that ghrelin influences several biochemical processes in the hippocampus. In addition, in a neonatal rat model with experimental unilateral hypoxic-ischemic injury, icv injections of the synthetic peptidic GH-secretagogue hexarelin significantly reduced the area of injury in the cerebral cortex, hippocampus and thalamus, demonstrating a neuro-protective effect of the hormone *in vivo* (Brywe et al., 2005).

More recent studies indicate that ghrelin exerts neuroprotective effects also against chronic glutamate toxicity. Indeed, in an *in vitro* study with a model of excitotoxic motoneuron degeneration of organotypic spinal cord cultures, it has been observed that treatment with ghrelin significantly decreases motoneuron loss by preventing microglial activation in the spinal cord (Lee et al., 2012). Moreover, ghrelin protects spinal cord motoneurons after glutamate excitotoxicity also through the activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) 1/2 and phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K)/Akt/glycogen synthase kinase (GSK)-3 β pathways (Lim, Lee, Li, Kim, & Park, 2011). Finally, ghrelin has a neuroprotective effect in neurodegenerative diseases such as Parkinson's disease, where it functions as a microglia-deactivating factor (Moon, Kim, Hwang, Seo, et al., 2009).

Zhang et al. (2012) demonstrated the acute effect of ghrelin on ischemia/ reperfusion (I/R) injury in the rat spinal cord. Their results suggest that ghrelin administration may inhibit spinal I/R injury, thanks to the antiapoptotic properties of the ghrelin mechanism that inhibits the apoptosis molecules in the mitochondrial pathway and activates endogenous protective molecules.

Little is known about ghrelin activities in peripheral nervous system. Erriquez et al. (2009) showed that DRG cells express GHSR-1a and that ghrelin induces a change in cytosolic calcium concentration in both glia and neurons of embryonic chick DRG.

Daily administration of ghrelin to rats subjected to chronic constriction injury (CCI) of the sciatic nerve improved the histological appearance of the nerve. Moreover, ghrelin prevented mechanical hyperalgesia in CCI rats in a dose-related manner (Guneli et al., 2010).

4. OVEREXPRESSION OF GHRELIN PROMOTES MOTOR NERVE FUNCTION RECOVERY AFTER TRAUMATIC INJURY

So far, no information are available about the effects of GHR on peripheral nerve regeneration. Therefore, in order to evaluate if ghrelin can act on neuromuscular recovery, a pilot study was performed in our laboratory on four adult male FVB1 WT and four FVB1 *Myh6/Ghrl* transgenic mice.

Transgenic FVB1 animals were obtained by cloning the murine ghrelin gene (*Ghrl*) under the control of the cardiac promoter sequences of the β MHC 3' UTR and the first three exons of the α MyHC isoform (De Acetis et al., 2005; Porporato et al., 2013). Phenotypical characterization and experiments were carried out on hemizygote animals.

Under deep anesthesia, the median nerve of the left forelimb was approached from the axillary region to the elbow with a longitudinal skin approach and, under operative microscope, was carefully exposed and cut. Transected median nerve was immediately repaired by means of a termino-terminal suture. In order to prevent interferences with the grasping test, the contralateral median nerve was transected at the middle third of the brachium and its proximal stump was sutured in the pectoralis major muscle to avoid spontaneous reinnervation.

Functional recovery was assessed by grasping test every 5 days for 70 days after surgery. For the control value, the grasping test was performed the day before the operation. Preliminary results on functional recovery showed that neuromuscular recovery was significantly faster in *Myh6/Ghrl* mice compared to WT mice. Moreover, after 40 days from the injury, WT value was still statistically different compared to the preinjury value, whereas



Figure 8.1 Functional recovery assessment by grasping test after termino-terminal median nerve repair in wild type (WT) and *Myh6/Ghrl* transgenic (Tg) mice. Functional recovery is faster in Tg mice (* $p \le 0.05$ WT vs. Tg). After 40 days, WT value was still statistically different compared to the preinjury value, whereas Tg value was similar to the preinjury value (* $p \le 0.05$ WT vs. preinjury).

Myh6/Ghrl value was similar to the preinjury value, showing that the overexpression of *Ghrl*, and the resulting higher levels of circulating unacylated ghrelin, sped up motor recovery after injury. Finally, at the end of the experiment (day 70), the two experimental groups reached values similar to the preinjury values (Fig. 8.1).

These preliminary data suggest that this molecule can have an effect also in promoting axonal regeneration after nerve injury and repair. Further studies are needed to understand where and how ghrelin acts.

5. CONCLUSIONS

Today, no pharmacological approach has still been introduced in the clinics with the goal of improving posttraumatic neuromuscular recovery. Among the various molecules that are currently being explored in experimental models with such a goal, the circulating peptide hormone ghrelin is receiving increasing interest.

In fact, literature review provided in this chapter shows that ghrelin has both a regeneration promoting effect in the central nervous system and a preventive effect against skeletal muscle atrophy. Preliminary data from our laboratory also suggested that this hormone can have an effect in promoting regeneration after nerve injury and repair.

The putative positive effects of ghrelin at all the various structural levels involved in posttraumatic neuromuscular recovery, namely—the central nervous system, the peripheral nerve, and the target skeletal muscle—make this molecule an ideal candidate as a therapeutic agent for improving this complex and multilevel regenerative process.

REFERENCES

- Andersen, E., & Dafny, N. (1983). An ascending serotonergic pain modulation pathway from the dorsal raphe nucleus to the parafascicularis nucleus of the thalamus. *Brain Research*, 269(1), 57–67.
- Argiles, J. M., & Stemmler, B. (2013). The potential of ghrelin in the treatment of cancer cachexia. Expert Opinion on Biological Therapy, 13(1), 67–76.
- Ariyasu, H., Takaya, K., Tagami, T., Ogawa, Y., Hosoda, K., Akamizu, T., et al. (2001). Stomach is a major source of circulating ghrelin, and feeding state determines plasma ghrelin-like immunoreactivity levels in humans. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology* and Metabolism, 86(10), 4753–4758.
- Asakawa, A., Inui, A., Fujimiya, M., Sakamaki, R., Shinfuku, N., Ueta, Y., et al. (2005). Stomach regulates energy balance via acylated ghrelin and desacyl ghrelin. *Gut*, 54(1), 18–24.
- Balasubramaniam, A., Joshi, R., Su, C., Friend, L. A., Sheriff, S., Kagan, R. J., et al. (2009). Ghrelin inhibits skeletal muscle protein breakdown in rats with thermal injury through

normalizing elevated expression of E3 ubiquitin ligases MuRF1 and MAFbx. *American Journal of Physiology. Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology, 296*(4), R893–R901.

- Balasubramaniam, A., Wood, S., Joshi, R., Su, C., Friend, L. A., Sheriff, S., et al. (2006). Ghrelin stimulates food intake and growth hormone release in rats with thermal injury: Synthesis of ghrelin. *Peptides*, 27(7), 1624–1631.
- Baldanzi, G., Filigheddu, N., Cutrupi, S., Catapano, F., Bonissoni, S., Fubini, A., et al. (2002). Ghrelin and des-acyl ghrelin inhibit cell death in cardiomyocytes and endothelial cells through ERK1/2 and PI 3-kinase/AKT. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 159(6), 1029–1037.
- Banks, W. A., Tschop, M., Robinson, S. M., & Heiman, M. L. (2002). Extent and direction of ghrelin transport across the blood–brain barrier is determined by its unique primary structure. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 302(2), 822–827.
- Barreiro, M. L., Gaytan, F., Castellano, J. M., Suominen, J. S., Roa, J., Gaytan, M., et al. (2004). Ghrelin inhibits the proliferative activity of immature Leydig cells in vivo and regulates stem cell factor messenger ribonucleic acid expression in rat testis. *Endocrinology*, 145(11), 4825–4834.
- Brunetti, L., Recinella, L., Orlando, G., Michelotto, B., Di Nisio, C., & Vacca, M. (2002). Effects of ghrelin and amylin on dopamine, norepinephrine and serotonin release in the hypothalamus. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 454(2–3), 189–192.
- Brywe, K. G., Leverin, A. L., Gustavsson, M., Mallard, C., Granata, R., Destefanis, S., et al. (2005). Growth hormone-releasing peptide hexarelin reduces neonatal brain injury and alters Akt/glycogen synthase kinase-3beta phosphorylation. *Endocrinology*, 146(11), 4665–4672.
- Campana, W. M., Li, X., Shubayev, V. I., Angert, M., Cai, K., & Myers, R. R. (2006). Erythropoietin reduces Schwann cell TNF-alpha, Wallerian degeneration and painrelated behaviors after peripheral nerve injury. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, 23(3), 617–626.
- Carlini, V. P., Monzon, M. E., Varas, M. M., Cragnolini, A. B., Schioth, H. B., Scimonelli, T. N., et al. (2002). Ghrelin increases anxiety-like behavior and memory retention in rats. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 299(5), 739–743.
- Carlini, V. P., Varas, M. M., Cragnolini, A. B., Schioth, H. B., Scimonelli, T. N., & de Barioglio, S. R. (2004). Differential role of the hippocampus, amygdala, and dorsal raphe nucleus in regulating feeding, memory, and anxiety-like behavioral responses to ghrelin. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 313(3), 635–641.
- Cassoni, P., Papotti, M., Ghe, C., Catapano, F., Sapino, A., Graziani, A., et al. (2001). Identification, characterization, and biological activity of specific receptors for natural (ghrelin) and synthetic growth hormone secretagogues and analogs in human breast carcinomas and cell lines. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 86(4), 1738–1745.
- Chen, Z. L., Yu, W. M., & Strickland, S. (2007). Peripheral regeneration. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 30, 209–233.
- Chung, H., Seo, S., Moon, M., & Park, S. (2008). Phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase/Akt/glycogen synthase kinase-3 beta and ERK1/2 pathways mediate protective effects of acylated and unacylated ghrelin against oxygen-glucose deprivation-induced apoptosis in primary rat cortical neuronal cells. *The Journal of Endocrinology*, 198(3), 511–521.
- Cowley, M. A., Smith, R. G., Diano, S., Tschop, M., Pronchuk, N., Grove, K. L., et al. (2003). The distribution and mechanism of action of ghrelin in the CNS demonstrates a novel hypothalamic circuit regulating energy homeostasis. *Neuron*, 37(4), 649–661.
- Date, Y., Murakami, N., Toshinai, K., Matsukura, S., Niijima, A., Matsuo, H., et al. (2002). The role of the gastric afferent vagal nerve in ghrelin-induced feeding and growth hormone secretion in rats. *Gastroenterology*, 123(4), 1120–1128.

- De Acetis, M., Notte, A., Accornero, F., Selvetella, G., Brancaccio, M., Vecchione, C., et al. (2005). Cardiac overexpression of melusin protects from dilated cardiomyopathy due to long-standing pressure overload. *Circulation Research*, 96(10), 1087–1094.
- de Putter, C. E., Selles, R. W., Polinder, S., Panneman, M. J., Hovius, S. E., & van Beeck, E. F. (2012). Economic impact of hand and wrist injuries: Health-care costs and productivity costs in a population-based study. *The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery*. *American Volume*, 94(9), e56.
- Deboer, M. D., Zhu, X., Levasseur, P. R., Inui, A., Hu, Z., Han, G., et al. (2008). Ghrelin treatment of chronic kidney disease: Improvements in lean body mass and cytokine profile. *Endocrinology*, 149(2), 827–835.
- DeBoer, M. D., Zhu, X. X., Levasseur, P., Meguid, M. M., Suzuki, S., Inui, A., et al. (2007). Ghrelin treatment causes increased food intake and retention of lean body mass in a rat model of cancer cachexia. *Endocrinology*, 148(6), 3004–3012.
- Devesa, P., Gelabert, M., Gonzlez-Mosquera, T., Gallego, R., Relova, J. L., Devesa, J., et al. (2012). Growth hormone treatment enhances the functional recovery of sciatic nerves after transection and repair. *Muscle & Nerve*, 45(3), 385–392.
- Dixit, V. D., Schaffer, E. M., Pyle, R. S., Collins, G. D., Sakthivel, S. K., Palaniappan, R., et al. (2004). Ghrelin inhibits leptin- and activation-induced proinflammatory cytokine expression by human monocytes and T cells. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 114(1), 57–66.
- Erriquez, J., Bernascone, S., Ciarletta, M., Filigheddu, N., Graziani, A., & Distasi, C. (2009). Calcium signals activated by ghrelin and D-Lys(3)-GHRP-6 ghrelin antagonist in developing dorsal root ganglion glial cells. *Cell Calcium*, 46(3), 197–208.
- Filigheddu, N., Gnocchi, V. F., Coscia, M., Cappelli, M., Porporato, P. E., Taulli, R., et al. (2007). Ghrelin and des-acyl ghrelin promote differentiation and fusion of C2C12 skeletal muscle cells. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, 18(3), 986–994.
- Gao, M., Yang, J., Wei, R., Liu, G., Zhang, L., Wang, H., et al. (2012). Ghrelin induces cardiac lineage differentiation of human embryonic stem cells through ERK1/2 pathway. *International Journal of Cardiology*, In press.
- Garcia, J. M., Garcia-Touza, M., Hijazi, R. A., Taffet, G., Epner, D., Mann, D., et al. (2005). Active ghrelin levels and active to total ghrelin ratio in cancer-induced cachexia. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 90(5), 2920–2926.
- Gaskin, F. S., Farr, S. A., Banks, W. A., Kumar, V. B., & Morley, J. E. (2003). Ghrelininduced feeding is dependent on nitric oxide. *Peptides*, 24(6), 913–918.
- Gibbs, J., Flores, C. M., & Hargreaves, K. M. (2004). Neuropeptide Y inhibits capsaicinsensitive nociceptors via a Y1-receptor-mediated mechanism. *Neuroscience*, 125(3), 703–709.
- Granata, R., Settanni, F., Biancone, L., Trovato, L., Nano, R., Bertuzzi, F., et al. (2007). Acylated and unacylated ghrelin promote proliferation and inhibit apoptosis of pancreatic beta-cells and human islets: Involvement of 3',5'-cyclic adenosine monophosphate/protein kinase A, extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2, and phosphatidyl inositol 3-Kinase/Akt signaling. *Endocrinology*, 148(2), 512–529.
- Guan, X. M., Yu, H., Palyha, O. C., McKee, K. K., Feighner, S. D., Sirinathsinghji, D. J., et al. (1997). Distribution of mRNA encoding the growth hormone secretagogue receptor in brain and peripheral tissues. *Brain Research. Molecular Brain Research*, 48(1), 23–29.
- Guneli, E., Kazikdas, K. C., & Kolatan, E. (2007). Ghrelin may attenuate proinflammatory cytokine-mediated neuropathic pain. *Medical Hypotheses*, 69(2), 356–360.
- Guneli, E., Onal, A., Ates, M., Bagriyanik, H. A., Resmi, H., Orhan, C. E., et al. (2010). Effects of repeated administered ghrelin on chronic constriction injury of the sciatic nerve in rats. *Neuroscience Letters*, 479(3), 226–230.

- Inoue, Y., Nakahara, K., Kangawa, K., & Murakami, N. (2010). Transitional change in rat fetal cell proliferation in response to ghrelin and des-acyl ghrelin during the last stage of pregnancy. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 393(3), 455–460.
- Itoh, T., Nagaya, N., Yoshikawa, M., Fukuoka, A., Takenaka, H., Shimizu, Y., et al. (2004). Elevated plasma ghrelin level in underweight patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 170(8), 879–882.
- Jeffery, P. L., Herington, A. C., & Chopin, L. K. (2002). Expression and action of the growth hormone releasing peptide ghrelin and its receptor in prostate cancer cell lines. *The Journal of Endocrinology*, 172(3), R7–R11.
- Johansson, I., Destefanis, S., Aberg, N. D., Aberg, M. A., Blomgren, K., Zhu, C., et al. (2008). Proliferative and protective effects of growth hormone secretagogues on adult rat hippocampal progenitor cells. *Endocrinology*, 149(5), 2191–2199.
- Jones, K. J., Alexander, T. D., Brown, T. J., & Tanzer, L. (2000). Gonadal steroid enhancement of facial nerve regeneration: Role of heat shock protein 70. *Journal of Neurocytology*, 29(5–6), 341–349.
- Joosten, E. A., Majewska, B., Houweling, D. A., Bar, P. R., & Gispen, W. H. (1999). Alphamelanocyte stimulating hormone promotes regrowth of injured axons in the adult rat spinal cord. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 16(6), 543–553.
- Koenig, H. L., Schumacher, M., Ferzaz, B., Thi, A. N., Ressouches, A., Guennoun, R., et al. (1995). Progesterone synthesis and myelin formation by Schwann cells. *Science*, 268(5216), 1500–1503.
- Kojima, M., Hosoda, H., Date, Y., Nakazato, M., Matsuo, H., & Kangawa, K. (1999). Ghrelin is a growth-hormone-releasing acylated peptide from stomach. *Nature*, 402(6762), 656–660.
- Korbonits, M., Goldstone, A. P., Gueorguiev, M., & Grossman, A. B. (2004). Ghrelin—A hormone with multiple functions. *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology*, 25(1), 27–68.
- Koshinaka, K., Toshinai, K., Mohammad, A., Noma, K., Oshikawa, M., Ueno, H., et al. (2011). Therapeutic potential of ghrelin treatment for unloading-induced muscle atrophy in mice. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 412(2), 296–301.
- Lambert, E., Lambert, G., Ika-Sari, C., Dawood, T., Lee, K., Chopra, R., et al. (2011). Ghrelin modulates sympathetic nervous system activity and stress response in lean and overweight men. *Hypertension*, 58(1), 43–50.
- Lee, S., Kim, Y., Li, E., & Park, S. (2012). Ghrelin protects spinal cord motoneurons against chronic glutamate excitotoxicity by inhibiting microglial activation. *The Korean Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology*, 16(1), 43–48.
- Li, E., Chung, H., Kim, Y., Kim, D. H., Ryu, J. H., Sato, T., et al. (2013). Ghrelin directly stimulates adult hippocampal neurogenesis: Implications for learning and memory. *Endocrine Journal*.
- Li, W. G., Gavrila, D., Liu, X., Wang, L., Gunnlaugsson, S., Stoll, L. L., et al. (2004). Ghrelin inhibits proinflammatory responses and nuclear factor-kappaB activation in human endothelial cells. *Circulation*, 109(18), 2221–2226.
- Li, X., Gonias, S. L., & Campana, W. M. (2005). Schwann cells express erythropoietin receptor and represent a major target for Epo in peripheral nerve injury. *Glia*, 51(4), 254–265.
- Lim, E., Lee, S., Li, E., Kim, Y., & Park, S. (2011). Ghrelin protects spinal cord motoneurons against chronic glutamate-induced excitotoxicity via ERK1/2 and phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase/Akt/glycogen synthase kinase-3beta pathways. *Experimental Neurology*, 230(1), 114–122.
- Liu, Y., Chen, L., Xu, X., Vicaut, E., & Sercombe, R. (2009). Both ischemic preconditioning and ghrelin administration protect hippocampus from ischemia/reperfusion and upregulate uncoupling protein-2. *BMC Physiology*, 9, 17.

- Macica, C. M., Liang, G., Lankford, K. L., & Broadus, A. E. (2006). Induction of parathyroid hormone-related peptide following peripheral nerve injury: Role as a modulator of Schwann cell phenotype. *Glia*, 53(6), 637–648.
- Mercier, G., Turque, N., & Schumacher, M. (2001). Rapid effects of triiodothyronine on immediate-early gene expression in Schwann cells. *Glia*, 35(2), 81–89.
- Moon, M., Kim, S., Hwang, L., & Park, S. (2009). Ghrelin regulates hippocampal neurogenesis in adult mice. *Endocrine Journal*, 56(3), 525–531.
- Moon, M., Kim, H. G., Hwang, L., Seo, J. H., Kim, S., Hwang, S., et al. (2009). Neuroprotective effect of ghrelin in the 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine mouse model of Parkinson's disease by blocking microglial activation. *Neurotoxicity Research*, 15(4), 332–347.
- Nagaya, N., Itoh, T., Murakami, S., Oya, H., Uematsu, M., Miyatake, K., et al. (2005). Treatment of cachexia with ghrelin in patients with COPD. *Chest*, 128(3), 1187–1193.
- Nagaya, N., Moriya, J., Yasumura, Y., Uematsu, M., Ono, F., Shimizu, W., et al. (2004). Effects of ghrelin administration on left ventricular function, exercise capacity, and muscle wasting in patients with chronic heart failure. *Circulation*, 110(24), 3674–3679.
- Nagaya, N., Uematsu, M., Kojima, M., Date, Y., Nakazato, M., Okumura, H., et al. (2001). Elevated circulating level of ghrelin in cachexia associated with chronic heart failure: Relationships between ghrelin and anabolic/catabolic factors. *Circulation*, 104(17), 2034–2038.
- Nakazato, M., Murakami, N., Date, Y., Kojima, M., Matsuo, H., Kangawa, K., et al. (2001). A role for ghrelin in the central regulation of feeding. *Nature*, 409(6817), 194–198.
- Navarro, X., Vivo, M., & Valero-Cabre, A. (2007). Neural plasticity after peripheral nerve injury and regeneration. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 82(4), 163–201.
- Neary, N. M., Small, C. J., Wren, A. M., Lee, J. L., Druce, M. R., Palmieri, C., et al. (2004). Ghrelin increases energy intake in cancer patients with impaired appetite: Acute, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 89(6), 2832–2836.
- Porporato, P. E., Filigheddu, N., Reano, S., Ferrara, M., Angelino, E., Gnocchi, V. F., et al. (2013). Acylated and unacylated ghrelin impair skeletal muscle atrophy in mice. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 123(2), 611–622.
- Samad, T. A., Moore, K. A., Sapirstein, A., Billet, S., Allchorne, A., Poole, S., et al. (2001). Interleukin-1beta-mediated induction of Cox-2 in the CNS contributes to inflammatory pain hypersensitivity. *Nature*, 410(6827), 471–475.
- Sato, M., Nakahara, K., Goto, S., Kaiya, H., Miyazato, M., Date, Y., et al. (2006). Effects of ghrelin and des-acyl ghrelin on neurogenesis of the rat fetal spinal cord. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 350(3), 598–603.
- Sheriff, S., Kadeer, N., Joshi, R., Friend, L. A., James, J. H., & Balasubramaniam, A. (2012). Des-acyl ghrelin exhibits pro-anabolic and anti-catabolic effects on C2C12 myotubes exposed to cytokines and reduces burn-induced muscle proteolysis in rats. *Molecular* and Cellular Endocrinology, 351(2), 286–295.
- Shimizu, Y., Nagaya, N., Isobe, T., Imazu, M., Okumura, H., Hosoda, H., et al. (2003). Increased plasma ghrelin level in lung cancer cachexia. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 9(2), 774–778.
- Sibilia, V., Lattuada, N., Rapetti, D., Pagani, F., Vincenza, D., Bulgarelli, I., et al. (2006). Ghrelin inhibits inflammatory pain in rats: Involvement of the opioid system. *Neuropharmacology*, 51(3), 497–505.
- Strand, F. L., Zuccarelli, L. A., Williams, K. A., Lee, S. J., Lee, T. S., Antonawich, F. J., et al. (1993). Melanotropins as growth factors. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 680, 29–50.

- Sun, Y. G., Lundeberg, T., & Yu, L. C. (2003). Involvement of endogenous beta-endorphin in antinociception in the arcuate nucleus of hypothalamus in rats with inflammation. *Pain*, 104(1–2), 55–63.
- Sun, W., Sun, C., Zhao, H., Lin, H., Han, Q., Wang, J., et al. (2009). Improvement of sciatic nerve regeneration using laminin-binding human NGF-beta. *PLoS One*, 4(7), e6180.
- Theil, M. M., Miyake, S., Mizuno, M., Tomi, C., Croxford, J. L., Hosoda, H., et al. (2009). Suppression of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by ghrelin. *The Journal of Immunology*, 183(4), 2859–2866.
- Toshinai, K., Yamaguchi, H., Sun, Y., Smith, R. G., Yamanaka, A., Sakurai, T., et al. (2006). Des-acyl ghrelin induces food intake by a mechanism independent of the growth hormone secretagogue receptor. *Endocrinology*, 147(5), 2306–2314.
- Tschop, M., Smiley, D. L., & Heiman, M. L. (2000). Ghrelin induces adiposity in rodents. *Nature*, 407(6806), 908–913.
- Tschop, M., Weyer, C., Tataranni, P. A., Devanarayan, V., Ravussin, E., & Heiman, M. L. (2001). Circulating ghrelin levels are decreased in human obesity. *Diabetes*, 50(4), 707–709.
- van der Neut, R., Hol, E. M., Gispen, W. H., & Bar, P. R. (1992). Stimulation by melanocortins of neurite outgrowth from spinal and sensory neurons in vitro. *Peptides*, 13(6), 1109–1115.
- Vergnano, A. M., Ferrini, F., Salio, C., Lossi, L., Baratta, M., & Merighi, A. (2008). The gastrointestinal hormone ghrelin modulates inhibitory neurotransmission in deep laminae of mouse spinal cord dorsal horn. *Endocrinology*, 149(5), 2306–2312.
- Wang, W., Bansal, S., Falk, S., Ljubanovic, D., & Schrier, R. (2009). Ghrelin protects mice against endotoxemia-induced acute kidney injury. *American Journal of Physiology. Renal Physiology*, 297(4), F1032–F1037.
- Wren, A. M., Seal, L. J., Cohen, M. A., Brynes, A. E., Frost, G. S., Murphy, K. G., et al. (2001). Ghrelin enhances appetite and increases food intake in humans. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 86(12), 5992.
- Yoshimoto, A., Mori, K., Sugawara, A., Mukoyama, M., Yahata, K., Suganami, T., et al. (2002). Plasma ghrelin and desacyl ghrelin concentrations in renal failure. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*, 13(11), 2748–2752.
- Zhang, W., Hu, Y., Lin, T. R., Fan, Y., & Mulholland, M. W. (2005). Stimulation of neurogenesis in rat nucleus of the solitary tract by ghrelin. *Peptides*, 26(11), 2280–2288.
- Zhang, Q., Huang, C., Meng, B., Tang, T., Shi, Q., & Yang, H. (2012). Acute effect of ghrelin on ischemia/reperfusion injury in the rat spinal cord. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 13(8), 9864–9876.
- Zhang, W., Lin, T. R., Hu, Y., Fan, Y., Zhao, L., Stuenkel, E. L., et al. (2004). Ghrelin stimulates neurogenesis in the dorsal motor nucleus of the vagus. *The Journal of Physiology*, 559(Pt. 3), 729–737.

CHAPTER NINE

Neuregulin 1 Role in Schwann Cell Regulation and Potential Applications to Promote Peripheral Nerve Regeneration

Giovanna Gambarotta¹, Federica Fregnan, Sara Gnavi, Isabelle Perroteau

Nerve Regeneration Group, Department of Clinical and Biological Sciences, University of Torino, Torino, Italy

¹Corresponding author: e-mail address: giovanna.gambarotta@unito.it

Contents

1.	Introduction to Neuregulin 1	224					
	1.1 NRG1 gene products	224					
2.	2. NRG1 Isoforms and Their Role in SC Myelination						
	2.1 NRG1 cleavage and consequences on myelination activity	236					
3.	NRG1 to Promote Nerve Repair	237					
	3.1 Peripheral nerve injury and repair	237					
	3.2 NRG1 isoform expression during nerve regeneration	240					
	3.3 Biomaterials and delivery system						
4.	4. Conclusions						
Ac	Acknowledgments						
Ret	ferences	249					

Abstract

Neuregulin 1 (NRG1) is a multifunctional and versatile protein: its numerous isoforms can signal in a paracrine, autocrine, or juxtacrine manner, playing a fundamental role during the development of the peripheral nervous system and during the process of nerve repair, suggesting that the treatment with NRG1 could improve functional outcome following injury. Accordingly, the use of NRG1 *in vivo* has already yielded encouraging results.

The aim of this review is to focus on the role played by the different NRG1 isoforms during peripheral nerve regeneration and remyelination and to identify good candidates to be used for the development of tissue engineered medical devices delivering NRG1, with the objective of promoting better nerve repair.

1. INTRODUCTION TO NEUREGULIN 1

Neuregulins are a family of soluble and transmembrane growth factors encoded by four different genes. Among them, the most studied is Neuregulin 1 (NRG1), which is involved in the development of heart, mammary gland, brain, and nerve through the activation of different combinations of the tyrosine kinase receptors ErbB2, ErbB3, and ErbB4 (Mei & Xiong, 2008; Yarden & Sliwkowski, 2001). NRG1 plays an important role in myelination and peripheral nerve regeneration and, for this reason, was the subject of recent comprehensive reviews (Fricker & Bennett, 2011; Nave & Salzer, 2006; Pereira, Lebrun-Julien, & Suter, 2012; Salzer, 2012Syed & Kim, 2010; Taveggia, Feltri, & Wrabetz, 2010) and also other reviews that for space limits have not been cited here.

This review aims to give an overview of what is known about the role of NRG1 in axonal growth, myelination, and remyelination, focusing the attention on its prospective clinical application to promote peripheral nerve regeneration, taking into consideration the different possible delivery systems.

1.1. NRG1 gene products

Over time, different NRG1 isoforms were identified and named according to the context in which they were found (neu differentiation factor/NDF, heregulin/HRG, acetylcholine receptor-inducing activity/ARIA, glial growth factor/GGF, and sensory and motor neuron-derived factor/SMDF), until all of them were recognized to belong to the same gene, and named neuregulin1/NRG1 (Falls, 2003; Marchionni et al., 1993).

In this review, the different NRG1 isoforms will be named according to the scheme proposed and shared by different authors (Falls, 2003; Mei & Xiong, 2008), based on exon composition (Fig. 9.1). NRG1 is encoded by a gene spanning 2,6 mbp in humans and rats, 2,4 mbp in mice (Chou & Ozaki, 2010). All NRG1 isoforms contain an epidermal growth factor (EGF)-like domain that is located in the extracellular portion of the protein and is necessary and sufficient for the receptor activation.

Six types of NRG1 were described (I–VI), which differ for N-terminal exons, arising from alternative splicing and use of alternative promoters. Types I (NDF/HRG/ARIA), II (GGF), and III (SMDF) are encoded in a wide range of vertebrate genomes, type IV appears to be restricted to



Figure 9.1 NRG1 isoforms. Panel A: Six types of NRG1 are described (I–VI), which differ for N-terminal exons. NRG1-types I, II, IV, and V (with or without a spacer region) are characterized by an immunoglobulin (Ig)-like domain, located between the N-terminal sequence and the EGF-like domain; NRG1-types III and VI present an N-terminal region connected directly to the EGF-like domain. The type III N-terminal sequence contains a cystein-rich domain (CRD) with an additional transmembrane domain (TMn). Variants derive also by splicing in the linker and in the cytoplasmic tail;

(Continued)

mammalian, types V and VI appear to be restricted to primates (Chou & Ozaki, 2010).

An immunoglobulin (Ig)-like domain-located between the N-terminal sequence and the EGF-like domain-characterizes NRG1 types I, II, IV, and V (with or without a spacer region), whereas NRG1 types III and VI present an N-terminal region connected directly to the EGF-like domain. In type III NRG1, the N- and the C-terminal regions are both located inside the cell (except one isoform-NRG1-type III- β 3-which presents only the N-terminal inside the cell). The type III N-terminal sequence also contains a cystein-rich domain (CRD) with an additional transmembrane domain (TMn).

The number (>30) and the nomenclature of the identified NRG1 derives also from the alternative use of different exons located downstream the EGF-like domain: the first exon can be α or β or can be missing (γ); the following exon can be 1 or 4 or 3 (followed by a stop codon) or missing (isoform 2), the next exon is a transmembrane domain (TMc), followed

Figure 9.1—Cont'd the C-terminal transmembrane domain (TMc) is located between these two regions. The great number of NRG1 isoforms derives also from the alternative use of different exons located downstream the EGF-like domain: the first exon can be α or β or can be missing (isoform γ); the second exon can be 1 or 4 or 3 (followed by a stop codon) or can be missing (isoform 2); the third exon can be a transmembrane domain (TMc), followed by a cytoplasmic exon c, that can be followed by a stop codon (isoform c), by exon a or exon b. Panel B: In this scheme is reported the structure of those isoforms (I, II, and III, β 1a and β 3) cited in this review which is focused on peripheral nerve regeneration (see also Table 9.1). Many soluble and mature NRG1 proteins are produced in the form of transmembrane precursors and are generated by the cleavage by different secretases, except in the case of NRG1- β 3 isoforms, which are already released as soluble mature proteins for autocrine/paracrine interactions (type I/II) or as transmembrane mature proteins for juxtacruine interactions (type III). Panel C: NRG1-type III can be cleaved by α -secretases belonging to tumor necrosis factor- α -converting enzyme (TACE) or a disintegrin and metalloprotease (ADAM) family (e.g., TACE/ ADAM17) or by β -secretases (BACE-1/ β -site of amyloid precursor protein-cleaving enzyme). BACE-1 cleavage stimulates myelination (Hu et al., 2006; Willem et al., 2006) and remyelination (Hu et al., 2008); TACE cleavage inhibits myelination (La Marca et al., 2011). A second cleavage by a γ -secretase-dependent protease, in those NRG1 isoforms containing the TMc, generates a cytoplasmic fragment that can translocate into the nucleus and influence gene transcription (Bao et al., 2004). For the contents of this figure, the authors got inspiration from different reviews and papers (Bao, Wolpowitz, Role, & Talmage, 2003; Falls, 2003; La Marca et al., 2011; Mei & Xiong, 2008; Velanac et al., 2011).

by a cytoplasmic exon c, which can be followed by a stop codon (isoform c), by exon a or exon b. The activity of β isoforms is 100-fold higher than that of α isoforms.

Cleavage by the β -secretase BACE-1 (β -site of amyloid precursor protein-cleaving enzyme) or by the α -secretases TACE (tumor necrosis factor- α -converting enzyme) or ADAM (members of "a disintegrin and metalloprotease" family), generates soluble NRG1, except in the case of type III NRG1 that remains transmembrane. As discussed in the following paragraph, BACE-1 cleavage of axonal NRG1-type III positively regulates myelination (Hu et al., 2006; Willem et al., 2006) and remyelination (Hu et al., 2011).

Types IV–VI NRG1 are less characterized, but it is likely that they are processed like types I and II (Mei & Xiong, 2008).

The expression of the different isoforms is spatially and temporally regulated, suggesting that different isoforms display specific and unique characteristics.

Different types of NRG1 I, II, and III are expressed in the PNS; they activate-in *cis* and in *trans*-the heterodimeric receptor ErbB2/ErbB3 expressed by Schwann cells (SC). After ligand binding to ErbB3, ErbB3, and ErbB2 heterodimerize, ErbB2 tyrosine kinase switches on, and phosphorylates intracellular tyrosine residues which become docking sites for adaptor proteins involved in different signal transduction pathways, which eventually regulate the transcription of genes implicated in survival, migration, differentiation, proliferation, and myelination (Fricker & Bennett, 2011; Yarden & Sliwkowski, 2001, and references therein).

NRG1 is involved in many steps of the peripheral nerve development, playing a fundamental role in the development of SC precursors and in the interactions between axons (expressing mainly transmembrane NRG1-type III) and SC (expressing ErbB2-ErbB3 and soluble type I/II NRG1). The absence of NRG1-type III (Wolpowitz et al., 2000) or of the co-receptors ErbB3 (Riethmacher et al., 1997) or ErbB2 (Morris et al., 1999; Woldeyesus et al., 1999) gives rise to animals without or with severely reduced SC precursors; the absence of NRG1-type I/II gives rise to normal SC (Meyer et al., 1997), suggesting that NRG1-type III is the most important isoform for SC development. Nevertheless, it has been shown-in the embryonic chick-that soluble NRG1 is also released by axons during the critical period of SC survival (Ma, Wang, Song, & Loeb, 2011).

2. NRG1 ISOFORMS AND THEIR ROLE IN SC MYELINATION

The existence of a signal instructing SC to deposit layers of myelin-the thickness of which is proportional to the diameter of the axon-had long been hypothesized. Transgenic and knock-out mice (Table 9.1) allowed to demonstrate that neuronal NRG1-type III plays an instructive role on myelination, determining the ensheathment fate of axons: reduced NRG1 expression causes hypo-myelination (Michailov et al., 2004; Taveggia et al., 2005), which can be rescued by lentiviral (LV)-mediated expression of NRG1-type III- β 1a (Taveggia et al., 2005). Moreover, neuronal NRG1-type III has been shown to be required for remyelination and regeneration after nerve injury: single axons in which NRG1 has been ablated are hypomyelinated and regenerate more slowly (Fricker et al., 2011).

Neuronal transmembrane NRG1-type III- β 1a overexpression induces hyper-myelination (Michailov et al., 2004), converts unmyelinated axons of sympathetic neurons to myelination (Taveggia et al., 2005), and improves remyelination after peripheral nerve injury (Stassart et al., 2013).

Neuronal NRG1-type III- β 3 overexpression has no effect on myelin thickness (Gomez-Sanchez et al., 2009), but stimulates SC proliferation and enlarges peripheral nerve and ganglia.

Neuronal soluble NRG1-type I- β 1a overexpression does not alter myelination (Michailov et al., 2004), but improves remyelination after peripheral nerve injury (Stassart et al., 2013). These authors demonstrate that NRG1 produced by SC is not necessary for myelination, but it is strongly involved in remyelination, which is highly impaired after nerve crush in mice lacking SC NRG1, resulting in severe hypo-myelination. In these mice, the ectopic neuronal expression of NRG1-type I- β 1a does not completely rescue for the absence of SC NRG1, suggesting that NRG1 released by SCs is relevant for remyelination. This role is confirmed by the observation that NRG1type I (both α and β isoforms) is strongly up-regulated following injury (Carroll, Miller, Frohnert, Kim, & Corbett, 1997; Ronchi et al., 2013; Stassart et al., 2013).

Intriguingly, Syed et al. (2010) investigated whether NRG1-type IIIprovided in a paracrine manner-would still promote myelination and they demonstrated that this is the case: a recombinant "soluble" (but containing all domains, including the CRD and the TMn domain) NRG1-type III- β 3 is able to promote *in vitro* myelination of dissociated dorsal root ganglia

NRG1 isoform	Genotype	Axonal expr.	Glial expr.	In vitro assays	In vivo assays	Peripheral nerve phenotype	References
II-β3 (soluble)	WT			+		Soluble NRG1-II-β3 (GGF2) isoform blocks axon ensheathment and myelination, and leads to extensive demyelination when added to mature cocultures	Zanazzi et al. (2001)
All	Nrg1 ^{+/-} × ErbB2 ^{+/-} (KO)				+	Reduced NRG1 expression causes hypomyelination (Fig. 2a)	Michailov et al. (2004)
III-β-1a (transmembrane)	Thy1.2-NRG1-III-β-1a (transgenic mice expressing NRG1 in postnatal motoneurons and DRG neurons)	+			+	Nrg1-III-β1a overexpression causes hypermyelination (Figs. 4 and 5)	
I-β-1a (soluble)	Thy1.2-NRG1-I-β-1a (transgenic mice expressing NRG1 in postnatal motoneurons and DRG neurons)	+			+	Nrg1-I-β1a overexpression does not alter myelination (Fig. 4c)	
III (transmembrane)	NRG1-type III ^{-/-} (KO)	_		+	+	NRG1-type III ^{+/-} mice are hypomyelinated and aberrantly ensheathed (Fig. 7); Nrg1-III-β1a forced expression rescues myelination defects (Fig. 3)	Taveggia et al. (2005)

 Table 9.1
 Study of the role of the different NRG1 isoforms in myelination and remyelination in transgenic and knock out mouse experimental models

NRG1 isoform	Genotype	Axonal expr.	Glial expr.	<i>ln vitro</i> assays	<i>In vivo</i> assays	Peripheral nerve phenotype	References
III-β-1a (transmembrane)	WT	+		+		Nrg1-III-β1a forced expression converts unmyelinated axons of sympatetic neurons to myelination (Fig. 4)	
III-β-3 (transmembrane)	NSE-hSMDF (transgenic mice expressing NRG1- III-β-3 under the promoter of neuron specific enolase)	+			+	Nrg1-III-β3: no major effects on myelin thickness; peripheral nerves are enlarged; Remak bundles altered: small caliber axons not separated, but closely packed and ensheathed as a single unit	Gomez- Sanchez et al. (2009)
III-β-3 ("soluble," but containing all domains, including CRD and TMn; produced as a soluble factor by R&D)	WT			+		Soluble Nrg1-III-β3 promotes Schwann cell myelination (Fig. 1, cocultures of SC and dissociated DRG neurons)	Syed et al. (2010)
	WT			+		Soluble Nrg1-III-β3 induces myelination on normally nonmyelinated superior cervical ganglion (SCG) neurons (Fig. 3)	_

 Table 9.1
 Study of the role of the different NRG1 isoforms in myelination and remyelination in transgenic and knock out mouse experimental models—cont'd

	WT	+	Soluble Nrg1-III-β3 at high concentration inhibits Schwann cell myelination (Fig. 6)	
	NRG1 type III ^{-/-} (KO)	+	Soluble Nrg1-III- β 3 rescues the myelination defect on Nrg1 type III ^{+/-} neurons, but not on Nrg1 type III ^{-/-} neurons (Fig. 2)	_
II-β3 (soluble, produced by Acorda Therapeutics)	WT	+	Soluble Nrg1-II-β3 (GGF2) at very low concentration promotes Schwann cell myelination (Fig. 7), at medium-high concentration inhibits it	
III (transmembrane)	WT + Tace shRNA	+	TACE downregulation induces precocious myelination and hypermyelination <i>in vitro</i> (Fig. 1) that is neuron- autonomous (Fig. 2)	La Marca et al. (2011)
	Tace fl/fl × HB9-cre (transgenic line that drives motor neuron specific recombination using the promoter of Mnx1 gene)	+	TACE inactivation in motor neurons leads to precocious myelination (Fig. 3); nerves are hypermyelinated during development and in the adult, and Remak fibers are aberrantly ensheathed (Figs. 4 and 5)	

NRG1 isoform	Genotype	Axonal expr.	Glial expr.	ln vitro assays	In vivo assays	Peripheral nerve phenotype	References
	Tace fl/fl × Mpz-cre (transgenic line that drives Schwann cell specific recombination using the promoter of Mpz gene)				+	TACE inactivation in SC does not alter myelination (Fig. 6); myelinated fibers have more periaxonal space and an accumulation of organelles in the inner cytoplasmic collar (Fig. S5), suggesting that glial TACE process molecules implicated in myelin compaction and/ or adhesion	_
	NRG1 type III ^{-/-} (KO) + Tace shRNA			+		Ablation of Tace in type III ^{-/-} neurons does not rescue myelination: Tace inhibits myelination by modulating NRG1 type III	
III (transmembrane)	SLICK-A Cre; NRG ^{fl/fl}	+			+	Axonal NRG1 ablation (single neuron labeling with inducible Cre-mediated knock-out) causes severe deficits in remyelination	Fricker et al. (2011)
III-β-1a (transmembrane)	Thy1.2-HA-NRG1-III- β1a ^{FL} & Thy1.2-HA- NRG1-III-β1a ^{GIEF} (transgenic mice expressing NRG1 in postnatal moto- neurons and DRG neurons)	+			+	Neuronal overexpression of NRG1-III-β1a ^{GIEF} — designed to mimic BACE cleavage—induces hypermyelination <i>in vivo</i>	Velanac et al. (2012)

Table 9.1 Study of the role of the different NRG1 isoforms in myelination and remyelination in transgenic and knock out mouse experimentalmodels—cont'd

	NRG1-type III ^{-/-} (KO)	+	Neuronal overexpression of NRG1-III- β 1a ^{GIEF} is sufficient to restore myelination in NRG1-III ^{-/-} sensory neurons, suggesting that the C terminal domain and the cytoplasmic tail are not required for myelination	_
	BACE1 ^{-/-}	+	Overexpression of full- length NRG1-III- β 1a promotes hypermyelination in BACE1 ^{-/-} mice. NRG1 processing is impaired but not abolished in BACE1 ^{-/-} . BACE1 is not essential for the activation of NRG1 type III to promote myelination	
III-β-1a (transmembrane)	Thy1.2-NRG1-III-β1a + (transgenic mice expressing NRG1 in postnatal motoneurons and DRG neurons)	+	Overexpression of the axonal Nrg1-III-β1a isoform improves remyelination after peripheral nerve injury (Fig. 1S)	Stassart et al. (2013)

 Table 9.1
 Study of the role of the different NRG1 isoforms in myelination and remyelination in transgenic and knock out mouse experimental models—cont'd

NRG1 isoform	Genotype	Axonal expr.	Glial expr.	ln vitro assays	In vivo assays	Peripheral nerve phenotype	References
I-β-1a (soluble)	Thy1.2-NRG1-I-β1a (transgenic mice expressing NRG1 in postnatal motoneurons and DRG neurons)	+			+	Overexpression of the soluble Nrg1-I- β 1a isoform (which has not effect on normal myelination) improves remyelination after peripheral nerve injury (Fig. 1)	
All	Dhh-Cre x Nrg1 ^{loxP/loxP} (Cre-lox mice missing NRG1 exons α and β in Schwann Cells)		_		+	SC NRG1 ^{-/-} : no defects in myelination; remyelination is strongly impaired after nerve crush, resulting in severe hypomyelination (Fig. 4)	_
I-β-1a (soluble)	Thy1.2-NRG1-I- β - 1a × Dhh-Cre X Nrg1 ^{loxP/} (transgenic mice expressing NRG1 in postnatal motoneurons and DRG neurons, and missing NRG1 in Schwann cells)	+	_		+	Remyelination after crush is inefficient: neuronal Nrg1– I- β 1a does not compeletely compensate for the absence of NRG1 expression in SC (Fig. 5e)	
I (soluble)	WT		+		+	Type I NRG1 expression is induced after nerve injury (Fig. 2c)	_
I/II (α/β) (soluble)	WT and BALB-neuT (ErbB2 overexpression)		+		+	Type I/II NRG1 (α and β isoforms) is upregulated after nerve injury (Fig. 12)	Ronchi et al. (2013)

(DRG) neurons and of normally nonmyelinated superior cervical ganglion (SCG) neurons, and is able to rescue the myelination defects on NRG1-type $III^{+/-}$ neurons (but not on NRG1-type $III^{-/-}$ neurons). These data suggest that NRG1-type III must be expressed-even at low levels-as a transmembrane protein in order to allow early events of axonal segregation and ensheathment but, to further promote myelination, it can be delivered as a soluble protein.

Then, they examined whether the NRG1 concentration also played a role on myelinating activity and they, amazingly, demonstrated that soluble NRG1-type II- β 3-when used at very low concentration-promotes myelination, while at higher concentration inhibits it, as previously shown by others (Zanazzi et al., 2001). Similarly, they demonstrated that "soluble" NRG1-type III-when used at high concentration-inhibits myelination (while at low concentration stimulates it). These data show that the concentration of soluble NRG1 (regardless of the isoform) plays an important role in determining the myelination fate of axons. Syed and colleagues demonstrate that there is a concentration threshold beyond which the AKT pathway is activated, playing a promyelinating effect, and a higher concentration threshold beyond which the ERK pathway is activated, leading to myelination inhibition (and the thresholds are lower for NRG1-type II, higher for "soluble" NRG1-type III).

Following nerve injury, SC respond to axonal damage up-regulating NRG1-type I/II (Carroll et al., 1997; Ronchi et al., 2013; Stassart et al., 2013) and activating ERK signaling pathway (Harrisingh et al., 2004). Accordingly, it has been shown that activation of the ERK-signaling pathway in myelinating SC drives them back to a dedifferentiated state, that is reversible: as soon as ERK signal diminishes, SC respond to axonal signals and redifferentiate (Napoli et al., 2012). Indeed, when Mycobacterium leprae, the leprosy pathogen, binds to and activates ErbB2, it activates ERK pathway and demyelination (Tapinos, Ohnishi, & Rambukkana, 2006). On the contrary, it has been recently shown that sustained activation of ERK in SC and oligodendrocytes stimulates myelin growth and increases myelin thickness (Ishii, Furusho, & Bansal, 2013). To explain these different results, it has been suggested that ERK activation can be promyelinating or demyelinating, depending on the context, on the strength and on the duration of activation; it has been proposed that, during development, ERK activation promotes myelination, while its activation in differentiated SC promotes demyelination.

2.1. NRG1 cleavage and consequences on myelination activity

All NRG1 are synthesized with the EGF-like domain exposed to the extracellular environment (Fig. 9.1). With the exception of the β 3 isoformslacking the transmembrane domain (TMc)-which are produced as soluble or transmembrane proteins (Falls, 2003), ready to interact with their receptors, most NRG1 isoforms are synthesized as transmembrane precursor proteins and need a proteolytic cleavage to release a soluble ligand for paracrine/autocrine signals (all type isoforms, except type III) or to expose the EGF-like domain toward the extracellular environment for juxtacrine interactions (isoform type III).

As discussed above, axonal NRG1-type III regulates myelin sheath thickness (Michailov et al., 2004), determines the ensheathment fate of axons (Taveggia et al., 2005), and is required for remyelination (Fricker et al., 2011). NRG1-type III can be cleaved by α -secretases belonging to the ADAM family (e.g., TACE/ADAM17) or by the β -secretase BACE-1 (Fig. 9.1, panel C). BACE-1 cleavage stimulates myelination (Hu et al., 2006; Willem et al., 2006) and remyelination (Hu et al., 2008), ADAM cleavage inhibits myelination (La Marca et al., 2011).

Moreover, it has been shown that in NRG1 isoforms containing the TMc and the cytoplasmic tail (all but the β 3 isoforms), a second cleavage by a γ -secretase-dependent protease can occur following ligand-receptor interactions, to activate "reverse signaling" (Bao et al., 2003). A cytoplasmic fragment is released that can translocate into the nucleus and influence transcription (Bao et al., 2004).

TACE/ADAM17 cleaves NRG1 in the exon "1" a few aminoacids (3–6) upstream the cleavage site of BACE-1 (La Marca et al., 2011) and its downregulation leads to precocious- and hyper-myelination, that is neuron-autonomous (indeed, TACE inactivation in SC does not alter myelination). These results suggest that TACE inhibits myelination by limiting the amount of functional axonal NRG1-type III.

It has also been demonstrated that ADAM10 cleaves NRG1 in the same region, although its downregulation in a co-culture system was unable to affect normal myelination (Luo et al., 2011).

Conversely, BACE-1 inhibition impaires normal myelination (Luo et al., 2011) and neuronal overexpression of NRG1-type III- β 1a^{GIEF}, a recombinant protein designed to mimic BACE-1 cleavage, induces hyper-myelination *in vivo*, and is sufficient to restore myelination in NRG1-type III^{-/-} sensory neurons (Velanac et al., 2011), suggesting that

the C-terminal domain-that is missing in NRG1-type III- $\beta 1a^{\text{GIEF}}$ recombinant protein-is not required for myelination. Nevertheless, NRG1-type III- $\beta 1a$ overexpression promotes myelination also in BACE- $1^{-/-}$ mice, suggesting that BACE-1 promotes myelination, but is not essential for NRG1 processing and pro-myelination activity (Velanac et al., 2012).

It will be intriguing to understand how a few aminoacids in the NRG1-type III C terminus are able to guide the fate of axon myelination: NRG1-type I- β 1a cleaved by TACE or BACE-1 differ for a few aminoacids; moreover, the C-terminal aminoacids that characterize β 3 are just 11 and, as previously mentioned, the neuronal overexpression of NRG1-type III- β 3 does not induce hyper-myelination (Gomez-Sanchez et al., 2009). As already discussed by Velanac, these 11 aminoacids can serve as an acylation-like modification site, which tightly associate this isoform to the membrane (Cabedo, Luna, Fernandez, Gallar, & Ferrer-Montiel, 2002), likely activating different signaling pathway. On the other hand, β 3 exon aminoacids are present in the isoform NRG1-type II- β 3 (GGF2) which is currently used for clinical trials and, at very low concentration, promotes myelination, at higher concentration inhibits it (Syed et al., 2010; Zanazzi et al., 2001). Understanding the role played by the "GIEF" aminoacids that remain following BACE-1 cleavage (Velanac et al., 2011), and by the β 3 exon aminoacids, will contribute to understand the myelination process.

3. NRG1 TO PROMOTE NERVE REPAIR

3.1. Peripheral nerve injury and repair

Axons in the adult peripheral nervous system (PNS) undergo spontaneous regeneration after injury. Following a peripheral nerve injury, the type of nerve repair depends on the length of the nerve gap between the proximal and the distal stumps (Siemionow & Brzezicki, 2009), as shown in Fig. 9.2. Short gaps (few mm) can be repaired by direct suture of the proximal and the distal stumps with end-to-end coaptation and epineural suturing. The most common treatment for longer nerve gaps is surgical repair using autologous nerve grafts (autografts) (Deumens et al., 2010; Kandenwein, Kretschmer, Engelhardt, Richter, & Antoniadis, 2005). Autografts have shown high efficacy in inducing nerve regeneration because they provide to the regenerating axons a natural guidance channel with SC surrounded by their basal lamina, allowing appropriate alignment of outgrowing axons (Deumens et al., 2010). However, there are some drawbacks in using



Figure 9.2 Short gap versus long gap peripheral nerve injury. (A) Short gaps (<2 mm) can be directly repaired by suturing the proximal and distal stumps one to each other without tension. (B) Longer gaps (>2 mm) can be repaired by using autologous or artificial nerve grafts, also called nerve guidance channels (NGCs). Autologous grafts are: (C) nerve autograft, (D) blood vessel, (E) muscle fiber, (F) vein filled with muscle (muscle-vein combined conduit). Modifications of autologous grafts are: (G) autograft infected with viruses, (H) vein filled with muscle infected with viruses. Artificial grafts can be: (I) empty artificial nerve graft, which can be used to repair gaps (2–10 mm); modifications to the lumen of empty artificial NGC may be helpful to repair longer gaps (>20 mm): (J) internal framework-filled artificial NGC, (K) multichannel-filled artificial NGC, (L) sponge-filled artificial NGC, (M) filament-filled artificial NGC, (P) artificial NGC incorporated with supportive cells and (R) growth factors and artificial NGC incorporated with virus infected supportive cells.

autografts: donor site morbidity and sensory loss, scarring, neuroma formation, and limited length of available graft material encouraging the search of alternatives for nerve gap reconstruction. On the other hand, current techniques and artificial nerve conduit devices available to support regeneration across large lesion gaps have limited success (Deumens et al., 2010; Steed, Mukhatyar, Valmikinathan, & Bellamkonda, 2011). Allografts have been used, but immunosuppression is required and this technique results in poor success rates (Mackinnon & Dellon, 1990). Autologous and autogenous blood vessels (Chiu et al., 1988) and muscle fibers (Glasby, Gschmeissner, Hitchcock, & Huang, 1986) have also been used as conduits for nerve regeneration with different success rates; however, they present the same disadvantages as auto- and allografts (Doolabh, Hertl, & Mackinnon, 1996). In 1993, Brunelli et al. described a new biological conduit represented by a vein segment filled with fresh skeletal muscle (Brunelli, Battiston, Vigasio, Brunelli, & Marocolo, 1993). Both the vein and the skeletal muscle of this autologous graft are withdrawn in the site of surgery and are sutured to bridge the two stumps of a severed nerve. The clinical use of this autologous device led to good results in terms of motor and sensory recovery in 85% of patients in which it was applied (Battiston, Tos, Cushway, & Geuna, 2000).

Instead of autografts, artificial nerve guidance channels (NGCs) may be used to enhance regeneration avoiding availability and immune rejection problems (Kehoe, Zhang, & Boyd, 2012; Steed et al., 2011). The basic designs are hollow tubes in which the proximal and distal stumps of the injured nerve are inserted. More recently, research has been focused mainly on improving the single lumen nerve tube to bridge larger nerve gaps (de Ruiter, Malessy, Yaszemski, Windebank, & Spinner, 2009; de Ruiter, Spinner, Yaszemski, Windebank, & Malessy, 2009). The artificial conduit may be implanted empty, or it may be filled with collagen and laminin-containing gels (Labrador, Buti, & Navarro, 1998; Madison, Da Silva, & Dikkes, 1988; Verdu et al., 2002), internal frameworks (de Ruiter, Spinner, et al., 2009; Francel, Francel, Mackinnon, & Hertl, 1997; Lundborg & Kanje, 1996; Meek et al., 2001; Nakamura et al., 2004; Yoshii & Oka, 2001; Yoshii, Oka, Shima, Taniguchi, & Akagi, 2003), supportive cells (Ansselin, Fink, & Davey, 1997; Evans et al., 2002; Guenard, Kleitman, Morrissey, Bunge, & Aebischer, 1992; Kim et al., 1994; Rodriguez, Verdu, Ceballos, & Navarro, 2000; Sinis et al., 2005), growth factors (Derby et al., 1993; Fine, Decosterd, Papaloizos, Zurn, & Aebischer, 2002; Hollowell, Villadiego, & Rich, 1990; Lee et al., 2003; Midha, Munro, Dalton, Tator, & Shoichet, 2003; Sterne, Brown, Green, & Terenghi, 1997), and

conductive polymers, but combinations have also been used already (Fig. 9.2). An artificial graft can meet many of the needs of regenerating fibers by concentrating neurotrophic factors, reducing cellular invasion, and providing directional neuritis outgrowth to prevent neuroma formation.

3.2. NRG1 isoform expression during nerve regeneration

SC dedifferentiation and proliferation are a precondition for axonal regeneration in the lesioned PNS (Carroll et al., 1997). The different NRG1 isoforms play an important role in this process, thanks to their ability to stimulate dedifferentiation, proliferation, and differentiation of SC *in vitro* (Stassart et al., 2013).

Many studies have examined the expression of the different NRG1 isoforms at various times following peripheral nerve injury. It has been reported that expression of NRG1-type I and -type II isoforms is induced after sciatic nerve transection (3–30 days post injury) and is strictly associated with SC, strengthening the idea that NRG1 acts not only by juxtacrine interactions, but also by autocrine/paracrine communication (Carroll et al., 1997; Ronchi et al., 2013; Stassart et al., 2013). Interestingly, these authors reported that NRG1-type II- β 3 expression in SC coincides with the DNA synthesis phase and this expression lasts in spite of markedly diminished SC mitogenesis, raising the question whether SC could regulate mitosis in the presence of persistent NRG1.

A rapid but transient activation of the NRG1 receptor ErbB2 in myelinating SC after sciatic nerve axotomy was detected (Guertin, Zhang, Mak, Alberta, & Kim, 2005). The authors defined the role of this activation using an ErbB2 antagonist so preventing, *in vivo*, SC response to axotomy and, *in vitro*, SC demyelination in neuron-SC co-cultures. Two days post nerve injury, NRG1 receptors are strongly down-regulated (Ronchi et al., 2013); 4–5 days post nerve injury, when Wallerian degeneration and demyelination occur, ErbB2 is expressed and activated (Carroll et al., 1997; Kwon et al., 1997). An earlier increase, at 3 days post injury, is observed for Erbin, an ErbB2 interacting protein whose expression is required for remyelination (Liang et al., 2012).

Indeed, the heterodimer receptor ErbB2–ErbB3 is coordinately induced in axotomized nerve SC, suggesting that the density of functional NRG1 receptors may modulate NRG1 activity during the process of peripheral nerve Wallerian degeneration.

These results are in accordance with a previous study (Li, Terenghi, & Hall, 1997) in which chronically denervated SC were missing ErbB2.

It was proposed that the lack of ErbB2 renders SC chronically insensitive to axonal-derived NRG1, so contributing to the failure of axonal regeneration through chronically denervated distal nerve stumps.

Neuronal NRG1-type III, as previously discussed, plays an important role in myelination and nerve regeneration. This isoform is anchored to the axonal surface and directly communicates with adjacent glial cells. Recent studies have confirmed the actual importance of the axon-derived NRG1 in nerve regeneration (Fricker et al., 2011). Through single-neuron labeling-by means of inducible Cre-mediated knock-out mice (Young et al., 2008)-it was demonstrated that juxtacrine NRG1 signaling is not essential for maintenance of the myelin sheath and neuromuscular junctions, but it is necessary for the reparative response after nerve injury, including remyelination, axon regeneration, and reinnervation of the neuromuscular junctions.

The NRG1 importance in the nerve regenerative process and in remyelination is more relevant when the functional outcome of non nervous nerve grafts is analyzed. The analysis of a successful graft represented by a fresh muscle-vein-combined conduit (Geuna et al., 2007; Nicolino et al., 2003; Tos et al., 2007) revealed that SC, in supporting axonal regeneration, very early and massively colonize the tubular graft migrating from both the proximal and the distal nerve stumps (Fornaro, Tos, Geuna, Giacobini-Robecchi, & Battiston, 2001; Raimondo et al., 2005). SC graft colonization is not only supported by migration from the nerve stumps, but also by active SC proliferation accompanied by NRG1 upregulation (Geuna et al., 2003). mRNA expression analysis of the early events occurring in this nonnervous tube placed to bridge a peripheral nerve gap has highlighted NRG1 $\alpha 2$ isoform-released by the muscle used to fill the tube-as suitable candidate to promote SC survival and activity in early postoperative phases, when regenerating axons are still not present. It has been proposed that this molecule may promote SC survival and differentiation rather than proliferation (Raabe, Clive, Neuberger, Wen, & DeVries, 1996). These results suggest that NRG1 $\alpha 2$ isoform plays a role in supporting early SC survival and activity in the absence of axons and provides a possible explanation for the observed effectiveness of the fresh muscle-vein-combined technique for nerve repair.

3.3. Biomaterials and delivery system

As discussed previously, several studies demonstrated that endogenous NRG1 is required for nerve repair, suggesting that the treatment with recombinant NRG1 could improve peripheral nerve regeneration and functional outcome following injury. Different strategies have been used

to deliver NRG1: subcutaneous injection, protein release by biomaterials, transplantation of NRG1 expressing cells, and injection of adenoviruses coding for NRG1 (Table 9.2).

3.3.1 NRG1 subcutaneous injection

Treatment with 1 mg/kg NRG1-II- β 3 (recombinant human glial growth factor 2) via subcutaneous injection promotes nerve regeneration and accelerates functional recovery after rat sciatic nerve injury (Chen et al., 1998). Histological assessment shows less severe degeneration and earlier robust axon remyelination, with improvement in axon diameter and myelin thickness, in the treated group. Epinerium injection with 500 ng "GGF" (heuregulin α , Sigma Aldrich) after rabbit facial nerve anastomosis results in high SC and glial cell proliferation and in better nerve regeneration (Yildiz et al., 2011).

3.3.2 NRG1 release by biomaterials

The most promising approach for growth factor delivery to the site of nerve injury is to load growth factors directly into the conduit (Simon, Terenghi, Green, & Coulton, 2000; Sterne et al., 1997; Whitworth, Dore, Green, & Terenghi, 1995). Alginate hydrogel provides a sustained and controlled release of neurotrophic factors in vitro and in vivo (Austin, Bower, Kurek, & Muldoon, 1997; Ko, Dixit, Shaw, & Gitnick, 1995) and freeze-dried alginate supports axonal regeneration across 50-mm gap in the cat sciatic nerve (Suzuki et al., 1999). Moreover, coating of alginate hydrogel with fibronectin supports SC viability and neuronal regeneration (Mosahebi, Wiberg, & Terenghi, 2003). An ultrapure endotoxin-free lowviscosity alginate with high manuronic content was used for recombinant NRG-1-type II- β 3 (human GGF2, CeNes Pharmaceutical, USA) delivery in a poly 3-hydroxybutyrate (PHB) polymer conduit to repair 20 and 40 mm gaps in rabbit common peroneal nerve (Mohanna et al., 2003). The same authors demonstrated that NRG-1-type II- β 3 addition significantly increased SC quantity, sustained axonal regeneration over short and long gaps in comparison with empty and alginate conduits, and improved target muscle reinnervation (Mohanna et al., 2005).

Nerve conduits can be produced to have characteristics as similar as possible to the native nerve, by combining growth factors, aligned extracellular matrix and biomaterial filaments, improving the nerve conduit performance, and ensuring better functional recovery after *in vivo* transplantation. *In vitro* oriented collagen and a combination of differentiation factors (NGF,

Table 9.2 Different strategies to deliver NRG1

Gap

NRG1 isoform	Dose	Treatment/Nerve tube	Animal	Nerve	Injury	size (mm)	Methods	Controls	Follow up	Outcome	References
NRG1 subcuta	neus injection										
II-β3 soluble (GGF2, recombinant human glial growth factor 2)	1 mg kg^{-1}	Subcutaneous injection 1 day before surgery and daily for the following 4 days	Rat	Sciatic nerve	Crush injury	5	Motor functional test, muscle contractility test and histological examination	Injection equivalent volume of saline	49 days	Nerve function recovery at 11 days postsurgery, stronger isometric tetanic contractile force 11–21 days postsurgery. Less severe degeneration and earlier remyelination	Chen et al. (1998)
α (Heregulin-α, by Sigma Aldrich)	500 ng	Epineurin injection at time of surgery, 24 and 48 h postsurgery	Female New Zeland rabbit	Facial nerve	Anastomosis	1	Electron microscopy	No medication with NRG1	2 months	Increased regeneration, new axons and myelin formation, higher SC proliferation, lower number of myelin debris	Yildiz et al. (2011)
NRG1 release	by biomaterials										
II-β3 soluble (recombinant human GGF2, by CeNes Pharmaceutical)	1.250 mg ml^{-1}	Poly 3-hydroxybutyrate (PHB) conduits filled with GGF suspended in alginate hydrogel	Female New Zeland rabbit	Common peroneal nerve	Nerve transection	20 and 40	Immunohistochemisty	PHB conduits filled with alginate hydrogel and empty PHB conduits	63 days	SC number and axonal regeneration increased. 20 and 40 mm gaps bridged by axons after 63 days	Mohanna, Young, Wiberg, and Terenghi (2003)
β1a soluble (EGF-like domain, human heuregulin β1, by R&D system)	800 ng	Silicone conduits filled with matrigel containing poly-L- lactic acid (PLLA) microfilaments containing heuregulin-β1	Female Sprague Dawley rats	Sciatic nerve	Nerve transection	14	Immunohistochemistry	Silicone conduits filled with matrigel containing poly-L- lactic acid (PLLA) microfilaments	10 weeks	Extensive regeneration with improvement of the number and longitudinal organization of SC and axons	Cai et al. (2004)
II-β3 soluble (recombinant human GGF2, by CeNes Pharmaceutical)	1.250 mg ml^{-1}	Poly 3-hydroxybutyrate (PHB) conduits filled with GGF suspended in alginate hydrogel	Female New Zeland rabbit	Common peroneal nerve	Nerve transection	20 and 40	Immunohistochemisty, histological examination, electron microscopy and motor reinneravtion evaluation	PHB conduits filled with alginate hydrogel and empty PHB conduits	120 days	SC number and axonal regeneration increased. Reduction of muscle mass percentage loss	Mohanna, Terenghi, and Wiberg (2005)

Continued

Table 9.2 Different strategies to deliver NRG1-cont'd

size NRG1 isoform Dose Treatment/Nerve tube Animal Nerve Injury (mm) Methods Controls Follow up Outcome References Transplantation of NRG1 expressing cells 15×10^7 cells/ Polv 10 Tohill. II-β3 soluble Sprague Sciatic Nerve Immunohistochemistry Polv 15 days Following (recombinant animal 3-hydroxybutyrate Dawley 3-hydroxybutyrate transplantation, MSC Mantovani, nerve transection human GGF2. (PHB) conduits filled rats (PHB) conduits mantain S100 expression Wiberg, and with PHB fibers and by CeNes filled withPHB and enhance nerve Terenghi Pharmaceutical) differentiated marrow fibers and SC regeneration (2004)stromal cell (MSC) 5×10^{5} ? Injection of Male Spinal Hemisection 20 Immunohistochemistry DMEM and 8 weeks Increased spinal cord Zhang. cells/animal differentiated SC. and cord spinal cord and Basso. Beattie DMEM containing injury repair. Increased Zhao, Wu, trasfected with female Bresnahan locomotor proliferation of glial cells (CNS) injury model SC injection Li, and Jin pcDNA3.1-NRG1 Wistar rating score (BBB) and protection of (2010)neurons from apoptosis rats 3×10^{5} Injection of Hemisection / Reduced size of cystic Zhang et al. ? Male Spinal Immunohistochemistry SC injection 4 weeks differentiated SC cells/animal and cord spinal cord and Basso, Beattie cavities; increased axonal (2011)trasfected with (CNS) injury model Bresnahan locomotor regeneration and hind female pcDNA3.1-NRG1 Wistar rating score (BBB) limb functional recovery rats 1×10^{6} ? Silicon tube filled 10 2 weeks Increased SC migration Wistar Sciatic Nerve Immunohistochemistry Silicon tube filled Suganuma cells/tube with a mixture of type rats transection with saline solution and proliferation, and et al. (2013) nerve I collagen gel and or type I collagen axons regrowth. ADCR adipose-derived express high NRG1 gel regenerative cells (Neu-1) level (ADRC) Injection of NRG1 coding adenoviruses β soluble (EGF- 2 μ l 1 × 10¹¹ Injection of Male Sciatic / Immunohistochemistry Augmented expression Joung et al. Nerve Injection of 5 weeks $PFU ml^{-1}$ of neurofilaments. like domain) recombinant Sprague nerve transection and motor function test recombinant (2010)adenovirus coding for Dawley adenovirus-LacZ GAP43 and S100 in the EGF-like domain of distal stump of the injury rats or saline injection NRG1-β site; increased length of regenerated axons, recovery of sensory and motor function

Gap

NRG-1, and TGF- β) induce SC alignment (Ribeiro-Resende, Koenig, Nichterwitz, Oberhoffner, & Schlosshauer, 2009). TGF-B stimulates $\alpha 1 \alpha \beta 1$ and $\alpha 6 \beta 1$ integrin expression and affects cell polarity (Rogister et al., 1993; Stewart, Turner, Jessen, & Mirsky, 1997); NRG1 increases N-cadherin expression (Gess et al., 2008); at low concentration NRG1 accelerates SC migration (Meintanis, Thomaidou, Jessen, Mirsky, & Matsas, 2001), at high concentration increases proliferation via activation and phosphorylation of the ErbB2/ErbB3 receptor (Porter, Clark, Glaser, & Bunge, 1986; Rosenbaum et al., 1997). Poly-E-caprolacton filaments induce pronounced SC alignment with a polarized expression of the cell adhesion molecule L1 similar to that seen in vivo in bands of Büngner after sciatic nerve crush in adult rats (Ribeiro-Resende et al., 2009). Integration of bioengineered bands of Büngner-which would guide axonal regrowth-and growth factors for the development of innovative nerve guide implants may be a promising strategy to facilitate and accelerate axonal regeneration.

Silicone implants containing matrigel, poly-L-lactic acid microfilaments, and NRG1-type I- β 1 (human heuregulin- β 1 by R&D systems) have been used to bridge a 14-mm gap in adult rats (Cai, Peng, Nelson, Eberhart, & Smith, 2004). Microfilaments provide organized guidance channels that direct SC migration, and enhance cable formation and axonal regeneration longitudinally across nerve stumps (Lundborg & Kanje, 1996; Ngo et al., 2003; Zhao, Lundborg, Danielsen, Bjursten, & Dahlin, 1997). NRG1 treatment caused an increase in SC number by inducing proliferation by an autocrine mechanism (Carroll et al., 1997). Application of a low dose of NRG1 promotes SC migration and trophic factor release that support neuronal survival and regeneration (Mahanthappa, Anton, & Matthew, 1996). Implants containing NRG1 and microfilaments act synergistically inducing a significant improvement in the number and longitudinal organization of both SC and axons, leading to axonal regeneration and nerve repair (Cai et al., 2004).

3.3.3 Transplantation of NRG1 expressing cells

The transplantation of cultured cells, transfected to express growth factors, into bioengineered conduits, may be used to improve nerve regeneration. Due to their role in peripheral nerve regeneration, SC may be used as a tool to deliver growth factors. Adult stem cells from adipose tissue or bone marrow can be differentiated into a SC-like phenotype and used as SC replacements (Faroni et al., 2011). Transplantation of cultured SC (Magnaghi,

Procacci, & Tata, 2009; Mosahebi, Woodward, Wiberg, Martin, & Terenghi, 2001), bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells (MSC) (Tohill et al., 2004), and adipose-derived regenerative cells (ADRC) (Suganuma et al., 2013) has been used to promote peripheral nerve regeneration.

In vitro, MSC exposed to NRG-1-type II- β 3 (human GGF2, CeNes Pharmaceutical, USA) expresses s100 and glial fibrillary acidic protein (Tohill et al., 2004). Following transplantation into 10-mm nerve conduits in the rat sciatic nerve, MSC maintained s100 expression and promoted nerve regeneration (Tohill et al., 2004).

ADRC in combination with type I collagen gel have been used to bridge 10-mm sciatic nerve gaps in Wistar rats (Suganuma et al., 2013). ADRC promote peripheral nerve regeneration not by differentiating into SC, but-probably-by secreting NRG1 and VEGFA factors that promote proliferation and migration of SC (Suganuma et al., 2013).

These data suggest that NRG1 stimulates the proliferation of glial cells, inhibits apoptosis, and facilitates repair and regeneration of injured nerves in the PNS.

NRG1 has been successfully used in combination with different kinds of supportive cells, also to repair spinal cord injury. SC transfected to express high levels of NRG1 (of a nonspecified isoform) have been implanted into rats with hemisection spinal cord injury (Zhang et al., 2010). Transfected SC secreted a large amount of NRG1 both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, which results-*in vivo*-in ErbB2–ErbB4 upregulation in neurons and neuroglia cells. After transplantation, cells survived and migrated into the spinal cord injured areas. Significant recovery of hemisection spinal cord injury was observed in the group of rats implanted with transfected SC expressing NRG1. These results suggest that SC expressing NRG1 can significantly improve the repair of spinal cord injury by up-regulating ErbB receptor expression in the target cells, increasing proliferation of glial cells, and protecting neurons from apoptosis (Zhang et al., 2010).

Co-transplantation of MSC with transfected SC expressing NRG1 (of a nonspecified isoform) into a rat model of spinal cord hemisection injuries reduced the size of cystic cavities and promoted axonal regeneration and hind limb functional recovery in comparison with SC or MSC transplantation alone or together (Zhang et al., 2011). This treatment could provide important insights into potential therapies of spinal cord hemisection injuries to improve functional recovery. Delivery of NRG1 with transfected supportive cells may be a promising strategy for the repair of both spinal cord and peripheral nerve.

3.3.4 Injection of NRG1 coding viruses

Gene therapy, using adeno-associated viral vectors (Kaplitt et al., 1994) and LV vectors (Naldini et al., 1996), may be a promising strategy to promote peripheral nerve regeneration (Hoyng, Tannemaat, De Winter, Verhaagen, & Malessy, 2011).

Recombinant adenoviruses have been used to express NRG1 to improve axonal regeneration in the injured PNS (Joung et al., 2010). Rats, injected into both proximal and distal stumps of the sciatic nerve with a recombinant adenovirus expressing the β -EGF-like domain of NRG1-type I, display an augmented expression of neurofilaments, GAP43 and S100 in the distal stump of the injury site and an increased length of regenerating axons leading to sensory and motor functions improvement (Joung et al., 2010). These results suggest a therapeutic potential for β -EGF-like domain of NRG1 in the treatment of peripheral nerve injury.

4. CONCLUSIONS

When a peripheral nerve is severely injured, the use of an artificial conduit becomes necessary if the nerve gap is too long to be directly sutured, as an alternative to the autograft that gives good results but has some clinical drawbacks. It has been shown that SC of the nerve autograft and the muscle of the muscle-vein conduit release soluble NRG1 which contributes to the effectiveness of these approaches (Nicolino et al., 2003). The aim of this review is to get a clear view of the role played by NRG1 during peripheral nerve regeneration, to identify the right isoform to be delivered to the injured nerve by grafted artificial NGCs.

NRG1-type III could be the candidate with the therapeutic potential to improve nerve repair: literature data demonstrate that axonal transmembrane NRG1 is required for remyelination and regeneration after nerve injury, while it is dispensable for myelin maintenance (Fricker & Bennett, 2011; Fricker et al., 2011). However, exogenous axonal transmembrane expression implies the use of viruses that present some problems and risks (toxicity, immune and inflammatory responses, gene control, and targeting issues).

An alternative strategy to increase the amount of NRG1-type III suitable to stimulate myelination is the inhibition of those α -secretases (e.g., TACE/ ADAM17 and ADAM10), whose activity negatively interferes with NRG1, impairing myelination. Several TACE inhibitors have been developed for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis and other inflammatory disorders (Bahia & Silakari, 2010; DasGupta, Murumkar, Giridhar, & Yadav, 2009), because tumor necrosis factor alpha is one of the most common proinflammatory cytokines involved in rheumatoid arthritis and in other autoimmune diseases. However, most of them have broad spectrum inhibitory activity for other matrix metalloproteases involved in other processes and are not suitable candidates for clinical trials.

Several authors demonstrated that different soluble isoforms of NRG1 (including a type III isoform provided as "soluble" recombinant protein) can improve remyelination after peripheral nerve injury (Tables 9.1 and 9.2), with an activity that is concentration- and isoform-dependent (Syed et al., 2010). They demonstrated that soluble type III isoforms have promyelinating activity in a broad concentration range, while type II isoforms have promyelinating activity when supplied at very low concentration, below the threshold that stimulates ERK activation. Therefore, soluble NRG1 could be the candidate with the therapeutic potential to improve nerve repair (Syed & Kim, 2010).

However, because the promyelinating activity of NRG1 seems to depend also on the exons which are downstream the EGF-like domain (α , β , γ , 1, 3, 4, a, b, c, ...), it is important to understand which isoforms have been used by the different authors. Nevertheless, in many papers it is really difficult to find this information, because the authors call it "NRG1" or use the old nomenclature.

One of these soluble isoforms, type II- β 3 (often called GGF2), has recently completed the Phase 1 of a clinical trial in patients with heart failure: Acorda Therapeutics is conducting a clinical program for GGF2 in heart failure, and preclinical development to treat peripheral nerve injury and stroke. Other groups performed a Phase II clinical trial to study the efficacy and the safety of recombinant human NRG1 in patients with chronic heart failure (Gao et al., 2010).

It has been shown that after damage to peripheral nerve, the injured nerve reacts with a peak of production of soluble NRG1-type I/II (Carroll et al., 1997; Ronchi et al., 2013; Stassart et al., 2013), ERK and AKT pathway activation (Harrisingh et al., 2004; Napoli et al., 2012; Sheu, Kulhanek, & Eckenstein, 2000)-that *in vitro* can be activated either by soluble NRG1 (Syed et al., 2010) either by other factors-SC dedifferentiation and proliferation. Subsequently, NRG1-type I/II level decreases, ERK pathway is switched off, and SC remyelinate axons expressing transmembrane NRG1-type III.

These data suggest that soluble NRG1-type I/II could be the candidate to improve nerve repair when there is a large lesion and endogenous SCs are

not enough to produce an adequate amount of NRG1. Therefore, when designing tissue engineered medical devices to bridge large gap injuries and deliver NRG1, it is essential to get an early release of highly concentrated soluble NRG1 to stimulate ERK pathways and SC dedifferentiation, followed by a late release of NRG1 at low concentration to stimulate AKT activation and remyelination.

In addition to NRG1, other molecules are certainly involved in the regeneration process (Pereira et al., 2012; Taveggia et al., 2010); it is expected that the regenerative research will go toward the concomitant use of different factors, to obtain synergistic effects and better outcome.

After the submission of this review, two papers related to NRG1 role in myelination were published.

In the first (Fricker et al., 2013) NRG1 was ablated in the adult nervous system using a tamoxifen inducible Cre ricombinase, demonstrating that axonal NRG1 promotes nerve repair after injury, but at later stages of repair it is not essential for remyelination.

In the second paper (Fleck et al., 2013) the authors demonstrated that the EGF-like domain of NRG1 type III can be proteolytically processed at both N- and C-terminal sites, which results in the secretion of the domain, suggesting that NRG1 type III dependent myelination could be not only controlled in a juxtacrine manner by membrane-bound NRG1, but also in a paracrine manner by the soluble EGF-like domain.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We apologize for any omissions in citing other relevant publications, because of space limitations.

We sincerely thank Silvia Grifoni, for drawing Figs. 9.1 and 9.2. The research leading to this paper has received funding from the European Community's Seventh Framework Programme (FP7-HEALTH-2011) under grant agreement no. 278612 (BIOHYBRID), from MIUR and from Compagnia di San Paolo (MOVAG).

REFERENCES

- Ansselin, A. D., Fink, T., & Davey, D. F. (1997). Peripheral nerve regeneration through nerve guides seeded with adult Schwann cells. *Neuropathology and Applied Neurobiology*, 23(5), 387–398.
- Austin, L., Bower, J. J., Kurek, J. B., & Muldoon, C. M. (1997). Controlled release of leukaemia inhibitory factor (LIF) to tissues. *Growth Factors*, 15(1), 61–68.
- Bahia, M. S., & Silakari, O. (2010). Tumor necrosis factor alpha converting enzyme: An encouraging target for various inflammatory disorders. *Chemical Biology and Drug Design*, 75(5), 415–443.
- Bao, J., Lin, H., Ouyang, Y., Lei, D., Osman, A., Kim, T. W., et al. (2004). Activitydependent transcription regulation of PSD-95 by neuregulin-1 and Eos. *Nature Neuro-science*, 7(11), 1250–1258.
- Bao, J., Wolpowitz, D., Role, L. W., & Talmage, D. A. (2003). Back signaling by the Nrg-1 intracellular domain. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 161(6), 1133–1141.
- Battiston, B., Tos, P., Cushway, T. R., & Geuna, S. (2000). Nerve repair by means of vein filled with muscle grafts I. Clinical results. *Microsurgery*, 20(1), 32–36.
- Brunelli, G. A., Battiston, B., Vigasio, A., Brunelli, G., & Marocolo, D. (1993). Bridging nerve defects with combined skeletal muscle and vein conduits. *Microsurgery*, 14(4), 247–251.
- Cabedo, H., Luna, C., Fernandez, A. M., Gallar, J., & Ferrer-Montiel, A. (2002). Molecular determinants of the sensory and motor neuron-derived factor insertion into plasma membrane. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(22), 19905–19912.
- Cai, J., Peng, X., Nelson, K. D., Eberhart, R., & Smith, G. M. (2004). Synergistic improvements in cell and axonal migration across sciatic nerve lesion gaps using bioresorbable filaments and heregulin-beta1. *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research, Part A*, 69(2), 247–258.
- Carroll, S. L., Miller, M. L., Frohnert, P. W., Kim, S. S., & Corbett, J. A. (1997). Expression of neuregulins and their putative receptors, ErbB2 and ErbB3, is induced during Wallerian degeneration. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 17(5), 1642–1659.
- Chen, L. E., Liu, K., Seaber, A. V., Katragadda, S., Kirk, C., & Urbaniak, J. R. (1998). Recombinant human glial growth factor 2 (rhGGF2) improves functional recovery of crushed peripheral nerve (a double-blind study). *Neurochemistry International*, 33(4), 341–351.
- Chiu, D. T., Lovelace, R. E., Yu, L. T., Wolff, M., Stengel, S., Middleton, L., et al. (1988). Comparative electrophysiologic evaluation of nerve grafts and autogenous vein grafts as nerve conduits: An experimental study. *Journal of Reconstructive Microsurgery*, 4(4), 303–309, 311–302.
- Chou, C. F., & Ozaki, M. (2010). In silico analysis of neuregulin 1 evolution in vertebrates. Bioscience Reports, 30(4), 267–275.
- DasGupta, S., Murumkar, P. R., Giridhar, R., & Yadav, M. R. (2009). Current perspective of TACE inhibitors: A review. *Bioorganic and Medicinal Chemistry*, 17(2), 444–459.
- de Ruiter, G. C., Malessy, M. J., Yaszemski, M. J., Windebank, A. J., & Spinner, R. J. (2009). Designing ideal conduits for peripheral nerve repair. *Neurosurgical Focus*, 26(2), E5.
- de Ruiter, G. C., Spinner, R. J., Yaszemski, M. J., Windebank, A. J., & Malessy, M. J. (2009). Nerve tubes for peripheral nerve repair. *Neurosurgery Clinics of North America*, 20(1), 91–105, vii.
- Derby, A., Engleman, V. W., Frierdich, G. E., Neises, G., Rapp, S. R., & Roufa, D. G. (1993). Nerve growth factor facilitates regeneration across nerve gaps: Morphological and behavioral studies in rat sciatic nerve. *Experimental Neurology*, 119(2), 176–191.
- Deumens, R., Bozkurt, A., Meek, M. F., Marcus, M. A., Joosten, E. A., Weis, J., et al. (2010). Repairing injured peripheral nerves: Bridging the gap. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 92(3), 245–276.
- Doolabh, V. B., Hertl, M. C., & Mackinnon, S. E. (1996). The role of conduits in nerve repair: A review. *Reviews in the Neurosciences*, 7(1), 47–84.
- Evans, G. R., Brandt, K., Katz, S., Chauvin, P., Otto, L., Bogle, M., et al. (2002). Bioactive poly(L-lactic acid) conduits seeded with Schwann cells for peripheral nerve regeneration. *Biomaterials*, 23(3), 841–848.
- Falls, D. L. (2003). Neuregulins and the neuromuscular system: 10 years of answers and questions. *Journal of Neurocytology*, 32(5–8), 619–647.
- Faroni, A., Mantovani, C., Shawcross, S. G., Motta, M., Terenghi, G., & Magnaghi, V. (2011). Schwann-like adult stem cells derived from bone marrow and adipose tissue

express gamma-aminobutyric acid type B receptors. Journal of Neuroscience Research, 89(9), 1351–1362.

- Fine, E. G., Decosterd, I., Papaloizos, M., Zurn, A. D., & Aebischer, P. (2002). GDNF and NGF released by synthetic guidance channels support sciatic nerve regeneration across a long gap. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 15(4), 589–601.
- Fleck, D., van Bebber, F., Colombo, A., Galante, C., Schwenk, B. M., Rabe, L., et al. (2013). Dual cleavage of neuregulin 1 type III by BACE1 and ADAM17 liberates its EGF-like domain and allows paracrine signaling. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 33(18), 7856–7869.
- Fornaro, M., Tos, P., Geuna, S., Giacobini-Robecchi, M. G., & Battiston, B. (2001). Confocal imaging of Schwann-cell migration along muscle-vein combined grafts used to bridge nerve defects in the rat. *Microsurgery*, 21(4), 153–155.
- Francel, P. C., Francel, T. J., Mackinnon, S. E., & Hertl, C. (1997). Enhancing nerve regeneration across a silicone tube conduit by using interposed short-segment nerve grafts. *Journal of Neurosurgery*, 87(6), 887–892.
- Fricker, F. R., & Bennett, D. L. (2011). The role of neuregulin-1 in the response to nerve injury. *Future Neurology*, 6(6), 809–822.
- Fricker, F. R., Lago, N., Balarajah, S., Tsantoulas, C., Tanna, S., Zhu, N., et al. (2011). Axonally derived neuregulin-1 is required for remyelination and regeneration after nerve injury in adulthood. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 31(9), 3225–3233.
- Fricker, F. R., Antunes-Martins, A., Galino, J., Paramsothy, R., La Russa, F., Perkins, J., et al. (2013). Axonal neuregulin 1 is a rate limiting but not essential factor for nerve remyelination. *Brain*, 136(Pt 7), 2279–2297.
- Gao, R., Zhang, J., Cheng, L., Wu, X., Dong, W., Yang, X., et al. (2010). A Phase II, randomized, double-blind, multicenter, based on standard therapy, placebo-controlled study of the efficacy and safety of recombinant human neuregulin-1 in patients with chronic heart failure. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 55(18), 1907–1914.
- Gess, B., Halfter, H., Kleffner, I., Monje, P., Athauda, G., Wood, P. M., et al. (2008). Inhibition of N-cadherin and beta-catenin function reduces axon-induced Schwann cell proliferation. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 86(4), 797–812.
- Geuna, S., Raimondo, S., Nicolino, S., Boux, E., Fornaro, M., Tos, P., et al. (2003). Schwann-cell proliferation in muscle-vein combined conduits for bridging rat sciatic nerve defects. *Journal of Reconstructive Microsurgery*, 19(2), 119–123, discussion 124.
- Geuna, S., Tos, P., Raimondo, S., Lee, J. M., Gambarotta, G., Nicolino, S., et al. (2007). Functional, morphological and biomolecular assessment of posttraumatic neuromuscular recovery in the rat forelimb model. *Acta Neurochirurgica. Supplement*, 100, 173–177.
- Glasby, M. A., Gschmeissner, S. G., Hitchcock, R. J., & Huang, C. L. (1986). The dependence of nerve regeneration through muscle grafts in the rat on the availability and orientation of basement membrane. *Journal of Neurocytology*, 15(4), 497–510.
- Gomez-Sanchez, J. A., Lopez de Armentia, M., Lujan, R., Kessaris, N., Richardson, W. D., & Cabedo, H. (2009). Sustained axon–glial signaling induces Schwann cell hyperproliferation, Remak bundle myelination, and tumorigenesis. *Journal* of *Neuroscience*, 29(36), 11304–11315.
- Guenard, V., Kleitman, N., Morrissey, T. K., Bunge, R. P., & Aebischer, P. (1992). Syngeneic Schwann cells derived from adult nerves seeded in semipermeable guidance channels enhance peripheral nerve regeneration. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 12(9), 3310–3320.
- Guertin, A. D., Zhang, D. P., Mak, K. S., Alberta, J. A., & Kim, H. A. (2005). Microanatomy of axon/glial signaling during Wallerian degeneration. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 25(13), 3478–3487.
- Harrisingh, M. C., Perez-Nadales, E., Parkinson, D. B., Malcolm, D. S., Mudge, A. W., & Lloyd, A. C. (2004). The Ras/Raf/ERK signalling pathway drives Schwann cell dedifferentiation. *EMBO Journal*, 23(15), 3061–3071.

- Hollowell, J. P., Villadiego, A., & Rich, K. M. (1990). Sciatic nerve regeneration across gaps within silicone chambers: Long-term effects of NGF and consideration of axonal branching. *Experimental Neurology*, 110(1), 45–51.
- Hoyng, S. A., Tannemaat, M. R., De Winter, F., Verhaagen, J., & Malessy, M. J. (2011). Nerve surgery and gene therapy: A neurobiological and clinical perspective. *Journal of Hand Surgery (European Volume)*, 36(9), 735–746.
- Hu, X., He, W., Diaconu, C., Tang, X., Kidd, G. J., Macklin, W. B., et al. (2008). Genetic deletion of BACE1 in mice affects remyelination of sciatic nerves. *FASEB Journal*, 22(8), 2970–2980.
- Hu, X., Hicks, C. W., He, W., Wong, P., Macklin, W. B., Trapp, B. D., et al. (2006). Bace1 modulates myelination in the central and peripheral nervous system. *Nature Neuroscience*, 9(12), 1520–1525.
- Ishii, A., Furusho, M., & Bansal, R. (2013). Sustained activation of ERK1/2 MAPK in oligodendrocytes and Schwann cells enhances myelin growth and stimulates oligodendrocyte progenitor expansion. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 33(1), 175–186.
- Joung, I., Yoo, M., Woo, J. H., Chang, C. Y., Heo, H., & Kwon, Y. K. (2010). Secretion of EGF-like domain of heregulinbeta promotes axonal growth and functional recovery of injured sciatic nerve. *Molecules and Cells*, 30(5), 477–484.
- Kandenwein, J. A., Kretschmer, T., Engelhardt, M., Richter, H. P., & Antoniadis, G. (2005). Surgical interventions for traumatic lesions of the brachial plexus: A retrospective study of 134 cases. *Journal of Neurosurgery*, 103(4), 614–621.
- Kaplitt, M. G., Leone, P., Samulski, R. J., Xiao, X., Pfaff, D. W., O'Malley, K. L., et al. (1994). Long-term gene expression and phenotypic correction using adeno-associated virus vectors in the mammalian brain. *Nature Genetics*, 8(2), 148–154.
- Kehoe, S., Zhang, X. F., & Boyd, D. (2012). FDA approved guidance conduits and wraps for peripheral nerve injury: A review of materials and efficacy. *Injury*, 43(5), 553–572.
- Kim, D. H., Connolly, S. E., Kline, D. G., Voorhies, R. M., Smith, A., Powell, M., et al. (1994). Labeled Schwann cell transplants versus sural nerve grafts in nerve repair. *Journal* of *Neurosurgery*, 80(2), 254–260.
- Ko, C., Dixit, V., Shaw, W., & Gitnick, G. (1995). In vitro slow release profile of endothelial cell growth factor immobilized within calcium alginate microbeads. *Artificial Cells, Blood Substitutes, and Immobilization Biotechnology*, 23(2), 143–151.
- Kwon, Y. K., Bhattacharyya, A., Alberta, J. A., Giannobile, W. V., Cheon, K., Stiles, C. D., et al. (1997). Activation of ErbB2 during wallerian degeneration of sciatic nerve. *Journal* of *Neuroscience*, 17(21), 8293–8299.
- La Marca, R., Cerri, F., Horiuchi, K., Bachi, A., Feltri, M. L., Wrabetz, L., et al. (2011). TACE (ADAM17) inhibits Schwann cell myelination. *Nature Neuroscience*, 14(7), 857–865.
- Labrador, R. O., Buti, M., & Navarro, X. (1998). Influence of collagen and laminin gels concentration on nerve regeneration after resection and tube repair. *Experimental Neurology*, 149(1), 243–252.
- Lee, A. C., Yu, V. M., Lowe, J. B., 3rd., Brenner, M. J., Hunter, D. A., Mackinnon, S. E., et al. (2003). Controlled release of nerve growth factor enhances sciatic nerve regeneration. *Experimental Neurology*, 184(1), 295–303.
- Li, H., Terenghi, G., & Hall, S. M. (1997). Effects of delayed re-innervation on the expression of c-erbB receptors by chronically denervated rat Schwann cells in vivo. *Glia*, 20(4), 333–347.
- Liang, C., Tao, Y., Shen, C., Tan, Z., Xiong, W. C., & Mei, L. (2012). Erbin is required for myelination in regenerated axons after injury. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 32(43), 15169–15180.
- Lundborg, G., & Kanje, M. (1996). Bioartificial nerve grafts. A prototype. Scandinavian Journal of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, 30(2), 105–110.

- Luo, X., Prior, M., He, W., Hu, X., Tang, X., Shen, W., et al. (2011). Cleavage of neuregulin-1 by BACE1 or ADAM10 protein produces differential effects on myelination. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 286(27), 23967–23974.
- Ma, Z., Wang, J., Song, F., & Loeb, J. A. (2011). Critical period of axoglial signaling between neuregulin-1 and brain-derived neurotrophic factor required for early Schwann cell survival and differentiation. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 31(26), 9630–9640.
- Mackinnon, S. E., & Dellon, A. L. (1990). Clinical nerve reconstruction with a bioabsorbable polyglycolic acid tube. *Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery*, 85(3), 419–424.
- Madison, R. D., Da Silva, C. F., & Dikkes, P. (1988). Entubulation repair with protein additives increases the maximum nerve gap distance successfully bridged with tubular prostheses. *Brain Research*, 447(2), 325–334.
- Magnaghi, V., Procacci, P., & Tata, A. M. (2009). Chapter 15: Novel pharmacological approaches to Schwann cells as neuroprotective agents for peripheral nerve regeneration. *International Review of Neurobiology*, 87, 295–315.
- Mahanthappa, N. K., Anton, E. S., & Matthew, W. D. (1996). Glial growth factor 2, a soluble neuregulin, directly increases Schwann cell motility and indirectly promotes neurite outgrowth. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 16(15), 4673–4683.
- Marchionni, M. A., Goodearl, A. D., Chen, M. S., Bermingham-McDonogh, O., Kirk, C., Hendricks, M., et al. (1993). Glial growth factors are alternatively spliced erbB2 ligands expressed in the nervous system. *Nature*, 362(6418), 312–318.
- Meek, M. F., Robinson, P. H., Stokroos, I., Blaauw, E. H., Kors, G., & den Dunnen, W. F. (2001). Electronmicroscopical evaluation of short-term nerve regeneration through a thin-walled biodegradable poly(DLLA-epsilon-CL) nerve guide filled with modified denatured muscle tissue. *Biomaterials*, 22(10), 1177–1185.
- Mei, L., & Xiong, W. C. (2008). Neuregulin 1 in neural development, synaptic plasticity and schizophrenia. Nature Review Neuroscience, 9(6), 437–452.
- Meintanis, S., Thomaidou, D., Jessen, K. R., Mirsky, R., & Matsas, R. (2001). The neuronglia signal beta-neuregulin promotes Schwann cell motility via the MAPK pathway. *Glia*, 34(1), 39–51.
- Meyer, D., Yamaai, T., Garratt, A., Riethmacher-Sonnenberg, E., Kane, D., Theill, L. E., et al. (1997). Isoform-specific expression and function of neuregulin. *Development*, 124(18), 3575–3586.
- Michailov, G. V., Sereda, M. W., Brinkmann, B. G., Fischer, T. M., Haug, B., Birchmeier, C., et al. (2004). Axonal neuregulin-1 regulates myelin sheath thickness. *Science*, 304(5671), 700–703.
- Midha, R., Munro, C. A., Dalton, P. D., Tator, C. H., & Shoichet, M. S. (2003). Growth factor enhancement of peripheral nerve regeneration through a novel synthetic hydrogel tube. *Journal of Neurosurgery*, 99(3), 555–565.
- Mohanna, P. N., Terenghi, G., & Wiberg, M. (2005). Composite PHB-GGF conduit for long nerve gap repair: A long-term evaluation. *Scandinavian Journal of Plastic and Recon*structive Surgery, 39(3), 129–137.
- Mohanna, P. N., Young, R. C., Wiberg, M., & Terenghi, G. (2003). A composite poly-hydroxybutyrate-glial growth factor conduit for long nerve gap repairs. *Journal of Anatomy*, 203(6), 553–565.
- Morris, J. K., Lin, W., Hauser, C., Marchuk, Y., Getman, D., & Lee, K. F. (1999). Rescue of the cardiac defect in ErbB2 mutant mice reveals essential roles of ErbB2 in peripheral nervous system development. *Neuron*, 23(2), 273–283.
- Mosahebi, A., Wiberg, M., & Terenghi, G. (2003). Addition of fibronectin to alginate matrix improves peripheral nerve regeneration in tissue-engineered conduits. *Tissue Engineering*, 9(2), 209–218.

- Mosahebi, A., Woodward, B., Wiberg, M., Martin, R., & Terenghi, G. (2001). Retroviral labeling of Schwann cells: In vitro characterization and in vivo transplantation to improve peripheral nerve regeneration. *Glia*, 34(1), 8–17.
- Nakamura, T., Inada, Y., Fukuda, S., Yoshitani, M., Nakada, A., Itoi, S., et al. (2004). Experimental study on the regeneration of peripheral nerve gaps through a polyglycolic acidcollagen (PGA-collagen) tube. *Brain Research*, 1027(1–2), 18–29.
- Naldini, L., Blomer, U., Gallay, P., Ory, D., Mulligan, R., Gage, F. H., et al. (1996). In vivo gene delivery and stable transduction of nondividing cells by a lentiviral vector. *Science*, 272(5259), 263–267.
- Napoli, I., Noon, L. A., Ribeiro, S., Kerai, A. P., Parrinello, S., Rosenberg, L. H., et al. (2012). A central role for the ERK-signaling pathway in controlling Schwann cell plasticity and peripheral nerve regeneration in vivo. *Neuron*, 73(4), 729–742.
- Nave, K. A., & Salzer, J. L. (2006). Axonal regulation of myelination by neuregulin 1. Current Opinion in Neurobiology, 16(5), 492–500.
- Ngo, T. T., Waggoner, P. J., Romero, A. A., Nelson, K. D., Eberhart, R. C., & Smith, G. M. (2003). Poly(L-lactide) microfilaments enhance peripheral nerve regeneration across extended nerve lesions. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 72(2), 227–238.
- Nicolino, S., Raimondo, S., Tos, P., Battiston, B., Fornaro, M., Geuna, S., et al. (2003). Expression of alpha2a–2b neuregulin-1 is associated with early peripheral nerve repair along muscle-enriched tubes. *Neuroreport*, 14(11), 1541–1545.
- Pereira, J. A., Lebrun-Julien, F., & Suter, U. (2012). Molecular mechanisms regulating myelination in the peripheral nervous system. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 35(2), 123–134.
- Porter, S., Clark, M. B., Glaser, L., & Bunge, R. P. (1986). Schwann cells stimulated to proliferate in the absence of neurons retain full functional capability. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 6(10), 3070–3078.
- Raabe, T. D., Clive, D. R., Neuberger, T. J., Wen, D., & DeVries, G. H. (1996). Cultured neonatal Schwann cells contain and secrete neuregulins. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 46(2), 263–270.
- Raimondo, S., Nicolino, S., Tos, P., Battiston, B., Giacobini-Robecchi, M. G., Perroteau, I., et al. (2005). Schwann cell behavior after nerve repair by means of tissue-engineered muscle-vein combined guides. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 489(2), 249–259.
- Ribeiro-Resende, V. T., Koenig, B., Nichterwitz, S., Oberhoffner, S., & Schlosshauer, B. (2009). Strategies for inducing the formation of bands of Bungner in peripheral nerve regeneration. *Biomaterials*, 30(29), 5251–5259.
- Riethmacher, D., Sonnenberg-Riethmacher, E., Brinkmann, V., Yamaai, T., Lewin, G. R., & Birchmeier, C. (1997). Severe neuropathies in mice with targeted mutations in the ErbB3 receptor. *Nature*, 389(6652), 725–730.
- Rodriguez, F. J., Verdu, E., Ceballos, D., & Navarro, X. (2000). Nerve guides seeded with autologous schwann cells improve nerve regeneration. *Experimental Neurology*, 161(2), 571–584.
- Rogister, B., Delree, P., Leprince, P., Martin, D., Sadzot, C., Malgrange, B., et al. (1993). Transforming growth factor beta as a neuronoglial signal during peripheral nervous system response to injury. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 34(1), 32–43.
- Ronchi, G., Gambarotta, G., Di Scipio, F., Salamone, P., Sprio, A. E., Cavallo, F., et al. (2013). ErbB2 receptor over-expression improves post-traumatic peripheral nerve regeneration in adult mice. *PLoS One*, 8(2), e56282.
- Rosenbaum, C., Karyala, S., Marchionni, M. A., Kim, H. A., Krasnoselsky, A. L., Happel, B., et al. (1997). Schwann cells express NDF and SMDF/n-ARIA mRNAs, secrete neuregulin, and show constitutive activation of erbB3 receptors: Evidence for a neuregulin autocrine loop. *Experimental Neurology*, 148(2), 604–615.
- Salzer, J. L. (2012). Axonal regulation of Schwann cell ensheathment and myelination. *Journal of the Peripheral Nervous System*, 17(Suppl. 3), 14–19.

- Sheu, J. Y., Kulhanek, D. J., & Eckenstein, F. P. (2000). Differential patterns of ERK and STAT3 phosphorylation after sciatic nerve transection in the rat. *Experimental Neurology*, 166(2), 392–402.
- Siemionow, M., & Brzezicki, G. (2009). Chapter 8: Current techniques and concepts in peripheral nerve repair. *International Review of Neurobiology*, 87, 141–172.
- Simon, M., Terenghi, G., Green, C. J., & Coulton, G. R. (2000). Differential effects of NT-3 on reinnervation of the fast extensor digitorum longus (EDL) and the slow soleus muscle of rat. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 12(3), 863–871.
- Sinis, N., Schaller, H. E., Schulte-Eversum, C., Schlosshauer, B., Doser, M., Dietz, K., et al. (2005). Nerve regeneration across a 2-cm gap in the rat median nerve using a resorbable nerve conduit filled with Schwann cells. *Journal of Neurosurgery*, 103(6), 1067–1076.
- Stassart, R. M., Fledrich, R., Velanac, V., Brinkmann, B. G., Schwab, M. H., Meijer, D., et al. (2013). A role for Schwann cell-derived neuregulin-1 in remyelination. *Nature Neuroscience*, 16(1), 48–54.
- Steed, M. B., Mukhatyar, V., Valmikinathan, C., & Bellamkonda, R. V. (2011). Advances in bioengineered conduits for peripheral nerve regeneration. *Atlas of the Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery Clinics of North America*, 19(1), 119–130.
- Sterne, G. D., Brown, R. A., Green, C. J., & Terenghi, G. (1997). Neurotrophin-3 delivered locally via fibronectin mats enhances peripheral nerve regeneration. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 9(7), 1388–1396.
- Stewart, H. J., Turner, D., Jessen, K. R., & Mirsky, R. (1997). Expression and regulation of alpha1beta1 integrin in Schwann cells. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 33(7), 914–928.
- Suganuma, S., Tada, K., Hayashi, K., Takeuchi, A., Sugimoto, N., Ikeda, K., et al. (2013). Uncultured adipose-derived regenerative cells promote peripheral nerve regeneration. *Journal of Orthopaedic Science*, 18(1), 145–151.
- Suzuki, Y., Tanihara, M., Ohnishi, K., Suzuki, K., Endo, K., & Nishimura, Y. (1999). Cat peripheral nerve regeneration across 50 mm gap repaired with a novel nerve guide composed of freeze-dried alginate gel. *Neuroscience Letters*, 259(2), 75–78.
- Syed, N., & Kim, H. A. (2010). Soluble neuregulin and Schwann cell myelination: A therapeutic potential for improving remyelination of adult axons. *Molecular and Cellular Pharmacology*, 2(4), 161–167.
- Syed, N., Reddy, K., Yang, D. P., Taveggia, C., Salzer, J. L., Maurel, P., et al. (2010). Soluble neuregulin-1 has bifunctional, concentration-dependent effects on Schwann cell myelination. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 30(17), 6122–6131.
- Tapinos, N., Ohnishi, M., & Rambukkana, A. (2006). ErbB2 receptor tyrosine kinase signaling mediates early demyelination induced by leprosy bacilli. *Nature Medicine*, 12(8), 961–966.
- Taveggia, C., Feltri, M. L., & Wrabetz, L. (2010). Signals to promote myelin formation and repair. Nature Reviews. Neurology, 6(5), 276–287.
- Taveggia, C., Zanazzi, G., Petrylak, A., Yano, H., Rosenbluth, J., Einheber, S., et al. (2005). Neuregulin-1 type III determines the ensheathment fate of axons. *Neuron*, 47(5), 681–694.
- Tohill, M., Mantovani, C., Wiberg, M., & Terenghi, G. (2004). Rat bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells express glial markers and stimulate nerve regeneration. *Neuroscience Letters*, 362(3), 200–203.
- Tos, P., Battiston, B., Nicolino, S., Raimondo, S., Fornaro, M., Lee, J. M., et al. (2007). Comparison of fresh and predegenerated muscle-vein-combined guides for the repair of rat median nerve. *Microsurgery*, 27(1), 48–55.
- Velanac, V., Unterbarnscheidt, T., Hinrichs, W., Gummert, M. N., Fischer, T. M., Rossner, M. J., et al. (2012). Bace1 Processing of NRG1 type III produces a myelininducing signal but is not essential for the stimulation of myelination. *Glia*, 60(2), 203–217.

- Verdu, E., Labrador, R. O., Rodriguez, F. J., Ceballos, D., Fores, J., & Navarro, X. (2002). Alignment of collagen and laminin-containing gels improve nerve regeneration within silicone tubes. *Restorative Neurology and Neuroscience*, 20(5), 169–179.
- Whitworth, I. H., Dore, C. J., Green, C. J., & Terenghi, G. (1995). Increased axonal regeneration over long nerve gaps using autologous nerve-muscle sandwich grafts. *Microsurgery*, 16(12), 772–778.
- Willem, M., Garratt, A. N., Novak, B., Citron, M., Kaufmann, S., Rittger, A., et al. (2006). Control of peripheral nerve myelination by the beta-secretase BACE1. *Science*, 314(5799), 664–666.
- Woldeyesus, M. T., Britsch, S., Riethmacher, D., Xu, L., Sonnenberg-Riethmacher, E., Abou-Rebyeh, F., et al. (1999). Peripheral nervous system defects in erbB2 mutants following genetic rescue of heart development. *Genes and Development*, 13(19), 2538–2548.
- Wolpowitz, D., Mason, T. B., Dietrich, P., Mendelsohn, M., Talmage, D. A., & Role, L. W. (2000). Cysteine-rich domain isoforms of the neuregulin-1 gene are required for maintenance of peripheral synapses. *Neuron*, 25(1), 79–91.
- Yarden, Y., & Sliwkowski, M. X. (2001). Untangling the ErbB signalling network. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology, 2(2), 127–137.
- Yildiz, M., Karlidag, T., Yalcin, S., Ozogul, C., Keles, E., Alpay, H. C., et al. (2011). Efficacy of glial growth factor and nerve growth factor on the recovery of traumatic facial paralysis. *European Archives of Oto-Rhino-Laryngology*, 268(8), 1127–1133.
- Yoshii, S., & Oka, M. (2001). Peripheral nerve regeneration along collagen filaments. Brain Research, 888(1), 158–162.
- Yoshii, S., Oka, M., Shima, M., Taniguchi, A., & Akagi, M. (2003). Bridging a 30-mm nerve defect using collagen filaments. *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research, Part A*, 67(2), 467–474.
- Young, P., Qiu, L., Wang, D., Zhao, S., Gross, J., & Feng, G. (2008). Single-neuron labeling with inducible Cre-mediated knockout in transgenic mice. *Nature Neuroscience*, 11(6), 721–728.
- Zanazzi, G., Einheber, S., Westreich, R., Hannocks, M. J., Bedell-Hogan, D., Marchionni, M. A., et al. (2001). Glial growth factor/neuregulin inhibits Schwann cell myelination and induces demyelination. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 152(6), 1289–1299.
- Zhang, J. F., Zhao, F. S., Wu, G., Kong, Q. F., Sun, B., Cao, J., et al. (2011). Therapeutic effect of co-transplantation of neuregulin-1-transfected Schwann cells and bone marrow stromal cells on spinal cord hemisection syndrome. *Neuroscience Letters*, 497(2), 128–133.
- Zhang, J., Zhao, F., Wu, G., Li, Y., & Jin, X. (2010). Functional and histological improvement of the injured spinal cord following transplantation of Schwann cells transfected with NRG1 gene. *Anatomical Record (Hoboken)*, 293(11), 1933–1946.
- Zhao, Q., Lundborg, G., Danielsen, N., Bjursten, L. M., & Dahlin, L. B. (1997). Nerve regeneration in a "pseudo-nerve" graft created in a silicone tube. *Brain Research*, 769(1), 125–134.

CHAPTER TEN

Extracellular Matrix Components in Peripheral Nerve Regeneration

Francisco Gonzalez-Perez, Esther Udina, Xavier Navarro¹

Institute of Neurosciences and Department of Cell Biology, Physiology and Immunology, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, and Centro de Investigación Biomédica en Red sobre Enfermedades Neurodegenerativas (CIBERNED), Bellaterra, Spain

¹Corresponding author: e-mail address: xavier.navarro@uab.cat

Contents

1.	Introduction	258
2.	Extracellular Matrix and Connective Layers of the Nerve	260
	2.1 Peripheral nerve microstructure	260
	2.2 ECM components	261
3.	Role of the ECM Components in Axonal Regeneration	263
	3.1 In vitro	263
	3.2 In vivo	265
4.	ECM Components in the Design of Artificial Biomatrices	267
Acknowledgments		270
References		270

Abstract

Injured axons of the peripheral nerve are able to regenerate and, eventually, reinnervate target organs. However, functional recovery is usually poor after severe nerve injuries. The switch of Schwann cells to a proliferative state, secretion of trophic factors, and the presence of extracellular matrix (ECM) molecules (such as collagen, laminin, or fibronectin) in the distal stump are key elements to create a permissive environment for axons to grow. In this review, we focus attention on the ECM components and their tropic role in axonal regeneration. These components can also be used as molecular cues to guide the axons through artificial nerve guides in attempts to better mimic the natural environment found in a degenerating nerve. Most used scaffolds tested are based on natural molecules that form the ECM, but use of synthetic polymers and functionalization of hydrogels are bringing new options. Progress in tissue engineering will eventually lead to the design of composite artificial nerve grafts that may replace the use of autologous nerve grafts to sustain regeneration over long gaps.

1. INTRODUCTION

Injuries to the peripheral nervous system generally cause disconnection of the fibers distal to the site of injury from the neuronal soma. Consequently, the distal nerve undergoes degeneration, leaving the peripheral target organs denervated and, thus, functionally useless. In comparison to central axons, peripheral axons show a good capability to regenerate. This difference is partly due to not only the cellular and molecular changes occurring at the distal stump during Wallerian degeneration but also the intrinsic capabilities of the axotomized peripheral neurons to switch to a proregenerative state. Injured axons are able to elongate into the distal nerve stump if they find a permissive substrate, usually provided by tropic and trophic support from Schwann cells and connective cells (Fig. 10.1). Schwann cells that lose contact with axons switch to an immature proregenerative state, proliferating and secreting trophic factors with a temporo-spatial pattern that provides a regenerative-promoting terrain for the growing axons. The basal lamina remains in place in the endoneurium and helps to guide the axons toward distal target organs. Within the endoneurial tubules, proliferating Schwann cells form the aligned bands of Büngner. Eventually, regenerating axons will be able to reach the distal target organs and reinnervate



Figure 10.1 Trophic and tropic support for the axonal growth cone. The molecular cues that the regenerating axons find at the distal stump can be diffusible neurotrophic factors or membrane-bound neurotropic factors, as the ECM components laminin, fibronectin, and collagen.

them, thus allowing for the recovery of lost functions (for reviews see Allodi, Udina, & Navarro, 2012; Fu & Gordon, 1997; Navarro, Vivó, & Valero-Cabré, 2007).

After a peripheral nerve transection, surgical repair is mandatory to allow the severed axons to grow into the distal degenerating nerve. The microsurgical intervention reconnects the proximal and distal nerve stumps, trying to match individual fascicles to facilitate the appropriate navigation of growing axons to their targets. However, matching of proximal and distal endoneurial tubes is impossible and thus, misdirection of axons to a wrong distal path is common after these types of lesions. When direct suture is not possible due to loss of neural tissue, the interposition of a graft to reunite both stumps is needed. The interposition of an autologous graft is commonly used as the gold standard technique even if it causes the sacrifice of a noninjured nerve from the patient to be used as a graft. To reduce the secondary effects of autografting, alternatives to bridge the nerve gap have been investigated. Artificial nerve guides could be a good alternative to repair damaged nerves by mimicking the natural environment that the degenerating distal stump or autograft offers (Deumens et al., 2010; Doolabh, Hertl, & Mackinnon, 1996; Gu, Ding, Yang, & Liu, 2011; IJkema-Paassen, Jansen, Gramsbergen, & Meek, 2004). Tube repair has thus emerged as an alternative repair method. However, it is important to take into account that the regenerative process through tubular guides differs from that occurring in a degenerating nerve segment. Regeneration in a guide starts with the formation of a fibrin cable that bridges the gap between the transected nerve stumps. This fibrin cable provides a guiding surface for the ingrowth of fibroblasts, blood vessels, and Schwann cells that migrate from both stumps (Williams, Longo, Powell, Lundborg, & Varon, 1983). It is replaced by collagen secreted by the invading fibroblasts and laminin produced by the Schwann cells, in fibrils longitudinally oriented, and the tube lumen fluid is enriched by trophic factors. Then regenerating axons are able to grow from the proximal stump along the newly formed scaffold. Failure of the formation of the initial cable or limited supply of migrating cells into the tube due to excessive length of the gap lead to failure of regeneration (Yannas, Zhang, & Spilker, 2007). Prefilling the repair tube with components of the extracellular matrix (ECM) or with artificial scaffolds have been investigated to improve the regenerative potential of the guides, increasing the length of the gap that can be bridged by a nerve guide. Nowadays, efforts are addressed to improve the quality of artificial nerve guides to reach clinical application. To closely mimic the degenerating nerves, artificial nerve guides must offer

a proregenerative environment rich in Schwann cells, trophic factors, and components of the ECM that promote axonal regeneration.

2. EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX AND CONNECTIVE LAYERS OF THE NERVE

2.1. Peripheral nerve microstructure

In addition to bundles of axons, from spinal motor neurons, dorsal root ganglia (DRG), sensory neurons, and postganglionic autonomic neurons, the peripheral nerve is composed of three layers or compartments: epineurium, perineurium, and endoneurium. The epineurium is the outermost layer that delimits the nerve from the surrounding. It is composed of loose connective tissue and carries the blood vessels that supply the nerve. Delimiting each fascicle in the nerve there is the perineurium, a thin but dense sheath composed of flat perineurial cells and an outer layer of collagen fibers organized in bundles. The supporting connective tissue that fills each fascicle is the endoneurium, composed of fibroblasts, collagen, and reticular fibers and ECM, occupying the space between nerve fibers. The endoneurial tubes are composed of basal lamina sheets arranged in continuity around the axon–Schwann cell units and collagen fibrils.

The ECM is a physiological integrative matrix of complex molecular nature, where axons and supportive cells are immersed. The ECM is a three-dimensional network arranged in the intercellular space, which includes proteins and carbohydrates synthesized and secreted by the cells. It is present in the interstitial spaces of all tissues, playing important roles in cell migration, proliferation, and differentiation, and providing structural support and regulating intercellular communication. It contributes to mechanical tissue properties, allows the cells to form tissues, serving to cell communication, and forms paths where cells can move. In the peripheral nerve, the ECM is found in the basal lamina of Schwann cells and the endoneurium.

The basal lamina, produced by the Schwann cells, may be considered a layer of the ECM, mainly composed of collagen type IV, laminin, fibronectin, and nidogens (Bannerman, Mirsky, Jessen, Timpl, & Duance, 1986; Baron-Van Evercooren, Gansmüller, Gumpel, Baumann, & Kleinman, 1986; Bryan et al., 2012). After injury, besides the degenerative process behold in the distal stump, basal lamina tubes remain as scaffolds where proliferative Schwann cells align forming the bands of Büngner.

2.2. ECM components

The ECM is composed of a complex network of secreted proteins, glycoproteins, proteoglycans, and non-proteoglycan polysaccharides. The first group of components, the glycoproteins, can be classified into collagen and noncollagenous molecules.

Collagens are a superfamily of trimeric molecules composed of three identical triple helical α chains that define tissue structures (Brown & Phillips, 2007; Gordon & Hahn, 2011). Up to 26 different types of collagens have been described, that are divided into different groups according to the structures they form. The main subfamilies are fibril-forming collagens (types I, II, III, V, XI), collagens banded-fibrils associated (IX, XVI, XIX, XXI, XXII), networking collagens (IV, VI, VIII, X), transmembranous collagens (XIII, XXIII, XV), endostatin precursor collagens (XV, XVII), and other collagens. The collagen types most relevant for peripheral nerve regeneration are described in later sections. However, it is interesting to highlight the importance of those related to fibril formation (collagen type I) and the basement membrane (collagen type IV).

Among the ECM noncollagenous molecules of glycoprotein origin, the most important are laminins and fibronectins.

Laminins are major proteins of the ECM, participating in cell differentiation, migration, and adhesion activities. They are an active part of the natural scaffolding which structure the tissues. They are mainly found in the basal lamina. Laminins are heterotrimers of α , β , and γ chains, and 18 different types have been described to date (Durbeej, 2010). The trimers are named according to the composition of the different chain types, but usually it is the α chain that identifies the isoform. Secreted by Schwann cells, laminin-2 (α 2, β 1, γ 1) and laminin 8 (α 4, β 1, γ 1) are found in the peripheral nerves (Wallquist et al., 2002), whereas laminin 10 (α 5, β 1, γ 1) can be detected in sensory end organs (Caissie, Gingras, Champigny, & Berthod, 2006). Laminin is the adhesive component that gives the regenerativepromoting capability to basal lamina scaffolds after nerve injury (Wang, Hirai, Shimada, Taji, & Zhong, 1992) and has been shown to promote neuritogenesis *in vitro* (Agius & Cochard, 1998).

Fibronectin is the other major component of noncollagen glycoproteins of the ECM (Singh, Carraher, & Schwarzbauer, 2010). It forms a fibrillar matrix similar to collagen and mediates cell-binding. Fibronectin is a dimer existing in different isoforms because of alternative splicing generation. Totally, 12 isoforms for mice and 20 for humans have been described. At first, soluble fibronectin is produced by hepatocytes, being found in the blood plasma. The insoluble form is incorporated into the membrane of many cells. In the nervous system, it is synthesized and secreted by Schwann cells and fibroblasts (Baron-Van Evercooren et al., 1986; Chernousov & Carey, 2000). The important relations that it maintains with collagen type IV and laminins and with fibril formation make fibronectin an interesting candidate for scaffolding in nerve regeneration (Brown & Phillips, 2007).

The ability of cells to interact with both laminins and fibronectins is mainly due to the expression of the cell adhesion molecule integrins in their membrane (Hynes, 2002). Integrins are glycosilated heterodimers formed by α and β subunits. The integrin β 1 subfamily is composed of integrins with a β 1 subunit, which bounds to actin cytoskeleton, and the α subunit, which determines the specificity to the ECM molecule adhesion. Thus, integrin α 1, α 3, α 6, and α 7 can interact with laminin, whereas integrin α 5 interacts with fibronectin. Expression of integrins on the growth cone determines the ability of the growing axon to interact with the ECM. Moreover, laminin and fibronectin have the characteristic of binding to other ECM components. For instance, laminin interacts with nidogens, agrin, perlecan, fibulin-1, heparin, and sulfatides (Holmberg & Durbeej, 2013; Rudenko, Hohenester, & Muller, 2001), whereas fibronectin binds to collagen, fibrin, and heparan sulfate proteoglycans (Hörmann, 1982).

There are other noncollagen glycoprotein molecules of the ECM although they are probably not related to axonal regeneration after nerve injury. Nidogen-1 (also called entactin) forms noncovalent unions with laminin and collagen type IV and may play its role as a promigratory factor for adult Schwann cells (Lee et al., 2007). On the other hand, vitronectin binds to collagen and glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) (heparin), acting as a regulatory molecule controlling cell adhesion (Schvartz, Seger, & Shaltiel, 1999).

The GAGs are carbohydrate polymers that are covalently bound to glycoproteins in their native state, forming *proteoglycans*. These molecules include heparan, keratin, chondroitin, dermatan, and their respective sulfates (Rutka, Apodaca, Stern, & Roseblum, 1988). Proteoglycans are formed by a GAG linked to a hydroxyl group of certain amino acids (serine and threonine) or a core molecule which is also linked to hyaluronic acid. Proteoglycans like chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans (CSPGs) create an inhibitory environment by neutralizing the growth-promoting activities of other ECM elements (McKeon, Höke, & Silver, 1995; Muir, Engvall, Varon, & Manthorpe, 1989). CSPG has been found in the peripheral nerve where it may inhibit the growth-promoting activity of endoneurial laminin

(Zuo, Ferguson, Hernandez, Stetler-Stevenson, & Muir, 1998; Zuo, Hernandez, & Muir, 1998).

Fibrin is not associated with the mature tissue structure but it is a key factor in the repair strategy of the ECM components. It will form a provisional mesh after damage that will be later replaced by the mature components of the ECM secreted by invading cells. In the presence of thrombin, fibrinogen polymerizes into fibrin to form a dense meshwork of fibers (Brown & Phillips, 2007; McKee, Mattock, & Hill, 1970). In fact, formation of a fibrin cable between the two stumps when a gap nerve is repaired by a tube is needed to guarantee successful axonal regeneration.

3. ROLE OF THE ECM COMPONENTS IN AXONAL REGENERATION

3.1. In vitro

To assess peripheral axon regeneration *in vitro*, the most used paradigm is the primary culture of DRG, either dissociated or as an explant. Tropic support of different molecules can be assessed by surface coating or by using 3D matrices (in which cells or explants are embedded) (Fig. 10.2).

It is well known that dissociated sensory neurons show longer neurite extension on laminin and fibronectin-coated substrates compared to poly-L-lysine-coated surfaces (Rogers, Letourneau, Palm, McCarthy, & Furcht, 1983). When comparing the ability of different ECM components, laminin-coated surfaces sustained better neurite outgrowth than vitronectin, collagen IV, fibronectin, or collagen I (Plantman et al., 2008; Wood & Willits, 2009). Laminin is also a preferred substrate for Schwann cells that extend and acquire better morphology on laminin-coated rather than fibronectin-coated substrates (Palm & Furcht, 1983). When focusing on the different isoforms of laminin,



Figure 10.2 DRG explants cultured for 48 h in a 3D (A) collagen type I-containing gel, (B) fibronectin-containing gel, and (C) laminin type I-containing gel. Longer neurites can be observed in the matrix enriched with laminin type I.

DRG neurons grow better on laminin-1- and laminin-10-coated surfaces. Interestingly, when nerve growth factor was added to the culture, there was a marked increase of neurite elongation on laminin-2 and laminin-8 in comparison to laminin-1- and laminin-10-coated surfaces, which seemed to sustain a neurotrophic-independent growth (Plantman et al., 2008).

Sulfated proteoglycans have inhibitory effects when studying neurite extension on explant cultures from DRG (Ughrin, Chen, & Levine, 2003). Some authors claimed that proteoglycans inhibit neurite growth acting at the cone elongation (Snow, Smith, & Gurwell, 2002) but others relate this inhibition to the effect of sulfated proteoglycans on the neuron soma (Kuffler, Sosa, & Reyes, 2009).

When studying neurite elongation from DRG explants in 3D cultures, longer neurites were found in matrigel (a laminin-containing gel) than in collagen type I gel (Tonge et al., 1997), although the results might be affected by the additional factors present in matrigel. In another study, explants of DRG grew better on laminin gels compared to fibronectin, collagen type I, or hyaluronic gels (Deister, Aljabari, & Schmidt, 2007), supporting the findings from 2D cultures. On the other hand, different populations of sensory neurons may have different substrate preferences. Thus, embryonic proprioceptive neurons grow similarly on fibronectin and laminin, whereas cutaneous ones prefer laminin (Guan, Puthenveedu, & Condic, 2003). The inhibitory effect of the proteoglycans has also been proved in the 3D cultures (Tonge et al., 1997). When using 3D cultures, not only the components of the matrix but also the density should be taken into account. For example, when comparing different concentrations of an inert agarose gel, neurite extension was inversely correlated with the porous diameter that decreases with the concentration of the gel (Balgude, Yu, Szymanski, & Bellamkonda, 2001). Similarly, longer neurite extension was seen in lower concentration collagen gels (Willits & Skornia, 2004).

In contrast to the widely studied role of the ECM components on primary sensory neuron outgrowth *in vitro*, motoneuron outgrowth *in vitro* has been hardly analyzed. This fact is probably related to the technical difficulties of culturing primary spinal motoneurons compared to DRG neurons. Spinal cord slices embedded in a 3D matrix appear as an adequate model to investigate the role of ECM molecules on motor neurite outgrowth. Preliminary results from our laboratory indicate that motoneuron outgrowth is enhanced in matrices containing fibronectin more than in those containing laminin or collagen, suggesting that there may be a differential role of ECM molecules on different axonal populations.

3.2. In vivo

The role of the ECM components in nerve regeneration has been widely demonstrated in nerve graft experimental models. Even when nerve grafts are used, acellular axons are able to regenerate through the scaffolds of basal lamina (Hall, 1997). By using antilaminin antibodies, it was demonstrated that the capability of basal lamina to sustain axon growth was highly dependent on laminin. Antifibronectin antibody reduced neurite outgrowth, but did not influence the capability of axons to grow through the basal lamina (Wang et al., 1992). In similar models, the inhibitory role of proteoglycans was reduced when enzymes that degrade CSPG were applied into the distal stump or a graft, accelerating regeneration of motor and sensory axons (Krekoski, Neubauer, Zuo, & Muir, 2001; Udina et al., 2010).

Besides the studies that evaluate the role of different ECM in the distal stump of the injured nerve, the effects of these molecules have also been studied when used to fill artificial nerve guides. Moreover, addition of these substrates to a hollow tube can increase the capability of the tube to sustain regeneration and, thus, it is a first step toward engineering an artificial guide that mimics the autograft (Fig. 10.3). In fact, the sole addition of plasma, an important source of fibrin, into a silicone tube increased the gap length



Figure 10.3 Schematic representation of the key points needed to engineer an artificial nerve graft. When designing a nerve guide, physical properties of the tube must be taken into account. For long gaps, introduction of matrices and supporting cells into the lumen improve the final outcome.

permissive for regeneration (Williams, Danielsen, Müller, & Varon, 1987). On the other hand, collagen-based (Chamberlain, Yannas, Arrizabalaga, et al., 1998; Chamberlain, Yannas, Hsu, Stritchartz, & Spector, 1998; Labrador, Butí, & Navarro, 1998; Rosen et al., 1990) and laminin-based matrices (Bailey, Eichler, Villadiego, & Rich, 1993; Labrador et al., 1998) have been successfully used to enhance axonal regeneration in nerve guides. Prefilling tubes with collagen- or laminin-containing gels improved regeneration through long gaps, whereas for short gaps, where regeneration is usually successful, addition of matrices into the tubes did not benefit the final outcome when compared to saline-filled tubes (Labrador et al., 1998; Valentini, Aebischer, Winn, & Galletti, 1987). When comparing the effects of different ECM components, laminin-containing gel performed slightly better than collagen I and hyaluronate gels on long gaps (Labrador et al., 1998). Combinations of ECM components have been tested in attempts to provide complex neurotropic support. The number of regenerated axons was higher in a gel mixture of collagen, laminin, and fibronectin compared to the control group (Chen et al., 2000). Similarly, a combination of laminin and fibronectin used to fill silicone tubes improved regeneration through long gaps in rats (Bailey et al., 1993). Fibronectin was also tested with laminin in double-coated collagen fiber bundles inserted into collagen tubes. The results were better than when using uncoated collagen fibers, revealing that laminin and fibronectin together may act positively on axonal growth (Tong et al., 1994).

As in 3D cultures, it is important to take into account the concentration of the matrix used, since the gel substrate, even if containing neurotropic agents, may impair the regenerative process by physically impeding the diffusion of factors, the migration of cells, or the elongation of axons. Lower concentrations of agarose, which forms a gel whose pore size decreases as concentration increases, were more permissive for regeneration through a silicone tube than higher ones (Labrador, Butí, & Navarro, 1995), demonstrating the importance of the density of the matrix used to guarantee axonal growth. Similar results were obtained when using collagen, laminin, and hyaluronate gels (Labrador et al., 1998; Tona & Perides, 1993).

Nerve regeneration using gel-filled tubes across long gaps usually remains inferior to that obtained with nerve autografts. A relevant difference accounts by the endoneurial tubules in nerve grafts offering a mechanical guide to the regenerating axons, while gels filling tubes do not provide local direction for axons and may even impede the ingrowth of non-neuronal cells and axons. By using a longitudinally aligned ECM gel, the rate and

267

the direction of axonal elongation should improve due to contact guidance with the fibrils aligned along the tube axis. This option has been reported for tubes prefilled with magnetically or gravitationally aligned collagen gel, matrigel (Ceballos et al., 1999; Dubey, Letourneau, & Tranquillo, 1999; Verdú et al., 2002), and fibrin matrix (Dubey, Letourneau, & Tranquillo, 2001), and with a collagen-GAG matrix (Chamberlain, Yannas, Arrizabalaga, et al., 1998; Chamberlain, Yannas, Hsu, et al., 1998; Chamberlain, Yannas, Hsu, Stritchartz, & Spector, 1998, 2000). Conduits containing longitudinally orientated extruded collagen microfibers and collagen scaffolds with orientated micropores, fabricated by directional ice-crystal formation, have been reported to allow regeneration over quite long gaps in the rat sciatic nerve (Bozkurt et al., 2012; Yoshii, Oka, Shima, Taniguchi, & Akagi, 2003). When fibronectin-oriented strands were introduced in nerve conduits to repair the rat sciatic nerve, axonal regeneration and Schwann cell recruitment were better than when using freeze-thawed muscle grafts (Whitworth, Brown, Doré, Green, & Terenghi, 1995). Fibronectin mats have been developed as oriented substrates that are capable of improving longitudinal migration of neurites and Schwann cells (Ahmed, Underwood, & Brown, 2003).

In conclusion, an adequate exogenous matrix designed to promote nerve regeneration within a nerve guide should have neuritotropic activity, be diluted in order to provide wide-enough pores for cellular and axonal migration, and also longitudinally oriented pathways that mimic the endoneurial tubules of the nerve.

4. ECM COMPONENTS IN THE DESIGN OF ARTIFICIAL BIOMATRICES

Further efforts are focused on the progress in tissue engineering and the improvement of artificial nerve conduits able to mimic the capabilities of autografts to sustain regeneration over long gaps. To form 3D scaffolds, besides the classical natural components of the ECM, several bioartificial polymers have been used to promote and guide axonal regeneration inside a neural guide. Such polymers can be introduced as a gel, coated directly into the internal wall of the tube or forming frameworks (like filaments or sponges used to enrich the internal architecture of the guide).

Gelatin is a natural-origin protein derived from collagen that maintains its inert properties, and can be functionalized by cross-linking techniques (Ciardelli & Chiono, 2006). Another natural polymer is chitosan, a polysaccharide obtained from chitin. Its molecular structure is similar to GAGs in the ECM. It can be introduced into the lumen of a tube as nano/microfibers that can be functionalized with laminin and trophic factors (Patel, Mao, Wu, & Vandevord, 2007) or combined with cells (Wang et al., 2009) to enhance nerve regeneration. Alginate is a biodegradable polysac-charide with repeat units of mannuronic acid and glucuronic acid. It has been used in the form of freeze-dried sponge to promote axon regeneration across a long gap in the cat sciatic nerve (Suzuki et al., 1999). Alginate has also received attention as a slow-release hydrogel for the controlled supply of trophic factors. Other natural polymers, with potential to support nerve regeneration, are silk fibroin (Yang et al., 2007) and agarose (Labrador et al., 1995; Martin, Minner, Wiseman, Klank, & Gilbert, 2008).

Synthetic polymers can also be used to form the intratubular scaffolds that should combine the biocompatible characteristics of the natural polymers with improved mechanical and chemical performance. They also have to be surgically practicable, immunocompatible, and allow the diffusion of nutrients and growth factors to supply the regrowth of the injured nerve. Polymers can be presented as hydrogels when having high water content. Some examples of synthetic scaffolds used in peripheral nerve regeneration studies include, among others, poly(ethylene glycol) (Scott, Marquardt, & Willits, 2010; Shepard et al., 2012), poly-(L-lactic acid) (Ngo et al., 2003), poly(lactide-co-glycolide) (Subramanian, Krishnan, & Sethuraman, 2011), polycaprolactone (Daud, Pawar, Claeyssens, Ryan, & Haycock, 2012), and poly(*N*-isopropylacrylamide-co-acrylic acid) (Newman et al., 2006) in the form of hydrogels or fibers.

Recent developments of nanotechnology propose the use of fibrous scaffolds at the nanoscale level for the artificial replacement of basal lamina in tissue-engineered nerve grafts. Nanotubes can be produced from various materials, such as carbon, synthetic polymers, DNA, proteins, lipids, silicon, and glass. Moreover, they can serve as an extracellular scaffold, filling a hollow nerve conduit, to guide directed axonal growth (Cao, Liu, & Chew, 2009; Olakowska, Woszczycka-Korczyńska, Jędrzejowska-Szypułka, & Lewin-Kowalik, 2010). Surfaces with nano-sized topographies, electrospinned nanofibers, or replicas of the ECM with nanoresolution were found to guide neurite outgrowth from sensory and autonomic ganglia in culture (Kanje & Johansson, 2011). *In vivo* studies showed that conduits filled with aligned polymer nanofibers resulted in better functional recovery than hollow conduits (Neal et al., 2011). These studies provide the basis for the use of nanofibers combined with molecular constituents of the ECM to enhance nerve conduits. The performance of either synthetic tubes or scaffolds can be improved by functionalizing them with specific cues. These cues are usually motifs from ECM components with special effects on cell migration, attachment, and proliferation. Tubes can be directly functionalized by linking cues to the internal wall of the conduit. For instance, a laminin-2 motif has been reported to have a positive effect on nerve regeneration when it was used to coat a PLGA guide (Seo et al., 2012). Also, a laminin-1 motif TATVH was proposed to promote neurite outgrowth and cell attachment on coated tubes (Nickels & Schmidt, 2012).

ECM peptides are being increasingly used for functionalizing hydrogels. Based on the results of *in vitro* studies, laminin cues have been the most widely used sequences for improving hydrogel performance on nerve regeneration. For instance, a laminin-1 sequence, the IKVAV pentapeptide, has been shown to promote axonal elongation on central and peripheral neurons (Bellamkonda, Ranieri, & Aebischer, 1995; Tashiro et al., 1989). YIGSR is another pentapeptide used to graft agarose inert gels (Borkenhagen, Clémence, Sigrist, & Aebischer, 1998; Yu, Dillon, & Bellamkonda, 1999) and collagen polymers (Newman et al., 2006). The results revealed a significant increase in neuronal extension on YIGSR-coated gels in comparison to controls. Other motifs from laminin isoforms 1 and 2 have not been directly proved to enhance nerve regeneration.

Fibronectin cues have also been proposed for peripheral nerve repair. The GRGDS amino acid sequence regulates cell adhesion (Rutka et al., 1988), and it is probably the most studied short sequence from fibronectin, although the RGD sequence is also found in other ECM components such as laminin-1 and tenascin-C (Meiners & Mercado, 2003). The GRGDS sequence has been used to functionalize hydrogels. For instance, gellan gum, which is a polysaccharide from bacterial origin, functionalized with this fibronectin sequence improved axonal growth *in vitro* (Luo & Shoichet, 2004) and survival and proliferation of neural stem/progenitor cells (Silva et al., 2012).

Nowadays, it is accepted that to design an artificial nerve guide as efficient as a nerve graft, it is important to combine different approaches. After designing the best conduit, addition of neurotropic cues to the luminal space, either as a matrix or by functionalizing a gel, may improve axonal growth. Certainly, this growth can be further enhanced by introducing supportive cells or trophic factors. However, another important key point is the need to mimic the guiding endoneurial tubes found in the degenerating distal stump of the nerve. This might be achieved by longitudinally orienting scaffolds, to provide wide-enough channels for cellular and axonal ingrowth (Brown & Phillips, 2007). Further assays are needed to improve the microgeometry of such a bioartificial matrix with added cells in order to mimic the longitudinal axis offered by endoneurial tubules and aligned Schwann cells (forming bands of Büngner) in a degenerated nerve.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This research was supported by grants from the Ministerio de Sanidad y Consumo (grant PI1100464, TERCEL, and CIBERNED funds) of Spain, the European Commission (BIOHYBRID project, grant 278612) and FEDER funds.

REFERENCES

- Agius, E., & Cochard, P. (1998). Comparison of neurite outgrowth induced by intact and injured sciatic nerves: A confocal and functional analysis. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 18, 328–338.
- Ahmed, Z., Underwood, S., & Brown, R. A. (2003). Nerve guide material made from fibronectin: Assessment of in vitro properties. *Tissue Engineering*, 9, 219–231.
- Allodi, I., Udina, E., & Navarro, X. (2012). Specificity of peripheral nerve regeneration: Interactions at the axon level. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 98, 16–37.
- Bailey, S., Eichler, M., Villadiego, A., & Rich, K. (1993). The influence of fibronectin and laminin during Schwann cell migration and peripheral nerve regeneration through silicone chambers. *Journal of Neurocytology*, 22, 176–184.
- Balgude, A. P., Yu, X., Szymanski, A., & Bellamkonda, R. V. (2001). Agarose gel stiffness determines rate of DRG neurite extension in 3D cultures. *Biomaterials*, 22, 1077–1084.
- Bannerman, P., Mirsky, R., Jessen, K., Timpl, R., & Duance, V. (1986). Light microscopic immunolocalization of laminin, type IV collagen, nidogen, heparan sulphate proteoglycan and fibronectin in the enteric nervous system of rat and guinea pig. *Journal of Neurocytology*, 15, 733–743.
- Baron-Van Evercooren, A., Gansmüller, A., Gumpel, M., Baumann, N., & Kleinman, H. (1986). Schwann cell differentiation in vitro: Extracellular matrix deposition and interaction. *Developmental Neuroscience*, 8, 182–196.
- Bellamkonda, R., Ranieri, J., & Aebischer, P. (1995). Laminin oligopeptide derivatized agarose gels allow three-dimensional neurite extension in vitro. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 51, 501–509.
- Borkenhagen, M., Clémence, J. F., Sigrist, H., & Aebischer, P. (1998). Three-dimensional extracellular matrix engineering in the nervous system. *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research*, 40, 392–400.
- Bozkurt, A., Lassner, F., O'Dey, D., Deumens, R., Böcker, A., Schwendt, T., et al. (2012). The role of microstructured and interconnected pore channels in a collagen-based nerve guide on axonal regeneration in peripheral nerves. *Biomaterials*, 33, 1363–1375.
- Brown, R. A., & Phillips, J. B. (2007). Cell responses to biomimetic protein scaffolds used in tissue repair and engineering. *International Review of Cytology*, *262*, 75–150.
- Bryan, D. J., Litchfield, C. R., Manchio, J. V., Logvinenko, T., Holway, A. H., Austin, J., et al. (2012). Spatiotemporal expression profiling of proteins in rat sciatic nerve regeneration using reverse phase protein arrays. *Proteome Science*, 10, 9.
- Caissie, R., Gingras, M., Champigny, M.-F., & Berthod, F. (2006). In vivo enhancement of sensory perception recovery in a tissue-engineered skin enriched with laminin. *Biomaterials*, 27, 2988–2993.

- Cao, H., Liu, T., & Chew, S. Y. (2009). The application of nanofibrous scaffolds in neural tissue engineering. Advances in Drug Delivery Reviews, 61, 1055–1064.
- Ceballos, D., Navarro, X., Dubey, N., Wendelschafer-Crabb, G., Kennedy, W. R., & Tranquillo, R. T. (1999). Magnetically aligned collagen gel filling a collagen nerve guide improves peripheral nerve regeneration. *Experimental Neurology*, 158, 290–300.
- Chamberlain, L., Yannas, I., Arrizabalaga, A., Hsu, H., Norregaard, T., & Spector, M. (1998). Early peripheral nerve healing in collagen and silicone tube implants: Myofibroblasts and the cellular response. *Biomaterials*, 19, 1393–1403.
- Chamberlain, L. J., Yannas, I. V., Hsu, H.-P., Stritchartz, G., & Spector, M. (1998). Collagen-GAG substrate enhances the quality of nerve regeneration through collagen tubes up to level of autograft. *Experimental Neurology*, 154, 315–329.
- Chamberlain, L. J., Yannas, I. V., Hsu, H.-P., Stritchartz, G., & Spector, M. (2000). Nearterminus axonal structure and function following rat sciatic nerve regeneration through a collagen-GAG matrix in a ten-millimeter gap. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 60, 666–677.
- Chen, Y. S., Hsieh, C. L., Tsai, C. C., Chen, T. H., Cheng, W. C., Hu, C. L., et al. (2000). Peripheral nerve regeneration using silicone rubber chambers filled with collagen, laminin and fibronectin. *Biomaterials*, 21, 1541–1547.
- Chernousov, M., & Carey, D. (2000). Schwann cell extracellular matrix molecules and their receptors. *Histology and Histopathology*, 15, 593–601.
- Ciardelli, G., & Chiono, V. (2006). Materials for peripheral nerve regeneration. Macromolecular Bioscience, 6, 13–26.
- Daud, M. F., Pawar, K. C., Claeyssens, F., Ryan, A. J., & Haycock, J. W. (2012). An aligned 3D neuronal-glial co-culture model for peripheral nerve studies. *Biomaterials*, 33, 5901–5913.
- Deister, C., Aljabari, S., & Schmidt, C. (2007). Effects of collagen 1, fibronectin, laminin and hyaluronic acid concentration in multi-component gels on neurite extension. *Journal of Biomaterials Science. Polymer Edition*, 18, 983–997.
- Deumens, R., Bozkurt, A., Meek, M. F., Marcus, M. A., Joosten, E. A., Weis, J., et al. (2010). Repairing injured peripheral nerves: Bridging the gap. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 92, 245–276.
- Doolabh, V., Hertl, M., & Mackinnon, S. (1996). The role of conduits in nerve repair: A review. *Reviews in Neuroscience*, 7, 47–84.
- Dubey, N., Letourneau, P. C., & Tranquillo, R. T. (1999). Guided neurite elongation and Schwann cell invasion into magnetically aligned collagen in simulated peripheral nerve regeneration. *Experimental Neurology*, 158, 338–350.
- Dubey, N., Letourneau, P. C., & Tranquillo, R. T. (2001). Neuronal contact guidance in magnetically aligned fibrin gels: Effect of variation in gel mechano-structural properties. *Biomaterials*, 22, 1065–1075.
- Durbeej, M. (2010). Laminins. Cell and Tissue Research, 339, 259-268.
- Fu, S., & Gordon, T. (1997). The cellular and molecular basis of peripheral nerve regeneration. *Molecular Neurobiology*, 14, 67–116.
- Gordon, M. K., & Hahn, R. A. (2011). Collagens. Cell and Tissue Research, 339, 247-257.
- Gu, X., Ding, F., Yang, Y., & Liu, J. (2011). Construction of tissue engineered nerve grafts and their application in peripheral nerve regeneration. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 93, 204–230.
- Guan, W., Puthenveedu, M. A., & Condic, M. L. (2003). Sensory neuron subtypes have unique substratum preference and receptor expression before target innervation. *Journal* of *Neuroscience*, 23, 1781–1791.
- Hall, S. (1997). Axonal regeneration through acellular muscle grafts. *Journal of Anatomy*, 190, 57–71.
- Holmberg, J., & Durbeej, M. (2013). Laminin-211 in skeletal muscle function. Cell Adhesion & Migration, 7, 111–121.

- Hörmann, H. (1982). Fibronectin—Mediator between cells and connective tissue. Klinische Wochenschrift, 60, 1265–1277.
- Hynes, R. O. (2002). Integrins: Bidirectional, allosteric signaling machines. Cell, 110, 673–687.
- IJkema-Paassen, J., Jansen, K., Gramsbergen, A., & Meek, M. F. (2004). Transection of peripheral nerves, bridging strategies and effect evaluation. *Biomaterials*, 25, 1583–1592.
- Kanje, M., & Johansson, F. (2011). Nanomodified surfaces and neurite outgrowth. Progress in Brain Research, 194, 253–262.
- Krekoski, C. A., Neubauer, D., Zuo, J., & Muir, D. (2001). Axonal regeneration into acellular nerve grafts is enhanced by degradation of chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan. *Journal* of *Neuroscience*, 21, 6206–6213.
- Kuffler, D. P., Sosa, I. J., & Reyes, O. (2009). Schwann cell chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan inhibits dorsal root ganglion neuron neurite outgrowth and substrate specificity via a soma and not a growth cone mechanism. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 87, 2863–2871.
- Labrador, R., Butí, M., & Navarro, X. (1995). Peripheral nerve repair: Role of agarose matrix density on functional recovery. *Neuroreport*, 6, 2022–2036.
- Labrador, R. O., Butí, M., & Navarro, X. (1998). Influence of collagen and laminin gels concentration on nerve regeneration after resection and tube repair. *Experimental Neurology*, 149, 243–252.
- Lee, H. K., Seo, I. A., Park, H. K., Park, Y. M., Ahn, K. J., Yoo, Y. H., et al. (2007). Nidogen is a prosurvival and promigratory factor for adult Schwann cells. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 102, 686–698.
- Luo, Y., & Shoichet, M. S. (2004). A photolabile hydrogel for guided three-dimensional cell growth and migration. *Nature Materials*, 3, 249–253.
- Martin, B. C., Minner, E. J., Wiseman, S. L., Klank, R. L., & Gilbert, R. J. (2008). Agarose and methylcellulose hydrogel blends for nerve regeneration applications. *Journal of Neural Engineering*, 5, 221–231.
- McKee, P., Mattock, P., & Hill, R. (1970). Subunit structure of human fibrinogen, soluble fibrin, and cross-linked insoluble fibrin. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 66, 738–744.
- McKeon, R., Höke, A., & Silver, J. (1995). Injury-induced proteoglycans inhibit the potential for laminin-mediated axon growth on astrocytic scars. *Experimental Neurology*, 136, 32–43.
- Meiners, S., & Mercado, M. L. T. (2003). Functional peptide sequences derived from extracellular matrix glycoproteins and their receptors: Strategies to improve neural regeneration. *Molecular Neurobiology*, 27, 177–195.
- Muir, D., Engvall, E., Varon, S., & Manthorpe, M. (1989). Schwannoma cell-derived inhibitor of the neurite-promoting activity of laminin. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 109, 2353–2362.
- Navarro, X., Vivó, M., & Valero-Cabré, A. (2007). Neural plasticity after peripheral nerve injury and regeneration. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 82, 163–201.
- Neal, R. A., Tholpady, S. S., Foley, P. L., Swami, N., Ogle, R. C., & Botchwey, E. A. (2011). Alignment and composition of laminin-polycaprolactone nanofiber blends enhance peripheral nerve regeneration. *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research, Part A*, 100A, 406–423.
- Newman, K., McLaughlin, C., Carlsson, D., Li, F., Liu, Y., & Griffith, M. (2006). Bioactive hydrogel-filament scaffolds for nerve repair and regeneration. *International Journal of Artificial Organs*, 29, 1082–1091.
- Ngo, T. T., Waggoner, P. J., Romero, A. A., Nelson, K. D., Eberhart, R. C., & Smith, G. M. (2003). Poly(L-lactide) microfilaments enhance peripheral nerve regeneration across extended nerve lesions. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 72, 227–238.

- Nickels, J. D., & Schmidt, C. E. (2012). Surface modification of the conducting polymer, polypyrrole, via affinity peptide. *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research, Part A*, 101(5), 1464–1471.
- Olakowska, E., Woszczycka-Korczyńska, I., Jędrzejowska-Szypułka, H., & Lewin-Kowalik, J. (2010). Application of nanotubes and nanofibres in nerve repair. A review. *Folia Neuropathologica*, 48, 231–237.
- Palm, S. L., & Furcht, L. T. (1983). Production of laminin and fibronectin by Schwannoma cells: Cell–protein interactions in vitro and protein localization in peripheral nerve in vivo. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 96, 1218–1226.
- Patel, M., Mao, L., Wu, B., & Vandevord, P. J. (2007). GDNF-chitosan blended nerve guides: A functional study. *Journal of Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine*, 1, 360–367.
- Plantman, S., Patarroyo, M., Fried, K., Domogatskaya, A., Tryggvason, K., Hammarberg, H., et al. (2008). Integrin-laminin interactions controlling neurite outgrowth from adult DRG neurons in vitro. *Molecular and Cellular Neurosciences*, 39, 50–62.
- Rogers, S., Letourneau, P., Palm, S., McCarthy, J., & Furcht, L. T. (1983). Neurite extension by peripheral and central nervous system neurons in response to substratum-bound fibronectin and laminin. *Developmental Biology*, 98, 212–220.
- Rosen, J., Padilla, J., Nguyen, K., Padilla, M., Sabelman, E., & Pham, H. (1990). Artificial nerve graft using collagen as an extracellular matrix for nerve repair compared with sutured autograft in a rat model. *Annals of Plastic Surgery*, 25, 375–387.
- Rudenko, G., Hohenester, E., & Muller, Y. (2001). LG/LNS domains: Multiple functions— One business end? *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, 26, 363–368.
- Rutka, J., Apodaca, G., Stern, R., & Roseblum, M. (1988). The extracellular matrix of the central and peripheral nervous systems: Structure and function. *Journal of Neurosurgery*, 69, 155–170.
- Schvartz, I., Seger, D., & Shaltiel, S. (1999). Vitronectin. International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology, 31, 539–544.
- Scott, R., Marquardt, L., & Willits, R. (2010). Characterization of poly(ethylene glycol) gels with added collagen for neural tissue engineering. *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research*, *Part A*, 93, 817–823.
- Seo, S. Y., Min, S., Bae, H. K., Roh, D., Kang, H. K., Roh, S., et al. (2012). A laminin-2derived peptide promotes early-stage peripheral nerve regeneration in a dual-component artificial nerve graft. *Journal of Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine* (In press).
- Shepard, J. A., Stevans, A. C., Holland, S., Wang, C. E., Shikanov, A., & Shea, L. D. (2012). Hydrogel design for supporting neurite outgrowth and promoting gene delivery to maximize neurite extension. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 109, 830–839.
- Silva, N. A., Cooke, M. J., Tam, R. Y., Sousa, N., Salgado, A. J., Reis, R. L., et al. (2012). The effects of peptide modified gellan gum and olfactory ensheathing glia cells on neural stem/progenitor cell fate. *Biomaterials*, 33, 6345–6354.
- Singh, P., Carraher, C., & Schwarzbauer, J. E. (2010). Assembly of fibronectin extracellular matrix. Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology, 26, 397–419.
- Snow, D., Smith, J., & Gurwell, J. (2002). Binding characteristics of chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans and laminin-1, and correlative neurite outgrowth behaviors in a standard tissue culture choice assay. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 51, 285–301.
- Subramanian, A., Krishnan, U. M., & Sethuraman, S. (2011). Fabrication of uniaxially aligned 3D electrospun scaffolds for neural regeneration. *Biomedical Materials*, 6, 1797–1809.
- Suzuki, Y., Tanihara, M., Ohnishi, K., Suzuki, K., Endo, K., & Nishimura, Y. (1999). Cat peripheral nerve regeneration across 50 mm gap repaired with a novel nerve guide composed of freeze-dried alginate gel. *Neuroscience Letters*, 259, 75–78.

- Tashiro, K., Sephels, G. C., Weeks, B., Sasakig, M., Martinn, G. R., Kleinman, H. K., et al. (1989). A synthetic peptide containing the IKVAV sequence from the A chain of laminin mediates cell attachment, migration, and neurite outgrowth. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 264, 16174–16182.
- Tona, A., & Perides, G. (1993). Effect of highly concentrated gels of sodium hyaluronate on early phases of regeneration in the transected and tubulized rat sciatic nerve. *Restorative Neurology and Neuroscience*, 5, 151–154.
- Tong, X., Hirai, K., Shimada, H., Mizutani, Y., Izumi, T., Toda, N., et al. (1994). Sciatic nerve regeneration navigated by laminin-fibronectin double coated biodegradable collagen grafts in rats. *Brain Research*, 663, 155–162.
- Tonge, D. A., Golding, J. P., Edbladh, M., Kroon, M., Ekström, P. E., & Edström, A. (1997). Effects of extracellular matrix components on axonal outgrowth from peripheral nerves of adult animals in vitro. *Experimental Neurology*, 146, 81–90.
- Udina, E., Ladak, A., Furey, M., Brushart, T., Tyreman, N., & Gordon, T. (2010). Rolipram-induced elevation of cAMP or chondroitinase ABC breakdown of inhibitory proteoglycans in the extracellular matrix promotes peripheral nerve regeneration. *Experimental Neurology*, 223, 143–152.
- Ughrin, Y. M., Chen, Z. J., & Levine, J. M. (2003). Multiple regions of the NG2 proteoglycan inhibit neurite growth and induce growth cone collapse. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 23, 175–186.
- Valentini, R., Aebischer, P., Winn, S., & Galletti, P. (1987). Collagen- and laminincontaining gels impede peripheral nerve regeneration through semipermeable nerve guidance channels. *Experimental Neurology*, 98, 350–356.
- Verdú, E., Labrador, R. O., Rodríguez, F. J., Ceballos, D., Forés, J., & Navarro, X. (2002). Alignment of collagen and laminin-containing gels improve nerve regeneration within silicone tubes. *Restorative Neurology and Neuroscience*, 20, 169–179.
- Wallquist, W., Patarroyo, M., Thams, S., Carlstedt, T., Stark, B., & Cullheim, S. (2002). Laminin chains in rat and human peripheral nerve: Distribution and regulation during development and after axonal injury. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 293, 284–293.
- Wang, G., Hirai, K., Shimada, H., Taji, S., & Zhong, S. Z. (1992). Behavior of axons, Schwann cells and perineurial cells in nerve regeneration within transplanted nerve grafts: Effects of anti-laminin and anti-fibronectin antisera. *Brain Research*, 583, 216–226.
- Wang, W., Itoh, S., Konno, K., Kikkawa, T., Ichinose, S., Sakai, K., et al. (2009). Effects of Schwann cell alignment along the oriented electrospun chitosan nanofibers on nerve regeneration. *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research, Part A*, 91, 994–1005.
- Whitworth, I., Brown, R., Doré, C., Green, C., & Terenghi, G. (1995). Orientated mats of fibronectin as a conduit material for use in peripheral nerve repair. *Journal of Hand Surgery*, 20, 429–436.
- Williams, L., Danielsen, N., Müller, H., & Varon, S. (1987). Exogenous matrix precursors promote functional nerve regeneration across a 15-mm gap within a silicone chamber in the rat. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 264, 284–290.
- Williams, L., Longo, F., Powell, H., Lundborg, G., & Varon, S. (1983). Spatial-temporal progress of peripheral nerve regeneration within a silicone chamber: Parameters for a bioassay. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 218, 460–470.
- Willits, R., & Skornia, S. (2004). Effect of collagen gel stiffness on neurite extension. Journal of Biomaterials Science. Polymer Edition, 15, 1521–1531.
- Wood, M. D., & Willits, R. K. (2009). Applied electric field enhances DRG neurite growth: Influence of stimulation media, surface coating and growth supplements. *Journal of Neural Engineering*, 6, 8.
- Yang, Y., Ding, F., Wu, J., Hu, W., Liu, W., Liu, J., et al. (2007). Development and evaluation of silk fibroin-based nerve grafts used for peripheral nerve regeneration. *Biomaterials*, 28, 5526–5535.

- Yannas, I., Zhang, M., & Spilker, M. (2007). Standardized criterion to analyze and directly compare various materials and models for peripheral nerve regeneration. *Journal of Biomaterials Science. Polymer Edition*, 18, 943–966.
- Yoshii, S., Oka, M., Shima, M., Taniguchi, A., & Akagi, M. (2003). Bridging a 30-mm nerve defect using collagen filaments. *Journal of Biomedical Material Research Part A*, 67, 467–474.
- Yu, X., Dillon, G., & Bellamkonda, R. (1999). A laminin and nerve growth factor-laden three-dimensional scaffold for enhanced neurite extension. *Tissue Engineering*, 5, 291–304.
- Zuo, J., Ferguson, T. A., Hernandez, Y. J., Stetler-Stevenson, W. G., & Muir, D. (1998). Neuronal matrix metalloproteinase-2 degrades and inactivates a neurite-inhibiting chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 18, 5203–5211.
- Zuo, J., Hernandez, Y. J., & Muir, D. (1998). Chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan with neuriteinhibiting activity is up-regulated following peripheral nerve injury. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 34, 41–54.

INDEX

Note: Page numbers followed by "f" indicate figures, and "t" indicate tables.

Α

Adeno-associated virus (AAV), 41 Adipose-derived stem cells (ASCs) bioengineered nerve grafts, 122, 123f stem cells, peripheral nerve repair, 124-126 UASC (see Undifferentiated adiposederived stem cells (UASCs)) Adipose tissue stem cells, 18-19 Alpha-melanocyte stimulating hormone (alphaMSH), 209 alphaMSH. See Alpha-melanocyte stimulating hormone (alphaMSH) Antigen-presenting cells (APCs), 193, 194 APCs. See Antigen-presenting cells (APCs) Artificial biomatrices alginate, 267-268 ECM peptides, 269 fibronectin cues, 269 gelatin, 267-268 nanotechnology, 268 nerve graft, 269-270 polymers, 268 synthetic tubes/scaffolds, 269 tissue engineering, 267 ASCs. See Adipose-derived stem cells (ASCs) Axonal regeneration. See also Peripheral axon regeneration cellular mechanisms, 141 exogenous neuropeptides and cytokines, 149-150 *in vitro* (*see In vitro* axonal regeneration) in vivo (see In vivo axonal regeneration) Axon elongation interstitial branching, 151 intracellular cytoskeletal components, 150 - 151neuronal signaling pathways (see Neuronal signaling pathways) sprouty negative feedback, RTK signaling, 157-158

terminal branching, 151, 152*f* Axonotmesis injuries MSCs, 92–93 and neurotmesis, 82, 85–87 rat sciatic nerve, 102–104, 110–114 Axon regeneration cytokines and myelin debris, 178–180 exogenous neuropeptides and cytokines, 149–150 TLRs and complement components, 178

В

BACE-1. See β-site of amyloid precursor protein-cleaving enzyme (BACE-1) Bands of Bügner, 61, 80-82, 122-123 BDNF. See Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) Bioengineered nerve grafts, 122, 123f Biological and synthetic nerve conduits, 192 Biomaterials, 41-43, 83-91, 242-245 Biomaterials and delivery system, NRG1 adenoviruses coding, 241-242 biomaterials, 242-245 injection, coding viruses, 247 strategies, 241-242, 243t subcutaneous injection, 242 transplantation, 245-246 BM-MSCs. See Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells (BM-MSCs) BMSCs. See Bone marrow stromal cells (BMSCs) Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells (BM-MSCs) adult stem cells, humans, 62-63 advantages, 63 cell-mediated therapy, 73 cellular and molecular bases, 61-62 and DRG explants/neurons, 66-67 features, 71-72 growth factors and cytokines, 68 mechanisms, 64, 65f paracrine effects, 67-68

Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells (BM-MSCs) (*Continued*) transdifferentiation potential, 63, 64*f* Bone marrow stromal cells (BMSCs), 3–4 Bone TE, 3–4, 4*f* Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), 143–145, 147, 149

С

Cartilage TE, 4-5 Cell-based therapy, nerve regeneration, 62 Cell-mediated therapy, 73 Cell transdifferentiation mechanism, 70 Cell transplantation, 39–40 Chitin, 85-87 Chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans (CSPGs), 262-263, 265 Chronic constriction injury (CCI), 214 Compression molding, particulate leaching, 16 - 17Crush injury, 104-105, 105f CSPGs. See Chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans (CSPGs) Cytokines and axon regeneration and myelin debris, 178 - 180description, 180 "double-edged sword", 180 IL-1β, 181–182 lesion site (see Lesion site) nerve injury (see Nerve injury) nerve regeneration, 181 neuropoietic cytokine family, 183-185 prostanoids, 185-186 Schwann cells, 181 termination, inflammatory response, 180 - 181TNFa, 182 upregulation, 180-181

D

dASCs. See Differentiated adipose-derived stem cells (dASCs) Differentiated adipose-derived stem cells (dASCs), 128–130 DMNV. See Dorsal motor nucleus of the vagus (DMNV) Dorsal motor nucleus of the vagus (DMNV), 213 Dorsal root ganglion (DRG) coculture, neurons, 70 explants/neurons and BM-MSCs, 66–67 satellite cells, 67 DRG. See Dorsal root ganglion (DRG)

Е

Electrical stimulation techniques, 44 Electrospinning, 15–17 Embryonic stem cells (ESCs), 124 Enzymatic protocol, 98, 99f Enzyme-free tissue explant protocol, 98–99, 100fEPO. See Erythropoietin (EPO) ERK. See Extracellular signal regulated kinase (ERK) Erythropoietin (EPO), 72 ESCs. See Embryonic stem cells (ESCs) Extracellular matrix (ECM) components artificial biomatrices (see Artificial biomatrices) artificial nerve guides, 259-260 autologous graft, 259-260 axonal regeneration, 263-267 collagen, 261 CSPGs, 262-263 distal nerve, 258-259 fibrin, 263 fibronectin, 261-262 integrins, 262 laminins, 261 microsurgical intervention reconnects, 259-260 noncollagen glycoprotein molecules, 262 peripheral nerve microstructure, 260 proteoglycans, 262-263 trophic and tropic support, axonal growth cone, 258–259, 258f tube repair, 259-260 Extracellular signal regulated kinase (ERK), 155-156, 235

F

Fetal-derived cells, tissue engineering, 91–93 FGF. See Fibroblast growth factor (FGF) Fiber bonding, 12–13 Fibroblast growth factor (FGF), 145, 148–149

279

G

Gene transfer, 41 Ghrelin acylation, 210 alphaMSH, 209 antiatrophy effect, 211 antiinflammatory action, 210 description, 209 dramatic muscle atrophy, 208 gonadal steroids, 209 growth hormone (GH), 211 human patients and experimental models, 211 nerve function, after traumatic injury, 214 - 216nerve regeneration, 208 and nervous system, 211-214 parathyroid hormone related peptide (PTHrP), 208-209 peripheral nerve regeneration, 208 pharmacological approach, 216 plasma ghrelin levels, 210 progesterone, 208-209 putative positive effects, 216 thyroid hormone, 208-209 treatment, cancer cachexia, 211 tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), 208 - 209unacylated ghrelin, 210-211 GHSR. See Growth hormone secretagogue receptor (GHSR) Graft pretreatment, 194-195 Growth hormone secretagogue receptor (GHSR), 210, 211-212, 213

Н

Host immunosuppression, 195-196

I

IGFs. See Insulin-like growth factors (IGFs) In vivo testing, rat sciatic nerve model, 102–110 Induced pluripotent stem cells, 124 Inflammatory reactions, nerve grafting autologous grafts, 191 biological and synthetic nerve conduits, 192 graft pretreatment, 194–195 host immunosuppression, 195–196

non-autologous nerve grafts, 193-194 Insulin-like growth factors (IGFs), 148 Interleukin-1β (IL-1β), 181–182, 186-187 Intervertebral disc (IVD) TE, 7-8 Intracerebroventricular (icv) administration, ghrelin, 213-214 In vitro axonal regeneration dorsal root ganglia (DRG), 263-264 laminin and fibronectin-coated substrates, 263-264 motoneuron outgrowth, 264 neurite extension, 264 surface coating, 3D matrices, 263, 263f In vivo axonal regeneration adequate exogenous matrix, 267 antifibronectin antibody, 265 antilaminin antibodies, 265 artificial nerve graft, 265–266, 265f 3D cultures, 266 ECM components, 265 fibronectin, 265-267 laminin-containing gel, 265-266 Ischemia/reperfusion (I/R) injury, 214 Isolation protocol validation, MSCs, 95-101

L

Lesion site axonal sprouting, 139–140, 149 exogenous neuropeptides and cytokines, 149–150 PNS, 146–149 Leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF), 183, 188, 190–191 LIF. See Leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF)

Μ

MAG. See Myelin associated glycoprotein (MAG)
Major histocompatibility complex (MHC), 193, 194–195
Meniscus TE, 6
Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) BM-MSCs, 18–19 cell line and differentiation, neurogliallike cells, 101–102 growth, rapid protoyped scaffold, 8–10, 9f Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) (Continued) isolation protocol validation, Wharton's jelly, 95-101 secretome, 19-20 UC-MSCs, 20-21 UC transport validation, from hospital to laboratory, 93–95, 95f WJ-MSCs, 20-21 MHC. See Major histocompatibility complex (MHC) MSCs. See Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) Myelin associated glycoprotein (MAG), 178 - 179Myelination axonal segregation and ensheathment, 228-235 ensheathment fate, axons, 228, 229t ERK signaling pathway, 235 NRG1 cleavage and consequences, 236-237

NRG1-type III- β 1a overexpression, 228 soluble NRG1, 235

Ν

Natural biomaterials, 85-87 Nerve grafting. See Inflammatory reactions, nerve grafting Nerve growth factor (NGF) and BDNF, 68-69 NGF-β, 66–67 proteomic analysis, secretory proteins, 66-67 Nerve injury cell-type dependent, 144–146 neuronal survival, after lesion in adults, 143-144 polypeptide families, peripheral axon regeneration, 142-143 Nerve reconstruction, 82-93 Nerve regeneration and ASCs (see Adipose-derived stem cells (ASCs)) cell-based therapy, 62 and degeneration, 61-62 ErbB2 antagonist, 240 heterodimer receptor ErbB2-ErbB3, 240 neuronal NRG1-type III, 241 NRG1-type I and -type II isoforms, 240

remyelination, 241 SC dedifferentiation and proliferation, 240 SC survival, 241 NeuN. See Neuronal nuclei (NeuN) Neural stem cells (NSCs), 8-10 Neural TE, 8-11 Neuregulin 1 (NRG1) Acorda Therapeutics, 248 autograft, 247 BACE-1 cleavage, 227 biomaterials and delivery system (see Biomaterials and delivery system, NRG1) description, 224 EGF-like domain, 226-227 exogenous axonal transmembrane expression, 247 immunoglobulin (Ig)-like domain, 226 isoforms, 224, 225f nerve regeneration (see Nerve regeneration) N-terminal exons, 224-226 peripheral nerve injury and repair (see Peripheral nerve injury) PNS, 227 promyelinating activity, 248 remyelination, 248 SC myelination (see Myelination) TACE cleavage, 227 TACE inhibitors, 247–248 tissue engineered medical devices, 248 - 249Neuromuscular recovery promoting factor. See Ghrelin Neuronal nuclei (NeuN), 102, 110–114 Neuronal signaling pathways ERK pathway, 155-156 growth factors, 151–153 intraneuronal transport, growth factors, 153–155, 154f ligand-receptor complex, 153–155 PI3K/Akt- and Ras/Raf/ERK-signaling pathways, 151–153, 153f PI3K pathway, 156-157 plasma membrane-bound RTKs, 153–155, 155f

sprouty negative feedback, RTK signaling, 157-158, 158f Neuropathic pain (NPP) induction, 174, 196 Neuropoietic cytokine family autocrine-signaling inflammatory cascade, 184 axotomized hypoglossal nerve, 184 description, 183 Gp130-deficient mice, 184–185 gp130/JAK/STAT3 signaling pathway, IL-6 receptor, 183-184 LIF, 188, 190-191 myelinating Schwann cells, 183 nerve injury, 188 peripheral nerve injury, 183 sciatic nerve, 183 STAT3 activation, 185, 191 Neurotmesis injuries and axonotmesis, 82 microsurgical technique, 83-85 transaction, 104-105 uses, 102-104 Neurotrophic factors, 65–66 Neurotrophin (NT), 144-145, 147-148 NGF. See Nerve growth factor (NGF) Non-autologous nerve grafts, 193-194 NRG1. See Neuregulin 1 (NRG1) NSCs. See Neural stem cells (NSCs) NT. See Neurotrophin (NT) NTS. See Nucleus of the solitary tract (NTS) Nucleus of the solitary tract (NTS), 213

0

Organ/tissue transplantation acellularized nerve allografts, 39 cell, 39–40 gene transfer, 41 skeletal muscle guides, 38 veins, 38 Osteochondral (OCD) TE, 5–6, 5*f*

Ρ

Perinatal-derived cells, 91–92 Peripheral axon regeneration

axon elongation vs. sprouting, 150-158 lesion site (see Lesion site) nerve injury, 142-146 polypeptidergic growth factors and neuropoietic cytokines, 159 sprouting (see Sprouting) Peripheral nerve injury artificial nerve guidance channels (NGCs), 239–240 autografts, 237-240 axons, 237-239 nerve short gap versus long gap, 237-239, 238f and regenerative medicine MSCs, Wharton jelly, 93–102 nerve reconstruction, 82-93 Peripheral nerve regeneration cytokines (see Cytokines) ECM (see Extracellular matrix (ECM) components) immune reaction functions, 174 interleukin-1β, 186–187 neuropoietic cytokine family (see Neuropoietic cytokine family) NRG1 (see Neuregulin 1 (NRG1)) TNFα, 187–188, 189f, 190f WD (see Wallerian degeneration (WD)) Peripheral nerve repair. See Stem cells, peripheral nerve repair Peripheral nerve tissue engineering biomaterial science, 41-43 pharmacology, 45-46 physical therapy, 44-45 reconstructive microsurgery, 36-37 transplantation, 37-41 Peripheral nervous system (PNS), 143, 146-149, 227, 237-239 Peripheral neuropathies, 72 PGA. See Poly-glycolic acid (PGA) Pharmacology, 45–46 Phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase (PI3K), 156 - 157Phototherapy, 44 Physical therapy, functional rehabilitation, 44-45 PI3K. See Phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase (PI3K) PNS. See Peripheral nervous system (PNS)

Poly(vinyl alcohol) (PVA) definition, 88–89 synthetic biodegradable tubes, 90 tube-guide, 89–90, 90*f*Poly(DL-lactide-e-caprolactone) (PLC) copolyester, 88, 110–114
Poly-glycolic acid (PGA), 10–11, 12–13
POMC. See Proopiomelanocortin (POMC)
Proopiomelanocortin (POMC), 212
Prostanoids, 185–186
PVA. See Poly(vinyl alcohol) (PVA)

R

Rapid prototyping, 14-15 Rat sciatic nerve model functional assessment, 105-109 morphologic assessment, 109-110 surgery technique and standardized injury, 102-105 Receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs), 157-158, 158f Reconstructive microsurgery, 36-37 Regenerative medicine. See Tissue engineering and regenerative medicine (TERM) Remyelination, 228, 241, 242, 248 Robot-assisted technologies, 37 RTKs. See Receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs)

S

Scaffolding technologies electrospinning, 15-17 fiber bonding, 12-13 rapid prototyping, 14-15 wet-spinning, 14 Schwann cells (SCs) bioactive factors, 192 chemotactic signals, macrophage recruitment, 184 cytokines and chemokines, 179, 180-181 distal nerve stump, 181 early phase, WD, 179, 181 and fibroblasts, 181-182 graft, 193 heterodimeric receptor ErbB2/ErbB3, 227 immature cells, 181

morphological and phenotypic characteristics, 70 myelination (see Myelination) myelin phagocytosis, 179 peripheral nerve injury, 62 phagocytic process, 61 SOCS3 protein, 185 TLR signaling, 176, 178 SCI. See Spinal cord injury (SCI) SC myelination. See Myelination SCs. See Schwann cells (SCs) Signal transducers and activators of transcription (STATs), 183, 185 β-site of amyloid precursor protein-cleaving enzyme (BACE-1), 227, 236-237 SOCS3. See Suppressor of cytokine signaling 3 (SOCS3) SPCL. See Starch-polycaprolactone (SPCL) Spinal cord injury (SCI), 8-10, 9f Sprouting axons, lesion site, 139–140, 140f cellular mechanisms, 141 denervated muscles, axons, 142 vs. axon elongation (see Axon elongation) Starch-polycaprolactone (SPCL), 12–13, 15 STATs. See Signal transducers and activators of transcription (STATs) Stem cells, peripheral nerve repair BM-MSC, 124-125 classical mesenchymal lineage, 126 definition, 124 SVF, 125-126 Stromal vascular fraction (SVF), 125-127 Supercritical-assisted phase inversion, 17 Suppressor of cytokine signaling 3 (SOCS3), 185 Surgery technique and standardized injury, 102 - 105SVF. See Stromal vascular fraction (SVF) Synthetic biomaterials Neurolac[®], 87–88 PLC polymer membranes, 88 PVA, 88–89 tube-guides, 89-90

Т

TACE. See Tumor necrosis factor-αconverting enzyme (TACE) TERM. See Tissue engineering and regenerative medicine (TERM) Terminal Schwann cells (TSCs), 142 Tissue engineered medical devices, 248-249 Tissue engineering and regenerative medicine (TERM) bone, 3–4, 4f cartilage, 4-5 IVD, 7-8 meniscus, 6 neural TE, 8-11 OCD, 5–6, 5f scaffolding technologies, 11-17 stem cells, 17-21 Tissue engineering, peripheral nerve, 46, 47f TLRs. See Toll-like receptors (TLRs) Toll-like receptors (TLRs), 176, 177f, 178 Transdifferentiation process, 70 Transplantation. See Organ/tissue transplantation Traumatic injury ghrelin promotes motor nerve function, 214 - 216Wallerian degeneration (WD), 175–180 TSCs. See Terminal Schwann cells (TSCs) Tumor necrosis factor α (TNF α), 182, 187–188, 189f, 190f Tumor necrosis factor-α-converting enzyme (TACE), 227, 236, 247-248

U

UC-MSCs. See Umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells (UC-MSCs) Umbilical cord (UC). See Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) Umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells (UC-MSCs), 20–21 Undifferentiated adipose-derived stem cells (UASCs) in vitro studies, 126 in vivo models, 127–128

W

Wallerian degeneration (WD) axonal degeneration, 175-176 axon injury triggers molecular, 175 axon regeneration, 178 calpains, 175-176 complement system, 176-178 cytokines, myelin and axon regeneration, 178-180 description, 175 proteolytic degradation, 175-176 TLRs, 176, 178 Warburg effect, 110–114 WD. See Wallerian degeneration (WD) Wet-spinning, 14 Wharton jelly MSCs (WJ-MSCs), 12-13, 13f. See also Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs)

CONTENTS OF RECENT VOLUMES

Volume 37

Section I: Selectionist Ideas and Neurobiology

Selectionist and Instructionist Ideas in Neuroscience Olaf Sporns

Population Thinking and Neuronal Selection: Metaphors or Concepts?

Ernst Mayr

Selection and the Origin of Information Manfred Eigen

Section II: Development and Neuronal Populations

Morphoregulatory Molecules and Selectional Dynamics during Development Kathryn L. Crossin

Exploration and Selection in the Early Acquisition of Skill

Esther Thelen and Daniela Corbetta

Population Activity in the Control of Movement Apostolos P. Georgopoulos

Section III: Functional Segregation and Integration in the Brain

Reentry and the Problem of Cortical Integration Giulio Tononi

Coherence as an Organizing Principle of Cortical Functions Wolf Singerl

Temporal Mechanisms in Perception Ernst Pöppel

Section IV: Memory and Models

Selection versus Instruction: Use of Computer Models to Compare Brain Theories George N. Reeke, Jr.

Memory and Forgetting: Long-Term and Gradual Changes in Memory Storage *Larry R. Squire*

Implicit Knowledge: New Perspectives on Unconscious Processes Daniel L. Schacter Section V: Psychophysics, Psychoanalysis, and Neuropsychology

Phantom Limbs, Neglect Syndromes, Repressed Memories, and Freudian Psychology V. S. Ramachandran

Neural Darwinism and a Conceptual Crisis in Psychoanalysis Amold H. Modell

A New Vision of the Mind Oliver Sacks

INDEX

Volume 38

Regulation of GABA_A Receptor Function and Gene Expression in the Central Nervous System *A. Leslie Morrow*

Genetics and the Organization of the Basal Ganglia

Robert Hitzemann, Yeang Olan, Stephen Kanes, Katherine Dains, and Barbara Hitzemann

Structure and Pharmacology of Vertebrate GABA_A Receptor Subtypes Paul J. Whiting, Ruth M. McKernan, and Keith

A. Wafford Neurotransmitter Transporters: Molecular

Biology, Function, and Regulation Beth Borowsky and Beth J. Hoffman

Presynaptic Excitability Meyer B. Jackson

Monoamine Neurotransmitters in Invertebrates and Vertebrates: An Examination of the Diverse Enzymatic Pathways Utilized to Synthesize and Inactivate Biogenic Amines

B. D. Sloley and A. V. Juorio

Neurotransmitter Systems in Schizophrenia Gavin P. Reynolds

Physiology of Bergmann Glial Cells Thomas Müller and Helmut Kettenmann

Index

Volume 39

Modulation of Amino Acid-Gated Ion Channels by Protein Phosphorylation

Stephen J. Moss and Trevor G. Smart

Use-Dependent Regulation of GABA_A Receptors

Eugene M. Barnes, Jr.

Synaptic Transmission and Modulation in the Neostriatum

David M. Lovinger and Elizabeth Tyler

The Cytoskeleton and Neurotransmitter Receptors

Valerie J. Whatley and R. Adron Harris

Endogenous Opioid Regulation of Hippocampal Function

Michele L. Simmons and Charles Chavkin

Molecular Neurobiology of the Cannabinoid Receptor

Mary E. Abood and Billy R. Martin

Genetic Models in the Study of Anesthetic Drug Action

Victoria J. Simpson and Thomas E. Johnson

Neurochemical Bases of Locomotion and Ethanol Stimulant Effects

Tamara J. Phillips and Elaine H. Shen

Effects of Ethanol on Ion Channels Fulton T. Crews, A. Leslie Morrow, Hugh Criswell, and George Breese

Index

Volume 40

Mechanisms of Nerve Cell Death: Apoptosis or Necrosis after Cerebral Ischemia

R. M. E. Chalmers-Redman, A. D. Fraser, W. Y. H. Ju, J. Wadia, N. A. Tatton, and W. G. Tatton

Changes in Ionic Fluxes during Cerebral Ischemia Tibor Kristian and Bo K. Siesjo

Techniques for Examining Neuroprotective Drugs *in Vitro*

A. Richard Green and Alan J. Cross

Techniques for Examining Neuroprotective Drugs in Vivo Mark P. Goldberg, Uta Strasser, and Laura L. Dugan Calcium Antagonists: Their Role in Neuroprotection *A. Jacqueline Hunter*

Sodium and Potassium Channel Modulators: Their Role in Neuroprotection Tihomir P. Obrenovich

NMDA Antagonists: Their Role in Neuroprotection Danial L. Small

Development of the NMDA Ion-Channel Blocker, Aptiganel Hydrochloride, as a Neuroprotective Agent for Acute CNS Injury *Robert N. McBurney*

The Pharmacology of AMPA Antagonists and Their Role in Neuroprotection Rammy Gill and David Lodge

GABA and Neuroprotection Patrick D. Lyden

Adenosine and Neuroprotection Bertil B. Fredholm

Interleukins and Cerebral Ischemia Nancy J. Rothwell, Sarah A. Loddick, and Paul Stroemer

Nitrone-Based Free Radical Traps as Neuroprotective Agents in Cerebral Ischemia and Other Pathologies

Kenneth Hensley, John M. Carney, Charles A. Stewart, Tahera Tabatabaie, Quentin Pye, and Robert A. Floyd

Neurotoxic and Neuroprotective Roles of Nitric Oxide in Cerebral Ischemia Turgay Dalkara and Michael A. Moskowitz

A Review of Earlier Clinical Studies on Neuroprotective Agents and Current Approaches *Nils-Gunnar Wahlgren*

INDEX

Volume 41

Section I: Historical Overview

Rediscovery of an Early Concept Jeremy D. Schmahmann

Section II: Anatomic Substrates

The Cerebrocerebellar System Jeremy D. Schmahmann and Deepak N. Pandya Cerebellar Output Channels Frank A. Middleton and Peter L. Strick Cerebellar-Hypothalamic Axis: Basic Circuits and Clinical Observations Duane E. Haines, Espen Dietrichs, Gregory A. Mihailoff, and E. Frank McDonald Section III. Physiological Observations Amelioration of Aggression: Response to Selective Cerebellar Lesions in the Rhesus Monkey Aaron J. Berman Autonomic and Vasomotor Regulation Donald J. Reis and Eugene V. Golanov Associative Learning Richard F. Thompson, Shaowen Bao, Lu Chen, Benjamin D. Cipriano, Jeffrey S. Grethe, Jeansok J. Kim, Judith K. Thompson, Jo Anne Tracy, Martha S. Weninger, and

David J. Krupa Visuospatial Abilities

Robert Lalonde

Spatial Event Processing Marco Molinari, Laura Petrosini, and Liliana G. Grammaldo

Section IV: Functional Neuroimaging Studies

Linguistic Processing Julie A. Fiez and Marcus E. Raichle

Sensory and Cognitive Functions Lawrence M. Parsons and Peter T. Fox

Skill Learning Julien Doyon

Section V: Clinical and Neuropsychological Observations

Executive Function and Motor Skill Learning Mark Hallett and Jordon Grafman

Verbal Fluency and Agrammatism Marco Molinari, Maria G. Leggio, and Maria C. Silveri

Classical Conditioning Diana S. Woodruff-Pak

Early Infantile Autism Margaret L. Bauman, Pauline A. Filipek, and Thomas L. Kemper Olivopontocerebellar Atrophy and Friedreich's Ataxia: Neuropsychological Consequences of Bilateral versus Unilateral Cerebellar Lesions Thérèse Botez-Marquard and Mihai I. Botez

Posterior Fossa Syndrome Ian F. Pollack

Cerebellar Cognitive Affective Syndrome Jeremy D. Schmahmann and Janet C. Sherman

Inherited Cerebellar Diseases Claus W. Wallesch and Claudius Bartels

Neuropsychological Abnormalities in Cerebellar Syndromes—Fact or Fiction? Irene Daum and Hermann Ackermann

Section VI: Theoretical Considerations

Cerebellar Microcomplexes Masao Ito

Control of Sensory Data Acquisition James M. Bower

Neural Representations of Moving Systems Michael Paulin

How Fibers Subserve Computing Capabilities: Similarities between Brains and Machines Henrietta C. Leiner and Alan L. Leiner

Cerebellar Timing Systems Richard Ivry

Attention Coordination and Anticipatory Control Natacha A. Akshoomoff, Eric Courchesne, and Jeanne Townsend

Context-Response Linkage W. Thomas Thach

Duality of Cerebellar Motor and Cognitive Functions James R. Bloedel and Vlastislav Bracha

Section VII: Future Directions

Therapeutic and Research Implications Jeremy D. Schmahmann

Volume 42

Alzheimer Disease Mark A. Smith

Neurobiology of Stroke W. Dalton Dietrich
Free Radicals, Calcium, and the Synaptic Plasticity-Cell Death Continuum: Emerging Roles of the Trascription Factor $NF\kappa B$

Mark P. Mattson

AP-I Transcription Factors: Short- and Long-Term Modulators of Gene Expression in the Brain *Keith Pennypacker*

Ion Channels in Epilepsy Istvan Mody

Posttranslational Regulation of Ionotropic Glutamate Receptors and Synaptic Plasticity

Xiaoning Bi, Steve Standley, and Michel Baudry

Heritable Mutations in the Glycine, GABA_A, and Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptors Provide New Insights into the Ligand-Gated Ion Channel Receptor Superfamily

Behnaz Vafa and Peter R. Schofield

Index

Volume 43

Early Development of the *Drosophila* Neuromuscular Junction: A Model for Studying Neuronal Networks in Development

Akira Chiba

Development of Larval Body Wall Muscles Michael Bate, Matthias Landgraf, and Mar Ruiz Gómez Bate

Development of Electrical Properties and Synaptic Transmission at the Embryonic Neuromuscular Junction

Kendal S. Broadie

Ultrastructural Correlates of Neuromuscular Junction Development

Mary B. Rheuben, Motojiro Yoshihara, and Yoshiaki Kidokoro

Assembly and Maturation of the Drosophila Larval Neuromuscular Junction L. Sian Gramates and Vivian Budnik

Second Messenger Systems Underlying Plasticity at the Neuromuscular Junction Frances Hannan and Yi Zhong

Mechanisms of Neurotransmitter Release J. Troy Littleton, Leo Pallanck, and Barry Ganetzky Vesicle Recycling at the Drosophila Neuromuscular Junction

Daniel T. Stimson and Mani Ramaswami

Ionic Currents in Larval Muscles of Drosophila Satpal Singh and Chun-Fang Wu

Development of the Adult Neuromuscular System

Joyce J. Fernandes and Haig Keshishian

Controlling the Motor Neuron James R. Trimarchi, Ping Jin, and Rodney K. Murphey

Volume 44

Human Ego-Motion Perception A. V. van den Berg

Optic Flow and Eye Movements M. Lappe and K.-P. Hoffman

The Role of MST Neurons during Ocular Tracking in 3D Space

K. Kawano, U. Inoue, A. Takemura, Y. Kodaka, and F. A. Miles

Visual Navigation in Flying Insects M. V. Srinivasan and S.-W. Zhang

Neuronal Matched Filters for Optic Flow Processing in Flying Insects H. G. Krapp

A Common Frame of Reference for the Analysis of Optic Flow and Vestibular Information *B. J. Frost and D. R. W. Wylie*

Optic Flow and the Visual Guidance of Locomotion in the Cat H. Sherk and G. A. Fowler

Stages of Self-Motion Processing in Primate Posterior Parietal Cortex

F. Bremmer, J.-R. Duhamel, S. B. Hamed, and W. Graf

Optic Flow Analysis for Self-Movement Perception

C. J. Duffy

Neural Mechanisms for Self-Motion Perception in Area MST

R. A. Andersen, K. V. Shenoy, J. A. Crowell, and D. C. Bradley Computational Mechanisms for Optic Flow Analysis in Primate Cortex *M. Lappe*

Human Cortical Areas Underlying the Perception of Optic Flow: Brain Imaging Studies *M. W. Greenlee*

What Neurological Patients Tell Us about the Use of Optic Flow

L. M. Vaina and S. K. Rushton

Index

Volume 45

Mechanisms of Brain Plasticity: From Normal Brain Function to Pathology *Philip. A. Schwartzkroin* Brain Development and Generation of Brain Pathologies *Gregory L. Holmes and Bridget McCabe* Maturation of Channels and Receptors: Consequences for Excitability *David F. Owens and Arnold R. Kriegstein*

Neuronal Activity and the Establishment of Normal and Epileptic Circuits during Brain Development

John W. Swann, Karen L. Smith, and Chong L. Lee

The Effects of Seizures of the Hippocampus of the Immature Brain

Ellen F. Sperber and Solomon L. Moshe

Abnormal Development and Catastrophic Epilepsies: The Clinical Picture and Relation to Neuroimaging

Harry T. Chugani and Diane C. Chugani

Cortical Reorganization and Seizure Generation in Dysplastic Cortex

G. Avanzini, R. Preafico, S. Franceschetti, G. Sancini, G. Battaglia, and V. Scaioli

Rasmussen's Syndrome with Particular Reference to Cerebral Plasticity: A Tribute to Frank Morrell

Fredrick Andermann and Yuonne Hart

Structural Reorganization of Hippocampal Networks Caused by Seizure Activity Daniel H. Lowenstein Epilepsy-Associated Plasticity in gamma-Amniobutyric Acid Receptor Expression, Function and Inhibitory Synaptic Properties Douglas A. Coulter

Synaptic Plasticity and Secondary Epileptogenesis Timothy J. Teyler, Steven L. Morgan, Rebecca N. Russell, and Brian L. Woodside

Synaptic Plasticity in Epileptogenesis: Cellular Mechanisms Underlying Long-Lasting Synaptic Modifications that Require New Gene Expression

Oswald Steward, Christopher S. Wallace, and Paul F. Worley

Cellular Correlates of Behavior Emma R. Wood, Paul A. Dudchenko, and Howard Eichenbaum

Mechanisms of Neuronal Conditioning David A. T. King, David J. Krupa, Michael R. Foy, and Richard F. Thompson

Plasticity in the Aging Central Nervous System C. A. Barnes

Secondary Epileptogenesis, Kindling, and Intractable Epilepsy: A Reappraisal from the Perspective of Neuronal Plasticity

Thomas P. Sutula

Kindling and the Mirror Focus Dan C. McIntyre and Michael O. Poulter

Partial Kindling and Behavioral Pathologies Robert E. Adamec

The Mirror Focus and Secondary Epileptogenesis B. J. Wilder

Hippocampal Lesions in Epilepsy: A Historical Review

Robert Naquet

Clinical Evidence for Secondary Epileptogensis Hans O. Luders

Epilepsy as a Progressive (or Nonprogressive "Benign") Disorder John A. Wada

Pathophysiological Aspects of Landau-Kleffner Syndrome: From the Active Epileptic Phase to Recovery

Marie-Noelle Metz-Lutz, Pierre Maquet, Annd De Saint Martin, Gabrielle Rudolf, Norma Wioland, Edouard Hirsch, and Chriatian Marescaux Local Pathways of Seizure Propagation in Neocortex

- Barry W. Connors, David J. Pinto, and Albert E. Telefeian
- Multiple Subpial Transection: A Clinical Assessment

C. E. Polkey

The Legacy of Frank Morrell Jerome Engel, Jr.

Volume 46

- Neurosteroids: Beginning of the Story Etienne E. Baulieu, P. Robel, and M. Schumacher
- Biosynthesis of Neurosteroids and Regulation of Their Synthesis

Synthia H. Mellon and Hubert Vaudry

Neurosteroid 7-Hydroxylation Products in the Brain

Robert Morfin and Luboslav Stárka

Neurosteroid Analysis Ahmed A. Alomary, Robert L. Fitzgerald, and Robert H. Purdy

Role of the Peripheral-Type Benzodiazepine Receptor in Adrenal and Brain Steroidogenesis Rachel C. Brown and Vassilios Papadopoulos

Formation and Effects of Neuroactive Steroids in the Central and Peripheral Nervous System

Roberto Cosimo Melcangi, Valerio Magnaghi, Mariarita Galbiati, and Luciano Martini

Neurosteroid Modulation of Recombinant and Synaptic GABA_A Receptors

Jeremy J. Lambert, Sarah C. Harney, Delia Belelli, and John A. Peters

GABA_A-Receptor Plasticity during Long-Term

Exposure to and Withdrawal from Progesterone Giovanni Biggio, Paolo Follesa, Enrico Sanna, Robert H. Purdy, and Alessandra Concas

- Stress and Neuroactive Steroids Maria Luisa Barbaccia, Mariangela Serra, Robert H. Purdy, and Giovanni Biggio
- Neurosteroids in Learning and Memory Processes Monique Vallée, Willy Mayo, George F. Koob, and Michel Le Moal

Neurosteroids and Behavior Sharon R. Engel and Kathleen A. Grant

Ethanol and Neurosteroid Interactions in the Brain

A. Leslie Morrow, Margaret J. VanDoren, Rebekah Fleming, and Shannon Penland

Preclinical Development of Neurosteroids as Neuroprotective Agents for the Treatment of Neurodegenerative Diseases Paul A. Lapchak and Dalia M. Araujo

Clinical Implications of Circulating Neurosteroids Andrea R. Genazzani, Patrizia Monteleone, Massimo Stomati, Francesca Bernardi, Luigi Cobellis, Elena Casarosa, Michele Luisi, Stefano Luisi, and Felice Petraglia

Neuroactive Steroids and Central Nervous System Disorders

Mingde Wang, Torbjörn Bäckström, Inger Sundström, Göran Wahlström, Tommy Olsson, Di Zhu, Inga-Maj Johansson, Inger Björn, and Marie Bixo

Neuroactive Steroids in Neuropsychopharmacology

Rainer Rupprecht and Florian Holsboer

Current Perspectives on the Role of Neurosteroids in PMS and Depression

Lisa D. Griffin, Susan C. Conrad, and Synthia H. Mellon

Index

Volume 47

Introduction: Studying Gene Expression in Neural Tissues by *in Situ* Hybridization *W. Wisden and B. J. Morris*

Part I: In Situ Hybridization with Radiolabelled Oligonucleotides

In Situ Hybridization with Oligonucleotide Probes

Wl. Wisden and B. J. Morris

Cryostat Sectioning of Brains Victoria Revilla and Alison Jones

Processing Rodent Embryonic and Early Postnatal Tissue for *in Situ* Hybridization with Radiolabelled Oligonucleotides

David J. Laurie, Petra C. U. Schrotz, Hannah Monyer, and Ulla Amtmann Processing of Retinal Tissue for *in Situ* Hybridization *Frank Müller*

Processing the Spinal Cord for *in Situ* Hybridization with Radiolabelled Oligonucleotides *A. Berthele and T. R. Tölle*

Processing Human Brain Tissue for *in Situ* Hybridization with Radiolabelled Oligonucleotides *Louise F. B. Nicholson*

In Situ Hybridization of Astrocytes and Neurons Cultured in Vitro

L. A. Arizza-McNaughton, C. De Felipe, and S. P. Hunt

In Situ Hybridization on Organotypic Slice Cultures

A. Gerfin-Moser and H. Monyer

Quantitative Analysis of *in Situ* Hybridization Histochemistry

Andrew L. Gundlach and Ross D. O'Shea

Part II: Nonradioactive in Situ hybridization

Nonradioactive in Situ Hybridization Using Alkaline Phosphatase-Labelled Oligonucleotides

S. J. Augood, E. M. McGowan, B. R. Finsen, B. Heppelmann, and P. C. Emson

Combining Nonradioactive *in Situ* Hybridization with Immunohistological and Anatomical Techniques

Petra Wahle

Nonradioactive *in Situ* Hybridization: Simplified Procedures for Use in Whole Mounts of Mouse and Chick Embryos

Linda Ariza-McNaughton and Robb Krumlauf

INDEX

Volume 48

Assembly and Intracellular Trafficking of GABA_A Receptors Eugene

Barnes

Subcellular Localization and Regulation of $GABA_A$ Receptors and Associated Proteins Bernhard Lüscher and Jean-Marc Fritschy D_1 Dopamine Receptors

Richard Mailman

Molecular Modeling of Ligand-Gated Ion Channels: Progress and Challenges Ed Bertaccini and James R. Trudel

Alzheimer's Disease: Its Diagnosis and Pathogenesis

Jillian J. Kril and Glenda M. Halliday

DNA Arrays and Functional Genomics in Neurobiology

Christelle Thibault, Long Wang, Li Zhang, and Michael F. Miles

Index

Volume 49

What Is West Syndrome?

Olivier Dulac, Christine Soufflet, Catherine Chiron, and Anna Kaminski

The Relationship between encephalopathy and Abnormal Neuronal Activity in the Developing Brain

Frances E. Jensen

Hypotheses from Functional Neuroimaging Studies

Csaba Juhász, Harry T. Chugani, Ouo Muzik, and Diane C. Chugani

Infantile Spasms: Unique Sydrome or General Age-Dependent Manifestation of a Diffuse Encephalopathy?

M. A. Koehn and M. Duchowny

Histopathology of Brain Tissue from Patients with Infantile Spasms

Harry V. Vinters

Generators of Ictal and Interictal Electroencephalograms Associated with Infantile Spasms: Intracellular Studies of Cortical and Thalamic Neurons *M. Steriade and I. Timofeev*

Cortical and Subcortical Generators of Normal and Abnormal Rhythmicity

David A. McCormick

Role of Subcortical Structures in the Pathogenesis of Infantile Spasms: What Are Possible Subcortical Mediators?

F. A. Lado and S. L. Moshé

What Must We Know to Develop Better Therapies?

Jean Aicardi

The Treatment of Infantile Spasms: An Evidence-Based Approach Mark Mackay, Shelly Weiss, and O. Carter Snead III

ACTH Treatment of Infantile Spasms: Mechanisms of Its Effects in Modulation of Neuronal Excitability

K. L. Brunson, S. Avishai-Eliner, and T. Z. Baram

Neurosteroids and Infantile Spasms: The Deoxycorticosterone Hypothesis

Michael A. Rogawski and Doodipala S. Reddy

Are there Specific Anatomical and/or Transmitter Systems (Cortical or Subcortical) That Should Be Targeted?

Phillip C. Jobe

Medical versus Surgical Treatment: Which Treatment When

W. Donald Shields

Developmental Outcome with and without Successful Intervention

Rochelle Caplan, Prabha Siddarth, Gary Mathern, Harry Vinters, Susan Curtiss, Jennifer Levitt, Robert Asarnow, and W. Donald Shields

Infantile Spasms versus Myoclonus: Is There a Connection?

Michael R. Pranzatelli

Tuberous Sclerosis as an Underlying Basis for Infantile Spasm

Raymond S. Yeung

Brain Malformation, Epilepsy, and Infantile Spasms

M. Elizabeth Ross

Brain Maturational Aspects Relevant to Pathophysiology of Infantile Spasms

G. Auanzini, F. Panzica, and S. Franceschetti

Gene Expression Analysis as a Strategy to Understand the Molecular Pathogenesis of Infantile Spasms

Peter B. Crino

Infantile Spasms: Criteria for an Animal Model Carl E. Stafstrom and Gregory L. Holmes Volume 50

Part I: Primary Mechanisms

How Does Glucose Generate Oxidative Stress In Peripheral Nerve? Irina G. Obrosova

Glycation in Diabetic Neuropathy: Characteristics, Consequences, Causes, and Therapeutic Options Paul J. Thomalley

Part II: Secondary Changes

Protein Kinase C Changes in Diabetes: Is the Concept Relevant to Neuropathy? Joseph Eichberg

Are Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinases Glucose Transducers for Diabetic Neuropathies? Tertia D. Purves and David R. Tomlinson

Neurofilaments in Diabetic Neuropathy Paul Fernyhough and Robert E. Schmidt

Apoptosis in Diabetic Neuropathy Aviva Tolkovsky

Nerve and Ganglion Blood Flow in Diabetes: An Appraisal Douglas W. Zochodne

Part III: Manifestations

Potential Mechanisms of Neuropathic Pain in Diabetes Nigel A. Calcutt

Electrophysiologic Measures of Diabetic Neuropathy: Mechanism and Meaning Joseph C. Arezzo and Elena Zotova

Neuropathology and Pathogenesis of Diabetic Autonomic Neuropathy *Robert E. Schmidt*

Role of the Schwann Cell in Diabetic Neuropathy Luke Eckersley

Part IV: Potential Treatment

Polyol Pathway and Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy *Peter J. Oates*

Nerve Growth Factor for the Treatment of Diabetic Neuropathy: What Went Wrong, What Went Right, and What Does the Future Hold? *Stuart C. Apfel*

Index

Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme Inhibitors: Are there Credible Mechanisms for Beneficial Effects in Diabetic Neuropathy?

Rayaz A. Malik and David R. Tomlinson

Clinical Trials for Drugs Against Diabetic Neuropathy: Can We Combine Scientific Needs With Clinical Practicalities?

Dan Ziegler and Dieter Luft

Index

Volume 51

Energy Metabolism in the Brain Leif Hertz and Gerald A. Dienel

The Cerebral Glucose-Fatty Acid Cycle: Evolutionary Roots, Regulation, and (Patho) physiological Importance

Kurt Heininger

Expression, Regulation, and Functional Role of Glucose Transporters (GLUTs) in Brain Donard S. Dwyer, Susan J. Vannucci, and Ian A. Simpson

Insulin-Like Growth Factor-1 Promotes Neuronal Glucose Utilization During Brain Development and Repair Processes *Carolyn A. Bondy and Clara M. Cheng*

CNS Sensing and Regulation of Peripheral Glucose Levels Barry E. Levin, Ambrose A. Dunn-Meynell, and

Vanessa H. Routh

Glucose Transporter Protein Syndromes Darryl C. De Vivo, Dong Wang, Juan M. Pascual, and Yuan Yuan Ho

Glucose, Stress, and Hippocampal Neuronal Vulnerability

Lawrence P. Reagan

Glucose/Mitochondria in Neurological Conditions John P. Blass

John T. Diuss

Energy Utilization in the Ischemic/Reperfused Brain

John W. Phillis and Michael H. O'Regan

Diabetes Mellitus and the Central Nervous System Anthony L. McCall Diabetes, the Brain, and Behavior: Is There a Biological Mechanism Underlying the Association between Diabetes and Depression?

A. M. Jacobson, J. A. Samson, K. Weinger, and C. M. Ryan

Schizophrenia and Diabetes David C. Henderson and Elissa R. Ettinger

Psychoactive Drugs Affect Glucose Transport and the Regulation of Glucose Metabolism Donard S. Dwyer, Timothy D. Ardizzone, and Ronald J. Bradley

Index

Volume 52

Neuroimmune Relationships in Perspective Frank Hucklebridge and Angela Clow

Sympathetic Nervous System Interaction with the Immune System

Virginia M. Sanders and Adam P. Kohm

Mechanisms by Which Cytokines Signal the Brain Adrian J. Dunn

Neuropeptides: Modulators of Immune Responses in Health and Disease

David S. Jessop

Brain–Immune Interactions in Sleep Lisa Marshall and Jan Born

Neuroendocrinology of Autoimmunity Michael Harbuz

Systemic Stress-Induced Th2 Shift and Its Clinical Implications Ibia J. Elenkov

Neural Control of Salivary S-IgA Secretion Gordon B. Proctor and Guy H. Carpenter

Stress and Secretory Immunity Jos A. Bosch, Christopher Ring, Eco J. C. de Geus, Enno C. I. Veerman, and Arie V. Nieuw Amerongen

Cytokines and Depression Angela Clow

Immunity and Schizophrenia: Autoimmunity, Cytokines, and Immune Responses *Fiona Gaughran*

Cerebral Lateralization and the Immune System *Pierre J. Neveu* Psychological and Neuroendocrine Correlates of Disease Progression

Julie M. Turner-Cobb

The Role of Psychological Intervention in Modulating Aspects of Immune Function in Relation to Health and Well-Being

J. H. Gruzelier

Index

Volume 53

Section I: Mitochondrial Structure and Function

Mitochondrial DNA Structure and Function Carlos T. Moraes, Sarika Srivastava, Ilias Kirkinezos, Jose Oca-Cossio, Corina van Waveren, Markus Woischnick, and Francisca Diaz

Oxidative Phosphorylation: Structure, Function, and Intermediary Metabolism

Simon J. R. Heales, Matthew E. Gegg, and John B. Clark

Import of Mitochondrial Proteins Matthias F. Bauer, Sabine Hofmann, and Walter Neupert

Section II: Primary Respiratory Chain Disorders

Mitochondrial Disorders of the Nervous System: Clinical, Biochemical, and Molecular Genetic Features

Dominic Thyagarajan and Edward Byrne

Section III: Secondary Respiratory Chain Disorders

Friedreich's Ataxia J. M. Cooper and J. L. Bradley

Wilson Disease C. A. Davie and A. H. V. Schapira

Hereditary Spastic Paraplegia Christopher J. McDermott and Pamela J. Shaw

Cytochrome c Oxidase Deficiency Giacomo P. Comi, Sandra Strazzer, Sara Galbiati, and Nereo Bresolin

Section IV: Toxin Induced Mitochondrial Dysfunction

Toxin-Induced Mitochondrial Dysfunction Susan E. Browne and M. Flint Beal Section V: Neurodegenerative Disorders

- Parkinson's Disease L. V. P. Korlipara and A. H. V. Schapira
- Huntington's Disease: The Mystery Unfolds? Åsa Petersén and Patrik Brundin

Mitochondria in Alzheimer's Disease Russell H. Swerdlow and Stephen J. Kish

Contributions of Mitochondrial Alterations, Resulting from Bad Genes and a Hostile Environment, to the Pathogenesis of Alzheimer's Disease Mark P. Mattson

Mitochondria and Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Richard W. Orrell and Anthony H. V. Schapira

Section VI: Models of Mitochondrial Disease

Models of Mitochondrial Disease Danae Liolitsa and Michael G. Hanna

Section VII: Defects of β Oxidation Including Carnitine Deficiency

Defects of β Oxidation Including Carnitine Deficiency

K. Bartlett and M. Pourfarzam

Section VIII: Mitochondrial Involvement in Aging

The Mitochondrial Theory of Aging: Involvement of Mitochondrial DNA Damage and Repair Nadja C. de Souza-Pinto and Vilhelm A. Bohr

Index

Volume 54

Unique General Anesthetic Binding Sites Within Distinct Conformational States of the Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptor

Hugo R. Ariaas, William, R. Kem, James R. Truddell, and Michael P. Blanton

Signaling Molecules and Receptor Transduction Cascades That Regulate NMDA Receptor-Mediated Synaptic Transmission Suhas. A. Kotecha and John F. MacDonald

Behavioral Measures of Alcohol Self-Administration and Intake Control: Rodent Models Herman H. Samson and Cristine L. Czachowski

Dopaminergic Mouse Mutants: Investigating the Roles of the Different Dopamine Receptor Subtypes and the Dopamine Transporter

Shirlee Tan, Bettina Hermann, and Emiliana Borrelli Drosophila melanogaster, A Genetic Model System for Alcohol Research

Douglas J. Guarnieri and Ulrike Heberlein

INDEX

Volume 55

Section I: Virsu Vectors For Use in the Nervous System

Non-Neurotropic Adenovirus: a Vector for Gene Transfer to the Brain and Gene Therapy of Neurological Disorders

P. R. Lowenstein, D. Suwelack, J. Hu, X. Yuan, M. Jimenez-Dalmaroni, S. Goverdhama, and M.G. Castro

Adeno-Associated Virus Vectors E. Lehtonen and L. Tenenbaum

Problems in the Use of Herpes Simplex Virus as a Vector

L. T. Feldman

Lentiviral Vectors

J. Jakobsson, C. Ericson, N. Rosenquist, and C. Lundberg

Retroviral Vectors for Gene Delivery to Neural Precursor Cells

K. Kageyama, H. Hirata, and J. Hatakeyama

Section II: Gene Therapy with Virus Vectors for Specific Disease of the Nervous System

The Principles of Molecular Therapies for Glioblastoma

G. Karpati and J. Nalbatonglu

Oncolytic Herpes Simplex Virus J. C. C. Hu and R. S. Coffin

Recombinant Retrovirus Vectors for Treatment of Brain Tumors N. G. Rainov and C. M. Kramm

Adeno-Associated Viral Vectors for Parkinson's Disease

I. Muramatsu, L. Wang, K. Ikeguchi, K-i Fujimoto, T. Okada, H. Mizukami, Y. Hanazono, A. Kume, I. Nakano, and K. Ozawa

HSV Vectors for Parkinson's Disease D. S. Latchman

Gene Therapy for Stroke K. Abe and W. R. Zhang Gene Therapy for Mucopolysaccharidosis A. Bosch and J. M. Heard

INDEX

Volume 56

Behavioral Mechanisms and the Neurobiology of Conditioned Sexual Responding Mark Krause

NMDA Receptors in Alcoholism Paula L. Hoffman

Processing and Representation of Species-Specific Communication Calls in the Auditory System of Bats

George D. Pollak, Achim Klug, and Eric E. Bauer

Central Nervous System Control of Micturition Gert Holstege and Leonora J. Mouton

The Structure and Physiology of the Rat Auditory System: An Overview Manuel Malmierca

Neurobiology of Cat and Human Sexual Behavior Gert Holstege and J. R. Georgiadis

INDEX

Volume 57

Cumulative Subject Index of Volumes 1-25

Volume 58

Cumulative Subject Index of Volumes 26-50

Volume 59

Loss of Spines and Neuropil Liesl B. Jones

Schizophrenia as a Disorder of Neuroplasticity Robert E. McCullumsmith, Sarah M. Clinton, and James H. Meador-Woodruff

The Synaptic Pathology of Schizophrenia: Is Aberrant Neurodevelopment and Plasticity to Blame?

Sharon L. Eastwood

Neurochemical Basis for an Epigenetic Vision of Synaptic Organization E. Costa, D. R. Grayson, M. Veldic, and

- A. Guidotti
- Muscarinic Receptors in Schizophrenia: Is There a Role for Synaptic Plasticity? *Thomas J. Raedler*
- Serotonin and Brain Development Monsheel S. K. Sodhi and Elaine Sanders-Bush
- Presynaptic Proteins and Schizophrenia William G. Honer and Clint E. Young
- Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Signaling Svetlana V. Kyosseva

Postsynaptic Density Scaffolding Proteins at Excitatory Synapse and Disorders of Synaptic Plasticity: Implications for Human Behavior Pathologies

Andrea de Bartolomeis and Germano Fiore

Prostaglandin-Mediated Signaling in Schizophrenia S. Smesny

Mitochondria, Synaptic Plasticity, and Schizophrenia

Dorit Ben-Shachar and Daphna Laifenfeld

Membrane Phospholipids and Cytokine Interaction in Schizophrenia

Jeffrey K. Yao and Daniel P. van Kammen

Neurotensin, Schizophrenia, and Antipsychotic Drug Action

Becky Kinkead and Charles B. Nemeroff

Schizophrenia, Vitamin D, and Brain Development

Alan Mackay-Sim, François FÉron, Darryl Eyles, Thomas Burne, and John McGrath

Possible Contributions of Myelin and Oligodendrocyte Dysfunction to Schizophrenia Daniel G. Stewart and Kenneth L. Davis

Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor and the Plasticity of the Mesolimbic Dopamine Pathway Oliver Guillin, Nathalie Griffon, Jorge Diaz, Bernard Le Foll, Erwan Bezard, Christian Gross,

Chris Lammers, Holger Stark, Patrick Carroll, Jean-Charles Schwartz, and Pierre Sokoloff

S100B in Schizophrenic Psychosis Matthias Rothermundt, Gerald Ponath, and Volker Arolt Oct-6 Transcription Factor Maria Ilia

NMDA Receptor Function, Neuroplasticity, and the Pathophysiology of Schizophrenia Joseph T. Coyle and Guochuan Tsai

INDEX

Volume 60

Microarray Platforms: Introduction and Application to Neurobiology

Stanislav L. Karsten, Lili C. Kudo, and Daniel H. Geschwind

Experimental Design and Low-Level Analysis of Microarray Data

B. M. Bolstad, F. Collin, K. M. Simpson, R. A. Irizarry, and T. P. Speed

Brain Gene Expression: Genomics and Genetics Elissa J. Chesler and Robert W. Williams

DNA Microarrays and Animal Models of Learning and Memory Sebastiano Cavallaro

Microarray Analysis of Human Nervous System Gene Expression in Neurological Disease Steven A. Greenberg

DNA Microarray Analysis of Postmortem Brain Tissue

Károly Mirnics, Pat Levitt, and David A. Lewis INDEX

Volume 61

Section I: High-Throughput Technologies

Biomarker Discovery Using Molecular Profiling Approaches

Stephen J. Walker and Arron Xu

Proteomic Analysis of Mitochondrial Proteins Mary F. Lopez, Simon Melov, Felicity Johnson, Nicole Nagulko, Eva Golenko, Scott Kuzdzal, Suzanne Ackloo, and Alvydas Mikulskis

Section II: Proteomic Applications

NMDA Receptors, Neural Pathways, and Protein Interaction Databases *Holger Husi*

Dopamine Transporter Network and Pathways Raiani Maiya and R. Dayne Mayfield	I
Proteomic Approaches in Drug Discovery and Development	
Holly D. Soares, Stephen A. Williams, Peter J. Snyder, Feng Gao, Tom Stiger, Christian Rohlff, Athula Herath, Trey Sunderland, Karen Putnam, and W. Frost White	(
Section III: Informatics	1
Proteomic Informatics Steven Russell, William Old, Katheryn Resing, and Lawrence Hunter	Ĩ
Section IV: Changes in the Proteome by Disease	
Proteomics Analysis in Alzheimer's Disease: New Insights into Mechanisms of Neurodegeneration D. Allan Butterfield and Debra Boyd-Kimball	1
Proteomics and Alcoholism Frank A. Witzmann and Wendy N. Strother	1
Proteomics Studies of Traumatic Brain Injury Kevin K. W. Wang, Andrew Ottens, William Haskins, Ming Cheng Liu, Firas Kobeissy, Nancy Denslow, SuShing Chen, and Ronald L. Haves	t 2
Influence of Huntington's Disease on the Human and Mouse Proteome Claus Zabel and Ioachim Klose	l
Section V: Overview of the Neuroproteome	1 s
Proteomics-Application to the Brain	

Proteomics—Application to the Brain Katrin Marcus, Oliver Schmidt, Heike Schaefer, Michael Hamacher, AndrÅ van Hall, and Helmut E. Meyer

INDEX

Volume 62

GABA_A Receptor Structure–Function Studies: A Reexamination in Light of New Acetylcholine Receptor Structures

Myles H. Akabas

Dopamine Mechanisms and Cocaine Reward Aiko Ikegami and Christine L. Duvauchelle

Proteolytic Dysfunction in Neurodegenerative Disorders Kevin St. P. McNaught Neuroimaging Studies in Bipolar Children and Adolescents Rene L. Olvera, David C. Glahn, Sheila C. Caetano, Steven R. Pliszka, and Jair C. Soares Chemosensory G-Protein-Coupled Receptor Signaling in the Brain Geoffrey E. Woodard

Disturbances of Emotion Regulation after Focal Brain Lesions Antoine Bechara

The Use of *Caenorhabditis elegans* in Molecular Neuropharmacology

Jill C. Bettinger, Lucinda Carnell, Andrew G. Davies, and Steven L. McIntire

Index

Volume 63

Mapping Neuroreceptors at work: On the Definition and Interpretation of Binding Potentials after 20 years of Progress

Albert Gjedde, Dean F. Wong, Pedro Rosa-Neto, and Paul Cumming

Mitochondrial Dysfunction in Bipolar Disorder: From ³¹P-Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopic Findings to Their Molecular Mechanisms

Tadafumi Kato

Large-Scale Microarray Studies of Gene Expression in Multiple Regions of the Brain in Schizophrenia and Alzeimer's Disease

Pavel L. Katsel, Kenneth L. Davis, and Vahram Haroutunian

Regulation of Serotonin 2C Receptor PREmRNA Editing By Serotonin Claudia Schmauss

The Dopamine Hypothesis of Drug Addiction: Hypodopaminergic State

Miriam Melis, Saturnino Spiga, and Marco Diana

Human and Animal Spongiform Encephalopathies are Autoimmune Diseases: A Novel Theory and Its supporting Evidence Bao Ting Zhu

Adenosine and Brain Function Bertil B. Fredholm, Jiang-Fan Chen, Rodrigo A. Cunha, Per Svenningsson, and Jean-Marie Vaugeois

INDEX

Volume 64

- Section I. The Cholinergic System John Smythies
- Section II. The Dopamine System John Symythies
- Section III. The Norepinephrine System John Smythies
- Section IV. The Adrenaline System John Smythies
- Section V. Serotonin System John Smythies

Index

Volume 65

Insulin Resistance: Causes and Consequences Zachary T. Bloomgarden

Antidepressant-Induced Manic Conversion: A Developmentally Informed Synthesis of the Literature

Christine J. Lim, James F. Leckman, Christopher Young, and AndrÉs Martin

Sites of Alcohol and Volatile Anesthetic Action on Glycine Receptors

Ingrid A. Lobo and R. Adron Harris

Role of the Orbitofrontal Cortex in Reinforcement Processing and Inhibitory Control: Evidence from Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging Studies in Healthy Human Subjects

Rebecca Elliott and Bill Deakin

Common Substrates of Dysphoria in Stimulant Drug Abuse and Primary Depression: Therapeutic Targets

Kate Baicy, Carrie E. Bearden, John Monterosso, Arthur L. Brody, Andrew J. Isaacson, and Edythe D. London

The Role of cAMP Response Element–Binding Proteins in Mediating Stress-Induced Vulnerability to Drug Abuse

Arati Sadalge Kreibich and Julie A. Blendy

G-Protein–Coupled Receptor Deorphanizations Yumiko Saito and Olivier Civelli Mechanistic Connections Between Glucose/ Lipid Disturbances and Weight Gain Induced by Antipsychotic Drugs Donard S. Dwyer, Dallas Donohoe, Xiao-Hong Lu, and Eric J. Aamodt

Serotonin Firing Activity as a Marker for Mood Disorders: Lessons from Knockout Mice *Gabriella Gobbi*

INDEX

Volume 66

Neuroimaging Databases as a Resource for Scientific Discovery

John Darrell Van Horn, John Wolfe, Autumn Agnoli, Jeffrey Woodward, Michael Schmitt, James Dobson, Sarene Schumacher, and Bennet Vance

Modeling Brain Responses Karl J. Friston, William Penny, and Olivier David

Voxel-Based Morphometric Analysis Using Shape Transformations Christos Davatzikos

The Cutting Edge of fMRI and High-Field fMRI

Dae-Shik Kim

Quantification of White Matter Using Diffusion-Tensor Imaging Hae-Jeong Park

Perfusion fMRI for Functional Neuroimaging Geoffrey K. Aguirre, John A. Detre, and Jiongjiong Wang

Functional Near-Infrared Spectroscopy: Potential and Limitations in Neuroimaging Studies Yoko Hoshi

Neural Modeling and Functional Brain Imaging: The Interplay Between the Data-Fitting and Simulation Approaches

Barry Horwitz and Michael F. Glabus

Combined EEG and fMRI Studies of Human Brain Function

V. Menon and S. Crottaz-Herbette

Index

Brain Atlases of Normal and Diseased Populations Arthur W. Toga and Paul M. Thompson

Volume 67

Distinguishing Neural Substrates of Heterogeneity Among Anxiety Disorders Jack B. Nitschke and Wendy Heller

Neuroimaging in Dementia K. P. Ebmeier, C. Donaghey, and N. J. Dougall

Prefrontal and Anterior Cingulate Contributions to Volition in Depression Jack B. Nitschke and Kristen L. Mackiewicz

Functional Imaging Research in Schizophrenia H. Tost, G. Ende, M. Ruf, F. A. Henn, and A. Meyer-Lindenberg

Neuroimaging in Functional Somatic Syndromes Patrick B. Wood

Neuroimaging in Multiple Sclerosis Alireza Minagar, Eduardo Gonzalez-Toledo, James Pinkston, and Stephen L. Jaffe

Stroke Roger E. Kelley and Eduardo Gonzalez-Toledo

Functional MRI in Pediatric Neurobehavioral Disorders

Michael Seyffert and F. Xavier Castellanos

Structural MRI and Brain Development Paul M. Thompson, Elizabeth R. Sowell, Nitin Gogtay, Jay N. Giedd, Christine N. Vidal, Kiralee M. Hayashi, Alex Leow, Rob Nicolson, Judith L. Rapoport, and Arthur W. Toga

Neuroimaging and Human Genetics Georg Winterer, Ahmad R. Hariri, David Goldman, and Daniel R. Weinberger

Neuroreceptor Imaging in Psychiatry: Theory and Applications W. Gordon Frankle, Mark Slifstein, Peter

S. Talbot, and Marc Laruelle

INDEX

Volume 68

Fetal Magnetoencephalography: Viewing the Developing Brain In Utero

Hubert Preissl, Curtis L. Lowery, and Hari Eswaran

Magnetoencephalography in Studies of Infants and Children

Minna Huotilainen

Let's Talk Together: Memory Traces Revealed by Cooperative Activation in the Cerebral Cortex Jochen Kaiser, Susanne Leiberg, and Werner Lutzenberger

Human Communication Investigated With Magnetoencephalography: Speech, Music, and Gestures

Thomas R. Knösche, Burkhard Maess, Akinori Nakamura, and Angela D. Friederici

Combining Magnetoencephalography and Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging Klaus Mathiak and Andreas J. Fallgatter

Beamformer Analysis of MEG Data Arjan Hillebrand and Gareth R. Barnes

Functional Connectivity Analysis in Magnetoencephalography Alfons Schnitzler and Joachim Gross

Human Visual Processing as Revealed by Magnetoencephalographys Yoshiki Kaneoke, Shoko Watanabe, and Ryusuke

Kakigi

A Review of Clinical Applications of Magnetoencephalography

Andrew C. Papanicolaou, Eduardo M. Castillo, Rebecca Billingsley-Marshall, Ekaterina Pataraia, and Panagiotis G. Simos

Index

Volume 69

Nematode Neurons: Anatomy and Anatomical Methods in Caenorhabditis elegans

David H. Hall, Robyn Lints, and Zeynep Altun

Investigations of Learning and Memory in Caenorhabditis elegans

Andrew C. Giles, Jacqueline K. Rose, and Catharine H. Rankin

Neural Specification and Differentiation Eric Aamodt and Stephanie Aamodt

Sexual Behavior of the Caenorhabditis elegans Male

Scott W. Emmons

The Motor Circuit Stephen E. Von Stetina, Millet Treinin, and David M. Miller III Mechanosensation in Caenorhabditis elegans Robert O'Hagan and Martin Chalfie

Volume 70

Spectral Processing by the Peripheral Auditory System Facts and Models Enrique A. Lopez-Poveda Psychophysics Basic of Human Spectral Processing Brian C. J. Moore Across-Channel Spectral Processing John H. Grose, Joseph W. Hall III, and Emily Buss Speech and Music Have Different Requirements for Spectral Resolution Robert V. Shannon Non-Linearities and the Representation of Auditory Spectra Eric D. Young, Jane J. Yu, and Lina A. J. Reiss Spectral Processing in the Inferior Colliculus Kevin A. Davis Neural Mechanisms for Spectral Analysis in the Auditory Midbrain, Thalamus, and Cortex Monty A. Escabí and Heather L. Read Spectral Processing in the Auditory Cortex Mitchell L. Sutter Processing of Dynamic Spectral Properties of Sounds Adrian Rees and Manuel S. Malmierca Representations of Spectral Coding in the Human Brain Deborah A. Hall, PhD Spectral Processing and Sound Source Determination Donal G. Sinex Spectral Information in Sound Localization Simon Carlile, Russell Martin, and Ken McAnally Plasticity of Spectral Processing Dexter R. F. Irvine and Beverly A. Wright Spectral Processing In Cochlear Implants Colette M. McKay INDEX

Volume 71

Autism: Neuropathology, Alterations of the GABAergic System, and Animal Models Christoph Schmitz, Imke A. J. van Kooten, Patrick

R. Hof, Herman van Engeland, Paul H. Patterson, and Harry W. M. Steinbusch

The Role of GABA in the Early Neuronal Development

Marta Jelitai and Emı'lia Madarasz

GABAergic Signaling in the Developing Cerebellum

Chitoshi Takayama

Insights into GABA Functions in the Developing Cerebellum

Mo'nica L. Fiszman

Role of GABA in the Mechanism of the Onset of Puberty in Non-Human Primates *Ei Terasawa*

Rett Syndrome: A Rosetta Stone for Understanding the Molecular Pathogenesis of Autism Janine M. LaSalle, Amber Hogart, and Karen N. Thatcher

GABAergic Cerebellar System in Autism: A Neuropathological and Developmental Perspective *Gene J. Blatt*

Reelin Glycoprotein in Autism and Schizophrenia S. Hossein Fatemi

Is There A Connection Between Autism, Prader-Willi Syndrome, Catatonia, and GABA? Dirk M. Dhossche, Yaru Song, and Yiming Liu

Alcohol, GABA Receptors, and Neurodevelopmental Disorders *Ujjwal K. Rout*

Effects of Secretin on Extracellular GABA and Other Amino Acid Concentrations in the Rat Hippocampus Hans-Willi Clement, Alexander Pschibul, and Eberhard Schulz

Predicted Role of Secretin and Oxytocin in the Treatment of Behavioral and Developmental Disorders: Implications for Autism Martha G. Welch and David A. Ruggiero

Immunological Findings in Autism Hari Har Parshad Cohly and Asit Panja Correlates of Psychomotor Symptoms in Autism Laura Stoppelbein, Sara Sytsma-Jordan, and Leilani Greening

GABRB3 Gene Deficient Mice: A Potential Model of Autism Spectrum Disorder *Timothy M. DeLorey*

The Reeler Mouse: Anatomy of a Mutant Gabriella D'Arcangelo

Shared Chromosomal Susceptibility Regions Between Autism and Other Mental Disorders Yvon C. Chagnon index

Index

Volume 72

Classification Matters for Catatonia and Autism in Children

Klaus-Jürgen Neumärker

A Systematic Examination of Catatonia-Like Clinical Pictures in Autism Spectrum Disorders Lorna Wing and Amitta Shah

Catatonia in Individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorders in Adolescence and Early Adulthood: A Long-Term Prospective Study

Masataka Ohta, Yukiko Kano, and Yoko Nagai

Are Autistic and Catatonic Regression Related? A Few Working Hypotheses Involving GABA, Purkinje Cell Survival, Neurogenesis, and ECT Dirk Marel Dhossche and Ujjwal Rout

Psychomotor Development and Psychopathology in Childhood

Dirk M. J. De Raeymaecker

The Importance of Catatonia and Stereotypies in Autistic Spectrum Disorders

Laura Stoppelbein, Leilani Greening, and Angelina Kakooza

Prader–Willi Syndrome: Atypical Psychoses and Motor Dysfunctions Willem M. A. Verhoeven and Siegfried Tuinier

Towards a Valid Nosography and Psychopathology of Catatonia in Children and Adolescents David Cohen

Is There a Common Neuronal Basis for Autism and Catatonia?

Dirk Marcel Dhossche, Brendan T. Carroll, and Tressa D. Carroll

Shared Susceptibility Region on Chromosome 15 Between Autism and Catatonia Yvon C. Chagnon

Current Trends in Behavioral Interventions for Children with Autism Dorothy Scattone and Kimberly R. Knight

Case Reports with a Child Psychiatric Exploration of Catatonia, Autism, and Delirium Jan N. M. Schieveld

ECT and the Youth: Catatonia in Context Frank K. M. Zaw

Catatonia in Autistic Spectrum Disorders: A Medical Treatment Algorithm Max Fink, Michael A. Taylor, and Neera Ghaziuddin

Psychological Approaches to Chronic Catatonia-Like Deterioration in Autism Spectrum Disorders *Amitta Shah and Lorna Wing*

Section V: Blueprints

Blueprints for the Assessment, Treatment, and Future Study of Catatonia in Autism Spectrum Disorders

Dirk Marcel, Dhossche, Amitta Shah, and Lorna Wing

Index

Volume 73

Chromosome 22 Deletion Syndrome and Schizophrenia

Nigel M. Williams, Michael C. O'Donovan, and Michael J. Owen

Characterization of Proteome of Human Cerebrospinal Fluid

Jing Xu, Jinzhi Chen, Elaine R. Peskind, Jinghua Jin, Jimmy Eng, Catherine Pan, Thomas J. Montine, David R. Goodlett, and Jing Zhang

Hormonal Pathways Regulating Intermale and Interfemale Aggression

Neal G. Simon, Qianxing Mo, Shan Hu, Carrie Garippa, and Shi-Fang Lu

Neuronal GAP Junctions: Expression, Function, and Implications for Behavior

Clinton B. McCracken and David C. S. Roberts

Effects of Genes and Stress on the Neurobiology of Depression J. John Mann and Dianne Currier

Quantitative Imaging with the Micropet Small-Animal Pet Tomograph Paul Vaska, Daniel J. Rubins, David L. Alexoff, and Wynne K. Schiffer

Understanding Myelination through Studying its Evolution Rüdiger Schweigreiter, Betty I. Roots, Christine Bandtlow, and Robert M. Gould

Index

Volume 74

Evolutionary Neurobiology and Art C. U. M. Smith

Section I: Visual Aspects

Perceptual Portraits Nicholas Wade

The Neuropsychology of Visual Art: Conferring Capacity Anjan Chatterjee

Vision, Illusions, and Reality Christopher Kennard

Localization in the Visual Brain George K. York

Section II: Episodic Disorders

Neurology, Synaesthesia, and Painting Amy Ione

Fainting in Classical Art Philip Smith

Migraine Art in the Internet: A Study of 450 Contemporary Artists *Klaus Podoll*

Sarah Raphael's Migraine with Aura as Inspiration for the Foray of Her Work into Abstraction *Klaus Podoll and Debbie Ayles*

The Visual Art of Contemporary Artists with Epilepsy

Steven C. Schachter

Section III: Brain Damage

Creativity in Painting and Style in Brain-Damaged Artists Julien Bogousslavsky Artistic Changes in Alzheimer's Disease Sebastian J. Crutch and Martin N. Rossor

Section IV: Cerebrovascular Disease

Stroke in Painters H. Bäzner and M. Hennerici

Visuospatial Neglect in Lovis Corinth's Self-Portraits *Olaf Blanke*

Art, Constructional Apraxia, and the Brain Louis Caplan

Section V: Genetic Diseases

Neurogenetics in Art Alan E. H. Emery

A Naïve Artist of St Ives F. Clifford Rose

Van Gogh's Madness F. Clifford Rose

Absinthe, The Nervous System and Painting Tiina Rekand

Section VI: Neurologists as Artists

Sir Charles Bell, KGH, FRS, FRSE (1774–1842) Christopher Gardner-Thorpe

Section VII: Miscellaneous

Peg Leg Frieda Espen Dietrichs

The Deafness of Goya (1746–1828) F. Clifford Rose

INDEX

Volume 75

Introduction on the Use of the *Drosophila* Embryonic/Larval Neuromuscular Junction as a Model System to Study Synapse Development and Function, and a Brief Summary of Pathfinding and Target Recognition

Catalina Ruiz-Cañada and Vivian Budnik

Development and Structure of Motoneurons Matthias Landgraf and Stefan Thor

The Development of the Drosophila Larval Body Wall Muscles Karen Beckett and Mary K. Baylies Organization of the Efferent System and Structure of Neuromuscular Junctions in Drosophila Andreas Prokop Development of Motoneuron Electrical Properties and Motor Output Richard A. Baines Transmitter Release at the Neuromuscular Junction Thomas L. Schwarz Vesicle Trafficking and Recycling at the Neuromuscular Junction: Two Pathways for Endocytosis Yoshiaki Kidokoro Glutamate Receptors at the Drosophila Neuromuscular Junction Aaron DiAntonio Scaffolding Proteins at the Drosophila Neuromuscular Junction Bulent Ataman, Vivian Budnik, and Ulrich Thomas Synaptic Cytoskeleton at the Neuromuscular Junction Catalina Ruiz-Cañada and Vivian Budnik Plasticity and Second Messengers During Synapse Development Leslie C. Griffith and Vivian Budnik Retrograde Signaling that Regulates Synaptic Development and Function at the Drosophila Neuromuscular Junction Guillermo Marqués and Bing Zhang Activity-Dependent Regulation of Transcription During Development of Synapses Subhabrata Sanyal and Mani Ramaswami Experience-Dependent Potentiation of Larval Neuromuscular Synapses Christoph M. Schuster Selected Methods for the Anatomical Study of Drosophila Embryonic and Larval Neuromuscular **Junctions** Vivian Budnik, Michael Gorczyca, and Andreas Prokop INDEX

Volume 76 Section I: Physiological Correlates of Freud's

Theories

The ID, the Ego, and the Temporal Lobe Shirley M. Ferguson and Mark Rayport ID, Ego, and Temporal Lobe Revisited Shirley M. Ferguson and Mark Rayport

Section II: Stereotaxic Studies

Olfactory Gustatory Responses Evoked by Electrical Stimulation of Amygdalar Region in Man Are Qualitatively Modifiable by Interview Content: Case Report and Review

Mark Rayport, Sepehr Sani, and Shirley M. Ferguson

Section III: Controversy in Definition of Behavioral Disturbance

Pathogenesis of Psychosis in Epilepsy. The "Seesaw" Theory: Myth or Reality? Shirley M. Ferguson and Mark Rayport

Section IV: Outcome of Temporal Lobectomy

Memory Function After Temporal Lobectomy for Seizure Control: A Comparative Neuropsy chiatric and Neuropsychological Study

Shirley M. Ferguson, A. John McSweeny, and Mark Rayport

Life After Surgery for Temporolimbic Seizures Shirley M. Ferguson, Mark Rayport, and Carolyn A. Schell

Appendix I Mark Rayport

Appendix II: Conceptual Foundations of Studies of Patients Undergoing Temporal Lobe Surgery for Seizure Control Mark Rayport

Murk Ruy

INDEX

Volume 77

Regenerating the Brain David A. Greenberg and Kunlin Jin

Serotonin and Brain: Evolution, Neuroplasticity, and Homeostasis

Efrain C. Azmitia

Therapeutic Approaches to Promoting Axonal Regeneration in the Adult Mammalian Spinal Cord Sari S. Hannila, Mustafa M. Siddiq, and Marie T. Filbin

Evidence for Neuroprotective Effects of Antipsychotic Drugs: Implications for the Pathophysiology and Treatment of Schizophrenia

Xin-Min Li and Haiyun Xu

Neurogenesis and Neuroenhancement in the Pathophysiology and Treatment of Bipolar Disorder

Robert J. Schloesser, Guang Chen, and Husseini K. Manji

Neuroreplacement, Growth Factor, and Small Molecule Neurotrophic Approaches for Treating Parkinson's Disease

Michael J. O'Neill, Marcus J. Messenger, Viktor Lakics, Tracey K. Murray, Eric H. Karran, Philip G. Szekeres, Eric S. Nisenbaum, and Kalpana M. Merchant

Using *Caenorhabditis elegans* Models of Neurodegenerative Disease to Identify Neuroprotective Strategies

Brian Kraemer and Gerard D. Schellenberg

Neuroprotection and Enhancement of Neurite Outgrowth With Small Molecular Weight Compounds From Screens of Chemical Libraries

Donard S. Dwyer and Addie Dickson

Index

Volume 78

Neurobiology of Dopamine in Schizophrenia Olivier Guillin, Anissa Abi-Dargham, and Marc Laruelle

The Dopamine System and the Pathophysiology of Schizophrenia: A Basic Science Perspective Yukiori Goto and Anthony A. Grace

Glutamate and Schizophrenia: Phencyclidine, *N*-methyl-D-aspartate Receptors, and Dopamine– Glutamate Interactions

Daniel C. Javitt

Deciphering the Disease Process of Schizophrenia: The Contribution of Cortical GABA Neurons David A. Lewis and Takanori Hashimoto

Alterations of Serotonin Transmission in Schizophrenia

Anissa Abi-Dargham

Serotonin and Dopamine Interactions in Rodents and Primates: Implications for Psychosis and Antipsychotic Drug Development *Gerard J. Marek*

Cholinergic Circuits and Signaling in the Pathophysiology of Schizophrenia

Joshua A. Berman, David A. Talmage, and Lorna W. Role Schizophrenia and the α7 Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptor Laura F. Martin and Robert Freedman Histamine and Schizophrenia Jean-Michel Arrang Cannabinoids and Psychosis Deepak Cyril D'Souza Involvement of Neuropeptide Systems in Schizophrenia: Human Studies

Ricardo Cáceda, Becky Kinkead, and Charles B. Nemeroff

Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor in Schizophrenia and Its Relation with Dopamine

Olivier Guillin, Caroline Demily, and Florence Thibaut

Schizophrenia Susceptibility Genes: In Search of a Molecular Logic and Novel Drug Targets for a Devastating Disorder

Joseph A. Gogos

INDEX

Volume 79

The Destructive Alliance: Interactions of Leukocytes, Cerebral Endothelial Cells, and the Immune Cascade in Pathogenesis of Multiple Sclerosis

Alireza Minagar, April Carpenter, and J. Steven Alexander

Role of B Cells in Pathogenesis of Multiple Sclerosis

Behrouz Nikbin, Mandana Mohyeddin Bonab, Farideh Khosravi, and Fatemeh Talebian

The Role of CD4 T Cells in the Pathogenesis of Multiple Sclerosis *Tanuja Chitnis*

The CD8 T Cell in Multiple Sclerosis: Suppressor Cell or Mediator of Neuropathology?

Aaron J. Johnson, Georgette L. Suidan, Jeremiah McDole, and Istvan Pirko

Immunopathogenesis of Multiple Sclerosis Smriti M. Agrawal and V. Wee Yong

Molecular Mimicry in Multiple Sclerosis Jane E. Libbey, Lori L. McCoy, and Robert S. Fujinami Molecular "Negativity" May Underlie Multiple Sclerosis: Role of the Myelin Basic Protein Family in the Pathogenesis of MS Abdiwahab A. Musse and George Harauz Microchimerism and Stem Cell Transplantation in Multiple Sclerosis Behrouz Nikbin, Mandana Mohyeddin Bonab, and Fatemeh Talebian The Insulin-Like Growth Factor System in Multiple Sclerosis Daniel Chesik, Nadine Wilczak, and Jacques De Keyser Cell-Derived Microparticles and Exosomes in Neuroinflammatory Disorders Lawrence L. Horstman, Wenche Jy, Alireza Minagar, Carlos J. Bidot, Joaquin J. Jimenez, J. Steven Alexander, and Yeon S. Ahn Multiple Sclerosis in Children: Clinical, Diagnostic, and Therapeutic Aspects Kevin Rostásy Migraine in Multiple Sclerosis Debra G. Elliott Multiple Sclerosis as a Painful Disease Meghan Kenner, Uma Menon, and Debra Elliott Multiple Sclerosis and Behavior James B. Pinkston, Anita Kablinger, and Nadejda Alekseeva Cerebrospinal Fluid Analysis Multiple in Sclerosis Francisco A. Luque and Stephen L. Jaffe Multiple Sclerosis in Isfahan, Iran Mohammad Saadatnia, Masoud Etemadifar, and Amir Hadi Maghzi Gender Issues in Multiple Sclerosis Robert N. Schwendimann and Nadejda Alekseeva Differential Diagnosis of Multiple Sclerosis Halim Fadil, Roger E. Kelley, and Eduardo Gonzalez-Toledo Prognostic Factors in Multiple Sclerosis Roberto Bergamaschi Neuroimaging in Multiple Sclerosis Robert Zivadinov and Jennifer L. Cox

Detection of Cortical Lesions Is Dependent on Choice of Slice Thickness in Patients with Multiple Sclerosis

Ondrej Dolezal, Michael G. Dwyer, Dana Horakova, Eva Havrdova, Alireza Minagar, Srivats Balachandran, Niels Bergsland, Zdenek Seidl, Manuela Vaneckova, David Fritz, Jan Krasensky, and Robert Zivadinov

The Role of Quantitative Neuroimaging Indices in the Differentiation of Ischemia from Demyelination: An Analytical Study with Case Presentation

Romy Hoque, Christina Ledbetter, Eduardo Gonzalez-Toledo, Vivek Misra, Uma Menon, Meghan Kenner, Alejandro A. Rabinstein, Roger E. Kelley, Robert Zivadinov, and Alireza Minagar

HLA-DRB1*1501, -DQB1*0301, -DQB1*0302, -DQB1*0602, and -DQB1*0603 Alleles Are Associated with More Severe Disease Outcome on MRI in Patients with Multiple Sclerosis

Robert Zivadinov, Laura Uxa, Alessio Bratina, Antonio Bosco, Bhooma Srinivasaraghavan, Alireza Minagar, Maja Ukmar, Su yen Benedetto, and Marino Zorzon

Glatiramer Acetate: Mechanisms of Action in Multiple Sclerosis

Tjalf Ziemssen and Wiebke Schrempf

Evolving Therapies for Multiple Sclerosis Elena Korniychuk, John M. Dempster, Eileen O'Connor, J. Steven Alexander, Roger E. Kelley, Meghan Kenner, Uma Menon, Vivek Misra, Romy Hoque, Eduardo C. Gonzalez-Toledo, Robert N. Schwendimann, Stacy Smith, and Alireza Minagar

Remyelination in Multiple Sclerosis Divya M. Chari

Trigeminal Neuralgia: A Modern-Day Review Kelly Hunt and Ravish Patwardhan

Optic Neuritis and the Neuro-Ophthalmology of Multiple Sclerosis Paramjit Kaur and Jeffrey L. Bennett

Neuromyelitis Optica: New Findings on Pathogenesis

Dean M. Wingerchuk

INDEX

Volume 80

- Epilepsy in the Elderly: Scope of the Problem Ilo E. Leppik
- Animal Models in Gerontology Research Nancy L. Nadon
- Animal Models of Geriatric Epilepsy Lauren J. Murphree, Lynn M. Rundhaugen, and Kevin M. Kelly

Life and Death of Neurons in the Aging Cerebral Cortex

John H. Morrison and Patrick R. Hof

An In Vitro Model of Stroke-Induced Epilepsy: Elucidation of the Roles of Glutamate and Calcium in the Induction and Maintenance of Stroke-Induced Epileptogenesis

Robert J. DeLorenzo, David A. Sun, Robert E. Blair, and Sompong Sambati

Mechanisms of Action of Antiepileptic Drugs H. Steve White, Misty D. Smith, and Karen S. Wilcox

Epidemiology and Outcomes of Status Epilepticus in the Elderly *Alan R. Towne*

Diagnosing Epilepsy in the Elderly R. Eugene Ramsay, Flavia M. Macias, and A. James Rowan

Pharmacoepidemiology in Community-Dwelling Elderly Taking Antiepileptic Drugs Dan R. Berlowitz and Mary Jo V. Pugh

Use of Antiepileptic Medications in Nursing Homes Judith Garrard, Susan L. Harms, Lynn E. Eberly, and Ilo E. Leppik

Differential Diagnosis of Multiple Sclerosis Halim Fadil, Roger E. Kelley, and Eduardo Gonzalez-Toledo

Prognostic Factors in Multiple Sclerosis Roberto Bergamaschi

Neuroimaging in Multiple Sclerosis Robert Zivadinov and Jennifer L. Cox

Detection of Cortical Lesions Is Dependent on Choice of Slice Thickness in Patients with Multiple Sclerosis

Ondrej Dolezal, Michael G. Dwyer, Dana Horakova, Eva Havrdova, Alireza Minagar, Srivats Balachandran, Niels Bergsland, Zdenek Seidl, Manuela Vaneckova, David Fritz, Jan Krasensky, and Robert Zivadinov

The Role of Quantitative Neuroimaging Indices in the Differentiation of Ischemia from Demyelination: An Analytical Study with Case Presentation *Romy Hoque, Christina Ledbetter, Eduardo*

Gonzalez-Toledo, Vivek Misra, Uma Menon, Meghan Kenner, Alejandro A. Rabinstein, Roger E. Kelley, Robert Zivadinov, and Alireza Minagar

HLA-DRB1*1501, -DQB1*0301,-DQB1 *0302,-DQB1*0602, and -DQB1*0603 Alleles Are Associated with More Severe Disease Outcome on MRI in Patients with Multiple Sclerosis

Robert Zivadinov, Laura Uxa, Alessio Bratina, Antonio Bosco, Bhooma Srinivasaraghavan, Alireza Minagar, Maja Ukmar, Su yen Benedetto, and Marino Zorzon

Glatiramer Acetate: Mechanisms of Action in Multiple Sclerosis

Tjalf Ziemssen and Wiebke Schrempf

Evolving Therapies for Multiple Sclerosis Elena Korniychuk, John M. Dempster, Eileen O'Connor, J. Steven Alexander, Roger E. Kelley, Meghan Kenner, Uma Menon, Vivek Misra, Romy Hoque, Eduardo C. Gonzalez-Toledo, Robert N. Schwendimann, Stacy Smith, and Alireza Minagar

Remyelination in Multiple Sclerosis Divya M. Chari

Trigeminal Neuralgia: A Modern-Day Review Kelly Hunt and Ravish Patwardhan

Optic Neuritis and the Neuro-Ophthalmology of Multiple Sclerosis

Paramjit Kaur and Jeffrey L. Bennett

Neuromyelitis Optica: New Findings on Pathogenesis Dean M. Wingerchuk

INDEX

Volume 81

Epilepsy in the Elderly: Scope of the Problem Ilo E. Leppik

Animal Models in Gerontology Research Nancy L. Nadon Animal Models of Geriatric Epilepsy Lauren J. Murphree, Lynn M. Rundhaugen, and Kevin M. Kelly

Life and Death of Neurons in the Aging Cerebral Cortex John H. Morrison and Patrick R. Hof

An In Vitro Model of Stroke-Induced Epilepsy: Elucidation of the Roles of Glutamate and Calcium in the Induction and Maintenance of Stroke-Induced Epileptogenesis

Robert J. DeLorenzo, David A. Sun, Robert E. Blair, and Sompong Sambati

Mechanisms of Action of Antiepileptic Drugs H. Steve White, Misty D. Smith, and Karen S. Wilcox

Epidemiology and Outcomes of Status Epilepticus in the Elderly *Alan R. Towne*

Diagnosing Epilepsy in the Elderly R. Eugene Ramsay, Flavia M. Macias, and A. James Rowan

Pharmacoepidemiology in Community-Dwelling Elderly Taking Antiepileptic Drugs Dan R. Berlowitz and Mary Jo V. Pugh

Use of Antiepileptic Medications in Nursing Homes Judith Garrard, Susan L. Harms, Lynn E. Eberly, and Ilo E. Leppik

Age-Related Changes in Pharmacokinetics: Predictability and Assessment Methods *Emilio Perucca*

Factors Affecting Antiepileptic Drug Pharmacokinetics in Community-Dwelling Elderly James C. Cloyd, Susan Marino, and Angela K. Birnbaum

Pharmacokinetics of Antiepileptic Drugs in Elderly Nursing Home Residents Angela K. Birnbaum

The Impact of Epilepsy on Older Veterans Mary Jo V. Pugh, Dan R. Berlowitz, and Lewis Kazis

Risk and Predictability of Drug Interactions in the Elderly *René H. Levy and Carol Collins* Outcomes in Elderly Patients With Newly Diagnosed and Treated Epilepsy Martin J. Brodie and Linda J. Stephen

Recruitment and Retention in Clinical Trials of the Elderly

Flavia M. Macias, R. Eugene Ramsay, and A. James Rowan

Treatment of Convulsive Status Epilepticus David M. Treiman

Treatment of Nonconvulsive Status Epilepticus Matthew C. Walker

Antiepileptic Drug Formulation and Treatment in the Elderly: Biopharmaceutical Considerations *Barry E. Gidal*

INDEX

Volume 82

Inflammatory Mediators Leading to Protein Misfolding and Uncompetitive/Fast Off-Rate Drug Therapy for Neurodegenerative Disorders

Stuart A. Lipton, Zezong Gu, and Tomohiro Nakamura

Innate Immunity and Protective Neuroinflammation: New Emphasis on the Role of Neuroimmune Regulatory Proteins

M. Griffiths, J. W. Neal, and P. Gasque

Glutamate Release from Astrocytes in Physiological Conditions and in Neurodegenerative Disorders Characterized by Neuroinflammation

Sabino Vesce, Daniela Rossi, Liliana Brambilla, and Andrea Volterra

The High-Mobility Group Box 1 Cytokine Induces Transporter-Mediated Release of Glutamate from Glial Subcellular Particles (Gliosomes) Prepared from *In Situ-*Matured Astrocytes

Giambattista Bonanno, Luca Raiteri, Marco Milanese, Simona Zappettini, Edon Melloni, Marco Pedrazzi, Mario Passalacqua, Carlo Tacchetti, Cesare Usai, and Bianca Sparatore

The Role of Astrocytes and Complement System in Neural Plasticity

Milos Pekny, Ulrika Wilhelmsson, Yalda Rahpeymai Bogestål, and Marcela Pekna New Insights into the Roles of Metalloproteinases in Neurodegeneration and Neuroprotection *A. J. Turner and N. N. Nalivaeva*

Relevance of High-Mobility Group Protein Box 1 to Neurodegeneration Silvia Fossati and Alberto Chiarugi

Early Upregulation of Matrix Metalloproteinases Following Reperfusion Triggers Neuroinflammatory Mediators in Brain Ischemia in Rat Diana Amantea, Rossella Russo, Micaela Gliozzi, Vincenza Fratto, Laura Berliocchi, G. Bagetta, G. Bernardi, and M. Tiziana Corasaniti

The (Endo)Cannabinoid System in Multiple Sclerosis and Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Diego Centonze, Silvia Rossi, Alessandro Finazzi-Agrò, Giorgio Bernardi, and Mauro Maccarrone

Chemokines and Chemokine Receptors: Multipurpose Players in Neuroinflammation

Richard M. Ransohoff, LiPing Liu, and Astrid E. Cardona

Systemic and Acquired Immune Responses in Alzheimer's Disease

Markus Britschgi and Tony Wyss-Coray

Neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's Disease and Parkinson's Disease: Are Microglia Pathogenic in Either Disorder?

Joseph Rogers, Diego Mastroeni, Brian Leonard, Jeffrey Joyce, and Andrew Grover

Cytokines and Neuronal Ion Channels in Health and Disease

Barbara Viviani, Fabrizio Gardoni, and Marina Marinovich

Cyclooxygenase-2, Prostaglandin E₂, and Microglial Activation in Prion Diseases

Luisa Minghetti and Maurizio Pocchiari

Glia Proinflammatory Cytokine Upregulation as a Therapeutic Target for Neurodegenerative Diseases: Function-Based and Target-Based Discovery Approaches

Linda J. Van Eldik, Wendy L. Thompson, Hantamalala Ralay Ranaivo, Heather A. Behanna, and D. Martin Watterson

Oxidative Stress and the Pathogenesis of Neurodegenerative Disorders

Ashley Reynolds, Chad Laurie, R. Lee Mosley, and Howard E. Gendelman Differential Modulation of Type 1 and Type 2 Cannabinoid Receptors Along the Neuroimmune Axis

Sergio Oddi, Paola Spagnuolo, Monica Bari, Antonella D'Agostino, and Mauro Maccarrone

Effects of the HIV-1 Viral Protein Tat on Central Neurotransmission: Role of Group I Metabotropic Glutamate Receptors

Elisa Neri, Veronica Musante, and Anna Pittaluga

Evidence to Implicate Early Modulation of Interleukin-1β Expression in the Neuroprotection Afforded by 17β-Estradiol in Male Rats Undergone Transient Middle Cerebral Artery Occlusion

Olga Chiappetta, Micaela Gliozzi, Elisa Siviglia, Diana Amantea, Luigi A. Morrone, Laura Berliocchi, G. Bagetta, and M. Tiziana Corasaniti

A Role for Brain Cyclooxygenase-2 and Prosta-

glandin-E₂ in Migraine: Effects of Nitroglycerin Cristina Tassorelli, Rosaria Greco, Marie Therèse Armentero, Fabio Blandini, Giorgio Sandrini, and Giuseppe Nappi

The Blockade of K+-ATP Channels has Neuroprotective Effects in an *In Vitro* Model of Brain Ischemia

Robert Nisticò, Silvia Piccirilli, L. Sebastianelli, Giuseppe Nisticò, G. Bernardi, and N. B. Mercuri

Retinal Damage Caused by High Intraocular Pressure-Induced Transient Ischemia is Prevented by Coenzyme Q10 in Rat

Carlo Nucci, Rosanna Tartaglione, Angelica Cerulli, R. Mancino, A. Spanò, Federica Cavaliere, Laura Rombolà, G. Bagetta, M. Tiziana Corasaniti, and Luigi A. Morrone

Evidence Implicating Matrix Metalloproteinases in the Mechanism Underlying Accumulation of IL-1 β and Neuronal Apoptosis in the Neocortex of HIV/gp120-Exposed Rats

Rossella Russo, Elisa Siviglia, Micaela Gliozzi, Diana Amantea, Annamaria Paoletti, Laura Berliocchi, G. Bagetta, and M. Tiziana Corasaniti

Neuroprotective Effect of Nitroglycerin in a Rodent Model of Ischemic Stroke: Evaluation of Bcl-2 Expression

Rosaria Greco, Diana Amantea, Fabio Blandini, Giuseppe Nappi, Giacinto Bagetta, M. Tiziana Corasaniti, and Cristina Tassorelli

Index

Volume 83

Epidemiology and Classification of Epilepsy: Gender Comparisons

John C. McHugh and Norman Delanty

Hormonal Influences on Seizures: Basic Neurobiology Cheryl A. Frye

Catamenial Epilepsy Patricia E. Penovich and Sandra Helmers

Epilepsy in Women: Special Considerations for Adolescents

Mary L. Zupanc and Sheryl Haut

Contraception in Women with Epilepsy: Pharmacokinetic Interactions, Contraceptive Options, and Management

Caryn Dutton and Nancy Foldvary-Schaefer

Reproductive Dysfunction in Women with Epilepsy: Menstrual Cycle Abnormalities, Fertility, and Polycystic Ovary Syndrome

Jürgen Bauer and Déirdre Cooper-Mahkorn

Sexual Dysfunction in Women with Epilepsy: Role of Antiepileptic Drugs and Psychotropic Medications

Mary A. Gutierrez, Romila Mushtaq, and Glen Stimmel

Pregnancy in Epilepsy: Issues of Concern John DeToledo

Teratogenicity and Antiepileptic Drugs: Potential Mechanisms

Mark S. Yerby

Antiepileptic Drug Teratogenesis: What are the Risks for Congenital Malformations and Adverse Cognitive Outcomes?

Cynthia L. Harden

Teratogenicity of Antiepileptic Drugs: Role of Pharmacogenomics

Raman Sankar and Jason T. Lerner

Antiepileptic Drug Therapy in Pregnancy I: Gestation-Induced Effects on AED Pharmacokinetics Page B. Pennell and Collin A. Hovinga

Antiepileptic Drug Therapy in Pregnancy II: Fetal and Neonatal Exposure Collin A. Hovinga and Page B. Pennell Seizures in Pregnancy: Diagnosis and Management

Robert L. Beach and Peter W. Kaplan

Management of Epilepsy and Pregnancy: An Obstetrical Perspective Julian N. Robinson and Jane Cleary-Goldman

Pregnancy Registries: Strengths, Weaknesses, and Bias Interpretation of Pregnancy Registry Data Marianne Cunnington and John Messenheimer

Bone Health in Women With Epilepsy: Clinical Features and Potential Mechanisms Alison M. Pack and Thaddeus S. Walczak

Metabolic Effects of AEDs: Impact on Body Weight, Lipids and Glucose Metabolism Raj D. Sheth and Georgia Montouris

Psychiatric Comorbidities in Epilepsy W. Curt Lafrance, Jr., Andres M. Kanner, and Bruce Hermann

Issues for Mature Women with Epilepsy Cynthia L. Harden

Pharmacodynamic and Pharmacokinetic Interactions of Psychotropic Drugs with Antiepileptic Drugs

Andres M. Kanner and Barry E. Gidal

Health Disparities in Epilepsy: How Patient-Oriented Outcomes in Women Differ from Men *Frank Gilliam*

Index

Volume 84

Normal Brain Aging: Clinical, Immunological, Neuropsychological, and Neuroimaging Features

Maria T. Caserta, Yvonne Bannon, Francisco Fernandez, Brian Giunta, Mike R. Schoenberg, and Jun Tan

Subcortical Ischemic Cerebrovascular Dementia Uma Menon and Roger E. Kelley

Cerebrovascular and Cardiovascular Pathology in Alzheimer's Disease Jack C. de la Torre

Neuroimaging of Cognitive Impairments in Vascular Disease

Carol Di Perri, Turi O. Dalaker, Mona K. Beyer, and Robert Zivadinov Contributions of Neuropsychology and Neuroimaging to Understanding Clinical Subtypes of Mild Cognitive Impairment

Amy J. Jak, Katherine J. Bangen, Christina E. Wierenga, Lisa Delano-Wood, Jody Corey-Bloom, and Mark W. Bondi

Proton Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy in Dementias and Mild Cognitive Impairment H. Randall Griffith, Christopher C. Stewart, and Jan A. den Hollander

Application of PET Imaging to Diagnosis of Alzheimer's Disease and Mild Cognitive Impairment

James M. Noble and Nikolaos Scarmeas

The Molecular and Cellular Pathogenesis of Dementia of the Alzheimer's Type: An Overview

Francisco A. Luque and Stephen L. Jaffe

Alzheimer's Disease Genetics: Current Status and Future Perspectives Lars Bertram

Frontotemporal Lobar Degeneration: Insights from Neuropsychology and Neuroimaging Andrea C. Bozoki and Muhammad U. Farooq

Lewy Body Dementia Jennifer C. Hanson and Carol F. Lippa

Dementia in Parkinson's Disease Bradley J. Robottom and William J. Weiner

Early Onset Dementia Halim Fadil, Aimee Borazanci, Elhachmia Ait Ben Haddou, Mohamed Yahyaoui, Elena Korniychuk, Stephen L. Jaffe, and Alireza Minagar

Normal Pressure Hydrocephalus Glen R. Finney

Reversible Dementias Anahid Kabasakalian and Glen R. Finney

INDEX

Volume 85

Involvement of the Prefrontal Cortex in Problem Solving

Hajime Mushiake, Kazuhiro Sakamoto, Naohiro Saito, Toshiro Inui, Kazuyuki Aihara, and Jun Tanji GluK1 Receptor Antagonists and Hippocampal Mossy Fiber Function

Robert Nisticò, Sheila Dargan, Stephen M. Fitzjohn, David Lodge, David E. Jane, Graham L. Collingridge, and Zuner A. Bortolotto

Monoamine Transporter as a Target Molecule for Psychostimulants

Ichiro Sora, BingJin Li, Setsu Fumushima, Asami Fukui, Yosefu Arime, Yoshiyuki Kasahara, Hiroaki Tomita, and Kazutaka Ikeda

Targeted Lipidomics as a Tool to Investigate Endocannabinoid Function Giuseppe Astarita, Jennifer Geaga, Faizy Ahmed, and Daniele Piomelli

The Endocannabinoid System as a Target for Novel Anxiolytic and Antidepressant Drugs Silvana Gaetani, Pasqua Dipasquale, Adele Romano, Laura Righetti, Tommaso Cassano, Daniele Piomelli, and Vincenzo Cuomo

GABA_A Receptor Function and Gene Expression During Pregnancy and Postpartum

Giovanni Biggio, Maria Cristina Mostallino, Paolo Follesa, Alessandra Concas, and Enrico Sanna

Early Postnatal Stress and Neural Circuit Underlying Emotional Regulation Machiko Matsumoto, Mitsuhiro Yoshioka,

and Hiroko Togashi

Roles of the Histaminergic Neurotransmission on Methamphetamine-Induced Locomotor Sensitization and Reward: A Study of Receptors Gene Knockout Mice

Naoko Takino, Eiko Sakurai, Atsuo Kuramasu, Nobuyuki Okamura, and Kazuhiko Yanai

Developmental Exposure to Cannabinoids Causes Subtle and Enduring Neurofunctional Alterations

Patrizia Campolongo, Viviana Trezza, Maura Palmery, Luigia Trabace, and Vincenzo Cuomo

Neuronal Mechanisms for Pain-Induced Aversion: Behavioral Studies Using a Conditioned Place Aversion Test Masabumi Minami

Bv8/Prokineticins and their Receptors: A New Pronociceptive System

Lucia Negri, Roberta Lattanzi, Elisa Giannini, Michela Canestrelli, Annalisa Nicotra, and Pietro Melchiorri P2Y₆-Evoked Microglial Phagocytosis Kazuhide Inoue, Schuichi Koizumi, Ayako Kataoka, Hidetoshi Tozaki-Saitoh, and Makoto Tsuda

PPAR and Pain Takehiko Maeda and Shiroh Kishioka

Involvement of Inflammatory Mediators in Neuropathic Pain Caused by Vincristine Norikazu Kiguchi, Takehiko Maeda, Yuka Kobayashi, Fumihiro Saika, and Shiroh Kishioka

Nociceptive Behavior Induced by the Endogenous Opioid Peptides Dynorphins in Uninjured Mice: Evidence with Intrathecal *N*-ethylmaleimide Inhibiting Dynorphin Degradation

Koichi Tan-No, Hiroaki Takahashi, Osamu Nakagawasai, Fukie Niijima, Shinobu Sakurada, Georgy Bakalkin, Lars Terenius, and Takeshi Tadano

Mechanism of Allodynia Evoked by Intrathecal Morphine-3-Glucuronide in Mice

Takaaki Komatsu, Shinobu Sakurada, Sou Katsuyama, Kengo Sanai, and Tsukasa Sakurada

(–)-Linalool Attenuates Allodynia in Neuropathic Pain Induced by Spinal Nerve Ligation in C57/Bl6 Mice

Laura Berliocchi, Rossella Russo, Alessandra Levato, Vincenza Fratto, Giacinto Bagetta, Shinobu Sakurada, Tsukasa Sakurada, Nicola Biagio Mercuri, and Maria Tiziana Corasaniti

Intraplantar Injection of Bergamot Essential Oil into the Mouse Hindpaw: Effects on Capsaicin-Induced Nociceptive Behaviors

Tsukasa Sakurada, Hikari Kuwahata, Soh Katsuyama, Takaaki Komatsu, Luigi A. Morrone, M. Tiziana Corasaniti, Giacinto Bagetta, and Shinobu Sakurada

New Therapy for Neuropathic Pain Hirokazu Mizoguchi, Chizuko Watanabe, Akihiko Yonezawa, and Shinobu Sakurada

Regulated Exocytosis from Astrocytes: Physiological and Pathological Related Aspects Corrado CaliY, Julie Marchaland, Paola Spagnuolo, Julien Gremion, and Paola Bezzi

Glutamate Release from Astrocytic Gliosomes Under Physiological and Pathological Conditions Marco Milanese, Tiziana Bonifacino, Simona Zappettini, Cesare Usai, Carlo Tacchetti, Mario Nobile, and Giambattista Bonanno Neurotrophic and Neuroprotective Actions of an Enhancer of Ganglioside Biosynthesis *Jin-ichi Inokuchi*

Involvement of Endocannabinoid Signaling in the Neuroprotective Effects of Subtype 1 Metabotropic Glutamate Receptor Antagonists in Models of Cerebral Ischemia

Elisa Landucci, Francesca Boscia, Elisabetta Gerace, Tania Scartabelli, Andrea Cozzi, Flavio Moroni, Guido Mannaioni, and Domenico E. Pellegrini-Giampietro

NF-kappaB Dimers in the Regulation of Neuronal Survival

Ilenia Sarnico, Annamaria Lanzillotta, Marina Benarese, Manuela Alghisi, Cristina Baiguera, Leontino Battistin, PierFranco Spano, and Marina Pizzi

Oxidative Stress in Stroke Pathophysiology: Validation of Hydrogen Peroxide Metabolism as a

Pharmacological Target to Afford Neuroprotection Diana Amantea, Maria Cristina Marrone, Robert Nistico, Mauro Federici, Giacinto Bagetta, Giorgio Bernardi, and Nicola Biagio Mercuri

Role of Akt and ERK Signaling in the Neurogenesis following Brain Ischemia

Norifumi Shioda, Feng Han, and Kohji Fukunaga

Prevention of Glutamate Accumulation and Upregulation of Phospho-Akt may Account for Neuroprotection Afforded by Bergamot Essential Oil against Brain Injury Induced by Focal Cerebral Ischemia in Rat

Diana Amantea, Vincenza Fratto, Simona Maida, Domenicantonio Rotiroti, Salvatore Ragusa, Giuseppe Nappi, Giacinto Bagetta, and Maria Tiziana Corasaniti

Identification of Novel Pharmacological Targets to Minimize Excitotoxic Retinal Damage

Rossella Russo, Domenicantonio Rotiroti, Cristina Tassorelli, Carlo Nucci, Giacinto Bagetta, Massimo Gilberto Bucci, Maria Tiziana Corasaniti, and Luigi Antonio Morrone

INDEX

Volume 86

Section One: Hybrid Bionic Systems EMG-Based and Gaze-Tracking-Based Man-Machine Interfaces *Federico Carpi and Danilo De Rossi*

Bidirectional Interfaces with the Peripheral Nervous System Silvestro Micera and Xavier Navarro	i i
Interfacing Insect Brain for Space Applications Giovanni Di Pino, Tobias Seidl, Antonella Benvenuto, Fabrizio Sergi, Domenico Campolo, Dino Accoto, Paolo Maria Rossini, and Eugenio Guglielmelli]
Section Two: Meet the Brain Meet the Brain: Neurophysiology John Rothwell	1
Fundamentals of Electroencefalography, Magne- toencefalography, and Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging Claudio Babiloni, Vittorio Pizzella, Cosimo Del Gratta, Antonio Ferretti, and Gian Luca Romani	1 t 1
Implications of Brain Plasticity to Brain–Machine Interfaces Operation: A Potential Paradox? <i>Paolo Maria Rossini</i>	1
Section Three: Brain Machine Interfaces, A New Brain-to-Environment Communication Channel An Overview of BMIs <i>Francisco Sepulveda</i>	,
Neurofeedback and Brain–Computer Interface: Clinical Applications Niels Birbaumer, Ander Ramos Murguialday, Cornelia Weber, and Pedro Montoya]
Flexibility and Practicality: Graz Brain–Computer Interface Approach Reinhold Scherer, Gernot R. Müller-Putz, and Gert Pfurtscheller	1
On the Use of Brain–Computer Interfaces Out- side Scientific Laboratories: Toward an Applica- tion in Domotic Environments F. Babiloni, F. Cincotti, M. Marciani, S. Salinari, L. Astolfi, F. Aloise, F. De Vico Fallani, and D. Mattia	, (1
Brain–Computer Interface Research at the Wadsworth Center: Developments in Noninva- sive Communication and Control Dean J. Krusienski and Jonathan R. Wolpaw]
Watching Brain TV and Playing Brain Ball: Exploring Novel BCL Strategies Using Real– Time Analysis of Human Intercranial Data Karim Jerbi, Samson Freyermuth, Lorella Minotti, Philippe Kahane, Alain Berthoz, and Jean-Philippe Lachaux	1 1 1

tion Four: Brain-Machine Interfaces and Space aptive Changes of Rhythmic EEG Oscillations Space: Implications for Brain-Machine erface Applications

G. Cheron, A. M. Cebolla, M. Petieau,

4. Bengoetxea, E. Palmero-Soler, A. Leroy, and B. Dan

lidation of Brain-Machine Interfaces During abolic Flight

José del R. Millán, Pierre W. Ferrez, and Tobias Seidl

tching Brain-Machine Interface Performance Space Applications

Luca Citi, Oliver Tonet, and Martina Marinelli

in–Machine Interfaces for Space plications-Research, Technological Develment, and Opportunities

Leopold Summerer, Dario Izzo, and Luca Rossini

DEX

olume 87

ripheral Nerve Repair and Regeneration search: A Historical Note

Bruno Battiston, Igor Papalia, Pierluigi Tos, and Stefano Geuna

velopment of the Peripheral Nerve Suleyman Kaplan, Ersan Odaci, Bunyami Unal, Bunyamin Sahin, and Michele Fornaro

tology of the Peripheral Nerve and Changes curring During Nerve Regeneration

Stefano Geuna, Stefania Raimondo, Giulia Ronchi, Federica Di Scipio, Pierluigi Tos, Krzysztof Czaja, and Michele Fornaro

thods and Protocols in Peripheral Nerve Research: generation Experimental t I—Experimental Models

Pierluigi Tos, Giulia Ronchi, Igor Papalia, Vera Sallen, Josette Legagneux, Stefano Geuna, and Maria G. Giacobini-Robecchi

thods and Protocols in Peripheral Nerve generation Experimental Research: Part -Morphological Techniques

Stefania Raimondo, Michele Fornaro, Federica Di Scipio, Giulia Ronchi, Maria G. Giacobini-Robecchi, and Stefano Geuna

Methods and Protocols in Peripheral Nerve Regeneration Experimental Research: Part III— Electrophysiological Evaluation	Enhancement of Nerve Recovery by Immunosuppre Damien P. Kuffler	
Xavier Navarro and Esther Udina Methods and Protocols in Peripheral Nerve Regeneration Experimental Research: Part IV— Kinematic Gait Analysis to Quantify Peripheral	The Role of Collagen in Repair Guido Koopmans, Birgit Ha Nektarios Sinis	
Nerve Regeneration in the Rat Luís M. Costa, Maria J. Simões, Ana C. Maurício and Artur S.P. Varejão	Gene Therapy Perspectives for Serena Zacchigna and Mauro	
Current Techniques and Concepts in Peripheral Nerve Repair Maria Siemionow and Grzegorz Brzezicki	Use of Stem Cells for Regeneration Giorgio Terenghi, Mikael W Paul J. Kingham	
Artificial Scaffolds for Peripheral Nerve Reconstruction Valeria Chiono, Chiara Tonda-Turo, and Gianluca Ciardelli	Transplantation of Olfactory for Peripheral Nerve Regene Christine Radtke, Jeffery D. M. Vogt	
Conduit Luminal Additives for Peripheral Nerve Repair Hede Yan, Feng Zhang, Michael B. Chen, and William C. Lineaweaver	Manual Stimulation of T Different Impact on Functi- Injury of Pure Motor or Mis Nektarios Sinis, Thodora M. Armin Kraus, Hans E. Scha Guntinas-Lichius, Maria Gr Irintchev, Emanouil Skouras, Doychin N. Angelov	
Tissue Engineering of Peripheral Nerves Bruno Battiston, Stefania Raimondo, Pierluigi Tos, Valentina Gaidano, Chiara Audisio, Anna Scevola, Isabelle Perroteau, and Stefano Geuna		
Mechanisms Underlying The End-to-Side Nerve Regeneration <i>Eleana Bontioti and Lars B. Dahlin</i>	Electrical Stimulation for Regeneration: Where do we <i>Tessa Gordon, Olewale A. I</i> <i>Adil Ladak</i>	
Neurorrhaphy Alexandros E. Beris and Marios G. Lykissas	Phototherapy in Peripher Effects on Muscle Preser	
End-to-Side Nerve Regeneration: From the Laboratory Bench to Clinical Applications Pierluigi Tos, Stefano Artiaco, Igor Papalia, Ignazio	Regeneration Shimon Rochkind, Stefano (Asher Shainberg	
<i>Marcoccio, Stefano Geuna, and Bruno Battiston</i> Novel Pharmacological Approaches to Schwann Cells as Neuroprotective Agents for Peripheral Nerve Regeneration	Age-Related Differences in after Peripheral Nerve Injury Uroš Kovačič, Janez Sketelj, F. Bajrović	
Valerio Magnaghi, Patrizia Procacci, and Ada Maria Tata	Neural Plasticity After I Regeneration Xavier Navarro	
Melatonin and Nerve Regeneration Ersan Odaci and Suleyman Kaplan	Future Perspective in	
Transthyretin: An Enhancer of Nerve Regeneration	Reconstruction Lars Dahlin, Fredrik Johanss Lindwall, and Martin Kanie	
Carolina E. Fleming, Fernando Milhazes Mar, Filipa Franquinho, and Mónica M. Sousa	INDEX	

ent of Nerve Regeneration and by Immunosuppressive Agents P. Kuffler e of Collagen in Peripheral Nerve Koopmans, Birgit Hasse, and os Sinis rapy Perspectives for Nerve Repair Zacchigna and Mauro Giacca Stem Cells for Improving Nerve tion Terenghi, Mikael Wiberg, and Kingham tation of Olfactory Ensheathing Cells eral Nerve Regeneration e Radtke, Jeffery D. Kocsis, and Peter Stimulation of Target Muscles has Impact on Functional Recovery after Pure Motor or Mixed Nerves os Sinis, Thodora Manoli, Frank Werdin, Kraus, Hans E. Schaller, Orlando s-Lichius, Maria Grosheva, Andrey , Emanouil Skouras, Sarah Dunlop, and N. Angelov Stimulation for Improving Nerve tion: Where do we Stand? ordon, Olewale A. R. Sulaiman, and dak apy in Peripheral Nerve Injury: n Muscle Preservation and Nerve tion Rochkind, Stefano Geuna, and hainberg ted Differences in the Reinnervation heral Nerve Injury ovačič, Janez Sketelj, and Fajko wić Plasticity After Nerve Injury and tion Navarro Perspective in Peripheral Nerve iction hlin, Fredrik Johansson, Charlotta

313

Volume 88

Effects Of Psychostimulants On Neurotrophins: Implications For Psychostimulant-Induced Neurotoxicity

Francesco Angelucci, Valerio Ricci, Gianfranco Spalletta, Carlo Caltagirone, Aleksander A. Mathé, and Pietro Bria

Dosing Time-Dependent Actions of Psychostimulants

H. Manev and T. Uz

Dopamine-Induced Behavioral Changes and Oxidative Stress in Methamphetamine-Induced Neurotoxicity

Taizo Kita, Ikuko Miyazaki, Masato Asanuma, Mika Takeshima, and George C. Wagner

Acute Methamphetamine Intoxication: Brain Hyperthermia, Blood–Brain Barrier, Brain Edema, and morphological cell abnormalities Eugene A. Kiyatkin and Hari S. Sharma

Molecular Bases of Methamphetamine-Induced Neurodegeneration

Jean Lud Cadet and Irina N. Krasnova

Involvement of Nicotinic Receptors in Methamphetamine- and MDMA-Induced Neurotoxicity: Pharmacological Implications

E. Escubedo, J. Camarasa, C. Chipana,

S. García-Ratés, and D. Pubill

Ethanol Alters the Physiology of Neuron-Glia Communication

Antonio González and Ginés M. Salido

Therapeutic Targeting of "DARPP-32": A Key Signaling Molecule in the Dopiminergic Pathway for the Treatment of Opiate Addiction

Supriya D. Mahajan, Ravikumar Aalinkeel, Jessica L. Reynolds, Bindukumar B. Nair, Donald E. Sykes, Zihua Hu, Adela Bonoiu, Hong Ding, Paras N. Prasad, and Stanley A. Schwartz

Pharmacological and Neurotoxicological Actions Mediated By Bupropion and Diethylpropion

Hugo R. Arias, Abel Santamaría, and Syed F. Ali

Neural and Cardiac Toxicities Associated With 3,4-Methylenedioxymethamphetamine (MDMA)

Michael H. Baumann and Richard B. Rothman Cocaine-Induced Breakdown of the Blood–Brain Barrier and Neurotoxicity

Hari S. Sharma, Dafin Muresanu, Aruna Sharma, and Ranjana Patnaik

Cannabinoid Receptors in Brain: Pharmacogenetics, Neuropharmacology, Neurotoxicology, and Potential Therapeutic Applications

Emmanuel S. Onaivi

Intermittent Dopaminergic Stimulation causes Behavioral Sensitization in the Addicted Brain and Parkinsonism

Francesco Fornai, Francesca Biagioni, Federica Fulceri, Luigi Murri, Stefano Ruggieri, Antonio Paparelli

The Role of the Somatotrophic Axis in Neuroprotection and Neuroregeneration of the Addictive Brain

Fred Nyberg

Index

Volume 89

Molecular Profiling of Striatonigral and Striatopallidal Medium Spiny Neurons: Past, Present, and Future

Mary Kay Lobo

BAC to Degeneration: Bacterial Artificial Chromosome (Bac)-Mediated Transgenesis for Modeling Basal Ganglia Neurodegenerative Disorders

Xiao-Hong Lu

Behavioral Outcome Measures for the Assessment of Sensorimotor Function in Animal Models of Movement Disorders

Sheila M. Fleming

The Role of DNA Methylation in the Central Nervous System and Neuropsychiatric Disorders Jian Feng and Guoping Fan

Heritability of Structural Brain Traits: An Endo-phenotype Approach to Deconstruct Schizophrenia

Nil Kaymaz and J. Van Os

The Role of Striatal NMDA Receptors in Drug Addiction

Yao-Ying Ma, Carlos Cepeda, and Cai-Lian Cui

Deciphering Rett Syndrome With Mouse Genetics, Epigenomics, and Human Neurons Jifang Tao, Hao Wu, and Yi Eve Sun

INDEX

Volume 90

Part I: Introduction

Introductory Remarks on the History and Current Applications of TCS Matthew B. Stern

Method and Validity of Transcranial Sonography in Movement Disorders David Školoudík and Uwe Walter

Transcranial Sonography—Anatomy Heiko Huber

Part II: Transcranial Sonography in Parkinsons Disease

Transcranial Sonography in Relation to SPECT and MIBG

Yoshinori Kajimoto, Hideto Miwa and Tomoyoshi Kondo

Diagnosis of Parkinson's Disease—Transcranial Sonography in Relation to MRI Ludwig Niehaus and Kai Boelmans

Early Diagnosis of Parkinson's Disease Alexandra Gaenslen and Daniela Berg

Transcranial Sonography in the Premotor Diagnosis of Parkinson's Disease Stefanie Behnke, Ute Schroder and Daniela Berg

Pathophysiology of Transcranial Sonography Signal Changes in the Human Substantia Nigra K. L. Double, G. Todd and S. R. Duma

Transcranial Sonography for the Discrimination of Idiopathic Parkinson's Disease from the Atypical Parkinsonian Syndromes

A. E. P. Bouwmans, A. M. M. Vlaar, K. Srulijes, W. H. Mess AND W. E. J. Weber

Transcranial Sonography in the Discrimination of Parkinson's Disease Versus Vascular Parkinsonism Pablo Venegas-Francke

TCS in Monogenic Forms of Parkinson's Disease Kathrin Brockmann and Johann Hagenah Part III—Transcranial Sonography in other Movement Disorders and Depression

Transcranial Sonography in Brain Disorders with Trace Metal Accumulation *Uwe Walter*

Transcranial Sonography in Dystonia Alexandra Gaenslen

Transcranial Sonography in Essential Tremor Heike Stockner and Isabel Wurster

VII—Transcranial Sonography in Restless Legs Syndrome

Jana Godau and Martin Sojer

Transcranial Sonography in Ataxia Christos Krogias, Thomas Postert and Jens Eyding

Transcranial Sonography in Huntington's Disease Christos Krogias, Jens Eyding and Thomas Postert

Transcranial Sonography in Depression Milija D. Mijajlovic

Part IV: Future Applications and Conclusion

Transcranial Sonography-Assisted Stereotaxy and Follow-Up of Deep Brain Implants in Patients with Movement Disorders Uwe Walter

Owe waiter

Conclusions Daniela Berg

INDEX

Volume 91

The Role of microRNAs in Drug Addiction: A Big Lesson from Tiny Molecules

Andrzej Zbigniew Pietrzykowski

The Genetics of Behavioral Alcohol Responses in Drosophila

Aylin R. Rodan and Adrian Rothenfluh

Neural Plasticity, Human Genetics, and Risk for Alcohol Dependence Shirley Y. Hill

Using Expression Genetics to Study the Neurobiology of Ethanol and Alcoholism

Sean P. Farris, Aaron R. Wolen and Michael F. Miles

Genetic Variation and Brain Gene Expression in Rodent Models of Alcoholism: Implications for Medication Development

Karl Björk, Anita C. Hansson and W. olfgang H. Sommer

Identifying Quantitative Trait Loci (QTLs) and Genes (QTGs) for Alcohol-Related Phenotypes in Mice

Lauren C. Milner and Kari J. Buck

Glutamate Plasticity in the Drunken Amygdala: The Making of an Anxious Synapse

Brian A. Mccool, Daniel T. Christian, Marvin R. Diaz and Anna K. Läck

Ethanol Action on Dopaminergic Neurons in the Ventral Tegmental Area: Interaction with Intrinsic Ion Channels and Neurotransmitter Inputs

Hitoshi Morikawa and Richard A. Morrisett

Alcohol and the Prefrontal Cortex Kenneth Abernathy, L. Judson Chandler and John J. Woodward

BK Channel and Alcohol, A Complicated Affair Gilles Erwan Martin

A Review of Synaptic Plasticity at Purkinje Neurons with a Focus on Ethanol-Induced Cerebellar Dysfunction

C. Fernando Valenzuela, Britta Lindquist and Paula A. Zflmudio-Bulcock

Index

Volume 92

The Development of the Science of Dreaming Claude Gottesmann

Dreaming as Inspiration: Evidence from Religion, Philosophy, Literature, and Film *Kelly Bulkeley*

Developmental Perspective: Dreaming Across the Lifespan and What This Tells Us Melissa M. Burnham and Christian Conte

REM and NREM Sleep Mentation Patrick Mcnamara, Patricia Johnson, Deirdre McLaren, Erica Harris, Catherine Beauharnais and Sanford Auerbach Neuroimaging of Dreaming: State of the Art and Limitations

Caroline Kussé, Vincenzo Muto, Laura Mascetti, Luca Matarazzo, Ariane Foret, Anahita Shaffii-Le Bourdiec and Pierre Maquet

Memory Consolidation, The Diurnal Rhythm of Cortisol, and The Nature of Dreams: A New Hypothesis

Jessica D. Payne

Characteristics and Contents of Dreams Michael Schredl

Trait and Neurobiological Correlates of Individual Differences in Dream Recall and Dream Content

Mark Blagrove and Edward F. Pace-Schott

Consciousness in Dreams David Kahn and Tzivia Gover

The Underlying Emotion and the Dream: Relating Dream Imagery to the Dreamer's Underlying Emotion can Help Elucidate the Nature of Dreaming

Ernest Hartmann

Dreaming, Handedness, and Sleep Architecture: Interhemispheric Mechanisms

Stephen D. Christman and Ruth E. Propper

To What Extent Do Neurobiological Sleep-Waking Processes Support Psychoanalysis? *Claude Gottesmann*

The Use of Dreams in Modern Psychotherapy Clara E. Hill and Sarah Knox

INDEX

Volume 93

Underlying Brain Mechanisms that Regulate Sleep-Wakefulness Cycles

Irma Gvilia

What Keeps Us Awake?—the Role of Clocks and Hourglasses, Light, and Melatonin Christian Cajochen, Sarah Chellappa and Christina Schmidt

Suprachiasmatic Nucleus and Autonomic Nervous System Influences on Awakening From Sleep Andries Kalsbeek, Chun-xia Yi, Susanne E. la Fleur, Ruud m. Buijs, and Eric Fliers Preparation for Awakening: Self-Awakening Vs. Forced Awakening: Preparatory Changes in the Pre-Awakening Period

Mitsuo Hayashi, Noriko Matsuura and Hiroki Ikeda

Circadian and Sleep Episode Duration Influences on Cognitive Performance Following the Process of Awakening *Robert L. Matchock*

Robert L. Matchock

The Cortisol Awakening Response in Context Angela Clow, Frank Hucklebridge and Lisa Thorn

Causes and Correlates of Frequent Night Awakenings in Early Childhood

Amy Jo Schwichtenberg and Beth Goodlin-Jones

Pathologies of Awakenings: The Clinical Problem of Insomnia Considered From Multiple Theory Levels

Douglas E. Moul

The Neurochemistry of Awakening: Findings from Sleep Disorder Narcolepsy Seiji Nishino and Yohei Sagawa

Index

Volume 94

5-HT₆ Medicinal Chemistry Kevin G. Liu and Albert J. Robichaud

Patents Nicolas Vincent Ruiz and Gloria Oranias

5-HT₆ Receptor Charactertization Teresa Riccioni

5-HT₆ Receptor Signal Transduction: Second Messenger Systems Xavier Codony, Javier Burgueño, Maria Javier Ramírez and José Miguel Vela

Electrophysiology of 5-HT₆ Receptors Annalisa Tassone, Graziella Madeo, Giuseppe Sciamanna, Antonio Pisani and Paola Bonsi

Genetic Variations and Association Massimo Gennarelli and Annamaria Cattaneo

Pharmacokinetics of 5-HT₆ Receptor Ligands Angelo Mancinelli

INDEX

Volume 95

Introductory Remarks: Catechol-O-Methyltransferase Inhibition–An Innovative Approach to Enhance L-dopa Therapy in Parkinson's Disease with Dual Enzyme Inhibition

Erkki Nissinen

The Catechol-O-Methyltransferase Gene: its Regulation and Polymorphisms Elizabeth M. Tunbridge

Distribution and Functions of Catechol-O-Methyltransferase Proteins: Do Recent Findings Change the Picture?

Timo T. Myöhänen and Pekka T. Männistö

Catechol-O-Methyltransferase Enzyme: Cofactor S-Adenosyl-L-Methionine and Related Mechanisms *Thomas Müller*

Biochemistry and Pharmacology of Catechol-O-Methyltransferase Inhibitors Erkki nissinen and Pekka T. Männisto

The Chemistry of Catechol-O-Methyltransferase Inhibitors

David A. Learmonth, László E. Kiss, and Patrício Soares-da-Silva

Toxicology and Safety of COMT Inhibitors Kristiina Haasio

Catechol-O-Methyltransferase Inhibitors in Preclinical Models as Adjuncts of L-dopa Treatment *Concepció Marin and J. A. Obeso*

Problems with the Present Inhibitors and a Relevance of New and Improved COMT Inhibitors in Parkinson's Disease Seppo Kaakkola

Catechol-O-Methyltransferase and Pain Oleg Kambur and Pekka T. Männistö

INDEX

Volume 96

The Central Role of 5-HT₆ Receptors in Modulating Brain Neurochemistry

Lee A. Dawson

5-HT₆ Receptor Memory and Amnesia: Behavioral Pharmacology – Learning and Memory Processes

Alfredo Meneses, G. Pérez-García, R. Tellez, T. Ponce-Lopez and C. Castillo Behavioral Pharmacology: Potential Antidepressant and Anxiolytic Properties Anna Wesołowska and Magdalena Jastrzbska-Wisek The 5-HT₆ Receptor as a Target for Developing Novel Antiobesity Drugs David Heal, Jane Gosden and Sharon Smith Behavioral and Neurochemical Pharmacology of 5-HT₆ Receptors Related to Reward and Reinforcement Gaetano Di Chiara, Valentina Valentini and Sandro Fenu 5-HT₆ Receptor Ligands and their Antipsychotic Potential Jørn Arnt and Christina Kurre Olsen 5-HT₆ Receptor Ligands as Antidementia Drugs Ellen Siobhan Mitchell Other 5-HT₆ Receptor-Mediated Effects Franco Borsini

INDEX

Volume 97

Behavioral Pharmacology of Orofacial Movement Disorders Noriaki Koshikawa, Satoshi Fujita and Kazunori Adachi Regulation of Orofacial Movement: Dopamine Receptor Mechanisms and Mutant Models John L. Waddington, Gerard J. O'Sullivan and Katsunori Tomiyama Regulation of Orofacial Movement: Amino Acid Mechanisms and Mutant Models Katsunori Tomiyama, Colm M.P. O'Tuathaigh, and John L. Waddington The Trigeminal Circuits Responsible for Chewing Karl-Gunnar Westberg and Arlette Kolta Ultrastructural Basis for Craniofacial Sensory Processing in the Brainstem Yong Chul Bae and Atsushi Yoshida Mechanisms of Nociceptive Transduction and Transmission: A Machinery for Pain Sensation and Tools for Selective Analgesia Alexander M. Binshtok

Peripheral and Central Mechanisms of Orofacial Inflammatory Pain Barry J. Sessle

The Role of Trigeminal Interpolaris-Caudalis Transition Zone in Persistent Orofacial Pain Ke Ren and Ronald Dubner

Physiological Mechanisms of Neuropathic Pain: The Orofacial Region Koichi Iwata, Yoshiki Imamura, Kuniya Honda and

Koten Iwata, Yoshiki Imamura, Kuniya Honaa ana Masamichi Shinoda

Neurobiology of Estrogen Status in Deep Craniofacial Pain

David A Bereiter and Keiichiro Okamoto

Macroscopic Connection of Rat Insular Cortex: Anatomical Bases Underlying its Physiological Functions

Masayuki Kobayashi

The Balance Between Excitation And Inhibition And Functional Sensory Processing in the Somatosensory Cortex

Zhi Zhang and Qian-Quan Sun

INDEX

Volume 98

An Introduction to Dyskinesia—the Clinical Spectrum

Ainhi Ha and Joseph Jankovic

L-dopa-induced Dyskinesia—Clinical Presentation, Genetics, And Treatment

L.K. Prashanth, Susan Fox and Wassilios G. Meissner

Experimental Models of L-DOPA-induced Dyskinesia

Tom H. Johnston and Emma L. Lane

Molecular Mechanisms of L-DOPA-induced Dyskinesia Gilberto Fisone and Erwan Bezard

New Approaches to Therapy

Jonathan Brotchie and Peter Jenner

Surgical Approach to L-DOPA-induced Dyskinesias

Tejas Sankar and Andres M. Lozano

Clinical and Experimental Experiences of Graft-induced Dyskinesia *Emma L. Lane*

Tardive Dyskinesia: Clinical Presentation and	Homeostatic Control of Neural Activity:	
Treatment	A Drosophila Model for Drug Tolerance and	
<i>P.N. van Harten and D.E. Tenback</i>	Dependence	
Epidemiology and Risk Factors for (Tardive)	Alfredo Ghezzi and Nigel S. Atkinson	
Dyskinesia	Attention in Drosophila	
D.E. Tenback and P.N. van Harten	Bruno van Swinderen	
Genetics of Tardive Dyskinesia Heon-Jeong Lee and Seung-Gul Kang	The roles of <i>Fruitless</i> and <i>Doublesex</i> in the Control of Male Courtship	
Animal Models of Tardive Dyskinesia	Brigitte Dauwalder	
S.K. Kulkarni and Ashish Dhir	Circadian Plasticity: from Structure to Behavior	
Surgery for Tardive Dyskinesia	Lia Frenkel and Maria Fernanda Ceriani	
Stephane Thobois, Alice Poisson and Philippe	Learning and Memory in Drosophila: Behavior,	
Damier	Genetics, and Neural Systems	
Huntington's Disease: Clinical Presentation and	Lily Kahsai and Troy Zars	
Treatment	Studying Sensorimotor Processing with Physiol-	
<i>M.J.U. Novak and S.J. Tabrizi</i>	ogy in Behaving Drosophila	
Genetics and Neuropathology of Huntington's	Johannes D. Seelig and Vivek Jayaraman	
Disease: Huntington's Disease	Modeling Human Trinucleotide Repeat Diseases	
Anton Reiner, Ioannis Dragatsis and Paula Dietrich	in Drosophila	
Pathogenic Mechanisms in Huntington's Disease	Zhenming Yu and Nancy M. Bonini	
Lesley Jones and Alis Hughes	From Genetics to Structure to Function: Explor-	
Experimental Models of HD And Reflection on	ing Sleep in Drosophila	
Therapeutic Strategies	Daniel Bushey and Chiara Cirelli	
Cell-based Treatments for Huntington's Disease Stephen B. Dunnett and Anne E. Rosser	Nolume 100	
Clinical Phenomenology of Dystonia Carlo Colosimo and Alfredo Berardelli	Structural Properties of Human Monoamine	
Genetics and Pharmacological Treatment of	Claudia Binda, Andrea Mattevi and	
Dystonia	Dale E. Edmondson	
Susan Bressman and Matthew James	Behavioral Outcomes of Monoamine Oxidas	
Experimental Models of Dystonia A. Tassone, G. Sciamanna, P. Bonsi, G. Martella and A. Dicani	Deficiency: Preclinical and Clinical Evidence Marco Bortolato and Jean C. Shih	
Surgical Treatment of Dystonia John Yianni, Alexander L. Green and Tipu Z. Aziz	Kinetic Behavior and Reversible Inhibition of Monoamine Oxidases—Enzymes that Many Want Dead Keith F. Tipton, Gavin P. Davey and	
INDEX	The Pharmacology of Selegiline	
Volume 99	Kaiman Magyar Type A Monoamine Oxidase Regulates Life and	

Seizure and Epilepsy: Studies of Seizuredisorders in Drosophila Louise Parker, Iris C. Howlett, Zeid M. Rusan and Mark A. Tanouye

Death of Neurons in Neurodegeneration and Neuroprotection Makoto Naoi, Wakako Maruyama, Keiko Inaba-Hasegawa and Yukihiro Akao

Multimodal Drugs and their Future for Alzheimer's and Parkinson's Disease <i>Cornelis J. Van der Schyf and Werner J. Geldenhuys</i> Neuroprotective Profile of the Multitarget Drug Rasagiline in Parkinson's Disease	 Abnormalities in Metabolism and Hypothalamic- Pituitary–Adrenal Axis Function in Schizophrenia Paul C. Guest, Daniel Martins-de-Souza, Natacha Vanattou-Saifoudine, Laura W. Harris and Sabine Bahn Immune and Neuroimmune Alterations in Mood Disorders and Schizophrenia Roosmarijn C. Drexhage, Karin Weigelt, Nico van Beveren, Dan Cohen, Marjan A. Versnel, Willem A. Nolen and Hemmo A. Drexhage Behavioral and Molecular Biomarkers in Transla- tional Animal Models for Neuropsychiatric Disorders 		
Orly Weinreb, Tamar Amit, Peter Riederer, Moussa B.H. Youdim and Silvia A. Mandel			
Rasagiline in Parkinson's Disease L.M. Chahine and M.B. Stern			
Selective Inhibitors of Monoamine Oxidase Type B and the "Cheese Effect" John P.M. Finberg and Ken Gillman A Novel Anti-Alzheimer's Disease Drug, Ladostigil: Neuroprotective, Multimodal Brain-Selective Monoamine Oxidase and Cholinesterase Inhibitor Orly Weinreb, Tamar Amit, Orit Bar-Am and Moussa B.H. Youdim Novel MAO-B Inhibitors: Potential Therapeutic Use of the Selective MAO-B Inhibitor PF9601N in Parkinson's Disease Mercedes Unzeta and Elisenda Sanz INDEX			
	Zoltán Sarnyai, Murtada Alsaif, Sabine Bahn, Agnes Ernst, Paul C. Guest, Eva Hradetzky, Wolfgang Kluge, Viktoria Stelzhammer and Hendrik Wesseling		
	Stem Cell Models for Biomarker Discovery in Brain Disease Alan Mackay-Sim, George Mellick and Stephen Wood		
	The Application of Multiplexed Assay Systems for Molecular Diagnostics Emanuel Schwarz, Nico J.M. VanBeveren, Dud C. Cuest, Bauf Jamrilan and		
	Sabine Bahn		
General Overview: Biomarkers in Neuroscience Research Michaela D. Filiou and Christoph W. Turck	Algorithm Development for Diagnostic Bio- marker Assays Rauf Izmailov, Paul C. Guest, Sabine Bahn and		
 Imaging Brain Microglial Activation Using Positron Emission Tomography and Translocator Protein-Specific Radioligands David R.J. Owen and Paul M. Matthews The Utility of Gene Expression in Blood Cells for Diagnosing Neuropsychiatric Disorders Christopher H. Woelk, Akul Singhania, Josué Pérez-Santiago, Stephen J. Glatt and Ming T. Tsuang Proteomic Technologies for Biomarker Studies in Psychiatry: Advances and Needs Daniel Martins-de-Souza, Paul C. Guest, Natacha Vanattou-Saifoudine, Laura W. Harris and Sabine Bahn 	<i>Emanuel Schwarz</i> Challenges of Introducing New Biomarker Prod- ucts for Neuropsychiatric Disorders into the Market		
	Sabine Bahn, Richard Noll, Anthony Barnes, Emanuel Schwarz and Paul C. Guest Toward Personalized Medicine in the Neuropsy chiatric Field Erik H.F. Wong, Jayne C. Fox, Mandy		
	Y.M. Ng and Chi-Ming Lee Clinical Utility of Serum Biomarkers for Major Psychiatric Disorders Nico J.M. van Beveren and Witte J.G. Hoogendijk		
Converging Evidence of Blood-Based Biomarkers for Schizophrenia: An update	The Future: Biomarkers, Biosensors, Neu- roinformatics, and E-Neuropsychiatry		

Man K. Chan, Paul C. Guest, Yishai Levin, Yagnesh Umrania, Emanuel Schwarz, Sabine Bahn and Hassan Rahmoune

markers, Biosensors, Neu-E-Neuropsychiatry Christopher R. Lowe

SUBJECT INDEX

Volume 102

The Function and Mechanisms of Nurr1 Action in Midbrain Dopaminergic Neurons, from Development and Maintenance to Survival

Yu Luo

Monoclonal Antibodies as Novel Neurotherapeutic Agents in CNS Injury and Repair Aruna Sharma and Hari Shanker Sharma

The Blood–Brain Barrier in Alzheimer's Disease: Novel Therapeutic Targets and Nanodrug delivery

Hari Shanker Sharma, Rudy J. Castellani, Mark A. Smith and Aruna Sharma

Neurovascular Aspects of Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis

Maria Carolina O. Rodrigues, Diana G. Hernandez-Ontiveros, Michael K. Louis, Alison E. Willing, Cesario V. Borlongan, Paul R. Sanberg, Júlio C. Voltarelli and Svitlana Garbuzova-Davis

Quercetin in Hypoxia-Induced Oxidative Stress: Novel Target for Neuroprotection

Anand Kumar Pandey, Ranjana Patnaik, Dafin F. Muresanu, Aruna Sharma and Hari Shanker Sharma

Environmental Conditions Modulate Neurotoxic Effects of Psychomotor Stimulant Drugs of Abuse

Eugene A. Kiyatkin and Hari Shanker Sharma

Central Nervous Tissue Damage after Hypoxia and Reperfusion in Conjunction with Cardiac Arrest and Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation: Mechanisms of Action and Possibilities for Mitigation

Lars Wiklund, Cecile Martijn, Adriana Miclescu, Egidijus Semenas, Sten Rubertsson and Hari Shanker Sharma

Interactions Between Opioids and Anabolic Androgenic Steroids: Implications for the Development of Addictive Behavior Fred Nyberg and Mathias Hallberg

Neurotrophic Factors and Neurodegenerative Diseases: A Delivery Issue

Barbara Ruozi, Daniela Belletti, Lucia Bondioli, Alessandro De Vita, Flavio Forni, Maria Angela Vandelli and Giovanni Tosi

Neuroprotective Effects of Cerebrolysin, a Combination of Different Active Fragments of

Neurotrophic Factors and Peptides on the Whole Body Hyperthermia-Induced Neurotoxicity: Modulatory Roles of Co-morbidity Factors and Nanoparticle Intoxication

Hari Shanker Sharma, Aruna Sharma, Herbert Mössler and Dafin Fior Muresanu

Alzheimer's Disease and Amyloid: Culprit or Coincidence?

Stephen D. Skaper

Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor and Other Angioglioneurins: Key Molecules in Brain Development and Restoration

José Vicente Lafuente, Naiara Ortuzar, Harkaitz Bengoetxea, Susana Bulnes and Enrike G. Argandoña

INDEX

Volume 103

Lost and Found in Behavioral Informatics Melissa A. Haendel and Elissa J. Chesler

Biological Databases for Behavioral Neurobiology Erich J. Baker

A Survey of the Neuroscience Resource Landscape: Perspectives from the Neuroscience Information Framework

Jonathan Cachat, Anita Bandrowski, Jeffery S. Grethe, Amarnath Gupta, Vadim Astakhov, Fahim Imam, Stephen D. Larson, and Maryann E. Martone

The Neurobehavior Ontology: An Ontology for Annotation and Integration of Behavior and Behavioral Phenotypes

Georgios V. Gkoutos, Paul N. Schofield, and Robert Hoehndorf

Ontologies for Human Behavior Analysis and Their Application to Clinical Data Janna Hastings and Stefan Schulz

Text-Mining and Neuroscience Kyle H. Ambert and Aaron M. Cohen

Applying In Silico Integrative Genomics to Genetic Studies of Human Disease: A Review Scott F. Saccone

SUBJECT INDEX

Volume 104

Cross Species Integration of Functional Genomics Experiments Jeremy J. Jay

- Model Organism Databases in Behavioral Neuroscience Mary Shimoyama, Jennifer R. Smith,
 - G. Thomas Hayman, Victoria Petri, and Rajni Nigam
- Accessing and Mining Data from Large-Scale Mouse Phenotyping Projects

Hugh Morgan, Michelle Simon, and Ann-Marie Mallon

Bioinformatics Resources for Behavior Studies in the Laboratory Mouse *Carol J. Bult*

Using Genome-Wide Expression Profiling to

Define Gene Networks Relevant to the Study of Complex Traits: From RNA Integrity to Network Topology

M.A. O'Brien, B.N. Costin, and M.F. Miles

Genetic and Molecular Network Analysis of Behavior

Robert W. Williams and Megan K. Mulligan

Large-Scale Neuroinformatics for *In Situ* Hybridization Data in the Mouse Brain

Lydia L. Ng, Susan M. Sunkin, David Feng, Chris Lau, Chinh Dang, and Michael J. Hawrylycz

Opportunities for Bioinformatics in the Classification of Behavior and Psychiatric Disorders Elissa J. Chesler and Ryan W. Logan

SUBJECT INDEX

Volume 105

Optic Nerve Disease and Axon Pathophysiology Alireza Ghaffarieh and Leonard A. Levin

Role of Electrical Activity of Neurons for Neuroprotection

Takeshi Morimoto

Molecular Control of Axon Growth: Insights from Comparative Gene Profiling and High-Throughput Screening

Murray G. Blackmore

Gatekeeper Between Quiescence and Differentiation: p53 in Axonal Outgrowth and Neurogenesis Giorgia Quadrato and Simone Di Giovanni

Cyclin-Dependent Kinase 5 in Axon Growth and Regeneration

Tao Ye, Amy K. Y. Fu, and Nancy Y. Ip

Rho Signaling and Axon Regeneration L. McKerracher, Gino B. Ferraro, and Alyson E. Fournier

Neuron-Intrinsic Inhibitors of Axon Regeneration: PTEN and SOCS3

Xueting Luo and Kevin K. Park

INDEX

Volume 106

Neurotrophic Factors and the Regeneration of Adult Retinal Ganglion Cell Axons

Alan R. Harvey, Jacob Wei Wei Ooi, and Jennifer Rodger

MBS: Signaling Endosomes and Growth Cone Motility in Axon Regeneration

Michael B. Steketee and Jeffrey L. Goldberg

Intrinsic Mechanisms Regulating Axon Regeneration: An Integrin Perspective

Richard Eva, Melissa R. Andrews, Elske H.P. Franssen, and James W. Fawcett

The Role of Serotonin in Axon and Dendrite Growth

Ephraim F. Trakhtenberg and Jeffrey L. Goldberg

Inflammatory Pathways in Spinal Cord Injury Samuel David, Juan Guillermo Zarruk, and Nader Ghasemlou

Combinatorial Therapy Stimulates Long-Distance Regeneration, Target Reinnervation, and Partial Recovery of Vision After Optic Nerve Injury in Mice

Silmara de Lima, Ghaith Habboub, and Larry I. Benowitz

From Bench to Beside to Cure Spinal Cord Injury: Lost in Translation?

Andreas Hug and Norbert Weidner

SUBJECT INDEX

Volume 107

Neuromodulation: A More Comprehensive Concept Beyond Deep Brain Stimulation *Clement Hamani and Elena Moro*

Computational Models of Neuromodulation Christopher R. Butson

- Neurophysiology of Deep Brain Stimulation Manuela Rosa, Gaia Giannicola, Sara Marceglia, Manuela Fumagalli, Sergio Barbieri, and Alberto Priori
- Neurophysiology of Cortical Stimulation Jean-Pascal Lefaucheur

Neural Mechanisms of Spinal Cord Stimulation Robert D. Foreman and Bengt Linderoth

Magnetoencephalography and Neuromodulation Alfons Schnitzler and Jan Hirschmann

Current Challenges to the Clinical Translation of Brain Machine Interface Technology Charles W. Lu, Parag G. Patil, and Cynthia A. Chestek

Nanotechnology in Neuromodulation Russell J. Andrews

Optogenetic Neuromodulation Paul S. A. Kalanithi and Jaimie M. Henderson Diffusion Tensor Imaging and Neuromodulation: DTI as Key Technology for Deep Brain Stimulation Volker Arnd Coenen, Thomas E. Schlaepfer, Niels

Allert, and Burkhard Mädler

DBS and Electrical Neuro-Network Modulation to Treat Neurological Disorders Amanda Thompson, Takashi Morishita, and Michael S. Okun

Neuromodulation in Psychiatric Disorders Yasin Temel, Sarah A. Hescham, Ali Jahanshahi, Marcus L. F. Janssen, Sonny K. H. Tan, Jacobus J. van Overbeeke, Linda Ackernans, Mayke Oosterloo, Annelien Duits, Albert F. G. Leentjens, and LeeWei Lim

Ethical Aspects of Neuromodulation Christiane Woopen

SUBJECT INDEX